Cardiac and Vascular Biology 1 Editor-in-chief: Markus Hecker

## Johannes Backs Timothy A. McKinsey *Editors*

# Epigenetics in Cardiac Disease



## **Cardiac and Vascular Biology**

## Volume 1

#### **Editor-in-chief:**

Markus Hecker Inst. of Physiology & Pathophysiology, Heidelberg University, Heidelberg, Germany

#### Series Editors:

Johannes Backs Department of Molecular Cardiology and Epigenetics, Heidelberg University, Heidelberg, Germany

Marc Freichel Institute of Pharmacology, Heidelberg University, Heidelberg, Germany

Thomas Korff Inst. of Physiology & Pathophysiology, Heidelberg University, Heidelberg, Germany

Dierk Thomas Department of Internal Medicine III, Heidelberg University Hospital, Heidelberg, Germany The book series gives an overview on all aspects of state-of-the-art research on the cardiovascular system in health and disease. Basic research aspects of medically relevant topics are covered and the latest advances and methods covering diverse disciplines as epigenetics, genetics, mechanobiology, platelet research or stem cell biology are featured. The book series is intended for researchers, experts and graduates, both basic and clinically oriented, that look for a carefully selected collection of high quality review articles on their respective field of expertise.

More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/13128

Johannes Backs • Timothy A. McKinsey Editors

# Epigenetics in Cardiac Disease



*Editors* Johannes Backs Department of Molecular Cardiology and Epigenetics University of Heidelberg Heidelberg Germany

Timothy A. McKinsey Department of Medicine Division of Cardiology University of Colorado Denver Aurora Colorado USA

ISSN 2509-7830 Cardiac and Vascular Biology ISBN 978-3-319-41455-3 DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-41457-7 ISSN 2509-7849(electronic) ISBN 978-3-319-41457-7(eBook)

Library of Congress Control Number: 2016956704

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016, corrected publication 2019

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made.

Printed on acid-free paper

This Springer imprint is published by Springer Nature

The registered company is Springer International Publishing AG

The registered company address is Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

### Preface

Cardiovascular disease is the leading cause of death worldwide. This book focuses on heart muscle disease, with an emphasis on heart failure, which is a syndrome defined by the heart's inability to adequately pump blood to supply the body's needs. Risk factors for the development of heart failure include coronary artery disease (CAD), high blood pressure, diabetes, and aging. Based on current guidelines, most patients with heart failure are treated with three classes of drugs: β-blockers, drugs targeting the angiotensin II type-I receptor (ACE inhibitors or ARBs), and a mineralocorticoid antagonist. Collectively referred to as neurohormonal blockade, this treatment regimen has clearly been shown to improve outcomes in heart failure patients. Furthermore, LCZ696, which is a dual angiotensin receptor blocker/neprilysin inhibitor, was recently found to be efficacious in a clinical trial with heart failure patients. Indeed, the primary outcome of cardiovascular death or a first hospitalization for heart failure occurred in 21.8% patients treated with LCZ696, compared with 26.5% of patients in the control treatment arm. While these findings are encouraging, they also serve to illustrate that disease progression persists in many patients treated with the full armamentarium of heart failure drugs, including LCZ696. Thus, heart failure remains a major unmet medical need, and the elucidation of novel mechanisms involved in heart failure pathogenesis holds promise for identifying new therapies for this prevalent and deadly syndrome. This book focuses on the role of epigenetics and chromatin remodeling for heart muscle disease.

The basic unit of chromatin is the nucleosome, which is a histone octamer wrapped in a 147-bp stretch of DNA. Modifications of nucleosomal DNA or protein, without changes to the underlying nucleotide sequence, can have a profound effect on gene expression. This mode of gene regulation is referred to as epigenetics. Based on data that are extensively reviewed in this book, we strongly believe that epigenetics represents a crucial, untapped reservoir for heart failure drug discovery and development. Our position is founded on the fact that epigenetic regulators function as "nodal" points that integrate upstream signals to convey a common pathway for heart failure pathogenesis. Furthermore, many epigenetic regulators have proven to be ideally suited for small molecule-mediated manipulation, and a multitude of epigenetic therapies are approved or are being tested for the treatment of noncardiac indications in humans, establishing the feasibility of this approach. The book covers findings that validate roles for fundamental epigenetic processes (e.g., DNA methylation, histone acetylation, and histone methylation) in the control of heart failure. Furthermore, several chapters delve into chromatin signaling and nongenomic roles for classical epigenetic effectors. For example, it is now clear that histone deacetylases (HDACs) have many nonhistone substrates, and deacetylation of these substrates has profound effects on fundamental cellular processes other than transcription. Finally, the book concludes with a discussion of a newly emerging class of epigenetic regulators referred to as long nonprotein-coding RNAs (lncRNAs), which influence gene expression by altering chromatin organization and function.

We are grateful to the authors of the outstanding chapters in this book. The book illustrates that work done by the field over the last 15 years has significantly advanced our understanding of the role of epigenetics in the pathogenesis of heart failure. However, we expect the next 10 years to be a truly golden era for researchers in this field, where fundamental mechanistic studies are bridged with state-of-the-art drug discovery approaches to yield innovative 'epigenetic therapies' to combat the worldwide epidemic of heart failure.

Timothy A. McKinsey and Johannes Backs

The original version of the book was revised. The correction to the book is available at https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-41457-7\_14

## Contents

1	Epigenetics: Chromatin Organization and Function1Genevieve P. Delcuve, Dilshad H. Khan, Vichithra R. B. Liyanage, Sanzida Jahan, Mojgan Rastegar, Lorrie A. Kirshenbaum, and James R. Davie1
2	Epigenome Dynamics and Reader Proteins in CardiomyocyteDevelopment and Heart Failure37Lutz Hein37
3	<b>Epigenetic Regulations in Cardiac Development</b> .53Mei Xin and Kunhua Song53
4	<b>DNA Methylation in Heart Failure</b> 75Justus Stenzig and Roger S-Y Foo
5	<b>Chromatin Remodeling in Heart Failure</b>
6	Histone Methylation in Heart Development and Cardiovascular Disease
7	<b>The Lysine Acetyltransferases in Cardiovascular Disease</b>
8	HDAC Signaling Networks in Heart Failure
9	Epigenetic and Nongenomic Roles for Histone Deacetylasesin Heart Failure209Weston W. Blakeslee, Philip D. Tatman, and Timothy A. McKinsey
10	Cardiac Autophagy and Its Regulation by Reversible Protein Acetylation
11	<b>Sirtuins as Regulators of Cardiac Hypertrophy and Heart Failure</b> 263 Sadhana Samant and Mahesh P. Gupta

12	BET Bromodomains and P-TEFb in Cardiac Transcription	
	and Heart Failure Pathogenesis	283
	Priti Anand, Amir Munir, and Saptarsi M. Haldar	
13	Long Noncoding RNAs in Heart Disease	297
	Constantin Kühl and Norbert Frey	
Со	rrection to: Epigenetics in Cardiac Disease	<b>C</b> 1



## **Epigenetics: Chromatin Organization** and Function

Genevieve P. Delcuve, Dilshad H. Khan, Vichithra R.B. Liyanage, Sanzida Jahan, Mojgan Rastegar, Lorrie A. Kirshenbaum, and James R. Davie

#### Contents

1.1	Basic and Higher-Order Levels of Chromatin Structure	2
1.2	Nucleosome Dynamics and Gene Regulation.	5
1.3	Histone PTMs.	6
	1.3.1 Histone Acetylation.	8
	1.3.2 Histone Phosphorylation.	10
	1.3.3 Histone Methylation	10
	1.3.4 Other PTMs of Histones	12
1.4	DNA Methylation	13
	1.4.1 CpG Methylation	14
	1.4.2 CpH Methylation	15
	1.4.3 DNA Methylation-Related Regulatory Proteins	15
1.5	Nucleosomes, Transcription and RNA Splicing	16
1.6	Enhancers.	18
1.7	Epigenetics and Metabolism.	19
1.8	ncRNA and Epigenetic Modifiers	19
1.9	Concluding Remarks	20
Refe	rences	22

G.P. Delcuve • D.H. Khan • S. Jahan • M. Rastegar

Manitoba Institute of Cell Biology, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB R3E 0J9, Canada

V.R.B. Liyanage Department of Biochemistry and Medical Genetics, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB R3E 0J9, Canada

L.A. Kirshenbaum Department of Physiology, The Institute of Cardiovascular Sciences, St. Boniface General Hospital Research Centre, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB R3E 0J9, Canada

J.R. Davie (⊠) Manitoba Institute of Cell Biology, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB R3E 0J9, Canada e-mail: jim.davie@umanitoba.ca

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016 J. Backs, T.A. McKinsey (eds.), *Epigenetics in Cardiac Disease*, Cardiac and Vascular Biology 1, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-41457-7\_1

Department of Biochemistry and Medical Genetics, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB R3E 0J9, Canada

#### Abstract

Epigenetics refer to processes such as histone post-translational modifications (PTMs), DNA methylation and RNA that regulate gene activity and expression but are not dependent on alterations in DNA sequence. Herein, we review histone PTMs, histone variants and DNA modifications in the functioning of the nucleosome as an epigenetic signalling module. The majority of the human genome is transcribed, with most of the genome producing non-coding RNA, some of which is a component of the nuclear matrix, a dynamic RNA protein nuclear sub-structure. Non-coding RNA and coding RNA are associated with epigenetic modifiers, architectural chromatin proteins, coactivators and corepressors. The impact of changes in DNA sequence (single nucleotide polymorphisms) on the epigenome is discussed.

#### 1.1 Basic and Higher-Order Levels of Chromatin Structure

In a mammalian nucleus, the bulk of genomic DNA is condensed into higher-order chromatin structures. The basic level of chromatin organization consists of a nucleosome array, the 11-nm 'beads-on-a-string' fibre. The nucleosome consists of a histone octamer, arranged as a (H3–H4)<sub>2</sub> tetramer and two H2A–H2B dimers, around which a 147-bp stretch of DNA is wrapped in almost two left-handed superhelical turns. Nucleosomes are joined by a 20–50-bp stretch of DNA called linker DNA. Core histones are primarily globular, containing a histone-fold structure, except for their highly positively charged N-terminal tails, which emanate from the nucleosome in all directions to interact with linker DNA, nearby nucleosomes or other proteins (Luger et al. 1997; Luger and Richmond 1998). Linker histones, H1/ H5, bind to the DNA entry/exit points of nucleosomes and to the linker DNA region between nucleosomes and are crucial for the formation of higher-order chromatin structure (Felsenfeld and Groudine 2003; Li and Reinberg 2011).

Except for H4, all histones have variants, some of which are expressed at the time of DNA synthesis (H3.1, H2A.1, replication-dependent) and others expressed throughout the cell cycle (H2A.Z, H3.3, replication-independent) (Maze et al. 2014; Law and Cheung 2013). The insertion of histone variants affects chromatin structure and function (Talbert and Henikoff 2010). H3.3 is mostly deposited during transcription and is enriched at active genes, promoters and regulatory elements. Accordingly, H3.3 is enriched in active marks. However, H3.3 is also present at telomeres where it is required for the transcriptional repression of telomeric repeats. Different histone chaperones are involved in the deposition of H3.3 at different genomic loci (Elsaesser et al. 2010; Goldberg et al. 2010; Szenker et al. 2011). Similarly, the outcome of H2A.Z incorporation is context-dependent (Altaf et al. 2009; Draker et al. 2012). H2A.Z stabilizes nucleosome structure and facilitates chromatin compaction (Li et al. 1993; Chen et al. 2013a, b). The abundance of the replacement histones (e.g. H3.3) increases in differentiated non-cycling cells (e.g. cardiomyocytes) and in cells as they age (Wunsch and Lough 1987; Rogakou and Sekeri-Pataryas 1999; Feser and Tyler 2011; Pina and Suau 1987). Of note, while

specific antibodies can be raised against H2A.Z, this is not the case with H3.3. Therefore, studies on H3.3 have used exogenously expressed tagged H3.3, which raises the concern of results being skewed as a consequence of H3.3 overexpression. However, this caveat has been avoided in a recent study of genome-wide profiles of H3 variants by the use of genome editing with zinc-finger nucleases to tag endogenous H3.3 (Goldberg et al. 2010). Only some of the variants are mentioned here. A histone sequence database is available (Marino-Ramirez et al. 2011).

Histone PTMs and DNA methylation are two epigenetic mechanisms involved in the regulation of gene expression (Capell and Berger 2013; Delcuve et al. 2009). Epigenetics is defined as modifications in gene function without a change in DNA sequence. Histones undergo at least eight different classes of reversible PTMs, including acetylation, methylation, ubiquitination and phosphorylation, at many sites mostly on their N-terminal tails, but also in their globular domains (Mersfelder and Parthun 2006; Kouzarides 2007; Taverna et al. 2007; Cosgrove 2007; Huang et al. 2014). These PTMs alter chromatin structure and/or provide a 'code' for the recruitment or occlusion of proteins to chromatin (Gardner et al. 2011). Thus, much more than a unit with a structural role, the nucleosome is a signalling module, which regulates transcription and other genomic functions (Turner 2014).

An under-researched area concerns the composition of individual nucleosomes with regard to histone variants and PTMs. Mononucleosomes contain two copies of each of the four core histones. Are both H3s modified exactly the same? Do specific variants or PTMs occur together in a nucleosome? The early ChIP studies isolated di- and tri-nucleosomes with highly acetylated H4 or highly acetylated H3 (Myers et al. 2001). In these short chromatin fragments, both H3 and H4 were highly acetylated. Cross-linking studies have shown that uH2A and uH2B are together in nucleosomes associated with transcription-active chromatin (Li et al. 1993). Analyses of H3K27me2/3-modified mononucleosomes demonstrated that the two H3s were modified symmetrically and asymmetrically with the other H3 being monomethylated at H3K27 or unmodified at this site (Voigt et al. 2012). Although the H3 kinase, mitogen- and stress-activated kinase, phosphorylates H3 at S10 and S28, stretches of di- and tri-nucleosomes have either H3 modified at S10 or S28 (Dyson et al. 2005). It is not known, however, if both H3s in a nucleosome are symmetrically phosphorylated at S10.

From a simplistic point of view, chromatin is described by its state of condensation and is divided into heterochromatin (repressive state) and euchromatin (active state) (Jenuwein and Allis 2001; Trojer and Reinberg 2007). Euchromatin is characterized by low compaction, the presence of specific PTMs (active marks) and noncanonical histone variants, as well as accessibility to transcriptional regulators. In contrast, heterochromatin is more condensed, rich in repetitive sequences and is associated with a set of PTMs and histone variants regarded as repressive (Peterson and Laniel 2004; Jin et al. 2005; Sims and Reinberg 2006; Jin and Felsenfeld 2006; Loyola and Almouzni 2007).

Further, the vertebrate genome is organized into chromosomal domains, and specialized elements called barrier (insulator) elements are located at the boundaries of the domains. Barrier elements block the spread of heterochromatin into active chromatin domains (Dixon et al. 2012; Phillips-Cremins and Corces 2013). A general feature of transcriptionally active/competent chromatin is its sensitivity to digestion by the nuclease DNase I. Both histone acetylation and torsional stress are contributing factors to the DNase I sensitivity of transcriptionally active chromatin (Villeponteau et al. 1984; Villeponteau and Martinson 1987). Studies initiated in chicken erythrocytes demonstrated that DNase I sensitivity was not necessarily confined to the transcribed gene but ranged from 15 to 100 kb in length and contained one or several genes. The boundaries of where the DNase I sensitivity was absent defined the length of the chromosomal domain (for review, see (Jahan and Davie 2014)). Using a chromosome conformation capture protocol called Hi-C, Bing Ren and colleagues demonstrated that the mammalian genome is organized into topologically associated domains (Dixon et al. 2012). The boundaries of these domains contained insulator-binding protein CCCTC-binding factor (CTCF), cohesin complex, housekeeping genes, transfer RNAs, short interspersed element (SINE) retrotransposons and double-strand break repair protein rad21 homologue (RAD21) (Dixon et al. 2012; Zuin et al. 2014). CTCF, which is referred to as an architectural protein, is associated with the cohesion complex and the nuclear matrix (Ong and Corces 2014; Dunn et al. 2003). CTCF plays a key role in enhancer-promoter interactions. Boundary formation requires several proteins in addition to CTCF, possibly TFIIIC (transcription factor for RNA polymerase III C), cohesion and condensin (Phillips-Cremins and Corces 2013). Disruption of boundary element or insulator may result in disease (Ibn-Salem et al. 2014; Phillips-Cremins and Corces 2013).

It has been widely assumed that higher levels of compaction are achieved through the formation of a 30-nm fibre (Li and Reinberg 2011). However, recent evidence suggests that the 30-nm chromatin fibre does not exist *in vivo* (Eltsov et al. 2008; Dekker 2008; Ahmed et al. 2009, 2010; Lieberman-Aiden et al. 2009; Maeshima et al. 2010). Instead, the various models proposed for higher-order chromatin arrangements imply the dense packing of only 11-nm chromatin fibres (Fussner et al. 2011, 2012; Nishino et al. 2012; Hubner et al. 2013). While chromatin readily folds into 30-nm fibres under physiological conditions *in vitro*, we hypothesize that *in vivo* chromatin must be in a high-energy state, which prevents the formation of the preferred 30-nm fibre, possibly through anchorage to the nuclear matrix including the nuclear lamina.

In recent years, an increasing diversity of non-coding RNAs (ncRNA) has been shown to play a role in the regulation of chromatin states. In particular, specific long ncRNAs (lncRNAs) serve as scaffolds, assembling chromatin-modifying complexes, and direct them to target sites by RNA–DNA interactions. For example, XIST (X-inactive-specific transcript) RNA initiates and maintains heterochromatin formation in the inactivation of the X chromosome (Turner and Morris 2010; Mattick 2011; Geisler and Coller 2013). What is more, a recent study showed that non-coding, repetitive RNAs, some derived from long interspersed nuclear elements L1 (LINE1), are stably associated with euchromatin and copurify with the nuclear matrix (Hall et al. 2014). It was suggested that these RNAs impact the interphase chromosome architecture, helping to maintain an open chromatin configuration (Hall et al. 2014; Nozawa and Gilbert 2014).

#### 1.2 Nucleosome Dynamics and Gene Regulation

Nucleosomes limit access to DNA and thus serve as negative regulators, and their positioning and occupancy play an important role in the regulation of gene expression (Segal and Widom 2009). A recent study examining nucleosome positioning and gene expression in single cells revealed a significant level of heterogeneity within a cell population, and indicated a correlation between nucleosome occupancy and gene expression (Small et al. 2014). This study highlights the underlying complexity and dynamic nature of nucleosome positioning.

What determines nucleosome positioning, however, is poorly understood. The current view is that nucleosome positioning and occupancy are governed by the dynamic interplay of several factors, namely DNA sequence properties (including DNA methylation), cell-specific trans-acting regulatory proteins, histone-modifying enzymes and nucleosome remodellers (Bell et al. 2011; Jiang and Pugh 2009; Radman-Livaja and Rando 2010; Valouev et al. 2011; Zhang et al. 2011; Zhang and Pugh 2011). The next paragraph presents a brief summary of chromatin remodelling, whereas DNA methylation and histones PTMs are discussed in more detail in the following chapters.

Chromatin remodellers, found in multiprotein complexes, use the energy of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) hydrolysis to reshape the chromatin environment. Depending on the domain(s) located next to the ATPase domain of their catalytic subunit, remodellers are grouped into four families: SWI/SNF (bromodomain and helicase-SANT domain), ISWI (SANT-SLIDE domain), CHD (tandem chromodomains) and INO80 (helicase-SANT domain) (Clapier and Cairns 2009; Hargreaves and Crabtree 2011). Remodellers move or evict nucleosomes to establish regular spacing or to provide or deny accessibility of transcription factors to DNA. Some remodellers also restructure nucleosomes by promoting the exchange of nucleosomal histones with their variants, imparting different properties to nucleosomes (Clapier and Cairns 2009). Furthermore, mammalian BAF complexes (of the SWI/ SNF family) also repress transcription through long-range interactions from distal regulatory sites (Ho et al. 2009; Hargreaves and Crabtree 2011).

The different remodellers share a wide range of biological functions, but some also specialize in specific processes, for example, SWR1 is involved in variant H2A.Z incorporation (Krogan et al. 2003; Kobor et al. 2004; Mizuguchi et al. 2004), yeast ISW2 prevents transcription initiation from cryptic sites (Whitehouse et al. 2007). Depending on the developmental context, BAF complexes can either activate or repress the transcription of the same gene (Chi et al. 2003). Contrary to yeast SWI/SNF remodellers, mammalian BAF complexes are polymorphic and thus attain more functional diversity through combinatorial assembly. BAF-selective assemblies contribute to cell fate decisions as they correlate with lineage-specific gene expression programmes (Ho and Crabtree 2010).

Remodellers act in concert with histone-modifying complexes and are recruited to specific nucleosomes by transcription factors or histone PTMs. There is evidence that DNA features (sequence, unusual structures like quadruplexes or methylation) as well as RNA are also involved in the targeting of remodellers (Erdel et al. 2011).

Histone PTMs are recognized by specific protein domains sometimes called reader modules (Taverna et al. 2007; Yun et al. 2011). Moreover, multivalent interactions are thought to occur between combinations of histone PTMs and remodelling complexes presenting different reading domains (Ruthenburg et al. 2007).

Also cooperating with chromatin remodellers and histone modifiers are histone chaperones, which facilitate nucleosome assembly/disassembly and histone exchange (De Koning et al. 2007; Das et al. 2010; Burgess and Zhang 2013). The role of histone chaperones has recently been reviewed, with an emphasis on their crosstalk with histone PTMs (Avvakumov et al. 2011). Furthermore, Biochim Biophys Acta published a special issue entitled 'Histone chaperones and Chromatin assembly' in March–April 2013.

Until recently, the bulk of research on the role of chromatin structure in the regulation of gene expression in response to extracellular and intracellular stimuli has focused on the recruitment of RNA polymerase II (RNAPII) to promoters and consequent transcription initiation. However, there is increasing evidence pointing to a precise regulation of elongation rates. First, RNAPII pausing immediately downstream of promoters is a prevalent regulation mechanism in higher eukaryotes, with differences across different genes in the rate of release of paused RNAPII. Then, there is variability in RNAPII elongation rates along a single gene as well as across the genome. Elongation rates are regulated through the dynamic interplay between histone PTMs, chromatin remodellers, histone chaperones, incorporation of histone variants into nucleosomes and DNA-binding proteins to generate discrete chromatin landscapes (Petesch and Lis 2012; Adelman and Lis 2012; Danko et al. 2013; Kwak and Lis 2013; Kwak et al. 2013; Weber and Henikoff 2014; Jonkers et al. 2014).

Alternative RNA splicing, which is widespread in multicellular eukaryotes, is another level where the chromatin state regulates gene expression. Recent studies indicate that co-transcriptional-splicing decisions correlate with the rates of RNAPII elongation through splice junctions. Indeed, RNAPII tends to slow down through splicing sites at spliced exons, but not at skipped exons (Khan et al. 2012; Kornblihtt et al. 2013; Kwak et al. 2013; Acuna and Kornblihtt 2014; Jonkers et al. 2014). However, exceptions have been reported (Jonkers et al. 2014; Dujardin et al. 2014). Thus, splicing decisions are probably the consequences of splicing complex assembly, RNA secondary and tertiary structure formation, and regulatory factor binding as well as chromatin state.

#### 1.3 Histone PTMs

Histones undergo a wide variety of reversible covalent PTMs that regulate the structure and function of chromatin in a context-dependent manner and thereby regulate various biological processes (Kouzarides 2007; Zlatanova et al. 2009). These modifications occur primarily within the N-terminal tails of histones protruding from the surface of the nucleosomes as well as on the globular domains (Kouzarides 2007; Cosgrove and Wolberger 2005; Jack and Hake 2014). So far with the usage of mass spectrometry, antibody-based and metabolic-labelling techniques, more than 70 different sites for PTMs and several types of histone PTMs have been described (Young et al. 2009; Kouzarides 2007). These include lysine acetylation, lysine and arginine methylation, serine and threonine phosphorylation, and lysine ubiquitination and sumoylation, ADP ribosylation, glycosylation, carbonylation and many others (Huang et al. 2014). These modifications have a major influence on chromatin structure by affecting the local environment, facilitating the binding of transcription factors that regulate gene expression or allowing the interaction with various chromatin remodelling enzymes (Kouzarides 2007; Berger 2007).

Given the number of sites, the wide array of possible histone PTMs and their involvement in different cellular processes, the 'histone-code hypothesis' has been proposed (Rothbart and Strahl 2014; Strahl and Allis 2000). The code postulated that these PTMs on the same or different histone tails may be interdependent and can generate various combinations of PTMs on a single nucleosome. Further, distinct histone PTMs may culminate in specific landscape that can render the interaction sites for different chromatin-binding proteins (Rothbart and Strahl 2014). For example, many chromatin-associated proteins contain the bromodomains or chromodomains, which recognize acetylated lysines or methylated lysine residues, respectively. However, the role of a specific or a combination of histone PTMs may be different pending on the cellular context or gene of interest.

It has been long known that histone PTMs exert profound control over a variety of nuclear processes, including gene transcription, DNA repair, DNA replication and chromosome segregation (Dawson and Kouzarides 2012). However, the functional significance of each PTM, particularly histone acetylation and methylation in other regulatory processes, for example, in facilitating pre-mRNA splicing, alternative splicing, RNA stability or editing, is just beginning to come to light (Hnilicova et al. 2011; Hnilicova and Stanek 2011; Zhou et al. 2014; Delcuve et al. 2012; Gomez Acuna et al. 2013). A number of methods are applied to determine the function of a histone PTM including chromatin reconstitution with a specific histone PTM (e.g. H4K16ac) (Shogren-Knaak et al. 2006); affinity methods to identify a reader of the histone PTM (14-3-3 binding to H3S10ph) (Winter et al. 2008) and knockout, knockdown or application of CRISPR technology to reduce or eliminate the expression (or use of specific enzyme inhibitors) of an enzyme that catalyses a specific histone PTM (e.g. mitogen- and stress-activated protein kinases and H3S10ph) (Soloaga et al. 2003). ChIP assays with antibodies to specific histone PTMs will determine the genomic location of a histone PTM and provide hints at what the function of that histone PTM might be but other assays are required to determine the biological role of the histone PTM.

Aberrations in histone PTMs frequently occur in cancer and other diseases, the nature of which could be therapeutically exploited (Dawson and Kouzarides 2012; Zane et al. 2014; Hattori and Ushijima 2014). Therefore, expanding the understanding of histone PTMs in various regulatory processes will have a powerful impact on identification and development of new therapeutic targets in diseases and cancers, in addition to deciphering their mechanistic role in chromatin architecture and function.

#### 1.3.1 Histone Acetylation

One of the most extensively studied histone PTMs is acetylation, which occurs at the *e*-amino groups of lysine residues within the core histones. The 50 years of histone acetylation and the seminal contributions of Vincent Allfrey were recently celebrated at a Conference on Epigenetics and Cancer in October (http://www.bdebate. org/en/forum/50-years-histone-acetylation-barcelona-conference-epigenetics-andcancer). Acetylation is a reversible, dynamic process, which is regulated by two classes of antagonizing histone-modifying enzymes, lysine acetyltransferases (KATs) and histone deacetylases (HDACs), which add or remove acetyl groups to/ from lysine residues within the N-terminal tails of target histones, respectively. The global acetylation level of histones influences chromatin conformation and affects the accessibility of transcription factors and effector proteins to the DNA, thereby modulating gene expression. KATs and HDACs are associated with the nuclear matrix, likely in complexes containing the transcription apparatus (Hendzel et al. 1991, 1994). Interestingly, the treatment of the nuclear matrix with RNase releases the HDACs from the residual nuclear matrix (largely the nuclear pore complex and lamin). This observation suggests that the nuclear matrix-bound HDAC may be associated with the nuclear matrix-associated RNA (Khan et al. 2014; Hall et al. 2014).

Histone acetylation promotes increased transcriptional activity by two welldefined mechanisms. Firstly, lysine acetylation by KATs neutralizes the positive charge of the histone tails and reduces the affinity of histones for the negatively charged DNA, thus weakening histone-DNA or nucleosome-nucleosome interactions as well as inducing a conformation change. This results in destabilizing and loosening of nucleosome and chromatin structure, enables the transcriptional machinery to access the DNA and enhances gene transcription. Conversely, deacetylation by HDACs removes the acetyl group from the histone tails, presumably restores the positive charge to the specific lysine residue, thereby increasing the interaction of histones with negatively charged DNA, and thus reverses the effects of KATs and alters transcription. The role of these enzymes in transcription, their recruitment mechanisms to the regulatory elements of genes as well as their compositions in multiprotein complexes are well documented (Thompson et al. 2013; Delcuve et al. 2013). Overall, the acetylation levels of histones result from the interplay between histone acetylation and deacetylation reactions catalysed by KATs and HDACs. Secondly, histone acetylation can act as recognition-docking sites for bromodomain containing effector proteins that can interact with the modified residues (Marmorstein and Zhou 2014; Sanchez et al. 2014). Subsequently, the recruited effector proteins modulate DNA transcription.

One of the hallmarks of transcriptionally active genes is the presence of acetylated histones predominantly at upstream-promoter regions (UPR), indicating that the level of acetylation corresponds to the rate of transcription. However, histone acetylation also occurs throughout transcribed gene body regions, suggesting that histone acetylation is involved in transcription elongation. In human CD4+ T-cells, with chromatin immunoprecipitation sequencing (ChIP-seq), it has been reported that acetylation of K9, K18, K27 and K36 of H3 is predominantly found at UPR, while acetylation of K14 and K23 of H3, which also localized at promoters, extended significantly downstream of the promoters to the transcribed units (Wang et al. 2009). Similar patterns were observed with acetylated H4, acetylated H4K5 and H4K8 being localized at promoters, while acetylated H4K12 was detected throughout the gene body. Furthermore, several KATs and HDACs are also identified in UPR and in the coding regions of transcribed genes (Wang et al. 2009).

KATs and HDACs are typically recruited to regulatory regions of genes in large multi-protein complexes. For example, HDAC1 and HDAC2 are present in the Sin3A, NuRD and CoREST complexes (Delcuve et al. 2013). HDAC1 and HDAC2 need to be phosphorylated at sites located in C-terminal part of the protein to form these complexes. Preventing the protein kinase CK2-mediated phosphorylation of HDAC1 or HDAC2, also precipitously reduces the activity of the enzyme (Delcuve et al. 2013). Presumably, the organization/structure of phosphorylated HDAC1/2 in these complexes stimulates HDAC activity. When the KAT and HDAC complexes are recruited together to the regulatory regions of genes, then dynamic acetylation of the histones and non-histone proteins in those regions will occur. However, a change in the balance of KATs to HDACs or change in activity of the KAT or HDAC will result in a shift in the acetylation state of the histones as well as other acetylated proteins such as transcription factors. For example, in cardiac myocytes, HDAC1 interacts with the transcription factor nuclear factor kappa B (NF-kB), which has an important role in regulating genes supporting cardiac myocyte survival (Shaw et al. 2006). HDAC1 deacetylates NF-kB, reducing its transcriptional activity. Acetylation and increased transcriptional activity are required in the tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNFa) pathway for cardiac myocyte survival. Interestingly, TNF $\alpha$  reduced HDAC activity but not the enzyme's nuclear location. Possibly, the TNF $\alpha$ -signalling pathway reduces HDAC1/2 phosphorylation (Gang et al. 2013, 2011). For substrate specificity of KATs and HDACs, see Anamika et al. (2010), Berndsen and Denu (2008), Li et al. (2014), Moser et al. (2014), Feldman et al. (2012), Riester et al. (2007), Yao and Yang (2011).

Although the functional significances of the KATs and HDACs in the gene body are not very well defined, there are several reports indicating their role in transcription regulation. Moreover, the loss of HDAC activity caused the transcription initiation from cryptic intragenic promoters in yeast (Carrozza et al. 2005). Interactions between KATs and components of the transcription elongation machinery have also been reported (Wery et al. 2004). Moreover, the role(s) of histone acetylation in other cellular processes, such as in co-transcriptional-splicing mechanisms, RNA processing and editing, are recently emerging, indicating their role(s) in diverse biological processes, yet to be discovered.

Studies with chicken erythrocytes have shown that transcribed regions of the genome are undergoing high rates of acetylation and deacetylation that are not present at other regions of the erythrocyte genome (Zhang and Nelson 1988a, b). In the first direct demonstration of acetylated histones being bound to competent/transcribed DNA, Colyn Crane-Robinson and colleagues reported that highly acetylated H4 was not only bound to the transcribed  $\beta$ -globin gene in 15-day chicken

embryo erythrocytes but was located along the entire 33-kb DNase I-sensitive β-globin domain (Hebbes et al. 1994). In contrast, highly acetylated H3 and H4 were located primarily at the 5' regulatory region, which contained a CpG island, of housekeeping genes (e.g. GAPDH) (Myers et al. 2001). The understudied highly acetylated H2B was associated with the  $\beta$ -globin domain but not with the regulatory regions of the housekeeping genes (Myers et al. 2003). Interestingly, H2B undergoes the highest rate of acetylation/deacetylation of the core histones in chicken immature erythrocytes (Zhang and Nelson 1988a, b). The highly acetylated state of the histones associated with transcribed genes alters the capacity of histone H1/H5 to render the chromatin containing these genes insoluble at physiological ionic strength (Ridsdale et al. 1990). This feature of the chicken erythroid-transcribed chromatin made it possible to isolate transcriptionally active chromatin from these G0-phase non-replicating cells (Delcuve and Davie 1989). The salt-soluble, active gene-enriched polynucleosomes were associated with H3K4me2/3, uH2B, newly synthesized H2A/H2B (via histone exchange) and atypical nucleosomes (Locklear et al. 1990). There will be more mentioned about the U-shaped nucleosome in the section on nucleosomes and transcription.

#### 1.3.2 Histone Phosphorylation

Phosphorylation on serine or threonine residues of the N-terminal of all core histones has been reported with implications in several biological processes such as mitosis/meiosis, DNA-damage repair, transcriptional induction, apoptosis and heterochromatin formation (Perez-Cadahia et al. 2010; Sawicka and Seiser 2012). Among the core histones, phosphorylation of H3 is very well studied and the conserved phospho-residues of H3 are Thr3, Ser10, Thr11 and Ser28 (Cerutti and Casas-Mollano 2009). All of these phospho-marks are constituents of condensed mitotic chromatin. However, phosphorylated H3Ser10 and Ser28 (referred to as inducible PTMs) are also involved in transcriptional activation of specific genes (immediate early genes) during interphase in response to various stimuli, such as mitogens, growth factors, stress, ultraviolet (UV) radiation and cytokines (Clayton et al. 2000; Cerutti and Casas-Mollano 2009; Khan et al. 2013; Healy et al. 2012). Overall, the effect of H3 phosphorylation on chromatin is context-dependent and is associated with two different chromatin states: chromatin condensation (mitosis) and accessible chromatin structure (transcription).

#### 1.3.3 Histone Methylation

Methylation of histones can occur in the lysine and arginine residues on the N-terminal tails as well as on the histone-fold domains of histones H3 and H4. The  $\varepsilon$ -amino group of lysine residues is methylated in the states of mono-, di- or trimethylation by lysine methyltransferases (KMTs), whereas arginine residues are mono- or di-methylated in a symmetrical or asymmetrical manner by protein

arginine methyltransferases (PRMTs) (Agger et al. 2008; Zhang and Reinberg 2001; Jahan and Davie 2014). PRMT1, through asymmetric di-methylation of H4 Arg 3, recruits the Set1 complex via the WDR5 subunit. Set1 will di- and tri-methylate H3K4, which is 'read' by KATs, resulting in the acetylation of histones associated with that nucleosome. Several studies have shown that H3 di- and tri-methylated at K4 are preferentially acetylated (Wang et al. 2009; Edmunds et al. 2008; Hsu et al. 2012). The transcription factor USF1 recruits PRMT1 to the HS4 insulator/barrier element of the  $\beta$ -globin gene in chicken erythrocytes, an activity that is important in conferring barrier properties to this element (Huang et al. 2005, 2007; Li et al. 2010). In addition to H4R3me2a, PRMT (five or nine)-symmetric methylation of H3 at R2 may serve a similar function as H4R3me2a, in that the H3R2me2s is 'read' by Set enzymes, resulting in the strong linkage between this H3 PTM and H3K4me3 (Yuan et al. 2012; Migliori et al. 2012).

There are several mechanisms by which Set1-family members (H3K4 methyltransferases; SET1A/B, MLL1/2/3/4) are recruited to transcriptionally active genes. In addition to the mechanism described above, CpG islands, a feature associated with upstream promoter and 5' end of the gene body of transcribed genes, associate with Set1. A zinc-finger protein, CXXC1, binds to the CpG island and recruits Set1family members (Hashimoto et al. 2010; Blackledge et al. 2013). Previous studies have documented the association between the CpG island and H3K4me3 (Maunakea et al. 2010). It is curious, however, that the H3K4me3 often appears as two peaks, with one located with the CpG island and the other 3' to the island. For example, the human *MCL1* has one peak of H3K4me3 at the exon 1/intron 1 boundary that overlaps with a CpG island, while a much greater peak of H3K4me3 is located over exon 2, which is downstream of the CpG island (Fig. 1.1). The two peaks of H3K4me cover two to three nucleosomes.

Once established, H3K4me3 is a relatively stable mark, which will increase and decrease with transcription induction and cessation, respectively, of inducible genes (Edmunds et al. 2008). The transcription-dependent increase in H3K4me3 at the 5' end of the inducible gene body is likely linked to RNF20-mediated ubiquitination of H2B and stimulation of Set 1 activity to tri-methylate H3K4 (Kim et al. 2009). Ubiquitination of H2B is dependent upon transcription (Davie and Murphy 1990). The H3K4me3 mark remains associated with mitotic chromosomes acting presumably as a mitotic bookmark for the expression of specific genes in the daughter cell (Terrenoire et al. 2010; Delcuve et al. 2009; Zaidi et al. 2011, 2014).

Histone methylation is a dynamic modification with enzymatic conversion of methylated arginine residues to citrulline and with lysine demethylases that can remove the mono-, di- and tri-methylated groups from lysine (Bicker and Thompson 2013; Shmakova et al. 2014; Hojfeldt et al. 2013; Van Rechem and Whetstine 2014). Furthermore, the Jumonji family of histone demethylases is able to demethylate specific H3 lysines (tri-methylated residues) as well as methylated arginine residues (Shmakova et al. 2014). The functional consequences of the different degree of methylation result in various biological outcomes including transcriptional activation, elongation or repression, imprinting, DNA replication and DNA-damage repair.



**Fig. 1.1** Histone H3K4 tri-methylated nucleosomes and the *MCL1* gene. Exon 2 of the *MCL1* transcript is alternatively spliced. When exon 2 is retained, the *MCL-1L* transcript is produced, coding for a protein with anti-apoptotic function. When exon 2 is excluded, the short transcript *MCL-1S* is synthesized, yielding the MCL-1S protein with pro-apoptotic activity. A CpG island is located over the UPR and 5' end of the gene body. One of the two peaks of H3K4me3 covers the CpG islands. The nucleosome positioned at exon 2 has high levels of H3K4me3 and is dynamically acetylated

Deregulation of lysine methyltransferases and lysine demethylases is common in disease states such as cancer. For example, EZH2, which tri-methylates H3K27 (a repressive mark), is mutated in some cancer, resulting in an enzyme that is more active in forming H3K27me3 (Yap et al. 2011). Lysine demethylase KDM5B, which demethylates H3K4me3, is expressed at a greater level in oestrogen receptor-positive breast cancer cells resulting in a lowering of genomic H3K4me3 levels (Klein et al. 2014; Yamane et al. 2007; Lu et al. 1999).

#### 1.3.4 Other PTMs of Histones

Histones ubiquitinated on lysine residues have diverse biological functions. Ubiquitination involves the covalent linkage of ubiquitin monomers to histones as either a single addition (monoubiquitination) or as a polyubiquitin chain. Monoubiquitination of the C-terminal tail of H2B (H2BK120), catalysed by the mammalian RAD6/RNF20 complex, is a mark linked to transcriptional stimulation, elongation and nucleosome remodelling (Cole et al. 2014; Davie and Murphy 1990). RNF20 and H2B ubiquitination was shown to play a role in establishing domain boundary (HS4) at the chicken erythrocyte  $\beta$ -globin domain as well as establishing H3K4 methylation and highly acetylated H3, H4 and H2A.Z (Ma et al. 2011). While the dynamic regulation of H2B ubiquitination is essential for gene transcription, ubiquitination of H2A is considered as a repressive mark (Wright et al. 2012).

The small ubiquitin-like modifier (SUMO) is a large modification (10Ka in mass), which is covalently linked, and is found on all core histones (Shiio and Eisenman 2003). Recent studies suggest that sumoylation of histone H4 promotes chromatin decondensation (Dhall et al. 2014).

Histones can also be reversibly modified by ADP ribosylation on the arginine and glutamate residues in either mono- or poly-ribosylated forms. Distinct enzymes are responsible for this modification including mono-ADP ribosyltransferases and poly(ADP-ribose) polymerases (Allis et al. 2007; Messner and Hottiger 2011). ADP ribosylation of nucleosomes is involved in the epigenetic regulation of higherorder structural organization of chromatin (Rouleau et al. 2010).

#### 1.4 DNA Methylation

DNA methylation is a dynamic and reversible epigenetic mechanism, which is involved in diverse biological processes such as gene expression regulation, alternative splicing, genomic imprinting, chromatin organization and X-chromosome inactivation (Wu and Zhang 2014; Liyanage et al. 2014). DNA methylation can be of different forms with respect to the nucleotide, which undergoes methylation. The two forms of DNA methylation are (1) CpG methylation where cytosine (C) residues in the context of CpG dinucleotides are methylated and (2) non-CpG methylation or CpH methylation (H=A, T or C) (Fig. 1.2). The distribution and functions of DNA methylation are highly dependent on their genomic location (context) and cell type, which will be discussed briefly in this section.



**Fig. 1.2** Different types of DNA methyl modifications. (a) CpG methylation. DNMT transfer methyl group from SAM to cytosines to generate 5-methylcytosine (*5mC*). Ten eleven translocation (*TET*) proteins carry out oxidation of 5mC into 5-hydroxymethylcytosine (*5hmC*; 'the fifth base'), 5-formylcytosine (*5fC*) and 5-carboxycytosine (*5CaC*) through a series of oxidation steps which involve oxygen (*O2*), *alpha*-ketoglutarate ( $\alpha KG$ ), adenosine triphosphate (*ATP*) and Fe<sup>2+</sup>. (b) Non-CpG methylation or CpH methylation where H=A/T/C. As an example of CpH methylation, transfer of methyl group from SAM to adenine by either DNMTs or Dam methylase is shown

#### 1.4.1 CpG Methylation

In mammals, 70–80% of the DNA methylation occurring in the context of CpGs is due to the transfer of a methyl group to the carbon-5 position of cytosine from the methyl donor S-adenosyl methionine (SAM) by DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs) (Fig. 1.2a). This basic DNA modification is referred to as 5-methylcytosine (5mC) and is considered as the 'fifth base' of the genome. There are three major types of DNMTs, DNMT1 which maintains the DNA methylation patterns during replication and, DNMT3A and DNMT3B, the de novo DNMTs. The 5mC modification can be oxidized by Ten eleven translocation proteins (TET1-3) to generate 5-hydroxymethylcytosine (5hmC), which is known as the 'sixth base' of the genome. A series of subsequent oxidation reactions mediated by TET proteins generate 5-formylcytosine (5fC) and 5-carboxycytosine (5CaC) (Fig. 1.2a). TET-based oxidation of 5mC to other DNA modifications is also considered as DNA demethylation, which involves oxygen (O<sub>2</sub>), alpha-ketoglutarate ( $\alpha$ KG), Fe<sup>2+</sup> and ATP (Liyanage et al. 2014).

The 5mC methylation is predominantly associated with transcriptional repression when it is localized to promoter elements of genes. This repressive DNA modification is known to recruit transcription-repressor complexes, such as SIN3 (HDAC), which includes methyl CpG-binding proteins (MBPs). One of the major MBPs, which binds to 5mC, is MeCP2. This DNA modification can also mediate transcription repression through crosstalks with repressive histone PTMs such as H3K9me2/3, H3K27me3 and H4K20me3 (Rottach et al. 2009). The crosstalks between DNA methylation and histone PTMs may occur in two ways: (1) DNA methylation, followed by binding of MBPs, recruits repressor complex, which in turn loads writers of histone PTMs such as lysine methyltransferases, or (2) histone PTMs established by writers (lysine methyltransferases) or erasers (HDACs) of histone PTMs lead to the recruitment of DNMTs onto DNA, which subsequently establish DNA methylation (Kondo 2009; Vaissiere et al. 2008). The steric hindrance caused by DNA methylation could prevent the loading of transcription factors to the gene promoters, preventing transcriptional activation. Increased 5mC methylation, subsequent chromatin compaction and recruitment of MBPs and heterochromatin-associated proteins such as HP1 form a more compact chromatin structure leading to the formation of heterochromatin or transcriptionally inactive chromatin domains (Liyanage et al. 2014). Moreover, DNA methylation contributes to the regulation of splicing through the definition of exons/introns junctions and regulation of RNA polymerase elongation rate during co-transcriptional splicing (Gelfman and Ast 2013; Kornblihtt et al. 2013).

Most studies on 5hmC distribution within the genome report a preferential distribution of 5hmC in transcriptionally active chromatin regions and enhancers (Mellen et al. 2012). Although regions with high CpG density (CpG islands) are known to cause transcriptional repression when hypermethylated, a recent study showed the enrichment of 5hmC methylation in CpG islands of transcriptionally active genes in embryonic stem cells (Booth et al. 2012). However, there is evidence to suggest that 5hmC has an opposite role as well. For instance, MeCP2-bound 5hmC was shown

to be enriched at the promoters of the transcriptionally repressed *GAD1* and *RELN* genes (Zhubi et al. 2014). Moreover, TET1, which drives the 5hmC generation, interacts with polycomb-repressive complex 2 within the repressed promoters of several genes in mouse embryonic stem cells (Wu and Zhang 2011). Similar to 5mC, 5hmC seems to have genomic context-dependent and cell-type-specific roles in regulating gene expression.

The 5fC and 5CaC modifications have been investigated in many recent studies. The two modifications recruit different proteins to mediate their functions. For example, 5fC is recognized by MBD3 in mouse embryonic stem cells, while 5CaC is targeted by a wide range of regulatory proteins such as CTCF, EHMT1, NCOR2, PRP31 and DNMT1, which are involved in transcription repression and regulation of alternative splicing (Spruijt et al. 2013; Iurlaro et al. 2013). However, 5CaC was also enriched in transcriptionally active euchromatin regions within ovarian follicular cells, suggesting a role of 5CaC in transcriptional activation (Liyanage et al. 2014).

Altogether, the diverse roles of different DNA modifications are dependent on the genomic context (promoter, exons/introns, and enhancer), type of DNA modification (5mC, 5hmC, 5fC and 5CaC), interacting protein partners or recruited proteins (MeCP2, CTCF, DNMTs, splice factors) and cell type.

#### 1.4.2 CpH Methylation

The CpH methylation is prevalent in embryonic stem cells, induced pluripotent stem cells, adult brain and mature neurons, while it is less abundant in somatic cell types (Guo et al. 2014b). The CpH methylation is carried out by DNMT3A and DNMT3B (Guo et al. 2014b) or Dam methylase (Amine Aloui et al. 2013) (Fig. 1.2b). The CpH methylation can either occur as mCHH or mCHG. Four per cent (4%) of the metazoan genome contains CpGs, and thus the presence of CpH methylation was postulated to expand the nucleotides, which are methylated allowing a more in-depth regulation of gene expression (Guo et al. 2014b). Similar to 5mC methylation, CpH methylation is associated with gene silencing and genomic imprinting (Mellen et al. 2012). Regulatory proteins recruited onto DNA by CpH methylation mediate transcriptional regulation. Examples of major regulatory proteins, which recognize and bind to CpH, include MeCP2 and DNMT3A (Guo et al. 2014b).

#### 1.4.3 DNA Methylation-Related Regulatory Proteins

The MBP protein family consists of five members, namely MBD1, MBD2, MBD3, MBD4 and MeCP2 (Liyanage and Rastegar 2014; Liyanage et al. 2012), which bind to methylated DNA through their methyl-binding domains. Unlike other MBPs, MBD3 is unable to bind to methylated DNA, yet plays a role in transcriptional regulation through protein interactions with repressor complexes

(Liyanage et al. 2014). Proteins, which lack MBD but contain Zn-finger domains, are also capable of binding to methylated DNA and Kaiso is one such protein. The initial concept was that MBPs once bound to methylated DNA (5mC) facilitate transcriptional repression. However, recent discovery of MBPs recruitment on 5hmC and interactions with TET proteins have led to a paradigm shift in the role of MBPs in transcriptional regulation (Mellen et al. 2012; Cartron et al. 2013). The vast variety of transcriptional regulatory roles of MBPs are determined by the preference of underlying DNA sequence (e.g. CpGG or CpGC for MBD2), type of DNA methyl modification (5mC/5hmC/5fC and 5CaC) and interacting protein partners (e.g. TET1, polycomb complexes) (Liyanage et al. 2012, 2014). Several members of the MBP family are also found to be recruited onto non-CpG-methylated regions and unmethylated DNA regions (Hansen et al. 2010).

Other than their well-known functions in transcriptional regulation, MBP proteins are also known as chromatin-architectural proteins because of their role in modulating chromatin structure (Liyanage et al. 2012). For example, once bound to methylated DNA, MeCP2 is able to mediate the formation of chromatin bridges, loops and higher-order chromatin structure. Disruption of the methyl-binding domains by mutations leads to alterations in binding to DNA and changes in chromatin structure (reviewed in (Liyanage and Rastegar 2014)).

#### 1.5 Nucleosomes, Transcription and RNA Splicing

Throughout the transcription elongation process, RNAPII has to contend with nucleosomes. A model for transcription proposed by Ken van Holde has been supported by experimental data from Vasily Studitsky and colleagues (van Holde et al. 1992; Kulaeva et al. 2013). In this model, a dimer of H2A/H2B is displaced from the nucleosome during encounter with the RNAPII, explaining why the exchange of H2AH2B dimer is so much greater than the H3H4 tetramer (Thiriet and Hayes 2005; Jackson 1990; Das and Tyler 2013). In avian erythrocytes, which are G0 phase non-replicating cells, newly synthesized H2A and H2B rapidly exchange with transcriptionally active/competent regions; however, this exchange is not dependent upon transcription (Hendzel and Davie 1990). Interestingly, the newly synthesized histones incorporated into active/competent chromatin regions are also ubiquitinated. It is not clear whether the ubiquitination occurred before or after the newly synthesized histones were incorporated into chromatin. Replicationindependent-synthesized histone variants, such as H3.3 and H2A.Z, exchange with the nucleosomal histones of transcriptionally active chromatin (Teves and Henikoff 2011). In G0 phase chicken erythrocytes, the newly synthesized histones are of the replication-independent type.

Clearly, the process of transcription is disruptive to nucleosome structure. Vincent Allfrey and colleagues demonstrated that transcription through a nucleosome resulted in the exposure of the sulphydryl groups of the H3 cysteine, which is typically buried in the nucleosome (Walker et al. 1990). The exposure of the cysteine sulphydryl made it possible to isolate the atypical nucleosomes on mercuryaffinity columns, which used to be available from BioRad. Characterization of these atypical nucleosomes showed that the nucleosomes had a U-shaped structure and had acetylated histones. Passage of RNAPII is required to form the U-shaped nucleosome. Further, the 'open' conformation of the U-shaped nucleosome will be maintained as long as the nucleosomal histones remain in a highly acetylated state (Walia et al. 1998). The salt-soluble polynucleosomes, containing active/competent DNA, isolated from chicken erythrocytes are rich in U-shaped nucleosomes (Locklear et al. 1990).

In concert with transcription, splicing of the pre-mRNA occurs. There has been a recent burst of research activity demonstrating the relationship between histone PTMs on the body of the transcribed gene and proteins involved in splicing. In human cells, most genes are multi-exonic and undergo alternative splicing, which can give rise to proteins (or RNA) with guite different functions and cellular locations (Khan et al. 2012; Kornblihtt et al. 2013). Also of interest is that most internal exons are short, about the length of nucleosomal DNA. The regulation of alternative splicing is quite complex, and is influenced by transcription rates, histone PTMs and a variety of splicing factors. The types of histone PTMs located along a gene body are polarized. At the 5' end of the gene body is found H3K4me3, which is followed by H3K4me2 and H3K36me3 further down the gene body. Tom Mistelli and colleagues reported that MRG15, which binds to H3K36me3, associates with the RNA-binding protein PTB (Luco et al. 2010). H3K4me3 recruits the chromatin remodeller CHD1, which influences splicing (Sims et al. 2007). The rate of elongation through the gene body is not uniform. John Lis and colleagues developed a method called precision nuclear run-on and sequencing to determine the positions of transcriptionally engaged RNAPII in the genome. In addition to promoter-proximal pausing, RNAPII pausing occurred at intron-exon boundaries and over 3' polyadenylation sites (Kwak et al. 2013). Interestingly, RNAPII pausing was less acute at skipped exons. The elongation rate through a nucleosome may be influenced by histone PTMs.

We recently demonstrated that the nucleosome associated with the alternative exon 2 of the human *MCL1* gene is preferentially tri-methylated at H3K4 and is dynamically acetylated (Fig. 1.1). Inhibition of HDAC activity rapidly results in the histones of the exon 2 nucleosome becoming highly acetylated. Although not yet shown, it is quite possible that the highly acetylated exon 2 nucleosome has an 'open' U-shaped structure. The rate of elongation is increased through the exon 2 nucleosome, which prevents certain RNA-splicing factors required for exon 2 inclusion from binding to the *MCL1* transcript. The strategic placement of H3K4me3 on the exon 2 nucleosome confers properties onto this nucleosomes. Thus, in the context as a signalling module, the exon 2 nucleosome is quite different from its neighbouring nucleosomes.

#### 1.6 Enhancers

Enhancers play a critical role in the regulation of transcription. For any given promoter, there may be several enhancers (e.g. *FOS*) (Kim et al. 2010). Enhancers interact with specific promoters by looping, resulting in the juxtapositioning of the enhancer with the promoter. Enhancers with nucleosomes containing H3.3 and H2A.Z undergo rapid histone turnover (Kraushaar et al. 2013). Other chromatin features of an enhancer include H3K4me1/2, p300 (a KAT), H3K27ac, p300, mediator, cohesin and enhancer RNA (eRNA) (Zentner and Scacheri 2012). Which of these features signifies an active enhancer is disputed; however, elegant approaches provide compelling evidence that chromatin looping, eRNA and mediator are required for transcriptional activation of the targeted promoter (Fanucchi et al. 2013; Lam et al. 2014; Zentner and Scacheri 2012). Enhancer RNAs are typically short-lived and low in abundance. Global run-on sequencing (GRO-Seq) rather than RNA sequencing is the preferred method to detect eRNA (Core et al. 2008; Lai and Shiekhattar 2014).

To be discussed in more detail in the next section, there is a growing body of literature reporting the important role of ncRNA in chromatin organization and function. Although there is still much to learn about the role of eRNA in mediating enhancer-promoter chromatin loop formation, it has been suggested that eRNA recruits mediator, leading to chromatin looping.

In oestrogen-responsive breast cancer cells, enhancers with oestrogen receptor element bind to oestrogen receptor alpha as well as many other transcription factors and coactivators, forming a large 1-2 megadalton complex. Several of the transcription factors in this complex were not associated with DNA. Interestingly, DNA-PK is a component of this complex (Liu et al. 2014). This megadalton complex may be instrumental in bringing together oestrogen-responsive genes in a cluster (Liu et al. 2014). The bromodomain-containing protein BRD4 is bound to a subset of enhancers, known as super enhancers, which represent less than 5 % of a cell's enhancers (Hnisz et al. 2013; Loven et al. 2013). A super enhancer is an extended genomic region (up to tens of kilobases in length) that has a high density of enhancer-associated marks and proteins such as H3K27ac, H3K4me1, mediator and BRD4 (Heinz et al. 2015). During pro-inflammatory stimulation by TNF $\alpha$ , NF-kB and BRD4 establish the super enhancers, which drive pro-inflammatory gene transcription (Brown et al. 2014). The activity of some enhancers is dependent upon recruitment to nuclear matrix-associated proteins. For example, the Pit1bound enhancers are recruited to the nuclear matrin-3-rich network, an event that is critical for enhancer activity and expression of Pit1-regulated genes (Skowronska-Krawczyk et al. 2014).

Genome-wide association studies have identified single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) that are associated with various disease states. Interestingly, these changes in nucleotide sequences are found in enhancers and super enhancers, which may impact the binding of key transcription factors and enhancer activity, and have a role in disease states (Corradin et al. 2014; Hnisz et al. 2013).

#### 1.7 Epigenetics and Metabolism

There is increasing awareness of the relationship between DNA/histone PTMs and metabolism (Liyanage et al. 2014; Kaochar and Tu 2012). In mammalian cells, histone acetylation is dependent on ATP-citrate lyase. This enzyme produces acetyl-CoA from glucose-derived citrate (Wellen et al. 2009). Metabolites of intermediary metabolism, such as acetyl-CoA, SAM, FAD,  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate and ATP, are required to drive epigenetic processes (Kaochar and Tu 2012). Further, the metabolites themselves may regulate epigenetic modifiers. For example, Eric Verdin and colleagues demonstrated that the keto acid  $\beta$ -hydroxybutyrate inhibits HDAC activity (Newman and Verdin 2014). Vitamin C enhances TET activity and the conversion of 5meC to 5hmeC (Blaschke et al. 2013). Further, the TET enzymes and several of the KDMs require two cofactors Fe(II) and 2-oxoglutarate (Shmakova et al. 2014; Hojfeldt et al. 2013). Both diet and environmental factors can impact the epigenome (for review (Kaur et al. 2013; Kanherkar et al. 2014)).

#### 1.8 ncRNA and Epigenetic Modifiers

RNA-sequencing studies have demonstrated that over 85% of the human genome is transcribed (Hangauer et al. 2013; Mercer et al. 2014). A low level of transcription takes place between genes, producing long intergenic ncRNA (lincRNA). ncRNA also arises from enhancers, promoters and antisense transcripts (transcripts produced on the opposite strand as the protein coding or sense strand) (Guil and Esteller 2012; Carninci et al. 2005; Katayama et al. 2005). In some cases, the sense and antisense transcripts are coordinately regulated (Luther et al. 2005). The ncRNA has secondary structure and is bound to a variety of RNA-binding proteins (Quinn et al. 2014). Interestingly, the ncRNA may also be circular (Guo et al. 2014a).

Nuclear RNA, whether coding or ncRNA, regulates the structure and function of chromatin (Guil and Esteller 2012; Gardini and Shiekhattar 2014). RNA may have a role as genome-organizing-architectural factors of transcribed chromosomal domains (Caudron-Herger et al. 2011; Caudron-Herger and Rippe 2012; Guil and Esteller 2012) and/or have a functional role such as ncRNA originating from enhancers (eRNAs) (Natoli and Andrau 2012). RNA called chromatin-interlinking RNA (ciRNA) has been isolated from chromatin. The ciRNA was proposed to act as genome-organizing-architectural factors of transcribed chromatin regions (Rodriguez-Campos and Azorin 2007; Caudron-Herger et al. 2011). Microinjection of RNase A into the nucleus of mammalian cells resulted in the rearrangement of chromatin distribution with the aggregation of chromatin at the nuclear periphery. Current evidence suggests that lncRNA is involved in regulating gene expression and the nuclear/chromatin structure of active genes. Genes producing the lncRNA have H3K4me3 at their 5' end and H3K36me3 throughout the gene body (Orom and Shiekhattar 2011; Gardini and Shiekhattar 2014).

There is mounting evidence that chromatin modifiers and remodellers associated with nuclear RNA play a key role in determining histone PTM positions along chromatin. RNA-bound chromatin modifiers, architectural proteins and chromatinassociated proteins include KAT2B, HDAC1/2, SWI/SNF, mediator, CTCF and MeCP2 (Khan et al. 2012, 2014; Sjolinder et al. 2005; Tyagi et al. 2009; Guil et al. 2012; Maxwell et al. 2013; Tsai et al. 2010). The ncRNA may associate with chromatin modifiers that are activators (e.g. MLL, an H3K4 methyltransferase) or repressors (EZH2) (Guil and Esteller 2012; Guil et al. 2012). HOTAIR is an example of a IncRNA with a repressive function that silences nearby genes (Gardini and Shiekhattar 2014). The polycomb-repressive complex (EZH2, SUZ12, EED) binds to the 5' domain of HOTAIR, while the LSD1/CoREST/REST complex binds to the 3' domain of this lncRNA (Tsai et al. 2010). LSD1 is an H3K4me2 demethylase, and CoREST is associated with HDAC1/2. A class of lncRNAs, which do not overlap with proteincoding genes and activate transcription, is referred to as ncRNA activating (Orom and Shiekhattar 2011). Interestingly, the knockdown of a ncRNA-activating specifically attenuated the expression of a 'nearby' protein-coding gene; the median distance of a ncRNA-activating to the impacted protein-coding gene was over 100 kb in mammalian cells. The ncRNA-activating binds to mediator, a large multiprotein transcriptional coactivator (Ansari and Morse 2013; Lai et al. 2013). The association of these chromatin modifiers with RNA is often indirect, with the factor being recruited to RNA via a RNA-binding protein. For example, the KAT, PCAF or KAT2B is recruited to RNA via hnRNP U (Obrdlik et al. 2008). The H3K4 methyltransferase MLL is associated with RNA, with specific RNAs bringing MLL to a targeted promoter.

We recently reported that HDAC1 and HDAC2 are recruited to the gene body of a transcribed gene, with the recruitment of HDAC being transcription-dependent (Khan et al. 2014). However, the HDAC1/2 were not associated with the chromatin but with the transcript. Using a dual-cross-linking ChIP assay, HDAC1 and 2 appeared to be bound to the gene body of the transcribed gene. However, when the fragmented chromatin was digested with RNase A before adding the anti-HDAC1 or 2 antibodies, the association of the HDACs with the transcribed gene body was lost. These studies highlighted a caution in interpreting ChIP assay data. RNAbinding proteins involved in pre-mRNA splicing will be cross-linked to DNA with formaldehyde and will appear to be associated with the gene body of transcribed genes (Sapra et al. 2009). However, the addition of RNase digestion step before doing the immunoprecipitation will demonstrate that the RNA-binding protein was bound to RNA and not chromatin.

Importantly, lincRNAs are enriched (fivefold compared to non-expressed intergenic regions) in SNPs associated with specific traits. It has been proposed that the lincRNAs may play a significant role in human diseases (Hangauer et al. 2013).

#### 1.9 Concluding Remarks

Looking back at the history of chromatin, it was not all that long ago that histones were considered as the most boring proteins to study. These 'boring' proteins are now the subject of intense investigation. To quote David Allis, 'every amino acid matters' (Maze et al. 2014). The devastating impact of a change in the amino acid

sequence of the H3 variant H3.3 is clearly demonstrated in paediatric gliomas and chondroblastomas (Behjati et al. 2013; Schwartzentruber et al. 2012). Every histone PTM and DNA modification also matters. Continuing studies investigating the role of the histone PTMs, histone variants and DNA modifications in chromatin structure and function, recruitment or removal of readers, and cross-talk with other histone/DNA PTMs and readers will lead to a better understanding of the full potential of the nucleosome as a signalling module in normal and disease states.

The role of the nuclear matrix, as a dynamic RNA-protein nuclear substructure, in the organization and function of the genome continues to be debated (Nozawa and Gilbert 2014). The nuclear matrix was dismissed by some research groups as a high salt artefact. However, these researchers are reminded of the studies by Dean Jackson and Peter Cook, who used a gentle method involving encapsulating cells in agarose beads, restriction endonuclease digestion of chromatin followed by chromatin removal by electroelution, to prepare the nuclear matrix (Jackson and Cook 1988). The recent studies by Lisa Hall and colleagues identified the stable ncRNA associated with the nuclear matrix (Hall et al. 2014). Initial studies by this group provide evidence that the scaffold/matrix attachment region-binding protein scaffold attachment factor 1 (SAF-A; also known as hnRNP U), which is a major protein of the nuclear matrix, plays a role in anchoring LINE1 to chromatin (Martens et al. 2002). SAF-A/hnRNP U also binds to KAT2B and perhaps other KATs (Obrdlik et al. 2008; Martens et al. 2002). It is possible that in addition to KATs, HDACs are associated with the nuclear matrix RNA.

There is building excitement as to the role of ncRNA in regulating genome organization and function. Current evidence shows that specific ncRNAs are targeting epigenetic modifiers, architectural proteins and coactivators/corepressors to genome targets to activate or silence genes. Changes in DNA sequence (that is SNPs) are likely to influence the production of these ncRNA, altering gene activity and may be important contributors to an individual's susceptibility to disease. Further, one's genetic make-up, diet, environment and lifestyle will all influence an individual's epigenome and his/her disease risk and longevity (Heyn et al. 2013, 2014; Corella and Ordovas 2014). It will be exciting times ahead as the field of epigenetics unravels the mysteries of these processes that impact human health.

Acknowledgements This work was funded by grants from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Team Grant (TEC-128094) to JRD, MR and other team members, CIHR (LAK), Research Manitoba (JRD), CancerCare Manitoba Foundation (JRD), Canadian Breast Cancer Foundation (JRD), Canadian Cancer Society (grant 702957 to JRD), Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC Discovery Grant 2016–06035 to MR), Health Sciences Center Foundation (HSCF) to MR, CIHR Catalyst Grant CEN-132383 to MR and JRD, and International Rett Syndrome Foundation (IRSF) to MR. VRBL is a recipient of MHRC-UMGF studentship award. JRD is a Canada Research Chair in Chromatin Dynamics. LAK is a Canada Research Chair in Molecular Cardiology. The authors acknowledge the strong support of the Manitoba Institute of Child Health and CancerCare Manitoba Foundation.

**Disclosures** Our work is compliant with ethical standards and I have no conflicts of interest to disclose.

#### References

- Acuna LI, Kornblihtt AR (2014) Long range chromatin organization: a new layer in splicing regulation? Transcription 5:e28726
- Adelman K, Lis JT (2012) Promoter-proximal pausing of RNA polymerase II: emerging roles in metazoans. Nat Rev Genet 13(10):720–731. doi:10.1038/nrg3293
- Agger K, Christensen J, Cloos PA, Helin K (2008) The emerging functions of histone demethylases. Curr Opin Genet Dev 18(2):159–168. doi:10.1016/j.gde.2007.12.003
- Ahmed K, Li R, Bazett-Jones DP (2009) Electron spectroscopic imaging of the nuclear landscape. Methods Mol Biol 464:415–423. doi:10.1007/978-1-60327-461-6\_23
- Ahmed K, Dehghani H, Rugg-Gunn P, Fussner E, Rossant J, Bazett-Jones DP (2010) Global chromatin architecture reflects pluripotency and lineage commitment in the early mouse embryo. PLoS One 5(5):e10531. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0010531
- Allis CD, Berger SL, Cote J, Dent S, Jenuwien T, Kouzarides T, Pillus L, Reinberg D, Shi Y, Shiekhattar R, Shilatifard A, Workman J, Zhang Y (2007) New nomenclature for chromatinmodifying enzymes. Cell 131(4):633–636. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2007.10.039
- Altaf M, Auger A, Covic M, Cote J (2009) Connection between histone H2A variants and chromatin remodeling complexes. Biochem Cell Biol 87(1):35–50. doi:10.1139/O08-140
- Amine Aloui AEM, Sahbani SK, Landoulsi A (2013) Roles of methylation and sequestration in the mechanisms of DNA replication in some members of the enterobacteriaceae family. In: The mechanisms of DNA replication. doi:10.5772/51724
- Anamika K, Krebs AR, Thompson J, Poch O, Devys D, Tora L (2010) Lessons from genome-wide studies: an integrated definition of the coactivator function of histone acetyl transferases. Epigenetics Chromatin 3(1):18. doi:10.1186/1756-8935-3-18
- Ansari SA, Morse RH (2013) Mechanisms of mediator complex action in transcriptional activation. Cell Mol Life Sci 70(15):2743–2756. doi:10.1007/s00018-013-1265-9
- Avvakumov N, Nourani A, Cote J (2011) Histone chaperones: modulators of chromatin marks. Mol Cell 41(5):502–514. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2011.02.013
- Behjati S, Tarpey PS, Presneau N, Scheipl S, Pillay N, Van Loo P, Wedge DC, Cooke SL, Gundem G, Davies H, Nik-Zainal S, Martin S, McLaren S, Goody V, Robinson B, Butler A, Teague JW, Halai D, Khatri B, Myklebost O, Baumhoer D, Jundt G, Hamoudi R, Tirabosco R, Amary MF, Futreal PA, Stratton MR, Campbell PJ, Flanagan AM (2013) Distinct H3F3A and H3F3B driver mutations define chondroblastoma and giant cell tumor of bone. Nat Genet 45(12):1479–1482. doi:10.1038/ng.2814
- Bell O, Tiwari VK, Thoma NH, Schubeler D (2011) Determinants and dynamics of genome accessibility. Nat Rev Genet 12(8):554–564. doi:10.1038/nrg3017
- Berger SL (2007) The complex language of chromatin regulation during transcription. Nature 447(7143):407–412. doi:10.1038/nature05915
- Berndsen CE, Denu JM (2008) Catalysis and substrate selection by histone/protein lysine acetyltransferases. Curr Opin Struct Biol 18(6):682–689. doi:10.1016/j.sbi.2008.11.004
- Bicker KL, Thompson PR (2013) The protein arginine deiminases: structure, function, inhibition, and disease. Biopolymers 99(2):155–163. doi:10.1002/bip.22127
- Blackledge NP, Thomson JP, Skene PJ (2013) CpG island chromatin is shaped by recruitment of ZF-CxxC proteins. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 5(11):a018648. doi:10.1101/cshperspect. a018648
- Blaschke K, Ebata KT, Karimi MM, Zepeda-Martinez JA, Goyal P, Mahapatra S, Tam A, Laird DJ, Hirst M, Rao A, Lorincz MC, Ramalho-Santos M (2013) Vitamin C induces Tet-dependent DNA demethylation and a blastocyst-like state in ES cells. Nature 500(7461):222–226. doi:10.1038/nature12362
- Booth MJ, Branco MR, Ficz G, Oxley D, Krueger F, Reik W, Balasubramanian S (2012) Quantitative sequencing of 5-methylcytosine and 5-hydroxymethylcytosine at single-base resolution. Science 336(6083):934–937. doi:10.1126/science.1220671
- Brown JD, Lin CY, Duan Q, Griffin G, Federation AJ, Paranal RM, Bair S, Newton G, Lichtman AH, Kung AL, Yang T, Wang H, Luscinskas FW, Croce KJ, Bradner JE, Plutzky J (2014)

NF-kappaB directs dynamic super enhancer formation in inflammation and atherogenesis. Mol Cell 56(2):219–231. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2014.08.024

- Burgess RJ, Zhang Z (2013) Histone chaperones in nucleosome assembly and human disease. Nat Struct Mol Biol 20(1):14–22. doi:10.1038/nsmb.2461
- Capell BC, Berger SL (2013) Genome-wide epigenetics. J Invest Dermatol 133(6), e9. doi:10.1038/ jid.2013.173
- Carninci P, Kasukawa T, Katayama S, Gough J, Frith MC, Maeda N, Oyama R, Ravasi T, Lenhard B, Wells C, Kodzius R, Shimokawa K, Bajic VB, Brenner SE, Batalov S, Forrest AR, Zavolan M, Davis MJ, Wilming LG, Aidinis V, Allen JE, Ambesi-Impiombato A, Apweiler R, Aturaliya RN, Bailey TL, Bansal M, Baxter L, Beisel KW, Bersano T, Bono H, Chalk AM, Chiu KP, Choudhary V, Christoffels A, Clutterbuck DR, Crowe ML, Dalla E, Dalrymple BP, de Bono B, Della Gatta G, di Bernardo D, Down T, Engstrom P, Fagiolini M, Faulkner G, Fletcher CF, Fukushima T, Furuno M, Futaki S, Gariboldi M, Georgii-Hemming P, Gingeras TR, Gojobori T, Green RE, Gustincich S, Harbers M, Hayashi Y, Hensch TK, Hirokawa N, Hill D, Huminiecki L, Iacono M, Ikeo K, Iwama A, Ishikawa T, Jakt M, Kanapin A, Katoh M, Kawasawa Y, Kelso J, Kitamura H, Kitano H, Kollias G, Krishnan SP, Kruger A, Kummerfeld SK, Kurochkin IV, Lareau LF, Lazarevic D, Lipovich L, Liu J, Liuni S, McWilliam S, Madan Babu M, Madera M, Marchionni L, Matsuda H, Matsuzawa S, Miki H, Mignone F, Miyake S, Morris K, Mottagui-Tabar S, Mulder N, Nakano N, Nakauchi H, Ng P, Nilsson R, Nishiguchi S, Nishikawa S, Nori F, Ohara O, Okazaki Y, Orlando V, Pang KC, Pavan WJ, Pavesi G, Pesole G, Petrovsky N, Piazza S, Reed J, Reid JF, Ring BZ, Ringwald M, Rost B, Ruan Y, Salzberg SL, Sandelin A, Schneider C, Schonbach C, Sekiguchi K, Semple CA, Seno S, Sessa L, Sheng Y, Shibata Y, Shimada H, Shimada K, Silva D, Sinclair B, Sperling S, Stupka E, Sugiura K, Sultana R, Takenaka Y, Taki K, Tammoja K, Tan SL, Tang S, Taylor MS, Tegner J, Teichmann SA, Ueda HR, van Nimwegen E, Verardo R, Wei CL, Yagi K, Yamanishi H, Zabarovsky E, Zhu S, Zimmer A, Hide W, Bult C, Grimmond SM, Teasdale RD, Liu ET, Brusic V, Quackenbush J, Wahlestedt C, Mattick JS, Hume DA, Kai C, Sasaki D, Tomaru Y, Fukuda S, Kanamori-Katayama M, Suzuki M, Aoki J, Arakawa T, Iida J, Imamura K, Itoh M, Kato T, Kawaji H, Kawagashira N, Kawashima T, Kojima M, Kondo S, Konno H, Nakano K, Ninomiya N, Nishio T, Okada M, Plessy C, Shibata K, Shiraki T, Suzuki S, Tagami M, Waki K, Watahiki A, Okamura-Oho Y, Suzuki H, Kawai J, Hayashizaki Y, Consortium F, Group RGER, Genome Science G (2005) The transcriptional landscape of the mammalian genome. Science 309(5740):1559-1563. doi:10.1126/science.1112014
- Carrozza MJ, Li B, Florens L, Suganuma T, Swanson SK, Lee KK, Shia WJ, Anderson S, Yates J, Washburn MP, Workman JL (2005) Histone H3 methylation by Set2 directs deacetylation of coding regions by Rpd3S to suppress spurious intragenic transcription. Cell 123(4):581–592. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2005.10.023
- Cartron PF, Nadaradjane A, Lepape F, Lalier L, Gardie B, Vallette FM (2013) Identification of TET1 partners that control its DNA-demethylating function. Genes Cancer 4(5–6):235–241. doi:10.1177/1947601913489020
- Caudron-Herger M, Rippe K (2012) Nuclear architecture by RNA. Curr Opin Genet Dev 22(2):179–187. doi:10.1016/j.gde.2011.12.005
- Caudron-Herger M, Muller-Ott K, Mallm JP, Marth C, Schmidt U, Fejes-Toth K, Rippe K (2011) Coding RNAs with a non-coding function: maintenance of open chromatin structure. Nucleus 2(5):410–424, http://dx.doi.org/e10.4161/nucl.2.5.17736
- Cerutti H, Casas-Mollano JA (2009) Histone H3 phosphorylation: universal code or lineage specific dialects? Epigenetics 4(2):71–75
- Chen P, Zhao J, Li G (2013a) Histone variants in development and diseases. J Genet Genomics=Yi chuan xue bao 40(7):355–365. doi:10.1016/j.jgg.2013.05.001
- Chen P, Zhao J, Wang Y, Wang M, Long H, Liang D, Huang L, Wen Z, Li W, Li X, Feng H, Zhao H, Zhu P, Li M, Wang QF, Li G (2013b) H3.3 actively marks enhancers and primes gene transcription via opening higher-ordered chromatin. Genes Dev 27(19):2109–2124. doi:10.1101/gad.222174.113
- Chi TH, Wan M, Lee PP, Akashi K, Metzger D, Chambon P, Wilson CB, Crabtree GR (2003) Sequential roles of Brg, the ATPase subunit of BAF chromatin remodeling complexes, in thymocyte development. Immunity 19(2):169–182

- Clapier CR, Cairns BR (2009) The biology of chromatin remodeling complexes. Annu Rev Biochem 78:273–304. doi:10.1146/annurey.biochem.77.062706.153223
- Clayton AL, Rose S, Barratt MJ, Mahadevan LC (2000) Phosphoacetylation of histone H3 on c-fos- and c-jun-associated nucleosomes upon gene activation. EMBO J 19(14):3714–3726. doi:10.1093/emboj/19.14.3714
- Cole AJ, Clifton-Bligh RJ, Marsh DJ (2014) Ubiquitination and cancer: histone H2B monoubiquitination – roles to play in human malignancy. Endocr Relat Cancer. doi:10.1530/ERC-14-0185
- Core LJ, Waterfall JJ, Lis JT (2008) Nascent RNA sequencing reveals widespread pausing and divergent initiation at human promoters. Science 322(5909):1845–1848. doi:10.1126/ science.1162228
- Corella D, Ordovas JM (2014) Aging and cardiovascular diseases: the role of gene-diet interactions. Ageing Res Rev 18C:53–73. doi:10.1016/j.arr.2014.08.002
- Corradin O, Saiakhova A, Akhtar-Zaidi B, Myeroff L, Willis J, Cowper-Sal lari R, Lupien M, Markowitz S, Scacheri PC (2014) Combinatorial effects of multiple enhancer variants in linkage disequilibrium dictate levels of gene expression to confer susceptibility to common traits. Genome Res 24(1):1–13. doi:10.1101/gr.164079.113
- Cosgrove MS (2007) Histone proteomics and the epigenetic regulation of nucleosome mobility. Expert Rev Proteomics 4(4):465–478. doi:10.1586/14789450.4.4.465
- Cosgrove MS, Wolberger C (2005) How does the histone code work? Biochem Cell Biol 83(4):468–476. doi:10.1139/o05-137
- Danko CG, Hah N, Luo X, Martins AL, Core L, Lis JT, Siepel A, Kraus WL (2013) Signaling pathways differentially affect RNA polymerase II initiation, pausing, and elongation rate in cells. Mol Cell 50(2):212–222. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2013.02.015
- Das C, Tyler JK (2013) Histone exchange and histone modifications during transcription and aging. Biochim Biophys Acta 1819(3-4):332-342
- Das C, Tyler JK, Churchill ME (2010) The histone shuffle: histone chaperones in an energetic dance. Trends Biochem Sci 35(9):476–489. doi:10.1016/j.tibs.2010.04.001
- Davie JR, Murphy LC (1990) Level of ubiquitinated histone H2B in chromatin is coupled to ongoing transcription. Biochemistry 29(20):4752–4757
- Dawson MA, Kouzarides T (2012) Cancer epigenetics: from mechanism to therapy. Cell 150(1):12–27. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2012.06.013
- De Koning L, Corpet A, Haber JE, Almouzni G (2007) Histone chaperones: an escort network regulating histone traffic. Nat Struct Mol Biol 14(11):997–1007. doi:10.1038/nsmb1318
- Dekker J (2008) Mapping in vivo chromatin interactions in yeast suggests an extended chromatin fiber with regional variation in compaction. J Biol Chem 283(50):34532–34540. doi:10.1074/ jbc.M806479200
- Delcuve GP, Davie JR (1989) Chromatin structure of erythroid-specific genes of immature and mature chicken erythrocytes. Biochem J 263(1):179–186
- Delcuve GP, Rastegar M, Davie JR (2009) Epigenetic control. J Cell Physiol 219(2):243–250. doi:10.1002/jcp.21678
- Delcuve GP, Khan DH, Davie JR (2012) Roles of histone deacetylases in epigenetic regulation: emerging paradigms from studies with inhibitors. Clin Epigenetics 4(1):5. doi:10.1186/ 1868-7083-4-5
- Delcuve GP, Khan DH, Davie JR (2013) Targeting class I histone deacetylases in cancer therapy. Expert Opin Ther Targets 17(1):29–41. doi:10.1517/14728222.2013.729042
- Dhall A, Wei S, Fierz B, Woodcock CL, Lee TH, Chatterjee C (2014) Sumoylated human histone H4 prevents chromatin compaction by inhibiting long-range internucleosomal interactions. J Biol Chem. doi:10.1074/jbc.M114.591644
- Dixon JR, Selvaraj S, Yue F, Kim A, Li Y, Shen Y, Hu M, Liu JS, Ren B (2012) Topological domains in mammalian genomes identified by analysis of chromatin interactions. Nature 485(7398):376–380. doi:10.1038/nature11082
- Draker R, Ng MK, Sarcinella E, Ignatchenko V, Kislinger T, Cheung P (2012) A combination of H2A.Z and H4 acetylation recruits Brd2 to chromatin during transcriptional activation. PLoS Genet 8(11), e1003047. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1003047

- Dujardin G, Lafaille C, de la Mata M, Marasco LE, Munoz MJ, Le Jossic-Corcos C, Corcos L, Kornblihtt AR (2014) How slow RNA polymerase II elongation favors alternative exon skipping. Mol Cell 54(4):683–690. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2014.03.044
- Dunn KL, Zhao H, Davie JR (2003) The insulator binding protein CTCF associates with the nuclear matrix. Exp Cell Res 288(1):218–223
- Dyson MH, Thomson S, Inagaki M, Goto H, Arthur SJ, Nightingale K, Iborra FJ, Mahadevan LC (2005) MAP kinase-mediated phosphorylation of distinct pools of histone H3 at S10 or S28 via mitogen- and stress-activated kinase 1/2. J Cell Sci 118(Pt 10):2247–2259. doi:10.1242/ jcs.02373
- Edmunds JW, Mahadevan LC, Clayton AL (2008) Dynamic histone H3 methylation during gene induction: HYPB/Setd2 mediates all H3K36 trimethylation. EMBO J 27(2):406–420. doi:10.1038/sj.emboj.7601967
- Elsaesser SJ, Goldberg AD, Allis CD (2010) New functions for an old variant: no substitute for histone H3.3. Curr Opin Genet Dev 20(2):110–117. doi:10.1016/j.gde.2010.01.003
- Eltsov M, Maclellan KM, Maeshima K, Frangakis AS, Dubochet J (2008) Analysis of cryoelectron microscopy images does not support the existence of 30-nm chromatin fibers in mitotic chromosomes in situ. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105(50):19732–19737. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0810057105
- Erdel F, Krug J, Langst G, Rippe K (2011) Targeting chromatin remodelers: signals and search mechanisms. Biochim Biophys Acta 1809(9):497–508. doi:10.1016/j.bbagrm.2011.06.005
- Fanucchi S, Shibayama Y, Burd S, Weinberg MS, Mhlanga MM (2013) Chromosomal contact permits transcription between coregulated genes. Cell 155(3):606–620. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2013.09.051
- Feldman JL, Dittenhafer-Reed KE, Denu JM (2012) Sirtuin catalysis and regulation. J Biol Chem 287(51):42419–42427. doi:10.1074/jbc.R112.378877
- Felsenfeld G, Groudine M (2003) Controlling the double helix. Nature 421(6921):448–453. doi:10.1038/nature01411
- Feser J, Tyler J (2011) Chromatin structure as a mediator of aging. FEBS Lett 585(13):2041–2048. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2010.11.016
- Fussner E, Ching RW, Bazett-Jones DP (2011) Living without 30nm chromatin fibers. Trends Biochem Sci 36(1):1–6. doi:10.1016/j.tibs.2010.09.002
- Fussner E, Strauss M, Djuric U, Li R, Ahmed K, Hart M, Ellis J, Bazett-Jones DP (2012) Open and closed domains in the mouse genome are configured as 10-nm chromatin fibres. EMBO Rep 13(11):992–996. doi:10.1038/embor.2012.139
- Gang H, Dhingra R, Wang Y, Mughal W, Gordon JW, Kirshenbaum LA (2011) Epigenetic regulation of E2F-1-dependent Bnip3 transcription and cell death by nuclear factor-kappaB and histone deacetylase-1. Pediatr Cardiol 32(3):263–266. doi:10.1007/s00246-011-9893-z
- Gang H, Shaw J, Dhingra R, Davie JR, Kirshenbaum LA (2013) Epigenetic regulation of canonical TNFalpha pathway by HDAC1 determines survival of cardiac myocytes. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 304(12):H1662–H1669. doi:10.1152/ajpheart.00093.2013
- Gardini A, Shiekhattar R (2014) The many faces of long noncoding RNAs. FEBS J. doi:10.1111/ febs.13101
- Gardner KE, Allis CD, Strahl BD (2011) Operating on chromatin, a colorful language where context matters. J Mol Biol 409(1):36–46. doi:10.1016/j.jmb.2011.01.040
- Geisler S, Coller J (2013) RNA in unexpected places: long non-coding RNA functions in diverse cellular contexts. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 14(11):699–712. doi:10.1038/nrm3679
- Gelfman S, Ast G (2013) When epigenetics meets alternative splicing: the roles of DNA methylation and GC architecture. Epigenomics 5(4):351–353. doi:10.2217/epi.13.32
- Goldberg AD, Banaszynski LA, Noh KM, Lewis PW, Elsaesser SJ, Stadler S, Dewell S, Law M, Guo X, Li X, Wen D, Chapgier A, DeKelver RC, Miller JC, Lee YL, Boydston EA, Holmes MC, Gregory PD, Greally JM, Rafii S, Yang C, Scambler PJ, Garrick D, Gibbons RJ, Higgs DR, Cristea IM, Urnov FD, Zheng D, Allis CD (2010) Distinct factors control histone variant H3.3 localization at specific genomic regions. Cell 140(5):678–691. doi:10.1016/j.cell. 2010.01.003

- Gomez Acuna LI, Fiszbein A, Allo M, Schor IE, Kornblihtt AR (2013) Connections between chromatin signatures and splicing. Wiley Interdiscip Rev RNA 4(1):77–91. doi:10.1002/wrna.1142
- Guil S, Esteller M (2012) Cis-acting noncoding RNAs: friends and foes. Nat Struct Mol Biol 19(11):1068–1075. doi:10.1038/nsmb.2428
- Guil S, Soler M, Portela A, Carrere J, Fonalleras E, Gomez A, Villanueva A, Esteller M (2012) Intronic RNAs mediate EZH2 regulation of epigenetic targets. Nat Struct Mol Biol 19(7):664– 670. doi:10.1038/nsmb.2315
- Guo JU, Agarwal V, Guo H, Bartel DP (2014a) Expanded identification and characterization of mammalian circular RNAs. Genome Biol 15(7):409. doi:10.1186/s13059-014-0409-z
- Guo JU, Su Y, Shin JH, Shin J, Li H, Xie B, Zhong C, Hu S, Le T, Fan G, Zhu H, Chang Q, Gao Y, Ming GL, Song H (2014b) Distribution, recognition and regulation of non-CpG methylation in the adult mammalian brain. Nat Neurosci 17(2):215–222. doi:10.1038/nn.3607
- Hall LL, Carone DM, Gomez AV, Kolpa HJ, Byron M, Mehta N, Fackelmayer FO, Lawrence JB (2014) Stable C0T-1 repeat RNA is abundant and is associated with euchromatic interphase chromosomes. Cell 156(5):907–919. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2014.01.042
- Hangauer MJ, Vaughn IW, McManus MT (2013) Pervasive transcription of the human genome produces thousands of previously unidentified long intergenic noncoding RNAs. PLoS Genet 9(6):e1003569. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1003569
- Hansen JC, Ghosh RP, Woodcock CL (2010) Binding of the Rett syndrome protein, MeCP2, to methylated and unmethylated DNA and chromatin. IUBMB Life 62(10):732–738. doi:10.1002/ iub.386
- Hargreaves DC, Crabtree GR (2011) ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling: genetics, genomics and mechanisms. Cell Res 21(3):396–420. doi:10.1038/cr.2011.32
- Hashimoto H, Vertino PM, Cheng X (2010) Molecular coupling of DNA methylation and histone methylation. Epigenomics 2(5):657–669. doi:10.2217/epi.10.44
- Hattori N, Ushijima T (2014) Compendium of aberrant DNA methylation and histone modifications in cancer. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.08.140
- Healy S, Khan P, He S, Davie JR (2012) Histone H3 phosphorylation, immediate-early gene expression, and the nucleosomal response: a historical perspective. Biochem Cell Biol 90(1):39–54. doi:10.1139/o11-092
- Hebbes TR, Clayton AL, Thorne AW, Crane-Robinson C (1994) Core histone hyperacetylation co-maps with generalized DNase I sensitivity in the chicken beta-globin chromosomal domain. EMBO J 13(8):1823–1830
- Heinz S, Romanoski CE, Benner C, Glass CK (2015) The selection and function of cell typespecific enhancers. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 16(3):144–154. doi:10.1038/nrm3949
- Hendzel MJ, Davie JR (1990) Nucleosomal histones of transcriptionally active/competent chromatin preferentially exchange with newly synthesized histones in quiescent chicken erythrocytes. Biochem J 271(1):67–73
- Hendzel MJ, Delcuve GP, Davie JR (1991) Histone deacetylase is a component of the internal nuclear matrix. J Biol Chem 266(32):21936–21942
- Hendzel MJ, Sun JM, Chen HY, Rattner JB, Davie JR (1994) Histone acetyltransferase is associated with the nuclear matrix. J Biol Chem 269(36):22894–22901
- Heyn H, Moran S, Hernando-Herraez I, Sayols S, Gomez A, Sandoval J, Monk D, Hata K, Marques-Bonet T, Wang L, Esteller M (2013) DNA methylation contributes to natural human variation. Genome Res 23(9):1363–1372. doi:10.1101/gr.154187.112
- Heyn H, Sayols S, Moutinho C, Vidal E, Sanchez-Mut JV, Stefansson OA, Nadal E, Moran S, Eyfjord JE, Gonzalez-Suarez E, Pujana MA, Esteller M (2014) Linkage of DNA methylation quantitative trait loci to human cancer risk. Cell Rep 7(2):331–338. doi:10.1016/j. celrep.2014.03.016
- Hnilicova J, Stanek D (2011) Where splicing joins chromatin. Nucleus 2(3):182–188. doi:10.4161/ nucl.2.3.15876
- Hnilicova J, Hozeifi S, Duskova E, Icha J, Tomankova T, Stanek D (2011) Histone deacetylase activity modulates alternative splicing. PLoS One 6(2):e16727. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0016727

- Hnisz D, Abraham BJ, Lee TI, Lau A, Saint-Andre V, Sigova AA, Hoke HA, Young RA (2013) Super-enhancers in the control of cell identity and disease. Cell 155(4):934–947. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2013.09.053
- Ho L, Crabtree GR (2010) Chromatin remodelling during development. Nature 463(7280):474– 484. doi:10.1038/nature08911
- Ho L, Jothi R, Ronan JL, Cui K, Zhao K, Crabtree GR (2009) An embryonic stem cell chromatin remodeling complex, esBAF, is an essential component of the core pluripotency transcriptional network. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106(13):5187–5191. doi:10.1073/pnas.0812888106
- Hojfeldt JW, Agger K, Helin K (2013) Histone lysine demethylases as targets for anticancer therapy. Nat Rev Drug Discov 12(12):917–930. doi:10.1038/nrd4154
- Hsu DW, Chubb JR, Muramoto T, Pears CJ, Mahadevan LC (2012) Dynamic acetylation of lysine-4-trimethylated histone H3 and H3 variant biology in a simple multicellular eukaryote. Nucleic Acids Res 40(15):7247–7256. doi:10.1093/nar/gks367
- Huang S, Litt M, Felsenfeld G (2005) Methylation of histone H4 by arginine methyltransferase PRMT1 is essential in vivo for many subsequent histone modifications. Genes Dev 19(16):1885–1893. doi:10.1101/gad.1333905
- Huang S, Li X, Yusufzai TM, Qiu Y, Felsenfeld G (2007) USF1 recruits histone modification complexes and is critical for maintenance of a chromatin barrier. Mol Cell Biol 27(22):7991–8002. doi:10.1128/MCB.01326-07
- Huang H, Sabari BR, Garcia BA, Allis CD, Zhao Y (2014) SnapShot: histone modifications. Cell 159(2):458–458 e451. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2014.09.037
- Hubner MR, Eckersley-Maslin MA, Spector DL (2013) Chromatin organization and transcriptional regulation. Curr Opin Genet Dev 23(2):89–95. doi:10.1016/j.gde.2012.11.006
- Ibn-Salem J, Kohler S, Love MI, Chung HR, Huang N, Hurles ME, Haendel M, Washington NL, Smedley D, Mungall CJ, Lewis SE, Ott CE, Bauer S, Schofield PN, Mundlos S, Spielmann M, Robinson PN (2014) Deletions of chromosomal regulatory boundaries are associated with congenital disease. Genome Biol 15(9):423. doi:10.1186/s13059-014-0423-1
- Iurlaro M, Ficz G, Oxley D, Raiber EA, Bachman M, Booth MJ, Andrews S, Balasubramanian S, Reik W (2013) A screen for hydroxymethylcytosine and formylcytosine binding proteins suggests functions in transcription and chromatin regulation. Genome Biol 14(10):R119. doi:10.1186/gb-2013-14-10-r119
- Jack AP, Hake SB (2014) Getting down to the core of histone modifications. Chromosoma 123(4):355–371. doi:10.1007/s00412-014-0465-x
- Jackson V (1990) In vivo studies on the dynamics of histone-DNA interaction: evidence for nucleosome dissolution during replication and transcription and a low level of dissolution independent of both. Biochemistry 29(3):719–731
- Jackson DA, Cook PR (1988) Visualization of a filamentous nucleoskeleton with a 23 nm axial repeat. EMBO J 7(12):3667–3677
- Jahan S, Davie JR (2014) Protein arginine methyltransferases (PRMTs): role in chromatin organization. Adv Biol Regul. doi:10.1016/j.jbior.2014.09.003
- Jenuwein T, Allis CD (2001) Translating the histone code. Science 293(5532):1074–1080. doi:10.1126/science.1063127
- Jiang C, Pugh BF (2009) Nucleosome positioning and gene regulation: advances through genomics. Nat Rev Genet 10(3):161–172. doi:10.1038/nrg2522
- Jin C, Felsenfeld G (2006) Distribution of histone H3.3 in hematopoietic cell lineages. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103(3):574–579. doi:10.1073/pnas.0509974103
- Jin J, Cai Y, Li B, Conaway RC, Workman JL, Conaway JW, Kusch T (2005) In and out: histone variant exchange in chromatin. Trends Biochem Sci 30(12):680–687. doi:10.1016/j. tibs.2005.10.003
- Jonkers I, Kwak H, Lis JT (2014) Genome-wide dynamics of Pol II elongation and its interplay with promoter proximal pausing, chromatin, and exons. Elife 3:e02407. doi:10.7554/ eLife.02407
- Kanherkar RR, Bhatia-Dey N, Csoka AB (2014) Epigenetics across the human lifespan. Front Cell Dev Biol 2:49. doi:10.3389/fcell.2014.00049
- Kaochar S, Tu BP (2012) Gatekeepers of chromatin: small metabolites elicit big changes in gene expression. Trends Biochem Sci 37(11):477–483. doi:10.1016/j.tibs.2012.07.008
- Katayama S, Tomaru Y, Kasukawa T, Waki K, Nakanishi M, Nakamura M, Nishida H, Yap CC, Suzuki M, Kawai J, Suzuki H, Carninci P, Hayashizaki Y, Wells C, Frith M, Ravasi T, Pang KC, Hallinan J, Mattick J, Hume DA, Lipovich L, Batalov S, Engstrom PG, Mizuno Y, Faghihi MA, Sandelin A, Chalk AM, Mottagui-Tabar S, Liang Z, Lenhard B, Wahlestedt C, Group RGER, Genome Science G, Consortium F (2005) Antisense transcription in the mammalian transcriptome. Science 309(5740):1564–1566. doi:10.1126/science.1112009
- Kaur P, Shorey LE, Ho E, Dashwood RH, Williams DE (2013) The epigenome as a potential mediator of cancer and disease prevention in prenatal development. Nutr Rev 71(7):441–457. doi:10.1111/nure.12030
- Khan DH, Jahan S, Davie JR (2012) Pre-mRNA splicing: role of epigenetics and implications in disease. Adv Biol Regul 52(3):377–388. doi:10.1016/j.jbior.2012.04.003
- Khan P, Drobic B, Perez-Cadahia B, Healy S, He S, Davie JR (2013) Mitogen- and stress-activated protein kinases 1 and 2 are required for maximal trefoil factor 1 induction. PLoS One 8(5):e63189. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0063189
- Khan DH, Gonzalez C, Cooper C, Sun JM, Chen HY, Healy S, Xu W, Smith KT, Workman JL, Leygue E, Davie JR (2014) RNA-dependent dynamic histone acetylation regulates MCL1 alternative splicing. Nucleic Acids Res 42(3):1656–1670. doi:10.1093/nar/gkt1134
- Kim J, Guermah M, McGinty RK, Lee JS, Tang Z, Milne TA, Shilatifard A, Muir TW, Roeder RG (2009) RAD6-mediated transcription-coupled H2B ubiquitylation directly stimulates H3K4 methylation in human cells. Cell 137(3):459–471. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.02.027
- Kim TK, Hemberg M, Gray JM, Costa AM, Bear DM, Wu J, Harmin DA, Laptewicz M, Barbara-Haley K, Kuersten S, Markenscoff-Papadimitriou E, Kuhl D, Bito H, Worley PF, Kreiman G, Greenberg ME (2010) Widespread transcription at neuronal activity-regulated enhancers. Nature 465(7295):182–187. doi:10.1038/nature09033
- Klein BJ, Piao L, Xi Y, Rincon-Arano H, Rothbart SB, Peng D, Wen H, Larson C, Zhang X, Zheng X, Cortazar MA, Pena PV, Mangan A, Bentley DL, Strahl BD, Groudine M, Li W, Shi X, Kutateladze TG (2014) The histone-H3K4-specific demethylase KDM5B binds to its substrate and product through distinct PHD fingers. Cell Rep 6(2):325–335. doi:10.1016/j. celrep.2013.12.021
- Kobor MS, Venkatasubrahmanyam S, Meneghini MD, Gin JW, Jennings JL, Link AJ, Madhani HD, Rine J (2004) A protein complex containing the conserved Swi2/Snf2-related ATPase Swr1p deposits histone variant H2A.Z into euchromatin. PLoS Biol 2(5):E131. doi:10.1371/ journal.pbio.0020131
- Kondo Y (2009) Epigenetic cross-talk between DNA methylation and histone modifications in human cancers. Yonsei Med J 50(4):455–463. doi:10.3349/ymj.2009.50.4.455
- Kornblihtt AR, Schor IE, Allo M, Dujardin G, Petrillo E, Munoz MJ (2013) Alternative splicing: a pivotal step between eukaryotic transcription and translation. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 14(3):153– 165. doi:10.1038/nrm3525
- Kouzarides T (2007) Chromatin modifications and their function. Cell 128(4):693–705. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2007.02.005
- Kraushaar DC, Jin W, Maunakea A, Abraham B, Ha M, Zhao K (2013) Genome-wide incorporation dynamics reveal distinct categories of turnover for the histone variant H3.3. Genome Biol 14(10):R121. doi:10.1186/gb-2013-14-10-r121
- Krogan NJ, Keogh MC, Datta N, Sawa C, Ryan OW, Ding H, Haw RA, Pootoolal J, Tong A, Canadien V, Richards DP, Wu X, Emili A, Hughes TR, Buratowski S, Greenblatt JF (2003) A Snf2 family ATPase complex required for recruitment of the histone H2A variant Htz1. Mol Cell 12(6):1565–1576
- Kulaeva OI, Hsieh FK, Chang HW, Luse DS, Studitsky VM (2013) Mechanism of transcription through a nucleosome by RNA polymerase II. Biochim Biophys Acta 1829(1):76–83. doi:10.1016/j.bbagrm.2012.08.015
- Kwak H, Lis JT (2013) Control of transcriptional elongation. Annu Rev Genet 47:483–508. doi:10.1146/annurev-genet-110711-155440

- Kwak H, Fuda NJ, Core LJ, Lis JT (2013) Precise maps of RNA polymerase reveal how promoters direct initiation and pausing. Science 339(6122):950–953. doi:10.1126/science.1229386
- Lai F, Shiekhattar R (2014) Enhancer RNAs: the new molecules of transcription. Curr Opin Genet Dev 25:38–42. doi:10.1016/j.gde.2013.11.017
- Lai F, Orom UA, Cesaroni M, Beringer M, Taatjes DJ, Blobel GA, Shiekhattar R (2013) Activating RNAs associate with Mediator to enhance chromatin architecture and transcription. Nature 494(7438):497–501. doi:10.1038/nature11884
- Lam MT, Li W, Rosenfeld MG, Glass CK (2014) Enhancer RNAs and regulated transcriptional programs. Trends Biochem Sci 39(4):170–182. doi:10.1016/j.tibs.2014.02.007
- Law C, Cheung P (2013) Histone variants and transcription regulation. Subcell Biochem 61:319–341. doi:10.1007/978-94-007-4525-4\_14
- Li G, Reinberg D (2011) Chromatin higher-order structures and gene regulation. Curr Opin Genet Dev 21(2):175–186. doi:10.1016/j.gde.2011.01.022
- Li W, Nagaraja S, Delcuve GP, Hendzel MJ, Davie JR (1993) Effects of histone acetylation, ubiquitination and variants on nucleosome stability. Biochem J 296(Pt 3):737–744
- Li X, Hu X, Patel B, Zhou Z, Liang S, Ybarra R, Qiu Y, Felsenfeld G, Bungert J, Huang S (2010) H4R3 methylation facilitates beta-globin transcription by regulating histone acetyltransferase binding and H3 acetylation. Blood 115(10):2028–2037. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-07-236059
- Li T, Song B, Wu Z, Lu M, Zhu WG (2014) Systematic identification of class I HDAC substrates. Brief Bioinform 15(6):963–972. doi:10.1093/bib/bbt060
- Lieberman-Aiden E, van Berkum NL, Williams L, Imakaev M, Ragoczy T, Telling A, Amit I, Lajoie BR, Sabo PJ, Dorschner MO, Sandstrom R, Bernstein B, Bender MA, Groudine M, Gnirke A, Stamatoyannopoulos J, Mirny LA, Lander ES, Dekker J (2009) Comprehensive mapping of long-range interactions reveals folding principles of the human genome. Science 326(5950):289–293. doi:10.1126/science.1181369
- Liu Z, Merkurjev D, Yang F, Li W, Oh S, Friedman MJ, Song X, Zhang F, Ma Q, Ohgi KA, Krones A, Rosenfeld MG (2014) Enhancer activation requires trans-recruitment of a mega transcription factor complex. Cell 159(2):358–373. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2014.08.027
- Liyanage VR, Rastegar M (2014) Rett syndrome and MeCP2. Neuromolecular Med. doi:10.1007/ s12017-014-8295-9
- Liyanage VRB, Zachariah RM, Delcuve GP, Davie JR, Rastegar M (2012) New developments in chromatin research: an epigenetic perspective. In: Simpson NM, Stewart VJ (eds) New developments in chromatin research. Nova Science Publishers, New York, pp 29–58
- Liyanage VR, Jarmasz JS, Murugeshan N, Del Bigio MR, Rastegar M, Davie JR (2014) DNA modifications: function and applications in normal and disease states. Biology (Basel) 3(4):670–723. doi:10.3390/biology3040670
- Locklear L Jr, Ridsdale JA, Bazett-Jones DP, Davie JR (1990) Ultrastructure of transcriptionally competent chromatin. Nucleic Acids Res 18(23):7015–7024
- Loven J, Hoke HA, Lin CY, Lau A, Orlando DA, Vakoc CR, Bradner JE, Lee TI, Young RA (2013) Selective inhibition of tumor oncogenes by disruption of super-enhancers. Cell 153(2):320– 334. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2013.03.036
- Loyola A, Almouzni G (2007) Marking histone H3 variants: how, when and why? Trends Biochem Sci 32(9):425–433. doi:10.1016/j.tibs.2007.08.004
- Lu PJ, Sundquist K, Baeckstrom D, Poulsom R, Hanby A, Meier-Ewert S, Jones T, Mitchell M, Pitha-Rowe P, Freemont P, Taylor-Papadimitriou J (1999) A novel gene (PLU-1) containing highly conserved putative DNA/chromatin binding motifs is specifically up-regulated in breast cancer. J Biol Chem 274(22):15633–15645
- Luco RF, Pan Q, Tominaga K, Blencowe BJ, Pereira-Smith OM, Misteli T (2010) Regulation of alternative splicing by histone modifications. Science 327(5968):996–1000. doi:10.1126/ science.1184208
- Luger K, Richmond TJ (1998) The histone tails of the nucleosome. Curr Opin Genet Dev 8(2):140–146
- Luger K, Mader AW, Richmond RK, Sargent DF, Richmond TJ (1997) Crystal structure of the nucleosome core particle at 2.8 A resolution. Nature 389(6648):251–260. doi:10.1038/38444

- Luther HP, Bartsch H, Morano I, Podlowski S, Baumann G (2005) Regulation of naturally occurring antisense RNA of myosin heavy chain (MyHC) in neonatal cardiomyocytes. J Cell Biochem 94(4):848–855. doi:10.1002/jcb.20319
- Ma MK, Heath C, Hair A, West AG (2011) Histone crosstalk directed by H2B ubiquitination is required for chromatin boundary integrity. PLoS Genet 7(7):e1002175. doi:10.1371/journal. pgen.1002175
- Maeshima K, Hihara S, Eltsov M (2010) Chromatin structure: does the 30-nm fibre exist in vivo? Curr Opin Cell Biol 22(3):291–297. doi:10.1016/j.ceb.2010.03.001
- Marino-Ramirez L, Levine KM, Morales M, Zhang S, Moreland RT, Baxevanis AD, Landsman D (2011) The histone database: an integrated resource for histones and histone fold-containing proteins. Database (Oxford) 2011:bar048. doi:10.1093/database/bar048
- Marmorstein R, Zhou MM (2014) Writers and readers of histone acetylation: structure, mechanism, and inhibition. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 6(7):a018762. doi:10.1101/cshperspect. a018762
- Martens JH, Verlaan M, Kalkhoven E, Dorsman JC, Zantema A (2002) Scaffold/matrix attachment region elements interact with a p300-scaffold attachment factor A complex and are bound by acetylated nucleosomes. Mol Cell Biol 22(8):2598–2606
- Mattick JS (2011) The central role of RNA in human development and cognition. FEBS Lett 585(11):1600–1616. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2011.05.001
- Maunakea AK, Nagarajan RP, Bilenky M, Ballinger TJ, D'Souza C, Fouse SD, Johnson BE, Hong C, Nielsen C, Zhao Y, Turecki G, Delaney A, Varhol R, Thiessen N, Shchors K, Heine VM, Rowitch DH, Xing X, Fiore C, Schillebeeckx M, Jones SJ, Haussler D, Marra MA, Hirst M, Wang T, Costello JF (2010) Conserved role of intragenic DNA methylation in regulating alternative promoters. Nature 466(7303):253–257. doi:10.1038/nature09165
- Maxwell SS, Pelka GJ, Tam PP, El-Osta A (2013) Chromatin context and ncRNA highlight targets of MeCP2 in brain. RNA Biol 10(11):1741–1757. doi:10.4161/rna.26921
- Maze I, Noh KM, Soshnev AA, Allis CD (2014) Every amino acid matters: essential contributions of histone variants to mammalian development and disease. Nat Rev Genet 15(4):259–271. doi:10.1038/nrg3673
- Mellen M, Ayata P, Dewell S, Kriaucionis S, Heintz N (2012) MeCP2 binds to 5hmC enriched within active genes and accessible chromatin in the nervous system. Cell 151(7):1417–1430. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2012.11.022
- Mercer TR, Clark MB, Crawford J, Brunck ME, Gerhardt DJ, Taft RJ, Nielsen LK, Dinger ME, Mattick JS (2014) Targeted sequencing for gene discovery and quantification using RNA CaptureSeq. Nat Protoc 9(5):989–1009. doi:10.1038/nprot.2014.058
- Mersfelder EL, Parthun MR (2006) The tale beyond the tail: histone core domain modifications and the regulation of chromatin structure. Nucleic Acids Res 34(9):2653–2662. doi:10.1093/ nar/gkl338
- Messner S, Hottiger MO (2011) Histone ADP-ribosylation in DNA repair, replication and transcription. Trends Cell Biol 21(9):534–542. doi:10.1016/j.tcb.2011.06.001
- Migliori V, Muller J, Phalke S, Low D, Bezzi M, Mok WC, Sahu SK, Gunaratne J, Capasso P, Bassi C, Cecatiello V, De Marco A, Blackstock W, Kuznetsov V, Amati B, Mapelli M, Guccione E (2012) Symmetric dimethylation of H3R2 is a newly identified histone mark that supports euchromatin maintenance. Nat Struct Mol Biol 19(2):136–144. doi:10.1038/nsmb.2209
- Mizuguchi G, Shen X, Landry J, Wu WH, Sen S, Wu C (2004) ATP-driven exchange of histone H2AZ variant catalyzed by SWR1 chromatin remodeling complex. Science 303(5656):343– 348. doi:10.1126/science.1090701
- Moser MA, Hagelkruys A, Seiser C (2014) Transcription and beyond: the role of mammalian class I lysine deacetylases. Chromosoma 123(1–2):67–78. doi:10.1007/s00412-013-0441-x
- Myers FA, Evans DR, Clayton AL, Thorne AW, Crane-Robinson C (2001) Targeted and extended acetylation of histones H4 and H3 at active and inactive genes in chicken embryo erythrocytes. J Biol Chem 276(23):20197–20205. doi:10.1074/jbc.M009472200

- Myers FA, Chong W, Evans DR, Thorne AW, Crane-Robinson C (2003) Acetylation of histone H2B mirrors that of H4 and H3 at the chicken beta-globin locus but not at housekeeping genes. J Biol Chem 278(38):36315–36322. doi:10.1074/jbc.M305822200
- Natoli G, Andrau JC (2012) Noncoding transcription at enhancers: general principles and functional models. Annu Rev Genet 46:1–19. doi:10.1146/annurev-genet-110711-155459
- Newman JC, Verdin E (2014) beta-hydroxybutyrate: much more than a metabolite. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 106(2):173–181. doi:10.1016/j.diabres.2014.08.009
- Nishino Y, Eltsov M, Joti Y, Ito K, Takata H, Takahashi Y, Hihara S, Frangakis AS, Imamoto N, Ishikawa T, Maeshima K (2012) Human mitotic chromosomes consist predominantly of irregularly folded nucleosome fibres without a 30-nm chromatin structure. EMBO J 31(7):1644– 1653. doi:10.1038/emboj.2012.35
- Nozawa RS, Gilbert N (2014) Interphase chromatin LINEd with RNA. Cell 156(5):864–865. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2014.02.005
- Obrdlik A, Kukalev A, Louvet E, Farrants AK, Caputo L, Percipalle P (2008) The histone acetyltransferase PCAF associates with actin and hnRNP U for RNA polymerase II transcription. Mol Cell Biol 28(20):6342–6357. doi:10.1128/MCB.00766-08
- Ong CT, Corces VG (2014) CTCF: an architectural protein bridging genome topology and function. Nat Rev Genet 15(4):234–246. doi:10.1038/nrg3663
- Orom UA, Shiekhattar R (2011) Noncoding RNAs and enhancers: complications of a longdistance relationship. Trends Genet 27(10):433–439. doi:10.1016/j.tig.2011.06.009
- Perez-Cadahia B, Drobic B, Khan P, Shivashankar CC, Davie JR (2010) Current understanding and importance of histone phosphorylation in regulating chromatin biology. Curr Opin Drug Discov Devel 13(5):613–622
- Peterson CL, Laniel MA (2004) Histones and histone modifications. Curr Biol 14(14):R546– R551. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2004.07.007
- Petesch SJ, Lis JT (2012) Overcoming the nucleosome barrier during transcript elongation. Trends Genet 28(6):285–294. doi:10.1016/j.tig.2012.02.005
- Phillips-Cremins JE, Corces VG (2013) Chromatin insulators: linking genome organization to cellular function. Mol Cell 50(4):461–474. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2013.04.018
- Pina B, Suau P (1987) Changes in histones H2A and H3 variant composition in differentiating and mature rat brain cortical neurons. Dev Biol 123(1):51–58
- Quinn JJ, Ilik IA, Qu K, Georgiev P, Chu C, Akhtar A, Chang HY (2014) Revealing long noncoding RNA architecture and functions using domain-specific chromatin isolation by RNA purification. Nat Biotechnol 32(9):933–940. doi:10.1038/nbt.2943
- Radman-Livaja M, Rando OJ (2010) Nucleosome positioning: how is it established, and why does it matter? Dev Biol 339(2):258–266. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2009.06.012
- Ridsdale JA, Hendzel MJ, Delcuve GP, Davie JR (1990) Histone acetylation alters the capacity of the H1 histones to condense transcriptionally active/competent chromatin. J Biol Chem 265(9):5150–5156
- Riester D, Hildmann C, Grunewald S, Beckers T, Schwienhorst A (2007) Factors affecting the substrate specificity of histone deacetylases. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 357(2):439–445. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2007.03.158
- Rodriguez-Campos A, Azorin F (2007) RNA is an integral component of chromatin that contributes to its structural organization. PLoS One 2(11):e1182. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0001182
- Rogakou EP, Sekeri-Pataryas KE (1999) Histone variants of H2A and H3 families are regulated during in vitro aging in the same manner as during differentiation. Exp Gerontol 34(6): 741–754
- Rothbart SB, Strahl BD (2014) Interpreting the language of histone and DNA modifications. Biochim Biophys Acta 1839(8):627–643. doi:10.1016/j.bbagrm.2014.03.001
- Rottach A, Leonhardt H, Spada F (2009) DNA methylation-mediated epigenetic control. J Cell Biochem 108(1):43–51. doi:10.1002/jcb.22253
- Rouleau M, Patel A, Hendzel MJ, Kaufmann SH, Poirier GG (2010) PARP inhibition: PARP1 and beyond. Nat Rev Cancer 10(4):293–301. doi:10.1038/nrc2812

- Ruthenburg AJ, Li H, Patel DJ, Allis CD (2007) Multivalent engagement of chromatin modifications by linked binding modules. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 8(12):983–994. doi:10.1038/nrm2298
- Sanchez R, Meslamani J, Zhou MM (2014) The bromodomain: from epigenome reader to druggable target. Biochim Biophys Acta 1839(8):676–685. doi:10.1016/j.bbagrm.2014.03.011
- Sapra AK, Anko ML, Grishina I, Lorenz M, Pabis M, Poser I, Rollins J, Weiland EM, Neugebauer KM (2009) SR protein family members display diverse activities in the formation of nascent and mature mRNPs in vivo. Mol Cell 34(2):179–190. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2009.02.031
- Sawicka A, Seiser C (2012) Histone H3 phosphorylation a versatile chromatin modification for different occasions. Biochimie 94(11):2193–2201. doi:10.1016/j.biochi.2012.04.018
- Schwartzentruber J, Korshunov A, Liu XY, Jones DT, Pfaff E, Jacob K, Sturm D, Fontebasso AM, Quang DA, Tonjes M, Hovestadt V, Albrecht S, Kool M, Nantel A, Konermann C, Lindroth A, Jager N, Rausch T, Ryzhova M, Korbel JO, Hielscher T, Hauser P, Garami M, Klekner A, Bognar L, Ebinger M, Schuhmann MU, Scheurlen W, Pekrun A, Fruhwald MC, Roggendorf W, Kramm C, Durken M, Atkinson J, Lepage P, Montpetit A, Zakrzewska M, Zakrzewski K, Liberski PP, Dong Z, Siegel P, Kulozik AE, Zapatka M, Guha A, Malkin D, Felsberg J, Reifenberger G, von Deimling A, Ichimura K, Collins VP, Witt H, Milde T, Witt O, Zhang C, Castelo-Branco P, Lichter P, Faury D, Tabori U, Plass C, Majewski J, Pfister SM, Jabado N (2012) Driver mutations in histone H3.3 and chromatin remodelling genes in paediatric glioblastoma. Nature 482(7384):226–231. doi:10.1038/nature10833
- Segal E, Widom J (2009) What controls nucleosome positions? Trends Genet 25(8):335–343. doi:10.1016/j.tig.2009.06.002
- Shaw J, Zhang T, Rzeszutek M, Yurkova N, Baetz D, Davie JR, Kirshenbaum LA (2006) Transcriptional silencing of the death gene BNIP3 by cooperative action of NF-kappaB and histone deacetylase 1 in ventricular myocytes. Circ Res 99(12):1347–1354. doi:10.1161/01. RES.0000251744.06138.50
- Shiio Y, Eisenman RN (2003) Histone sumoylation is associated with transcriptional repression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100(23):13225–13230. doi:10.1073/pnas.1735528100
- Shmakova A, Batie M, Druker J, Rocha S (2014) Chromatin and oxygen sensing in the context of JmjC histone demethylases. Biochem J 462(3):385–395. doi:10.1042/BJ20140754
- Shogren-Knaak M, Ishii H, Sun JM, Pazin MJ, Davie JR, Peterson CL (2006) Histone H4-K16 acetylation controls chromatin structure and protein interactions. Science 311(5762):844–847. doi:10.1126/science.1124000
- Sims RJ 3rd, Reinberg D (2006) Histone H3 Lys 4 methylation: caught in a bind? Genes Dev 20(20):2779–2786. doi:10.1101/gad.1468206
- Sims RJ 3rd, Millhouse S, Chen CF, Lewis BA, Erdjument-Bromage H, Tempst P, Manley JL, Reinberg D (2007) Recognition of trimethylated histone H3 lysine 4 facilitates the recruitment of transcription postinitiation factors and pre-mRNA splicing. Mol Cell 28(4):665–676. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2007.11.010
- Sjolinder M, Bjork P, Soderberg E, Sabri N, Farrants AK, Visa N (2005) The growing pre-mRNA recruits actin and chromatin-modifying factors to transcriptionally active genes. Genes Dev 19(16):1871–1884. doi:10.1101/gad.339405
- Skowronska-Krawczyk D, Ma Q, Schwartz M, Scully K, Li W, Liu Z, Taylor H, Tollkuhn J, Ohgi KA, Notani D, Kohwi Y, Kohwi-Shigematsu T, Rosenfeld MG (2014) Required enhancermatrin-3 network interactions for a homeodomain transcription program. Nature 514(7521):257–261. doi:10.1038/nature13573
- Small EC, Xi L, Wang JP, Widom J, Licht JD (2014) Single-cell nucleosome mapping reveals the molecular basis of gene expression heterogeneity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111(24):E2462– E2471. doi:10.1073/pnas.1400517111
- Soloaga A, Thomson S, Wiggin GR, Rampersaud N, Dyson MH, Hazzalin CA, Mahadevan LC, Arthur JS (2003) MSK2 and MSK1 mediate the mitogen- and stress-induced phosphorylation of histone H3 and HMG-14. EMBO J 22(11):2788–2797. doi:10.1093/emboj/cdg273
- Spruijt CG, Gnerlich F, Smits AH, Pfaffeneder T, Jansen PW, Bauer C, Munzel M, Wagner M, Muller M, Khan F, Eberl HC, Mensinga A, Brinkman AB, Lephikov K, Muller U, Walter J, Boelens R, van Ingen H, Leonhardt H, Carell T, Vermeulen M (2013) Dynamic readers for

5-(hydroxy)methylcytosine and its oxidized derivatives. Cell 152(5):1146–1159. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2013.02.004

- Strahl BD, Allis CD (2000) The language of covalent histone modifications. Nature 403(6765):41– 45. doi:10.1038/47412
- Szenker E, Ray-Gallet D, Almouzni G (2011) The double face of the histone variant H3.3. Cell Res 21(3):421–434. doi:10.1038/cr.2011.14
- Talbert PB, Henikoff S (2010) Histone variants--ancient wrap artists of the epigenome. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 11(4):264–275. doi:10.1038/nrm2861
- Taverna SD, Li H, Ruthenburg AJ, Allis CD, Patel DJ (2007) How chromatin-binding modules interpret histone modifications: lessons from professional pocket pickers. Nat Struct Mol Biol 14(11):1025–1040. doi:10.1038/nsmb1338
- Terrenoire E, McRonald F, Halsall JA, Page P, Illingworth RS, Taylor AM, Davison V, O'Neill LP, Turner BM (2010) Immunostaining of modified histones defines high-level features of the human metaphase epigenome. Genome Biol 11(11):R110. doi:10.1186/gb-2010-11-11-r110
- Teves SS, Henikoff S (2011) Heat shock reduces stalled RNA polymerase II and nucleosome turnover genome-wide. Genes Dev 25(22):2387–2397. doi:10.1101/gad.178079.111
- Thiriet C, Hayes JJ (2005) Replication-independent core histone dynamics at transcriptionally active loci in vivo. Genes Dev 19(6):677–682. doi:10.1101/gad.1265205
- Thompson LL, Guppy BJ, Sawchuk L, Davie JR, McManus KJ (2013) Regulation of chromatin structure via histone post-translational modification and the link to carcinogenesis. Cancer Metastasis Rev 32(3–4):363–376. doi:10.1007/s10555-013-9434-8
- Trojer P, Reinberg D (2007) Facultative heterochromatin: is there a distinctive molecular signature? Mol Cell 28(1):1–13. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2007.09.011
- Tsai MC, Manor O, Wan Y, Mosammaparast N, Wang JK, Lan F, Shi Y, Segal E, Chang HY (2010) Long noncoding RNA as modular scaffold of histone modification complexes. Science 329(5992):689–693. doi:10.1126/science.1192002
- Turner BM (2014) Nucleosome signalling: an evolving concept. Biochim Biophys Acta 1839(8):623–626. doi:10.1016/j.bbagrm.2014.01.001
- Turner AM, Morris KV (2010) Controlling transcription with noncoding RNAs in mammalian cells. Biotechniques 48(6):ix–xvi. doi:10.2144/000113442
- Tyagi A, Ryme J, Brodin D, Ostlund Farrants AK, Visa N (2009) SWI/SNF associates with nascent pre-mRNPs and regulates alternative pre-mRNA processing. PLoS Genet 5(5):e1000470. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1000470
- Vaissiere T, Sawan C, Herceg Z (2008) Epigenetic interplay between histone modifications and DNA methylation in gene silencing. Mutat Res 659(1–2):40–48. doi:10.1016/j.mrrev.2008.02.004
- Valouev A, Johnson SM, Boyd SD, Smith CL, Fire AZ, Sidow A (2011) Determinants of nucleosome organization in primary human cells. Nature 474(7352):516–520. doi:10.1038/ nature10002
- van Holde KE, Lohr DE, Robert C (1992) What happens to nucleosomes during transcription? J Biol Chem 267(5):2837–2840
- Van Rechem C, Whetstine JR (2014) Examining the impact of gene variants on histone lysine methylation. Biochim Biophys Acta. doi:10.1016/j.bbagrm.2014.05.014
- Villeponteau B, Martinson HG (1987) Gamma rays and bleomycin nick DNA and reverse the DNase I sensitivity of beta-globin gene chromatin in vivo. Mol Cell Biol 7(5):1917–1924
- Villeponteau B, Lundell M, Martinson H (1984) Torsional stress promotes the DNAase I sensitivity of active genes. Cell 39(3 Pt 2):469–478
- Voigt P, LeRoy G, Drury WJ 3rd, Zee BM, Son J, Beck DB, Young NL, Garcia BA, Reinberg D (2012) Asymmetrically modified nucleosomes. Cell 151(1):181–193. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2012.09.002
- Walia H, Chen HY, Sun JM, Holth LT, Davie JR (1998) Histone acetylation is required to maintain the unfolded nucleosome structure associated with transcribing DNA. J Biol Chem 273(23):14516–14522
- Walker J, Chen TA, Sterner R, Berger M, Winston F, Allfrey VG (1990) Affinity chromatography of mammalian and yeast nucleosomes. Two modes of binding of transcriptionally active

mammalian nucleosomes to organomercurial-agarose columns, and contrasting behavior of the active nucleosomes of yeast. J Biol Chem 265(10):5736–5746

- Wang Z, Zang C, Cui K, Schones DE, Barski A, Peng W, Zhao K (2009) Genome-wide mapping of HATs and HDACs reveals distinct functions in active and inactive genes. Cell 138(5):1019– 1031. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.06.049
- Weber CM, Henikoff S (2014) Histone variants: dynamic punctuation in transcription. Genes Dev 28(7):672–682. doi:10.1101/gad.238873.114
- Wellen KE, Hatzivassiliou G, Sachdeva UM, Bui TV, Cross JR, Thompson CB (2009) ATP-citrate lyase links cellular metabolism to histone acetylation. Science 324(5930):1076–1080. doi:10.1126/science.1164097
- Wery M, Shematorova E, Van Driessche B, Vandenhaute J, Thuriaux P, Van Mullem V (2004) Members of the SAGA and mediator complexes are partners of the transcription elongation factor TFIIS. EMBO J 23(21):4232–4242. doi:10.1038/sj.emboj.7600326
- Whitehouse I, Rando OJ, Delrow J, Tsukiyama T (2007) Chromatin remodelling at promoters suppresses antisense transcription. Nature 450(7172):1031–1035. doi:10.1038/nature06391
- Winter S, Simboeck E, Fischle W, Zupkovitz G, Dohnal I, Mechtler K, Ammerer G, Seiser C (2008) 14-3-3 proteins recognize a histone code at histone H3 and are required for transcriptional activation. EMBO J 27(1):88–99. doi:10.1038/sj.emboj.7601954
- Wright DE, Wang CY, Kao CF (2012) Histone ubiquitylation and chromatin dynamics. Front Biosci (Landmark Ed) 17:1051–1078
- Wu H, Zhang Y (2011) Tet1 and 5-hydroxymethylation: a genome-wide view in mouse embryonic stem cells. Cell Cycle 10(15):2428–2436
- Wu H, Zhang Y (2014) Reversing DNA methylation: mechanisms, genomics, and biological functions. Cell 156(1–2):45–68. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2013.12.019
- Wunsch AM, Lough J (1987) Modulation of histone H3 variant synthesis during the myoblastmyotube transition of chicken myogenesis. Dev Biol 119(1):94–99
- Yamane K, Tateishi K, Klose RJ, Fang J, Fabrizio LA, Erdjument-Bromage H, Taylor-Papadimitriou J, Tempst P, Zhang Y (2007) PLU-1 is an H3K4 demethylase involved in transcriptional repression and breast cancer cell proliferation. Mol Cell 25(6):801–812. doi:10.1016/j.molcel. 2007.03.001
- Yao YL, Yang WM (2011) Beyond histone and deacetylase: an overview of cytoplasmic histone deacetylases and their nonhistone substrates. J Biomed Biotechnol 2011:146493. doi:10.1155/2011/146493
- Yap DB, Chu J, Berg T, Schapira M, Cheng SW, Moradian A, Morin RD, Mungall AJ, Meissner B, Boyle M, Marquez VE, Marra MA, Gascoyne RD, Humphries RK, Arrowsmith CH, Morin GB, Aparicio SA (2011) Somatic mutations at EZH2 Y641 act dominantly through a mechanism of selectively altered PRC2 catalytic activity, to increase H3K27 trimethylation. Blood 117(8):2451–2459. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-11-321208
- Young NL, DiMaggio PA, Plazas-Mayorca MD, Baliban RC, Floudas CA, Garcia BA (2009) High throughput characterization of combinatorial histone codes. Mol Cell Proteomics 8(10):2266– 2284. doi:10.1074/mcp.M900238-MCP200
- Yuan CC, Matthews AG, Jin Y, Chen CF, Chapman BA, Ohsumi TK, Glass KC, Kutateladze TG, Borowsky ML, Struhl K, Oettinger MA (2012) Histone H3R2 symmetric dimethylation and histone H3K4 trimethylation are tightly correlated in eukaryotic genomes. Cell Rep 1(2):83– 90. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2011.12.008
- Yun M, Wu J, Workman JL, Li B (2011) Readers of histone modifications. Cell Res 21(4):564– 578. doi:10.1038/cr.2011.42
- Zaidi SK, Young DW, Montecino M, van Wijnen AJ, Stein JL, Lian JB, Stein GS (2011) Bookmarking the genome: maintenance of epigenetic information. J Biol Chem 286(21):18355– 18361. doi:10.1074/jbc.R110.197061
- Zaidi SK, Grandy RA, Lopez-Camacho C, Montecino M, van Wijnen AJ, Lian JB, Stein JL, Stein GS (2014) Bookmarking target genes in mitosis: a shared epigenetic trait of phenotypic transcription factors and oncogenes? Cancer Res 74(2):420–425. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-13-2837

- Zane L, Sharma V, Misteli T (2014) Common features of chromatin in aging and cancer: cause or coincidence? Trends Cell Biol. doi:10.1016/j.tcb.2014.07.001
- Zentner GE, Scacheri PC (2012) The chromatin fingerprint of gene enhancer elements. J Biol Chem 287(37):30888–30896. doi:10.1074/jbc.R111.296491
- Zhang DE, Nelson DA (1988a) Histone acetylation in chicken erythrocytes. Rates of acetylation and evidence that histones in both active and potentially active chromatin are rapidly modified. Biochem J 250(1):233–240
- Zhang DE, Nelson DA (1988b) Histone acetylation in chicken erythrocytes. Rates of deacetylation in immature and mature red blood cells. Biochem J 250(1):241–245
- Zhang Z, Pugh BF (2011) High-resolution genome-wide mapping of the primary structure of chromatin. Cell 144(2):175–186. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.01.003
- Zhang Y, Reinberg D (2001) Transcription regulation by histone methylation: interplay between different covalent modifications of the core histone tails. Genes Dev 15(18):2343–2360. doi:10.1101/gad.927301
- Zhang Z, Wippo CJ, Wal M, Ward E, Korber P, Pugh BF (2011) A packing mechanism for nucleosome organization reconstituted across a eukaryotic genome. Science 332(6032):977–980. doi:10.1126/science.1200508
- Zhou HL, Luo G, Wise JA, Lou H (2014) Regulation of alternative splicing by local histone modifications: potential roles for RNA-guided mechanisms. Nucleic Acids Res 42(2):701–713. doi:10.1093/nar/gkt875
- Zhubi A, Chen Y, Dong E, Cook EH, Guidotti A, Grayson DR (2014) Increased binding of MeCP2 to the GAD1 and RELN promoters may be mediated by an enrichment of 5-hmC in autism spectrum disorder (ASD) cerebellum. Transl Psychiatry 4, e349. doi:10.1038/tp.2013.123
- Zlatanova J, Bishop TC, Victor JM, Jackson V, van Holde K (2009) The nucleosome family: dynamic and growing. Structure 17(2):160–171. doi:10.1016/j.str.2008.12.016
- Zuin J, Dixon JR, van der Reijden MI, Ye Z, Kolovos P, Brouwer RW, van de Corput MP, van de Werken HJ, Knoch TA, van Ijcken WF, Grosveld FG, Ren B, Wendt KS (2014) Cohesin and CTCF differentially affect chromatin architecture and gene expression in human cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111(3):996–1001. doi:10.1073/pnas.1317788111



# Epigenome Dynamics and Reader Proteins in Cardiomyocyte Development and Heart Failure

# Lutz Hein

# Contents

2.1	Epiger	netic Adaptations During the Life Cycle of Cardiomyocytes	38	
	2.1.1	DNA Methylation.	38	
	2.1.2	Histone Modifications	38	
	2.1.3	Methods to Study Epigenetic Processes in the Heart	39	
2.2	DNA I	Methylation in Cardiomyocytes	39	
	2.2.1	Dynamics of DNA Methylation During Cardiomyocyte Development		
		and in Disease.	39	
	2.2.2	Readers of DNA Methylation	42	
2.3	Histon	e Modifications in Cardiomyocytes	44	
	2.3.1	Histone Modifications in Cardiomyocyte Development and in Disease	44	
	2.3.2	Active Histone Marks: Acetyl-Lysine Readers.	44	
	2.3.3	Active and Inactive Histone Marks: Methyl-Lysine Readers	45	
Conclusions				
Refe	References			

## Abstract

Epigenetic mechanisms are essential for cardiomyocyte function and adaptation in development, postnatal growth, and during cardiac remodeling in heart failure. Recent advances in the identification of cell-type-specific markers have facilitated the development of techniques to purify cardiomyocytes and their nuclei from intact heart tissue and to study DNA methylation and posttranslational histone modifications on a genome-wide basis. Cardiomyocyte development and postnatal maturation were accompanied by DNA demethylation of gene bodies of sarcomeric genes until adulthood. Genes that are expressed during the fetal period were also demethylated but were postnatally repressed by trimethylation of histone 3 at

L. Hein, MD

Institute of Experimental and Clinical Pharmacology and Toxicology, University of Freiburg, Albertstrasse 25, 79104 Freiburg, Germany

BIOSS Centre for Biological Signalling Studies, University of Freiburg, Albertstrasse 25, 79104 Freiburg, Germany e-mail: lutz.hein@pharmakol.uni-freiburg.de

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

J. Backs, T.A. McKinsey (eds.), Epigenetics in Cardiac Disease,

Cardiac and Vascular Biology 1, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-41457-7\_2

lysine 27 (developmental genes) or by de novo DNA methylation mediated by DNA methyltransferases 3A/3B (fetal sarcomeric genes). Dynamic changes in DNA methylation and histone modifications can be recognized by specialized "reader" proteins which modulate cardiomyocyte function. Future studies will be important to unravel the complex interplay between epigenetic modifications of DNA and histones and to identify the involved signaling pathways.

# 2.1 Epigenetic Adaptations During the Life Cycle of Cardiomyocytes

The heart is the first organ which develops during embryonic development. While it continuously beats to supply the body with blood, oxygen, and nutrients, it has to grow and adapt to multiple physiological and pathological situations. Despite these challenges, cardiomyocytes lose their proliferative capacity soon after birth (Bergmann et al. 2009; Senyo et al. 2013). In order to adapt to diverse demands, cardiomyocytes adjust their gene expression program. Long-term changes in gene expression are mediated by several epigenetic processes, including DNA methylation (Hon et al. 2013), chromatin, and histone modifications (Anand et al. 2013; Wamstad et al. 2012; Zhang et al. 2002) as well as microRNAs (Grueter et al. 2012).

# 2.1.1 DNA Methylation

During embryonic development, cells differentiate from progenitors into a broad spectrum of >200 specialized cell types in the body. DNA methylation is considered to be a stable mark to maintain cell-type identity after differentiation (Bird 2002; Jones 2012). DNA methylation is established at cytosines, mostly in CpG sequences, by de novo DNA methyltransferases 3A and 3B (DNMT3A, DNMT3B) (Reik et al. 2001). The maintenance methyltransferase DNMT1 is responsible for symmetrical methylation of the newly synthesized DNA strand during cell division, ensuring that DNA methylation will be stably transferred to the daughter cells (Reik et al. 2001). Several enzymes have been identified, which may actively remove DNA methylation marks, including the ten-eleven-translocation enzymes TET1, TET2, and TET3 (Branco et al. 2012). Methylated cytosines serve as binding partners for a number of methyl-CpG-binding domain (MBD) proteins, which associate with other proteins to modulate gene expression.

# 2.1.2 Histone Modifications

In every nucleated cell, the genomic DNA is complexed with histone proteins in nucleosomes (Allis et al. 2015). In each nucleosome, double-stranded DNA is wrapped 1.4-times around an octamer complex consisting of histone proteins. The octamer consists of two of the histone isoforms H2A, H2B, H3, and H4 (Allis et al.

2015). Modulation of the packing density of nucleosomes may allow to maintain an open chromatin structure (euchromatin) for active genomic regions as well as a condensed chromatin compaction (heterochromatin) for regions of the genome which are currently not in use. Nucleosome packing and gene activity may be modulated by posttranslational modifications of histones (Allis et al. 2015). So far, a large variety of histone modifications have been described, including methylation, acetylation, phosphorylation, ubiquitination, and many others. Specific modifications have been linked with gene activity, for example, H3K4me3 was found at active promoters and transcription start sites, H3K27ac at active enhancers and promoters and H3K36me3 at actively transcribed gene bodies (Rivera and Ren 2013). In contrast, H3K9me3 and H3K27me3 mark repressed or heterochromatic gene regions (Rivera and Ren 2013).

This chapter will focus on DNA methylation and histone modifications and their recognition by reader proteins in cardiomyocytes during development and in disease.

### 2.1.3 Methods to Study Epigenetic Processes in the Heart

The heart is a complex tissue which is composed of multiple cell types, including cardiomyocytes, endothelial cells, fibroblasts, vascular smooth muscle cells, and many other cells. Importantly, cardiomyocytes contribute only 20-30% of the total cardiac cell population (Rubart and Field 2006). Depending on the type of DNA or histone mark, epigenomic profiles may greatly differ between individual cell types (Allis et al. 2015). Thus, in order to interrogate specific epigenetic features in one particular cell type, it is essential to isolate the cell type of interest from the tissue for further analysis (Jaffe and Irizarry 2014; Liang and Cookson 2014; Lister et al. 2013; Michels et al. 2013). For purification of cardiomyocytes from mouse heart tissue, we used an antibody against pericentriolar material 1 (PCM1), which specifically labels cardiomyocyte nuclei in the heart (Bergmann et al. 2011). For this method, cardiac nuclei were prepared from frozen mouse heart tissue, labeled with an anti-PCM1 antibody and cardiomyocyte nuclei were purified by flow cytometry (fluorescenceactivated cell sorting (FACS)) or by magnetic-assisted sorting (MACS) (Gilsbach et al. 2014). FACS and MACS resulted in highly pure cardiomyocyte nuclei preparations (>97%), which were further processed for bisulfite sequencing to generate DNA methylomes and histone maps at base-pair resolution (Gilsbach et al. 2014).

# 2.2 DNA Methylation in Cardiomyocytes

# 2.2.1 Dynamics of DNA Methylation During Cardiomyocyte Development and in Disease

Using PCM1-based purification of cardiomyocyte nuclei, we generated highcoverage maps of DNA methylation in mouse cardiomyocytes at postnatal day 1 (P1) and in normal and failing adult cardiomyocytes (Gilsbach et al. 2014). DNA methylomes from mouse embryonic stem (ES) cells (Stadler et al. 2011) and from total cardiac tissue (Hon et al. 2013) were used for comparison. Compared with whole heart tissue (Hon et al. 2013), purified cardiomyocyte nuclei revealed distinct patterns of DNA methylation of cardiac enhancers and gene bodies (Gilsbach et al. 2014). Many highly expressed cardiomyocyte genes were strongly demethylated during development (Fig. 2.1). Most interestingly, gene body demethylation proceeded during postnatal maturation until adulthood (Gilsbach et al. 2014). Furthermore, demethylation of gene bodies correlated inversely with gene expression and active histone marks, suggesting a direct link between DNA methylation and RNA expression. Interestingly, the perinatal isoform switch of genes involved in sarcomere function, energy metabolism, or Ca<sup>2+</sup> homeostasis coincided with opposite changes in DNA methylation of these genes (Fig. 2.1). Sarcomeric proteins are well known to shift their isoform expression around birth to adapt to the postnatal needs (Krüger et al. 2006; Siedner et al. 2003). In mouse cardiomyocytes, 313 gene bodies were demethylated and 127 were de novo methylated after birth (Gilsbach et al. 2014). As examples, the fetally expressed isoform of troponin I1 gene (*Tnni1*) was remethylated during the postnatal period while the adult troponin 13 gene (Tnni3) was demethylated starting after birth (Fig. 2.1) (Gilsbach et al. 2014). Importantly, de novo methylation of the *Tnnil* gene was mediated by DNMT3A/B enzymes. Cardiomyocyte-specific ablation of DNMT3A/B completely prevented remethylation of the *Tnnil* gene body and partially relieved gene repression (Gilsbach et al. 2014). These results indicate that DNA methylation of gene bodies of highly expressed cardiomyocte genes affects RNA expression of these genes. However, the underlying molecular mechanisms are unclear at present.



**Fig. 2.1** DNA methylation of the troponin I1 and I3 genes in cardiomyocytes. (**a**, **b**) DNA methylation of the troponin I1 gene (*Tnni1*, **a**) and the troponin I3 gene (*Tnni3*, **b**) in embryonic stem cells, neonatal, and adult mouse cardiomyocytes. (**c**, **d**) Cardiac sarcomere at birth (**c**) and in the adult heart (**d**). Sarcomere genes which are differentially methylated and expressed between birth and adulthood are marked. *Numbers* indicate the differences in gene expression (exp) and CpG methylation (me) (Modified from Gilsbach et al. (2014))

Furthermore, not all genes, which were demethylated in their gene bodies, were expressed in adult cardiomyocytes. Many genes that are involved in cardiac differentiation, for example, *Isl1* (Zhuang et al. 2013), remained demethylated until adulthood despite the absence of significant levels of RNA expression (Fig. 2.2) (Gilsbach et al. 2014). These genes were decorated and repressed by the inactive histone mark H3K27me3, which is generated by the polycomb-repressive complex 2 (PRC2) (Fig. 2.2) (He et al. 2012; Delgado-Olguin et al. 2012). Ablation of the enzymatic component of the PRC2 complex, EZH2, led to reactivation of some of these genes (Gilsbach et al. 2014).

In addition to these alterations in gene body DNA methylation, a large number of cardiomyocyte enhancers were found to be demethylated during cardiomyocyte development. These short stretches of DNA demethylation contained motifs for cardiac transcription factors, for example, MEF2C, GATA1-4, as well as histone modifications (H3K4me1, H3K27ac), which are hallmarks of cis-regulatory elements (Creyghton et al. 2010; Stadler et al. 2011). Conversely, enhancers that carried motifs for pluripotency factors, which are active in ES cells, were de novo methylated in cardiomyocytes versus ES cells (Gilsbach et al. 2014). Furthermore, in failing cardiomyocytes several features of altered DNA methylation could be identified (Gilsbach et al. 2014). These alterations did not affect the gene body but were mostly localized outside of genes (Gilsbach et al. 2014). Interestingly, the DNA



**Fig. 2.2** Schematic representation of DNA methylation and histone modifications in gene bodies of cardiomyocytes. The scheme indicates gene body (de)methylation in embryonic stem cells (*left*), neonatal cardiomyocytes (*middle*), and adult mouse cardiomyocytes (*right*). Developmental genes (*upper row*) are demethylated but repressed by H3K27me3. Fetal sarcomeric genes (*middle row*) are demethylated and de novo methylated by DNMT3A/B. Adult sarcomeric genes (*lower row*) are completely demethylated during cardiac development and postnatal maturation (Modified from Gilsbach et al. (2014))

methylation pattern of failing cardiomyocytes partially resembled the fetal methylation pattern (Gilsbach et al. 2014). These observations are in line with several other reports, which suggest that DNA methylation may be altered during development and in heart failure (Haas et al. 2013; Movassagh et al. 2011a, b; Koczor et al. 2013; Sim et al. 2015). However, further studies will be required to determine which cell types contribute to changes in DNA methylation in cardiac tissue and which are the underlying molecular mechanisms.

### 2.2.2 Readers of DNA Methylation

DNA methylation can be recognized by specialized proteins. Three families of methyl-CpG-binding proteins have been identified in mammals, the MBD (methyl-CpG-binding domain) family, Kaiso and Kaiso-like proteins, and SRA (SET and RING-associated domain) domain proteins (Fournier et al. 2012). Within the MBD family of proteins, MeCP2, MBD1, MBD2, and MBD4 recognize methylated DNA, while MBD3, MBD5, and MBD6 do not bind to methylated DNA sequences (Fournier et al. 2012).

Methyl-CpG-binding protein 2 (MeCP2) binds specifically to methylated DNA (Fig. 2.3) and regulates transcription, chromatin organization, and RNA splicing (Song et al. 2014; Maunakea et al. 2013). Mutations in the MeCP2 gene have been



**Fig. 2.3** Reader proteins involved in the recognition of DNA methylation and histone modifications. For clarity, only examples for epigenetic readers which have been associated with cardiac function are indicated. *Single letters* represent amino acid sequence of the aminoterminus of histone H3 with posttranslational modifications

identified as genetic causes of Rett syndrome, a neurodevelopmental disorder (Song et al. 2014; Bird 2002). MeCP2 is strongly expressed in neurons, but high levels of expression have also been identified in cardiovascular tissue including cardiomyocytes (Song et al. 2014). MeCP2 is a member of the MBD (methylated DNA-binding domain) family of proteins, which specifically recognize and bind to methylated DNA sequences (Guy et al. 2011; Baubec et al. 2013). The MeCP2 protein is built up of several domains, including a methyl-DNA-binding domain (MBD). This domain binds methylated CpG sequences with 100-fold selectivity over 5-hydroxymethylated or unmethylated CpG (Khrapunov et al. 2014). MeCP2 may repress transcription, but it can also activate gene expression by recruiting coactivators (Chahrour et al. 2008; Ebert et al. 2013).

In a mouse model with left ventricular pressure overload due to transverse aortic constriction (TAC), histone marks and MeCP2 binding to SERCA (*Atp2a2*) and  $\beta$ -MHC (*Myh7*) gene promoters were investigated (Angrisano et al. 2014). Downregulation of SERCA expression was accompanied by increased promoter binding of DNA methyltransferases DNMT1 and DNMT3B as well as elevated MeCP2 levels at the SERCA promoter (Angrisano et al. 2014). Opposite changes were observed at the *Myh7* promoter, suggesting that DNA methylation and/or altered MeCP2 binding was involved in gene regulation after TAC (Angrisano et al. 2014). Similarly, the loss of MeCP2 binding was also observed in H9c2 cardiomyocytes at the IGF-II/mannose 6-phosphate receptor gene after stimulation with tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$ , lipopolysaccharide, or angiotensin II (Chu et al. 2012). However, cardiomyocyte-specific analysis of DNA methylation did not reveal alterations in DNA methylation at the gene body or promoter of these two genes, indicating that more likely MeCP2 levels are important for the modulation of hypertrophic gene expression (Gilsbach et al. 2014).

Transgenic overexpression of MeCP2 in the heart (and other organs) led to lethal embryonic cardiomyopathy after E14.5 (Angrisano et al. 2014). After cardiac ischemia, the transfer of miR-22 contained in exosomes from mesenchymal stem cells to cardiomyocytes was observed (Feng et al. 2014). In cardiomyocytes, miR-22 repressed MeCP2, leading to reduced apoptosis and decreased interstitial fibrosis (Feng et al. 2014). MeCP2 may also be expressed in non-cardiomyocyte cells, including fibroblasts (Song et al. 2014). MeCP2 stimulates myofibroblast transdifferentiation and inhibition of its expression by miR-132 was found to be protective in a mouse model of myocardial infarction (Katare et al. 2011). These data suggest that the repression of MeCP2 is cardioprotective. Altered levels of global DNA methylation and methyl-CpG-binding proteins 1, 2, and 3 were identified during differentiation of neonatal rat cardiomyocytes (Kou et al. 2010).

Rett syndrome has been associated with an increased risk of sudden cardiac death, but the underlying pathogenesis has not been fully identified. In patients with Rett syndrome, subclinical cardiac dysfunction has been reported by echocardiographic measurements (De Felice et al. 2012). Studies in MeCP2-deficient mice have identified prolongation of the QT interval similar to clinical observations in Rett patients (McCauley et al. 2011). However, measures of autonomic cardiovascular regulation did not differ between wild-type and MeCP2-deficient mice (Bissonnette et al. 2007). Thus, MeCP2 defects may predispose Rett patients to develop lethal cardiac arrhythmias.

In addition to MeCP2, several other methyl-DNA-binding proteins have been identified (Fournier et al. 2012). However, none of these readers of DNA methylation have been investigated in the context of heart development or failure, yet.

# 2.3 Histone Modifications in Cardiomyocytes

# 2.3.1 Histone Modifications in Cardiomyocyte Development and in Disease

As mentioned above, multiple posttranslational modifications have been identified in histone proteins. For several – but not all – of these modifications, specific enzymes have been identified which generate the mark ("writer") or remove it ("eraser"). Detailed descriptions of the function and cardiovascular significance of these histone-modifying enzymes are discussed in detail in other chapters of this volume. The present chapter focuses on "reader" proteins, which have been identified to bind to specific histone modifications and which affect cardiomyocyte function (Fig. 2.3). In contrast to writer and eraser enzymes, the group of reader proteins is very large and less well defined. This is due to the fact that a large variety of nuclear proteins contain domains which specifically recognize and bind to one or more histone modifications. Excellent reviews about the structure and functions of these "reader" domains have been published (Patel and Wang 2013; Du and Patel 2014; Gillette and Hill 2015; Yun et al. 2011; Gayatri and Bedford 2014; Taverna et al. 2007).

Recently, an unbiased approach has identified additional proteins which recognize specific features of modified histones and/or DNA (Bartke et al. 2010). Thus, the family or "reader" proteins – including those which are relevant for cardiomyocyte function – is likely to expand significantly.

Posttranslational modifications of histones have been mapped on a genome-wide basis in cardiomyocytes, which were obtained by Langendorff dissociation or by FACS-/MACS-based nuclei purification, respectively (Gilsbach et al. 2014; Papait et al. 2013). These studies identified specific features of histone marks which are associated with gene activation or silencing in cardiomyocytes.

#### 2.3.2 Active Histone Marks: Acetyl-Lysine Readers

Acetylation of lysines in histones is usually associated with gene activation. Bromodomain proteins contain specific domains for recognition of acetylated lysines (Fig. 2.3) (Patel and Wang 2013). In cardiomyocytes, phenylephrine induced the expression of the bromodomain protein BRD4, but not of BRD2 and BRD3, as well as phosphorylation of RNA polymerase II (RNA Pol II) (Spiltoir et al. 2013). The small molecule compound JQ1 inhibited phenylephrine-induced hypertrophy and induction of ANP protein synthesis in cardiomyocytes in vitro (Anand et al. 2013; Spiltoir et al. 2013). In vivo, JO1 prevented cardiac hypertrophy, contractile dysfunction, and hypertrophic gene expression in response to cardiac pressure overload (TAC) (Anand et al. 2013; Spiltoir et al. 2013). By chromatin immunoprecipitation, BRD4 was found to be enriched at enhancers and promoters of actively transcribed genes (Anand et al. 2013). Previous studies had shown that BRD4 binds to CDK9 (cyclin-dependent kinase 9), which phosphorylates RNA Pol II to initiate RNA Pol II pause release and thus stimulate elongation of nascent RNA transcripts (Kwak and Lis 2013). JO1 effectively blocked BRD4-mediated pause release and thus inhibited pathologic gene transcription in cardiomyocytes (Anand et al. 2013). Liu et al. have developed a model in HEK293 cells involving a link between anti-pause enhancers with promoters by BRD4 in a complex with CDK9, HEXIM, JMJD6, CCNT1/2, and 7SK snRNA (Liu et al. 2013). BRD4 recruits JMJD6, a demethylase with dual activities toward methylated histones and the 7SK snRNA cap. JMJD6 (jumonji C-domain-containing protein 6) thus removes the inhibitory complex of HEXIM and 7SK snRNA and initiates RNA Pol II pause release (Liu et al. 2013). However, whether the same molecular components are also responsible for transcriptional pause release in cardiomyocytes remains to be determined.

## 2.3.3 Active and Inactive Histone Marks: Methyl-Lysine Readers

#### 2.3.3.1 Recognition of H3K4me3

Trimethylation of histone H3 at lysine 4 (H3K4me3) is a chromatin mark known to label transcription start sites of active genes (Fig. 2.3) (Benayoun et al. 2014). Multiple protein domains have been identified, which can bind to H3K4me3, including chromodomains, PHD fingers, Tudor, MBT, and Zf-CW domains (Yun et al. 2011). Many of the proteins that contain these recognition domains have diverse additional biological activities, for example, ATPase, DNA recombination, HDAC, demethylase, or acetyltransferase functions (Yun et al. 2011). Only few of the reader proteins binding to H3K4me3 have been studied in the context of cardiac function. The histone lysine demethylase JMJD2A has been associated with cardiac remodeling in response to cardiac stress (Fig. 2.3). Heart-specific ablation of JMJD2A attenuated hypertrophic remodeling after TAC in mice (Zhang et al. 2011). JMJD2A contains a double Tudor domain, which mediates binding to H3K4me3 while the enzymatic domain of JMJD2A demethylates H3K9me3 and H3K36me3 (Huang et al. 2006). Thus, JMJD2A is one example of a protein linking two different histone activities - it binds to H3K4me3 and demethylates H3K9me3 (Huang et al. 2006). Similar properties were observed for the histone demethylase PHF8 which contains a PHD finger domain to bind to H3K4me3. PHF8 overexpression in the heart of transgenic mice attenuated cardiac remodeling after pressure overload (Fig. 2.3) (Liu et al. 2015).

Also, several chromatin-remodeling proteins of the SWI/SNF complex, including Brg1, Baf60, Baf180, and Baf250, contain reader domains recognizing modified lysines in histones. These proteins are important for ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling and nucleosome positioning and several of these factors are essential for cardiac development (for recent reviews, see Gillette and Hill 2015; Nuhrenberg et al. 2014).

#### 2.3.3.2 Recognition of H3K9me3

H3K9me3 is associated with heterochromatin and thus gene repression (Fig. 2.3). This modification may be specifically recognized by a number of different proteins and protein domains, including heterochromatin protein 1 (HP1; chromobox homolog 1, CBX1, Fig. 2.3) (Eissenberg and Elgin 2014; Nishibuchi and Nakayama 2014). HP1 proteins consist of an amino-terminal chromodomain and a carboxylterminal chromo shadow domain, which are linked by a hinge region (Eissenberg and Elgin 2014; Nishibuchi and Nakayama 2014). The chromodomain recognizes and binds to trimethylated lysine-9 in histone H3 (H3K9me3), while the carboxyl terminus of HP1 acts as a dimerization and recognition domain for other interacting proteins (Eissenberg and Elgin 2014; Nishibuchi and Nakayama 2014). HP1 is an essential reader protein to mediate gene silencing in heterochromatin. Demethylation of H3K9me3 and loss of HP1 binding have been identified as key mechanisms of induction of the ANP gene (Nppa) in failing hearts in vivo and in response to increased cardiac preload in vitro (Hohl et al. 2013). As an initial event, phosphorylation of HDAC4 by CaMKII8B was identified, which led to nuclear export of HDAC4 into the cytosol (Hohl et al. 2013). This led to demethylation of H3K9me3 by JMJC domain-containing demethylases, to dissociation of HP1 protein from chromatin and to the activation of the fetal gene program, including induction of expression of ANP and BNP (Hohl et al. 2013).

#### 2.3.3.3 Phosphoserine Readers

Increased levels of histone phosphorylation are a hallmark of mitosis and immunofluorescence assays using antibodies directed against phospho-histones are frequently used to detect mitotic cells, including cardiomyocytes (Porrello et al. 2011). Recently, the role of CaMKII\deltaB in phosphorylation of histone H3 and its recognition by 14-3-3 adapter proteins (Fig. 2.3) in response to cardiac stress has been described (Awad et al. 2015). Histone H3 phosphorylation at serine-10 can be detected in fetal and adult cardiomyocytes (Awad et al. 2013). Phosphorylation of H3S10 increases after cardiac injury (Awad et al. 2013). 14-3-3 binds to H3S10-P at the promoter regions of fetal genes to activate their transcription, thus facilitating the expression of the hypertrophic gene program.

During mitosis (and in response to other stimuli), threonine-3 of histone H3 is phosphorylated and this event is being recognized by survivin (Fig. 2.3) followed by the formation of the chromosomal passenger complex (CPC) and recruitment of Aurora B kinase (Kelly et al. 2010). This complex leads to progression of mitosis with spindle formation. Interestingly, survivin is also expressed in cardiomyocytes. Ablation of survivin in mouse cardiomyocytes led to postnatal lethal cardiomyopathy (Schrickel et al. 2012; Levkau et al. 2008). Survivin-deficient cardiomyocytes displayed lower mitotic rates of cardiomyocytes, thus resulting in hearts with smaller total cardiomyocyte numbers (Levkau et al. 2008). In addition to its function as a reader of phosphorylated histones, survivin has been characterized as an antiapoptotic protein. In survivin-deficient hearts, cardiomyocyte apoptosis occurred at similar levels as in wild-type cardiomyocytes (Levkau et al. 2008). However, further experiments are required to distinguish between the antiapoptotic role and the histone reader function of survivin in cardiomyocytes.

#### Conclusions

DNA methylation and histone modifications in cardiomyocytes are highly dynamic during development and in disease. Development of novel techniques for the isolation of pure cardiomyocyte nuclei together with advanced DNAsequencing technologies has led to the first epigenome maps of mouse cardiomyocytes during development and in disease. Modifications of genomic DNA and histones can be recognized by specialized "reader" proteins, which modulate cardiomyocyte function. The first published studies demonstrate that several reader proteins are important for cardiomyocyte development and heart failure. Due to the large variety of epigenetic readers, considerable efforts will be required to uncover the complex interplay between epigenetic modifications of DNA and histones and to identify the involved signaling pathways. In addition, these techniques should now be applied to study the dynamics of the epigenome in human cardiomyocytes.

**Sources of Funding** This work was supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft SFB 992 (Medical Epigenetics, project B03) and the BIOSS Centre for Biological Signalling Studies.

**Conflict of Interest** The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

#### References

- Allis CD, Jenuwein T, Reinberg D, Lachner M (2015) Epigenetics. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor
- Anand P, Brown JD, Lin CY, Qi J, Zhang R, Artero PC, Alaiti MA, Bullard J, Alazem K, Margulies KB, Cappola TP, Lemieux M, Plutzky J, Bradner JE, Haldar SM (2013) BET bromodomains mediate transcriptional pause release in heart failure. Cell 154(3):569–582. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2013.07.013
- Angrisano T, Schiattarella GG, Keller S, Pironti G, Florio E, Magliulo F, Bottino R, Pero R, Lembo F, Avvedimento EV, Esposito G, Trimarco B, Chiariotti L, Perrino C (2014) Epigenetic switch at atp2a2 and myh7 gene promoters in pressure overload-induced heart failure. PLoS One 9(9), e106024. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0106024
- Awad S, Kunhi M, Little GH, Bai Y, An W, Bers D, Kedes L, Poizat C (2013) Nuclear CaMKII enhances histone H3 phosphorylation and remodels chromatin during cardiac hypertrophy. Nucleic Acids Res 41(16):7656–7672. doi:10.1093/nar/gkt500
- Awad S, Al-Haffar KM, Marashly Q, Quijada P, Kunhi M, Al-Yacoub N, Wade FS, Mohammed SF, Al-Dayel F, Sutherland G, Assiri A, Sussman M, Bers D, Al-Habeeb W, Poizat C (2015) Control of histone H3 phosphorylation by CaMKIIdelta in response to haemodynamic cardiac stress. J Pathol 235(4):606–618. doi:10.1002/path.4489

- Bartke T, Vermeulen M, Xhemalce B, Robson SC, Mann M, Kouzarides T (2010) Nucleosomeinteracting proteins regulated by DNA and histone methylation. Cell 143(3):470–484. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2010.10.012
- Baubec T, Ivanek R, Lienert F, Schubeler D (2013) Methylation-dependent and -independent genomic targeting principles of the MBD protein family. Cell 153(2):480–492. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2013.03.011
- Benayoun BA, Pollina EA, Ucar D, Mahmoudi S, Karra K, Wong ED, Devarajan K, Daugherty AC, Kundaje AB, Mancini E, Hitz BC, Gupta R, Rando TA, Baker JC, Snyder MP, Cherry JM, Brunet A (2014) H3K4me3 breadth is linked to cell identity and transcriptional consistency. Cell 158(3):673–688. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2014.06.027
- Bergmann O, Bhardwaj RD, Bernard S, Zdunek S, Barnabe-Heider F, Walsh S, Zupicich J, Alkass K, Buchholz BA, Druid H, Jovinge S, Frisen J (2009) Evidence for cardiomyocyte renewal in humans. Science 324(5923):98–102. doi:10.1126/science.1164680
- Bergmann O, Zdunek S, Alkass K, Druid H, Bernard S, Frisen J (2011) Identification of cardiomyocyte nuclei and assessment of ploidy for the analysis of cell turnover. Exp Cell Res 317(2):188–194. doi:10.1016/j.yexcr.2010.08.017
- Bird A (2002) DNA methylation patterns and epigenetic memory. Genes Dev 16(1):6–21. doi:10.1101/gad.947102
- Bissonnette JM, Knopp SJ, Maylie J, Thong T (2007) Autonomic cardiovascular control in methyl-CpG-binding protein 2 (Mecp2) deficient mice. Auton Neurosci 136(1–2):82–89. doi:10.1016/j. autneu.2007.04.007
- Branco MR, Ficz G, Reik W (2012) Uncovering the role of 5-hydroxymethylcytosine in the epigenome. Nat Rev Genet 13(1):7–13. doi:10.1038/nrg3080
- Chahrour M, Jung SY, Shaw C, Zhou X, Wong ST, Qin J, Zoghbi HY (2008) MeCP2, a key contributor to neurological disease, activates and represses transcription. Science 320(5880):1224– 1229. doi:10.1126/science.1153252
- Chu CH, Lo JF, Hu WS, Lu RB, Chang MH, Tsai FJ, Tsai CH, Weng YS, Tzang BS, Huang CY (2012) Histone acetylation is essential for ANG-II-induced IGF-IIR gene expression in H9c2 cardiomyoblast cells and pathologically hypertensive rat heart. J Cell Physiol 227(1):259–268. doi:10.1002/jcp.22728
- Creyghton MP, Cheng AW, Welstead GG, Kooistra T, Carey BW, Steine EJ, Hanna J, Lodato MA, Frampton GM, Sharp PA, Boyer LA, Young RA, Jaenisch R (2010) Histone H3K27ac separates active from poised enhancers and predicts developmental state. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 107(50):21931–21936. doi:10.1073/pnas.1016071107
- De Felice C, Maffei S, Signorini C, Leoncini S, Lunghetti S, Valacchi G, D'Esposito M, Filosa S, Della Ragione F, Butera G, Favilli R, Ciccoli L, Hayek J (2012) Subclinical myocardial dysfunction in Rett syndrome. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging 13(4):339–345. doi:10.1093/ ejechocard/jer256
- Delgado-Olguin P, Huang Y, Li X, Christodoulou D, Seidman CE, Seidman JG, Tarakhovsky A, Bruneau BG (2012) Epigenetic repression of cardiac progenitor gene expression by Ezh2 is required for postnatal cardiac homeostasis. Nat Genet 44(3):343–347. doi:10.1038/ ng.1068
- Du J, Patel DJ (2014) Structural biology-based insights into combinatorial readout and crosstalk among epigenetic marks. Biochim Biophys Acta 1839(8):719–727. doi:10.1016/j.bbagrm. 2014.04.011
- Ebert DH, Gabel HW, Robinson ND, Kastan NR, Hu LS, Cohen S, Navarro AJ, Lyst MJ, Ekiert R, Bird AP, Greenberg ME (2013) Activity-dependent phosphorylation of MeCP2 threonine 308 regulates interaction with NCoR. Nature 499(7458):341–345. doi:10.1038/nature12348
- Eissenberg JC, Elgin SC (2014) HP1a: a structural chromosomal protein regulating transcription. Trends Genet 30(3):103–110. doi:10.1016/j.tig.2014.01.002
- Feng Y, Huang W, Wani M, Yu X, Ashraf M (2014) Ischemic preconditioning potentiates the protective effect of stem cells through secretion of exosomes by targeting Mecp2 via miR-22. PLoS One 9(2), e88685. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0088685

- Fournier A, Sasai N, Nakao M, Defossez PA (2012) The role of methyl-binding proteins in chromatin organization and epigenome maintenance. Brief Funct Genomics 11(3):251–264. doi:10.1093/bfgp/elr040
- Gayatri S, Bedford MT (2014) Readers of histone methylarginine marks. Biochim Biophys Acta 1839(8):702–710. doi:10.1016/j.bbagrm.2014.02.015
- Gillette TG, Hill JA (2015) Readers, writers, and erasers: chromatin as the whiteboard of heart disease. Circ Res 116(7):1245–1253. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.303630
- Gilsbach R, Preissl S, Gruning BA, Schnick T, Burger L, Benes V, Wurch A, Bonisch U, Gunther S, Backofen R, Fleischmann BK, Schubeler D, Hein L (2014) Dynamic DNA methylation orchestrates cardiomyocyte development, maturation and disease. Nat Commun 5:5288. doi:10.1038/ncomms6288
- Grueter CE, van Rooij E, Johnson BA, DeLeon SM, Sutherland LB, Qi X, Gautron L, Elmquist JK, Bassel-Duby R, Olson EN (2012) A cardiac microRNA governs systemic energy homeostasis by regulation of MED13. Cell 149(3):671–683. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2012.03.029
- Guy J, Cheval H, Selfridge J, Bird A (2011) The role of MeCP2 in the brain. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 27:631–652. doi:10.1146/annurev-cellbio-092910-154121
- Haas J, Frese KS, Park YJ, Keller A, Vogel B, Lindroth AM, Weichenhan D, Franke J, Fischer S, Bauer A, Marquart S, Sedaghat-Hamedani F, Kayvanpour E, Kohler D, Wolf NM, Hassel S, Nietsch R, Wieland T, Ehlermann P, Schultz JH, Dosch A, Mereles D, Hardt S, Backs J, Hoheisel JD, Plass C, Katus HA, Meder B (2013) Alterations in cardiac DNA methylation in human dilated cardiomyopathy. EMBO Mol Med 5(3):413–429. doi:10.1002/emmm.201201553
- He A, Ma Q, Cao J, von Gise A, Zhou P, Xie H, Zhang B, Hsing M, Christodoulou DC, Cahan P, Daley GQ, Kong SW, Orkin SH, Seidman CE, Seidman JG, Pu WT (2012) Polycomb repressive complex 2 regulates normal development of the mouse heart. Circ Res 110(3):406–415. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.111.252205
- Hohl M, Wagner M, Reil JC, Muller SA, Tauchnitz M, Zimmer AM, Lehmann LH, Thiel G, Bohm M, Backs J, Maack C (2013) HDAC4 controls histone methylation in response to elevated cardiac load. J Clin Invest 123(3):1359–1370. doi:10.1172/JCI61084
- Hon GC, Rajagopal N, Shen Y, McCleary DF, Yue F, Dang MD, Ren B (2013) Epigenetic memory at embryonic enhancers identified in DNA methylation maps from adult mouse tissues. Nat Genet 45(10):1198–1206. doi:10.1038/ng.2746
- Huang Y, Fang J, Bedford MT, Zhang Y, Xu RM (2006) Recognition of histone H3 lysine-4 methylation by the double tudor domain of JMJD2A. Science 312(5774):748–751. doi:10.1126/ science.1125162
- Jaffe AE, Irizarry RA (2014) Accounting for cellular heterogeneity is critical in epigenome-wide association studies. Genome Biol 15(2):R31. doi:10.1186/gb-2014-15-2-r31
- Jones PA (2012) Functions of DNA methylation: islands, start sites, gene bodies and beyond. Nat Rev Genet 13(7):484–492. doi:10.1038/nrg3230
- Katare R, Riu F, Mitchell K, Gubernator M, Campagnolo P, Cui Y, Fortunato O, Avolio E, Cesselli D, Beltrami AP, Angelini G, Emanueli C, Madeddu P (2011) Transplantation of human pericyte progenitor cells improves the repair of infarcted heart through activation of an angiogenic program involving micro-RNA-132. Circ Res 109(8):894–906. doi:10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.111.251546
- Kelly AE, Ghenoiu C, Xue JZ, Zierhut C, Kimura H, Funabiki H (2010) Survivin reads phosphorylated histone H3 threonine 3 to activate the mitotic kinase Aurora B. Science 330(6001):235– 239. doi:10.1126/science.1189505
- Khrapunov S, Warren C, Cheng H, Berko ER, Greally JM, Brenowitz M (2014) Unusual characteristics of the DNA binding domain of epigenetic regulatory protein MeCP2 determine its binding specificity. Biochemistry 53(21):3379–3391. doi:10.1021/bi500424z
- Koczor CA, Lee EK, Torres RA, Boyd A, Vega JD, Uppal K, Yuan F, Fields EJ, Samarel AM, Lewis W (2013) Detection of differentially methylated gene promoters in failing and nonfailing human left ventricle myocardium using computation analysis. Physiol Genomics 45(14):597–605. doi:10.1152/physiolgenomics.00013.2013

- Kou CY, Lau SL, Au KW, Leung PY, Chim SS, Fung KP, Waye MM, Tsui SK (2010) Epigenetic regulation of neonatal cardiomyocytes differentiation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 400(2):278–283. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2010.08.064
- Krüger M, Kohl T, Linke WA (2006) Developmental changes in passive stiffness and myofilament Ca2+ sensitivity due to titin and troponin-I isoform switching are not critically triggered by birth. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 291:H496–H506
- Kwak H, Lis JT (2013) Control of transcriptional elongation. Annu Rev Genet 47:483–508. doi:10.1146/annurev-genet-110711-155440
- Levkau B, Schafers M, Wohlschlaeger J, von Wnuck Lipinski K, Keul P, Hermann S, Kawaguchi N, Kirchhof P, Fabritz L, Stypmann J, Stegger L, Flogel U, Schrader J, Fischer JW, Hsieh P, Ou YL, Mehrhof F, Tiemann K, Ghanem A, Matus M, Neumann J, Heusch G, Schmid KW, Conway EM, Baba HA (2008) Survivin determines cardiac function by controlling total cardiomyocyte number. Circulation 117(12):1583–1593. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.734160
- Liang L, Cookson WO (2014) Grasping nettles: cellular heterogeneity and other confounders in epigenome-wide association studies. Hum Mol Genet 23(R1):R83–R88. doi:10.1093/hmg/ ddu284
- Lister R, Mukamel EA, Nery JR, Urich M, Puddifoot CA, Johnson ND, Lucero J, Huang Y, Dwork AJ, Schultz MD, Yu M, Tonti-Filippini J, Heyn H, Hu S, Wu JC, Rao A, Esteller M, He C, Haghighi FG, Sejnowski TJ, Behrens MM, Ecker JR (2013) Global epigenomic reconfiguration during mammalian brain development. Science 341(6146):1237905. doi:10.1126/ science.1237905
- Liu W, Ma Q, Wong K, Li W, Ohgi K, Zhang J, Aggarwal AK, Rosenfeld MG (2013) Brd4 and JMJD6-associated anti-pause enhancers in regulation of transcriptional pause release. Cell 155(7):1581–1595. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2013.10.056
- Liu X, Wang X, Bi Y, Bu P, Zhang M (2015) The histone demethylase PHF8 represses cardiac hypertrophy upon pressure overload. Exp Cell Res. doi:10.1016/j.yexcr.2015.04.012
- Maunakea AK, Chepelev I, Cui K, Zhao K (2013) Intragenic DNA methylation modulates alternative splicing by recruiting MeCP2 to promote exon recognition. Cell Res 23(11):1256–1269. doi:10.1038/cr.2013.110
- McCauley MD, Wang T, Mike E, Herrera J, Beavers DL, Huang TW, Ward CS, Skinner S, Percy AK, Glaze DG, Wehrens XH, Neul JL (2011) Pathogenesis of lethal cardiac arrhythmias in Mecp2 mutant mice: implication for therapy in Rett syndrome. Sci Transl Med 3(113):113ra125. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3002982
- Michels KB, Binder AM, Dedeurwaerder S, Epstein CB, Greally JM, Gut I, Houseman EA, Izzi B, Kelsey KT, Meissner A, Milosavljevic A, Siegmund KD, Bock C, Irizarry RA (2013) Recommendations for the design and analysis of epigenome-wide association studies. Nat Methods 10(10):949–955. doi:10.1038/nmeth.2632
- Movassagh M, Choy MK, Knowles DA, Cordeddu L, Haider S, Down T, Siggens L, Vujic A, Simeoni I, Penkett C, Goddard M, Lio P, Bennett MR, Foo RS (2011a) Distinct epigenomic features in end-stage failing human hearts. Circulation 124(22):2411–2422. doi:10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.111.040071
- Movassagh M, Vujic A, Foo R (2011b) Genome-wide DNA methylation in human heart failure. Epigenomics 3(1):103–109. doi:10.2217/epi.10.70
- Nishibuchi G, Nakayama J (2014) Biochemical and structural properties of heterochromatin protein 1: understanding its role in chromatin assembly. J Biochem 156(1):11–20. doi:10.1093/jb/ mvu032
- Nuhrenberg T, Gilsbach R, Preissl S, Schnick T, Hein L (2014) Epigenetics in cardiac development, function, and disease. Cell Tissue Res 356(3):585–600. doi:10.1007/s00441-014-1887-8
- Papait R, Cattaneo P, Kunderfranco P, Greco C, Carullo P, Guffanti A, Vigano V, Stirparo GG, Latronico MV, Hasenfuss G, Chen J, Condorelli G (2013) Genome-wide analysis of histone marks identifying an epigenetic signature of promoters and enhancers underlying cardiac hypertrophy. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 110(50):20164–20169. doi:10.1073/pnas.1315155110
- Patel DJ, Wang Z (2013) Readout of epigenetic modifications. Annu Rev Biochem 82:81–118. doi:10.1146/annurev-biochem-072711-165700

- Porrello ER, Mahmoud AI, Simpson E, Hill JA, Richardson JA, Olson EN, Sadek HA (2011) Transient regenerative potential of the neonatal mouse heart. Science 331(6020):1078–1080. doi:10.1126/science.1200708
- Reik W, Dean W, Walter J (2001) Epigenetic reprogramming in mammalian development. Science 293(5532):1089–1093. doi:10.1126/science.1063443
- Rivera CM, Ren B (2013) Mapping human epigenomes. Cell 155(1):39–55. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2013.09.011
- Rubart M, Field LJ (2006) Cardiac regeneration: repopulating the heart. Annu Rev Physiol 68:29– 49. doi:10.1146/annurev.physiol.68.040104.124530
- Schrickel JW, Lickfett L, Lewalter T, Tiemann K, Nickenig G, Baba H, Heusch G, Schulz R, Levkau B (2012) Cardiomyocyte-specific deletion of survivin causes global cardiac conduction defects. Basic Res Cardiol 107(6):299. doi:10.1007/s00395-012-0299-8
- Senyo SE, Steinhauser ML, Pizzimenti CL, Yang VK, Cai L, Wang M, Wu TD, Guerquin-Kern JL, Lechene CP, Lee RT (2013) Mammalian heart renewal by pre-existing cardiomyocytes. Nature 493(7432):433–436. doi:10.1038/nature11682
- Siedner S, Krüger M, Schroeter M, Metzler D, Roell W, Fleischmann BK, Hescheler J, Pfitzer G, Stehle R (2003) Developmental changes in contractility and sarcomeric proteins from the early embryonic to the adult stage in the mouse heart. J Physiol 548:493–505
- Sim CB, Ziemann M, Kaspi A, Harikrishnan KN, Ooi J, Khurana I, Chang L, Hudson JE, El-Osta A, Porrello ER (2015) Dynamic changes in the cardiac methylome during postnatal development. FASEB J 29(4):1329–1343. doi:10.1096/fj.14-264093
- Song C, Feodorova Y, Guy J, Peichl L, Jost KL, Kimura H, Cardoso MC, Bird A, Leonhardt H, Joffe B, Solovei I (2014) DNA methylation reader MECP2: cell type- and differentiation stagespecific protein distribution. Epigenetics Chromatin 7:17. doi:10.1186/1756-8935-7-17
- Spiltoir JI, Stratton MS, Cavasin MA, Demos-Davies K, Reid BG, Qi J, Bradner JE, McKinsey TA (2013) BET acetyl-lysine binding proteins control pathological cardiac hypertrophy. J Mol Cell Cardiol 63:175–179. doi:10.1016/j.yjmcc.2013.07.017
- Stadler MB, Murr R, Burger L, Ivanek R, Lienert F, Scholer A, van Nimwegen E, Wirbelauer C, Oakeley EJ, Gaidatzis D, Tiwari VK, Schubeler D (2011) DNA-binding factors shape the mouse methylome at distal regulatory regions. Nature 480(7378):490–495. doi:10.1038/ nature10716
- Taverna SD, Li H, Ruthenburg AJ, Allis CD, Patel DJ (2007) How chromatin-binding modules interpret histone modifications: lessons from professional pocket pickers. Nat Struct Mol Biol 14(11):1025–1040. doi:10.1038/nsmb1338
- Wamstad JA, Alexander JM, Truty RM, Shrikumar A, Li F, Eilertson KE, Ding H, Wylie JN, Pico AR, Capra JA, Erwin G, Kattman SJ, Keller GM, Srivastava D, Levine SS, Pollard KS, Holloway AK, Boyer LA, Bruneau BG (2012) Dynamic and coordinated epigenetic regulation of developmental transitions in the cardiac lineage. Cell 151(1):206–220. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2012.07.035
- Yun M, Wu J, Workman JL, Li B (2011) Readers of histone modifications. Cell Res 21(4):564– 578. doi:10.1038/cr.2011.42
- Zhang CL, McKinsey TA, Chang S, Antos CL, Hill JA, Olson EN (2002) Class II histone deacetylases act as signal-responsive repressors of cardiac hypertrophy. Cell 110(4):479–488
- Zhang QJ, Chen HZ, Wang L, Liu DP, Hill JA, Liu ZP (2011) The histone trimethyllysine demethylase JMJD2A promotes cardiac hypertrophy in response to hypertrophic stimuli in mice. J Clin Invest 121(6):2447–2456. doi:10.1172/JCI46277
- Zhuang S, Zhang Q, Zhuang T, Evans SM, Liang X, Sun Y (2013) Expression of Isl1 during mouse development. Gene Expr Patterns 13(8):407–412. doi:10.1016/j.gep.2013.07.001



3

# Epigenetic Regulations in Cardiac Development

Mei Xin and Kunhua Song

# Contents

3.1	Heart Development		54
	3.1.1	Transcriptional Regulation of Cardiac Development	55
3.2	Epigenetic Modifications		60
	3.2.1	DNA Methylation	60
	3.2.2	Histone Modifications	61
3.3	Epigenetic Regulators in Cardiac Development and Disease		63
	3.3.1	H3K4 Methyltransferase	63
	3.3.2	H3K9 Methyltransferase	64
	3.3.3	H3K27 Demethylases	64
	3.3.4	ATP-Dependent Chromatin Remodeling Complexes	65
3.4	.4 Perspective		
Refe	rences.		66

## Abstract

Abnormalities in heart development lead to congenital heart disease affecting  $\sim 1\%$  of newborns. Severe congenital heart disease can cause heart dysfunction at very early development stages, whereas mild heart defects may trigger heart dysfunction until adulthood. The adult mammalian heart has very limited regenerative capacity. Designing therapeutic strategies for congenital heart disease is likely dependent on understanding the mechanisms of heart development. Heart development is orchestrated by complicated biological processes, including signal transduction, transcriptional regulation, and epigenetic regulation. In this chapter, we review the current processes of epigenetic modifications during heart development.

K. Song (🖂)

M. Xin (🖂)

Department of Pediatrics, Cincinnati Children's Hospital, University of Cincinnati, Cincinnati, OH 45229, USA e-mail: mei.xin@cchmc.org

Division of Cardiology, Department of Medicine, University of Colorado School of Medicine, Aurora, CO 80045, USA

Charles C. Gates Center for Regenerative Medicine and Stem Cell Biology, University of Colorado School of Medicine, Aurora, CO 80045, USA e-mail: kunhua.song@ucdenver.edu

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016 J. Backs, T.A. McKinsey (eds.), *Epigenetics in Cardiac Disease*, Cardiac and Vascular Biology 1, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-41457-7\_3

## 3.1 Heart Development

During embryo development, heart formation precedes that of all other organs, providing an essential pump for future circulation and distribution of nutrients and oxygen throughout the embryo. Initiation of heart development occurs following embryonic gastrulation, the formation of three germ layers: ectoderm, mesoderm, and endoderm.

Cardiac development is an orchestrated process that begins with specification of splanchnic mesoderm into cardiogenic mesoderm in the primitive streak stage embryo (Fig. 3.1). At embryonic day 6.5 (E6.5), mouse cardiac progenitor cells form at the anterior region of the primitive streak during gastrulation (Garcia-Martinez and Schoenwolf 1993; Tam et al. 1997). These cells express the transcription factors mesoderm posterior 1 and 2 (Mesp1 and Mesp2), the early cardiac progenitor markers. At E7.5, cardiac progenitor cells migrate in an anterior-lateral direction under the head folds to form two groups of cells on either side of the midline: the cardiac crescent (also called the first heart field or FHF) and the second heart field (SHF) which lies medial and anterior to the FHF. Cardiac precursors at the FHF differentiate and incorporate into the heart tube with low proliferation capability. Transcription factors NKx2.5 and Gata4 are the early genes that are expressed throughout the cardiac progenitors and marked by Isl1, a LIM homeodomain transcription factor. By E8.0, cardiac precursor cells from the FHF migrate



**Fig. 3.1** Mouse heart development. During mouse embryogenesis, heart formation begins with two cardiac progenitor cell populations derived from common progenitors in the mesoderm. At E7.5, the cardiac crescent, which is also referred to as the first heart field (*FHF*), resides anterior to the embryo, with the secondary heart field (*SHF*) located medial and anterior to the cardiac crescent. The FHF contributes to the future left ventricle (*LV*), right atrium (*RA*), and left atrium (*LA*). The SHF contributes to the future right ventricle (*RV*), part of the atria and the outflow tract (*OFT*). By E8.0, cardiac progenitor cells from the FHF migrate to the midline to form a linear heart tube, which is further expanded posteriorly and anteriorly with cells migrating from the SHF, giving rise to arterial pole (*AP*) and the venous pole (*VP*). At E8.5, the linear heart tube undergoes a rightward looping to give rise to primitive ventricles and atria. Neural crest cells migrating from the dorsal neural tube are involved in the septation of the OFT into the aorta (*AO*) and the pulmonary artery (*PA*)

to the midline to form a linear beating heart tube containing cardiomyoctyes and the underlying endothelial cells serve as a scaffold for subsequent heart growth. Blood enters the heart through the inflow tract (venous pole) located at the posterior of the heart tube and exits the heart through the outflow tract (arterial pole) located at the anterior of the heart tube. The elongation of the heart tube is achieved by an active recruitment of the cells from the SHF at both the arterial and venous poles of the heart. At E8.5, the heart tube undergoes uneven growth resulting in a rightward looping, followed by an anterior movement of the venous pole. This leads to the alignment of the primitive ventricles and atria with the inflow and outflow segments at the anterior pole of the heart, which is necessary for the proper development of future cardiac chambers (Garry and Olson 2006; Srivastava 2006). The FHF contributes to the future left ventricle as well as the future right and left atria. The SHF contributes to the future right ventricle, as well as the outflow tract and future right and left atria. Recent genetic study has suggested a third lineage population, the sinus venous progenitors that are positive for Tbx18 and negative for Nkx2.5 (Christoffels et al. 2006; Lepore et al. 2006; Mommersteeg et al. 2010), which contribute to the future conduction system. The subsequent heart maturation process involves valve formation as well as the septum development. At E14.5, the heart is covered by an epithelial layer named epicardium, and chambers are separated by interventricular septum (IVS). At later fetal developmental stages (from E16.5 to the birth), the four chambers are separated by IVS, interatria septum (IAS), and the atrioventricular valves.

Abnormalities in cardiac development lead to congenital heart defect, a defect in heart and vessel structure at birth. Congenital heart defect affects ~1% of newborns. It has been shown that a fraction of congenital heart disease is associated with mutations in genes involved in cardiac development and structures. For examples, some mutations in *Myh6* encoding a cardiomyocyte structure protein  $\alpha$ -myosin heavy chain are associated with atrial septal defects (ASD) (Granados-Riveron et al. 2010). Mutations in cardiac transcription factors including Nkx2-5, GATA4, and Tbx5 are also associated with ASD, ventricular septal defects (VSD), and abnormalities of conduction system (Garry and Olson 2006; Mohan et al. 2014; Reamon-Buettner and Borlak 2004; Stallmeyer et al. 2010; Xiang et al. 2013). Severe congenital heart defects can cause death in childhood or heart failure in adulthood. Therefore, understanding the transcriptional regulatory network during cardiogenesis will shed light on developing therapeutic tools for preventing and treating human congenital heart disease.

### 3.1.1 Transcriptional Regulation of Cardiac Development

The process of cardiac development is precisely regulated through activating and inhibitory pathways spanning multiple tissues. Recent studies have implicated many signaling pathways and transcriptional regulations involved, though more complicated molecular mechanisms need to be uncovered to better understand the process. It has been suggested that inductive signals such as bone morphorgenetic protein (BMP), Notch, and fibroblast growth factor (FGF), are important to promote cardiomyocyte fate commitment, and balance cardiac differentiation and progenitor cell expansion (Klaus et al. 2007; Prall et al. 2007). For example, Notch1 activity is required for cardiac progenitor cell differentiation and for impeding the expansion of cardiac progenitor cells (Kwon et al. 2009). Wnt signaling promotes early cardiogenesis and plays an inhibitory role later as cardiomyocyte differentiation occurs. The Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin dependent expansion of cardiac progenitors requires the down-regulation of genes promoting cardiomyocyte differentiation (Kwon et al. 2007, 2009; Naito et al. 2006).

These complex signaling networks control cardiogenesis via downstream transcription factors, which regulate cardiac gene expression to influence differentiation, proliferation, and cell migration. It has been shown that evolutionarily conserved regulatory machinery consisting of a network of core transcription factors activated by upstream signaling regulates the expression of genes required for heart growth and morphogenesis during heart development (Olson 2006). Transcription factors Nkx2-5, MEF2, GATA, Tbx, and Hand are the key players in this core regulatory network. The T-box transcription factor eomesodermin (Eomes), expressed in the earliest cardiac precursor, induces cardiac mesoderm by activating the helix-loop-helix transcription factors Mesp1 and Mesp2, which regulate cardiac specification and migration (Bondue and Blanpain 2010; Bondue et al. 2008; Kitajima et al. 2000; Saga et al. 1999). Cardiogenic signals and Mesp transcription factors are able to activate the transcription factor Nkx2-5, which is necessary for specification of the cardiac lineage and activation of other transcription factors such as the myocyte differentiation gene (Mef2), and a zinc finger-containing transcription factor, GATA4 (Bodmer 1993; Gajewski et al. 1998; Harvey 1996). Cardiac transcription factors are able to physically interact with each other and bind to the same regulatory region in the genome, synergistically activating cardiac gene expression (Bruneau et al. 2001; Garg et al. 2003; Ghosh et al. 2001; He et al. 2011; Hiroi et al. 2001).

#### 3.1.1.1 Nkx2-5

The homeobox gene *Nkx2-5*, one of the earliest genes expressed in the cardiac lineage, is activated by the inductive signals for cardiogenesis initiation, and is expressed in the cardiogenic mesoderm upon specification of the lineage (Komuro and Izumo 1993; Lints et al. 1993; Prall et al. 2007; Stanley et al. 2002). Nkx2.5 is expressed early in the cardiac crescent, later in both the FHF and SHF, and remains expressed in the adult heart. *Nkx2-5*, whose *Drosophila* orthologue is the *Tinman* gene, is evolutionarily conserved and has been shown to be necessary for specification of the cardiac lineage in flies (Bodmer 1993; Gajewski et al. 1998). Unlike the *Tinman* gene in Drsophila, *Nkx2-5* in mice is not required for the initial events of cardiogenesis. Mice lacking *Nkx2-5* are embryonically lethal between E9 and E10. Cardiac specification is not affected, and the heart tube was formed in the mutant embryos. However, the morphogenesis of the heart tube and left ventricular development failed to occur (Lyons et al. 1995). This suggests that other *Nkx* genes may play redundant roles in controlling early cardiac development. In humans, mutations of the *NKX2-5* gene have been associated with congenital heart disease (Schott et al. 1998). Ventriclular deletion of *Nkx2.5* leads to defects in the conduction system (Pashmforoush et al. 2004). Nkx2.5 negatively regulates cardiac inductive genes such as *BMP2* to inhibit cardiac progenitor cell expansion, is essential in balancing SHF progenitor cell proliferation and differentiation, and is required for maintaining morphogenesis of OFT (Prall et al. 2007). Overexpression of *Nkx2-5* in zebrafish or frog embryos results in upregulation of cardiac gene expression and expansion of the heart field (Chen and Fishman 1996; Cleaver et al. 1996).

#### 3.1.1.2 GATA

GATA transcription factors contain two class IV zinc finger domains, and bind to HGATAR DNA motifs. They can be divided into two subgroups. *GATA1*, *GATA2*, and *GATA3* are expressed predominantly in hematopoietic cells, and regulate differentiation-specific gene expression in T-lymphocytes, erythroid cells, and megakaryocytes (Orkin et al. 1998). Subgroup 2 consists of *GATA4*, *GATA5*, and *GATA6*, which are expressed in several endodermal and mesodermal lineages, such as the developing heart, liver, lung, gonad, and gut. They play critical roles in regulating tissue-specific gene expression (Molkentin 2000).

Null mutations in the Drosophila *GATA4* orthologue, *pannier* (Reiter et al. 1999), or mouse *GATA4* (Kuo et al. 1997; Molkentin et al. 1997) result in early defects in cardiogenesis. Mouse embryos lacking *GATA4* die at E8.5 due to cardiac bifida and failure of ventral foregut closure. Early cardiac-specific deletion of *GATA4* also results in myocardial thinning, abnormal endocardial cushion development, and right ventricular hypoplasia (Zeisberg et al. 2005), while cardiac-specific deletion at later time points results in reduced cardiac function and an inability to undergo hypertrophy following pressure overload or exercise (Oka et al. 2006).

Dose-sensitivity of *GATA4* in regulating cardiac function has been revealed. Reduction in *GATA4* dosage from a hypomorphic *GATA4* allele causes cardiac septal and other congenital heart defects (Pu et al. 2004). Heterozygous mutations in *GATA4* are also associated with congenital heart defects in humans (Garg et al. 2003). These mutations not only reduced GATA4 DNA binding affinity and transcriptional activity of downstream target genes, but also disrupt the interaction between GATA4 and Tbx5, suggesting interactions between GATA4 is an important cardiac lineage marker. Specifically, GATA4 not only regulates the expression of genes critical for cardiac contractility, such as  $\alpha$ -*MHC* and  $\beta$ -*MHC* (Charron et al. 1999), but also the expression of important cardiac transcription factors, such as Nkx2.5, MEF2, and Hand2 (Dodou et al. 2004; Jiang et al. 1999; Lien et al. 1999; McFadden et al. 2000; Molkentin et al. 1997; Nemer and Nemer 2001, 2003; Pikkarainen et al. 2004; Reecy et al. 1999).

*GATA6* null mice die post implantation due to defects in visceral endoderm function and extra embryonic development (Morrisey et al. 1998). Tetraploid rescue experiments implicate a role for GATA6 in liver differentiation and growth, and suggest that GATA4 provides functional redundancy in liver specification (Zhao et al. 2005). Tissue-specific deletion of *GATA6* in smooth muscle or the neural crest suggests a role for this factor in patterning the cardiac OFT and the aortic arch (Lepore et al. 2006). To date, defects in myocardial development have not been observed in *GATA6* mutant mice.

Moreover, in vitro studies suggest GATA4 and GATA6 interact and function synergistically in activating atrial natriuretic factor (*ANF*) and *BNP* gene expression in cardiomyocytes (Charron et al. 1999). Furthermore, GATA4 and 6 have been shown to be sufficient in driving extraembryonic endoderm differentiation in embryonic stem cells, suggesting a critical role for these factors in early development. GATA4 and GATA6 play redundant roles in cardiogenesis. Compound heterozygous mutations in *GATA4* and *GATA6* genes results in embryonic lethality at E13.5, accompanied by a spectrum of defects in liver development, hematopoiesis, and the cardiovascular system (Xin et al. 2006). Loss of both alleles of GATA4 and GATA6 totally blocks cardiomyocyte differentiation and heart development (Zhao et al. 2008).

#### 3.1.1.3 MEF2

The myocyte enhance factor 2 (MEF2) belongs to the family of MADS box transcription factors, which play critical roles in muscle development (Gossett et al. 1989), chondrocyte maturation (Arnold et al. 2007), and brain development (Flavell et al. 2006; Mao et al. 1999). The four members of the MEF2 protein family (MEF2A-D) share similar protein structures consisting of the MADS box followed by the MEF2 domain, which mediates dimerization, and the transactivation domain, which mediates the protein-protein interaction with activators or repressors.

MEF2C is the first detectable *Mef2* gene during cardiogenesis. It is detected in the early precardiac mesoderm of the FHF and SHF at E7.5 (Dodou et al. 2004). *MEF2* enhancer studies have identified a cardiac-specific enhancer for the SHF containing GATA and Isl1 consensus binding sites. Mutations of these sites disrupt *MEF2C* expression in the SHF. MEF2C could also be regulated by FoxH1 and Nkx2.5 through another regulatory element (von Both et al. 2004).

*MEF2C* knockout mice die at E9.5 with severe cardiovascular defects (Lin et al. 1997, 1998), including failure of cardiac looping, pericardial effusion, and disorganized vessel formation. This phenotype suggests a role for *MEF2C* in the SHF, which leads to an undeveloped right ventricle, and a short OFT. The absence of sinus venousus in the MEF2C mutant suggests that MEF2C plays an important role in the SHF contribution to the venous and arterial poles during heart development. Some cardiac markers for heart development such as cardiac  $\alpha$ -actin, Mlc1A, and Hand2 are significantly down-regulated in *MEF2C* null embryos.

*MEF2A* null mice die within the first two weeks of birth due to cardiac dilation and right ventricle failure, associated with a decrease in the number and dysfunction of mitochondria in cardiomyocytes (Naya et al. 2002).

## 3.1.1.4 Tbx

T-box transcription factors (Tbx) direct transcription of their target genes in different tissues via binding to the consensus sequence GGTGT by their highly conserved DNA binding domain T-box. Out of the 18 T-box proteins in mice, Tbx1, Tbx2, Tbx3, Tbx5, Tbx18, and Tbx20 are expressed in the developing heart. T-box proteins are essential for early cardiac lineage determination, chamber formation, and differentiation of the specialized conduction system. Tbx transcription factors are able to regulate cardiac gene expression and development by physically interacting with other core cardiac factors including Nkx2-5 and GATA4 (Stennard et al. 2003). *TBX1, TBX3, TBX5*, and *TBX20* are associated with human congenital heart diseases and cardiac dialated cardiomyopathy (Alby et al. 2013; Kirk et al. 2007; Merscher et al. 2001; Mori and Bruneau 2004; Postma et al. 2008; Yagi et al. 2003).

Tbx1 is expressed in the endoderm and core mesoderm of the pharyngeal arches, contributing to the myocardial wall OFT and part of the right ventricle. Contribution of the SHF to the OFT is diminished in Tbx1 null mice suggesting that Tbx1 is required for the promoting SHF cell proliferation and contribution to the OFT (Xu et al. 2004).

Tbx5 is expressed in the precardiac venous mesoderm, and is essential for development of inflow tract, atrioventricular canal, and left ventricular myocardium. Mice lacking the *Tbx5* gene die at E9.5 with a deformed linear heart tube acompanied by a hypoplastic posterior heart segment (Bruneau et al. 2001). *ANF* and *Connexin 40* (*Cx40*) are down-regulated in *Tbx5* mutant mice. Moreover, Tbx5 interacts with other important cardiac transcription factors, such as Nkx2-5 and GATA, to synergize transcriptional efficacy (Bruneau et al. 2001; Garg et al. 2003).

Tbx2 and Tbx3 are expressed in primary myocardial cells (Yamada et al. 2000). Mice lacking Tbx2 display a defect in chamber formation and OFT morphogenesis. In the atrioventricular canal, Tbx2 antagonizes Tbx5 function by competing with Tbx5 for DNA binding and gene regulation (Yamada et al. 2000).

Tbx20 is expressed in the cardaic cresent and looping heart tube and is required for development from the heart tube to the four chamber organ (Chakraborty and Yutzey 2012; Singh et al. 2005). Deletion of *Tbx20* in mice leads to hypoplastic heart tissue and death at E10.5 (Singh et al. 2005). Ablation of *Tbx20* in adult cardiomyocytes results in cardiac dysfunction, progressing to heart failure and death through dys-regulating expression of genes important for excitation-contraction function in cardiomyocytes (Shen et al. 2011). During cardiomyogenesis, Tbx20 is able to regulate gene expression by physically interacting with other transcription factors including GATA4, GATA5, Nkx2-5, and Tbx5 (Brown et al. 2005; Stennard et al. 2003).

#### 3.1.1.5 Hand

The basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) family of transcription factors have been shown to play important roles in specification, differentiation, and morphogenesis during embryogenesis (Massari and Murre 2000). Hand1 (heart and neural crest derivatives expressed transcript 1, or (eHand) and Hand2 (also referred to dHand) are among the earliest cardiac chamber-specific transcription factors (Cserjesi et al. 1995; Srivastava et al. 1995, 1997). Hand1 is first detected at the cardiac cresent stage, and later exclusively in the outer curvatures of the left ventricle and OFT (Biben and Harvey 1997; Srivastava et al. 1997). In contrast, Hand2 expression in the heart is detected in the right ventricle. *Hand1* null mouse embryos die at E8.0 due to severe extraembryonic defects. In contrast, targeted deletion of *Hand2* results in

embryonic lethality at E10.5 due to cardiac and vascular defects (Srivastava et al. 1997; Yamagishi et al. 2000). Furthermore, these mice display right ventricular hypoplasia. This suggests that the *Hand2* gene is essential for morphogenesis of the right ventricle, and formation of the neural crest-derived aortic arches. Deletion of both *Hand1* and *Hand2* results in a more dramatic phenotype where only one chamber is formed, which expresses atrial genes and lacks expression of ventricular genes. These results suggest that *Hand1* and *Hand2* genes are required for proper left and right ventricle formation respectively.

# 3.2 Epigenetic Modifications

Heart development is orchestrated by a network of transcription factors. Transcription factors bind to their DNA recognition elements located in enhancer and promoter regions of cardiac genes, which recruits coactivators and facilitates the formation of the preinitiation complex (PIC) containing RNA polymerase II (Green 2005). Accessibility of transcription factors to binding sites on chromosomes is modulated by conformational changes of nucleosomes, a basic unit of chromatin. Nucleosome is composed of ~147 base pairs of DNA packed in left-hand superhelical turns around the histone octamer, which consists of two copies each of the core histones H2A, H2B, H3, and H4 (Luger et al. 1997).

Epigenetic regulation is defined as genetic changes not caused by changes in DNA sequence. Chromatin regulations include DNA methylation, histone modifications, and ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling, and are fundamental in cell fate determination during embryonic development. Dynamic change of epigenetic signatures during mammalian cardiogenesis has been studied using embryonic stem (ES) cells (Paige et al. 2012; Wamstad et al. 2012). In ES cells, cardiomyocyte lineage genes are silent. A majority of cardiomyocyte transcription factor genes such as Nkx2-5 and *Tbx5* in pluripotent cells are marked by high levels of the repressive histone marker H3K27me3, which gradually decreases during differentiation into cardiomyocyte lineage. Conversely, the active marker H3K4me3 and mRNA transcript level gradually increase during cardiac differentiation (Paige et al. 2012). Genes encoding cardiac structural proteins including Myh6 and cardiac  $\alpha$ -actin are marked by neither H3K4me3 nor H3K27me3. During cardiac differentiation, H3K4me3 levels at these gene loci gradually increase (Paige et al. 2012; Wamstad et al. 2012) (Fig. 3.2). These studies suggest that epigenetic modifications are involved in cardiac gene expression, cardiomyocyte specification, and differentiation. In the following sections, we will discuss the roles of epigenetic regulators in cardiac development and disease.

## 3.2.1 DNA Methylation

DNA methylation is a well characterized process where a methyl group (-CH3) is added to the 5 position of the cytosine pyrimidine ring within cytosine-guanine (CpG) dinucleotides in the genome, leading to 5-methylcytosine (5mC). The 5mC



**Fig. 3.2** Chromatin modifications at cardiac gene loci during differentiation of embryonic stem cells into cardiomyocytes. The levels of histone modifications H3K27me3 (repressive) and H3K4me3 (active) at regions around cardiac transcription factor genes *Nkx2-5* and *Tbx5* (*left*), and structure proteins *Myh6* and *ACTC1* (*right*) in embryonic stem cells (ES cells), and cardiomyocytes (Paige et al. (2012) and Wamstad et al. (2012))

is typically associated with repressed gene expression in examined vertebrates. In mammals, more than 60% of all CpG are methylated (Ehrlich et al. 1982). The enzymes catalyzing DNA methylation belong to a family of DNA methyltransferase (DNMTs). DNMT1 is the most abundant and the key DNA methyltransferase in mammals. Deletion of Dnmt1 in mice leads to decreased 5mC levels and embryonic lethality (Li et al. 1992). DNMT3, composed of DNMT3a and DNMT3b, is able to methylate hemimethylated and unmethylated CpG at a rate much slower than DNMT1 (Goll and Bestor 2005). Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b knockout decreased de novo DNA methylation in ES cells, and resulted in embryonic lethality before E11.5 (Okano et al. 1999). The 5mC can be oxidized to 5-hydroxymethylcytosine (5hmC) by TET (ten-eleven translocation) family enzymes. The 5hmC is a key intermediate in DNA demethylation via either DNA replication or iterative oxidation and the thymine DNA glycosylase (TDG)-mediated base excision repair (BER) pathway (Fig. 3.3a) (Kohli and Zhang 2013). Depletion of TET family members, Tet1, Tet2, and Tet3 results in DNA hypermethylation and impairs mouse development (Dawlaty et al. 2014), which suggests a critical role of Tet-mediated 5hmC in DNA methylation and development.

#### 3.2.2 Histone Modifications

Histones are subject to various posttranscriptional modifications including acetylation, methylation, and ADP-ribosylation of lysine, ubiquitylation/sumoylation, phosphorylation of serine and threonine, and citrullination of arginine (Bannister and Kouzarides 2011; Christophorou et al. 2014). These changes in histone structure are essential in the regulation of gene expression. The most studied histone modifications are lysine acetylation/deacetylation, catalyzed by histone acetyltransferases/histone deacetylases, and lysine methylation/demethylation, catalyzed by



**Fig. 3.3** Reversible chromatin modifications. (a) Methylation at 5-cytosine (5mC, in *Red*) of DNA is added by DNA methyltransferases (*DNMTs*). TET family members are involved in DNA demethylation by converting 5mC to 5-hydroxymethylcytosine (5hmC, in *Purple*). Histone methyltransferases and histone demethylases control the levels of active H3K4me3 (b), and repressive H3K9me3 (c) and H3k27me3 (d)

histone methyltransferases/histone demethylases (Mckinsey 2012; Klose and Zhang 2007). Effects of lysine acetylation and deacetylation on cardiovascular function have been broadly discussed in other chapters. Here, we focus on roles of histone methylation and demethylation in cardiac development.

# 3.2.2.1 H3K4me3

Trimethylation of lysine 4 on histone H3 (H3K4me3) is a histone code marking active transcription of the gene. In human ES cells, H3K4me3 marks two thirds of total genes (Zhao et al. 2007). Modification of H3K4me3 in promoters of pluripotent genes such as *OCT3/4*, *SOX2*, and *NANOG* correlates with activation of these genes, which indicates that H3K4me3 is a key histone code to maintain pluripotency of hESCs (Pan et al. 2007). Dynamics of H3K4 methylation is mediated by several SET (Su(var)3-9, Enhancer of zeste, Trithorax) domain containing methyl-transferases such as mixed lineage leukemia 1-5 (MLL1-5), SET1A/B, SET7/9, and Smyd family (SET And MYND Domain-Containing Protein) (Martin and Zhang 2005). Jumonji C (JmjC)-domain-containing JARID1 protein family including RBP2/JARID1A, PLU1/JARID1B, and SMCX/JARID1C function as histone demethylases to remove methyl group from di- or tri-methylation of H3K4 (Christensen et al. 2007; Yamane et al. 2007) (Fig. 3.3b).

# 3.2.2.2 H3K9me3

Trimethylation of lysine 9 on histone H3 (H3K9me3) is a repressive marker associated with gene silencing. H3K9me3 is a constitutive heterochromatin mark in terminally differentiated cells. H3K9 methyltransferases including Ehmt1/GLP (euchromatic histone-Lysine N-methyltransferase 1), Ehmt2/G9a, Setdb1 (SET Domain, Bifurcated 1), and Suv39h1/2 (Suppressor of Variegation 3-9 Homolog 1 (Drosophila)) regulate global levels of H3K9me3 (Sridharan et al. 2013). H3K9me3 level is critical to maintain differentiated cell fate of fibroblasts. Reduction of H3K9 methylation by knocking down H3K9 methyltransferases including Suv39H1/H2, Ehmt1, Ehmt2, and Setdb1 enhances reprogramming fibroblasts into pluripotent stem cells (Soufi et al. 2012; Sridharan et al. 2013). Demethylation of H3K9 is maintained by several members of the JmjC domain-containing histone demethylase family. For example, KDM3 (also known as JHDM2) or Jumonji domain containing 1 (JMJD1) members are involved in demethylation of mono- or di-methylation on H3K9 is catalyzed by enzymes of the KDM4 subfamily (also known as JHDM3 or JMJD2) (Whetstine et al. 2006) (Fig. 3.3c).

#### 3.2.2.3 H3K27me3

Polycomb repressor complex 2 (PRC2), is composed of three subunits: enhancer of zeste 2 (Ezh2), embryonic ectoderm development (Eed) and suppressor of zeste 12 (Suz12), and methylate lysine 27 on histone H3 (H3K27) to generate mono-, di-, and trimethylation of H3K27 (Simon and Kingston 2013). H3K27me3 functions as a docking site for Polycomb group (PcG) repressor complex 1 (PRC1) to repress gene expression (Simon and Kingston 2013). Removal of a methyl group from H3K27me3 is mediated by H3K27 demethylases including the JmjC domain-containing protein ubiquitously transcribed tetratricopeptide repeat X chromosome (UTX), as well as Jmjd3 (Hong et al. 2007; Agger et al. 2007) (Fig. 3.3d).

#### 3.2.2.4 ATP-Dependent Chromatin Remodeling

ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling complexes control gene expression by moving, destabilizing, and reassembling nucleosomes. Energy produced by ATP hydrolysis is used to disrupt or alter interactions between histones and DNA, leading to altered accessibility of transcription factors to regulatory regions of genes. ATPdependent chromatin remodeling members share a conserved ATPase domain, but bear unique flanking domains, which categorize them into four distinct families: SWI/SNF (switching defective/sucrose nonfermenting) family, ISWI (imitation switch) family, CHD (chromodomain, helicase, DNA binding) family, and INO80 (inositol requiring 80) family (Clapier and Cairns 2009; Ho and Crabtree 2010).

# 3.3 Epigenetic Regulators in Cardiac Development and Disease

#### 3.3.1 H3K4 Methyltransferase

SmyD1a and SmyD1b, alternative splicing products of the *SmyD* gene in zebrafish function as H3K4 methyltransferases to generate mono-, di-, or trimethylation on H3K4 (Tan et al. 2006). SmyD1 is required for myofibril organization and cardiac contraction (Tan et al. 2006). Targeted deletion of *SmyD1* in mice leads to

embryonic lethality due to several cardiac defects including ventricular hypoplasia, enlarged ventricular chambers, defects in cardiomyocyte maturation, and malformation of right ventricle (Gottlieb et al. 2002). During right ventricle development, *SmyD1* is a downstream target of transcript factor MEF2C and an upstream regulator of the transcript factor Hand2 (Gottlieb et al. 2002; Phan et al. 2005).

Mll2 is a member of trithorax group (TrxG) family and functions as an H3K4 methyltransferase. Mutations in human *Mll2* gene have been linked to Kabuki syndrome (Ng et al. 2010). Half of examined Kabuki patients showed the cardiac defects ASD and VSD (Ng et al. 2010). Global deletion of *Mll2* in mice resulted in embryonic lethality before E11.5 (Glaser et al. 2006). Deletion of *Mll2* in ES cells did not block differentiation into cardiac lineage, but delay maturation of contractile cardiomyocytes (Lubitz et al. 2007). Specific deletion of *Mll2* in cardiac lineage cells will be helpful to further understand its roles in cardiomyogenesis.

#### 3.3.2 H3K9 Methyltransferase

G9a and GLP are known H3K9 methyltransferases and contribute to gene silencing (Sridharan et al. 2013). Deletion of G9a or GLP by gene targeting led to embryonic lethality around E9.5 due to growth defects (Tachibana et al. 2002, 2005). In cardiac specific GLP knockout and G9a knockdown (*GLP*-KO/*G9a*-KD) mice, H3K9me2 greatly decreased in cardiomyocytes (Inagawa et al. 2013). Remarkably, *GLP*-KO/*G9a*-KD mice had severe atrioventricular septal defects (AVSD) and died just after birth (Inagawa et al. 2013). Gene expression profiling showed that a few non-cardiac genes were up-regulated in *GLP*-KO/*G9a*-KD mice, indicative of important roles of H3K9 methylation in cardiomyocyte specification.

## 3.3.3 H3K27 Demethylases

So far, UTX (also known as KDM6A) and JMJD3 (also known as KDM6B) are the only known demethylases to remove methyl groups from H3K27me3. UTX and JMJD3 remodel chromatin through either demethylation of H3K27me3 or demethylase-independent mechanisms (Hong et al. 2007; Lan et al. 2007; Agger et al. 2007; Miller et al. 2010; Shpargel et al. 2014; Wang et al. 2012).

JmjC-domain-containing protein, UTX, is able to remove methyl groups from H3K4me2 or H3K4me3 (Hong et al. 2007; Lan et al. 2007). UTX is highly expressed in the heart during mouse embryonic development (Lee et al. 2012), suggesting a potential role in cardiac development. UTX-null ES cells failed to differentiate into beating embryonic bodies (EB), and expression of cardiac specific genes was inhibited (Lee et al. 2012). UTX-null embryos died before E11 (Lee et al. 2012). At E9.0, the tubular heart in mouse embryos undergoes looping and forms separated atrial and ventricular chambers. However, UTX-null embryo hearts remained tubular structures and lacked atrial-ventricular chamber formation. In addition, the neural tube in UTX-null embryos could not close (Lee et al. 2012; Shpargel et al. 2014;

Wang et al. 2012). UTX physically interacts with cardiac transcription factors including Nkx2-5, Tbx5, GATA4, which recruits the UTX complex to enhancer regions and activates cardiac gene expression during cardiac differentiation (Lee et al. 2012; Shpargel et al. 2014). Physical interaction between UTX and Brg1 (Brahma Protein-Like 1, also known as SMARCA4), a component of the SWI/SNF ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling complex, raises a hypothesis that cross-talk between multiple classes of epigenetic regulators mediate cardiomyocyte specification and differentiation (Lee et al. 2012; Shpargel et al. 2014).

Inactivation of Jmjd3 by gene trap in mice leads to perinatal lethality due to respiratory failure. Interestingly, ES cells in this system expressed nearly half the amount of Jmjd3 as wild type control cells, indicative of a hypomorphic mutation (Burgold et al. 2012). Deletion of Jmjd3 by gene targeting completely abolished Jmjd3 expression in Jmjd3<sup>-/-</sup> ES cells (Ohtani et al. 2013). Jmjd3<sup>-/-</sup> embryos died before E6.5 (Ohtani et al. 2013). During ES cell differentiation, Jmjd3 is recruited to the promoter of *Brachyury*, a pan-mesoderm marker, to reduce H3K27me3 levels. Jmjd3 physically interacts with  $\beta$ -catenin, a key component of Wnt signaling pathway. Deletion of *Jmjd3* impairs differentiation of ES cells into mesoderm and cardiac lineages including endothelium and cardiomyocytes in vitro (Ohtani et al. 2013). Specific deletion of Jmjd3 in cardiomyocyte-lineage by Nkx2-5-cre or Myh6-cre is required to fully understand function of Jmjd3 in cardiomyogenesis.

#### 3.3.4 ATP-Dependent Chromatin Remodeling Complexes

The BAF (Brg1/Brm-associated-factor) complex, composed of 12 subunits, is one of two types of SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling complex in vertebrates (Ho and Crabtree 2010). The other type is PBAF (polybromo-associated BAF).

In mammals, the BAF complex includes one of two ATPases, Brg1 and Brm. Brm is not necessary for mouse development (Reyes et al. 1998), whereas Brg1 is required for embryogenesis (Bultman et al. 2000). Deletion of *Brg1* in cardiomyocytes by Nkx2-5-cre resulted in embryonic lethality before E10.5. Those embryos showed small chamber size and impaired cardiac looping (Takeuchi et al. 2011). The few Brg1-null mice who survived through birth had dilated ventricular chambers and ventricular septation defects (VSD) (Takeuchi et al. 2011). Half of *Brg1* haploinsufficient mice *Brg1*<sup>±</sup> died before 3 weeks of age. These *Brg1*<sup>±</sup> mice had congenital heart defects (CHD) such as a dilated heart, VSD, and ASD. *Brg1* haploinsufficient mice that survived the neonatal period showed abnormalities in cardiac function such as impaired cardiac relaxation, slow and irregular heart conduction determined by atrioventricular block, mild prolongation of the QRS complex, and occasional sinus node dysfunction (Takeuchi et al. 2011). Brg1 genetically interacts with key cardiac transcription factors such as Tbx5 and Nkx2-5 to activate cardiac gene expression at least in part via Baf60c (Takeuchi et al. 2011).

Baf60c is specifically expressed in heart and somites during early mouse embryogenesis. Knockdown of Baf60c in mouse embryos led to lethality at E10–E11. These mutant embryos showed shortened OFT, hypoplastic atria and right ventricle,
and lack of the atrioventricular canal (Lickert et al. 2004). The SWI/SNF ATPase Brg1 weakly interacts with cardiac transcription factor GATA4, but no direct interaction between Brg1 and key cardiac transcription factors Tbx5 and Nkx2-5 have been observed. However, expression of Baf60c initiates and enhances association of Brg1 and Tbx5, Nkx2-5, and GATA4 (Lickert et al. 2004). Therefore, Baf60c functions as a mediator to promote interactions of cardiac transcription factors and BAF complexes. Forming complexes composed of cardiac transcription factors and chromatin remodeling regulators specifically potentiates activation of cardiac genes during heart development.

#### 3.4 Perspective

Cardiac development is tightly regulated by networks of epigenetic regulators and transcription factors. More and more studies show that physiological interactions of epigenetic regulators and cardiac transcription factors orchestrate cardiac specification, differentiation, morphogenesis, and chamber formation. Malformations during cardiac development lead to congenital heart disease. Studies on the interaction networks of cardiac transcription factors and epigenetic regulators may lead to finding cures for congenital heart disease.

**Acknowledgments** We thank Andrew Riching for critical reading. X.M. was supported by NIH (R01HL132211). K.S was supported by NIH (R01HL133230), American Heart Association (13SDG17400031), and Boettcher Foundation.

Conflict of Interest The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

## References

- Agger K, Cloos PA, Christensen J, Pasini D, Rose S, Rappsilber J, Issaeva I, Canaani E, Salcini AE, Helin K (2007) UTX and JMJD3 are histone H3K27 demethylases involved in HOX gene regulation and development. Nature 449:731–734
- Alby C, Bessieres B, Bieth E, Attie-Bitach T, Fermont L, Citony I, Razavi F, Vekemans M, Escande F, Manouvrier S et al (2013) Contiguous gene deletion of TBX5 and TBX3 leads to a varible phenotype with combined features of Holt-Oram and ulnar-mammary syndromes. Am J Med Genet A 161A:1797–1802
- Arnold MA, Kim Y, Czubryt MP, Phan D, McAnally J, Qi X, Shelton JM, Richardson JA, Bassel-Duby R, Olson EN (2007) MEF2C transcription factor controls chondrocyte hypertrophy and bone development. Dev Cell 12:377–389
- Bannister AJ, Kouzarides T (2011) Regulation of chromatin by histone modifications. Cell Res 21:381–395
- Biben C, Harvey RP (1997) Homeodomain factor Nkx2-5 controls left/right asymmetric expression of bHLH gene eHand during murine heart development. Genes Dev 11:1357–1369
- Bodmer R (1993) The gene tinman is required for specification of the heart and visceral muscles in Drosophila. Development 118:719–729
- Bondue A, Lapouge G, Paulissen C, Semeraro C, Iacovino M, Kyba M, Blanpain C (2008) Mesp1 acts as a master regulator of multipotent cardiovascular progenitor specification. Cell Stem Cell 3:69–84

- Bondue A, Blanpain C (2010) Mesp1: a key regulator of cardiovascular lineage commitment. Circ Res 107:1414–1427
- Brown DD, Martz SN, Binder O, Goetz SC, Price BM, Smith JC, Conlon FL (2005) Tbx5 and Tbx20 act synergistically to control vertebrate heart morphogenesis. Development 132: 553–563
- Bruneau BG, Nemer G, Schmitt JP, Charron F, Robitaille L, Caron S, Conner DA, Gessler M, Nemer M, Seidman CE et al (2001) A murine model of Holt-Oram syndrome defines roles of the T-box transcription factor Tbx5 in cardiogenesis and disease. Cell 106:709–721
- Bultman S, Gebuhr T, Yee D, La Mantia C, Nicholson J, Gilliam A, Randazzo F, Metzger D, Chambon P, Crabtree G et al (2000) A Brg1 null mutation in the mouse reveals functional differences among mammalian SWI/SNF complexes. Mol Cell 6:1287–1295
- Burgold T, Voituron N, Caganova M, Tripathi PP, Menuet C, Tusi BK, Spreafico F, Bévengut M, Gestreau C, Buontempo S et al (2012) The H3K27 demethylase JMJD3 is required for maintenance of the embryonic respiratory neuronal network, neonatal breathing, and survival. Cell Rep 2:1244–1258
- Chakraborty S, Yutzey KE (2012) Tbx20 regulation of cardiac cell proliferation and lineage specialization during embryonic and fetal development in vivo. Dev Biol 363:234–246
- Christophorou MA, Castelo-Branco G, Halley-Stott RP, Oliveira CS, Loos R, Radzisheuskaya A, Mowen KA, Bertone P, Silva JC, Zernicka-Goetz M et al (2014) Citrullination regulates pluripotency and histone H1 binding to chromatin. Nature 507:104–108
- Charron F, Paradis P, Bronchain O, Nemer G, Nemer M (1999) Cooperative interaction between GATA-4 and GATA-6 regulates myocardial gene expression. Mol Cell Biol 19:4355–4365
- Chen JN, Fishman MC (1996) Zebrafish tinman homolog demarcates the heart field and initiates myocardial differentiation. Development 122:3809–3816
- Christensen J, Agger K, Cloos PA, Pasini D, Rose S, Sennels L, Rappsilber J, Hansen KH, Salcini AE, Helin K (2007) RBP2 belongs to a family of demethylases, specific for tri-and dimethylated lysine 4 on histone 3. Cell 128:1063–1076
- Christoffels VM, Mommersteeg MT, Trowe MO, Prall OW, de Gier-de Vries C, Soufan AT, Bussen M, Schuster-Gossler K, Harvey RP, Moorman AF et al (2006) Formation of the venous pole of the heart from an Nkx2-5-negative precursor population requires Tbx18. Circ Res 98: 1555–1563
- Clapier CR, Cairns BR (2009) The biology of chromatin remodeling complexes. Annu Rev Biochem 78:273–304
- Cleaver OB, Patterson KD, Krieg PA (1996) Overexpression of the tinman-related genes XNkx-2.5 and XNkx-2.3 in Xenopus embryos results in myocardial hyperplasia. Development 122:3549–3556
- Cserjesi P, Brown D, Lyons GE, Olson EN (1995) Expression of the novel basic helix-loop-helix gene eHAND in neural crest derivatives and extraembryonic membranes during mouse development. Dev Biol 170:664–678
- Dawlaty MM, Breiling A, Le T, Barrasa MI, Raddatz G, Gao Q, Powell BE, Cheng AW, Faull KF, Lyko F et al (2014) Loss of Tet enzymes compromises proper differentiation of embryonic stem cells. Dev Cell 29:102–111
- Dodou E, Verzi MP, Anderson JP, Xu SM, Black BL (2004) Mef2c is a direct transcriptional target of ISL1 and GATA factors in the anterior heart field during mouse embryonic development. Development 131:3931–3942
- Ehrlich M, Gama-Sosa MA, Huang LH, Midgett RM, Kuo KC, McCune RA, Gehrke C (1982) Amount and distribution of 5-methylcytosine in human DNA from different types of tissues of cells. Nucleic Acids Res 10:2709–2721
- Flavell SW, Cowan CW, Kim TK, Greer PL, Lin Y, Paradis S, Griffith EC, Hu LS, Chen C, Greenberg ME (2006) Activity-dependent regulation of MEF2 transcription factors suppresses excitatory synapse number. Science 311:1008–1012
- Fodor BD, Kubicek S, Yonezawa M, O'Sullivan RJ, Sengupta R, Perez-Burgos L, Opravil S, Mechtler K, Schotta G, Jenuwein T (2006) Jmjd2b antagonizes H3K9 trimethylation at pericentric heterochromatin in mammalian cells. Genes Dev 20:1557–1562

- Gajewski K, Kim Y, Choi CY, Schulz RA (1998) Combinatorial control of Drosophila mef2 gene expression in cardiac and somatic muscle cell lineages. Dev Genes Evol 208:382–392
- Garcia-Martinez V, Schoenwolf GC (1993) Primitive-streak origin of the cardiovascular system in avian embryos. Dev Biol 159:706–719
- Garry DJ, Olson EN (2006) A common progenitor at the heart of development. Cell 127: 1101–1104
- Garg V, Kathiriya IS, Barnes R, Schluterman MK, King IN, Butler CA, Rothrock CR, Eapen RS, Hirayama-Yamada K, Joo K et al (2003) GATA4 mutations cause human congenital heart defects and reveal an interaction with TBX5. Nature 424:443–447
- Ghosh TK, Packham EA, Bonser AJ, Robinson TE, Cross SJ, Brook JD (2001) Characterization of the TBX5 binding site and analysis of mutations that cause Holt-Oram syndrome. Hum Mol Genet 10:1983–1994
- Glaser S, Schaft J, Lubitz S, Vintersten K, van der Hoeven F, Tufteland KR, Aasland R, Anastassiadis K, Ang SL, Stewart AF (2006) Multiple epigenetic maintenance factors implicated by the loss of Mll2 in mouse development. Development 133:1423–1432
- Goll MG, Bestor TH (2005) Eukaryotic cytosine methyltransferases. Annu Rev Biochem 74:481-514
- Granados-Riveron JT, Ghosh TK, Pope M, Bu'Lock F, Thornborough C, Eason J, Kirk EP, Fatkin D, Feneley MP, Harvey RP et al (2010) Alpha-cardiac myosin heavy chain (MYH6) mutations affecting myofibril formation are associated with congenital heart defects. Hum Mol Genet 19:4007–4016
- Green MR (2005) Eukaryotic transcription activation: right on target. Mol Cell 18:399-402
- Gossett LA, Kelvin DJ, Sternberg EA, Olson EN (1989) A new myocyte-specific enhancer-binding factor that recognizes a conserved element associated with multiple muscle-specific genes. Mol Cell Biol 9:5022–5033
- Gottlieb PD, Pierce SA, Sims RJ, Yamagishi H, Weihe EK, Harriss JV, Maika SD, Kuziel WA, King HL, Olson EN et al (2002) Bop encodes a muscle-restricted protein containing MYND and SET domains and is essential for cardiac differentiation and morphogenesis. Nat Genet 31:25–32
- Harvey RP (1996) NK-2 homeobox genes and heart development. Dev Biol 178:203-216
- He A, Kong SW, Ma Q, Pu WT (2011) Co-occupancy by multiple cardiac transcription factors identifies transcriptional enhancers active in heart. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 108:5632–5637
- Hiroi Y, Kudoh S, Monzen K, Ikeda Y, Yazaki Y, Nagai R, Komuro I (2001) Tbx5 associates with Nkx2-5 and synergistically promotes cardiomyocyte differentiation. Nat Genet 28: 276–280
- Ho L, Crabtree GR (2010) Chromatin remodelling during development. Nature 463:474-484
- Hong S, Cho YW, Yu LR, Yu H, Veenstra TD, Ge K (2007) Identification of JmjC domaincontaining UTX and JMJD3 as histone H3 lysine 27 demethylases. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104:18439–18444
- Inagawa M, Nakajima K, Makino T, Ogawa S, Kojima M, Ito S, Ikenishi A, Hayashi T, Schwartz RJ, Nakamura K et al (2013) Histone H3 lysine 9 methyltransferases, G9a and GLP are essential for cardiac morphogenesis. Mech Dev 130:519–531
- Jiang Y, Drysdale TA, Evans T (1999) A role for GATA-4/5/6 in the regulation of Nkx2.5 expression with implications for patterning of the precardiac field. Dev Biol 216:57–71
- Kirk EP, Sunde M, Costa MW, Rankin SA, Wolstein O, Castro ML, Butler TL, Hyun C, Guo G, Otway R et al (2007) Mutations in cardiac T-box factor gene TBX20 are associated with diverse cardiac pathologies, including defects of septation and valvulogenesis and cardiomyopathy. Am J Hum Genet 81:280–291
- Kitajima S, Takagi A, Inoue T, Saga Y (2000) MesP1 and MesP2 are essential for the development of cardiac mesoderm. Development 127:3215–3226
- Klaus A, Saga Y, Taketo MM, Tzahor E, Birchmeier W (2007) Distinct roles of Wnt/beta-catenin and Bmp signaling during early cardiogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104:18531–18536
- Klose RJ, Zhang Y (2007) Regulation of histone methylation by demethylimination and demethylation. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 8:307–318

- Kohli RM, Zhang Y (2013) TET enzymes, TDG and the dynamics of DNA demethylation. Nature 502:472–479
- Komuro I, Izumo S (1993) Csx: a murine homeobox-containing gene specifically expressed in the developing heart. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 90:8145–8149
- Kuo CT, Morrisey EE, Anandappa R, Sigrist K, Lu MM, Parmacek MS, Soudais C, Leiden JM (1997) GATA4 transcription factor is required for ventral morphogenesis and heart tube formation. Genes Dev 11:1048–1060
- Kwon C, Arnold J, Hsiao EC, Taketo MM, Conklin BR, Srivastava D (2007) Canonical Wnt signaling is a positive regulator of mammalian cardiac progenitors. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104:10894–10899
- Kwon C, Qian L, Cheng P, Nigam V, Arnold J, Srivastava D (2009) A regulatory pathway involving Notch1/beta-catenin/Isl1 determines cardiac progenitor cell fate. Nat Cell Biol 11:951–957
- Lan F, Bayliss PE, Rinn JL, Whetstine JR, Wang JK, Chen S, Iwase S, Alpatov R, Issaeva I, Canaani E et al (2007) A histone H3 lysine 27 demethylase regulates animal posterior development. Nature 449:689–694
- Lee S, Lee JW, Lee SK (2012) UTX, a histone H3-lysine 27 demethylase, acts as a critical switch to activate the cardiac developmental program. Dev Cell 22:25–37
- Lepore JJ, Mericko PA, Cheng L, Lu MM, Morrisey EE, Parmacek MS (2006) GATA-6 regulates semaphorin 3C and is required in cardiac neural crest for cardiovascular morphogenesis. J Clin Invest 116:929–939
- Li E, Bestor TH, Jaenisch R (1992) Targeted mutation of the DNA methyltransferase gene results in embryonic lethality. Cell 69:915–926
- Lien CL, Wu C, Mercer B, Webb R, Richardson JA, Olson EN (1999) Control of early cardiacspecific transcription of Nkx2-5 by a GATA-dependent enhancer. Development 126:75–84
- Lin Q, Schwarz J, Bucana C, Olson EN (1997) Control of mouse cardiac morphogenesis and myogenesis by transcription factor MEF2C. Science 276:1404–1407
- Lin Q, Lu J, Yanagisawa H, Webb R, Lyons GE, Richardson JA, Olson EN (1998) Requirement of the MADS-box transcription factor MEF2C for vascular development. Development 125:4565–4574
- Lints TJ, Parsons LM, Hartley L, Lyons I, Harvey RP (1993) Nkx-2.5: a novel murine homeobox gene expressed in early heart progenitor cells and their myogenic descendants. Development 119:969
- Lickert H, Takeuchi JK, Von Both I, Walls JR, McAuliffe F, Adamson SL, Henkelman RM, Wrana JL, Rossant J, Bruneau BG (2004) Baf60c is essential for function of BAF chromatin remodelling complexes in heart development. Nature 432:107–112
- Lubitz S, Glaser S, Schaft J, Stewart AF, Anastassiadis K (2007) Increased apoptosis and skewed differentiation in mouse embryonic stem cells lacking the histone methyltransferase Mll2. Mol Biol Cell 18:2356–2366
- Luger K, Mäder AW, Richmond RK, Sargent DF, Richmond TJ (1997) Crystal structure of the nucleosome core particle at 2.8 A resolution. Nature 389(6648):251–260
- Lyons I, Parsons LM, Hartley L, Li R, Andrews JE, Robb L, Harvey RP (1995) Myogenic and morphogenetic defects in the heart tubes of murine embryos lacking the homeo box gene Nkx2-5. Genes Dev 9:1654–1666
- Mao Z, Bonni A, Xia F, Nadal-Vicens M, Greenberg ME (1999) Neuronal activity-dependent cell survival mediated by transcription factor MEF2. Science 286:785–790
- Martin C, Zhang Y (2005) The diverse functions of histone lysine methylation. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 6:838–849
- Massari ME, Murre C (2000) Helix-loop-helix proteins: regulators of transcription in eucaryotic organisms. Mol Cell Biol 20:429–440
- McFadden DG, Charite J, Richardson JA, Srivastava D, Firulli AB, Olson EN (2000) A GATAdependent right ventricular enhancer controls dHAND transcription in the developing heart. Development 127:5331–5341
- McKinsey TA (2012) Therapeutic potential for HDAC inhibitors in the heart. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 52:303–319

- Merscher S, Funke B, Epstein JA, Heyer J, Puech A, Lu MM, Xavier RJ, Demay MB, Russell RG, Factor S et al (2001) TBX1 is responsible for cardiovascular defects in velo-cardio-facial/ DiGeorge syndrome. Cell 104:619–629
- Miller SA, Mohn SE, Weinmann AS (2010) Jmjd3 and UTX play a demethylase-independent role in chromatin remodeling to regulate T-box family member-dependent gene expression. Mol Cell 40:594–605
- Mohan RA, van Engelen K, Stefanovic S, Barnett P, Ilgun A, Baars MJ, Bouma BJ, Mulder BJ, Christoffels VM, Postma AV (2014) A mutation in the Kozak sequence of GATA4 hampers translation in a family with atrial septal defects. Am J Med Genet A 164A:2732–2738
- Molkentin JD, Lin Q, Duncan SA, Olson EN (1997) Requirement of the transcription factor GATA4 for heart tube formation and ventral morphogenesis. Genes Dev 11:1061–1072
- Molkentin JD (2000) The zinc finger-containing transcription factors GATA-4, -5, and -6. Ubiquitously expressed regulators of tissue-specific gene expression. J Biol Chem 275: 38949–38952
- Mommersteeg MT, Dominguez JN, Wiese C, Norden J, de Gier-de Vries C, Burch JB, Kispert A, Brown NA, Moorman AF, Christoffels VM (2010) The sinus venosus progenitors separate and diversify from the first and second heart fields early in development. Cardiovasc Res 87:92–101
- Mori AD, Bruneau BG (2004) TBX5 mutations and congenital heart disease: Holt-Oram syndrome revealed. Curr Opin Cardiol 19:211–215
- Morrisey EE, Tang Z, Sigrist K, Lu MM, Jiang F, Ip HS, Parmacek MS (1998) GATA6 regulates HNF4 and is required for differentiation of visceral endoderm in the mouse embryo. Genes Dev 12:3579–3590
- Naito AT, Shiojima I, Akazawa H, Hidaka K, Morisaki T, Kikuchi A, Komuro I (2006) Developmental stage-specific biphasic roles of Wnt/beta-catenin signaling in cardiomyogenesis and hematopoiesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103:19812–19817
- Naya FJ, Black BL, Wu H, Bassel-Duby R, Richardson JA, Hill JA, Olson EN (2002) Mitochondrial deficiency and cardiac sudden death in mice lacking the MEF2A transcription factor. Nat Med 8:1303–1309
- Nemer G, Nemer M (2001) Regulation of heart development and function through combinatorial interactions of transcription factors. Ann Med 33:604–610
- Nemer G, Nemer M (2003) Transcriptional activation of BMP-4 and regulation of mammalian organogenesis by GATA-4 and -6. Dev Biol 254:131–148
- Ng SB, Bigham AW, Buckingham KJ, Hannibal MC, McMillin MJ, Gildersleeve HI, Beck AE, Tabor HK, Cooper GM, Mefford HC et al (2010) Exome sequencing identifies MLL2 mutations as a cause of Kabuki syndrome. Nat Genet 42:790–793
- Ohtani K, Zhao C, Dobreva G, Manavski Y, Kluge B, Braun T, Rieger MA, Zeiher AM, Dimmeler S (2013) Jmjd3 controls mesodermal and cardiovascular differentiation of embryonic stem cells. Circ Res 113:856–862
- Oka T, Maillet M, Watt AJ, Schwartz RJ, Aronow BJ, Duncan SA, Molkentin JD (2006) Cardiacspecific deletion of Gata4 reveals its requirement for hypertrophy, compensation, and myocyte viability. Circ Res 98:837–845
- Okano M, Bell DW, Haber DA, Li E (1999) DNA methyltransferases Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b are essential for de novo methylation and mammalian development. Cell 99:247–257
- Olson EN (2006) Gene regulatory networks in the evolution and development of the heart. Science 313:1922–1927
- Orkin SH, Shivdasani RA, Fujiwara Y, McDevitt MA (1998) Transcription factor GATA-1 in megakaryocyte development. Stem Cells 16(Suppl 2):79–83
- Paige SL, Thomas S, Stoick-Cooper CL, Wang H, Maves L, Sandstrom R, Pabon L, Reinecke H, Pratt G, Keller G et al (2012) A temporal chromatin signature in human embryonic stem cells identifies regulators of cardiac development. Cell 151:221–232
- Pan G, Tian S, Nie J, Yang C, Ruotti V, Wei H, Jonsdottir GA, Stewart R, Thomson JA (2007) Whole-genome analysis of histone H3 lysine 4 and lysine 27 methylation in human embryonic stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 1:299–312

- Pashmforoush M, Lu JT, Chen H, Amand TS, Kondo R, Pradervand S, Evans SM, Clark B, Feramisco JR, Giles W et al (2004) Nkx2-5 pathways and congenital heart disease; loss of ventricular myocyte lineage specification leads to progressive cardiomyopathy and complete heart block. Cell 117:373–386
- Phan D, Rasmussen TL, Nakagawa O, McAnally J, Gottlieb PD, Tucker PW, Richardson JA, Bassel-Duby R, Olson EN (2005) BOP, a regulator of right ventricular heart development, is a direct transcriptional target of MEF2C in the developing heart. Development 132:2669–2678
- Pikkarainen S, Tokola H, Kerkela R, Ruskoaho H (2004) GATA transcription factors in the developing and adult heart. Cardiovasc Res 63:196–207
- Postma AV, van de Meerakker JB, Mathijssen IB, Barnett P, Christoffels VM, Ilgun A, Lam J, Wilde AA, Lekanne Deprez RH, Moorman AF (2008) A gain-of-function TBX5 mutation is associated with atypical Holt-Oram syndrome and paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. Circ Res 102:1433–1442
- Prall OW, Menon MK, Solloway MJ, Watanabe Y, Zaffran S, Bajolle F, Biben C, McBride JJ, Robertson BR, Chaulet H et al (2007) An Nkx2-5/Bmp2/Smad1 negative feedback loop controls heart progenitor specification and proliferation. Cell 128:947–959
- Pu WT, Ishiwata T, Juraszek AL, Ma Q, Izumo S (2004) GATA4 is a dosage-sensitive regulator of cardiac morphogenesis. Dev Biol 275:235–244
- Reamon-Buettner SM, Borlak J (2004) TBX5 mutations in non-Holt-Oram syndrome (HOS) malformed hearts. Hum Mutat 24:104
- Reecy JM, Li X, Yamada M, DeMayo FJ, Newman CS, Harvey RP, Schwartz RJ (1999) Identification of upstream regulatory regions in the heart-expressed homeobox gene Nkx2-5. Development 126:839–849
- Reiter JF, Alexander J, Rodaway A, Yelon D, Patient R, Holder N, Stainier DY (1999) Gata5 is required for the development of the heart and endoderm in zebrafish. Genes Dev 13: 2983–2995
- Reyes JC, Barra J, Muchardt C, Camus A, Babinet C, Yaniv M (1998) Altered control of cellular proliferation in the absence of mammalian brahma (SNF2alpha). EMBO J 17:6979–6991
- Saga Y, Miyagawa-Tomita S, Takagi A, Kitajima S, Miyazaki J, Inoue T (1999) MesP1 is expressed in the heart precursor cells and required for the formation of a single heart tube. Development 126:3437–3447
- Schott JJ, Benson DW, Basson CT, Pease W, Silberbach GM, Moak JP, Maron BJ, Seidman CE, Seidman JG (1998) Congenital heart disease caused by mutations in the transcription factor NKX2-5. Science 281:108–111
- Shen T, Aneas I, Sakabe N, Dirschinger RJ, Wang G, Smemo S, Westlund JM, Cheng H, Dalton N, Gu Y et al (2011) Tbx20 regulates a genetic program essential to adult mouse cardiomyocyte function. J Clin Invest 121:4640–4654
- Shpargel KB, Starmer J, Yee D, Pohlers M, Magnuson T (2014) KDM6 demethylase independent loss of histone H3 lysine 27 trimethylation during early embryonic development. PLoS Genet 10, e1004507
- Simon JA, Kingston RE (2013) Occupying chromatin: Polycomb mechanisms for getting to genomic targets, stopping transcriptional traffic, and staying put. Mol Cell 49:808–824
- Singh MK, Christoffels VM, Dias JM, Trowe MO, Petry M, Schuster-Gossler K, Burger A, Ericson J, Kispert A (2005) Tbx20 is essential for cardiac chamber differentiation and repression of Tbx2. Development 132:2697–2707
- Soufi A, Donahue G, Zaret KS (2012) Facilitators and impediments of the pluripotency reprogramming factors' initial engagement with the genome. Cell 151:994–1004
- Sridharan R, Gonzales-Cope M, Chronis C, Bonora G, McKee R, Huang C, Patel S, Lopez D, Mishra N, Pellegrini M et al (2013) Proteomic and genomic approaches reveal critical functions of H3K9 methylation and heterochromatin protein-1γ in reprogramming to pluripotency. Nat Cell Biol 15:872–882
- Srivastava D, Cserjesi P, Olson EN (1995) A subclass of bHLH proteins required for cardiac morphogenesis. Science 270:1995–1999

- Srivastava D, Thomas T, Lin Q, Kirby ML, Brown D, Olson EN (1997) Regulation of cardiac mesodermal and neural crest development by the bHLH transcription factor, dHAND. Nat Genet 16:154–160
- Srivastava D (2006) Making or breaking the heart: from lineage determination to morphogenesis. Cell 126:1037–1048
- Stallmeyer B, Fenge H, Nowak-Gottl U, Schulze-Bahr E (2010) Mutational spectrum in the cardiac transcription factor gene NKX2.5 (CSX) associated with congenital heart disease. Clin Genet 78:533–540
- Stanley EG, Biben C, Elefanty A, Barnett L, Koentgen F, Robb L, Harvey RP (2002) Efficient Cre-mediated deletion in cardiac progenitor cells conferred by a 3'UTR-ires-Cre allele of the homeobox gene Nkx2-5. Int J Dev Biol 46:431–439
- Stennard FA, Costa MW, Elliott DA, Rankin S, Haast SJ, Lai D, McDonald LP, Niederreither K, Dolle P, Bruneau BG et al (2003) Cardiac T-box factor Tbx20 directly interacts with Nkx2-5, GATA4, and GATA5 in regulation of gene expression in the developing heart. Dev Biol 262:206–224
- Tachibana M, Sugimoto K, Nozaki M, Ueda J, Ohta T, Ohki M, Fukuda M, Takeda N, Niida H, Kato H et al (2002) G9a histone methyltransferase plays a dominant role in euchromatic histone H3 lysine 9 methylation and is essential for early embryogenesis. Genes Dev 16:1779–1791
- Tachibana M, Ueda J, Fukuda M, Takeda N, Ohta T, Iwanari H, Sakihama T, Kodama T, Hamakubo T, Shinkai Y (2005) Histone methyltransferases G9a and GLP form heteromeric complexes and are both crucial for methylation of euchromatin at H3-K9. Genes Dev 19:815–826
- Takeuchi JK, Lou X, Alexander JM, Sugizaki H, Delgado-Olguín P, Holloway AK, Mori AD, Wylie JN, Munson C, Zhu Y et al (2011) Chromatin remodelling complex dosage modulates transcription factor function in heart development. Nat Commun 2:187
- Tam PP, Parameswaran M, Kinder SJ, Weinberger RP (1997) The allocation of epiblast cells to the embryonic heart and other mesodermal lineages: the role of ingression and tissue movement during gastrulation. Development 124:1631–1642
- Tan X, Rotllant J, Li H, De Deyne P, Du SJ (2006) SmyD1, a histone methyltransferase, is required for myofibril organization and muscle contraction in zebrafish embryos. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103:2713–2718
- von Both I, Silvestri C, Erdemir T, Lickert H, Walls JR, Henkelman RM, Rossant J, Harvey RP, Attisano L, Wrana JL (2004) Foxh1 is essential for development of the anterior heart field. Dev Cell 7:331–345
- Wamstad JA, Alexander JM, Truty RM, Shrikumar A, Li F, Eilertson KE, Ding H, Wylie JN, Pico AR, Capra JA et al (2012) Dynamic and coordinated epigenetic regulation of developmental transitions in the cardiac lineage. Cell 151:206–220
- Wang C, Lee JE, Cho YW, Xiao Y, Jin Q, Liu C, Ge K (2012) UTX regulates mesoderm differentiation of embryonic stem cells independent of H3K27 demethylase activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 109:15324–15329
- Whetstine JR, Nottke A, Lan F, Huarte M, Smolikov S, Chen Z, Spooner E, Li E, Zhang G, Colaiacovo M et al (2006) Reversal of histone lysine trimethylation by the JMJD2 family of histone demethylases. Cell 125:467–481
- Wissmann M, Yin N, Müller JM, Greschik H, Fodor BD, Jenuwein T, Vogler C, Schneider R, Günther T, Buettner R et al (2007) Cooperative demethylation by JMJD2C and LSD1 promotes androgen receptor-dependent gene expression. Nat Cell Biol 9:347–353
- Xiang R, Fan LL, Huang H, Cao BB, Li XP, Peng DQ, Xia K (2013) A novel mutation of GATA4 (K319E) is responsible for familial atrial septal defect and pulmonary valve stenosis. Gene 534:320–323
- Xin M, Davis CA, Molkentin JD, Lien CL, Duncan SA, Richardson JA, Olson EN (2006) A threshold of GATA4 and GATA6 expression is required for cardiovascular development. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103:11189–11194
- Xu H, Morishima M, Wylie JN, Schwartz RJ, Bruneau BG, Lindsay EA, Baldini A (2004) Tbx1 has a dual role in the morphogenesis of the cardiac outflow tract. Development 131:3217–3227

- Yagi H, Furutani Y, Hamada H, Sasaki T, Asakawa S, Minoshima S, Ichida F, Joo K, Kimura M, Imamura S et al (2003) Role of TBX1 in human del22q11.2 syndrome. Lancet 362:1366–1373
- Yamada M, Revelli JP, Eichele G, Barron M, Schwartz RJ (2000) Expression of chick Tbx-2, Tbx-3, and Tbx-5 genes during early heart development: evidence for BMP2 induction of Tbx2. Dev Biol 228:95–105
- Yamagishi H, Olson EN, Srivastava D (2000) The basic helix-loop-helix transcription factor, dHAND, is required for vascular development. J Clin Invest 105:261–270
- Yamane K, Tateishi K, Klose RJ, Fang J, Fabrizio LA, Erdjument-Bromage H, Taylor-Papadimitriou J, Tempst P, Zhang Y (2007) PLU-1 is an H3K4 demethylase involved in transcriptional repression and breast cancer cell proliferation. Mol Cell 25:801–812
- Zeisberg EM, Ma Q, Juraszek AL, Moses K, Schwartz RJ, Izumo S, Pu WT (2005) Morphogenesis of the right ventricle requires myocardial expression of Gata4. J Clin Invest 115:1522–1531
- Zhao R, Watt AJ, Li J, Luebke-Wheeler J, Morrisey EE, Duncan SA (2005) GATA6 is essential for embryonic development of the liver but dispensable for early heart formation. Mol Cell Biol 25:2622–2631
- Zhao R, Watt AJ, Battle MA, Li J, Bondow BJ, Duncan SA (2008) Loss of both GATA4 and GATA6 blocks cardiac myocyte differentiation and results in acardia in mice. Dev Biol 317:614–619
- Zhao XD, Han X, Chew JL, Liu J, Chiu KP, Choo A, Orlov YL, Sung WK, Shahab A, Kuznetsov VA et al (2007) Whole-genome mapping of histone H3 Lys4 and 27 trimethylations reveals distinct genomic compartments in human embryonic stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 1:286–298

## Check for updates

# **DNA Methylation in Heart Failure**

Justus Stenzig and Roger S-Y Foo

## Contents

. 77 . 79
. 79
. 80
. 81
. 82
. 84
. 84
. 87
. 90
. 92
. 93
. 94

#### Abstract

Methylation of cytosine residues in DNA is an epigenetic feature that plays an important role in gene transcription regulation. However, it is controversial whether DNA methylation is functionally relevant for the initiation and progression of heart disease. This chapter explains the basic mechanisms and functional consequences of DNA methylation. Its potential role in heart disease and its link to other epigenetic processes are examined and summarized, and opposing results from major studies in the field are discussed. The chapter concludes with an outlook on the field, including possible therapeutic and diagnostic applications.

R.S.-Y. Foo, MD, MBBS, FRCP, FAHA (⊠) Genome Institute of Singapore, 60 Biopolis Street, 138672 Singapore, Singapore

J. Stenzig, MD

Genome Institute of Singapore, 60 Biopolis Street, 138672 Singapore, Singapore

Department of Experimental Pharmacology and Toxicology, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Martinistrasse 52, 20246 Hamburg, Germany

Cardiovascular Research Institute, Centre for Translational Medicine MD6, National University of Singapore, National University Health System, 117599 Singapore, Singapore e-mail: foosyr@gis.a-star.edu.sg

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

J. Backs, T.A. McKinsey (eds.), *Epigenetics in Cardiac Disease*, Cardiac and Vascular Biology 1, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-41457-7\_4



**Fig. 4.1** Basic properties of DNA methylation. *UTR* untranslated region, *TSS* transcription start site, *M* methyl group on cytosine residue, *TF* transcription factor, *MF* methylated DNA associated factor, *DNMT* DNA methyl transferase, *TET* ten-eleven translocation enzyme, *TDG* thymine-DNA glycosylase, *KDM2A* histone lysine demethylase, *CXXC* cxxc domain containing proteins (binding demethylated DNA), *MBD2* methyl-CpG-binding domain protein 2, *KAISO* kaiso protein, *CFP1* cerebellar foliar pattern 1

### 4.1 Preface

DNA methylation is a form of chromatin modification that was discovered decades ago. Methylation of the nucleic acid cytosine in a palindromic CpG format is involved in gene expression regulation, can be inherited during cell division and alters chromatin structure but not DNA sequence. It fulfils all criteria to be called a classical epigenetic feature (Fig. 4.1).

When Conrad Waddington introduced the term 'epigenetics' in the late 1930s (Waddington 1939, 1942), underlying mechanisms were yet to be discovered. The notion that cytosine residues in the DNA were frequently modified by the addition of a methyl group at ring carbon-position 5 was discovered as early as in the 1950s (Doskocil and Sorm 1962; Wyatt 1951). Theoretical considerations and experimental evidence linking DNA methylation to the consolidation and maintenance of any given cellular differentiation state were soon to follow (Riggs 1975; Holliday and Pugh 1975). However, decades of research established a too narrow 'paradigm' of the properties of DNA methylation that has only recently been challenged. The most widely accepted concept is that the addition of a methyl group to cytosine residues in gene-promoter regions of the mammalian genome ultimately shuts off transcription of the corresponding gene (Stein et al. 1982; Jones 2012; Vardimon et al. 1982). This mechanism was believed to maintain the individual differentiated state of every cell while assisting other epigenetic marks like histone modifications and nucleosome positioning but also transcription factors in this role (Jones 2012). The advent of induced pluripotent stem cell (iPS) technology enabling cell reprogramming in vitro (Takahashi and Yamanaka 2006), recent evidence for surprisingly fast dynamics of cytosine methylation even in non-dividing cells (Gilsbach et al. 2014; Barres et al. 2012) as well as the discovery of active demethylation mechanisms have now reshaped our view of DNA methylation (Shen et al. 2013; Tahiliani et al. 2009). The idea that DNA methylation is a permanent un-erasable mark has been largely challenged over the recent years.

DNA methylation is much more complex than previously understood. On one hand, it can be stable over years or decades and can be transgenerationally inherited, as evident from studies on the 'Dutch Hunger Winter'. The offspring of women pregnant during this period of starvation in winter 1944–1945 were, many years later, more susceptible to diabetes and cardiovascular disease than those born shortly before or afterwards, implicating a mechanism of epigenetic inheritance (Heijmans et al. 2008). Moreover, while DNA methylation is clearly responsible for at least certain forms of long-term gene repression like X-chromosome inactivation (Venolia and Gartler 1983), transposon silencing (Feenstra et al. 1986; Yoder et al. 1997) and imprinting (Li et al. 1993), it is on the other hand able to respond to external stimuli and becomes altered in many complex diseases like cancer (Esteller 2008), neurological disorders (Jakovcevski and Akbarian 2012) and importantly also heart disease (Movassagh et al. 2011). DNA methylation thereby provides a unique mechanism integrating cellular memory and external signals. This new insight reaches beyond the mere switching on or off of gene transcription during development and has sparked research on the topic in many new fields of medicine.

Gene transcription in heart disease is clearly deregulated (Dorn et al. 2003). Epigenetics, in particular DNA methylation, represents an integrative memory storage for information, which guides, or at least reflects, gene transcriptional regulation (Schubeler 2015). Targeting this mechanism in a systems approach presents an attractive therapeutic option. Many common heart diseases such as heart failure and coronary artery disease are associated with slow but persistent risk factor-driven progression over years, as well as aberrant gene transcription. It is therapeut their mark on DNA methylation and in turn alter gene transcription, aggravating or even causing heart disease. Hence, understanding the precise nature of beneficial and deleterious DNA methylation changes may ultimately lead to the possibility of reverting DNA methylation marks, opening up new ways to treat heart disease. These are new avenues only just beginning to be explored.

## 4.2 Mechanisms of DNA Methylation and Demethylation

Despite our rapidly advancing and broadening view of DNA methylation, generally accepted mechanisms of how DNA methylation proceeds still apply (Schubeler 2015). DNA methyltransferase enzymes are responsible for cytosine methylation. In mammals, the main isoforms known to date are DNA methyltransferase 1, 3A and 3B, encoded by *DNMT1*, *DNMT3A* and *DNMT3B* genes. Whereas DNMT1 is believed to be responsible for maintenance methylation, the latter isoforms 3A and 3B are thought to be responsible for de novo methylation.

As DNA methylation is inheritable from parent cell to daughter cell, and also from parent organism to daughter organism, it has to be copied from one DNA strand to the other during cell division. Cytosine methylation mainly appears in the context of CG dinucleotides (also commonly referred to as CpG, taking the bridging phosphate group into account), enabling DNMT1 to copy the methylation mark from one cytosine to the complementary C of the neighbouring G, maintaining GpG methylation in a palindromic manner. DNMT1 is assisted in this role of the so-called 'maintenance' methylation by adapter proteins that recognize hemimethylated DNA and subsequently recruit DNMT1 to fill in the methylation gaps (Sharif et al. 2007), preventing passive demethylation through DNA replication. To maintain DNA methylation over several DNA replication rounds though, the assistance of DNMT3A or 3B is required (Liao et al. 2015; Schubeler 2015).

DNMT3A and 3B on the other hand are believed to be responsible for de novo methylation. They represent the DNMT enzymes that respond to external stimuli and play the crucial role of integrating heritability and DNA methylation plasticity. DNMT3A and 3B do not require hemi-methylation for their activity but can act on non-methylated DNA (Okano et al. 1999). All DNA methyltransferases use S-adenosyl-methionine as substrate. DNMT2 turned out to be a tRNA methyltransferase and was accordingly renamed TRDMT2 while DNMT3L shares sequence homology with the other DNMT3 enzymes (Aapola et al. 2000) and acts as a cofactor, but displays no DNMT activity itself (Bourc'his et al. 2001).

The process of DNA demethylation had been elusive for decades. Passive demethylation by dilution of methyl marks during cell division and DNA replication was previously believed to be the only means of DNA demethylation. Only recently has the process of active DNA demethylation been convincingly mapped out. The enzymatic moieties involved in the process are ten-eleven translocation enzymes 1-3, encoded by TET1-3 and thymine DNA glycosylase, encoded by TDG (Kohli and Zhang 2013). Members of the TET family of enzymes oxidize methylcytosine in several iterative steps, first to hydroxymethylcytosine, then consequently to formylcytosine and finally to carboxycytosine (He et al. 2011; Ito et al. 2011). The latter is then removed and replaced with non-methylated cytosine by TDG via base excision repair (BER (Zhang et al. 2012)). The discovery of this mechanism has sparked more research in neurology and also in the cardiac field. Formerly, DNA methylation research in terminally differentiated cells seemed to be of little importance as it was deemed unlikely to gain therapeutic relevance. However, now that we know about the unexpected plasticity of DNA methylation in cardiomyocytes, it turns into a potentially attractive drug target.

In the classical scenario, DNA cytosine methylation inhibits gene transcription. This is achieved either by sterical prevention of transcription factor binding or by binding of specialized factors that recognize methylated DNA. The latter mechanism in fact only applies to a small subset of methylated regions and many differentially methylated CpG have functions beyond transcription repression as discussed below (Ziller et al. 2013). Gene transcription can be repressed either by strong methylation of CpG-rich regions associated with genomic features, the so-called CpG islands (Venolia and Gartler 1983; Yoder et al. 1997) or in gene promoter or enhancer regions with low CpG content (Stadler et al. 2011; Hon et al. 2013; Ziller et al. 2013). In this case, DNA methylation affects binding of different chromatin-binding factors that govern transcriptional repression. These include methylated DNA-binding domain containing proteins MBD1, 2, 4 and MeCP2 (Baubec et al. 2013; Hendrich and Bird 1998) as well as SET and ring-associated (SRA) and zinc-finger domain containing proteins (Buck-Koehntop and Defossez 2013). It is likely that many more of such chromatin-binding factors exist that are yet to be identified

and characterized (Vaquerizas et al. 2009). These reader proteins in turn interact with the DNA methylation and demethylation machinery. Interestingly, knockout mice for *Mbd1*, *Mbd2* and *Kaiso* only display neurological phenotypes and no overt cardiovascular symptoms (Zhao et al. 2003; Hendrich et al. 2001; Prokhortchouk et al. 2006). Even *Mecp2* knockout mice, which recapitulate the phenotype of Rett's syndrome, displayed no overt cardiovascular abnormalities despite the existence of mild cardiac symptoms in the respective human *MECP2*-related disease (Guy et al. 2001).

Many additional mechanisms of interplay between different epigenetic marks have been identified and add further complexity to the epigenetic landscape. Adapter proteins link DNA methylation to histone acetylation and methylation and vice versa. Examples are repressive marks such as H3K9me3 (histone 3 lysine 9 trimethylation), which is upregulated by DNA methylation via MeCP2 and various histone methyltransferases (Sarraf and Stancheva 2004), or H3K27me3, which is decreased by DNA methylation via polycomb-repressive complex 2 (PRC2 (Wu et al. 2010)). This means that DNA methylation can have opposite functions by increasing or decreasing repression. Activating marks are also influenced, among them H3ac, decreased by DNA methylation via MeCP2 and histone deacetylases (HDAC (Skene et al. 2010)) and H3K4me3, decreased via cerebellar foliar pattern 1 (CFP1, CXXC1 in humans (Thomson et al. 2010)).

Though many interactions between DNA methylation and the histone code are known, and an important role of histone modifications in heart disease is established, tissue-specific interactions between the two epigenetic features are only just beginning to be analysed.

## 4.3 Regulation of DNA Methylation and Demethylation

Though the basic principles of how DNA is methylated were discovered long ago, little is known about how DNA methylation is regulated in the heart. DNMT enzymes establish DNA methylation whereas the removal of methyl groups (demethylation) involves intermediates 5-hydroxymethylcytosine (5hmC), 5-formylcytosine (5fC) and possibly 5-carboxycytosine (5caC). However, how these processes are regulated in individual tissues remains largely unknown. To guide both mechanisms to their target structures, a complex interplay with other chromatin modifications and transcription factors is necessary. General principles of this network have been identified but tissue-specific data for the heart is still scarce.

The regulation of genome-wide DNA methylation marks seems to be increasingly complex, keeping pace with our increasing understanding of the regulation of other epigenetic events: DNA methylation is largely dependent on neighbouring histone modifications. Examples are the recruitment of DNMT3A and 3B to sites of H3K9me3 via heterochromatin protein 1 (HP1 (Lehnertz et al. 2003)), the cotargeting of histone and DNA methylation (Muramatsu et al. 2013; Chang et al. 2011) and a multitude of other known mechanisms through which DNA methylation may depend on histone modifications (Rose and Klose 2014). Regulation of histone modification by conventional intracellular signalling in the heart has in part been known for years (Backs and Olson 2006) but is currently recognized to be additionally exerted by different species of non-coding RNA (Mathiyalagan et al. 2014). Further direct experimental evidence is required to show if similar links exist between non-coding RNA and DNA methylation. Mechanisms that link different RNA species to histone modifications and ultimately to DNA methylation might be more general than previously anticipated. LncRNA antisense transcripts like XIST, Hotair and Kcnq1ot1 establish the repressive histone methylation mark H3K27me3 on the inactive X-chromosome by guiding PRC2 to its target locus (Rinn et al. 2007; Pandey et al. 2008) or in case of Kcnq1ot1 by directly guiding DNMT1 (Mohammad et al. 2010). H3K27me3 in turn recruits DNMT enzymes to these loci (Schlesinger et al. 2007), ultimately leading to DNA methylation. Moreover, another small RNA species, so-called PIWI-interacting RNAs (piRNA) guide DNMTs to target loci in mice (Aravin et al. 2007).

## 4.4 The DNA Methylation Landscape

Much effort has been undertaken to map out the landscape of human DNA methylation in diverse tissues and diseases (Ziller et al. 2013; Stadler et al. 2011; Hon et al. 2013). Large projects such as ENCODE (The ENCODE (ENCyclopedia Of DNA Elements) Project 2004) have only been enabled by the recent advance in DNA methylation analysis techniques. The age of high-throughput sequencing (Koboldt et al. 2013) has opened up the possibility to analyse DNA methylation on a whole genome scale down to the resolution of a single base in a single cell (Guo et al. 2013; Smallwood et al. 2014) using techniques like whole genome bisulphite sequencing (BS-seq (Meissner et al. 2008)). This method combines next-generation sequencing with sodium bisulphite conversion, by which DNA is chemically modified to convert non-methylated cytosine residues to uracil, which is then represented by thymine in the following amplification steps (Frommer et al. 1992). By comparing BS-seq results to the reference genome, the methylation status of individual cytosines can be analysed as previously non-methylated cytosines would be represented as thymidines whereas methylated residues would remain unmodified.

This technological leap has provided deep and wide insight into the complex landscape of DNA methylation but also raised many questions and challenged the textbook view of DNA methylation as merely a means of transcriptional repression. About 70–80% of all CpGs in differentiated human cells are methylated (Bird 2002; Ziller et al. 2013). Cytosine residues in non-CpG context usually display low methylation below 5% but exhibit higher frequencies of methylation in embryonic stem (ES) cells and in brain tissue (Lister et al. 2009; Varley et al. 2013). The role of non-CpG methylation to date remains speculative, but it seems to be also dynamic (Lister et al. 2011) and to play a role in transcription factor binding (Malone et al. 2001; Inoue and Oishi 2005). Due to the limited data regarding the function of non-CpG methylation in general and the total absence of functional data regarding the heart, we will only focus on CpG methylation in the following sections.

CpGs are unevenly distributed among the genome. The majority of the genome is evolutionarily depleted of CpG content. CpG-dense regions of ~1-kb length are called CpG islands (CGI) although an exact definition is still lacking. About 70% of human-annotated genes carry a CGI region near their transcription start site (TSS), but more than half of CGIs in the genome are not located near or in annotated genes (orphan CGIs). These orphan CGIs possibly represent regulatory features of noncoding RNA (Smith and Meissner 2013). Most gene-associated CGIs are nonmethylated in the majority of cell types. This is likely due to transcription factor binding preventing de novo methylation (Stadler et al. 2011; Hon et al. 2013; Ziller et al. 2013). Interestingly, gene promoters associated with dense and large CGIs (high CpG promoter, HCP) seem to be less prone to regulation by DNA methylation than those with intermediate (ICP) or low CpG density (LCP) or enhancers with average CpG density (Brinkman et al. 2012; Bartke et al. 2010; Smith and Meissner 2013; Ziller et al. 2013). Promoter regions with low and intermediate CpG density consequently display the largest tissue-specific variation. About 20% of all CpGs seem to have tissue-specific methylation and the differential methylation of the flanking regions of CpG-dense stretches of DNA - CGI shores - seems to be of greatest importance for expression regulation (Ziller et al. 2013). Regions with very high CpG content are only regulated by DNA methylation in rare but prominent exceptional cases such as imprinted regions, silencing of transposable elements and X-inactivation (Li et al. 1993; Schubeler 2015; Leung et al. 2011).

Additional regulatory information is conferred by differential methylation of exons and introns, the so-called gene body methylation. The role of gene body methylation is not yet completely understood. Recent evidence suggests mainly two roles of gene body methylation: the regulation of alternative splicing and the inhibition of alternative promoter usage. It is known that exons are usually methylated to a higher degree than introns, whereas intron–exon boundaries are differentially methylated, indeed suggesting a role for DNA methylation in alternative splicing (Maunakea et al. 2013; Chodavarapu et al. 2010; Maunakea et al. 2010).

#### 4.5 The Advent of DNA Methylation Research in Heart Disease

By the time the first paper on DNA methylation in heart disease was published (Movassagh et al. 2010) research on the topic in other fields like neuroscience, stem cell technology and above all cancer had been considerably more advanced. This discrepancy still holds true. A simple Pubmed database search today yields 740 entries for 'DNA methylation' and 'heart', most of which are review articles and publications only peripherally touching the subject. The number of high-ranking publications on the topic containing original data is probably still below 30. A similar search using the keywords 'DNA methylation' and 'cancer' or 'DNA methylation' and 'brain' yields more than 25,000 or more than 3,500 publications, respectively. In 2010, at the time of the first publication on DNA methylation in the heart, the count was already more than 10,000 for methylation in cancer. What could explain this?

Both cancer and heart disease are associated with gene-transcriptional deregulation (Dorn et al. 2003; Meyerson et al. 2010). Studying mechanisms of gene expression regulation in these diseases is therefore attractive, but the point of departure is obviously different. A prominent feature of cancer cells is their ability to divide rapidly, whereas in vivo cardiomyocytes proliferate only marginally - if at all (Bergmann et al. 2009). DNA methylation was previously believed to be stable throughout the entire life cycle of a cell. For cardiomyocytes, this would have meant permanent DNA methylation marks throughout the entire life of an individual. In addition, in cancer the situation is rather unequivocal: mutations lead to aberrant transcription, which needs correction. As opposed to that, in heart disease the hypertrophic or foetal gene programme following myocardial stress comprises both causative and compensatory deregulation (Dorn et al. 2003). We believe that these two facts, stability and complexity, have initially rendered transcriptional regulation by DNA methylation plainly unattractive to study. Moreover, the heritability of DNA methylation is one of its most intriguing features - one that had no relevance for cardiomyocytes before the discovery of potential transdifferentiation (Yi et al. 2013) and the advent of stem cell therapy in general.

If DNA methylation had locked the gene transcription of a cardiomyocyte in its present situation, defining its differentiated state, never to be changed in vivo, what would be the point of accumulating deeper insight of DNA methylation in cardiomyocytes? The observation that DNA methylation might be altered in heart disease (Movassagh et al. 2011) is able to react rapidly to external stimuli like mechanical stress (Gilsbach et al. 2014) and moreover does not need dilution by cell division and passive demethylation to be erased (Zhang et al. 2012; Kohli and Zhang 2013) was unexpected. These new observations have brought DNA methylation into the centre of attention, highlighting its potential for a deeper understanding of heart function and pathology and making it a potentially attractive drug target.

## 4.6 The DNA Methylation Landscape in Healthy Heart

Individual tissues are characterized by specific DNA methylation signatures. Even without cell-type-specific analysis, the heart is clearly epigenetically distinguishable from other tissues, as numerous studies have shown (Kitamura et al. 2007; Xie et al. 2011; Pai et al. 2011). After almost complete erasure of DNA methylation in the female and male pronuclei shortly after fertilization, the common general DNA methylation signature of all tissues is re-established at an early stage of embryogenesis. The level of lowest methylation is reached in the early blastocyst, hours after fertilization (Santos et al. 2002). During the first days of development, most DNA methylation present by the time of implantation (Monk et al. 1987; Kafri et al. 1992). There is significant debate concerning the exact sequence of events (Smith et al. 2012), but it appears that a large portion of the DNA methylation map is laid out before organogenesis. Nevertheless, a small but significant fraction of

methylated cytosines is established later during organ development and postnatal growth as has been shown for many tissues, including explicitly the heart (Chamberlain et al. 2014; Sim et al. 2015; Gilsbach et al. 2014; Gu et al. 2013). These methylated CpGs confer, or at least mark tissue specificity. The situation in physiological embryonic development is different from ES cells. ES cells bear a distinct DNA methylation signature, which confers pluripotency and includes a higher-average CpG methylation than found in somatic cells (Lister et al. 2009; Ziller et al. 2013). As discussed above, it remains elusive to what extent DNA methylation is clearly not restricted to non-tissue-specific processes like X-inactivation or transposon silencing and imprinting (Schubeler 2015) and the aforementioned publications have established a role in tissue-specific regulation in the heart.

Though the exact number and location of the marks remain to be more firmly established, recent data argues for far less than half of all CpG methylation to be tissue specific. Using different-mapping tools, the DNA methylation marks that are established during embryonic heart development have been attributed to heart-specific regulatory pathways but also to more general embryogenesis-related-signalling pathways in recent studies (Sim et al. 2015; Chamberlain et al. 2014; Gilsbach et al. 2014). Our current understanding is that most differentially methylated regions (DMRs) in cardiomyocytes are usually less than 1 kb long (Ziller et al. 2013; Gilsbach et al. 2014). And though the number of DMRs will vary greatly depending on the cell type to which cardiomyocytes are compared, the fact that between ~2500 (Sim et al. 2015) and ~6500 (Gilsbach et al. 2014) regions are differentially methylated between neonatal and adult heart (in mice) conveys a rough impression of the extent of dynamic regulation.

In addition to studying DNA methylation in disease conditions, as discussed below, a clearer understanding of physiological DNA methylation functions in the heart might lead to further therapeutic options. One prominent and highly controversial field specifically with regard to DNA methylation is pluripotency, stem cell research and technology and the regulation of cell renewal by epigenetic mechanisms. The question if and to what extent cardiomyocytes proliferate in adult life, particularly following injury, remains unsolved. Nevertheless, there is good evidence for at least a small degree of myocyte renewal (Bergmann et al. 2009). A recent popular theory is based on the idea that cardiomyocytes or cardiac progenitor cells possess the general ability to proliferate upon certain stimuli such as injury but are prevented from this activity by inhibitory signalling from other cell types or by epigenetic regulation or an interplay between both (Senyo et al. 2013; Felician et al. 2014).

Cardiomyocyte renewal as a definitive solution for preventing or reversing contractility loss after myocardial injury would certainly revolutionize therapy options for heart disease. Apart from exogenous cell therapy, this could be achieved by either stimulating the proliferation of cardiomyocytes, or of putative endogenous stem cell populations, or by reprogramming resident non-cardiomyocytes to become cardiomyocytes (Sahara et al. 2015). DNA methylation is an important feature of cell identity, and it is hence expected to be an important factor for the regulation of these processes in iPS cells (Sanchez-Freire et al. 2014), which represent a potential source for exogenous cell renewal, but also in endogenous cell populations of possible progenitor cell pools. However, the role of DNA methylation for endogenous cell proliferation to date has only been exemplarily studied in specific cases such as Notch signalling (Felician et al. 2014). An overview of current research on DNA methylation in ES cells and iPS cells would certainly go beyond the scope of this chapter. In a more specific regard though, and consistent with the general lack of knowledge regarding DNA methylation in cardiac disease, little organ-specific research has been conducted so far on the role of DNA methylation for cell renewal and forward reprogramming. The latter approach aims at reprogramming other cell types like mesenchymal stem cells, fibroblasts and others which do not necessarily need to be natural cardiac progenitors directly to cardiomyocytes and is increasingly favoured in tissue replacement research (Sahara et al. 2015).

In both cases of cell renewal using de novo-programmed cardiomyocytes, either endogenous or exogenous, epigenetic memory is likely to play a role in cellular functionality. In reprogrammed cells, DNA methylation signatures of former differentiation states may be retained, potentially impairing maturation and function of the derived cell type. This phenomenon has been shown for various cell types (Kim et al. 2010a) including cardiomyocytes (Sanchez-Freire et al. 2014). Information about the physiological DNA methylation signature of cardiomyocytes in the form of reference epigenomes is therefore indispensable for successful cell-based therapy. As fully differentiated, functional and mature cardiomyocytes are needed, future research will routinely include the assessment of a mature cardiomyocyte DNA methylation profile in any quality-control process for cells used in cell replacement therapy.

## 4.7 DNA Methylation in Heart Failure

## 4.7.1 Evidence from Studies in Humans

The current view of DNA methylation in heart failure has been shaped by only a handful of publications. These studies nevertheless firmly established the view that DNA methylation plays an essential role in disease-related gene regulation. However, the field is still in its infancy and a large knowledge gap remains to be filled, connecting the very general evidence from whole genome approaches in disease and in focused in vitro studies. Research on DNA methylation in heart failure remains exciting at present: on one hand, it is known that DNA methylation plays an important role in heart disease. On the other hand, there are countless fundamental questions that remain to be solved.

First evidence for a role for DNA methylation in heart failure stems from two studies in human disease, in which differential methylation in end-stage heart failure was detected, when compared to healthy controls (Movassagh et al. 2010;

Movassagh et al. 2011). The authors speculated that the hallmark reactivation of foetal genes in hypertrophy and heart failure, the so-called foetal gene programme (Dorn et al. 2003), would be associated with an analogous foetal or hypertrophic DNA methylation programme. In both publications, the authors enriched methylated DNA fragments and quantified them, firstly by microarray, secondly using next-generation sequencing. Both studies were performed using whole heart tissue, as was the case in a third relevant study from a different group, where DNA methylation was quantified by microarray (Haas et al. 2013). In all three publications, a unifying pathological DNA methylation signature was detected. Though the results cannot be directly compared due to different methodology and disease aetiology, the findings are similar. The first report, importantly, was able to identify differentially regulated genes by their methylation signature, which had formerly only been possible the other way round (Movassagh et al. 2010). Additional findings from all three studies underpin that what had been known before from other tissues also holds true for heart disease: the DNA methylation signature of the heart is surprisingly stable, despite the fact that the cellular composition slightly varies between health and disease. Only a subset of genomic features is differentially methylated between these two states. Hypomethylation in disease is more common than hypermethylation (Movassagh et al. 2011; Haas et al. 2013) and differential methylation, though it does occur in promoter regions, is not confined to the vicinity of TSSs. In fact, CGIs in several different contexts were significantly differentially methylated: promoters, gene bodies and putative promoters of non-coding transcripts, but not intergenic regions, untranslated regions (UTRs) or active enhancers, as marked by transcription factor p300 binding (Movassagh et al. 2011). All three studies additionally aimed at identifying candidate genes and correlating DNA methylation and transcription. While upregulation of transcription correlated with promoter demethylation, the opposite could not be detected (Movassagh et al. 2011). Even the analysis of some of the most DMRs initially suggested no obvious correlation with transcription. However, further analysis revealed a more complex mechanism by which DNA methylation might regulate transcription of some candidate genes such as ADORA2A (Haas et al. 2013) while for others, like LY75 and DUX4, the classical 'paradigm' of repression by promoter methylation could be confirmed (Haas et al. 2013; Movassagh et al. 2011).

Apart from the identification of a specific DNA methylation signature of heart failure, we learned two more lessons from these studies. Firstly, when the authors performed pathway analysis on their set of genes that were associated with DMRs, they on one hand confirmed these genes to be indeed involved in heart disease-associated pathways but on the other hand also detected far less specific pathways (Haas et al. 2013). Secondly, the aforementioned candidate genes that could be identified through their differential methylation are doubtlessly interesting and worth deeper investigation. However, one would have expected a much closer relationship between methylation and expression. In fact, none of the classical heart failure-associated genes, such as *NPPA*, *NPPB*, *ACTA1*, *SERCA2A*, *MYH7* and many others, stand out by their DNA methylation signature. At present, one can

only speculate on the possible reasons for this observation, which will be discussed in detail below: (i) only a subset of cardiac genes might be directly regulated by DNA methylation, if at all, (ii) DNA methylation might play a crucial role for transregulation by distant elements and non-coding transcripts involved in heart failure, which are far less obviously identifiable and (iii) lastly analysis can be improved by cell-type specificity.

(i) The assumption that only a small subset of cardiac genes might be directly regulated by DNA methylation in a classical way is almost self-evident. Several studies have shown that only a subset of CpGs is methylated in a tissue-specific manner, strongly arguing for the fact that many genes might not be directly regulated by DNA methylation (Ziller et al. 2013; Chamberlain et al. 2014). (ii) Distal regulatory elements such as enhancers are increasingly recognized to be regulated by DNA methylation (Hon et al. 2013). As their influence on cardiac gene expression depends on chromatin secondary and tertiary structure and is far from being sufficiently understood, studies on DNA methylation could not yet have possibly been able to map those elements to cardiac gene expression regulation. Further insight into the nature of long-range chromatin interactions and nucleosome positioning, using techniques such as chromosome conformation capture (3C (Karbassi and Vondriska 2014; de Wit and de Laat 2012)) or linkage analysis (Johnson et al. 2014), will be necessary. Moreover, transcriptional regulation is relying on a variety of non-coding transcripts. Only a few with a known relevance for heart disease are identified yet, such as Myheart (MHRT (Han et al. 2014)) or Braveheart in mice (Bvht (Klattenhoff et al. 2013)), and details are reviewed in Chap. 5. These likely represent only the tip of the iceberg, as the number of long non-coding RNAs (lnRNA) encoded in the human genome is believed to be at least twice as high as the number of coding transcripts (Uchida and Dimmeler 2015). Regulatory micro-RNAs (miRNA) add to the complexity with at least 700 miRNAs expressed in the heart and more than 20 differentially regulated in pathological hypertrophy (Hirt et al. 2015). All these non-coding RNAs can potentially regulate heart diseaserelated transcription and might themselves be epigenetically regulated. (iii) Analysis of DNA methylation in the aforementioned publications was performed on whole bulk tissue. Cell composition in heart varies considerably during development and disease. Cardiomyocytes account for 20-60% of all cell types in adult heart (Nag 1980; Banerjee et al. 2007; Gilsbach et al. 2014). Even if other cell types such as fibroblasts, blood and inflammatory cell types, endothelial cells and others do not change their DNA methylation signature in disease, the epigenetic readout will still be significantly diluted when whole tissue is studied rather than individual cell types. The studies performed on human heart would probably have yielded more clear-cut results if cell-type-specific analysis had been carried out, which is far more technologically challenging.

In summary, to fully understand the mechanisms of DNA methylation in heart disease, fundamental questions about RNA biology and trans-regulation by chromatin conformation have yet to be solved. Nonetheless, studies on human tissues have provided solid evidence for a specific DNA methylation signature in heart disease.

#### 4.7.2 Evidence from Animal Studies

The number of animal studies on DNA methylation in cardiac hypertrophy and heart failure is equally limited. Whereas the current studies in human all used failing hearts, with disease either caused by mixed aetiology (Movassagh et al. 2011) or by DCM (Haas et al. 2013), the animal work published so far is mainly based on cardiac hypertrophy or heart failure evoked by pressure overload using the transversal aortic constriction (TAC) model (Gilsbach et al. 2014; Vujic et al. 2015) or on in vitro hypertrophy modelling (Stenzig et al. 2016). Results are nevertheless comparable as hypertrophy is known to be the single most influential risk factor for heart failure and represents its pre-failure stage (Levy et al. 1996).

In a recent comprehensive study, Gilsbach et al. were the first to provide cardiomyocyte-specific in vivo evidence for DNA methylation changes during development and heart disease (Gilsbach et al. 2014). Their work, also the first study to combine myocyte-specific analysis with whole genome bisulphite sequencing in the heart (WGBS), provides significant further insight. Presumably due to the advanced methodology, the authors were not only able to reproduce the findings of preceding studies in human heart failure but to provide many additional new findings. The authors compared DNA methylation in mouse ES cells, newborn, adult and failing mouse cardiomyocytes as well as in cardiomyocyte-specific Dnmt3a/3b double knockout (Cre-recombinase driven by *Mlc2a* promoter). Taken together, as in other studies, more CpGs appear to be hypomethylated during development and disease than hypermethylated. The associations between DNA methylation and gene regulation they observed were much tighter than previously anticipated. Many prominent cardiac genes were regulated at least in part by DNA methylation. Interestingly, differential DNA methylation additionally occurred at enhancers marked by binding motifs for cardiac transcription factors such as Mef2c, Gata4, Nkx2.5 and others. DNA methylation seemed to be closely associated with the regulation of genes like Tnnt2, Tnni1 and Tnni3, Atp2a2, Myh6 and Myh7. The most striking observations were made comparing ES cells and adult heart. Here, stem cell genes became hypermethylated and switched off whereas cardiac genes became hypomethylated and activated, in line with the traditional view of DNA methylation. Moreover, this process continued to be active in postnatal development. Strikingly though, the observations were largely independent of the exact location of DNA methylation, either promoter associated or genic. More specifically, the authors detected a DNA 'demethylation wave' that extended from upstream of the TSS into the first exons during development, paralleling increased expression.

In summary, the study shows that (i) genes active in ES cells but not in cardiomyocytes are progressively methylated and accordingly histone marks are established. (ii) In reverse, genes that are active in cardiomyocytes but not in ES cells are demethylated and respective histone marks are established. (iii) Genes that are transiently active in heart development (such as *Isl1*) are not re-methylated but instead they are repressed by histone modifications such as H3K27me2 in case of prenatally silenced genes or regulated by completely different means in case of postnatally regulated developmental genes. For these main findings, the authors provide pathway-mapping data and hand-picked examples. Though one might ask for the epigenetic fate of other typical cardiac genes, the association between gene regulation and DNA methylation in heart development is obvious.

The authors performed additional experiments to assess the role of DNA methylation in pressure overload-induced heart failure and the role of Dnmt3a/b-mediated postnatal de novo methylation both in the abovementioned study and in an independent publication. Though the association seems to be less clear-cut, pressure overload led to a partial reactivation of the foetal DNA methylation signature, even after 4 weeks, arguing for previously unanticipated dynamics. This extent of short-term flexibility in striated muscle is likely to analogously exist in humans, as evidence for DNA methylation changes in human skeletal muscle even after hours of exercise suggests (Barres et al. 2012). Moreover, another group has recently described that DNA methylation in rat cardiomyocytes reacts to afterload enhancement even after 7 days (Stenzig et al. 2016). In addition, a second Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b double knockout mouse line was established by the group of Gilsbach and Hein, this time only knocking out the catalytic domains of the Dnmts (Cre-recombinase controlled by an Myl7 promoter) and the results were published separately (Nuhrenberg et al. 2015). Curiously, the authors found great differences in gene expression and some differences in DNA methylation in their first publication, when comparing wild-type and knockout using WGBS, but less pronounced changes in their second publication using a microarray. In both studies, the authors described that cardiomyocyte-specific double knockout, either of the entire gene or of only the catalytic domain, prevents gene hypermethylation during development, leading to expression changes of cardiac genes (Gilsbach et al. 2014). However, they surprisingly found no functional effect of these expression changes when analysing mice with catalytic domain knockout - neither in health, nor in pathological hypertrophy.

Additional information stems from another study in which *Dnmt3b* was knocked out in a cardiomyocyte-specific manner. Vujic et al. also present a characterization of these mice in both healthy state and subjected to pressure overload (Vujic et al. 2015). *Dnmt3b* knockout mice initially displayed no overt phenotype. This changed with time or upon pressure overload. Knockout animals then displayed aggravated myocardial disarray and fibrosis. Interestingly, hypertrophic response to pressure overload was blocked in these mice but replaced by early dilatation and further reduced fractional shortening.

So far, the authors only present a restricted expression and methylation profiling of their knockout mice. Expression analysis of a limited number of cardiac- and fibrosis-related genes revealed only very few obvious differences, in line with Gilsbach et al. who only observed expression changes in a limited number of genes. Nevertheless, Vujic et al. were able to detect methylation-related aberrant splicing of *Myh7*. Since they based target choice for methylation analysis on differential expression, they present methylation data for *Myh7* only. It would be intriguing to analyse if aberrant splicing is frequently regulated by differential methylation, as has been reported previously in heart failure (Ames et al. 2013), and to what extent it contributes to heart failure pathophysiology.

To date, heart-specific *Dnmt3a* and *Dnmt3b* and double knockout mice are established in different laboratories, with conflicting results. There are several possible ways to explain the different findings. One possible confounder is strain variability. Methylation in rodents is known to considerably suffer from this confounder, to such an extent that strain-dependent variability can even be greater than cell-type variability (Johnson et al. 2014). An example for strain-specific susceptibility to hypertrophy induction caused by strain-specific DNA methylation differences has even been recently published. However, the authors only present a noncardiomyocyte-specific DNA methylation analysis (Chen et al. 2016). Other explanations for the conflicting findings include (i) the different severity and duration of the hypertrophic intervention, (ii) the fact that Gilsbach et al. only knocked out the catalytic domain of both Dnmt isoforms in their second study, whereas Vujic et al. performed a complete Dnmt3b knockout and (iii) the use of different promoters to drive the Cre-recombinase (Myl7 vs.  $\alpha$ -MHC). To render the picture even more complicated, a recent study showed that the largest portion of de novo methylation targets is shared by Dnmt3a and 3b. Only a fraction of differentially methylated cytosines was non-redundantly targeted by either isoform (Liao et al. 2015). Thus, the informative value of studies on Dnmt3a or 3b single knockout mice is potentially diminished, and these considerations make the observed more pronounced effect of Dnmt3b single knockout even more complicated to explain.

Several targeted studies contribute additional knowledge to our current understanding. Methylation of the promoter of Actal, encoding alphal skeletal actin, was studied as early as 1999 (Warnecke and Clark 1999). In their pioneering study, the authors demonstrated that the Actal promoter region is progressively methylated during heart development, though methylation does not directly correlate with gene expression - a finding that is compatible with recent studies 15 years later (Gilsbach et al. 2014). DNA methylation has also been shown to contribute to cardiac fibrosis and upregulation of collagen-1 expression in the state of hypoxia, in which Dnmt1 and 3b are upregulated through an HIF-1 $\alpha$ -dependent mechanism. Though the exact pathways remain to be resolved, knockdown of DNMTs in human fibroblasts led to attenuated fibrosis and confirmed the role of DNA methylation for the pathophysiology, suggesting an indirect mechanism of *COL1A1* gene regulation (Watson et al. 2014). These findings were confirmed in vivo, where non-specific Dnmt inhibition using 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine (5-aza) attenuated fibrosis in spontaneously hypertensive rats (Watson et al. 2016). However, these results are conflicting with another study on DNA methylation in fibrosis, where transforming growth factor (TGF)- $\beta$ induced collagen synthesis by combined downregulation and inhibition of DNMT1 and 3A, subsequent promoter demethylation and direct upregulation of *Colla1* (Pan et al. 2013). The role of DNA methylation in fibrosis therefore needs further investigation.

Direct evidence for the involvement of DNA methylation in gene expression regulation has furthermore been shown for the gene encoding protein kinase Ce (PKCe (Patterson et al. 2012)), the sulphonyl urea receptor genes *Abcc8* and *Abcc9* (Fatima et al. 2012) and *Atp2a2* encoding the sarcoplasmic reticulum calcium ATPase serca2a (Kao et al. 2010, 2011; Angrisano et al. 2014; Stenzig et al. 2016).

The promising results and the mechanistic insight from the aforementioned studies are sparking therapeutic potential. However, it will need much more time and effort for therapies targeting DNA methylation in heart disease to enter the clinics, as will be discussed in the following section.

#### 4.8 Therapeutic Considerations

What would an epigenetic therapy for heart disease look like? Visions and options are unlimited at present. Therapeutic manipulation of DNA methylation has been investigated in a limited number of studies and will open up new possibilities but will also face obstacles, some of which will be discussed in the following section.

The basic idea is simple: Pathological hypertrophy and heart failure are marked by a hallmark transcriptome signature. Some of the changes are detrimental and some are compensatory (Dorn et al. 2003). Current heart failure therapy results in a restitution of aberrant gene expression (Lowes et al. 2002). Normalizing aberrant transcription itself might therefore be directly beneficial. As the transcriptional programme in heart disease appears to be partly governed by an underlying DNA methylation signature, normalizing this programme might in turn lead to normalized transcription and could thereby be useful in heart failure therapy.

Achieving this goal though would be more challenging than it initially appears. Firstly, when comparing failing hearts to healthy hearts there is hypomethylation as well as hypermethylation (Movassagh et al. 2011; Gilsbach et al. 2014), rendering inhibition of either process potentially unfeasible – though there might be exceptions. Secondly, the basic components of the DNA methylation machinery are identical throughout the whole organism, a fact that would presumably warrant inadmissible off-target effects of unspecific DNA methylation or demethylation blockade.

Unspecific blockade of DNA methylation or demethylation might nevertheless be useful for proof-of-principle research and to obtain general information on possible pitfalls and optimization strategies. Attempts so far have focused on hypertrophy and heart failure provoked by norepinephrine infusion (Xiao et al. 2013), on fibrosis (Pan et al. 2013; Watson et al. 2014), on in vitro hypertrophy induced by afterload and phenylephrine treatment (Stenzig et al. 2016) and on serce expression (Kao et al. 2011).

The authors of the first of these studies on DNA methylation manipulation present fairly optimistic data on rats subjected to norepinephrine-induced cardiac hypertrophy. The animals were treated with chronic norepinephrine infusion for 28 days and one group of rats received additional 5-aza treatment for the last 6 days. The authors provide data to support the point that this treatment reversed norepinephrineinduced hypertrophy and failure. In their hands, 5-aza treatment rescued contractility and normalized the expression of a panel of marker genes including *Nppa*, *Nppb* and *Myh7*. Methylation analysis was restricted to a marker locus, which was previously identified by the same group (Patterson et al. 2012), but indeed argues in favour of a DNA methylation-based action of 5-aza in the experiment. Lastly, explanted rat hearts were subjected to ex vivo ischaemia reperfusion injury and infarct size was measured by triphenyltetrazolium (TTC) assay, though no images are supplied. Preceding in vivo 5-aza treatment rescued the norepinephrine-induced increased susceptibility to ischaemia reperfusion injury.

As discussed above, the impact of DNA methylation on fibrosis is currently under debate. In one study, DNMT inhibition led to increased fibrosis (Pan et al. 2013), compatible with results from *Dnmt3b* knockout mice which display increased fibrosis (Vujic et al. 2015). Conversely, two other studies by another showed DNMT inhibition to be beneficial in reducing fibrosis in vitro (Watson et al. 2014; Watson et al. 2016).

A role of DNA methylation in the regulation of serca expression, encoded by Atp2a2, has been postulated by several groups. Kao et al. used 5-aza to prevent the promoter methylation-mediated downregulation of serca upon TNF- $\alpha$  treatment in atrial like HL-1 cells (Kao et al. 2010). In a subsequent study, the same group used the putative DNMT inhibitor hydralazine to achieve this goal (Kao et al. 2011). Two other groups independently identified a role of DNA methylation in serca expression regulation (Angrisano et al. 2014; Stenzig et al. 2016). Stenzig et al. mechanically induced hypertrophy ex vivo in rat Engineered Heart Tissue (EHT). They observed genome-wide methylation changes as early as 7 days after the hypertrophic intervention and were able to attenuate these changes, including *Atp2a2*-promoter hypermethylation and hypertrophy-induced functional impairment, using the non-specific, non-nucleosidic DNMT inhibitor RG108.

*Atp2a2* might indeed be an exemption. It is possible that the downregulation of serca might be of such outstanding importance for heart failure pathology that the prevention of such downregulation by DNA methylation inhibition might still be feasible in end-stage disease, even at the cost of significant side effects. Other important genes might be identified to which similar prerequisites apply. There is no doubt about the importance of serca for calcium cycling in heart failure pathophysiology (Kranias and Hajjar 2012). And yet clinical trials using serca-activating small molecules such as istaroxime (Shah et al. 2009) for which no clinical outcome trials have been published and recently planned trials have been stopped (NCT00838253, NCT00869115), as well as serca gene therapy have failed (Celladon press release on Mydicar, 26.04.2015). In view of this, preventing the downregulation of serca by epigenetic means may be particularly attractive.

Thus far, published data is encouraging but the field is still in its infancy. Several obstacles have to be overcome. The lack of tissue and process specificity probably represents the greatest challenge. Since the DNA methylation and demethylation machineries are ubiquitous, further understanding of their regulation in the heart will be necessary to confer specificity to interventions in the processes. Unless this is granted, it is unlikely that the field will advance significantly. This has been the case regarding histone modifications: Proof-of-principle evidence arguing for a therapeutic effect of HDAC inhibition was published a decade ago. Insight into the process since has further evolved. Yet, no further therapeutic strategies have been successful so far, presumably due to an analogous ubiquity of the underlying processes.

One can only speculate on the future of DNA methylation-based therapy as specific targets to be addressed by small molecules, antibodies, miRNAs, siRNA, Crisprbased gene editing and many other therapeutic agents remain to be identified. At present, even addressing DNA methylation in a general manner is difficult. DNMT inhibitors in current clinical and experimental use can be divided in two classes: nucleosidic and non-nucleosidic inhibitors, both of which face disadvantages. Several nucleosidic DNMT inhibitors are Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and European Medicine Agency (EMA) approved, making them attractive as research compounds. These drugs, among them azacytidine and 5-aza-2-deoxycytidine (5-aza, decitabine), are thoroughly characterized and potentially repurposeable. However, nucleosidic compounds have to be integrated into DNA to be active, trapping DNMT enzymes to their integration sites (Stresemann and Lyko 2008). This mode of action to a certain extent excludes their applicability for heart disease, as most cardiomyocytes even in diseased states are non-dividing (Bergmann et al. 2009). In these cells, azanucleotides are therefore only integrated upon natural base repair and turnover, limiting their therapeutic usefulness considerably since they would be integrated to a much higher extent in rapidly dividing cells in other tissues at the same time. As the molecules can interfere with DNA repair and replication, they may moreover exhibit cytotoxic side effects (Murakami et al. 1995). These will be pronounced as high doses might be necessary to achieve meaningful activity in non-dividing cardiomyocytes. Nonnucleosidic DNMT inhibitors such as RG108 (Brueckner et al. 2005), nanaomycin A (Kuck et al. 2010), hydralazine (Singh et al. 2009) and procainamide (Lee et al. 2005) are often poorly characterized and sometimes speculative. But as these compounds may competitively inhibit cofactor binding (Kuck et al. 2010) rather than integrating into DNA, they display no cytotoxicity. Unfortunately, binding to the cofactor-binding pocket requires these compounds to be highly lipophilic. This unfavourable property is complicating, if not preventing their usefulness in vivo, though with RG108, for at least one compound in vivo pharmacokinetics have been published (Schneeberger et al. 2016). In addition, even the better characterized compounds have not been systematically analysed for effects other than DNMT inhibition. Given the high micromolar concentrations needed for DNMT inhibition (Kuck et al. 2010), other effects are likely to interfere in the in vivo setting.

It may have several implications that DNMT inhibition in vivo and in vitro displayed more consistent results than DNMT knockout, which were mostly beneficial and sometimes contradicting results from genetic manipulation studies. Pharmacological inhibition stretches to both non-cardiomyocytes and DNMT1, which suggests a role for both. Especially the effect of DNMT inhibition in cardiac fibroblasts and the role of DNMT1 both in fibroblasts and in cardiomyocytes remain to be elucidated.

#### 4.9 Biomarker Considerations

Though no clear evidence for an association with DNA methylation in circulating cells has been published so far, DNA methylation might be additionally interesting as a biomarker for heart disease. Indeed, heart disease may correlate with certain methylation marks in circulating cells, sparking hope that DNA methylation might not only be useful as a therapeutic target but also as a diagnostic tool. Results so far

are sparse, not directly related to heart failure, and sometimes conflicting. Homocysteine plasma concentration is still under heavy debate as a biomarker for cardiovascular disease (Dzau 2004), despite considerable effort to identify its contribution to disease (Marti-Carvajal et al. 2015). Kim et al. investigated an association between plasma homocysteine concentration and peripheral blood leukocyte (PBL) gross DNA methylation, speculating that low homocysteine might represent cardiovascular disease via the intermediate of DNA methylation. As homocysteine is the product of the DNA methylation reaction, low levels might reflect low availability of the precursor methionine which might impair physiological DNA methylation (Kim et al. 2010b). However, the authors detected a correlation between hypermethylation rather than hypomethylation in PBL, which conflicts with data from a previous smaller study (Castro et al. 2003), arguing against a strong predictive role for DNA methylation in cardiovascular disease. Additional efforts have been undertaken by a group who reported a correlation between low LINE-1repetitive DNA element methylation in PBL (Baccarelli et al. 2010), and high mitochondrial DNA methylation (Byun et al. 2015) with ischaemic heart disease and stroke. More evidence stems from further studies associating DNA methylation in circulating cells with vascular disease, leaving open the possibility for a similar

association with heart failure (Borghini et al. 2013; Dunn et al. 2014).

#### 4.10 Future Directions

In only 5 years time since the first comprehensive analysis of DNA methylation in heart disease, an exciting new field of research has evolved and sparked hopes of new avenues of heart failure therapies. The recent past has seen tremendous progress and increasing popularity, moving from previous neglect of the topic to promising bold visions. A definite role for DNA methylation in gene expression regulation in cardiomyocyte differentiation, renewal and disease is now established. Early differentiation, maturation, terminal differentiation, possible de-differentiation and pathological transformation each bear individual DNA methylation signatures. We have a rough impression of what DNA methylation landscapes in cardiomyocytes look like. However, at present most of the evidence for perturbed DNA methylation is understood as a static picture. What are the mechanisms that drive differential methylation in heart disease, what are the processes that lead there? What, in turn, might be the consequences of altered DNA methylation in cardiac pathology? How can we ultimately profit from the knowledge, target these processes and design novel therapies? To understand the complete meaning of DNA methylation in each sequence context and the context-specific mechanism of how methylation and demethylation are regulated as well as to identify suitable modifier compounds will be crucial if its therapeutic options are to be exploited. At present though, and despite a lack of these fundamental insights, the idea of epigenetic therapies for heart failure appears as a real possibility and is indeed exciting.

Conflict of Interest The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

## References

- Aapola U, Kawasaki K, Scott HS, Ollila J, Vihinen M, Heino M, Shintani A, Minoshima S, Krohn K, Antonarakis SE, Shimizu N, Kudoh J, Peterson P (2000) Isolation and initial characterization of a novel zinc finger gene, DNMT3L, on 21q22.3, related to the cytosine-5-methyltransferase 3 gene family. Genomics 65(3):293–298. doi:10.1006/geno.2000.6168, S0888-7543(00)96168-8 [pii]
- Ames EG, Lawson MJ, Mackey AJ, Holmes JW (2013) Sequencing of mRNA identifies reexpression of fetal splice variants in cardiac hypertrophy. J Mol Cell Cardiol 62:99–107. doi:10.1016/j.yjmcc.2013.05.004, S0022-2828(13)00172-7 [pii]
- Angrisano T, Schiattarella GG, Keller S, Pironti G, Florio E, Magliulo F, Bottino R, Pero R, Lembo F, Avvedimento EV, Esposito G, Trimarco B, Chiariotti L, Perrino C (2014) Epigenetic switch at atp2a2 and myh7 gene promoters in pressure overload-induced heart failure. PLoS One 9(9), e106024. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0106024, PONE-D-14-13801 [pii]
- Aravin AA, Hannon GJ, Brennecke J (2007) The Piwi-piRNA pathway provides an adaptive defense in the transposon arms race. Science 318(5851):761–764. doi:318/5851/761 [pii] 0.1126/science.1146484
- Baccarelli A, Wright R, Bollati V, Litonjua A, Zanobetti A, Tarantini L, Sparrow D, Vokonas P, Schwartz J (2010) Ischemic heart disease and stroke in relation to blood DNA methylation. Epidemiology 21(6):819–828. doi:10.1097/EDE.0b013e3181f20457
- Backs J, Olson EN (2006) Control of cardiac growth by histone acetylation/deacetylation. Circ Res 98(1):15–24. doi:98/1/15 [pii] 0.1161/01.RES.0000197782.21444.8f
- Banerjee I, Fuseler JW, Price RL, Borg TK, Baudino TA (2007) Determination of cell types and numbers during cardiac development in the neonatal and adult rat and mouse. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 293(3):H1883–H1891. doi:00514.2007 [pii] 0.1152/ajpheart.00514.2007
- Barres R, Yan J, Egan B, Treebak JT, Rasmussen M, Fritz T, Caidahl K, Krook A, O'Gorman DJ, Zierath JR (2012) Acute exercise remodels promoter methylation in human skeletal muscle. Cell Metab 15(3):405–411. doi:S1550-4131(12)00005-8 [pii] 0.1016/j.cmet.2012.01.001
- Bartke T, Vermeulen M, Xhemalce B, Robson SC, Mann M, Kouzarides T (2010) Nucleosomeinteracting proteins regulated by DNA and histone methylation. Cell 143(3):470–484. doi:S0092-8674(10)01182-7 [pii] 0.1016/j.cell.2010.10.012
- Baubec T, Ivanek R, Lienert F, Schubeler D (2013) Methylation-dependent and -independent genomic targeting principles of the MBD protein family. Cell 153(2):480–492. doi:S0092-8674(13)00333-4 [pii] 0.1016/j.cell.2013.03.011
- Bergmann O, Bhardwaj RD, Bernard S, Zdunek S, Barnabe-Heider F, Walsh S, Zupicich J, Alkass K, Buchholz BA, Druid H, Jovinge S, Frisen J (2009) Evidence for cardiomyocyte renewal in humans. Science 324(5923):98–102. doi:324/5923/98 [pii] 0.1126/science.1164680
- Bird A (2002) DNA methylation patterns and epigenetic memory. Genes Dev 16(1):6–21. doi:10.1101/gad.947102
- Borghini A, Cervelli T, Galli A, Andreassi MG (2013) DNA modifications in atherosclerosis: from the past to the future. Atherosclerosis 230(2):202–209. doi:S0021-9150(13)00443-7 [pii] 0.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2013.07.038
- Bourc'his D, Xu GL, Lin CS, Bollman B, Bestor TH (2001) Dnmt3L and the establishment of maternal genomic imprints. Science 294(5551):2536–2539. doi:10.1126/science.1065848 [pii]
- Brinkman AB, Gu H, Bartels SJ, Zhang Y, Matarese F, Simmer F, Marks H, Bock C, Gnirke A, Meissner A, Stunnenberg HG (2012) Sequential ChIP-bisulfite sequencing enables direct genome-scale investigation of chromatin and DNA methylation cross-talk. Genome Res 22(6):1128–1138. doi:10.1101/gr, gr.133728.111 [pii]
- Brueckner B, Garcia Boy R, Siedlecki P, Musch T, Kliem HC, Zielenkiewicz P, Suhai S, Wiessler M, Lyko F (2005) Epigenetic reactivation of tumor suppressor genes by a novel small-molecule inhibitor of human DNA methyltransferases. Cancer Res 65(14):6305–6311. doi:65/14/6305 [pii] 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-2957

- Buck-Koehntop BA, Defossez PA (2013) On how mammalian transcription factors recognize methylated DNA. Epigenetics 8(2):131–137. doi:10.4161/epi.23632
- Byun HM, Benachour N, Zalko D, Frisardi MC, Colicino E, Takser L, Baccarelli AA (2015) Epigenetic effects of low perinatal doses of flame retardant BDE-47 on mitochondrial and nuclear genes in rat offspring. Toxicology 328:152–159. doi:10.1016/j.tox.2014.12.019, S0300-483X(14)00258-3 [pii]
- Castro R, Rivera I, Struys EA, Jansen EE, Ravasco P, Camilo ME, Blom HJ, Jakobs C, Tavares de Almeida I (2003) Increased homocysteine and S-adenosylhomocysteine concentrations and DNA hypomethylation in vascular disease. Clin Chem 49(8):1292–1296
- Chamberlain AA, Lin M, Lister RL, Maslov AA, Wang Y, Suzuki M, Wu B, Greally JM, Zheng D, Zhou B (2014) DNA methylation is developmentally regulated for genes essential for cardiogenesis. J Am Heart Assoc 3(3), e000976. doi:10.1161/JAHA.114.000976, jah3551 [pii]
- Chang Y, Sun L, Kokura K, Horton JR, Fukuda M, Espejo A, Izumi V, Koomen JM, Bedford MT, Zhang X, Shinkai Y, Fang J, Cheng X (2011) MPP8 mediates the interactions between DNA methyltransferase Dnmt3a and H3K9 methyltransferase GLP/G9a. Nat Commun 2:533. doi:10.1038/ncomms1549, ncomms1549 [pii]
- Chen H, Orozco LD, Wang J, Rau CD, Rubbi L, Ren S, Wang Y, Pellegrini M, Lusis AJ, Vondriska TM (2016) DNA methylation indicates susceptibility to isoproterenol-induced cardiac pathology and is associated with chromatin states. Circ Res 118(5):786–797. doi:10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.115.305298
- Chodavarapu RK, Feng S, Bernatavichute YV, Chen PY, Stroud H, Yu Y, Hetzel JA, Kuo F, Kim J, Cokus SJ, Casero D, Bernal M, Huijser P, Clark AT, Kramer U, Merchant SS, Zhang X, Jacobsen SE, Pellegrini M (2010) Relationship between nucleosome positioning and DNA methylation. Nature 466(7304):388–392. doi:10.1038/nature09147
- de Wit E, de Laat W (2012) A decade of 3C technologies: insights into nuclear organization. Genes Dev 26(1):11–24. doi:26/1/11 [pii] 10.1101/gad.179804.111
- Dorn GW, 2nd, Robbins J, Sugden PH (2003) Phenotyping hypertrophy: eschew obfuscation. Circ Res 92(11):1171–1175. doi:10.1161/01.RES.0000077012.11088.BC 92/11/1171 [pii]
- Doskocil J, Sorm F (1962) Distribution of 5-methylcytosine in pyrimidine sequences of deoxyribonucleic acids. Biochim Biophys Acta 55:953–959
- Dunn J, Qiu H, Kim S, Jjingo D, Hoffman R, Kim CW, Jang I, Son DJ, Kim D, Pan C, Fan Y, Jordan IK, Jo H (2014) Flow-dependent epigenetic DNA methylation regulates endothelial gene expression and atherosclerosis. J Clin Invest 124(7):3187–3199. doi:10.1172/JCI74792, 74792 [pii]
- Dzau VJ (2004) Markers of malign across the cardiovascular continuum: interpretation and application. Circulation 109(25 Suppl 1):IV1–IV2. doi:10.1161/01.CIR.0000133445.78855.aa 109/25\_suppl\_1/IV-1 [pii]
- Esteller M (2008) Epigenetics in cancer. N Engl J Med 358(11):1148–1159. doi:358/11/1148 [pii] 10.1056/NEJMra072067
- Fatima N, Schooley JF Jr, Claycomb WC, Flagg TP (2012) Promoter DNA methylation regulates murine SUR1 (Abcc8) and SUR2 (Abcc9) expression in HL-1 cardiomyocytes. PLoS One 7(7), e41533. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0041533, PONE-D-11-25259 [pii]
- Feenstra A, Fewell J, Lueders K, Kuff E (1986) In vitro methylation inhibits the promotor activity of a cloned intracisternal A-particle LTR. Nucleic Acids Res 14(10):4343–4352
- Felician G, Collesi C, Lusic M, Martinelli V, Ferro MD, Zentilin L, Zacchigna S, Giacca M (2014) Epigenetic modification at Notch responsive promoters blunts efficacy of inducing notch pathway reactivation after myocardial infarction. Circ Res 115(7):636–649. doi:10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.115.304517, CIRCRESAHA.115.304517 [pii]
- Frommer M, McDonald LE, Millar DS, Collis CM, Watt F, Grigg GW, Molloy PL, Paul CL (1992) A genomic sequencing protocol that yields a positive display of 5-methylcytosine residues in individual DNA strands. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 89(5):1827–1831
- Gilsbach R, Preissl S, Gruning BA, Schnick T, Burger L, Benes V, Wurch A, Bonisch U, Gunther S, Backofen R, Fleischmann BK, Schubeler D, Hein L (2014) Dynamic DNA methylation

orchestrates cardiomyocyte development, maturation and disease. Nat Commun 5:5288. doi:10.1038/ncomms6288

- Gu Y, Liu GH, Plongthongkum N, Benner C, Yi F, Qu J, Suzuki K, Yang J, Zhang W, Li M, Montserrat N, Crespo I, Del Sol A, Esteban CR, Zhang K, Belmonte JC (2013) Global DNA methylation and transcriptional analyses of human ESC-derived cardiomyocytes. Protein Cell. doi:10.1007/s13238-013-3911-2
- Guo H, Zhu P, Wu X, Li X, Wen L, Tang F (2013) Single-cell methylome landscapes of mouse embryonic stem cells and early embryos analyzed using reduced representation bisulfite sequencing. Genome Res 23(12):2126–2135. doi:10.1101/gr.161679.113
- Guy J, Hendrich B, Holmes M, Martin JE, Bird A (2001) A mouse Mecp2-null mutation causes neurological symptoms that mimic Rett syndrome. Nat Genet 27(3):322–326. doi:10.1038/85899
- Haas J, Frese KS, Park YJ, Keller A, Vogel B, Lindroth AM, Weichenhan D, Franke J, Fischer S, Bauer A, Marquart S, Sedaghat-Hamedani F, Kayvanpour E, Kohler D, Wolf NM, Hassel S, Nietsch R, Wieland T, Ehlermann P, Schultz JH, Dosch A, Mereles D, Hardt S, Backs J, Hoheisel JD, Plass C, Katus HA, Meder B (2013) Alterations in cardiac DNA methylation in human dilated cardiomyopathy. EMBO Mol Med. doi:10.1002/emmm.201201553
- Han P, Li W, Lin CH, Yang J, Shang C, Nurnberg ST, Jin KK, Xu W, Lin CY, Lin CJ, Xiong Y, Chien HC, Zhou B, Ashley E, Bernstein D, Chen PS, Chen HS, Quertermous T, Chang CP (2014) A long noncoding RNA protects the heart from pathological hypertrophy. Nature 514(7520):102–106. doi:10.1038/nature13596
- He YF, Li BZ, Li Z, Liu P, Wang Y, Tang Q, Ding J, Jia Y, Chen Z, Li L, Sun Y, Li X, Dai Q, Song CX, Zhang K, He C, Xu GL (2011) Tet-mediated formation of 5-carboxylcytosine and its excision by TDG in mammalian DNA. Science 333(6047):1303–1307. doi:10.1126/science. 1210944
- Heijmans BT, Tobi EW, Stein AD, Putter H, Blauw GJ, Susser ES, Slagboom PE, Lumey LH (2008) Persistent epigenetic differences associated with prenatal exposure to famine in humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 105(44):17046–17049. doi:10.1073/pnas.0806560105
- Hendrich B, Bird A (1998) Identification and characterization of a family of mammalian methyl-CpG binding proteins. Mol Cell Biol 18(11):6538–6547
- Hendrich B, Guy J, Ramsahoye B, Wilson VA, Bird A (2001) Closely related proteins MBD2 and MBD3 play distinctive but interacting roles in mouse development. Genes Dev 15(6):710–723. doi:10.1101/gad.194101
- Hirt MN, Werner T, Indenbirken D, Alawi M, Demin P, Kunze AC, Stenzig J, Starbatty J, Hansen A, Fiedler J, Thum T, Eschenhagen T (2015) Deciphering the microRNA signature of pathological cardiac hypertrophy by engineered heart tissue- and sequencing-technology. J Mol Cell Cardiol 81:1–9. doi:10.1016/j.yjmcc.2015.01.008, S0022-2828(15)00020-6 [pii]
- Holliday R, Pugh JE (1975) DNA modification mechanisms and gene activity during development. Science 187(4173):226–232
- Hon GC, Rajagopal N, Shen Y, McCleary DF, Yue F, Dang MD, Ren B (2013) Epigenetic memory at embryonic enhancers identified in DNA methylation maps from adult mouse tissues. Nat Genet 45(10):1198–1206. doi:10.1038/ng.2746
- Inoue S, Oishi M (2005) Effects of methylation of non-CpG sequence in the promoter region on the expression of human synaptotagmin XI (syt11). Gene 348:123–134. doi:10.1016/j. gene.2004.12.044, S0378-1119(04)00795-4 [pii]
- Ito S, Shen L, Dai Q, Wu SC, Collins LB, Swenberg JA, He C, Zhang Y (2011) Tet proteins can convert 5-methylcytosine to 5-formylcytosine and 5-carboxylcytosine. Science 333(6047):1300–1303. doi:10.1126/science.1210597, science.1210597 [pii]
- Jakovcevski M, Akbarian S (2012) Epigenetic mechanisms in neurological disease. Nat Med 18(8):1194–1204. doi:10.1038/nm.2828
- Johnson MD, Mueller M, Adamowicz-Brice M, Collins MJ, Gellert P, Maratou K, Srivastava PK, Rotival M, Butt S, Game L, Atanur SS, Silver N, Norsworthy PJ, Langley SR, Petretto E, Pravenec M, Aitman TJ (2014) Genetic analysis of the cardiac methylome at single nucleotide resolution in a model of human cardiovascular disease. PLoS Genet 10(12), e1004813. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1004813, PGENETICS-D-13-03299 [pii]

- Jones PA (2012) Functions of DNA methylation: islands, start sites, gene bodies and beyond. Nat Rev Genet 13(7):484–492. doi:10.1038/nrg3230, nrg3230 [pii]
- Kafri T, Ariel M, Brandeis M, Shemer R, Urven L, McCarrey J, Cedar H, Razin A (1992) Developmental pattern of gene-specific DNA methylation in the mouse embryo and germ line. Genes Dev 6(5):705–714
- Kao YH, Chen YC, Cheng CC, Lee TI, Chen YJ, Chen SA (2010) Tumor necrosis factor-alpha decreases sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca2+-ATPase expressions via the promoter methylation in cardiomyocytes. Crit Care Med 38(1):217–222. doi:10.1097/CCM.0b013e3181b4a854
- Kao YH, Cheng CC, Chen YC, Chung CC, Lee TI, Chen SA, Chen YJ (2011) Hydralazineinduced promoter demethylation enhances sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca2+ -ATPase and calcium homeostasis in cardiac myocytes. Lab Invest 91(9):1291–1297. doi:10.1038/labinvest.2011.92
- Karbassi E, Vondriska TM (2014) How the proteome packages the genome for cardiovascular development. Proteomics 14(19):2115–2126. doi:10.1002/pmic.201400131
- Kim K, Doi A, Wen B, Ng K, Zhao R, Cahan P, Kim J, Aryee MJ, Ji H, Ehrlich LI, Yabuuchi A, Takeuchi A, Cunniff KC, Hongguang H, McKinney-Freeman S, Naveiras O, Yoon TJ, Irizarry RA, Jung N, Seita J, Hanna J, Murakami P, Jaenisch R, Weissleder R, Orkin SH, Weissman IL, Feinberg AP, Daley GQ (2010a) Epigenetic memory in induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature 467(7313):285–290. doi:10.1038/nature09342
- Kim M, Long TI, Arakawa K, Wang R, Yu MC, Laird PW (2010b) DNA methylation as a biomarker for cardiovascular disease risk. PLoS One 5(3), e9692. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0009692
- KitamuraE, IgarashiJ, MorohashiA, HidaN, OinumaT, NemotoN, SongF, GhoshS, HeldWA, Yoshida-Noro C, Nagase H (2007) Analysis of tissue-specific differentially methylated regions (TDMs) in humans. Genomics 89(3):326–337. doi:10.1016/j.ygeno.2006.11.006, S0888-7543(06) 00325-9 [pii]
- Klattenhoff CA, Scheuermann JC, Surface LE, Bradley RK, Fields PA, Steinhauser ML, Ding H, Butty VL, Torrey L, Haas S, Abo R, Tabebordbar M, Lee RT, Burge CB, Boyer LA (2013) Braveheart, a long noncoding RNA required for cardiovascular lineage commitment. Cell 152(3):570–583. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2013.01.003, S0092-8674(13)00004-4 [pii]
- Koboldt DC, Steinberg KM, Larson DE, Wilson RK, Mardis ER (2013) The next-generation sequencing revolution and its impact on genomics. Cell 155(1):27–38. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2013.09.006, S0092-8674(13)01141-0 [pii]
- Kohli RM, Zhang Y (2013) TET enzymes, TDG and the dynamics of DNA demethylation. Nature 502(7472):472–479. doi:10.1038/nature12750
- Kranias EG, Hajjar RJ (2012) Modulation of cardiac contractility by the phospholamban/ SERCA2a regulatome. Circ Res 110(12):1646–1660. doi:110/12/1646 [pii] 10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.111.259754
- Kuck D, Singh N, Lyko F, Medina-Franco JL (2010) Novel and selective DNA methyltransferase inhibitors: Docking-based virtual screening and experimental evaluation. Bioorg Med Chem 18(2):822–829. doi:10.1016/j.bmc.2009.11.050, S0968-0896(09)01068-2 [pii]
- Lee BH, Yegnasubramanian S, Lin X, Nelson WG (2005) Procainamide is a specific inhibitor of DNA methyltransferase 1. J Biol Chem 280(49):40749–40756. doi:10.1074/jbc.M505593200
- Lehnertz B, Ueda Y, Derijck AA, Braunschweig U, Perez-Burgos L, Kubicek S, Chen T, Li E, Jenuwein T, Peters AH (2003) Suv39h-mediated histone H3 lysine 9 methylation directs DNA methylation to major satellite repeats at pericentric heterochromatin. Curr Biol 13(14):1192– 1200. doi:S0960982203004329 [pii]
- Leung DC, Dong KB, Maksakova IA, Goyal P, Appanah R, Lee S, Tachibana M, Shinkai Y, Lehnertz B, Mager DL, Rossi F, Lorincz MC (2011) Lysine methyltransferase G9a is required for de novo DNA methylation and the establishment, but not the maintenance, of proviral silencing. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 108(14):5718–5723. doi:10.1073/pnas.1014660108
- Levy D, Larson MG, Vasan RS, Kannel WB, Ho KK (1996) The progression from hypertension to congestive heart failure. JAMA 275(20):1557–1562
- Li E, Beard C, Jaenisch R (1993) Role for DNA methylation in genomic imprinting. Nature 366(6453):362–365. doi:10.1038/366362a0

- Liao J, Karnik R, Gu H, Ziller MJ, Clement K, Tsankov AM, Akopian V, Gifford CA, Donaghey J, Galonska C, Pop R, Reyon D, Tsai SQ, Mallard W, Joung JK, Rinn JL, Gnirke A, Meissner A (2015) Targeted disruption of DNMT1, DNMT3A and DNMT3B in human embryonic stem cells. Nat Genet 47(5):469–478. doi:10.1038/ng.3258
- Lister R, Pelizzola M, Dowen RH, Hawkins RD, Hon G, Tonti-Filippini J, Nery JR, Lee L, Ye Z, Ngo QM, Edsall L, Antosiewicz-Bourget J, Stewart R, Ruotti V, Millar AH, Thomson JA, Ren B, Ecker JR (2009) Human DNA methylomes at base resolution show widespread epigenomic differences. Nature 462(7271):315–322. doi:10.1038/nature08514
- Lister R, Pelizzola M, Kida YS, Hawkins RD, Nery JR, Hon G, Antosiewicz-Bourget J, O'Malley R, Castanon R, Klugman S, Downes M, Yu R, Stewart R, Ren B, Thomson JA, Evans RM, Ecker JR (2011) Hotspots of aberrant epigenomic reprogramming in human induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature 471(7336):68–73. doi:10.1038/nature09798
- Lowes BD, Gilbert EM, Abraham WT, Minobe WA, Larrabee P, Ferguson D, Wolfel EE, Lindenfeld J, Tsvetkova T, Robertson AD, Quaife RA, Bristow MR (2002) Myocardial gene expression in dilated cardiomyopathy treated with beta-blocking agents. N Engl J Med 346(18):1357–1365. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa012630 346/18/1357 [pii]
- Malone CS, Miner MD, Doerr JR, Jackson JP, Jacobsen SE, Wall R, Teitell M (2001) CmC(A/T) GG DNA methylation in mature B cell lymphoma gene silencing. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 98(18):10404–10409. doi:10.1073/pnas.181206898 [pii]
- Marti-Carvajal AJ, Sola I, Lathyris D (2015) Homocysteine-lowering interventions for preventing cardiovascular events. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 1, CD006612. doi:10.1002/14651858. CD006612.pub4
- Mathiyalagan P, Keating ST, Du XJ, El-Osta A (2014) Interplay of chromatin modifications and non-coding RNAs in the heart. Epigenetics 9(1):101–112. doi:10.4161/epi.26405
- Maunakea AK, Nagarajan RP, Bilenky M, Ballinger TJ, D'Souza C, Fouse SD, Johnson BE, Hong C, Nielsen C, Zhao Y, Turecki G, Delaney A, Varhol R, Thiessen N, Shchors K, Heine VM, Rowitch DH, Xing X, Fiore C, Schillebeeckx M, Jones SJ, Haussler D, Marra MA, Hirst M, Wang T, Costello JF (2010) Conserved role of intragenic DNA methylation in regulating alternative promoters. Nature 466(7303):253–257. doi:10.1038/nature09165
- Maunakea AK, Chepelev I, Cui K, Zhao K (2013) Intragenic DNA methylation modulates alternative splicing by recruiting MeCP2 to promote exon recognition. Cell Res 23(11):1256–1269. doi:10.1038/cr.2013.110
- Meissner A, Mikkelsen TS, Gu H, Wernig M, Hanna J, Sivachenko A, Zhang X, Bernstein BE, Nusbaum C, Jaffe DB, Gnirke A, Jaenisch R, Lander ES (2008) Genome-scale DNA methylation maps of pluripotent and differentiated cells. Nature 454(7205):766–770. doi:10.1038/ nature07107
- Meyerson M, Gabriel S, Getz G (2010) Advances in understanding cancer genomes through second-generation sequencing. Nat Rev Genet 11(10):685–696. doi:10.1038/nrg2841
- Mohammad F, Mondal T, Guseva N, Pandey GK, Kanduri C (2010) Kcnq1ot1 noncoding RNA mediates transcriptional gene silencing by interacting with Dnmt1. Development 137(15):2493– 2499. doi:10.1242/dev.048181
- Monk M, Boubelik M, Lehnert S (1987) Temporal and regional changes in DNA methylation in the embryonic, extraembryonic and germ cell lineages during mouse embryo development. Development 99(3):371–382
- Movassagh M, Choy MK, Goddard M, Bennett MR, Down TA, Foo RS (2010) Differential DNA methylation correlates with differential expression of angiogenic factors in human heart failure. PLoS One 5(1), e8564. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0008564
- Movassagh M, Choy MK, Knowles DA, Cordeddu L, Haider S, Down T, Siggens L, Vujic A, Simeoni I, Penkett C, Goddard M, Lio P, Bennett MR, Foo RS (2011) Distinct epigenomic features in end-stage failing human hearts. Circulation 124(22):2411–2422. doi:10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.111.040071
- Murakami T, Li X, Gong J, Bhatia U, Traganos F, Darzynkiewicz Z (1995) Induction of apoptosis by 5-azacytidine: drug concentration-dependent differences in cell cycle specificity. Cancer Res 55(14):3093–3098

- Muramatsu D, Singh PB, Kimura H, Tachibana M, Shinkai Y (2013) Pericentric heterochromatin generated by HP1 protein interaction-defective histone methyltransferase Suv39h1. J Biol Chem 288(35):25285–25296. doi:10.1074/jbc.M113.470724
- Nag AC (1980) Study of non-muscle cells of the adult mammalian heart: a fine structural analysis and distribution. Cytobios 28(109):41–61
- Nuhrenberg TG, Hammann N, Schnick T, Preissl S, Witten A, Stoll M, Gilsbach R, Neumann FJ, Hein L (2015) Cardiac myocyte de novo DNA methyltransferases 3a/3b are dispensable for cardiac function and remodeling after chronic pressure overload in mice. PLoS One 10(6), e0131019. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0131019, PONE-D-15-08258 [pii]
- Okano M, Bell DW, Haber DA, Li E (1999) DNA methyltransferases Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b are essential for de novo methylation and mammalian development. Cell 99(3):247–257. doi:S0092-8674(00)81656-6 [pii]
- Pai AA, Bell JT, Marioni JC, Pritchard JK, Gilad Y (2011) A genome-wide study of DNA methylation patterns and gene expression levels in multiple human and chimpanzee tissues. PLoS Genet 7(2), e1001316. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1001316
- Pan X, Chen Z, Huang R, Yao Y, Ma G (2013) Transforming growth factor beta1 induces the expression of collagen type I by DNA methylation in cardiac fibroblasts. PLoS One 8(4), e60335. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0060335, PONE-D-12-37794 [pii]
- Pandey RR, Mondal T, Mohammad F, Enroth S, Redrup L, Komorowski J, Nagano T, Mancini-Dinardo D, Kanduri C (2008) Kcnq1ot1 antisense noncoding RNA mediates lineage-specific transcriptional silencing through chromatin-level regulation. Mol Cell 32(2):232–246. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2008.08.022, S1097-2765(08)00610-2 [pii]
- Patterson AJ, Xiao D, Xiong F, Dixon B, Zhang L (2012) Hypoxia-derived oxidative stress mediates epigenetic repression of PKCepsilon gene in foetal rat hearts. Cardiovasc Res 93(2):302– 310. doi:10.1093/cvr/cvr322, cvr322 [pii]
- Prokhortchouk A, Sansom O, Selfridge J, Caballero IM, Salozhin S, Aithozhina D, Cerchietti L, Meng FG, Augenlicht LH, Mariadason JM, Hendrich B, Melnick A, Prokhortchouk E, Clarke A, Bird A (2006) Kaiso-deficient mice show resistance to intestinal cancer. Mol Cell Biol 26(1):199–208. doi:26/1/199 [pii] 10.1128/MCB.26.1.199-208.2006
- Riggs AD (1975) X inactivation, differentiation, and DNA methylation. Cytogenet Cell Genet 14(1):9–25
- Rinn JL, Kertesz M, Wang JK, Squazzo SL, Xu X, Brugmann SA, Goodnough LH, Helms JA, Farnham PJ, Segal E, Chang HY (2007) Functional demarcation of active and silent chromatin domains in human HOX loci by noncoding RNAs. Cell 129(7):1311–1323. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2007.05.022, S0092-8674(07)00659-9 [pii]
- Rose NR, Klose RJ (2014) Understanding the relationship between DNA methylation and histone lysine methylation. Biochim Biophys Acta 1839(12):1362–1372. doi:10.1016/j. bbagrm.2014.02.007, S1874-9399(14)00028-5 [pii]
- Sahara M, Santoro F, Chien KR (2015) Programming and reprogramming a human heart cell. EMBO J 34(6):710–738. doi:10.15252/embj.201490563
- Sanchez-Freire V, Lee AS, Hu S, Abilez OJ, Liang P, Lan F, Huber BC, Ong SG, Hong WX, Huang M, Wu JC (2014) Effect of human donor cell source on differentiation and function of cardiac induced pluripotent stem cells. J Am Coll Cardiol 64(5):436–448. doi:10.1016/j. jacc.2014.04.056, S0735-1097(14)02741-7 [pii]
- Santos F, Hendrich B, Reik W, Dean W (2002) Dynamic reprogramming of DNA methylation in the early mouse embryo. Dev Biol 241(1):172–182. doi:10.1006/dbio.2001.0501, S0012160601905019 [pii]
- Sarraf SA, Stancheva I (2004) Methyl-CpG binding protein MBD1 couples histone H3 methylation at lysine 9 by SETDB1 to DNA replication and chromatin assembly. Mol Cell 15(4):595– 605. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2004.06.043, S1097276504004046 [pii]
- Schlesinger Y, Straussman R, Keshet I, Farkash S, Hecht M, Zimmerman J, Eden E, Yakhini Z, Ben-Shushan E, Reubinoff BE, Bergman Y, Simon I, Cedar H (2007) Polycomb-mediated methylation on Lys27 of histone H3 pre-marks genes for de novo methylation in cancer. Nat Genet 39(2):232–236. doi:10.1038/ng1950

- Schneeberger Y, Stenzig J, Hubner F, Schaefer A, Reichenspurner H, Eschenhagen T (2016) Pharmacokinetics of the experimental non-nucleosidic DNA methyl transferase inhibitor N-phthalyl-l-tryptophan (RG 108) in rats. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol 118(5):327–332. doi:10.1111/bcpt.12514
- Schubeler D (2015) Function and information content of DNA methylation. Nature 517(7534):321– 326. doi:10.1038/nature14192
- Senyo SE, Steinhauser ML, Pizzimenti CL, Yang VK, Cai L, Wang M, Wu TD, Guerquin-Kern JL, Lechene CP, Lee RT (2013) Mammalian heart renewal by pre-existing cardiomyocytes. Nature 493(7432):433–436. doi:10.1038/nature11682
- Shah SJ, Blair JE, Filippatos GS, Macarie C, Ruzyllo W, Korewicki J, Bubenek-Turconi SI, Ceracchi M, Bianchetti M, Carminati P, Kremastinos D, Grzybowski J, Valentini G, Sabbah HN, Gheorghiade M (2009) Effects of istaroxime on diastolic stiffness in acute heart failure syndromes: results from the Hemodynamic, Echocardiographic, and Neurohormonal Effects of Istaroxime, a Novel Intravenous Inotropic and Lusitropic Agent: a Randomized Controlled Trial in Patients Hospitalized with Heart Failure (HORIZON-HF) trial. Am Heart J 157(6):1035–1041. doi:S0002-8703(09)00163-X [pii] 10.1016/j.ahj.2009.03.007
- Sharif J, Muto M, Takebayashi S, Suetake I, Iwamatsu A, Endo TA, Shinga J, Mizutani-Koseki Y, Toyoda T, Okamura K, Tajima S, Mitsuya K, Okano M, Koseki H (2007) The SRA protein Np95 mediates epigenetic inheritance by recruiting Dnmt1 to methylated DNA. Nature 450(7171):908–912. doi:10.1038/nature06397
- Shen L, Wu H, Diep D, Yamaguchi S, D'Alessio AC, Fung HL, Zhang K, Zhang Y (2013) Genome-wide analysis reveals TET- and TDG-dependent 5-methylcytosine oxidation dynamics. Cell 153(3):692–706. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2013.04.002, S0092-8674(13)00401-7 [pii]
- Sim CB, Ziemann M, Kaspi A, Harikrishnan KN, Ooi J, Khurana I, Chang L, Hudson JE, El-Osta A, Porrello ER (2015) Dynamic changes in the cardiac methylome during postnatal development. FASEB J 29(4):1329–1343. doi:10.1096/fj.14-264093
- Singh N, Duenas-Gonzalez A, Lyko F, Medina-Franco JL (2009) Molecular modeling and molecular dynamics studies of hydralazine with human DNA methyltransferase 1. ChemMedChem 4(5):792–799. doi:10.1002/cmdc.200900017
- Skene PJ, Illingworth RS, Webb S, Kerr AR, James KD, Turner DJ, Andrews R, Bird AP (2010) Neuronal MeCP2 is expressed at near histone-octamer levels and globally alters the chromatin state. Mol Cell 37(4):457–468. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2010.01.030, S1097-2765(10)00110-3 [pii]
- Smallwood SA, Lee HJ, Angermueller C, Krueger F, Saadeh H, Peat J, Andrews SR, Stegle O, Reik W, Kelsey G (2014) Single-cell genome-wide bisulfite sequencing for assessing epigenetic heterogeneity. Nat Methods 11(8):817–820. doi:10.1038/nmeth.3035
- Smith ZD, Meissner A (2013) DNA methylation: roles in mammalian development. Nat Rev Genet 14(3):204–220. doi:10.1038/nrg3354
- Smith ZD, Chan MM, Mikkelsen TS, Gu H, Gnirke A, Regev A, Meissner A (2012) A unique regulatory phase of DNA methylation in the early mammalian embryo. Nature 484(7394):339– 344. doi:10.1038/nature10960
- Stadler MB, Murr R, Burger L, Ivanek R, Lienert F, Scholer A, van Nimwegen E, Wirbelauer C, Oakeley EJ, Gaidatzis D, Tiwari VK, Schubeler D (2011) DNA-binding factors shape the mouse methylome at distal regulatory regions. Nature 480(7378):490–495. doi:10.1038/ nature10716
- Stein R, Razin A, Cedar H (1982) In vitro methylation of the hamster adenine phosphoribosyltransferase gene inhibits its expression in mouse L cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 79(11):3418–3422
- Stenzig J, Hirt MN, Loser A, Bartholdt LM, Hensel JT, Werner TR, Riemenschneider M, Indenbirken D, Guenther T, Muller C, Hubner N, Stoll M, Eschenhagen T (2016) DNA methylation in an engineered heart tissue model of cardiac hypertrophy: common signatures and effects of DNA methylation inhibitors. Basic Res Cardiol 111(1):9. doi:10.1007/s00395-015-0528-z [pii]
- Stresemann C, Lyko F (2008) Modes of action of the DNA methyltransferase inhibitors azacytidine and decitabine. Int J Cancer 123(1):8–13. doi:10.1002/ijc.23607

- Tahiliani M, Koh KP, Shen Y, Pastor WA, Bandukwala H, Brudno Y, Agarwal S, Iyer LM, Liu DR, Aravind L, Rao A (2009) Conversion of 5-methylcytosine to 5-hydroxymethylcytosine in mammalian DNA by MLL partner TET1. Science 324(5929):930–935. doi:10.1126/ science.1170116
- Takahashi K, Yamanaka S (2006) Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 126(4):663–676. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2006.07.024, S0092-8674(06)00976-7 [pii]
- The ENCODE (ENCyclopedia Of DNA Elements) Project (2004). Science 306(5696):636–640. doi:306/5696/636 [pii] 10.1126/science.1105136
- Thomson JP, Skene PJ, Selfridge J, Clouaire T, Guy J, Webb S, Kerr AR, Deaton A, Andrews R, James KD, Turner DJ, Illingworth R, Bird A (2010) CpG islands influence chromatin structure via the CpG-binding protein Cfp1. Nature 464(7291):1082–1086. doi:10.1038/nature08924
- Uchida S, Dimmeler S (2015) Long noncoding RNAs in cardiovascular diseases. Circ Res 116(4):737–750. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.302521
- Vaquerizas JM, Kummerfeld SK, Teichmann SA, Luscombe NM (2009) A census of human transcription factors: function, expression and evolution. Nat Rev Genet 10(4):252–263. doi:10.1038/nrg2538
- Vardimon L, Kressmann A, Cedar H, Maechler M, Doerfler W (1982) Expression of a cloned adenovirus gene is inhibited by in vitro methylation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 79(4):1073–1077
- Varley KE, Gertz J, Bowling KM, Parker SL, Reddy TE, Pauli-Behn F, Cross MK, Williams BA, Stamatoyannopoulos JA, Crawford GE, Absher DM, Wold BJ, Myers RM (2013) Dynamic DNA methylation across diverse human cell lines and tissues. Genome Res 23(3):555–567. doi:10.1101/gr.147942.112
- Venolia L, Gartler SM (1983) Comparison of transformation efficiency of human active and inactive X-chromosomal DNA. Nature 302(5903):82–83
- Vujic A, Robinson EL, Ito M, Haider S, Ackers-Johnson M, See K, Methner C, Figg N, Brien P, Roderick HL, Skepper J, Ferguson-Smith A, Foo RS (2015) Experimental heart failure modelled by the cardiomyocyte-specific loss of an epigenome modifier, DNMT3B. J Mol Cell Cardiol 82:174–183. doi:10.1016/j.yjmcc.2015.03.007, S0022-2828(15)00081-4 [pii]
- Waddington CH (1939) An introduction to modern genetics. The Macmillan Company, New York Waddington CH (1942) The epigenotype. Endeavour 1:18–20
- Warnecke PM, Clark SJ (1999) DNA methylation profile of the mouse skeletal alpha-actin promoter during development and differentiation. Mol Cell Biol 19(1):164–172
- Watson CJ, Collier P, Tea I, Neary R, Watson JA, Robinson C, Phelan D, Ledwidge MT, McDonald KM, McCann A, Sharaf O, Baugh JA (2014) Hypoxia-induced epigenetic modifications are associated with cardiac tissue fibrosis and the development of a myofibroblast-like phenotype. Hum Mol Genet 23(8):2176–2188. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddt614
- Watson CJ, Horgan S, Neary R, Glezeva N, Tea I, Corrigan N, McDonald K, Ledwidge M, Baugh J (2016) Epigenetic therapy for the treatment of hypertension-induced cardiac hypertrophy and fibrosis. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Ther 21(1):127–137. doi:10.1177/1074248415591698
- Wu H, Coskun V, Tao J, Xie W, Ge W, Yoshikawa K, Li E, Zhang Y, Sun YE (2010) Dnmt3adependent nonpromoter DNA methylation facilitates transcription of neurogenic genes. Science 329(5990):444–448. doi:329/5990/444 [pii] 10.1126/science.1190485
- Wyatt GR (1951) Recognition and estimation of 5-methylcytosine in nucleic acids. Biochem J 48(5):581–584
- Xiao D, Dasgupta C, Chen M, Zhang K, Buchholz J, Xu Z, Zhang L (2013) Inhibition of DNA methylation reverses norepinephrine-induced cardiac hypertrophy in rats. Cardiovasc Res. doi:10.1093/cvr/cvt264
- Xie L, Weichel B, Ohm JE, Zhang K (2011) An integrative analysis of DNA methylation and RNA-Seq data for human heart, kidney and liver. BMC Syst Biol 5(Suppl 3):S4. doi:10.1186/1752-0509-5-S3-S4
- Yi BA, Mummery CL, Chien KR (2013) Direct cardiomyocyte reprogramming: a new direction for cardiovascular regenerative medicine. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 3(9):a014050. doi:3/9/a014050 [pii] 10.1101/cshperspect.a014050

- Yoder JA, Walsh CP, Bestor TH (1997) Cytosine methylation and the ecology of intragenomic parasites. Trends Genet 13(8):335–340, doi:S0168-9525(97)01181-5 [pii]
- Zhang L, Lu X, Lu J, Liang H, Dai Q, Xu GL, Luo C, Jiang H, He C (2012) Thymine DNA glycosylase specifically recognizes 5-carboxylcytosine-modified DNA. Nat Chem Biol 8(4):328– 330. doi:10.1038/nchembio.914
- Zhao X, Ueba T, Christie BR, Barkho B, McConnell MJ, Nakashima K, Lein ES, Eadie BD, Willhoite AR, Muotri AR, Summers RG, Chun J, Lee KF, Gage FH (2003) Mice lacking methyl-CpG binding protein 1 have deficits in adult neurogenesis and hippocampal function. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 100(11):6777–6782. doi:10.1073/pnas.1131928100 [pii]
- Ziller MJ, Gu H, Muller F, Donaghey J, Tsai LT, Kohlbacher O, De Jager PL, Rosen ED, Bennett DA, Bernstein BE, Gnirke A, Meissner A (2013) Charting a dynamic DNA methylation landscape of the human genome. Nature 500(7463):477–481. doi:10.1038/nature12433


# 5

**Chromatin Remodeling in Heart Failure** 

Pei Han, Jin Yang, Ching Shang, and Ching-Pin Chang

# Contents

5.1	Introduction	104
5.2	ATP-Dependent Chromatin Remodeler and Cardiomyopathy: Lessons from Brg1	107
	5.2.1 Brg1 and Myocardial Morphogenesis	108
	5.2.2 Brg1 Function in Fetal and Adult Cardiomyocytes	108
5.3	Other BAF Subunits and Heart Function	110
5.4	Other ATP-Dependent Chromatin-Remodeling Factors and Heart Function	111
5.5	Interplay Among Nucleosome Remodeling, Histone Modifications, and DNA	
	Methylation in Heart Failure	111
	5.5.1 A Brg1–G9a–Dnmt3-Mediated Sequential Assembly of Repressive	
	Chromatin in Pathologically Stressed Hearts	111
5.6	Long Noncoding RNA and Chromatin Remodeling in the Heart	113
57	Histone Variants, Chromatin Remodeling, and Heart Failure	115

P. Han • C. Shang

Division of Cardiovascular Medicine, Stanford University School of Medicine, Stanford, CA 94305, USA

J. Yang

Department of Medicine, Krannert Institute of Cardiology and Division of Cardiology, Indiana University School of Medicine, 1800 N. Capitol Ave, E404, Indianapolis, IN 46202, USA

C.-P. Chang, MD, PhD (🖂)

Department of Medicine, Krannert Institute of Cardiology and Division of Cardiology, Indiana University School of Medicine, 1800 N. Capitol Ave, E404, Indianapolis, IN 46202, USA

Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Indiana University School of Medicine, 1800 N. Capitol Ave, E404, Indianapolis, IN 46202, USA

Department of Medical and Molecular Genetics, Indiana University School of Medicine, 1800 N. Capitol Ave, E404, Indianapolis, IN 46202, USA e-mail: changcp@iu.edu

Department of Medicine, Krannert Institute of Cardiology and Division of Cardiology, Indiana University School of Medicine, 1800 N. Capitol Ave, E404, Indianapolis, IN 46202, USA

5.8	Targeti	ng Chromatin Remodeling and Associated Epigenetic Events for Heart	
	Failure	Therapy	116
	5.8.1	Targeting Histone/DNA-Modifying Enzymes Recruited by Chromatin	
		Remodelers to Trigger Heart Failure	117
	5.8.2	Targeting Chromatin Readers That Participate in Chromatin Remodeling	
		and Modifications	117
	5.8.3	Targeting the Helicase/ATPase Domain of Brg1	118
	5.8.4	RNA Drugs for Heart Failure	118
5.9	Future	Perspective	119
Refe	rences	-	120

#### Abstract

Chromatin provides a dynamic DNA scaffold that reacts to physiological and pathological signals to control the accessibility of DNA sequence and the genomic responses to environmental stimuli. Chromatin can be regulated by nucleosome remodeling, histone modification, and DNA methylation. Histone and DNA modifications occur by covalent alterations of the side chains of histone or bases of DNA, catalyzed by specific histone- and DNA-modifying enzymes, whereas nucleosome or chromatin-remodeling controls noncovalent changes of nucleosomes, including their position and histone composition, effected by adenosine triphosphate (ATP)-dependent chromatin-remodeling complexes. Within the nucleosome, the chromatin remodelers can replace canonical histones with variant forms of histones, which are involved in cardiac stress response. In addition, chromatin remodelers can interact with histone- and DNAmodifying enzymes to control chromatin structure and reprogram gene expression in pathologically stressed hearts. More recently, a chromatin-remodeling factor was found to interact with a cardiac-specific long noncoding RNA to control gene expression and maintain cardiac homeostasis. These functional aspects of chromatin remodelers are critical for the pathogenesis of cardiomyopathy and heart failure. This chapter is focused on the recent progress in understanding the roles of chromatin-remodeling factors in heart failure, new chromatin-based mechanisms, and potential therapeutic strategies for heart failure.

# 5.1 Introduction

The human genomic DNA within a cell is ~1.7 m long, whereas the nucleus is only ~6  $\mu$ m in diameter. The cells have evolved chromatin that associates DNA with histone proteins, which provide a scaffold to package the DNA into a small nucleus. The basic packaging unit of chromatin is the nucleosome, consisting of ~147 bp DNA that wraps around an octamer core of histones (two histone H3, two histone H4, two histone H2A–H2B dimers) (Fig. 5.1a). In vertebrates, histone H1 binds to the nucleosomes to stabilize the core histone-bound DNA. Histone H1 also binds to 20–80 bp "linker DNA" between nucleosomes to facilitate the condensation of nucleosomes into 30-nm helical chromatin fibers to further package the genome.



**Fig. 5.1** Mechanisms of chromatin remodeling (a) Schematic illustration of the nucleosome structure. A typical nucleosome contains 147 base pairs of DNA (*purple line*) that wrap a histone core composed of two molecules of each of the canonical histone 2A, 2B, 3, and 4 proteins. The N-terminal tail (*blue line*) of a histone protein is subject to a variety of covalent modifications, including acetylation (*Ac*), methylation (*Me*), and phosphorylation (*Pi*). (b) The open and close state of chromatin. Chromatin-remodeling complex (*yellow ovals*) utilizes energy derived from ATP hydrolysis to package (*left*) or open (*right*) the chromatin to switch on (*right*) or off (*left*) downstream genes

The nucleosome structure is determined by chemical interactions between histones and DNA, which can be covalently modified by histone- or DNA-modifying enzymes. In addition, the genomic position and histone composition of nucleosomes can be altered noncovalently by the ATP-dependent nucleosome-/chromatinremodeling complexes (Figs. 5.1b and 5.2a). Such covalent and noncovalent modifications of nucleosomes result in alterations of chromatin and changes of DNA sequence accessibility to transcription, recombination, or repair.

An essential component of the chromatin-remodeling complex is the ATPase subunit, which hydrolyzes ATP to provide the energy required for the complex to mobilize nucleosomes or change their histone composition. This ATPase subunit defines four families of chromatin-remodeling complexes: SWI/SNF (switch defective/sucrose nonfermenting), ISWI (imitation switch), CHD (chromodomain, helicase, DNA binding), and INO80 (inositol requiring 80) (reviewed in (Clapier and Cairns 2009; Wu et al. 2009; Ho and Crabtree 2010; Saha et al. 2006)) (Fig. 5.2a). The ATPase protein contains a central catalytic domain (ATPase) flanked by specific domains that uniquely distinguish the ATPase subunit of each family (Fig. 5.2b). The catalytic domain hydrolyzes ATP, whereas the other domains may recognize modified histones, regulate the catalytic activity, or mediate protein-protein interactions with other regulators of chromatin or transcription. The core catalytic domain consists of two RecA-like subdomains: a DEAD-like helicase superfamily C-terminal domain (DExx) and a helicase superfamily C-terminal domain (HELICc). Both the DExx and HELICc domain contain conserved motifs that are characteristic of the superfamily 2 (SF2) helicase (Fairman-Williams et al. 2010; Byrd and Raney 2012) (Fig. 5.2b). Hence, the catalytic domain that hydrolyzes ATP also shares the biochemical structure of SF2 helicases that participate in the

Mechanisms of chromatin remodeling



#### Chromatin remodeling complex and the ATPases

**Fig. 5.2** Chromatin-remodeling complex and the ATPases (**a**) Composition of four major families of chromatin-remodeling complexes, defined by the ATPase protein subunit (Brg1/Brm, SNF2H/L, CHD, p400/INO80). ATPases are shown in *yellow*, and other subunits in *emerald*. (**b**) Major domains of the ATPase subunit are denoted in colors. The ATPase/helicase core domain is split into two parts: DExx (*blue*) and HELICc (*purple*), separated by short (*green*) or long (*orange*) insertion. Other flanking domains, which are distinct among four families of ATPases, are displayed in *light brown* color

unwinding and translocation of nucleic acids (Fairman-Williams et al. 2010; Byrd and Raney 2012). The presence of such ATPase/helicase domain in a chromatinremodeling complex suggests that the activities of these complexes can be regulated by RNA or DNA. A recent work, indeed, showed that the ATPase/helicase domain of the chromatin-remodeling factor Brg1 is sequestered by a long noncoding RNA to prevent Brg1 from binding to its genomic target sites (Han et al. 2014).

Besides the ATPase subunit, the chromatin-remodeling complex comprises >6–10 other subunit proteins, which contain specific domains involved in diverse functions, such as histone binding, DNA binding, or protein–protein interactions. For example, the bromodomain recognizes acetylated lysine within the histone tail (Filippakopoulos et al. 2012), chromodomain binds to methylated histone (Eissenberg 2012), and plant homeodomain (PHD) recognizes methylated lysine, acetylated lysine, or unmethylated arginine of histone H3 (Sanchez and Zhou 2011). These functional domains help target the remodeling complex to specifically

modified histones on the genome. The complex's protein subunits may also contain DNA-binding domains that assist with the binding of the remodeling complex to DNA. For instance, the ARID/BRIGHT domain binds to DNA directly without known DNA sequence specificity (Dallas et al. 2000), the high motility group-box (HMG-b) domain recognizes the minor groove of DNA (Stros et al. 2007), and the RFX domain binds to single-stranded DNA (Emery et al. 1996; Masternak et al. 1998). Furthermore, the subunit domains can mediate the complex's interaction with other regulatory proteins. The N-terminal domain of Brg1, for example, can bind to zinc-finger proteins (Kadam and Emerson 2003), providing a mechanism for the remodeling complex to associate with specific partners. Importantly, many subunit proteins of the remodeling complex have different isoforms that are expressed broadly or in a tissue-specific manner. Such diversity of subunit proteins allows the assembly of distinct chromatin-remodeling complexes under different pathophysiological contexts, including stem cell self-renewal, cancer progression, and brain development (Wu et al. 2009; Ho and Crabtree 2010; Kadoch and Crabtree 2013; Kadoch et al. 2013; Wu and Arora 2015).

The interactions between chromatin remodelers, histone- and DNA-modifying enzymes are essential for chromatin regulation. The cross talk between chromatin regulators is partly mediated by their direct molecular interactions. In yeast, the SWI/SNF complex is recruited by GCN5 histone acetyltransferase to the target promoters to activate gene transcription (Natarajan et al. 1999). Moreover, the Snf2h- and Tip5-containing nucleolar remodeling complex (NoRC), a member of the ISWI family, represses the transcription of ribosomal RNA by recruiting histone deacetylase 1 (Hdac1), Dnmt1, and Dnmt3b to deacetylate histones and methylate the promoter of ribosomal DNA (Santoro et al. 2002; Zhou et al. 2002), thus creating repressive chromatin for gene silencing. Histone modification status can also influence the targeting of chromatin remodelers to specific genomic loci. The chromatin remodeler RSC (remodeler of structure of chromatin), for example, is recruited to the 5' ends of genes through its bromodomain-mediated recognition of tandem H3K14ac (Kasten et al. 2004).

Most of the fundamental mechanisms underlying the interactions among different chromatin-regulating factors were conducted in the yeast or cells. The implications of those interactions in cardiac pathophysiology are largely undefined, despite that chromatin remodeling is critical for heart development and disease (Han et al. 2011; Chang and Bruneau 2012). Also largely unknown is how chromatinremodeling factors work with variant forms of histone and long noncoding RNAs to regulate chromatin and control gene expression in the heart. Here, we focus on the recent progress of chromatin-remodeling research in heart failure.

# 5.2 ATP-Dependent Chromatin Remodeler and Cardiomyopathy: Lessons from Brg1

Brg1 is an ATPase subunit of the BAF (brahma-associated factor) chromatinremodeling complex, a vertebrate homolog of the yeast SWI/SNF complex. In mammals, the BAF complex contains ~12 protein components, including an ATPase subunit encoded by either Brm (brahma) or Brg1 (brahma-related gene 1). These two ATPase subunits, although highly homologous, exhibit nonredundant functions *in vivo*. Brg1-null mutation is peri-implantationally lethal (Bultman et al. 2000), whereas Brm-null mice are viable and develop normally with modest increase in body mass (Reyes et al. 1998). Recent studies showed that Brg1 plays essential roles in heart development and disease (Han et al. 2014; Chang et al. 2011; Hang et al. 2010; Stankunas et al. 2008; Takeuchi et al. 2011; Li et al. 2013).

## 5.2.1 Brg1 and Myocardial Morphogenesis

In developing mouse embryos, Brg1 functions in the endocardium to control myocardial trabeculation that is required for forming cardiac muscle mass (Stankunas et al. 2008; Zhang et al. 2013). Abnormal myocardial trabeculation causes cardiomyopathy and heart failure in humans (Jenni et al. 1999). The developing myocardial cells respond to signals released from the adjacent endocardial layer to form a network of finger-like projections (trabeculae) that grow into the ventricular chambers (Stankunas et al. 2008; Zhang et al. 2013). Between the endocardium and myocardium of early embryos is a thick layer of extracellular matrix (termed cardiac jelly) that coordinates endocardial-myocardial signals and growth of the myocardial trabeculae. In early development, endocardial Brg1 represses the expression of a secreted matrix metalloprotease (Adamts1) to maintain cardiac jelly composition so as to support myocardial trabecular growth. Later in development, Adamts1 is derepressed in the endocardium, resulting in normal degradation of cardiac jelly and thus physiological cessation of trabecular growth. Disruption of Brg1 in the mouse endocardium causes premature expression of Adamts1, leading to dissipation of cardiac jelly and premature termination of myocardial trabeculation (Stankunas et al. 2008). This chromatin-based repression of endocardial Adamts1 allows the establishment of extracellular microenvironment to support myocardial morphogenesis.

#### 5.2.2 Brg1 Function in Fetal and Adult Cardiomyocytes

Brg1 also plays critical roles in fetal cardiomyocytes to control gene expression, cardiac growth, and differentiation (Hang et al. 2010). Mouse embryos lacking myocardial Brg1 die around embryonic day 11.5 (E11.5) due to thin compact myocardium and absent interventricular septum (Hang et al. 2010). Brg1 promotes fetal cardiomyocyte proliferation by maintaining Bmp10 and suppressing p57kip2 expression (Hang et al. 2010). Bmp10 is a myocardial growth factor, whereas p57kip2 is a cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor that suppresses cell-cycle progression (Chen et al. 2004). The myocardial defects observed in the mutants are caused by severely reduced myocardial proliferation as a result of Bmp10 deficiency and ectopic p57kip2 expression. In parallel to proliferation control, Brg1 partners with HDAC and poly (ADP ribose) polymerases (PARP) on the promoters of myosin heavy chain (MHC) genes to repress  $\alpha$ -MHC (*Myh6*) and activate  $\beta$ -MHC (*Myh7*)

expression in embryonic heart ventricles (Hang et al. 2010). In mice, Myh6 is the dominant MHC isoform expressed in adult hearts, while Myh7 is the primary isoform in embryonic hearts. The Brg1/HDAC/PARP protein complex thus maintains an expression of the fetal isoform of MHC in developing cardiomyocytes to preserve the fetal state of myocyte differentiation. Therefore, Brg1 governs two independent pathways to separately control fetal cardiomyocyte proliferation and differentiation (Hang et al. 2010).

Brg1, although highly expressed in fetal hearts, is downregulated in the neonatal period, coinciding with the physiological switch of *Myh7* to *Myh6* expression and with the maturation of fetal cardiomyocytes into postmitotic, well-differentiated adult cardiomyocytes (Hang et al. 2010). However, when the mature heart is pathologically stressed, Brg1 expression is reactivated in the stressed cardiomyocytes (Hang et al. 2010). Once activated, Brg1 forms a protein complex with its embryonic partners, HDAC and PARP1, on the promoters of *Myh* genes to repress *Myh6* and activate *Myh7* expression, representing a return to the fetal state of Brg1-mediated *Myh* expression control (Hang et al. 2010) (Fig. 5.3a). Such pathological switch of *Myh* expression contributes to the development of cardiac hypertrophy and failure (Herron and McDonald 2002; Krenz and Robbins 2004; James et al.

Chromatin remodeling underlies heart failure



**Fig. 5.3** Chromatin remodeling underlies heart failure (**a**) In response to pathologic cardiac stress, BRG1 (ATPase of BAF complex) expression is activated, and once activated, BRG1 forms a multimeric protein complex with G9a, DNMT3, HDAC, and PARP to alter the chromatin structure and expression of cardiac genes, such as *MYH6*. The long noncoding RNA *MYHEART (MHRT, green)* sequesters BRG1 from its genomic target sites by directly binding to the helicase domain of BRG1. (**b**) Histone variants, such as H2A.X and H2A.Z, can replace canonical histone proteins in the nucleosome to alter chromatin structure and regulate gene expression in the heart

2005; Lompre et al. 1979; Swynghedauw 1999; Miyata et al. 2000; Abraham et al. 2002; Lowes et al. 2002; Blaxall et al. 2003). Besides *Myh*, Brg1 directly activates the expression of osteopontin (*Opn*), a pro-fibrotic factor secreted by cardiomyocytes to induce fibrosis (Han et al. 2014). Therefore, Brg1 is a stress-activated chromatin remodeler that reprograms cardiac gene expression and triggers hypertrophy and heart failure (Hang et al. 2010). The stress-induced assembly of three classes of chromatin-regulating factors—Brg1, HDAC, and PARP—on the *Myh* gene promoters suggests that chromatin is a place where stress-response signals converge to reprogram gene expression. In patients with hypertrophy cardiomyopathy, BRG1 expression is also activated in the hearts, and its level of expression correlates strongly with the degree of *Myh* switch and the severity of hypertrophy (Hang et al. 2010), suggesting a conservation of Brg1-mediated hypertrophy mechanism.

# 5.3 Other BAF Subunits and Heart Function

Many BAF subunits are involved in the regulation of heart function or development (reviewed previously (Han et al. 2011; Chang and Bruneau 2012)). Notably, they appear to control different pathways in the heart, as evidenced by a spectrum of cardiac defects caused by the genetic mutation of individual subunits. This raises an intriguing question of how these subunits control specific cardiac functions. One possibility is that each BAF subunit can interact with different partners and form a distinct chromatin-remodeling complex that has specific cardiac functions. Another scenario is that specific BAF subunits may have functions independent of the BAF chromatin-remodeling complex; for example, besides being a component of the BAF complex, BAF180 is also present in the kinetochore complex of neural cells (Lessard et al. 2007).

During heart development, Baf180 controls cardiac chamber maturation partly by controlling promoters of genes implicated in the retinoid acid pathway, including RAR<sup>β2</sup> and CRABPII (Wang et al. 2004). Furthermore, Baf180 is required for expression of genes essential for coronary vessel formation (Huang et al. 2008). The other BAF subunit Baf60c is essential for heart morphogenesis partly through its regulation of Hand2, Bmp10, and Irx3 (Lickert et al. 2004), and this Baf60c subunit also controls cardiac looping by activating Notch signaling and Nodal expression (Takeuchi et al. 2007). Baf200 is required for heart morphogenesis, and Baf200-null mutant embryos display thin myocardium, ventricular septal defect, common atrioventricular valve, double outlet right ventricle, and reduced coronary arteries (He et al. 2014). Since mouse embryos lacking these BAF subunits are embryonically lethal, their roles in adult heart disease remain to be determined. More recently, Baf250a is implicated in controlling cardiomyocyte function. Baf250a depletion in cultured cardiomyocytes results in arrhythmic contraction of these cells (Singh and Archer 2014; Wu et al. 2014). Although the details remain elusive, Baf250a may interact with the nucleosome remodeling and histone deacetylase (NURD/HDAC) complex to inhibit H3K27Ac formation and repress the expression of Myocardin, Gata4, Myl3, and cTnnt (Singh and Archer 2014). In addition, Baf250a is critical for

the proper functioning of sinoatrial node, which controls the rhythmic cardiac beating (Wu et al. 2014). Mutant mice with sinoatrial node-specific Baf250a deletion exhibit sinus bradycardia and irregular sinus rhythm. Mechanistically, Baf250a activates *Tbx3* expression and coordinates with Hdac3 and Tbx3 to repress *Nkx2.5* expression. Disruption of Baf250a causes an ectopic expression of Nkx2.5, which in return stimulates the expression of cardiac transcription factors, such as Gata4 and Tbx5, and activates improperly the contractile program in the sinoatrial node. Such regulation of cardiac gene programming by the chromatin remodeler (Baf250a), histone modifier (Hdac3), and transcription factors (Tbx3, Nkx2.5), is essential for the heart to beat steadily.

# 5.4 Other ATP-Dependent Chromatin-Remodeling Factors and Heart Function

The CHD7 chromatin remodeler is essential for mammalian heart development and function. *Chd7*-null mice die before birth and show defects in multiple tissues. In mice, Chd7 controls aortic arch development through its interaction with Tbx1 (Hurd et al. 2007; Randall et al. 2009). Chd7 interacts with BMP and SMADs to control *Nkx2.5* expression and cardiogenesis (Liu et al. 2014a). In mouse neural crest cells, Chd7 complexes with Brg1 on the *PlexinA2* promoter to activate *PlexinA2*, which encodes a receptor that responds to Semaphorin signals to navigate neural crest cells into the pharyngeal arch and cardiac outflow tract to pattern their morphogenesis (Li et al. 2013). Besides, Chd2 and Snf2h of the ISWI family are required for early embryo development and survival (Stopka and Skoultchi 2003; Marfella et al. 2006); however, their roles in cardiovascular development are unknown (reviewed previously (Han et al. 2011; Chang and Bruneau 2012)).

# 5.5 Interplay Among Nucleosome Remodeling, Histone Modifications, and DNA Methylation in Heart Failure

# 5.5.1 A Brg1–G9a–Dnmt3-Mediated Sequential Assembly of Repressive Chromatin in Pathologically Stressed Hearts

Although chromatin-based gene reprogramming is a crucial part of heart failure, it remains obscure how chromatin-regulating factors act in concert with each other to establish, maintain, and modulate chromatin structure in the heart. Of special interest are the cardiac-specific interplays between three different classes of chromatin regulators: ATP-dependent chromatin-remodeling factors, histone-modifying enzymes, and DNA-modifying enzymes. Defining how these regulators interact to regulate chromatin and gene expression in the pathologically stressed heart will enhance our understanding of the epigenetic basis of heart failure.

*Myh6* and *Myh7* are antithetically regulated under different pathophysiological conditions to regulate heart function. Interestingly, embedded within the *Myh6* and

*Myh7* gene loci is crucial information of cardiac epigenetic regulation. These loci include genomic sites that encode the epigenetic regulators miR208a (within Myh6 loci) (Montgomery et al. 2011; Callis et al. 2009; van Rooij et al. 2007), miR208b (within Myh7 loci) (van Rooij et al. 2009), and Myheart (within Myh7 loci) (Han et al. 2014). Further analysis of the chromatin scaffold of Myh6 at different pathophysiological states revealed two new classes of chromatin modifiers-G9a/GLP histone methyltransferase and DNA methyltransferase (DNMT)-that are necessary for stress-induced cardiac hypertrophy and failure (Han et al. 2016). In mice, G9a/Glp and Dnmt3 are highly expressed in fetal hearts, but their expression is downregulated in healthy adult hearts. Expression of G9a/Glp and Dnmt3, however, is reactivated in cardiomyocytes of adult mouse hearts that are pressure-overloaded by transaortic constriction. The activation of G9a/Glp and Dnmt3 establishes a repressive chromatin scaffold composed of methylated histone 3 lysine 9 (H3K9) and CpG dinucleotides on the loci of Myh6 to repress its expression in stressed hearts. Cardiomyocyte-specific deletion of G9a/Glp or Dnmt3a reduces the repressive chromatin marks, lessens cardiac hypertrophy, and prevents heart failure in pathologically stressed mice. Pharmacological inhibition of their enzyme activities by small molecule inhibitors of G9a/Glp or Dnmt can also improve stress-induced cardiac hypertrophy and failure. In hypertrophic human hearts, G9a/GLP and DNMT are also activated, and their activation correlates strongly with the severity of cardiomyopathy as well as with H3K9 and CpG methylation of the human MYH6 promoter. These observations show new roles of G9a/GLP and DNMT in the pathogenesis of cardiomyopathy and suggest a conserved chromatin mechanism in human cardiomyopathy. Furthermore, the effectiveness of small molecule inhibitors BIX01294 and AZA that inhibit G9a/GLP and DNMT, respectively, in reducing heart failure suggests a feasible pharmacological approach to deactivate chromatin methylation and augment Myh6 and other genes to improve ventricular function of the failing heart (Han et al. 2016).

Our studies showed that Brg1 is required for the targeting of G9a and Dnmt3 to Myh6 genomic sites and the subsequent H3K9 and DNA methylation of Myh6 promoter. Brg1, G9a/Glp, and Dnmt3 form a physical complex in the stressed hearts (Han et al. 2016). In hearts that lack Brg1 in cardiomyocytes, G9a/Glp and Dnmt3 expression remains activated by cardiac stress, but the proteins fail to recognize Myh6 promoters and catalyze H3K9/DNA methylation on Myh6 sites, indicating that Brg1 is essential for the recruitment of G9a/Glp and Dnmt3 to target and catalyze CpG methylation of Myh6 sites, whereas G9a does not require Dnmt3 to target and methylate histones of Myh6 promoters. The findings reveal a Brg1-governed sequential recruitment of chromatin-modifying enzymes to Myh6 loci and demonstrate a new mechanistic link from chromatin-remodeling factor to H3K9 and CpG methylation. This provides a mechanism by which pathological stress triggers a successive assembly of repressive chromatin, leading to DNA methylation and repression of a key molecular motor gene, essential for cardiac myopathy (Fig. 5.3a).

These studies show that how a repressive chromatin environment on *Myh6* is created by five classes of chromatin regulators: Brg1, G9a/Glp, Dnmt3, Hdac, and

Parp. Among these chromatin factors, however, only the expression of Brg1, G9a/ Glp, and Dnmt3—but not Hdac (Hdac1, 2, 3) or Parp1—is stress induced in mouse and human hearts. Further investigations will be crucial to elucidate the biochemical basis of how such stress-induced chromatin factors integrate with constitutive ones to modify chromatin substrates for gene silencing. It is also critical to address whether such coordination occurs only on specific genomic loci or it can be generalized to other genes that are repressed in the stressed hearts.

# 5.6 Long Noncoding RNA and Chromatin Remodeling in the Heart

Although ATP-dependent chromatin-remodeling factors are capable of localizing to specific regions of the genome (Clapier and Cairns 2009), it remains largely unknown how chromatin-remodeling factors target the genome to effect chromatin regulation. Defining the targeting mechanism is essential for understanding the specificity of chromatin and gene regulation by these chromatin regulators. Recent studies revealed a new targeting mechanism of the ATPase subunit of chromatin-remodeling complexes and showed that a long noncoding RNAs (lncRNA) is crucial for controlling such genomic targeting of chromatin remodelers (Han et al. 2014).

LncRNAs are differentially expressed in human hearts with ischemic and nonischemic cardiomyopathy (Yang et al. 2014; Devaux et al. 2015), suggesting the involvement of lncRNAs in human heart disease. Also, more than 1000 lncRNAs show expression changes in the developing mouse heart (Zhu et al. 2014), but their functions are largely unknown. Recent studies suggest essential roles of lncRNAs in mouse heart development. The lncRNA Braveheart (Bvht) can activate the expression of *Mesp1* and other cardiac regulatory genes to maintain cardiac lineage (Klattenhoff et al. 2013), possibly by sequestering the SUZ12 component of polycomb repressor complex 2 (PRC2) from cardiac gene promoters (Klattenhoff et al. 2013). The mechanism of Bvht, however, was mostly determined using cultured cells; it remains unclear how Bvht functions in vivo, which requires a mouse model with genetic disruption of Bvht transcript. In addition, no homolog of Bvht has been identified in humans or other species, raising an issue of whether Bvht provides a conserved mechanism for human cardiac lineage determination. On the other hand, Fendrr is a lateral mesoderm-specific lncRNA that controls development of tissues derived from the lateral mesoderm (Grote et al. 2013). Mouse embryos lacking Fendrr show reduced ventral body wall and hypoplasia of the heart ventricles (Grote et al. 2013). In these mutant embryos, *Gata6* and *Nkx2.5*, two important regulators of heart development (Olson 2006), are activated in the heart field, accompanied by an increase of active histone mark H3K4me3. Though detailed mechanism remains unknown, Fendrr may reduce the binding of TrxG/MLL histone-modifying complex to gene promoters, thus reducing the H3K4me3 gene activation mark (Schuettengruber et al. 2011). Meanwhile, Fendrr can bind to PRC2 to enhance PRC2's occupancy and H3K27me3 formation on a subset of gene promoters, leading to gene repression.

Our studies showed that lncRNA can regulate chromatin-remodeling factors to maintain heart function. A cardiac-specific lncRNA (Myheart) inhibits the chromatin remodeler Brg1 to protect the adult heart from pathological hypertrophy and failure (Han et al. 2014) (Fig. 5.3a). Myheart (Mhrt) represents a cluster of alternatively spliced nuclear lncRNA transcripts that are transcribed in an antisense direction from the promoter of Myh6 into the genomic site of Myh7. In fetal cardiomyocytes, Mhrt transcripts are expressed at low levels, but the abundance of *Mhrt* increases as the heart matures from the fetal stage to the neonatal period and to adulthood. However, when the mature adult heart is stressed by pathological stress such as pressure overload, *Mhrt* expression is suppressed, leading to cardiomyopathy. Transgenic restoration of Mhrt779 (the most abundant Mhrt species with 779 nucleotides) in cardiomyocytes to its prestress level prevents the heart from developing pathological hypertrophy and failure. Mechanistically, Mhrt directly binds to the helicase core of Brg1, which has dual nucleotide-binding specificities: it binds to lncRNA (*Mhrt*) and chromatinized DNA promoter (*Myh*) (Han et al. 2014). This dual binding of Brg1 helicase not only enables Brg1 to target its downstream promoter DNA but also allows *Mhrt* to competitively inhibit Brg1's promoter targeting and thus prevent Brg1 from controlling its downstream gene activities (Han et al. 2014). Brg1's target genes in the heart include Myh6, *Myh7*, and *Opn* that play critical roles during hypertrophy and fibrosis (Han et al. 2014).

*Mhrt* prevents Brg1 helicase from recognizing its chromatin targets in the heart, whereas Brg1 can bind to Mhrt promoter to repress cardiac Mhrt transcription (Han et al. 2014). This reciprocal inhibition demonstrates a feedback *Mhrt*-Brg1 circuit critical for the maintenance of cardiac function. Perturbation of the Mhrt-Brg1 circuit results in pathological hypertrophy of the mature adult heart (Han et al. 2014) and reduced proliferation of neonatal cardiomyocytes (Chang lab, unpublished results). The Mhrt-Brg1 interaction exemplifies a new mechanism by which lncRNA controls chromatin structure and sheds light on a new way in which Brg1/ BAF recognizes its genomic targets (Han et al. 2014; Devaux et al. 2015; Han and Chang 2015). The specificity of Brg1 chromatin targeting, however, remains unclear. At a given genetic locus, the distinct DNA sequence and specifically modified histones may establish a precise nucleosomal conformation that binds strongly to Brg1 helicase, thereby conferring to the Brg1-chromatin complex both specificity (DNA sequence-histone conformation) and stability (binding of Brg1 helicase to histone 3) (Han et al. 2014). The targeting specificity of Brg1 helicase can also be enhanced by the other chromatin-binding domains present in the remodeling complex, such as Brg1 bromodomain (Lee et al. 2010; Shen et al. 2007) that recognizes acetylated histones, and PHD domain of Baf45 subunit (Zeng et al. 2010; Lange et al. 2008) that binds to acetylated and methylated histones. Further studies of whether and how Mhrt, by binding to Brg1, alters the assembly of BAF complex may uncover new BAF chromatin-targeting mechanisms, just as the studies of how Mhrt inhibits Brg1 revealed an unexpected targeting mechanism of Brg1 (Han et al. 2014). In addition, it will be essential to define additional interactions between the helicase, DNA sequence, histones, and other BAF subunits to decipher the specificity of chromatin targeting. A solution of *Mhrt*-helicase crystal structure may provide deep insights into the chemical basis of this new lncRNA regulation and chromatin remodeling.

# 5.7 Histone Variants, Chromatin Remodeling, and Heart Failure

Chromatin-remodeling complexes can exchange canonical histones with variant forms of histones within the nucleosome. Canonical histones include histone 1 (H1) present at the linker region and the core histones (H2A, H2B, H3, and H4) that compose the nucleosome. These major histone proteins are encoded by multiple copies of the histone genes to provide the bulk of cellular histones, whereas the nonallelic histone variants are usually encoded by single-copy genes to provide specific regulation. Histone variants, which contain distinct amino acids and physicochemical properties from those of canonical histones, are localized to specific genomic regions, thus providing an additional way of controlling chromatin architecture (Kamakaka and Biggins 2005; Henikoff and Ahmad 2005; Sarma and Reinberg 2005).

Histone H1 has many sequence variants, including H1<sup>0</sup> and H5. Most of the H1 variants differ from H1 in the N- and C-terminal tail domains, and their abundance fluctuates in different cell types and under different physiological conditions (Terme et al. 2011). Among the core histones, histone H2A has the largest number of variants, which include H2A.Z, H2A.X, macroH2A, and H2A-Bbd. These variants differ from H2A in the length and sequence of C-terminal tails and in the genomic distribution. H2A.Z is deposited at specific genomic loci by the chromatinremodeling complex SWR1 (a SWI/SNF-like ATPase) to prevent the spread of silent heterochromatins and to poise genes for transcriptional activation (Mizuguchi et al. 2004). Conversely, H2A.Z can be evicted from the genome by INO80 chromatin-remodeling complex to maintain genomic stability (Papamichos-Chronakis et al. 2011; Billon and Cote 2013). On the other hand, the H2A.X variant participates in DNA repair by binding to genomic regions with double-strand DNA breaks (Paull et al. 2000). Histone H3 also has a number of variants: centromereassociated CENP-A and noncentromere-associated H3.1, H3.2, and H3.3 variants (Kamakaka and Biggins 2005). CENP-A assists gene transcription in the centromere (Henikoff and Ahmad 2005; Foltz et al. 2006), whereas H3.3 is associated with the gene body of active genes in non-pluripotent cells (Ahmad and Henikoff 2002) but localized to both active and repressed genes in embryonic stem cells and neuronal precursor cells (Goldberg et al. 2010). Unlike the other major histone subtypes, histone H2B and H4 are deficient in variant forms.

The roles of histone variants in heart failure are largely unknown. Analyses of chromatin purified from the cardiac nuclei revealed a wide spectrum of proteins associated with chromatin, with histone variants constituting 54 proteins out of the 1046 identified (Franklin et al. 2011). These findings suggest that histone variants are potential regulators of heart function (Fig. 5.3b). Indeed, H2A.Z was found to

be upregulated in the hypertrophic heart, and RNAi-mediated H2A.Z knockdown in cultured cardiomyocytes resulted in the reduction of cardiac hypertrophy and downregulation of growth-related genes (Chen et al. 2006). Another example is the H2A.X variant involved in doxorubicin-induced cardiac damage (Pang et al. 2013). In many types of cancers, doxorubicin is effective in inducing double-stranded DNA breaks to inhibit cancer cell growth; however, the use of doxorubicin in cancer treatment is limited by its severe side effects, particularly cardiotoxicity (Von Hoff et al. 1979). Part of the chemotherapeutic efficacy of doxorubicin comes from its ability to evict H2A.X from the chromatin to inhibit the repair of doublestranded DNA breaks (Pang et al. 2013). However, such H2A.X eviction also contributes to the development of cardiomyopathy (Pang et al. 2013). To further define the roles of histone variants in heart failure and their interactions with chromatin remodelers, functional and mechanistic studies involving animal models will be critical. The role of each histone variant can be defined by examining the heart function of animal models that have cardiac-specific disruption of histone variants, and their cardiac genomic localization determined by ChIP-seq analysis in the presence or absence of chromatin remodelers, such as the pro-hypertrophic Brg1 (Hang et al. 2010). A more complete picture of chromatin regulation in cardiac pathophysiology can be obtained by the genomic distribution of histone variants in combination with the landscape of nucleosome positioning and histone/DNA modifications.

# 5.8 Targeting Chromatin Remodeling and Associated Epigenetic Events for Heart Failure Therapy

In the United States alone, heart failure afflicts five million people, causes 300,000 deaths a year, and costs >30 billion dollars per year in treatment (Mozaffarian et al. 2015). The mortality rate of heart failure, however, remains high at  $\sim 50\%$  within 5 years of diagnosis. It is therefore important to define new mechanisms and develop new therapeutic strategies for heart failure. Genomewide studies showed the essential roles of chromatin modifications in cardiac gene reprograming in the hypertrophic hearts (Papait et al. 2013). Moreover, the plasticity of cardiac epigenome is demonstrated by the dynamic changes of DNA methylation pattern in stressed mouse hearts and in the hearts of patients with dilated cardiomyopathy or end-stage heart failure (Haas et al. 2013; Gilsbach et al. 2014; Movassagh et al. 2011). However, current heart failure therapy does not include drugs that specifically target chromatin regulators, despite the necessity of chromatin-based regulation for the development of heart failure and the plasticity of cardiac epigenome. Many drugs that target chromatin-modifying enzymes have been tested in clinical trials and show promise for cancer treatment. These drugs include HDAC inhibitors (for multiple myeloma, neuroblastoma, and T-cell lymphoma), EZH2 inhibitor (for solid tumors or B-cell lymphomas), and DNMT inhibitors (for myelodysplastic syndrome) (Mack 2010; Finley and Copeland 2014), and the FDA has approved the use of HDAC inhibitors for cutaneous T-cell lymphoma and DNMT inhibitors for

myelodysplastic syndrome therapy (Mack 2010). The success of chromatin-based therapy for cancers provides a premise for the feasibility of chromatin-based therapy of human heart failure.

# 5.8.1 Targeting Histone/DNA-Modifying Enzymes Recruited by Chromatin Remodelers to Trigger Heart Failure

Our studies reveal that the chromatin remodeler Brg1 can recruit histone- or DNAmodifying enzymes to reprogram gene expression in stressed hearts, leading to pathological hypertrophy and heart failure (Han et al. 2016). Such concerted covalent and noncovalent modifications of cardiac epigenome provide a foundation for targeting specific components of the epigenetic machinery for heart failure therapy. Chromatin remodelers, such as Brg1, can be inhibited by chemical inhibitors or by RNAs. In addition, chemical inhibitors of many histone/DNA-modifying enzymes are effective in reducing cardiomyocyte hypertrophy in cell culture or in animals (McKinsey and Kass 2007). These inhibitors, which include PARP inhibitors (PJ-34 (Szabo et al. 2002), AG-690/11026014 (Liu et al. 2014b)), HDAC inhibitors (TSA and analogs (Olson et al. 2006; Backs and Olson 2006; McKinsey and Olson 2004)), G9a/ GLP inhibitors (BIX01294 (Han et al. 2016)), and DNMT inhibitors (AZA (Han et al. 2016)), are potential drug candidates for heart failure treatment. Besides these prototypic drugs for heart failure, a wide spectrum of chemical inhibitors-that target histone methyltransferases, demethylase, acetyltransferase, and deacetylase-is available for testing chromatin-based mechanisms and new therapies of heart failure.

# 5.8.2 Targeting Chromatin Readers That Participate in Chromatin Remodeling and Modifications

Chromatin regulation requires proteins that read and interpret the epigenetic information. Chromatin readers contain domains that recognize specific chromatin modifications and are recruited to the corresponding genomic loci to assist with gene regulation. A popular drug target is the bromodomain (Garnier et al. 2014; Filippakopoulos et al. 2010; Filippakopoulos and Knapp 2014; Delmore et al. 2011), which is a chromatin-recognition domain that enables a protein to bind to acetylated histones to facilitate transcriptional gene activation. The bromodomain and extraterminal (BET) family, including BRD2, BRD3, BRD4, and BRDT, are bromodomain-containing readers. Among them, BRD4 is activated during cardiac stress to induce pathological gene reprograming and is crucial for the development of cardiac hypertrophy and failure (Spiltoir et al. 2013; Anand et al. 2013). BRD4 is highly enriched at the promoter regions of actively transcribed genes and a subset of cardiac enhancer elements (Wei et al. 2008). When BRD4 proteins are displaced from the chromatin by a selective BET bromodomain inhibitor, the elongation of RNA polymerase II during gene transcription is hindered, resulting in transcriptional pause (Anand et al. 2013). Inhibition of the BET bromodomain blocks

hypertrophic growth of cardiomyocytes *in vitro* and attenuates hypertrophy and heart failure *in vivo* (Anand et al. 2013). Such inhibition of BET readers provides a means to change the interpretation of chromatin information in the stressed hearts without changing chromatin conformation, as achieved by direct inhibition of chromatin remodelers or modifiers.

#### 5.8.3 Targeting the Helicase/ATPase Domain of Brg1

Brg1 contains an evolutionarily conserved helicase domain, which belongs to the Dead box RNA helicase subfamily of the superfamily 2 (SF2) helicase (Clapier and Cairns 2009; Jankowsky 2011; Byrd et al. 2012; Tang et al. 2010). A SF2 helicase consists of two homologous "RecA-like" domains (D1 and D2), which fold upon each other to from a cleft structure that binds ATP on one side and DNA/RNA nucleotides on the other, enabling ATP hydrolysis and DNA/RNA unwinding (Linder and Jankowsky 2011; Mallam et al. 2012). The helicase core of Brg1 is crucial for Brg1 to bind to its genomic target sites to control cardiac gene expression, hypertrophy, and failure, and this domain can be inhibited by the lncRNA *Mhrt* to mitigate heart failure (Han et al. 2014). Accordingly, the helicase of Brg1 is targetable for heart failure treatment. Many viral or endogenous RNA helicases have been targeted by antiviral drugs, with assays developed to screen for specific chemical inhibitors that abolish helicase functions of binding and hydrolysis of NTP or unwinding of the DNA/RNA substrates (Kwong et al. 2005; Frick 2003). The search for helicases inhibitors have led to many successful drug candidates for treating infections caused by herpes simplex or hepatitis C virus (Kwong et al. 2005; Frick 2003). Given the pathogenic role of Brg1 helicase (Han et al. 2014; Hang et al. 2010), identifying Brg1-specific helicase inhibitors may facilitate drug discovery for heart failure therapy.

#### 5.8.4 RNA Drugs for Heart Failure

The discovery of cardioprotective lncRNA *Mhrt* that inhibits Brg1-mediated chromatin remodeling provides a new avenue for lncRNA-based heart failure therapy (Han et al. 2014; Wu and Arora 2015; Gupta et al. 2015; Liu and Wang 2014; Wang and Wang 2015). RNAs, with their special biochemical properties and versatile functions, have emerged as an important class of potential therapeutic drugs (Burnett and Rossi 2012). Dozens of RNA-based drugs have been tested in clinical trials for a variety of human diseases, which range from rare genetic disorders and viral infections to different types of cancers. Although the therapeutic use of RNAs could be challenging partly due to their intrinsic instability and potential immunogenicity, RNAs can be chemically modified and delivered successfully to the tissue targets. The Federal Drug Administration (FDA) has recently approved the use of an antisense RNA (Kynamro), which inhibits the hepatic synthesis of apolipoprotein B-100, for treating familial hypercholesterolemia. Besides antisense RNAs that inhibit mRNA translation, other types of RNAs can be exploited for therapeutic purposes: these RNAs have different mechanisms of action and include RNAs involved in RNA interference (RNAi), catalytic RNAs (ribozymes), RNAs partnering with proteins and other ligands (aptamers), antisense RNAs, and lncRNAs (such as *Mhrt*) that participate in epigenetic regulation of gene expression.

# 5.9 Future Perspective

Although the essential role of Brg1/BAF in heart failure has been defined, it remains unclear whether the other families of chromatin-remodeling complexes-CHD, ISWI, and INO80—are involved in the pathogenesis of heart failure. The studies of Brg1 establish a paradigm of how chromatin remodelers are activated by cardiac stress and how they recruit histone- and DNA-modifying enzymes to restructure chromatin and reprogram gene expression, triggering adverse tissue remodeling and heart failure. It will be important to define whether other families of chromatinremodeling complexes act with or against the Brg1/BAF family in the process of pathological hypertrophy and how these remodeler families program gene expression under different pathophysiological conditions. Another important question is how pathological stress alters protein subunits of the remodeling complex to modulate the chromatin function and gene regulation of the entire complex. How do the protein subunits influence the complex's interactions with other chromatin and transcription regulators to effect chromatin reorganization and gene reprogramming in the stressed hearts? Answering these fundamental questions will not only deepen our understanding of chromatin remodeling mechanism, but also help us identify new targets for heart failure therapy. Moreover, in light of the recent discovery of IncRNA *Myheart* that inhibits Brg1's chromatin function to protect the heart from hypertrophy (Han et al. 2014), further efforts to identify new lncRNA that interacts with different families of chromatin remodelers or different components of the remodeling complex will provide new mechanisms of chromatin regulation and inspire new strategies for heart failure therapy.

#### **Compliance with Ethical Standards**

**Funding** C.P.C. is the Charles Fisch Scholar of Cardiology and was supported by National Institutes of Health (NIH; HL118087, HL121197, HL085345), the American Heart Association (National Scientist Development Award, Established Investigator Award 12EIA8960018), Oak Foundation, Baxter Foundation, Lucile Packard Heart Center Research Program, California Institute of Regenerative Medicine New Faculty Award, Children's Heart Foundation, the CHARGE Syndrome Foundation, March of Dimes Foundation (#6-FY11-260), Indiana University (IU) School of Medicine—IU Health Strategic Research Initiative, and the IU Physician-Scientist Initiative, endowed by Lilly Endowment.

Conflict of Interest The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

# References

- Abraham WT et al (2002) Coordinate changes in Myosin heavy chain isoform gene expression are selectively associated with alterations in dilated cardiomyopathy phenotype. Mol Med 8:750–760
- Ahmad K, Henikoff S (2002) The histone variant H3.3 marks active chromatin by replicationindependent nucleosome assembly. Mol Cell 9:1191–1200
- Anand P et al (2013) BET bromodomains mediate transcriptional pause release in heart failure. Cell 154:569–582
- Backs J, Olson EN (2006) Control of cardiac growth by histone acetylation/deacetylation. Circ Res 98:15–24
- Billon P, Cote J (2013) Precise deposition of histone H2A.Z in chromatin for genome expression and maintenance. Biochim Biophys Acta 1819:290–302
- Blaxall BC, Tschannen-Moran BM, Milano CA, Koch WJ (2003) Differential gene expression and genomic patient stratification following left ventricular assist device support. J Am Coll Cardiol 41:1096–1106
- Bultman S et al (2000) A Brg1 null mutation in the mouse reveals functional differences among mammalian SWI/SNF complexes. Mol Cell 6:1287–1295
- Burnett JC, Rossi JJ (2012) RNA-based therapeutics: current progress and future prospects. Chem Biol 19:60–71
- Byrd AK, Raney KD (2012) Superfamily 2 helicases. Front Biosci (Landmark Ed) 17:2070-2088
- Byrd AK et al (2012) Dda helicase tightly couples translocation on single-stranded DNA to unwinding of duplex DNA: Dda is an optimally active helicase. J Mol Biol 420:141–154
- Callis TE et al (2009) MicroRNA-208a is a regulator of cardiac hypertrophy and conduction in mice. J Clin Invest 119:2772–2786
- Chang CP, Bruneau BG (2012) Epigenetics and cardiovascular development. Annu Rev Physiol 74:41–68
- Chang L, Kiriazis H, Gao XM, Du XJ, El-Osta A (2011) Cardiac genes show contextual SWI/SNF interactions with distinguishable gene activities. Epigenetics 6:760–768
- Chen H et al (2004) BMP10 is essential for maintaining cardiac growth during murine cardiogenesis. Development 131:2219–2231
- Chen IY et al (2006) Histone H2A.z is essential for cardiac myocyte hypertrophy but opposed by silent information regulator 2alpha. J Biol Chem 281:19369–19377
- Clapier CR, Cairns BR (2009) The biology of chromatin remodeling complexes. Annu Rev Biochem 78:273–304
- Dallas PB et al (2000) The human SWI-SNF complex protein p270 is an ARID family member with non-sequence-specific DNA binding activity. Mol Cell Biol 20:3137–3146
- Delmore JE et al (2011) BET bromodomain inhibition as a therapeutic strategy to target c-Myc. Cell 146:904–917
- Devaux Y et al (2015) Long noncoding RNAs in cardiac development and ageing. Nat Rev Cardiol 12:415–425
- Eissenberg JC (2012) Structural biology of the chromodomain: form and function. Gene 496:69-78
- Emery P, Durand B, Mach B, Reith W (1996) RFX proteins, a novel family of DNA binding proteins conserved in the eukaryotic kingdom. Nucleic Acids Res 24:803–807
- Fairman-Williams ME, Guenther UP, Jankowsky E (2010) SF1 and SF2 helicases: family matters. Curr Opin Struct Biol 20:313–324
- Filippakopoulos P, Knapp S (2014) Targeting bromodomains: epigenetic readers of lysine acetylation. Nat Rev Drug Discov 13:337–356
- Filippakopoulos P et al (2010) Selective inhibition of BET bromodomains. Nature 468:1067–1073
- Filippakopoulos P et al (2012) Histone recognition and large-scale structural analysis of the human bromodomain family. Cell 149:214–231

- Finley A, Copeland RA (2014) Small molecule control of chromatin remodeling. Chem Biol 21:1196–1210
- Foltz DR et al (2006) The human CENP-A centromeric nucleosome-associated complex. Nat Cell Biol 8:458–469
- Franklin S et al (2011) Specialized compartments of cardiac nuclei exhibit distinct proteomic anatomy. Mol Cell Proteomics 10:M110 000703
- Frick DN (2003) Helicases as antiviral drug targets. Drug News Perspect 16:355-362
- Garnier JM, Sharp PP, Burns CJ (2014) BET bromodomain inhibitors: a patent review. Expert Opin Ther Pat 24:185–199
- Gilsbach R et al (2014) Dynamic DNA methylation orchestrates cardiomyocyte development, maturation and disease. Nat Commun 5:5288
- Goldberg AD et al (2010) Distinct factors control histone variant H3.3 localization at specific genomic regions. Cell 140:678–691
- Grote P et al (2013) The tissue-specific lncRNA Fendrr is an essential regulator of heart and body wall development in the mouse. Dev Cell 24:206–214
- Gupta RM, Pilbrow AP, Weeke PE (2015) Top advances in functional genomics and translational biology for 2014. Circ Cardiovasc Genet 8:207–210
- Haas J et al (2013) Alterations in cardiac DNA methylation in human dilated cardiomyopathy. EMBO Mol Med 5:413–429
- Han P, Chang CP (2015) Myheart hits the core of chromatin. Cell Cycle 14:787-788
- Han P, Hang CT, Yang J, Chang CP (2011) Chromatin remodeling in cardiovascular development and physiology. Circ Res 108:378–396
- Han P et al (2014) A long noncoding RNA protects the heart from pathological hypertrophy. Nature 514:102–106
- Han P et al (2016) Epigenetic response to environmental stress: assembly of BRG1-G9a/GLP-DNMT3 repressive chromatin complex on Myh6 promoter in pathologically stressed hearts. Biochim Biophys Acta 1863:1772–1781
- Hang CT et al (2010) Chromatin regulation by Brg1 underlies heart muscle development and disease. Nature 466:62–67
- He L et al (2014) BAF200 is required for heart morphogenesis and coronary artery development. PLoS One 9:e109493
- Henikoff S, Ahmad K (2005) Assembly of variant histones into chromatin. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 21:133–153
- Herron TJ, McDonald KS (2002) Small amounts of alpha-myosin heavy chain isoform expression significantly increase power output of rat cardiac myocyte fragments. Circ Res 90:1150–1152
- Ho L, Crabtree GR (2010) Chromatin remodelling during development. Nature 463:474–484
- Huang X, Gao X, Diaz-Trelles R, Ruiz-Lozano P, Wang Z (2008) Coronary development is regulated by ATP-dependent SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling component BAF180. Dev Biol 319:258–266
- Hurd EA et al (2007) Loss of Chd7 function in gene-trapped reporter mice is embryonic lethal and associated with severe defects in multiple developing tissues. Mamm Genome 18:94–104
- James J et al (2005) Forced expression of alpha-myosin heavy chain in the rabbit ventricle results in cardioprotection under cardiomyopathic conditions. Circulation 111:2339–2346
- Jankowsky E (2011) RNA helicases at work: binding and rearranging. Trends Biochem Sci 36:19–29
- Jenni R, Rojas J, Oechslin E (1999) Isolated noncompaction of the myocardium. N Engl J Med 340:966–967
- Kadam S, Emerson BM (2003) Transcriptional specificity of human SWI/SNF BRG1 and BRM chromatin remodeling complexes. Mol Cell 11:377–389
- Kadoch C, Crabtree GR (2013) Reversible disruption of mSWI/SNF (BAF) complexes by the SS18-SSX oncogenic fusion in synovial sarcoma. Cell 153:71–85
- Kadoch C et al (2013) Proteomic and bioinformatic analysis of mammalian SWI/SNF complexes identifies extensive roles in human malignancy. Nat Genet 45:592–601
- Kamakaka RT, Biggins S (2005) Histone variants: deviants? Genes Dev 19:295-310

- Kasten M et al (2004) Tandem bromodomains in the chromatin remodeler RSC recognize acetylated histone H3 Lys14. EMBO J 23:1348–1359
- Klattenhoff CA et al (2013) Braveheart, a long noncoding RNA required for cardiovascular lineage commitment. Cell 152:570–583
- Krenz M, Robbins J (2004) Impact of beta-myosin heavy chain expression on cardiac function during stress. J Am Coll Cardiol 44:2390–2397
- Kwong AD, Rao BG, Jeang KT (2005) Viral and cellular RNA helicases as antiviral targets. Nat Rev Drug Discov 4:845–853
- Lange M et al (2008) Regulation of muscle development by DPF3, a novel histone acetylation and methylation reader of the BAF chromatin remodeling complex. Genes Dev 22:2370–2384
- Lee HS, Park JH, Kim SJ, Kwon SJ, Kwon J (2010) A cooperative activation loop among SWI/SNF, gamma-H2AX and H3 acetylation for DNA double-strand break repair. EMBO J 29:1434–1445
- Lessard J et al (2007) An essential switch in subunit composition of a chromatin remodeling complex during neural development. Neuron 55:201–215
- Li W et al (2013) Brg1 governs distinct pathways to direct multiple aspects of mammalian neural crest cell development. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110:1738–1743
- Lickert H et al (2004) Baf60c is essential for function of BAF chromatin remodelling complexes in heart development. Nature 432:107–112
- Linder P, Jankowsky E (2011) From unwinding to clamping—the DEAD box RNA helicase family. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 12:505–516
- Liu J, Wang DZ (2014) An epigenetic "LINK(RNA)" to pathological cardiac hypertrophy. Cell Metab 20:555–557
- Liu Y et al (2014a) CHD7 interacts with BMP R-SMADs to epigenetically regulate cardiogenesis in mice. Hum Mol Genet 23:2145–2156
- Liu M et al (2014b) AG-690/11026014, a novel PARP-1 inhibitor, protects cardiomyocytes from AngII-induced hypertrophy. Mol Cell Endocrinol 392:14–22
- Lompre AM et al (1979) Myosin isoenzyme redistribution in chronic heart overload. Nature 282:105–107
- Lowes BD et al (2002) Myocardial gene expression in dilated cardiomyopathy treated with betablocking agents. N Engl J Med 346:1357–1365
- Mack GS (2010) To selectivity and beyond. Nat Biotechnol 28:1259-1266
- Mallam AL, Del Campo M, Gilman B, Sidote DJ, Lambowitz AM (2012) Structural basis for RNA-duplex recognition and unwinding by the DEAD-box helicase Mss116p. Nature 490:121–125
- Marfella CG et al (2006) Mutation of the SNF2 family member Chd2 affects mouse development and survival. J Cell Physiol 209:162–171
- Masternak K et al (1998) A gene encoding a novel RFX-associated transactivator is mutated in the majority of MHC class II deficiency patients. Nat Genet 20:273–277
- McKinsey TA, Kass DA (2007) Small-molecule therapies for cardiac hypertrophy: moving beneath the cell surface. Nat Rev Drug Discov 6:617–635
- McKinsey TA, Olson EN (2004) Cardiac histone acetylation—therapeutic opportunities abound. Trends Genet 20:206–213
- Miyata S, Minobe W, Bristow MR, Leinwand LA (2000) Myosin heavy chain isoform expression in the failing and nonfailing human heart. Circ Res 86:386–390
- Mizuguchi G et al (2004) ATP-driven exchange of histone H2AZ variant catalyzed by SWR1 chromatin remodeling complex. Science 303:343–348
- Montgomery RL et al (2011) Therapeutic inhibition of miR-208a improves cardiac function and survival during heart failure. Circulation 124:1537–1547
- Movassagh M et al (2011) Distinct epigenomic features in end-stage failing human hearts. Circulation 124:2411–2422
- Mozaffarian D et al (2015) Heart disease and stroke statistics—2015 update: a report from the American Heart Association. Circulation 131:e29–e322

- Natarajan K, Jackson BM, Zhou H, Winston F, Hinnebusch AG (1999) Transcriptional activation by Gcn4p involves independent interactions with the SWI/SNF complex and the SRB/mediator. Mol Cell 4:657–664
- Olson EN (2006) Gene regulatory networks in the evolution and development of the heart. Science 313:1922–1927
- Olson EN, Backs J, McKinsey TA (2006) Control of cardiac hypertrophy and heart failure by histone acetylation/deacetylation. Novartis Found Symp 274: 3–12; discussion 13–19, 152–155, 272–156
- Pang B et al (2013) Drug-induced histone eviction from open chromatin contributes to the chemotherapeutic effects of doxorubicin. Nat Commun 4:1908
- Papait R et al (2013) Genome-wide analysis of histone marks identifying an epigenetic signature of promoters and enhancers underlying cardiac hypertrophy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110:20164–20169
- Papamichos-Chronakis M, Watanabe S, Rando OJ, Peterson CL (2011) Global regulation of H2A.Z localization by the INO80 chromatin-remodeling enzyme is essential for genome integrity. Cell 144:200–213
- Paull TT et al (2000) A critical role for histone H2AX in recruitment of repair factors to nuclear foci after DNA damage. Curr Biol 10:886–895
- Randall V et al (2009) Great vessel development requires biallelic expression of Chd7 and Tbx1 in pharyngeal ectoderm in mice. J Clin Invest 119:3301–3310
- Reyes JC et al (1998) Altered control of cellular proliferation in the absence of mammalian brahma (SNF2alpha). EMBO J 17:6979–6991
- Saha A, Wittmeyer J, Cairns BR (2006) Chromatin remodelling: the industrial revolution of DNA around histones. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 7:437–447
- Sanchez R, Zhou MM (2011) The PHD finger: a versatile epigenome reader. Trends Biochem Sci 36:364–372
- Santoro R, Li J, Grummt I (2002) The nucleolar remodeling complex NoRC mediates heterochromatin formation and silencing of ribosomal gene transcription. Nat Genet 32:393–396
- Sarma K, Reinberg D (2005) Histone variants meet their match. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 6: 139–149
- Schuettengruber B, Martinez AM, Iovino N, Cavalli G (2011) Trithorax group proteins: switching genes on and keeping them active. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 12:799–814
- Shen W et al (2007) Solution structure of human Brg1 bromodomain and its specific binding to acetylated histone tails. Biochemistry 46:2100–2110
- Singh AP, Archer TK (2014) Analysis of the SWI/SNF chromatin-remodeling complex during early heart development and BAF250a repression cardiac gene transcription during P19 cell differentiation. Nucleic Acids Res 42:2958–2975
- Spiltoir JI et al (2013) BET acetyl-lysine binding proteins control pathological cardiac hypertrophy. J Mol Cell Cardiol 63:175–179
- Stankunas K et al (2008) Endocardial Brg1 represses ADAMTS1 to maintain the microenvironment for myocardial morphogenesis. Dev Cell 14:298–311
- Stopka T, Skoultchi AI (2003) The ISWI ATPase Snf2h is required for early mouse development. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:14097–14102
- Stros M, Launholt D, Grasser KD (2007) The HMG-box: a versatile protein domain occurring in a wide variety of DNA-binding proteins. Cell Mol Life Sci 64:2590–2606
- Swynghedauw B (1999) Molecular mechanisms of myocardial remodeling. Physiol Rev 79:215–262
- Szabo G et al (2002) Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase inhibition reduces reperfusion injury after heart transplantation. Circ Res 90:100–106
- Takeuchi JK et al (2007) Baf60c is a nuclear Notch signaling component required for the establishment of left-right asymmetry. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:846–851
- Takeuchi JK et al (2011) Chromatin remodelling complex dosage modulates transcription factor function in heart development. Nat Commun 2:187

- Tang L, Nogales E, Ciferri C (2010) Structure and function of SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling complexes and mechanistic implications for transcription. Prog Biophys Mol Biol 102: 122–128
- Terme JM et al (2011) Histone H1 variants are differentially expressed and incorporated into chromatin during differentiation and reprogramming to pluripotency. J Biol Chem 286:35347–35357
- van Rooij E et al (2007) Control of stress-dependent cardiac growth and gene expression by a microRNA. Science 316:575–579
- van Rooij E et al (2009) A family of microRNAs encoded by myosin genes governs myosin expression and muscle performance. Dev Cell 17:662–673
- Von Hoff DD et al (1979) Risk factors for doxorubicin-induced congestive heart failure. Ann Intern Med 91:710–717
- Wang Z, Wang Y (2015) Dawn of the Epi-LncRNAs: new path from Myheart. Circ Res 116:235–236
- Wang Z et al (2004) Polybromo protein BAF180 functions in mammalian cardiac chamber maturation. Genes Dev 18:3106–3116
- Wei JQ et al (2008) Quantitative control of adaptive cardiac hypertrophy by acetyltransferase p300. Circulation 118:934–946
- Wu C, Arora P (2015) Long noncoding Mhrt RNA: molecular crowbar unravel insights into heart failure treatment. Circ Cardiovasc Genet 8:213–215
- Wu JI, Lessard J, Crabtree GR (2009) Understanding the words of chromatin regulation. Cell 136:200–206
- Wu M et al (2014) Baf250a orchestrates an epigenetic pathway to repress the Nkx2.5-directed contractile cardiomyocyte program in the sinoatrial node. Cell Res 24:1201–1213
- Yang KC et al (2014) Deep RNA sequencing reveals dynamic regulation of myocardial noncoding RNAs in failing human heart and remodeling with mechanical circulatory support. Circulation 129:1009–1021
- Zeng L et al (2010) Mechanism and regulation of acetylated histone binding by the tandem PHD finger of DPF3b. Nature 466:258–262
- Zhang W, Chen H, Qu X, Chang CP, Shou W (2013) Molecular mechanism of ventricular trabeculation/compaction and the pathogenesis of the left ventricular noncompaction cardiomyopathy (LVNC). Am J Med Genet C Semin Med Genet 163C:144–156
- Zhou Y, Santoro R, Grummt I (2002) The chromatin remodeling complex NoRC targets HDAC1 to the ribosomal gene promoter and represses RNA polymerase I transcription. EMBO J 21:4632–4640
- Zhu JG et al (2014) Long noncoding RNAs expression profile of the developing mouse heart. J Cell Biochem 115:910–918



6

# Histone Methylation in Heart Development and Cardiovascular Disease

# Zhi-Ping Liu

# Contents

6.1	Introduction	126
6.2	Histone Methylation in Heart Development and Cardiovascular Diseases	130
6.3	H3K4 Methylation	132
	6.3.1 H3K4 Methyltransferase	132
	6.3.2 H3K4 Demethylase	136
6.4	H3K27 Methylation.	136
6.5	H3K9 Methylation	138
6.6	H3K36 Methylation.	141
6.7	H3K79 Methylation	141
6.8	Conclusions and Future Perspectives	142
Refe	rences	143

#### Abstract

Cardiovascular development and homeostasis are regulated by a group of core cardiac transcription factors in a coordinated temporal and spatial manner. Histone methylation is an emerging epigenetic mechanism for regulating gene transcription. Interplay among transcription factors and histone lysine modifiers plays important role in cardiovascular development and diseases. Aberrant expression and mutation of the histone lysine modifiers during development and in adult life can cause either embryonic lethality or congenital heart diseases, and influences the response of adult hearts to pathological stresses. In this review, we describe basics of histone methylation, and current body of literature on the role of several common histone methylations and their modifying enzymes in cardiovascular development, congenital and adult heart diseases.

Z.-P. Liu

Departments of Internal Medical-Cardiology Division and Molecular Biology, UT Southwestern Medical Center, 6000 Harry Hines Blvd, Dallas, TX, USA e-mail: Zhi-Ping.Liu@UTSouthwestern.edu

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

J. Backs, T.A. McKinsey (eds.), *Epigenetics in Cardiac Disease*, Cardiac and Vascular Biology 1, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-41457-7\_6

#### 6.1 Introduction

Histone methylation is one of many post-translational modifications (PTMs) that can occur at the amino-terminus of each subunit of histone octamer (two copies of four histone protein H2A/H2B/H3/H4). Histone PTMs include lysine (K) and arginine (R) methylation, serine and threonine phosphorylation, lysine acetylation, ubiquitination, sumoylation, and adenosine diphosphate (ADP)-ribosylation. Histone methylation does not directly affect chromatin structure, rather it functions as a signaling platform to recruit other chromatin-remodeling complexes that directly regulate chromatin structure. Consequently, chromatin structures can be altered between a permissive euchromatin state, which allows the binding of transcription factors and coactivators to the DNA, and a nonpermissive heterochromatin state, which precludes active transcription of genes. Histone methylation not only influences gene transcription but also other variety of genomic activities such as DNA replication, chromosome segregation, and maintenance (Alabert and Groth 2012). The disruption of such changes underlies a wide variety of pathologies, including cardiac diseases (Tingare et al. 2013; Black and Whetstine 2013; Rozek et al. 2014).

Methylation of histone was originally identified in the 1960s (Allfrey et al. 1964). Histone methylation is most commonly observed and well studied on N-terminal lysine residues of H3 and H4. Many of the arginine methylations have yet to be characterized and the enzymes that methylate/demethylate arginine residues have yet to be elucidated. Well-characterized histone methylation residues include K4, K9, K27, K36, and K79 on histone H3 and K20 of histone H4 (Fig. 6.1a). The first histone lysine methyl transferase (KMT), human and mouse SUV39H1/KMT1A, was discovered by Thomas Jenuwein et al. in 2000 (Rea et al. 2000). SUV39H1 is H3-specific histone methyltransferase that selectively methylates H3K9. SUV39H1 contains a catalytic SET domain that is approximately 130 amino acid residues long and was initially found in *Drosophila* Su(var) 3–9, Enhancer of Zeste, and Trithorax proteins. The SET domain is evolutionally conserved from yeast to human. So far, there are 33 KMTs identified in humans that all have SET domain, with the exception being KMT4/DOT1L (Table 6.1). Both classes of KMTs use S-adenosyl-L-methionie (SAM) as the methyl group donor (Fig. 6.1b) (Dillon et al. 2005; Nguyen and Zhang 2011). Lysine residues can be methylated to different degrees to include mono(me1), di(me2), or trimethyl(me3) groups (Fig. 6.1b). The sequential addition of methyl moieties can occur. However, mono-methylation is not a prerequisite for di-methylation, and di-methylation is not required for trimethylation, since some KMTs have the capacities to mono-, di-, and tri-methylate unmodified lysine residues.

The first histone lysine demethylase (KDM), LSD1 (lysine-specific demethylase 1) was identified by Yang Shi et al. (Shi et al. 2004). Discovery of LSD1 changed the perception that histone methylation is a permanent post-translational modification. Twenty-one KDMs are identified in humans and are classified into two families (Table 6.1) (Shi and Tsukada 2013), the KDM1/LSD demethylase family, which contains a flavin adenine dinucleotide (FAD)-dependent amine oxidase domain, and the KDM2-8 demethylase family, which contains a Jumonji (Jmj) domain (Fig. 6.1c). Jmj-proteins rely on  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate, molecular oxygen, and Fe(II) as cofactor for demethylation (Fig. 6.1d). Some of the Jmj-proteins have two jmj domains (JmjN and JmjC). KMTs and KDMs have a high degree of specificity for specific lysine residues and the degree of methylation (i.e., mono, di-, or tri-methylation) (Table 6.1). However, the



**Fig. 6.1** Histone methylations (**a**) N-terminal amino acid sequences of of H3 and H4. Lysine residues that can be methylated are highlighted in *bold*. (**b**) Scheme showing lysine mono-, di-, and tri-methylation by histone lysine methyltransferases. (**c**) Mechanism of demethylation of lysine, catalyzed by enzymes of the LSD1/KDM1 family. (**d**) Mechanism of demethylation of lysine, catalyzed by enzymes of the jmj family

specificity of some KMT and KDMs can be context-dependent and affected by their interactive partners. For example, LSD1 has dual substrate specificity (H3K4me2/1 and H3K9me2/1). LSD1 demethylates H3K4me1/2 and generally represses transcription when it is a part of transcriptional corepressor complexes that contain CoREST and/or HDAC1/2 (Yang et al. 2006). When bound to androgen receptor (AR) in prostate cancer cells, LSD1 collaborates with Jmj demethylases to remove the repressive H3K9me2/1 marks and activates AR-dependent gene transcription (Metzger et al. 2005). In addition to modifying methylation on histone octamer, some of the KMTs and KDMs can also modify linker histone H1 (Table 6.1). Histone methylation patterns can provide specialized binding surfaces that recruit protein complexes containing chromatin remodeling and transcriptional activation/repression activity. While lysine methylation at H3K9, H3K27, and H4K20 is, in general, associated with regions of transcriptionally silenced heterochromatin, methylation at H3K4, H3K36, and H3K79 is normally associated with transcriptionally active euchromatin (Klose et al. 2006). However, it is important to note that since histone methylation occurs in the context of other surrounding PTMs, the ultimate functional output of a specific histone lysine methylation event will depend on the collective abundance, regulation, and context of all surrounding PTMs (the so-called histone code) (Strahl and Allis 2000).

			H	3K4N	Æ	H3	K9m	e	H3K	27 mé		H3K3	36me		H3K7	'9me	H	I4K2	20me	H	HIK	26me	
	Nomenclature	Official symbol	-	1	m	-	5	ε	1		6	1	3	-	5	3	-	10	0	-		<u></u>	
KMTs	KMT1A	SUV39H1					×	×															
	KMT1B	SUV39H2					×	×															
	KMT1C	G9a/EHMT2				×	×																
	KMTID	GLP/EHMT1				×	×																
	KMTIE	SETDB1					×	×															
	KMT1F	SETDB2					×	×															
	KMT2A	MLL	×	×	×																		
	KMT2B	MLL2	×	×	×																		
	KMT2C	MLL3	×	×	×																		
	KMT2D	MLL4	x	×	×																		
	KMT2E	WLL5	×	×	×																		
	KMT2F	SETD1A	x	×	×																		
	KMT2G	SETD1B	×	×	×																		
	KMT2H	ASH1L	x	×	×	×	x	x															
	KMT3A	SETD2											x										
	KMT3B	NSD1										x	2										
	KMT3C	SMYD2										×	2										
	KMT3D	SMYD1																					
	KMT3E	SMYD3		×	×																		
	KMT3F	WHSCIL1/NSD3	x	×					^	~	×												
	KMT3G	WHSC1/NSD2	x	×					×	~	×	×	2				×	×					
	KMT5A	SET8															×						
	<b>KMT5B</b>	SUV420H1																×	×				
	KMT5C	SUV420H2																×	×				
	KMT6	EZH2							X >	~	×										~	x	
	KMT7	SET7/SET9/SETD7		×																			

 Table 6.1
 KMTs, KDMs, and their substrates (adopted from Black and Whetstine 2013)
 Control
 Contred
 Contred
 <thControl

						X X																					
						×			x	X																	x
									×	×												x x	x x	x	x		
x														x	x	x	x							X	x		
X X	x		x								X X	X X	X X	X	X	x	x	x	X	x	x			X X	x x	×	
							x x	x x										x	X X	X	x						
PRDM2/RIZ1	PRDM9	PRDM6	PRDM8	PRDM3	PRDM16	DOTIL	LSD1	LSD2	FBXL11/JHDM1A	FBXL10/JHDM1B	JHDM2A	JHDM2B	JMJD1C	JMJD2A	JMJD2B	JMJD2C	JMJD2D	JARID1A	JARID1B/PLU1	JARID1C/SMCX	JARID1D	UTX	JMJD3	JHDM1D	PHF8	PHF2	JMJD5
KM18A	KMT8B	KMT8C	KMT8D	KMT8E	KMT8F	KMT4	KDM1A	KDM1B	KDM2A	KDM2B	KDM3A	KDM3B	KDM3C	KDM4A	KDM4B	KDM4C	KDM4D	KDM5A	KDM5B	KDM5C	KDM5D	KDM6A	KDM6B	KDM7A	KDM7B	KDM7C	KDM8
							KDMs																				

# 6.2 Histone Methylation in Heart Development and Cardiovascular Diseases

The development of vertebrate heart is a complex process that requires concurrent differentiation of multiple cell types including endothelial cells (ECs), smooth muscle cells (SMCs), and cardiomyocytes. Formation of the heart can be considered as a sequential addition of modular elements with distinct genetic and epigenetic control (Olson 2006; Vincent and Buckingham 2010; McCulley and Black 2012; Bruneau 2013). Heart development consists of five major stages; formation of cardiac crescent at E7.75, linear heart tube formation at E8.0, chamber initiation and formation from E9.5, and chamber maturation and septation from E12.5, and valve formation from E12 to birth. Two populations of cardiac progenitor cells have been identified at the cardiac crescent stage, first heart field (FHF), and a more medial region called second heart field (SHF) that lie adjacent to each other (Vincent and Buckingham 2010). The two heart fields are spatially and molecularly distinct. The FHF gives rise to the initial linear heart tube that ultimately becomes the myocardium of the left ventricle. Progenitor cells in the SHF remain undifferentiated until they are subsequently added to the heart tube to give rise to the right ventricle and the outflow tract (OFT). Cardiac neural crest cells control SHF development and form endocardial cushions in the OFT. Heart development is controlled by a group of core cardiac transcription factors (Isl1, Nkx2.5, Mef2c, Tbx1, Gata4, Foxa2/c1/ c2/h1, Hand2, and Mesp1) and growth factors (Fgf8/10, Wnt3a/5a/11, BMP2/4/7, Shh, and others) in a temporal and spatial-dependent manner. Mesp1 is the earliest marker of cardiovascular progenitors, including derivatives of the first and second heart fields (Vincent and Buckingham 2010). Mesp1 and Mesp2 are required for establishing embryonic mesoderm that gives rise to heart, somites, and gut. Mesp1 cells are converted further into cardiac progenitors by Isl1, Nkx2.5, Gata4, Mef2C, and Tbx5. Mutation and abnormal expression of these factors during heart development have been shown to lead to inherited forms of congenital heart diseases (CHD) such as septal defects, atrioventricular malformations or developmental absence of right or left heart (Bruneau 2013; Fahed et al. 2013; Yuan et al. 2013). As we will describe in the following sections, histone KMTs and KDMs can interact with these core cardiac transcription factors and affect cardiac homeostasis by regulating cardiac transcription factor-targeted gene expression. Methylation at the promoter/ enhancer of these transcription factors can also affect their expression and thus influence the outcomes of cardiac phenotype.

Histone methylation also plays a role in pathogenesis of adult heart disease, as there is a switch of gene expression program between fetal and adult forms during cardiac hypertrophy and heart failure. Adult cardiomyocytes are terminally differentiated with limited proliferative capacity. In response to physiological stimuli such as excise and pregnancy, the heart undergoes adaptive and reversible hypertrophy via an increase in cardiomyocyte size such that sufficient blood can be pumped through the circulation to meet increased hemodynamic requirement (Hill and Olson 2008). Adaptive cardiac hypertrophy becomes mal-adaptive and irreversible under pathological conditions, including chronic hypertension, myocardial infarction,

atherosclerosis, obesity, diabetes, aging, and genetic mutations. Pathological cardiac hypertrophy loses its plasticity with diminished ability to mount an adaptive response to meet systemic demands and is a primary risk factor for heart failure and an adverse prognosis. At the molecular level, pathological cardiac hypertrophy is marked by dramatic alterations of gene expression associated with contractile apparatus and metabolism (Song et al. 2012). Many "fetal genes" such as  $\beta$ MHC that are silenced in adult cardiomyocytes are reactivated, whereas genes that are expressed in differentiated adult cardiomyocyte such as  $\alpha$ MHC are repressed. The structural and gene expressional change during pathological cardiac hypertrophy are collectively termed cardiac hypertrophic remodeling. Alterations of gene expression have been proposed to play a causative role in pathological cardiac hypertrophy and heart failure (Hill and Olson 2008).

It is now well-established that histone methylation plays a critical role in stem-cell renewal and cell differentiation, maintaining genome integrity, gene regulation, and cancer evasion (Black and Whetstine 2013). Histone methylation also plays important roles in cardiac lineage specification and differentiation (Wamstad et al. 2012; Cattaneo et al. 2014), heart development (He et al. 2012; Delgado-Olguín et al. 2012), and pathogenesis of congenital and adult heart diseases (Fahed et al. 2013; Zhang et al. 2011). Stage-specific gene expression programs were found to be associated with distinct histone methylation profiles during cardiomyocyte differentiation in vitro in which mouse ES cells were induced to become mesodermal cells, then cardiac precursors, and finally differentiated cardiomyocytes (Wamstad et al. 2012). It was shown that while multiple dynamic chromatin patterns were observed during the differentiation process, a specific chromatin pattern was found for most mesodermalspecific genes. Genes with metabolic functions also found to share a similar chromatin pattern, suggesting that epigenetic regulation may play an important role to ensure that functional gene modules are synchronized to produce robust and coordinated expression. Furthermore, H3K4me1 was found to mark the transcriptional start sites of a group of genes at early differentiation stages that are committed to cardiac lineage and activated later via acquisition of H3K4me3 (Wamstad et al. 2012).

Barker (1999) proposed a "fetal programming of cardiovascular disease hypothesis" that prenatal exposure to environmental stresses will result in an increased cardiovascular disease risk in adulthood. In support of this hypothesis, it was shown that prenatal and fetal malnutrition can induce changes in the DNA methylation pattern of several genes involved in metabolism (Tobi et al. 2014), including *Igf2*, *ABCA1*, and *LEP* (Heijmans et al. 2008). *ABCA1* hypermethylation is associated with coronary artery disease and aging in men. In older men, *ABCA1* also correlates with increased total cholesterol, low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol, and triglyceride levels (Guay et al. 2014). Based on its role in heart development, subtle alteration of histone methylation *in utero* may, like DNA methylation, increase the cardiovascular disease risk in adulthood as well.

The biological functions of histone methyl marks are derived from studies of their KMTs (writers), KDMs (erasers), and proteins that bind them (readers). Genomewide association studies, genomic sequencing and mapping identified mutations, copy number variation, and aberrant gene regulation of KMTs and KDMs that are

associated with embryonic development, aging, cancer, neurological disorders, and congenital heart diseases (Black and Whetstine 2013; Young and Hendzel 2013; Mummaneni and Shord 2014). In the following sections, we will review the five most characterized histone methylation marks, and the evidence suggesting that dysregulation of these lysine methylation events due to mutations in genes encoding KMTs/KDMs/readers may play a causative role in promoting congenital and adult cardiac diseases (Table 6.2).

#### 6.3 H3K4 Methylation

H3K4 methylation is the most studied methylation mark. It is generally associated with genes that are transcriptionally active. Trimethylated H3K4 (H3K4me3) at the transcription start site (TSS) of an active gene correlates strongly with the histone acetylation, transcription rate, and active RNA polymerase II binding. H3K4me3 at TSS may play a functional role in transcription initiation as H3K4me3 can bind the PhD domain of TAF3, facilitating the recruitment of RNA polymerase II (Vermeulen et al. 2007). H3K4me3 is also found together with H3K27me3 at promoters and enhancers of poised key developmental genes in pluripotent ES cells (Bernstein et al. 2006; Voigt et al. 2013). In vertebrate, the majority of H3K4me2/1 colocalize with H3K4me3 at the TSS. H3K4me2/1 can also be found in distal enhancer region. Although the functional consequence of H3K4me2/1 at TSS and enhancer regions remains elusive, it may mark lineage-specific genes at early differentiation stages such that they are poised to be activated via acquisition of H3K4me3 at later differentiation stages (Wamstad et al. 2012). H3K4 methylation may contribute to the genetic program that drives juvenile body growth deceleration, as there is an extensive genomewide decrease in H3K4me3 at promoter regions of genes involved in cell cycle and cell proliferation when organs approach adult sizes (Lui et al. 2014).

H3K4 methylation along with H3K9 and H4K12 acetylation was found on the promoter of the gene for endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) in vascular ECs but not in vascular SMCs (Ho et al. 2012). eNOS is abundantly expressed in vascular ECs but repressed in SMCs. eNOS produces nitric oxide (NO) that regulates vascular tone and protects against atherosclerosis development. These histone modifications in ECs are lost in response to hypoxia, resulting in transcriptional repression of eNOS (Fish et al. 2010), suggesting a potential role of H3K4 methylation in atherosclerosis and coronary heart diseases. Alteration of the level of histone H3K4me3 was also found to correlate with heart failure in a hypertensive rat model (Kaneda et al. 2009).

### 6.3.1 H3K4 Methyltransferase

H3K4 methylation is catalyzed by methyltransferase KMT2A-H, KMT3E-G, KMT7, and KMT8B (Table 6.1) (Ruthenburg et al. 2007). Mammalian H3K4 methyltransferases can be classified into two groups: SET-domain-containing proteins

Madaaladaa	Madifian	Function and mechanism of the	Condias about the	Deferment		
H3K4	MLL2	Methylates H3K4me3 at "bivalent" loci and also active gene	Mutation of <i>Mll2</i> may cause Kabuki syndrome in patients that have atrial and ventricular	Ng et al. 2010 Bokinni 2012 Glaser et al. 2006, 2009		
		promoters	septal defects and aortic coarctation <i>Mll2</i> -null mice are embryonic lethal Adult <i>Mll2M2628K</i> /+ mice have type 2 diabetes	Goldsworthy et al. 2013		
	Symd1	Contains SET domain, interacts with skNAC and regulates Hand2 and Irx4	<i>Symd1</i> -null mice have hypoplastic right ventricle, knockdown in zebra fish resulted in disrupted myofibril formation	Abu-Farha et al. 2008 Hamamoto et al. 2004		
	PTIP	Part of MLL3/4 complexes may recruit MLL3/4 complexes to target genes such as Kcnip2	Deletion of <i>Ptip</i> in adult cardiomyocyte resulted in defective conduction system and greater susceptibility to Ca <sup>2+</sup> -based ventricular arrhythmia	Randall et al. 2009		
	LSD1	Demethylates H3K4me1/2	<i>Lsd1</i> +/- mice have salt-sensitive hypertension	Diehl et al. 2010		
H3K27	Ezh2	Establishes H3K27me3 at noncardiac loci to repress their expression during cardiomyocyte differentiation	Deletion of <i>Ezh2</i> in cardiac progenitor cells leads to thinned myocardial walls and ventricular septation defects Deletion of <i>Ezh2</i> in SHF, a more restricted pool of cardiac progenitor cells, resulted in enlarged heart after birth	He et al. 2012 Delgado-Olguín et al. 2012		
	UTX	Removes H3K27me3 at cardiac-specific enhancers to activate cardiac gene expression during heart development	<i>Utx</i> -null mice are embryonic lethal at E9.0 with defective loop and chamber morphogenesis	Lee et al. 2012		

**Table 6.2** Selected histone methylations and their modifying enzymes involved in heart development, CHD, and cardiac diseases

(continued)

Methylation	Modifier	Function and mechanism of the modifier	Cardiac phenotype	References
НЗК9	JMJD2A	Removes H3K9me3 at FHL1 and other cardiac fetal gene loci	Deletion of <i>Jmjd2A</i> in adult cardiomyocyte blunts pressure- overload induced cardiac hypertrophy	Zhang et al. 2011
H3K36	WHSC1	Establishes K3K36me3 at Pdgfra locus and repress Pdgfra expression together with Nkx2.5	<i>Whsc1</i> -null mice are perinatal lethal with variety of atrial and ventricular septal defects	Wagner and Carpenter 2012 Nimura et al. 2009
H3K79	Dot1L	Methylates H3K79, regulates telomere elongation and cell proliferation	Cardiac dilatation, yolk sac angiogenesis defects, embryonic lethal at E9.5–E10.5	Nguyen et al. 2011

Table 6.2 (continued)

that include <u>mixed-lineage leukemia</u> family (MLL1-4) and Set1A/B, and other H3K4 methyltransferases – those unrelated yet able to methylate H3K4 (ASH1, SMYD, SET7/9, and PRDM9). MLL proteins are part of COMPASS-like complexes that contain three additional core subunits (WDR5, RbPB5, and ASH2). COMPASS-like complexes are capable of mono-, di-, and trimethylating H3K4 (Shilatifard 2012). Several other proteins are found in biochemically purified COMPASS-like complexes, including MEN1, UTX, PTIP, NCOA6, PA1, Dpy30, and/or HCF1. The precise biological function of the noncatalytic subunits copurified with COMPASS-like complexes remains elusive as the four-component minimal complex is sufficient to catalyze H3K4 methylation. The possible functions of these noncatalytic subunits include context-dependent recruitment of the complex to target genes, and substrate recognition and presentation. Many of the subunits are H3K4 methyl readers that are coupled to other chromatin modification mechanisms necessary to execute specific biological functions, as described below.

*De novo* mutations (present in the probands but absent in both parents) of genes that encode subunits of COMPASS-like complexes were found in patients with CHD through exome sequencing of parent-offspring trios (Zaidi et al. 2013). These genes include *MLL2/KMT2D*, *CHD7*, *WDR5*, *RNF20*, *UBE2B*, and *USP44*. CHD7 and WDR5 are H3K4 methylation readers that bind H3K4me1/me2. RNF20 and UBE2B are subunits of H2BK120 ubiquitination complex. USP44 is H2BK120 deubiquitinase. Ubiquitination at H2BK120 is required for H3K4 methylation (Shilatifard 2012). MLL2 mutations were previously found in majority of patients with Kubaki syndrome that includes atrial and ventricular septal defects and aortic coarctation (Bokinni 2012; Ng et al. 2010). Studies using mouse models indicated that MII2 plays an important role during early embryogenesis as mice are embryonic lethal prior to E11.5 with wide spread apoptosis when *Mll2* is deleted germline and are normal when deleted after E11.5 (Glaser et al. 2006, 2009). Mice with

mutant *Mll2M2628K* were generated through N-ethyl-N-nitrosourea mutagenesis screens (Goldsworthy et al. 2013). *Mll2M2628K/M2628K* mice are embryonic lethal between E8.5 and E11.5 with abnormal heart looping, pericardial effusion, exencephaly, and various head abnormalities and anterior truncation defects. *Mll2M2628K/*+ mice are viable and have diabetes in adulthood.

CHARGE syndrome is a congenital disease characterized by coloboma of the retina, heart defects, atresia of the choanae, retarded growth and development genital and ear abnormalities (Aramaki et al. 2006). The majority of children clinically diagnosed with CHARGE syndrome have mutations in *CHD7* gene. Most cardiovascular anomalies of CHARGE syndrome are related to pharyngeal arch artery (PAA) defects or cardiac outflow tract malformations. Mechanistic studies that link the mutations to cardiac gene expression are lacking at present. However, it was suggested that Chd7 may regulate Tbx1-targeted genes. Some of the cardiovascular defects of CHARGE syndrome are recapitulated in *Chd7*<sup>+/-</sup> mice (Randall et al. 2009). Both *Tbx1* and *Chd7* heterozygous mice had hypoplasia of PAA. *Chd7*<sup>+/-</sup>;*Tbx1*<sup>+/-</sup> compound heterozygote showed greater defect in PAA than either *Chd7* or *Tbx1* heterozygote alone, suggesting that *Chd7* and *Tbx1* may interact genetically.

PTIP is a subunit in MLL3/4(KMT2C/D) complexes. PTIP promotes assembly of the MLL3/4 complexes and H3K4 methylation at a Pax2 DNA-binding site via binding to Pax2 transcription factor (Patel et al. 2007). Deletion of *Ptip* in mice resulted in developmental arrest at the gastrulation stage (Patel et al. 2007), with reduced levels of H3K4me3 in the whole embryo (Randall et al. 2009) and in embryonic stem cells (Kim et al. 2009). Conditional deletion of *Ptip* in differentiated cardiomyocytes in adult mouse heart resulted in reduced expression of *Kcnip2* and H3K4me3 occupancy at the *Kcnip2* promoter. *Ptip*-mutant hearts had conduction defects and greater susceptibility to calcium-based ventricular arrhythmias (Stein et al. 2011).

SMYD (SET-MYND domain) family proteins (SMYD1-5/KMT3) are H3K4 methyl transferases that contain SET domains required for histone methyltransferases activity and MYND domains mediating interactions with proteins involved in transcriptional regulation and signal transduction. Smyd2 has been shown to monomethylate H3K4 and H3K36 (Brown et al. 2006; Abu-Farha et al. 2008). Smyd3 di- and trimethylates H3K4 (Hamamoto et al. 2004). Smyd2 is also shown to methylate nonhistone proteins including p53, Rb, and Hsp90. The substrate specificity for Smyd1, 4, and 5 proteins remains elusive. Studies with animal models indicated that Smyd proteins are involved in skeletal and cardiac muscle development. Smyd1/ Bop is mainly expressed in skeletal and cardiac muscles and is a striated musclespecific regulator of myogenic differentiation and myosin assembly (Gottlieb et al. 2002). Deletion of Smyd1 in mice disrupted cardiac differentiation and morphogenesis, resulting in embryonic lethality. Smyd1-null embryonic hearts had a hypoplastic right ventricle with reduced expression of Hand1 and Irx4, two genes require for myocardial growth and differentiation (Gottlieb et al. 2002). Conditional deletion of Smyd1 in the heart indicated that the early embryonic heart phenotype is caused by the cardiomyocyte-autonomous function of Smyd1 in SHF (Rasmussen et al. 2015). Smyd1 was shown to interact with transcription factor skNAC to regulate

downstream gene expression. *skNAC* knockout mice have similar embryonic phenotype to that of *Smyd1*-null mice (Park et al. 2010). Smyd1 also binds myosin and is localized at the M-band region in the center of the sarcomere. Mutation in *Smyd1* in zebrafish causes disturbed sarcomere assembly in the heart and fast-twitch skeletal muscle (Just et al. 2011). Smyd2 methylates Hsp90, promoting interaction of a Smyd2–methyl–Hsp90 complex with the N2A domain of titin (Voelkel et al. 2013). Although no cardiac phenotypes are observed in *Smyd2*-null mice at baseline (Diehl et al. 2010), it may be required for protection of the sarcomeric I-band region and myocyte organization under conditions of mechanical or biochemical stress (Voelkel et al. 2013). A role for Smyd3 in the development of cardiac and skeletal muscle was shown in zebrafish (Fujii et al. 2011).

#### 6.3.2 H3K4 Demethylase

H3K4 methylation can be removed by LSD/KDM1 (from K4me2/1 to K4me0) and/ or members of JARID1/KDM5 (from K4me3/2 to K4me1) family of histone demethylases (Table 6.1). H3K4 demethylases can be recruited to specific genomic loci through their intrinsic reader domains or gene-specific transcriptional factors. Polymorphisms in the LSD1 gene have been associated with salt-sensitive hypertension in human (Pojoga et al. 2011). Lsd1+/-- mice had higher blood pressure, enhanced vascular contraction, and reduced relaxation via NO-cGMP pathway compared to wild-type control mice during high salt diet (Pojoga et al. 2011). Lsd1 has also been shown to be involved in the inflammatory phenotype of vascular SMCs relevant for atherosclerosis. vSMCs isolated from diabetic db/db mice have elevated expression of monocyte chemotatic protein (MCP)-1 and interleukin (IL)-6; this is associated with both increased H3K4 methylation and decreased LSD1 expression and recruitment to the promoters of MCP-1 and IL-6. The expression of MCP-1 and IL-6 is increased in Lsd1 knockdown vSMCs and decreased in Lsd1overexpressing vSMCs (Reddy et al. 2008). De novo mutations in KDM5A/5B and KDM6A were identified in human patients with CHD (Zaidi et al. 2013), although mechanisms linking mutations of these demethylases to histone H3K4 methylation and to target gene expression remain unknown.

# 6.4 H3K27 Methylation

H3K27 methylation is usually associated with gene repression and appears mostly in Polycomb-associated repressive chromatin. Polycomb-group proteins were first discovered in fruit flies that silence gene expression. In mammals, there are two principal Polycomb-repressive complexes (PRC), PRC1 and PRC2. H3K27me3 is catalyzed by the catalytic subunit Ezh2 in PRC2 (Nestorov et al. 2013). H3K27me3 can in turn recruit PRC1 that monoubiquitinlates H2A at K119 (H2AK119ub1). H2AK119ub1 can inhibit RNA polymerase II elongation (Stock et al. 2007). H3K27me3 is demethylated by KDM6A/UTX.

H3K27me3 represses many developmental genes in self-renewing ES cells and in differentiated adult organs (Bernstein et al. 2006; Voigt et al. 2013). In ES cells, H3K27me3 can form "bivalent" marks with H3K4me3 on promoters and enhancers of key developmental genes that are poised to undergo transcriptional activation/ inactivation upon developmental cues and/or environmental stimuli. When the silencing H3K27me3 mark is removed and the activating H3K4me3 is retained, "posed" genes are activated and ES cells are committed to a particular lineage. Conversely, bivalent domains of other genes required for the commitment of ES cells to different lineages remain silenced with H3K27me3 retained along with other repressive marks including H3K9me3, and/or 5mC DNA methylation. The function of bivalent marks and their associated protein complexes may help maintaining bivalent loci in a state that is both responsive to developmental cues and at the same time refractory to subthreshold noises (Voigt et al. 2013). A genomewide upregulation of H3K27me3 at the promoters of genes involved in cell cycle and cell proliferation has been observed in tissues, including lung and kidney during fetal to adulthood transition (Lui et al. 2014).

H3K27 methylation plays a dynamic role in heart development and is implicated in the pathogenesis of CHD. During heart development, cardiac progenitor cell commitment and subsequent growth and differentiation require accurate activation of gene programs in a precise temporal and spatial manner. H3K27me3 marks promoters of cardiac-specific genes in ES cells (Bernstein et al. 2006; Wamstad et al. 2012; Lee et al. 2012). It is necessary to remove H3K27me3 in order for ES cells to differentiate to a cardiac lineage as ES cells lacking H3K27 demethylase UTX failed to express cardiac-specific genes under cardiac differentiation conditions in vitro (Lee et al. 2012). Utx-null mice are embryonic lethal with failed cardiac looping morphogenesis and chamber development at E9. Utx was shown to interact with and functions as a co-activator of core cardiac transcription factors including SRF. Tbx5, Nkx2.5, and GATA4. Furthermore, Utx interacts with ATPase Brg1 and facilitates the recruitment of Brg1-containing Swi/Snf chromatin remodeling complex to the cardiac genes. The Swi/Snf complex was shown to play important role in heart development (Han et al. 2011). Partial or complete deletion of UTX is also implicated in human CHD (Zaidi et al. 2013).

Failure to remove H3K27me3 during development has been implicated in the pathogenesis of CHD. In iPS cell-derived cardiomyocytes from hypoplastic left heart syndrome patients, transcription of NKX2.5, HAND1, and NOTCH1 was found to be significantly repressed compared with control iPS-derived cardiomyocytes from individuals with biventricle hearts. Downregulation of NKX2.5 transcription was associated with increased promoter occupancy of H3K27me3 and reduced H3K4me2 and H3 acetylation levels (Kobayashi et al. 2014), suggesting a potential role of H3K27 and H3K4 methylation in the regulating expression of cardiac core transcription factors. DiGeorge and Velocardiofacial syndromes are CHD caused by a chromosomal deletion that includes TBX1 and many other genes.  $Tbx^{+/-}$  mouse recapitulates most of the disease phenotypes including hypoplasia or aplasia of the fourth pharyngeal arch arteries (PAAs) (Papangeli and Scambler 2013). Gbx2 is a downstream effector of Tbx1 and p53. Gbx2 is

positively regulated by Tbx1 and negatively regulated by p53. Gbx2 is downregulated in  $Tbx1^{+/-}$  embryos. Inhibition of p53 by genetic deletion ( $Trp53^{+/-}$ ) or pharmacologically (p53 inhibitors) restored Gbx2 expression and rescued the fourth PAAs phenotype in  $Tbx1^{+/-}$  embryos. Upregulation of Gbx2 in  $Tbx1^{+/-}$   $Trp53^{+/-}$  embryos is associated with downregulation of H3K27me3 at an enhancer region that binds both Tbx1 and p53 (Caprio and Baldini 2014). It was shown that p53 can recruit Ezh2 and establish H3K27me3 at Gbx2 gene and thereby facilitates transcriptional activation of Gbx2 by Tbx1.

While removal of H3K27me3 is required for the activation of cardiac-specific genes during cardiac cell differentiation, maintaining H3K27 methylation at noncardiac genes to repress their expression is also essential for proper heart development, as inactivation of H3K27 methyltransferase Ezh2 in differentiating cardiomyocytes in mice causes CHD (Delgado-Olguín et al. 2012; He et al. 2012). When Ezh2 was deleted in cardiac progenitor cells in the SHF, using Mef2cAHF-cre at E7.5, mice developed hypertrophic and fibrotic hearts after birth (Delgado-Olguín et al. 2012). Deletion of Ezh2 in differentiating ventricular cardiomyocytes using Nkx2.5-cre resulted in perinatal lethality. Mutant mouse hearts had persistent hypertrabeculation, right ventricular hypoplasia, atrial and ventricular septal defects, and myocardial fibrosis (He et al. 2012). In both studies, noncardiac gene transcriptions, including those of *Ink4a*, *Six1*, *Isl1*, and Pax6, were upregulated. Levels of H3K27me3 at the promoters of these genes were downregulated.

Repression of fetal gene expression by H3K27me3 may be important for longterm maintenance of ventricular function. Transcription factor Asxl2 has been shown to recruit Ezh2 to the promoter of fetal gene  $\beta$ -MHC and represses  $\beta$ -MHC expression (Lai et al. 2012). Loss of *Asxl2* resulted in the downregulation of H3K27me3 at  $\beta$ -MHC promoter and de-repression of  $\beta$ -MHC. *Asxl2<sup>-/-</sup>* mouse hearts displayed progressive deterioration of ventricular function with ~37 % reduction in fractional shortening by 10 months of age compared to wild-type mice (Lai et al. 2012), suggesting that Asxl2 is required for long-term maintenance of ventricular function. ASXL2 is down-regulated in the hearts of patients with ischemic or idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy.

# 6.5 H3K9 Methylation

Unlike H3K27 methylation, which appears mostly in Polycomb-associated repressive chromatin in gene-rich regions, H3K9 methylation is enriched in transcriptionally inert heterochromatin, which includes satellite repeats in telomeres and pericentromeres. Trimethylated H3K9 (H3K9me3) can bind to heterochromatin protein-1 (HP1), which further recruits other proteins to assemble chromatin into compact or "closed" heterochromatic structures, leading to gene silencing (Bannister et al. 2001; Lachner et al. 2001). H3K9 methylation is also found to participate in the transcriptional repression of genes in euchromatic regions through epigenetic modification of promoters (Zhang et al. 2011) and in the repression of illegitimate
initiations of transcription inside of actively transcribed loci (Krauss 2008). H3K9me3 can coexist with other repressive histone methylation marks, including H3K27me3 and H4K20me3 on silenced chromatin (Bilodeau et al. 2009; Magklara et al. 2011). These marks are often found on macrodomains that have characteristics of a facultative heterochromatin and can lose condensed structure and become transcriptional permissive in response to specific developmental and environmental cues.

Methylation of H3K9 is maintained by methyl transferases (KMT1, KMT2H, and KMT8A/D) and demethylases (KDM3, KDM4, and KDM7). Imbalance of H3K9 methylation due to mis-regulation of either KMTs or KDMs is associated with numerous malignancies, including B-cell lymphoma, medulloblastoma, acute myeloid leukemia (AML), breast, lung, and prostate cancers, and neurological disorders such as mental retardation, epileptic seizures, and autism. H3K9 KMT and KDM are involved in cardiac diseases and development as well. The H3K9me3specific demethylase, JMJD2A/KDM4A, is upregulated in human patients with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (Zhang et al. 2011). Many fetal gene expressions are repressed in normal adult hearts and re-expressed again in response to hypertrophic stress signals. Since H3K9me3 is associated with gene silencing, its level may be downregulated in hypertrophic heart as the fetal gene programs are reactivated. This hypothesis was tested in mouse model of cardiac hypertrophy where the transverse aorta was constricted (TAC) to induce pressure overload in the left ventricle (Zhang et al. 2011; Fig. 6.2). The global H3K9me3 level was downregulated in hypertrophic mouse hearts after 3 weeks of TAC (authors' unpublished results). Jmjd2A promoted TAC-induced cardiac hypertrophy when overexpressed in postnatal cardiomyocytes and blunted the hypertrophic response when deleted from the heart. Mechanistically, Jmjd2A was shown to bind promoters of fetal genes (ANP and BNP) and FHL1 in response to hypertrophic stimuli and activated their transcription through binding to transcription factors SRF/myocardin. FHL1 is a key component of the mechanotransducer machinery in the heart. Fhl1 KO mouse has blunted hypertrophic response to TAC-induced injury (Sheikh et al. 2008). The demethylase activity of Jmjd2A is required to promote transcription of fetal genes and Fhl1. Activation of Fhl1 in TAC-induced hypertrophic heart by Jmjd2A is associated with the downregulation of H3K9me3 at Fhl1 promoter. It is interesting to note that although global H3K9me3 was altered in response to hypertrophic stress signal, transcription of only a limited number of genes was changed due to Jmjd2A deletion (Zhang et al. 2011). It is possible that other Jmjd2 proteins are involved in H3K9me3 regulation, and Jmjd2A only regulates specific subset of genes. Alternatively, Jmjd2A may regulate global H3K9me3 methylation, but only a subset of the targets has altered gene transcription due to the effect of other PTMs. Genomewide profiling of Jmjd2A-binding sites in the heart during hypertrophic remodeling is needed to test these hypotheses.

Jmjd2A may play an important role in embryonic heart development as well. Knockdown of Jmjd2A in chick embryos by Jmjd2A-specific antisense morpholino oligonucleotides was shown to dramatically downregulate the expression of neural crest-specific genes including Sox10, leading to defects in neural crest derivatives at



**Fig. 6.2** A model of Jmjd2A involvement in heart development and cardiac hypertrophy Jmjd2A demethylates H3K9me3, which promotes the formation of active chromatin and gene transcription. Jmjd2A may play an important role in embryonic heart development, although the precise mechanism remains elusive. Jmjd2A promotes cardiac hypertrophy by synergistically activating the transcription of *fhl1*, *Anp*, and *Bnp* with core transcription factors, including SRF/myocardin

later stages of embryonic development (Strobl-Mazzulla et al. 2010). We observed no embryonic defects in global deletion of *Jmid2A* in mice of mix genetic background (C57/BI6:129). However, a partial embryonic lethality was observed in pure C57/Bl6 mouse. Some of the Jmjd2A-null embryos at E10.5 had abnormal hearts with various cardiac defects, including thin myocardium and underdeveloped right ventricle (authors' unpublished results). Since development of right ventricle is derived from SHF that is controlled by cardiac neural crest cells, the embryonic phenotype of *Jmjd2A*-null mouse may be due to the defects in neural crest cells, a hypothesis needed to be tested in the future (Fig. 6.2). The wide spectrum of embryonic phenotypes of Jmjd2A-null embryos and the dependency on genetic background may implicate genomic context, maternal-fetal environment, and other factors that were proposed to explain why an identical gene mutation can give rise to a variety of distinct malformations (Fahed et al. 2013). Incomplete penetrance may be caused by the variability of gene expression (Raj et al. 2010), as in some embryos, the alteration of Jmjd2A target gene expression may not be sufficient to reach a threshold that causes a phenotypic change.

# 6.6 H3K36 Methylation

H3K36 methylation is normally found in the open-reading frames of proteinencoding genes. H3K36me3 has a positive correlation with transcriptional rate (Pokholok et al. 2005) and may promote transcriptional elongation and prevent aberrant transcriptional initiation within coding sequences (Carrozza et al. 2005). H3K36 methylation has also been implicated in transcriptional repression, alternative splicing, and many other biological processes (Marango et al. 2008; Wagner and Carpenter 2012). Whether H3K36me3 acts as a transcriptional activating or inhibitory signal may depend on the context of additional PTM marks and their corresponding reader proteins (Wagner and Carpenter 2012). H3K36 can be mono- and di-methylated by WHSC1. Deletion of a critical region of human chromosome 4q16.3-containing WSHC1 gene is associated with Wolf-Hirschhorn syndrome that is characterized by craniofacial malformations, growth retardation, learning disability, and congenital heart defects. Whsc1-/- mice are perinatal lethal with marked growth retardation and die within 10 days after birth. Whsc1-null mice display a variety of atrial and ventricular septal defects that manifest those in Wolf-Hirschhorn patients. Whsc1 can interact with transcription factors such as Sal4 and Nanog in ES cells. In embryonic heart, Whsc1 was found to interact with Nkx2.5 to repress Pdgfra expression. Loss of Whsc1 resulted in the reduction of H3K36me3 at the Pdgfra locus and upregulation of Pdgfra (Nimura et al. 2009). H3K36me3 is required for vasculogenesis/angiogenesis (Hu et al. 2010). HYPB/SETD2/KMT3A tri-methylates H3K36. Mice with homozygous deletion of Hypb are embryonic lethal at E10.5-E11.5 with severe defects in blood vessel development (Hu et al. 2010). Hypb<sup>-/-</sup> embryos and yolk sacs have abnormally dilated capillaries that could not be remodeled into large blood vessels or intricate networks. Hypb-/- embryonic stem cell-derived embryonic bodies and human endothelial cells with siRNAknocked down HYPB showed defects in cell migration and invasion during vessel formation.

# 6.7 H3K79 Methylation

The function of H3K79 methylation is inferred from studies of its methyltransferase Dot1, and its mammalian homolog DOT1L/KMT4, since knock out of *Dot1* in yeast, flies, and mice results in complete loss of H3K79 methylation (Nguyen et al. 2011). Dot1/DOT1L-mediated H3K79 methylation has been linked to telomeric silencing in yeast and active transcription. Dot1L is differentially expressed during *in vitro* differentiation and maturation of mouse cardiomyocytes (Cattaneo et al. 2014). Dot1L-mediated H3K79me2 has been shown to be necessary for establishing the epigenetic signature of cardiomyocyte differentiation and maturation *in vitro*. H3K79me2 may be involved in preactivating mechanism in which the histone modification is used during early lineage commitment to mark the genes for subsequent activation during maturation phase. H3K79me2 may also participate the bivalent domain H3K4/H3K27 methylation in regulation of the expression of key

cardiomyocyte differentiation genes. Cardiac-specific knockout of *Dot1L* caused dilated cardiomyopathy (DCM) with chamber dilation and systolic dysfunction (Nguyen et al. 2011). Mechanistically, Dot1L was shown to activate the transcription of dystrophin and Dot1L-mediated H3K79 methylation is required for dystrophin expression. It was also shown that dystrophin is the major downstream target of Dot1L, since ectopic expression of a functionally truncated form of dystrophin can rescue the DCM phenotype observed in *Dot1L*-cardiac-specific knockout mice. DOTL1 may also play an important role in human DCM, as *DOT1L* is significantly lower in human idiopathic DCM heart tissues compared with normal ones (Nguyen et al. 2011). Unlike other histone lysine methylation, H3K79-specific lysine demethylases have yet to be discovered.

### 6.8 Conclusions and Future Perspectives

Aberrant histone methylation due to dysregulation of KMTs and KDMs, as well as defective methyl-histone readers, can lead to aberrant cardiac development and congenital and adult heart diseases. Growing number of mutations for KMTs, KDMs, and histone methylation readers are being identified with the advancement of modern genomic technologies. Mechanistic studies linking association of defects in lysine methylation to downstream gene expression using transgenic animal models will be needed in order to understand which, and how, alterations in histone methylations cause, rather than correlate with, developmental defects and/or heart diseases. Unlike most of the cell types that were profiled for histone methylation, adult cardiomyocytes are lineage determined and "terminally" differentiated, with little cell-cycle activity. Thus, the epigenetic regulatory mechanisms in cardiomyocytes are most likely to differ from those identified so far in pluripotent ES cells or lineage determined cycling cells. Analysis of genomewide changes in histone methylation in differentiated adult cardiomyocytes in response to hypertrophic stimuli is lacking and needs to be explored in order to discover key epigenetic events underlying adult cardiac hypertrophy and heart failure. Studies in humans and animals indicate that early exposure to nutrients at the time of conception and during pregnancy can lead to lasting epigenetic changes in their off-spring, with increased risk of disease in adult life (Wolff et al. 1998; Barker 1999; Dolinoy et al. 2007; Dominguez-Salas et al. 2012). The activities of many epigenetic enzymes require cofactors and are hence potentially susceptible to changes in nutrient intake and metabolism (Kaelin Jr. and McKnight 2013). How enzymatic activity of epigenetic regulators senses cellular metabolism and alters the epigenetic mark in response are largely uncharted areas and worthy of investigation in the future. Although epigenetic therapy for heart disease has yet to be achieved, the reversible nature of histone modifications, and the development of effective small molecules able to inhibit KMTs and KDMs, will likely shed light on new perspectives of clinical intervention for heart diseases.

Conflict of Interest The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

### References

- Abu-Farha M, Lambert JP, Al-Madhoun AS et al (2008) The tale of two domains: proteomics and genomics analysis of SMYD2, a new histone methyltransferase. Mol Cell Proteomics 7(3):560–572
- Alabert C, Groth A (2012) Chromatin replication and epigenome maintenance. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 13(3):153–167
- Allfrey VG, Faulkner R, Mirsky AE (1964) Acetylation and methylation of histones and their possible role in the regulation of RNA synthesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 51:786–794
- Aramaki M, Udaka T, Kosaki R et al (2006) Phenotypic spectrum of CHARGE syndrome with CHD7 mutations. J Pediatr 148(3):410–414
- Bannister AJ, Zegerman P, Partridge JF et al (2001) Selective recognition of methylated lysine 9 on histone H3 by the HP1 chromo domain. Nature 410(6824):120–124
- Barker DJ (1999) Fetal origins of cardiovascular disease. Ann Med 1:3-6
- Bernstein BE, Mikkelsen TS, Xie X et al (2006) A bivalent chromatin structure marks key developmental genes in embryonic stem cells. Cell 125(2):315–326
- Bilodeau S, Kagey MH, Frampton GM et al (2009) SetDB1 contributes to repression of genes encoding developmental regulators and maintenance of ES cell state. Genes Dev 23:2484–2489
- Black JC, Whetstine JR (2013) Tipping the lysine methylation balance in disease. Biopolymers 99(2):127–135
- Bokinni Y (2012) Kabuki syndrome revisited. J Hum Genet 57(4):223-227
- Brown MA, Sims RJ 3rd, Gottlieb PD et al (2006) Identification and characterization of Smyd2: a split SET/MYND domain-containing histone H3 lysine 36-specific methyltransferase that interacts with the Sin3 histone deacetylase complex. Mol Cancer 5:26
- Bruneau BG (2013) Signaling and transcriptional networks in heart development and regeneration. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 5(3):a008292
- Caprio C, Baldini A (2014) p53 suppression partially rescues the mutant phenotype in mouse models of DiGeorge syndrome. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111(37):13385–13390
- Carrozza MJ, Li B, Florens L et al (2005) Histone H3 methylation by Set2 directs deacetylation of coding regions by Rpd3S to suppress spurious intragenic transcription. Cell 123:581–592
- Cattaneo P, Kunderfranco P, Greco C et al. (2014) DOT1L-mediated H3K79me2 modification critically regulates gene expression during cardiomyocyte differentiation. Cell Death Differ. doi:10.1038/cdd.2014.199
- Delgado-Olguín P, Huang Y, Li X et al (2012) Epigenetic repression of cardiac progenitor gene expression by Ezh2 is required for postnatal cardiac homeostasis. Nat Genet 44(3):343–347
- Diehl F, Brown MA, van Amerongen MJ et al (2010) Cardiac deletion of Smyd2 is dispensable for mouse heart development. PLoS One 5(3):e9748
- Dillon SC, Zhang X, Trievel RC, Cheng X (2005) The SET-domain protein superfamily: protein lysine methyltransferases. Genome Biol 6(8):227
- Dolinoy DC, Huang D, Jirtle RL (2007) Maternal nutrient supplementation counteracts bisphenol A-induced DNA hypomethylation in early development. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104(32):13056–13061
- Dominguez-Salas P, Cox SE, Prentice AM et al (2012) Maternal nutritional status, C(1) metabolism and offspring DNA methylation: a review of current evidence in human subjects. Proc Nutr Soc 71(1):154–165
- Fahed AC, Gelb BD, Seidman JG, Seidman CE (2013) Genetics of congenital heart disease: the glass half empty. Circ Res 112:707–720
- Fish JE, Yan MS, Matouk CC et al (2010) Hypoxic repression of endothelial nitric-oxide synthase transcription is coupled with eviction of promoter histones. J Biol Chem 285:810–826
- Fujii T, Tsunesumi S, Yamaguchi K et al (2011) Smyd3 is required for the development of cardiac and skeletal muscle in zebrafish. PLoS One 6(8):e23491
- Glaser S, Schaft J, Lubitz S et al (2006) Multiple epigenetic maintenance factors implicated by the loss of Mll2 in mouse development. Development 133(8):1423–1432

- Glaser S, Lubitz S, Loveland KL et al (2009) The histone 3 lysine 4 methyltransferase, Mll2, is only required briefly in development and spermatogenesis. Epigenetics Chromatin 2(1):5. doi:10.1186/1756-8935-2-5
- Goldsworthy M, Absalom NL, Schröter D et al (2013) Mutations in Mll2, an H3K4 methyltransferase, result in insulin resistance and impaired glucose tolerance in mice. PLoS One 8(6):e61870
- Gottlieb PD, Pierce SA, Sims RJ et al (2002) Bop encodes a muscle-restricted protein containing MYND and SET domains and is essential for cardiac differentiation and morphogenesis. Nat Genet 31(1):25–32
- Guay SP, Brisson D, Lamarche B et al (2014) ADRB3 gene promoter DNA methylation in blood and visceral adipose tissue is associated with metabolic disturbances in men. Epigenomics 6(1):33–43
- Hamamoto R, Furukawa Y, Morita M et al (2004) SMYD3 encodes a histone methyltransferase involved in the proliferation of cancer cells. Nat Cell Biol 6(8):731–740
- Han P, Hang CT, Yang J, Chang CP (2011) Chromatin remodeling in cardiovascular development and physiology. Circ Res 108(3):378–396
- He A, Ma Q, Cao J et al (2012) Polycomb repressive complex 2 regulates normal development of the mouse heart. Circ Res 110(3):406–415
- Heijmans BT, Tobi EW, Stein AD et al (2008) Persistent epigenetic differences associated with prenatal exposure to famine in humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105(44):17046–17049
- Hill JA, Olson EN (2008) Cardiac plasticity. N Engl J Med 358(13):1370-1380
- Ho JJ, Man HS, Marsden PA (2012) Nitric oxide signaling in hypoxia. J Mol Med (Berl) 90(3):217-231
- Hu M, Sun XJ, Zhang YL et al (2010) Histone H3 lysine 36 methyltransferase Hypb/Setd2 is required for embryonic vascular remodeling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107(7):2956–2961
- Just S, Meder B, Berger IM et al (2011) The myosin-interacting protein SMYD1 is essential for sarcomere organization. J Cell Sci 124(Pt 18):3127–3136
- Kaelin WG Jr, McKnight SL (2013) Influence of metabolism on epigenetics and disease. Cell 153(1):56–69
- Kaneda R, Takada S, Yamashita Y et al (2009) Genome-wide histone methylation profile for heart failure. Genes Cells 14(1):69–77
- Kim D, Patel SR, Xiao H, Dressler GR (2009) The role of PTIP in maintaining embryonic stem cell pluripotency. Stem Cells 27(7):1516–1523
- Klose RJ, Kallin EM, Zhang Y (2006) JmjC-domain-containing proteins and histone demethylation. Nat Rev Genet 7(9):715–727
- Kobayashi J, Yoshida M, Tarui S et al (2014) Directed differentiation of patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cells identifies the transcriptional repression and epigenetic modification of NKX2-5, HAND1, and NOTCH1 in hypoplastic left heart syndrome. PLoS One 9(7):e102796
- Krauss V (2008) Glimpses of evolution: heterochromatic histone H3K9 methyltransferases left its marks behind. Genetica 133(1):93–106
- Lachner M, O'Carroll D, Rea S et al (2001) Methylation of histone H3 lysine 9 creates a binding site for HP1 proteins. Nature 410(6824):116–120
- Lai HL, Grachoff M, McGinley AL et al (2012) Maintenance of adult cardiac function requires the chromatin factor Asxl2. J Mol Cell Cardiol 53(5):734–741
- Lee S, Lee JW, Lee SK (2012) UTX, a histone H3-lysine 27 demethylase, acts as a critical switch to activate the cardiac developmental program. Dev Cell 22(1):25–37
- Lui JC, Chen W, Cheung CS, Baron J (2014) Broad shifts in gene expression during early postnatal life are associated with shifts in histone methylation patterns. PLoS One 9(1):e86957
- Magklara A, Yen A, Colquitt BM et al (2011) An epigenetic signature for monoallelic olfactory receptor expression. Cell 145:555–570
- Marango J, Shimoyama M, Nishio H et al (2008) The MMSET protein is a histone methyltransferase with characteristics of a transcriptional corepressor. Blood 111:3145–3154
- McCulley DJ, Black BL (2012) Transcription factor pathways and congenital heart disease. Curr Top Dev Biol 100:253–277

- Metzger E, Wissmann M, Yin N et al (2005) LSD1 demethylates repressive histone marks to promote androgen-receptor-dependent transcription. Nature 437:436–439
- Mummaneni P, Shord SS (2014) Epigenetics and oncology. Pharmacotherapy. doi:10.1002/ phar.1408
- Nestorov P, Tardat M, Peters AH (2013) H3K9/HP1 and polycomb: two key epigenetic silencing pathways for gene regulation and embryo development. Curr Top Dev Biol 104:243–291
- Ng SB, Bigham AW, Buckingham KJ et al (2010) Exome sequencing identifies MLL2 mutations as a cause of Kabuki syndrome. Nat Genet 42(9):790–793
- Nguyen AT, Zhang Y (2011) The diverse functions of Dot1 and H3K79 methylation. Genes Dev 25(13):1345–1358
- Nguyen AT, Xiao B, Neppl RL et al (2011) DOT1L regulates dystrophin expression and is critical for cardiac function. Genes Dev 25(3):263–274
- Nimura K, Ura K, Shiratori H et al (2009) A histone H3 lysine 36 trimethyltransferase links Nkx2-5 to Wolf-Hirschhorn syndrome. Nature 460(7252):287–291
- Olson EN (2006) Gene regulatory networks in the evolution and development of the heart. Science 313(5795):1922–1927
- Papangeli I, Scambler P (2013) The 22q11 deletion: DiGeorge and velocardiofacial syndromes and the role of TBX1. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Dev Biol 2(3):393–403
- Park CY, Pierce SA, von Drehle M et al (2010) skNAC, a Smyd1-interacting transcription factor, is involved in cardiac development and skeletal muscle growth and regeneration. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107(48):20750–20755
- Patel SR, Kim D, Levitan I, Dressler GR (2007) The BRCT-domain containing protein PTIP links PAX2 to a histone H3, lysine 4 methyltransferase complex. Dev Cell 13(4):580–592
- Pojoga LH, Williams JS, Yao TM et al (2011) Histone demethylase LSD1 deficiency during highsalt diet is associated with enhanced vascular contraction, altered NO-cGMP relaxation pathway, and hypertension. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 301(5):H1862–H1871
- Pokholok DK, Harbison CT, Levine S et al (2005) Genome-wide map of nucleosome acetylation and methylation in yeast. Cell 122(4):517–527
- Raj A, Rifkin SA, Andersen E, van Oudenaarden A (2010) Variability in gene expression underlies incomplete penetrance. Nature 463:913–918
- Randall V, McCue K, Roberts C et al (2009) Great vessel development requires biallelic expression of Chd7 and Tbx1 in pharyngeal ectoderm in mice. J Clin Invest 119(11):3301–3310
- Rasmussen TL, Ma Y, Park CY et al (2015) Smyd1 facilitates heart development by antagonizing oxidative and ER stress responses. PLoS One 10(3):e0121765
- Rea S, Eisenhaber F, O'Carroll D et al (2000) Regulation of chromatin structure by site-specific histone H3 methyltransferases. Nature 406(6796):593–599
- Reddy MA, Villeneuve LM, Wang M et al (2008) Role of the lysine-specific demethylase 1 in the proinflammatory phenotype of vascular smooth muscle cells of diabetic mice. Circ Res 103(6):615–623
- Rozek LS, Dolinoy DC, Sartor MA, Omenn GS (2014) Epigenetics: relevance and implications for public health. Annu Rev Public Health 35:105–122
- Ruthenburg AJ, Allis CD, Wysocka J (2007) Methylation of lysine 4 on histone H3: intricacy of writing and reading a single epigenetic mark. Mol Cell 25(1):15–30
- Sheikh F, Raskin A, Chu PH et al (2008) An FHL1-containing complex within the cardiomyocyte sarcomere mediates hypertrophic biomechanical stress responses in mice. J Clin Invest 118(12):3870–3880
- Shi YG, Tsukada Y (2013) The discovery of histone demethylases. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 5:a017947
- Shi Y, Lan F, Matson C et al (2004) Histone demethylation mediated by the nuclear amine oxidase homolog LSD1. Cell 119:941–953
- Shilatifard A (2012) The COMPASS family of histone H3K4 methylases: mechanisms of regulation in development and disease pathogenesis. Annu Rev Biochem 81:65–95
- Song HK, Hong SE, Kim T et al (2012) Deep RNA sequencing reveals novel cardiac transcriptomic signatures for physiological and pathological hypertrophy. PLoS One 7(4):e35552

- Stein AB, Jones TA, Herron TJ et al (2011) Loss of H3K4 methylation destabilizes gene expression patterns and physiological functions in adult murine cardiomyocytes. J Clin Invest 121(7):2641–2650
- Stock JK, Giadrossi S, Casanova M et al (2007) Ring1-mediated ubiquitination of H2A restrains poised RNA polymerase II at bivalent genes in mouse ES cells. Nat Cell Biol 9(12): 1428–1435
- Strahl B, Allis C (2000) The language of covalent histone modifications. Nature 403(6765):41-45
- Strobl-Mazzulla PH, Sauka-Spengler T, Bronner-Fraser M (2010) Histone demethylase JmjD2A regulates neural crest specification. Dev Cell 19(3):460–468
- Tingare A, Thienpont B, Roderick HL (2013) Epigenetics in the heart: the role of histone modifications in cardiac remodeling. Biochem Soc Trans 41(3):789–796
- Tobi EW, Goeman JJ, Monajemi R et al (2014) DNA methylation signatures link prenatal famine exposure to growth and metabolism. Nat Commun 5:5592. doi:10.1038/ncomms6592
- Vermeulen M, Mulder KW, Denissov S et al (2007) Selective anchoring of TFIID to nucleosomes by trimethylation of histone H3 lysine 4. Cell 131(1):58–69
- Vincent SD, Buckingham ME (2010) How to make a heart: the origin and regulation of cardiac progenitor cells. Curr Top Dev Biol 90:1–41
- Voelkel T, Andresen C, Unger A et al (2013) Lysine methyltransferase Smyd2 regulates Hsp90mediated protection of the sarcomeric titin springs and cardiac function. Biochim Biophys Acta 1833(4):812–822
- Voigt P, Tee WW, Reinberg D (2013) A double take on bivalent promoters. Genes Dev 27(12):1318–1338
- Wagner EJ, Carpenter PB (2012) Understanding the language of Lys36 methylation at histone H3. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 13(2):115–126
- Wamstad JA, Alexander JM, Truty RM et al (2012) Dynamic and coordinated epigenetic regulation of developmental transitions in the cardiac lineage. Cell 151(1):206–220
- Wolff GL, Kodell RL, Moore SR, Cooney CA (1998) Maternal epigenetics and methyl supplements affect agouti gene expression in Avy/a mice. FASEB J 12(11):949–957
- Yang M, Gocke CB, Luo X et al (2006) Structural basis for CoREST-dependent demethylation of nucleosomes by the human LSD1 histone demethylase. Mol Cell 23:377–387
- Young LC, Hendzel MJ (2013) The oncogenic potential of Jumonji D2 (JMJD2/KDM4) histone demethylase overexpression. Biochem Cell Biol 91(6):369–377
- Yuan S, Zaidi S, Brueckner M (2013) Congenital heart disease: emerging themes linking genetics and development. Curr Opin Genet Dev 23(3):352–359
- Zaidi S, Choi M, Wakimoto H et al (2013) De novo mutations in histone-modifying genes in congenital heart disease. Nature 498(7453):220–223
- Zhang QJ, Chen HZ, Wang L et al (2011) The histone trimethyllysine demethylase JMJD2A promotes cardiac hypertrophy in response to hypertrophic stimuli in mice. J Clin Invest 121:2447–2456



# The Lysine Acetyltransferases in Cardiovascular Disease

# Nanette H. Bishopric

# Contents

7.1	Introd	uction	148
	7.1.1	Accessing the Nuclear Warehouse	148
	7.1.2	The KAT Superfamily	148
	7.1.3	Discovery of the KATs	149
7.2	The M	ammalian KAT Families	151
	7.2.1	The GNAT Family	151
	7.2.2	The KAT3 Family: CBP/p300	158
	7.2.3	KAT4	165
	7.2.4	The MYST Family	165
	7.2.5	KAT12	169
	7.2.6	The KAT13: Nuclear Receptor Coactivator Family	169
7.3	Refere	nces	174

# Abstract

The lysine acetyltransferases (KATs) are enzymes that catalyze the reversible acetylation of lysine residues within histones, transcription factors, and other proteins. These dynamic and signal-responsive enzymes allow a single pool of nuclear DNA to be interpreted in multiple ways, to create many different cell types, and to carry out a broad range of specialized cell functions. KATs play a particularly important role in adapting the long-lived cells of the cardiovascular system to environmental challenges and changing metabolic states. This chapter will provide an overview of the major classes of mammalian KATs: GNAT, p300/CBP, MYST, and the nuclear receptor coactivators, including CLOCK. Several additional KATs that to date have not been structurally analyzed will also be considered. Special attention will be paid to the role of the KATs in human genetic disorders and in processes important to cardiac and vascular biology.

N.H. Bishopric, MD, FACC, FAHA

University of Miami Miller School of Medicine, Miami, FL, USA e-mail: n.bishopric@miami.edu

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

J. Backs, T.A. McKinsey (eds.), Epigenetics in Cardiac Disease,

Cardiac and Vascular Biology 1, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-41457-7\_7

# 7.1 Introduction

In all multicellular organisms, the same starting DNA can be reprogrammed to form different cell types or enable new cell functions. The science of epigenetics seeks to understand this process, one which is particularly relevant to cardiovascular biology. The cardiovascular system is made up of many cell types, such as cardiac myocytes and endothelial cells, that have long lifespans and turn over very slowly. These cells cannot be easily sacrificed and replaced in response to injury, nor are they able to mutate, so that challenges from the environment must be met using a fixed set of genetic tools. This review will focus on a family of enzymes, the lysine acetyltransferases (KATs), which allow each cell to equip itself for both normal and extraordinary situations by selecting different tools from the same chest of DNA. A discussion of the major mammalian KAT families, using (as much as possible) the nomenclature proposed by Allis et al. (2007), will focus on human clinical genetic information, as well as issues of potential significance in cardiac and vascular biology, and will serve as an introduction to some of the many excellent studies in this area.

#### 7.1.1 Accessing the Nuclear Warehouse

Every mammalian cell contains roughly 1 m of double-stranded DNA packed into a roughly 140  $\mu$ m<sup>3</sup> nucleus. This feat is achieved by supercoiling and condensing the acidic DNA molecule around basic proteins, the histones, in ordered structures called nucleosomes. The process of DNA compaction has been described elsewhere in this text, but in brief, nucleosomes are repeating units of 147 DNA nucleotides wrapped around a double tetramer of histones 2A, 2B, 3, and 4, connected by histone 1 linkers. These nucleosomes are further condensed into higher order structures, strictly limiting access of the transcriptional machinery and other DNA regulatory proteins to the genome. Each cell accesses this vast storage locker of DNA in a dynamic and spatially restricted way that defines its identity, form, and function. The discovery of enzymes that control the accessioning and deaccessioning of genes was therefore a defining event in genome biology, moving beyond DNA sequence and into the study of how gene activity is controlled.

#### 7.1.2 The KAT Superfamily

The first histone-modifying enzymes to be identified and characterized were members of the superfamily of KATs (see Verdin and Ott 2015 for an excellent overview). KATs catalyze the transfer of an acetyl group from acetyl-coenzyme A to the epsilon-amino group of susceptible protein lysine residues. In biological systems, these acetyl groups are highly dynamic and are rapidly hydrolyzed by multiple histone deacetylases (Olson et al. 2006; Weeks and Avkiran 2015). Like phosphorylation, acetylation changes both the size and charge of a protein and can substantially alter its function and interactions; thus, these enzymes exert potent regulatory control that mirrors that of the protein kinases. KATs alter the DNA–histone interaction by acetylating clusters of lysines in core histones; this generally promotes transcription, particularly in the case of lysines 5 and 8 in H4 and 9 and 14 in H3 (Dancy and Cole 2015). The scope and biological importance of the nuclear acetyltransferases is now known to expand considerably beyond histone modification, to acetylation of an array of other DNA-associated and structural proteins, and accordingly they have been renamed KATs. Indeed, lysine acetylation rivals phosphorylation in importance as a regulatory modification (Zhao et al. 2010; Chen et al. 2012a; Norris et al. 2009).

The number of KATs varies considerably across species and phyla, and the family has branched significantly in relatively recent evolution. KATs include members that are largely cytosolic and members that are exclusively nuclear. Most function as parts of multi-subunit complexes, for example, Elongator (Okada et al. 2010; Close et al. 2012) and Mediator (Malik and Roeder 2000). Their activity is distinct from the non-enzymatic lysine acylation that occurs in some organelles and provides substrates for the sirtuins, for example, in metabolism (reviewed in Ghanta et al. 2013; Wagner and Hirschey 2014).

# 7.1.3 Discovery of the KATs

In the early 1960s, it was known that histones interfered with the transcription of RNA from genomic DNA, but chromatin was generally considered little more than inert packaging material. In 1963, while analyzing the amino acid composition of calf thymus histones, Phillips detected a subpopulation of lysine-rich histones with N-terminal acetyl modifications (Phillips 1963). Vincent Allfrey (1921–2002) subsequently showed that these modifications occurred after histones were synthesized, reducing their ability to inhibit RNA transcription. He considered that acetylation would neutralize the charge of histones and thus profoundly affect their interaction with DNA. In a remarkably prescient conclusion, he foresaw that "… specificity in DNA-histone binding, alterable by acetylation of the histone, can influence the rate of RNA synthesis. This would allow a means of switching-on or -off RNA synthesis at different times, and at different loci of the chromosomes" (Allfrey et al. 1964).

Confirmation of this hypothesis – that histone acetylation regulates transcriptional activation – proceeded slowly at first. Pogo et al. (1966) and others found that growth signals induce a rapid increase in histone acetylation that precedes other changes in the cell, including RNA and protein synthesis. This observation was initially made in lymphocytes exposed to phytohemagglutinin and was quickly replicated in regenerating liver, cortisol-treated thymus from adrenalectomized rats, erythropoietin-stimulated spleens, aldosterone-treated kidneys, and uteri stimulated with estradiol (Pogo et al. 1968; Libby 1972) (and references therein). Acetylated histones were physically localized to sites of active chromatin by autoradiography of insect chromosome squashes (Fig. 7.1) (Allfrey et al. 1968).



**Fig. 7.1** Vincent Allfrey's 1967 autoradiograph of insect chromatin labeled with 3H-AcCoA (Allfrey et al. 1968)

Evidence for an acetyltransferase with nuclear localization and selectivity for histones was reported in the late 1960s by Gallwitz (1968) and a similar activity was subsequently identified in the nuclei of rat liver and brain (Bondy et al. 1970). Studies in the laboratory of Bruce Alberts showed that this activity was guided by association with the nuclear matrix, and they concluded that structural features or nuclear factors were responsible for directing it to specific DNA locations (Garcea and Alberts 1980). Collectively, these studies established (1) the dynamic, stress-responsive nature of histone acetylation; (2) the spatial localization of acetyltransferase activity and specificity by interaction with other factors in multimolecular complexes.

Finding the enzymes responsible for histone acetylation took another decade and a half. Two types of activities were recognized: type A, acting on chromatin-associated histones, and type B, active only on isolated histones. In 1995, Brownell et al. isolated a 55-kd nuclear Type A HAT activity from *Tetrahymena thermophila* (Brownell and

Allis 1995). Subsequent cloning and sequencing of the enzyme, HAT A, revealed that it was a homologue of a yeast protein, general control non-repressed protein 5 (Gcn5), a transcription adapter, which then proved to have HAT activity also. In addition to a domain common to Type B HATs, both proteins harbored a bromodomain, a motif previously associated with yeast, fly, and human transcriptional regulatory proteins (Tamkun et al. 1992). Yeast GCN5 was later shown to exert Type A HAT activity in complex with the site-specific and general transcriptional activators Ada and Spt (Grant et al. 1997). These observations established a definitive biochemical link between transcriptional activation and histone lysine acetylation.

# 7.2 The Mammalian KAT Families

Most mammalian KATs fall into one of four major groups. The KAT2 or GNAT family comprises homologues of yeast GCN5, including mammalian KAT2A, KAT2B, and alpha-tubulin acetyltransferase (ATAT1). The MYST group shares homology with the yeast acetyltransferases Mst1/2, Sas2, and Ybf2/Sas3 and includes mammalian KAT5 (TIP60, PLIP), KAT6A and KAT6B, KAT7, and KAT8. The KAT13 group contains the nuclear steroid receptor coactivators NCOA1, NCOA2, and NCOA3 and the circadian regulator CLOCK (Verdin and Ott 2015; Olson et al. 2006; Weeks and Avkiran 2015). The fourth and smallest family, KAT3, contains the EP300 (E1A-associated 300 kDa protein, p300) and CREBBP (CREBbinding protein, CBP) paralogues, which have some structural features in common with the yeast KAT Rtt109 (regulator of Ty1 transposition gene product 109) (Tang et al. 2008), but otherwise have no homologues in single-celled organisms. The structural relationship of the remaining KATs with these larger groups has not yet been definitively established, but sequence comparison provides some insight (Fig. 7.2). Table 7.1 contains a summary of information about the function, genetics, and model organism phenotypes of known mammalian KATs.

#### 7.2.1 The GNAT Family

This group includes KAT2A (hGCN5), KAT2B (p300–CBP-associated factor, PCAF), and the structurally related ATAT1. KAT2 proteins commonly participate in complexes with other KAT species (see below). Their contribution may be to add to the total available enzymatic activity at target promoters or to serve to acetylate and activate the other KATs, since hypoacetylated p300 is relatively weak (Thompson et al. 2004). KAT2B itself is regulated by autoacetylation and accumulates in the cytosol when deacetylated (Blanco-Garcia et al. 2009).

# 7.2.1.1 KAT2A

*KAT2A (GCN5)* and its paralogue, KAT2B (P/CAF), are the two vertebrate homologues of the yeast acetyltransferase Gcn5 (General Control Non-derepressible 5). In both yeast and vertebrates, these enzymes constitute the working end of



**Fig. 7.2** KAT family phylogeny. Major mRNA transcript sequences for each gene were used to construct a phylogenetic tree using Clustal Omega (www.ebi.ac.uk/Tools/msa/clustalw2/). *Shaded circles* enclose members of the 4 major mammalian KAT families

multiprotein complexes that facilitate basal transcription, nucleosome sliding, nucleotide excision repair, and other DNA-based processes. Two such KAT2A/B complexes have been identified in humans, SPT3-TAF9-GCN5/PCAF acetylase and Ada-Two-A-containing. Each contains more than 20 subunits, including components and regulators of the basal transcriptional machinery, several histone-like proteins, DNA replication proteins, and one or more proteins in the MAPK signal pathway (Ogryzko et al. 1998; Wang et al. 2008a). In composition and function, these complexes resemble the basic transcription factor complex TFIID (Lee et al. 2000; Struhl and Moqtaderi 1998). Loss of KAT2A from these complexes induces early embryonic lethality (Wang and Dent 2014).

*KAT2B (P/CAF)* was originally identified as a protein associated with the KAT3 members p300 and CBP. It was shown to be an important acetyltransferase for

		ferences	agarajan et al. 13)		u et al. 2000a; 1 et al. 2011)	u et al. 2000a; rtorelli et al. 99; Xenaki et al. 08; Fusco et al. 14)	alebic et al. 13)	(continued)
		Homologues Re	(D) CG2051, $(N)$ (S.c) Hat1, 20	(S.p.) Hat1/ Hag603	(D) KAT2, (X dGCN5/ Jir PCAF, (S.c.,	S.p.) GCN5 (X Sa 19 20 20 20 20	(C.e., D.r.) (K Mec 17 20	
	Substrate	specificity	H4 (5, 12), H2 (5), H3 (9, 18,	and 27)	H3 (9, 14, 18)/ H2B, PGC1a	H3 (9, 14, 18)/ H2B, MYOD (99, 102, 104), PTEN (125, 128), p53 (K320), HIF1A, E2A (34), TRIM50 (372)	a-tubulin (40)	
		Pathways	Replication- dependent	nucleosome assembly, DNA repair	Inhibition of gluconeogenesis	Myogenesis, viral replication, apoptosis	Locomotion, chemotaxis, DNA repair	
the second se		Human disease	I		I	1	1	
and manage		Locus	2q31.1		17q21.2	3p24.3	6p21.33	
	Mouse knockout	phenotypes	Neonatal lethality,	defective lung development, craniofacial defects	Failure of dorsal mesoderm formation	None	Defective sperm motility, male fertility	
mr (comono)		Name	HAT1		hGCN5 GCN5L2	PCAF	ATAT1	
		Class	KAT1		KAT2A	KAT2B	1	

 Table 7.1
 Genetics, functions, and model organism phenotypes of known mammalian KATs

Table 6.2	(continued)							
Class	Name	Mouse knockout phenotypes	Locus	Human disease	Pathways	Substrate specificity	Homologues	References
KAT3A	CREBBP	Embryonic lethality, craniofacial, hematopoietic, long-term memory defects, tumorigenesis, white adipose lipodystrophy	16p13.3	Rubinstein– Taybi Syndrome 1, (gene fusion) acute myeloid leukemia, myelodyspastic syndrome	Gluconeogenesis, myogenesis, CREB-dependent gene expression, apoptosis	H2A (5), H2B (12, 15), H3 (9, 14, 18, 23, 27, 56), H4, CREB (136), E2A (34), multiple transcription factors	(D) dCBP/ NEJ, KAT3, no yeast homologues	(Jin et al. 2011; Kung et al. 2000; Bedford et al. 2011; Kasper and Brindle 2006; Kasper et al. 2011; Zhou et al. 2004; Polesskaya et al. 2010; Bartsch et al. 2010; Kalkhoven et al. 2003; Alarcon et al. 2004; Yamauchi et al. 2002)
KAT3B	EP300	Embryonic lethality, cardiac, craniofacial, vasculogenic, growth/size retardation	22913.2	Rubinstein- Taybi Syndrome 2, (somatic) colorectal cancer, (gene fusion) leukemia	Megakaryocytopoi- esis, erythropoiesis, and lymphopoiesis; myogenesis; smooth muscle differentia- tion, cardiac development, and hypertrophy	H2A (5), H2B (12, 15), H3 (9, 14, 18, 23, 18, 27, 56), H4; E2A (34), HDAC1, HDAC1, HDAC6, TRIM50 (372), multiple transcription factors		(Fusco et al. 2014; Kasper and Brindle 2006; Kasper et al. 2003; Kauppi et al. 2008; Eckner et al. 1996; Roth et al. 2003; Yao et al. 1998; Wei et al. 2008; Spin et al. 2000; Sartorelli et al. 1997; Bartholdi et al. 2007; Pentz et al. 2012)

154

(Lee et al. 2000; Mizzen et al. 1996; Pijnappel et al. 2013; Makino et al. 2007)	(Hu et al. 2009; Kamine et al. 1996; Col et al. 2005; Sykes et al. 2006; Sun et al. 2010; Tang et al. 2013; Fisher et al. 2012; Gorrini et al. 2007)	(Tham et al. 2015; Arboleda Valerie et al. 2015; Voss et al. 2015) et al. 2015)		(continued)
(D) dTAF1, dTAF(II) 230, (S.c., S.p.) Taf1, yTAF(II) 130	d'ITP60, s.c. Esal, s.p. Mst1	<ul> <li>(D) CG1894,</li> <li>ENOK</li> <li>(S.c.) Sas3</li> <li>(S.p.) Mst2</li> </ul>		
H3 > H4	H4 (5, 8, 12, 16), H2A (chicken 5, 9, 13, 15), p53 (120), ATM, androgen receptor	H3 (9, 18), p53, TBX1	H3 (14)	
RNA Pol II-mediated transcription, transcription- dependent reprogramming, bookmarking active genes	Homologous recombination, double-stranded DNA break repair, apoptosis, autophagy, tumor suppression	Transcription activation and elongation, DNA replication, cardiac, pharyngeal, and facial development	Transcription activation	
X-linked dystonia- Parkinsonism (XDP)	Haploid loss in breast cancer	Developmental delay syndrome with ventricular and atrial septal defects, (t(8;16) (p11;p13)) AML	Genitopatellar syndrome, Ohdo/ Say-Barber- Biesecker- Young-Simpson Syndrome, (gene fusion) AML	
Xq13.1	11q13.1	8p11.21	10q22.2	
1	(-/-) embryonic lethality at gastrulation, (-/+) reduced apoptosis under stress	Ventricular septal defects, interrupted aortic arch		
TAFI TAFI1250 CCG1 BA2R	TIP60a HTATIP ESA1 TIP60b/ PLIP	MOZ MYST3 ZNF220	MORF MYST4 MORF GTPTS	
KAT4	KAT5	KAT6A	KAT6B	

Table 6.2	(continued)							
Class	Name	Mouse knockout phenotypes	Locus	Human disease	Pathways	Substrate specificity	Homologues	References
KAT7	HB01 MYST2	Growth arrest and lethality at 10-somite stage	17q21.33	1	Transcription activation, mesenchymal development	H3 (14)>>H4 (5, 8, 12)	(S.c.) Sas2p (S.p.) Mst2 CHM	(lizuka and Stillman 1999; Kueh et al. 2011; Sharma et al. 2000)
KAT8	MOF HMOF MYSTI	(Homozygotes) early embryonic lethality	16p11.2	1	DNA repair, cell cycle progression, proliferation, oncogenesis, dosage compensation (Drosophila)	H4 (16)	(D) dMOF (CG1894) (S.c.) Sas2 (S.p.) Mst2	(Neal et al. 2000; Gupta et al. 2005; Smith et al. 2005; Gupta et al. 2008)
KAT9	ELP3	Required for paternal zygote DNA demethylation	8p21.1	Amyotropic lateral sclerosis	Transcript elongation, paternal demethylation, motility, motor neuron branching and migration	H3, alpha-tubulin	D) 5433 dELP3/CG1 (S.c.) Elp3 (S.p.) Elp3	(Okada et al. 2010; Close et al. 2012) (Simpson et al. 2009)
KAT10 KAT11	1 1	Yeast only Yeast only	1 1	1 1	<ul> <li>Genome stability, transcription</li> <li>elongation</li> </ul>	H3 (14); H4 H3 (56)	(S.c.) Hap2 (S.c.) Rtt109	
KAT12	GTF3C4 TFIIIC90	I	9q34.13	I	Pol III transcription	H3 (9, 14, 18)	No yeast homologues	(Hsieh et al. 1999)
KAT13A	NCOA1 SRC1	(-/-) viable, fertile, smaller reproductive organs, osteopenia	2p23.3	1	Transcription activation, steroid hormone signaling	H3/H4	No yeast homologues	(Onate et al. 1995; Hayashi et al. 1997; Zhang et al. 2007; Li and Shang 2007; Xu et al. 1998; Yamada et al. 2004; Qi et al. 1999)

156

	References	(Li and Shang 2007; Chen et al. 1997; Anzick et al. 1997; Takeshita et al. 1997; Takeshita et al. 2001; York et al. 2010; Louet et al. 2006; Coste et al. 2006; Wang et al. 2006)	(Hong et al. 1997; Voegel et al. 1996; Chen et al. 2000; Troke et al. 2006; Deguchi et al. 2003; Chopra et al. 2008)	(Marcheva et al. 2010; King et al. 1997; Antoch et al. 1997; Doi et al. 2006; Vitaterna et al. 1994)
	Homologues			
Substrate	specificity	H3/H4	H3/H4	H3/H4, BMALI (537)
	Pathways	Transcription activation, vascular smooth muscle and adipose differentiation, steroid hormone signaling	Transcription activation, myogenic transcription	Transcription activation, circadian rhythm
;	Human disease	Amplified in breast cancer	MOZ gene fusion: AML	
	Locus	20q13.12	8q13.3	4q12
Mouse knockout	phenotypes	(-/-): reduced white adipose tissue, B cell lymphomas, thrombocytope- nia; enhanced inflammatory cytokine production	(-/-) Defective spermatogenesis, placental development, and hepatic gluconeogenesis and glycolysis	(-/+) Prolongation of circadian cycle, (pancreas- targeted) diabetes
	Name	NCOA3 SRC-3 ACTR AIB1 TRAM1 RAC3 p/CIP	NCOA2 TIF2 GRIP1 SRC2 P160	CLOCK
	Class	KAT13B	KAT13C	KAT13D

MyoD and a driver of myogenic differentiation in cultured myoblasts (Puri et al. 1997). KAT2B is interchangeable with KAT2A for most or all of its functions in basal and signal-activated transcription, and mice with homozygous deletion of P/ Caf have no apparent phenotype, suggesting that its functions are largely those of gene dosage compensation.

#### 7.2.1.2 ATAT1: Tubulin Acetyltransferase

Cell polarization and migration require the accumulation of microtubules at the leading edge of the cell, a process that involves acetylation of alpha-tubulin. ATAT1 encodes the major cellular tubulin acetyltransferase (Kalebic et al. 2013). Tubulin acetylation is also required for cells to progress through mitosis. Changes in tubulin acetylation thus have significant consequences for tissue repair and fibrosis. KAT2A and P/CAF can also directly acetylate tubulin (Kalebic et al. 2013; Liu et al. 2013). Microtubule hyperacetylation occurs in response to several cell stressors, including reactive oxygen species and nutrient deprivation, and results from activation of ATAT1 by AMP kinase (Mackeh et al. 2014). Impairment of microtubule acetyl-transferase function has been observed in diabetes and may contribute to defective wound healing in this condition (Spallotta et al. 2013).

## 7.2.2 The KAT3 Family: CBP/p300

The two members of this family, encoded by EP300 and CREBBP, are large multidomain proteins able to acetylate lysines in each of the four core histones. They also acetylate many other proteins, especially transcription factors, and can auto-acetylate (Thompson et al. 2004; Lee and La Thangue 1999; Wang et al. 2005a); more than 70 proteins are reported to be KAT3 substrates (Wang et al. 2008b). CBP and p300 exhibit >60% protein sequence homology overall, and their HAT domains are >90% identical. As a result, they are often referred to by a hybrid term (e.g., p300/ CBP). However, they are encoded by different genes on different chromosomes, and the two distinct genes have been retained and conserved during mammalian evolution.

CBP (CREBBP, KAT3A) was originally identified as a coactivator recruited by cyclic AMP response element binding protein (CREB) and required for cyclic AMP-dependent transcription (Kwok et al. 1994; Chrivia et al. 1993). Its activity was found to be stimulated not only by protein kinase A but also by growth factors, CaM kinase and MAPK/ERK kinase pathways (Hu et al. 1999; Liu et al. 1998; Gusterson et al. 2002), placing it at a nodal position for relaying extracellular signals to the nuclear transcriptional machinery.

p300 (EP300, KAT3B) was originally identified as a 300 kd cellular protein associated with the E1A oncoprotein in adenovirus-infected cells (Stein et al. 1990). An E1A amino-terminal domain efficiently represses specialized, but not basal, gene expression, and this transcriptional repression can be reversed by restoring EP300 (Hen et al. 1985; Lillie et al. 1986; Bishopric et al. 1997; Hasegawa et al. 1997). Cloning of the p300 protein revealed it to be an acetyltransferase,

homologous to CBP. p300 was subsequently established as an activator of gene expression through its ability to interact with a large number of signal-responsive and tissue-specific transcription factors (reviewed in Vo and Goodman 2001).

CBP and p300 are co-expressed ubiquitously during early embryogenesis, but in progressively restricted patterns during later development. For example, in the mouse heart, both proteins are present and co-localized in atrial and ventricular myocytes at or before d7.5, but are no longer detectable after d14.5 (Partanen et al. 1999; Phan et al. 2005). After birth, myocardial levels of EP300 rise progressively during the first two months of life and then fall again after puberty, subject to stress-induced re-expression (Wei et al. 2008; Sharma et al. 2012). The HAT activities of both proteins generally parallel their expression patterns in adulthood, with evidence of decline in aging muscle, liver, and testis (Li et al. 2002).

The KAT3s have evolved in parallel with the appearance and radiation of multicellular life. No EP300 homologue can be found in single-cell organisms. Only one isoform is present in *C. elegans*, Drosophila, and primitive chordates. Most vertebrates have both p300 and CBP, and there are at least five KAT3 family members in multicellular plants (Pandey et al. 2002). There are at least eight other paralogue pairs on chromosomes 16p and 22q, for example, hemoxygenases HMOX2 and HMOX1; phosphomannomutases PMM2 and PMM1; myosins MYH11 and MYH9, suggesting that the entire chromosomal regions encoding p300 and CBP emerged from a relatively recent gene duplication during vertebrate evolution (Giles et al. 1998a). The implication is that the KAT3 family has undergone recent evolutionary expansion to meet the requirements of animals with highly specialized tissues, living in complex and changing environments.

#### 7.2.2.1 The KAT3s Drive Specialized, Signal-Responsive Transcription

In addition to their acetyltransferase activities, the KAT3 proteins have in common a large number of modular protein-binding regions, most of which are not found in other coactivators (Dancy and Cole 2015; Kasper and and Brindle 2006; Goodman and Smolik 2000). These include a steroid receptor interaction domain, a glutamine-rich site, three cysteine-histidine-rich (C/H1-3) sites, a KIX domain (the binding site for CREB), four zinc finger motifs, and a bromodomain (Fig. 7.3). The bromodomain is an evolutionarily conserved feature of proteins that facilitate signal-activated but not basal transcription (Tamkun et al. 1992); its identification in p300 and CBP was an early sign that these proteins are important for communicating extracellular or environmental signals to the transcriptional apparatus, rather than driving basal transcription. Consistent with this, both genes can be entirely deleted without impairing basal cell function or viability (Kasper et al. 2010, 2011).

A very large number of transcription factors, as well as components of the basal transcriptional machinery, interact physically and functionally with the KAT3s (Kasper and Brindle 2006; Abraham et al. 1993). More than 300 different transcription factor partners have been identified for CBP and p300, and dozens of these are direct substrates (Goodman and Smolik 2000). Extensive redundancy between p300 and CBP exists for these interactions and probably between the KAT3 proteins and other coactivators, including the KAT2 family (GCN5/PCAF) (Phan et al. 2005).



**Fig. 7.3** Comparative functional domains of KAT families. *Drawing* indicates the major functional domains and relative size of representative proteins from each family, from approximately 440 aa for KAT2 to 2441aa for KAT3A (shown). Adapted from Marmorstein (Marmorstein 2001)

The transcription programs for which the KAT3 proteins are indispensable are specialized and cell type-specific, such as inflammation, long-term memory formation (Alarcon et al. 2004), and hepatic gluconeogenesis (Zhou et al. 2004). KAT3s are also required for the transcriptional activation of immediate-early genes, through their rapid, dynamic acetylation of trimethylated lysine 4 on histone 3 (H3K4me3). This chromatin mark is associated with RNA polymerase II recruitment and transcriptional activation (Crump et al. 2011). Thus, rather than acting as general transcriptional integrators, the KAT3 proteins enable differentiated cell and organ functions and link extracellular signals to a rapid, complex transcriptional response (Lee et al. 2009).

#### 7.2.2.2 The KAT3s Are Gene Dose Limiting

Genetic studies show that CBP and p300 are present in limited supply in the cell. Heterozygous mutations in either of the human genes CREBBP and EP300 result in the Rubinstein-Taybi Syndrome (RTS) types 1 and 2, respectively. RTS is a very rare, multisystem disorder associated with bone malformations, hematological malignancies, mental retardation, and cardiac defects (Marion et al. 1993; Roelfsema et al. 2005; Zimmermann et al. 2007; Stevens and Bhakta 1995). Over half of the patients with RTS have mutations in CREBBP (Bartsch et al. 2005); EP300 is involved less frequently, representing about 3.8% of all RTS cases, although interestingly the normal gene is more polymorphic than CREBBP (Zimmermann et al. 2007). Both deletions and missense mutations affecting the HAT domain have been reported (Kalkhoven et al. 2003; Woods et al. 2014; Wincent J et al. 2016; Hamilton MJ et al. 2016). Although about 10% of mutations may express a truncated protein, in most cases RTS is a haploinsufficiency disorder, associated with  $\geq$ 50% reduction in cellular HAT activity (Petrij et al. 2000; Blough et al. 2000; Lopez-Atalaya et al. 2012). These findings reveal that KAT3 gene dosage is critical and that there is no significant dose compensation between the two proteins.

Surveys of RTS patients demonstrate a high 32.6% (45/138) rate of cardiovascular abnormalities, including atrial and ventricular septal defects, coarctation of the aorta, pulmonic stenosis, bicuspid aortic valve, and patent ductus arteriosus (Stevens and Bhakta 1995).

Mouse genetic studies indicate that complete loss of either EP300 or CBP is embryonic lethal. Surprisingly, heterozygous loss of both proteins is also embryonic lethal, indicating both functional overlap and a lack of dosage compensation. Thus, at least three intact KAT3 alleles are required for normal development (Yao et al. 1998; Tanaka et al. 1997).

#### Functional Divergence of EP300 and CREBBP

Since the recognition that both CREBBP and EP300 mutations can lead to RTS, phenotypic differences have begun to emerge. EP300 loss induces a milder intellectual deficit and does not appear to promote the same rate of cardiac malformations (Zimmermann et al. 2007; Spena et al. 2014; Solomon et al. 2015). Wider use of clinical sequencing in these syndromes will provide further insight.

In the meantime, mouse genetic studies support functional differences between p300 and CBP during development, consistent with a large body of in vitro data (reviewed in Kalkhoven 2004). Ep300 –/– mice die between d9.5 and 11, with abnormalities of cell proliferation in the ventricular myocardium and elsewhere, neural tube defects, and defective vasculogenesis. Although the heart forms, the ventricular myocardium does not progress beyond a few cells in thickness and fails to express cardiac sarcomeric genes, leading to heart failure and death in utero (Yao et al. 1998). An Ep300 allele with inactivation of the acetyltransferase domain conferred a similar phenotype (Yao et al. 1998; Shikama et al. 2003). Mice with Crebbp loss die later in embryogenesis, exhibiting skeletal abnormalities reminiscent of RTS, but without cardiac abnormalities (Kung et al. 2000; Tanaka et al. 2000; Oike et al. 1999). Thus, p300 appears to be uniquely indispensable for proliferation, development, and sarcomerogenesis in the fetal mouse heart. Interestingly, mice expressing a truncated form of Cbp had cardiac malformations, abnormal vasculogenesis, and earlier (d9.5–11) embryonic demise, likely through a dominant negative mechanism (Oike et al. 1999).

Adult heterozygous phenotypes for Ep300 and Crebbp loss also appear to differ, although few direct comparisons have been performed (see later). Rebel et al. showed that both copies of Crebbp were required for hematopoietic stem cell self-renewal, while p300 was required for hematopoietic differentiation. Mice heterozygous for Crebbp loss have significant deficits in long-term memory and fear conditioning, which are not seen in Ep300-deficient mice (Alarcon et al. 2004; Viosca et al. 2010). Remarkably, these deficits were reversible by treatment with a histone deacetylase inhibitor, implying that they were due to active acetylation deficits rather than to irreversible errors of development. In another study, Crebbp-/+ mice were lean, with selective reduction of white adipose tissue, increased insulin sensitivity, and heightened glucose tolerance, associated with increased levels of adiponectin and leptin. Mice with partial loss of Crebbp were also resistant to weight gain on a high fat diet (Yamauchi et al. 2002). It is not yet known whether these metabolic effects are mimicked by Ep300 loss.

#### Mechanistic Aspects of the EP300-CBP Divergence

The molecular basis for the distinct phenotypes of p300 and CBP deficiency has not yet been established. Multiple studies have shown that certain transcription factors preferentially use one of the two acetyltransferases (see, for example, Korzus et al. 1998; Ianculescu et al. 2012). This preference is unlikely to be due to selective recruitment, since both p300 and CBP can be found in the same promoter-bound complexes (Bedford et al. 2010). Instead, intrinsic structural and biochemical differences may determine their selective use from within the coactivator complex (Bedford et al. 2010). Differences in expression, trafficking, or stability may affect the relative availability of the two coactivators. In some studies, p300 and CBP were shown to have distinct tissue- and stage-specific patterns of expression and cellular localization (Partanen et al. 1999; Kwok et al. 2006; Chen et al. 2012b). Using in situ hybridization and a series of CBP- and p300-specific antibodies, Partanen et al. provided evidence that some fraction of p300 and CBP may be cytosolic and that the subcellular distribution of the two proteins may be differentially regulated (Partanen et al. 1999). Some KAT3 preferences may be determined by differing posttranslational modifications (see below). Others have reported structural divergence in the AT domains of p300 and CBP (Bordoli et al. 2001), and the two proteins exhibit different selectivity and specificity for their lysine targets on H3 and H4 in vitro (Henry et al. 2013, 2015). These observations indicate that there are subtle but important differences in substrate interactions and protein partner recruitment that underlie the distinct properties of p300 and CBP. Further work will be required to elucidate the basis of these differences and to identify their unique targets.

#### 7.2.2.3 EP300 as a Stress Response Gene

EP300 and CBP are widely viewed as "housekeeping genes," perhaps because they encode proteins that interact with an extraordinary number of other transcriptional regulators and participate in an equally broad range of basic cell functions. However, in tissues of the adult cardiovascular and elsewhere, expression of these genes is strongly upregulated in response to stress signals, implying additional roles in the response to environmental challenge. Both p300 and CBP were upregulated in murine myocardium following an experimental coronary occlusion (Miyamoto et al. 2006). We observed similar marked increases in p300 after transverse aortic coarctation, a model of pressure overload; p300 protein content rose by more than 20-fold and remained elevated for at least 6 weeks (Wei et al. 2008). Both content and activity of p300 can be directly induced in cultured myocytes by hypertrophic and oxidative stressors and in endothelial cells and kidney by hyperglycemic stress (Wang et al. 2012; Chen et al. 2010; Emani et al. 2009). Since the KAT3s are present in limiting numbers in the cell (Giles et al. 1998b), increases in availability can be assumed to have important biological consequences.

We tested the significance of graded changes in p300 in a series of 11 mouse lines with varying copy numbers of a human EP300 transgene targeted to the myocardium. All mice developed classic maladaptive hypertrophy as defined by myocyte enlargement, re-expression of embryonic sarcomeric genes, and partly compensatory angiogenesis (Wei et al. 2008; Shehadeh et al. 2013). Timing and frequency of progression from hypertrophy to heart failure and death was directly related to p300 content. Correspondingly, Ep300 –/+ haploinsufficient mice displayed reductions in hypertrophy and heart failure (Wei et al. 2008). Thus, p300 levels determine cardiac growth potential in response to hemodynamic stress. Targeting p300 and/or CBP has been shown to be effective in preventing pathological hypertrophy in several other models: a HAT-defective EP300 transgene blocked post-infarction remodeling (Miyamoto et al. 2006), and curcumin, a polyphenol blocker of CBP/p300 HAT activity (Balasubramanyam et al. 2004; Marcu et al. 2006), successfully prevented experimental hypertrophy in rats and mice (Ghosh et al. 2010; Morimoto et al. 2008; Feng et al. 2008). It will be important to determine whether CBP and p300 play similar or diverging roles in heart failure, since to date no pharmacological inhibitors selective for either KAT3 have emerged (Dancy and Cole 2015; Bowers et al. 2010).

#### 7.2.2.4 KAT3 Regulation by Posttranslational Modifications

The ability of p300 and CBP to respond to environmental stress is primarily conferred by post-transcriptional mechanisms, some of which may be tissue-specific, including phosphorylation, acetylation, sumoylation, and methylation (Lee et al. 2011).

p300 was originally isolated as a phosphoprotein, and phosphorylation plays an important role in regulating KAT3 acetyltransferase activity (Gusterson et al. 2002, 2004; Kitabayashi et al. 1995; Ait-Si-Ali et al. 1998; Liu et al. 1999a) . Both proteins are substrates for calcium-calmodulin kinase, protein kinase A, p38 and MAP/ ERK kinases, and protein kinase D. Phosphorylation may differentially regulate the properties of CBP and p300: phenylephrine-stimulated MAP kinase activates CBP and p300 through phosphorylation of serine residues at opposite ends of the two proteins (S2015 and S89, respectively) (Gusterson et al. 2004). Hepatic gluconeogenesis requires CBP to undergo insulin-stimulated phosphorylation at a site (S436) that is not present in p300 (Zhou et al. 2004).

Ubiquitination is a critical regulator of p300 action in the myocardium, because dynamic changes in p300 levels are largely established through changes in stability rather than changes in transcription. Myocardial p300, like many immediate-early gene products (e.g., Myc, p53, Fos, Jun, and E2F), has a very short half-life enforced by the ubiquitin–proteasome system (Varshavsky 1997; Mora et al. 1982; Oren et al. 1982; Treier et al. 1994; Hateboer et al. 1996; Campanero and Flemington 1997; Jain et al. 2012). This brisk turnover allows p300 to respond rapidly and dynamically to extracellular signals that reduce or increase its ubiquitination. Phosphorylation of p300 by p38MAPK is reported to increase p300 ubiquitination and degradation (Poizat et al. 2005).

The E3 ubiquitin ligases specific to p300/CBP are not known. In some cases, different signals may target p300 and CBP for destruction. CBP, but not p300, is targeted for degradation by the mutant protein responsible for Huntington's disease (Cong et al. 2005). In F9 cells, retinoic acid induced proteasomal degradation of p300, but not CBP (Brouillard and Cremisi 2003; Sanchez-Molina et al. 2006). Signal- or tissue-specific proteasomal degradation of these KATs could thus account for some of their functional specificities. p300 itself has intrinsic

ubiquitin ligase activity that can be inhibited by E1A, resulting in the stabilization of p53 (Grossman et al. 2003) and potentially other p300 target proteins. This feature of p300 may important for its interaction with other acetyltransferase substrates.

Autoacetylation of p300 has been shown to affect its ability to acetylate other substrates and to alter the kinetics of its association with other components of the transcriptional machinery (Black et al. 2006; Stiehl et al. 2007). In myocytes exposed to doxorubicin, a potent oxidative stress, autoacetylation rendered p300 resistant to proteasomal degradation, allowing it to accumulate to high levels in a positively reinforcing manner (Jain et al. 2012). Thus, autoacetylation represents a positively reinforcing loop in which increased activity of p300 results in increased p300 content.

### 7.2.2.5 KAT3 Substrates

In addition to their histone substrates, the KAT3s may acetylate at least 70 other proteins, most of them transcription factors (reviewed in Wang et al. 2008b). Many transcription factors important in cardiac development and disease are coactivated by the KAT3s, and a few of these are documented KAT3 substrates. Noteworthy in this group are E2F1, p53, MyoD, STAT3, FOXO1, beta-catenin, the insulin regulator BETA2, NFkB, and two transcription factors, GATA4 and Myocyte Enhancer Factor 2 (MEF2), which have been implicated as drivers of pathological hypertrophy (Liu et al. 1999b; Martinez-Balbas et al. 2000; Polesskaya et al. 2000; Levy et al. 2004; Qiu et al. 2004; Ma et al. 2005; Perrot and Rechler 2005; Wang et al. 2005b; Yuan et al. 2005; Zhang et al. 2005; Kiernan et al. 2003). Both GATA4 and MEF2 become extensively acetylated during experimental pressure overload, associated with increasing p300 levels (Wei et al. 2008). Takaya et al. identified a cluster of lysines in GATA4 that, when mutated, prevented p300-dependent acetylation and simultaneously blocked phenylephrine-induced hypertrophy in cultured myocytes (Takaya et al. 2008), indicating that this modification is critical to activation of the hypertrophic program by p300.

The MEF2 transcription factors are strictly controlled by acetylation (Ma et al. 2005; Miska et al. 1999; Zhao et al. 2005). MEF2 proteins are maintained in an inactive state by association with class II histone deacetylases (HDAC4, 5, 7, and 9) (Ornatsky and McDermott 1996; Buchberger et al. 1994; Youn and Liu 2000); the signal-dependent dissociation of HDACs from MEF2 has been covered elsewhere in this volume (Lu et al. 2000; McKinsey et al. 2001; Vega et al. 2004; Backs et al. 2009). However, dissociation of HDACs is not sufficient for MEF2 activation; this requires a second step of acetylation by p300 and/or P/CAF (Sartorelli et al. 1997; Eckner et al. 1996).

CBP has also been reported to acetylate structural components of the cell, including collagen (Choi et al. 2015), and the nuclear import proteins importin-alpha and importin-alpha7 (Bannister et al. 2000). p300 indirectly promotes tubulin acetylation by acetylating and inhibiting HDAC6, a tubulin deacetylase, and also by acetylating TRIM50, an E3 ubiquitin ligase regulating HDAC6 stability (Fusco et al. 2014).

#### 7.2.3 KAT4

KAT4 (TAFI, TAFII250) does not fall within any of the major mammalian KAT families. It is a member of the basal transcription complex TFIID and is required for RNA polymerase II-dependent transcription. The TFIID complex is thought to be the earliest of the basal transcription factors to be recruited to the promoter following gene activation, and forms a scaffold for recruitment of additional components of the RNA polymerase complex.

Like its yeast and Drosophila homologues, KAT4/TAF1 is a type A histone acetyltransferase that is relatively selective for H3 and H4 (Mizzen et al. 1996) (KAT4 should not be confused with HAT4, a recently identified type B acetyltransferase (Yang et al. 2011)). KAT4 contains 2 tandem bromodomains that coordinate binding to acetyllysine residues and permit it to recognize promoters bearing histone acetylation marks (Jacobson et al. 2000). KAT also has serine/threonine kinase activity and can phosphorylate the basal TFIIF complex, as well as autophosphorylating itself (Dikstein et al. 1996).

The KAT4-containing TFIID complex is retained on active gene promoters, allowing for rapid cycling of transcription. Interestingly, this complex is retained on promoters during cell division, persisting through chromatin compaction. This permits the bookmarking of active genes and transmission of parental transcription profiles to daughter cells following mitosis (Christova and Oelgeschlager 2002). The TFIID complex appears to be required for preservation of the pluripotency program in cycling embryonic stem cells; overexpression of TFIID components was recently reported to greatly enhance reprogramming of fibroblasts by the combination of Oct4, Sox2, Klf4, and Myc (Pijnappel et al. 2013).

## 7.2.4 The MYST Family

Five mammalian KATs are included in the MYST family: KAT5, KAT6A, KAT6B, KAT7, and KAT8. All of these proteins share a MYST domain, a 240-amino acid sequence with a characteristic binding site for acetyl-CoA, and a C2HC-type zinc finger motif. The MYST proteins also have a chromodomain that mediates interaction with other proteins, especially methylated histones. Two (KAT5 and KAT8) are involved in DNA damage repair. Three (KAT5, KAT7, and KAT8) are required for very early stages in embryogenesis. The other two (KAT6A and KAT6B) appear to be redundant for critical basal functions, while having individually specific requirements in certain organ systems.

#### 7.2.4.1 KAT5/TIP60

KAT5 was originally cloned as a 60-kd HIV TAT-interacting protein, TIP60, and has since been shown to be critical for DNA damage repair. KAT5 acetylates and recruits components of the homologous recombination repair pathway, including ATM and BRCA1, to sites of DNA damage. KAT5 acetylates p53 on Lys120, which is required for induction of apoptosis (Tang et al. 2006). Broad-spectrum histone

deacetylase inhibitors, which activate the DNA damage pathway, augment TIP60 activity (Tang et al. 2013). TIP60 acts as a haploinsufficient tumor suppressor in several cancer types and in mouse models of oncogenesis (Gorrini et al. 2007).

During the DNA damage response, KAT5 participates in a complex with p400, a SWI/SNF-related ATPase, to open and remodel chromatin in the vicinity of the double-stranded break (Xu et al. 2010; Chan et al. 2005; Samuelson et al. 2005). Fazzio et al. identified the KAT4–p400 complex as a key determinant of Nanog-dependent transcription, which was required for the maintenance of gene expression programs ensuring pluripotency and self-renewal (2008). The selective use of this complex for ES-specific transcription is interesting and perhaps reflects the importance of tight genome surveillance and vigilant DNA repair mechanisms in progenitor cells.

A shorter 50-kd splice variant of KAT5 (a.k.a. TIP60beta, PLIP) was identified in a human heart library, lacking residues encoded by exon 5. The region omitted is proline-rich and important for protein–protein interactions. Unlike TIP60alpha, which is exclusively nuclear, TIP60beta is both nuclear and cytosolic (Ran and Pereira-Smith 2000; Sheridan et al. 2001). TIP60beta appears to be the predominant isoform expressed in the adult heart, while TIP60alpha is more abundant in the embryonic heart (Fisher et al. 2012).

The DNA damage repair pathway was recently shown to be activated during ischemia-reperfusion injury in the heart (Shukla et al. 2011), suggesting that components of this pathway may participate in cardiac myocyte pathophysiology in an unexpected manner. Consistent with this, cardiac myocyte apoptosis induced by pressure overload was significantly diminished in mice haploinsufficient for TIP60 (Fisher et al. 2012). In the same TIP60 –/+ background, overexpression of c-Myc was associated with increased cardiomyocyte cell cycle activity; the authors postulated that TIP60 enforces replicative senescence in these cells in a dose-dependent manner (Fisher et al. 2012).

KAT5 and Autophagy Autophagy is a mechanism for the breakdown and recycling of cellular components under conditions of stress, particularly (but not exclusively) nutrient deprivation, and is increasingly recognized as an important contributor to myocardial pathophysiology (Zhang et al. 2015; Ren and Taegtmeyer 2015; Delbridge et al. 2015; Lavandero et al. 2015). In the absence of nutrients, autophagy permits the re-use of unnecessary cell proteins as fuel for survival. Unlike singlecell organisms, in multicellular organisms nutrient transporters are under signaldependent transcriptional control and require growth factors for induction. When growth factors are available and nutrients are plentiful, autophagy is suppressed. Nutrient or growth factor deprivation activates a group of autophagy-related genes, including mammalian ULK1 and ULK2, which encode kinases that are required for the formation of autophagosomes. In the absence of growth factors, the growthinhibitory glycogen synthase kinase-3 is de-repressed and phosphorylates KAT5 on Ser86. This then potentiates an interaction between KAT5 and its substrate ULK1. Acetylation of ULK1 by KAT5 is required for its kinase activity and induction of autophagy (Lin et al. 2012).

#### 7.2.4.2 KAT6

The two KAT6 paralogues in mammals, KAT6A and KAT6B, are large multidomain proteins belonging to the MYST KAT family. Like the paralogues KAT3A and KAT3B, they are encoded by separate genes and have evolved distinct functions during mammalian evolution, but retain considerable sequence homology (60% overall amino-acid sequence identity). Both were identified through their participation in leukemia-associated chromosome breakpoints.

#### KAT6A

KAT6A, also known as MYST3 and MOZ (*monocytic leukemia zinc finger protein*), is widely expressed both during development and in adulthood, indicating a potentially broad range of regulatory activities (Voss et al. 2009). KAT6A has a particularly important role in the regulation of HOX genes and in p53-dependent transcription. It was originally identified by sequencing of a chromosomal translocation recurring in a severe form of acute myelogenous leukemia, in which the fusion of 8:16 creates an oncogene encoding parts of KAT6A and KAT3A (CREBBP, see above) (Giles et al. 1997). Similar fusions have occurred with p300 (Yang 2004).

Recently, Tham et al. and Arboleda et al. independently reported identification of a syndrome of developmental delay associated with mutations in KAT6A, totaling ten cases (Tham et al. 2015; Arboleda Valerie et al. 2015). In the Tham study, four individuals were identified through exome sequencing of proband and parents (trio sequencing) and exclusion of other known recessive and autosomal dominant disease genes. Most were heterozygous nonsense mutations truncating the C-terminal acidic transactivation domain of KAT6A, retaining the acetyltransferase domain. Interestingly, five similar nonsense variants were found in single individuals among the nearly 65,000 putatively normal exomes represented in the Exome Aggregation Consortium (http://exac.broadinstitute.org), but no clinical information was available on these subjects (Tham et al. 2015). In the Arboleda study, six individuals from five unrelated families were shown to have similar dominant C-terminal truncating mutations. The syndrome of KAT6A deficiency includes craniosynostosis, thin upper lip and other midline facial abnormalities, absent speech and motor delay, and cardiac abnormalities. Altogether seven of the eight probands examined were found to have cardiac malformations, including patent ductus arteriosus and atrial and/or ventricular septal defects.

Similar nonsense mutations in the mouse Kat6a gene phenocopy the cardiac defects found in human KAT6A deficiency. These mice exhibit a variety of defects reminiscent of DiGeorge/velo-cardio-facial syndrome and also resembled mice with haploinsufficiency of the causal DiGeorge gene Tbx1 in having a high frequency of ventricular septal defects (Voss et al. 2012). Voss et al. demonstrated that Kat6a specifically occupies the Tbx1 site and causes local H3K9 acetylation. Loss of Kat6a led to deficiency of Tbx1, and the phenotype of Kat6a loss was partially rescued by Tbx1 expression. Thus, KAT6A has a remarkably specific role in the regulation of genes critical for cardiac septal formation, as well as in correct patterning of the aortic arches and pharyngeal structure (Voss et al. 2012).

# KAT6B

KAT6B, also known as MORF, was identified as a part of an oncogenic fusion with CBP, which drives some cases of acute myelogenous leukemia. Mutations in the normal, non-translocated gene cause two human genetic disorders: genitopatellar syndrome (GPS) and the Say-Barber-Biesecker-Young-Simpson variant of Ohdo syndrome (Clayton-Smith et al. 2011; Campeau et al. 2012). The latter is a rare complex disorder of mental and physical developmental delay, with blepharophimosis and characteristic long thumbs and great toes. Cardiac defects have been reported in about half; one series of eight patients included two with ventricular septal defects, one with atrial septal defect and mild pulmonic stenosis, and one with pulmonary atresia and hypoplastic right ventricle (Day et al. 2008). GPS is a congenital intellectual disability associated with agenesis of the corpus callosum, genital malformations, and absence of the patella; pulmonary agenesis and pulmonary insufficiency have been reported (Cormier-Daire et al. 2000). There is considerable overlap between the two syndromes. Most KAT6B mutations in SBBYS (89%) truncate the protein in a similar C-terminal location to those reported in KAT6A, also sparing the HAT domain (Campeau et al. 2012).

# 7.2.4.3 KAT7

KAT7 (MYST2, HBO1) is a ubiquitously expressed protein that was originally identified as a component of the human origin recognition complex (ORC) (Iizuka and Stillman 1999). KAT7 interacts directly with two proteins, MCM2 and ORC1, which are involved in the initiation of DNA replication (Iizuka and Stillman 1999; Burke et al. 2001). KAT7 was shown to interact with and co-regulate the androgen receptor and is expressed at particularly high levels in ovary, testis, and prostate cancer cell line (Iizuka and Stillman 1999; Sharma et al. 2000). Mice homozygous for Myst2 loss fail to develop beyond gastrulation and degenerate at the 10-somite stage. Loss of KAT7 caused a general reduction in gene expression and particularly affected the development of mesenchymal tissues. Histone 3 lysine 14 (H3K14) acetylation was specifically reduced by >90 %. However, mouse embryo fibroblasts lacking Myst2 were able to replicate DNA and proliferate normally (Kueh et al. 2011).

# 7.2.4.4 KAT1

KAT1 (HAT1) clusters with KAT7/HBO1 (Fig. 7.2) and so is mentioned here, but it differs from the rest of the KATs in this chapter in that it is a Type B histone acetyltransferase. KAT1 preferentially interacts with free histones and carries out the diacetylation of newly synthesized H4 on lysines 5 and 12. These marks are thought to be permissive for incorporation of H4 into chromatin and are subsequently removed. Deletion of KAT1 in mouse lines has a phenotype reminiscent of mutations in members of the MYST family, with craniofacial abnormalities and failure of pulmonary development, and enhanced sensitivity to DNA-damaging agents in mouse embryo fibroblasts lacking KAT1 (Nagarajan et al. 2013). No mutations have yet been identified in human disease.

#### 7.2.4.5 KAT8

Originally identified as a homologue of the Drosophila protein Males absent On First (MOF), KAT8 (Neal et al. 2000) is ubiquitously expressed in all tissues and appears to be critically important to basic processes promoting cell proliferation and viability. It has strong specificity for acetylation of H4 lysine 16, which is required for cell cycle progression, and appears to be the primary H4K16 acetyltransferase in mammalian cells. Consistent with the role in most fundamental cell functions, homozygous loss of Kat8 leads to early embryonic lethality in mice, after the maternal contribution of the protein has been depleted and before gastrulation (Gupta et al. 2008; Thomas et al. 2008). KAT8 interacts with both p53 and ATM and is required for multiple ATM-dependent events in the context of DNA damage. Cells deficient in KAT8 are defective for DNA repair in response to ionizing radiation (Gupta et al. 2005).

#### 7.2.4.6 KAT9

KAT9, or ELP3, is a poorly studied human homologue of the yeast and Drosophila elongator complex protein Elp3, where it is involved in protein translation. It may have a more specialized role in motor neuron branching, and single nucleotide polymorphisms in ELP3 have been associated with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (Simpson et al. 2009). In mice, KAT9 was found to be required for paternal zygote demethylation during meiosis, but this activity was independent of its acetyltransferase domain (Okada et al. 2010).

# 7.2.5 KAT12

KAT12 (TFIIIC90) is the largest subunit of a general transcriptional coactivator complex required for RNA Polymerase III transcription (Hsieh et al. 1999). Although similar complexes are present in multiple organisms, no specific homologue to this protein has been found in yeast or Drosophila. Its functions are unknown. Unsupervised hierarchical clustering based on sequence homology suggests that its closest relative in the KAT superfamily is TIP60 (KAT5, Fig. 7.2), although the three-dimensional structure of the protein has not been established.

#### 7.2.6 The KAT13: Nuclear Receptor Coactivator Family

Nuclear receptor-dependent hormone transcription relies on one of the three closely related 160 kd proteins, the steroid receptor coactivator proteins NCOA1, NCOA3, and NCOA2 (KATs 13A, 13B, and 13C). In the absence of these factors, basal transcription of steroid hormone-dependent genes is unaffected, but the hormone fails to induce them. Like the KAT3s, they are present in limiting amounts in the cell. The three NCOA proteins have overall ~40% sequence homology and share a number of structural features: N-terminal basic helix-loop-helix and Per-Arnt-Sim (PAS) domains that are involved in heterodimerization with other bHLH–PAS

proteins and binding to DNA, three nuclear receptor interaction motifs in the center, and at the C-terminus, two activation domains and a HAT domain (Fondell et al. 1996; Yuan et al. 1998). The C-terminal activation domains are required to recruit KAT2 and KAT3 acetyltransferases and arginine methyltransferases, respectively, to the promoters of steroid hormone-regulated genes ((Chen et al. 1997), reviewed in (Li and Shang 2007)). All three are subject to alternative splicing, which generates some transcriptional specificity to individual isoforms. Although best characterized as nuclear receptor coactivators, the p160 acetyltransferases are known to coactivate transcription through a number of other transcription factors, including NFkB, STAT3, ETS, E2F, and AP1.

The relative cellular abundance and availability of the NCOA proteins are primary determinants of their impact on the final transcriptional output. NCOAs are nucleocytoplasmic shuttling proteins; their location is regulated by phosphorylation and by association with steroid receptors (Amazit et al. 2007). In the absence of ligand, steroid receptor-dependent promoters are silenced by a repressor complex (Fondell et al. 1996), and NCOAs are retained in the cytosol through interaction with an ankyrin repeat-containing protein, SIP. In the presence of ligand, NCOA interacts with cytosolic steroid receptor, and SIP undergoes phosphorylation by casein kinase II, which allows NCOA to move together with its partner from the cytosol to the nucleus (Zhang et al. 2007). An NCOAcontaining activator complex then replaces the repressor complex on the target promoter.

#### 7.2.6.1 NCOA1 (KAT13A)

NCOA1, also called SRC-1, acts as a limiting coactivator for multiple steroid hormone receptors, including progesterone, estrogen, thyroid hormone, glucocorticoid, and retinoid X receptors (Onate et al. 1995). NCOA1 undergoes alternative splicing and is expressed as three different transcript variants of 5.5 and 7.5 kb in multiple tissue types. These in turn produce three different protein products, one of which has some degree of selectivity for thyroid hormone receptor coactivation (Hayashi et al. 1997). NCOA1 has been found to coactivate a small number of non-steroid hormone transcription factors, including E2A and MEF2, suggesting a wider range of gene targets than previously thought (Li and Shang 2007). In three different studies, the phenotype of NCOA1 knockout mice was remarkably benign; they are viable and fertile, but have smaller ovaries, testes, and other sexhormone-response tissues, including trabecular bone (Xu et al. 1998; Yamada et al. 2004; Qi et al. 1999). Higher levels of NCOA2 in these mice suggest that there is significant dosage compensation between the two proteins (Xu et al. 1998).

#### 7.2.6.2 NCOA2 (KAT13C)

This protein was first identified as a 160-kd protein interacting in a ligand-dependent manner with the retinoic acid and estrogen receptors (TIF2, Voegel et al. 1996) and again in a screen for glucocorticoid receptor coactivators (GRIP-1); it was subsequently found to activate a broad range of steroid and nuclear receptors (Hong et al.

1997). NCOA2 may have a specialized role in skeletal muscle differentiation. Chen et al. reported that it is the most abundant of the p160 proteins in skeletal myoblasts, it rises during differentiation, and it interacts directly with myogenic bHLH proteins through its bHLH domain and with MEF2C through its C-terminal activation domain (Chen et al. 2000). Functionally, NCO2 was required both for MEF2-dependent transcription and myogenic differentiation in culture.

Although viable, mice deficient in NCOA2 were hypofertile and exhibited defects in spermatogenesis and aspects of placental development (Qi et al. 1999). Careful metabolic analysis of these mice also revealed a defect in hepatic glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis due to reduced expression of the rate-limiting enzyme glucose-6-phosphatase, leading to features of a glycogen storage disorder (Chopra et al. 2008).

#### 7.2.6.3 NCOA3 (KAT13B)

NCOA3, also referred to as SRC3, AIB1, TRAM-1, ACTR, and p/CIP, was independently cloned by three groups as a novel steroid receptor-interacting protein and as one of several genes on the long arm of chromosome 20 that are overexpressed or amplified in human breast cancer (Chen et al. 1997; Anzick et al. 1997; Takeshita et al. 1997). Although it is expressed widely, its tissue distribution is more restricted than the other NCOA family members; it is abundant in skeletal muscle, placenta, and heart, but scarce in brain, liver, lung, and kidney (Chen et al. 1997). A splice variant of NCOA3 that lacks a portion of the N-terminal BHLH domain is highly expressed in breast tumors and exhibits enhanced transcriptional activation in response to both E2 and epidermal growth factor (Reiter et al. 2001). Overexpression of NCOA3 is oncogenic (reviewed in Lydon and O'Malley 2011).

In common with other transcription coactivators, NCOA3 is largely regulated at the posttranslational level, with transcription mechanisms being less important. Work from O'Malley's laboratory (Li et al. 2008) showed that the protein phosphatases PDXP, PP1, and PP2A inhibit SRC-3 transcriptional regulation by dephosphorylating it and inhibiting its association with estrogen receptor in the presence of estrogen. At the same time, dephosphorylation of serine residues 101 and 102 by protein phosphatase-1 (PP1) blocks SRC3 proteasomal degradation. Thus, while dephospho-NCOA3 protein is more stable, it is less catalytically active. Phosphorylation-coupled ubiquitination allows for precise control of the activation and termination of SRC activity in a transcription factor-specific manner (Wu et al. 2007).

In mice in vivo, NCOA3 is required for normal growth, female reproductive function, and mammary gland development. All of these are diminished but not eliminated in NCOA3 knockout mice, indicating that there is limited redundancy for estrogen and growth hormone receptor signaling through the p160 proteins (Xu et al. 2000b).

NCOA3 has been linked to a number of specialized functions beyond its canonical roles in endocrine tissues. NCOA3 is a significant regulator of white adipocyte development and adipocyte differentiation (Louet et al. 2006). Mice with homozygous loss of NCOA3 are lean and deficient in the adipogenesis regulator PPAR- $\gamma$ 2, while mice with knock-in of an NCOA3 allele with four mutated phosphorylation sites are fat and insulin-resistant (York et al. 2010; Louet et al. 2006), phenocopying IGF1BP transgenic mice. Mice doubly deficient in NCOA1 and NCOA3 ate more, but were resistant to obesity both on regular chow and a high fat diet. This was attributable both to increased metabolic rate and increased physical activity (Wang et al. 2006).

Vascular function is strongly influenced by estrogen, and NCOA3 may also help to mediate the protective effects of estrogen in various forms of vascular disease. In vascular smooth muscle cells, NCOA3 is a coactivator for the critical transcription factor myocardin, which is required for converting these cells from a proliferative to a quiescent, contractile state after wound healing (Li et al. 2007). In endothelial cells, NCOA3 promotes migration, proliferation, and tube formation by mediating the induction of VEGFR2 by ERK3 (Wang et al. 2014).

# 7.2.6.4 KAT13D/CLOCK

CLOCK, the last of the KATs on this list, is a central organizer of circadian rhythms in mammals. CLOCK was originally identified as an autosomal dominant gene controlling the length of the activity cycle in mice, following an ENU mutagenesis screen (Vitaterna et al. 1994). Two laboratories isolated the gene by positional cloning and genetic complementation of the phenotype using bacterial artificial chromosomes (King et al. 1997; Antoch et al. 1997). In humans, CLOCK encodes two major RNA transcripts of 8 and 10 kb, which are expressed at high levels in the suprachiasmatic nuclei, the part of the brain that controls light-dark cycles (Steeves et al. 1999). CLOCK has high sequence homology with NCOA3 and shares important features with the NCOA proteins, including a bHLH domain, two PAS domains, a nuclear receptor interaction domain, and a C-terminal transcriptional activation domain (Fig. 7.3) (Steeves et al. 1999). In addition, it has a HAT domain similar to those found in the MYST proteins and similar enzymatic specificity for H3 and H4 (Doi et al. 2006). Analogous with the NCOA proteins, CLOCK is regulated by phosphorylation and interaction with proteins that control its cytoplasmic-nuclear shuttling (Kondratov et al. 2003). In addition, similar to the NCOA proteins, CLOCK recruits KAT2 and KAT3 proteins to activate transcription (Curtis et al. 2004).

The circadian cycle is established by a positive, transcriptional loop and a negative, posttranslationally controlled loop. In the first loop, CLOCK heterodimerizes with the bHLH protein BMAL1 and, together with CBP/p300, binds to E box elements in the promoters of circadian regulator genes. These include the period genes (PER1, PER2, PER3), which drive the positive half of the cycle, the Cryptochrome genes (Cry1, Cry2), and the recently described CHRON (Anafi et al. 2014). Both Cry and CHRONO inhibit the CLOCK-BMAL1 heterodimer by competing with KAT3 for binding to the C-terminal activation domain (Kondratov et al. 2003; Curtis et al. 2004; Xu et al. 2015). CBP and/or p300 are required in both positive and negative halves of the cycle: acetylation of BMAL1 by CLOCK is required to allow Cry to bind and the cycle to complete (Hirayama et al. 2007).

The amplitude, phase, and periodicity of CLOCK are further tuned by cyclic AMP signaling (O'Neill et al. 2008) and by association with other factors (Gustafson

and Partch 2015), including an RNA binding protein, CIRP, which potentiates its levels and oscillatory cycle (Morf et al. 2012).

CLOCK regulates many aspects of physiology that show diurnal variation. Pancreatic islet cell secretion of insulin, for example, cycles to match periods of food intake and is under circadian regulation by CLOCK (Marcheva et al. 2010). Mice with targeted disruption of CLOCK develop diabetes mellitus (Marcheva et al. 2010). Evidence is emerging that nuclear hormone signaling is circadian and that CLOCK is regulated in turn by nuclear hormones (reviewed in (Zhao et al. 2014)).

Many tissues and cultured cells exhibit circadian variation in gene expression, and the "peripheral clocks" controlling these cycles are subject to entrainment by the central CLOCK. McNamara et al. provided evidence for a vascular CLOCK, regulated by CLOCK and a CLOCK homolog, MOP4, which could potentially explain the known periodicity of blood pressure as well as the diurnal cycles seen with heart attack and stroke (McNamara et al. 2001). Consistent with this, the gene encoding Kcnh2, the major subunit of the rapidly activating delayed-rectifier channel (IKr), is subject to robust diurnal variation. Targeted deletion of CLOCK partner Bmal1 from mouse hearts disrupted this pattern, impaired IKr current, and prolonged the QT interval during the resting phase of the diurnal cycle (Schroder et al. 2015). Metabolic abnormalities affecting heart function have also been reported with Bmal1 deletion (Young et al. 2014). These and other recent insights into the circadian nature of cardiac biology and function suggest that the KAT-dependent CLOCK could have a significant influence on human cardiovascular health (Richards et al. 2014; Podobed et al. 2014).

#### Conclusions

After 50 years of study, the KATs are at last recognized as critical and potentially approachable therapeutic targets in their own right, as well as links to other key pathways. As we continue to unravel the importance of specific acetyltransferases and acetylation substrates in cardiovascular disease, entirely new avenues for drug development are likely to emerge. The reader is encouraged to explore a number of excellent recent articles and reviews that have covered the biochemical properties of the KATs and their potential as drug targets (Dancy and Cole 2015; Henry et al. 2015; Uttarkar et al. 2015; Gee et al. 2015; Milite et al. 2015; Gajer et al. 2015; Wang et al. 2015; Castellano et al. 2015; Oike et al. 2014; Mai et al. 2009).

The KATs have evolved considerably and recently; thus, it will be particularly important to characterize the functions of these enzymes in our own species. One important approach to this task is through the study of human genetic disorders. Increasingly, successful drug development is being guided by observations from human genetics (Roden 2015; Evans and Davey Smith 2015; Wadhawan et al. 2015). Unfortunately, most, if not all, of the KAT genes reviewed in this chapter are involved in cell functions critical to live birth and survival thereafter. The lethality of KAT loss means that, to date, reported mutations in KAT genes are rare. In addition, almost all cases have been sporadic, which, until recently, limited identification of the responsible genes. Fortunately, the use of next-generation

sequencing technology now brings unprecedented power to identify rare survivable mutations that occur de novo and/or have mosaic distribution. Recently, using next-generation sequencing, Zaidi et al. showed that de novo mutations accounted for about 10% of severe congenital heart disease cases, and these mutations disproportionately affected genes encoding writers, readers, and erasers of epigenetic marks (2013). Another example mentioned earlier in this chapter (Tham et al. 2015; Arboleda Valerie et al. 2015) shows that NGS can also help to identify rare syndromes involving the KATs. It is exciting to speculate that new KAT family members and their cardiovascular functions will be discovered by wider application of clinical exome sequencing. The use of human inducible progenitor stem cells holds further potential to elucidate functions and disease mechanisms involving these powerful and vital enzymes.

**Conflict of Interest** I have no conflict of interest related to the material presented here. I am grateful for the support of the National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute (NIH R01 HL071094) and the Miami Heart Research Institute during the writing of this chapter.

# References

- Abraham SE, Lobo S, Yaciuk P, Wang HG, Moran E (1993) p300, and p300-associated proteins, are components of TATA-binding protein (TBP) complexes. Oncogene 8:1639–1647
- Ait-Si-Ali S, Ramirez S, Barre FX, Dkhissi F, Magnaghi-Jaulin L, Girault JA, Robin P, Knibiehler M, Pritchard LL, Ducommun B, Trouche D, Harel-Bellan A (1998) Histone acetyltransferase activity of CBP is controlled by cycle- dependent kinases and oncoprotein E1A. Nature 396:184–186
- Alarcon JM, Malleret G, Touzani K, Vronskaya S, Ishii S, Kandel ER, Barco A (2004) Chromatin acetylation, memory, and LTP are impaired in CBP+/– mice: a model for the cognitive deficit in Rubinstein-Taybi syndrome and its amelioration. Neuron 42(6):947–959. doi:10.1016/j. neuron.2004.05.021
- Allfrey VG, Faulkner R, Mirsky AE (1964) Acetylation and methylation of histones and their possible role in the regulation of RNA synthesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 51:786–794
- Allfrey VG, Pogo BG, Littau VC, Gershey EL, Mirsky AE (1968) Histone acetylation in insect chromosomes. Science 159(3812):314–316
- Allis CD, Berger SL, Cote J, Dent S, Jenuwien T, Kouzarides T, Pillus L, Reinberg D, Shi Y, Shiekhattar R, Shilatifard A, Workman J, Zhang Y (2007) New nomenclature for chromatinmodifying enzymes. Cell 131(4):633–636. doi:S0092-8674(07)01359-1 [pii] 10.1016/j. cell.2007.10.039.
- Amazit L, Pasini L, Szafran AT, Berno V, Wu RC, Mielke M, Jones ED, Mancini MG, Hinojos CA, O'Malley BW, Mancini MA (2007) Regulation of SRC-3 intercompartmental dynamics by estrogen receptor and phosphorylation. Mol Cell Biol 27(19):6913–6932. doi:10.1128/ mcb.01695-06
- Anafi RC, Lee Y, Sato TK, Venkataraman A, Ramanathan C, Kavakli IH, Hughes ME, Baggs JE, Growe J, Liu AC, Kim J, Hogenesch JB (2014) Machine learning helps identify CHRONO as a circadian clock component. PLoS Biol 12(4), e1001840. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1001840
- Antoch MP, Song EJ, Chang AM, Vitaterna MH, Zhao Y, Wilsbacher LD, Sangoram AM, King DP, Pinto LH, Takahashi JS (1997) Functional identification of the mouse circadian Clock gene by transgenic BAC rescue. Cell 89(4):655–667
- Anzick SL, Kononen J, Walker RL, Azorsa DO, Tanner MM, Guan XY, Sauter G, Kallioniemi OP, Trent JM, Meltzer PS (1997) AIB1, a steroid receptor coactivator amplified in breast and ovarian cancer. Science 277(5328):965–968
- Arboleda Valerie A, Lee H, Dorrani N, Zadeh N, Willis M, Macmurdo Colleen F, Manning Melanie A, Kwan A, Hudgins L, Barthelemy F, Miceli MC, Quintero-Rivera F, Kantarci S, Strom Samuel P, Deignan Joshua L, Grody Wayne W, Vilain E, Nelson Stanley F (2015) De novo nonsense mutations in KAT6A, a lysine acetyl-transferase gene, cause a syndrome including microcephaly and global developmental delay. Am J Hum Genet 96(3):498–506. doi:10.1016/j.ajhg.2015.01.017
- Backs J, Backs T, Neef S, Kreusser MM, Lehmann LH, Patrick DM, Grueter CE, Qi X, Richardson JA, Hill JA, Katus HA, Bassel-Duby R, Maier LS, Olson EN (2009) The delta isoform of CaM kinase II is required for pathological cardiac hypertrophy and remodeling after pressure overload. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106(7):2342–2347. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0813013106
- Balasubramanyam K, Varier RA, Altaf M, Swaminathan V, Siddappa NB, Ranga U, Kundu TK (2004) Curcumin, a novel p300/CREB-binding protein-specific inhibitor of acetyltransferase, represses the acetylation of histone/nonhistone proteins and histone acetyltransferasedependent chromatin transcription. J Biol Chem 279(49):51163–51171
- Bannister AJ, Miska EA, Gorlich D, Kouzarides T (2000) Acetylation of importin-alpha nuclear import factors by CBP/p300. Curr Biol 10(8):467–470
- Bartholdi D, Roelfsema JH, Papadia F, Breuning MH, Niedrist D, Hennekam RC, Schinzel A, Peters DJ (2007) Genetic heterogeneity in Rubinstein-Taybi syndrome: delineation of the phenotype of the first patients carrying mutations in EP300. J Med Genet 44(5):327–333. doi:jmg.2006.04s[pii] 10.1136/jmg.2006.046698
- Bartsch O, Schmidt S, Richter M, Morlot S, Seemanova E, Wiebe G, Rasi S (2005) DNA sequencing of CREBBP demonstrates mutations in 56% of patients with Rubinstein-Taybi syndrome (RSTS) and in another patient with incomplete RSTS. Hum Genet 117(5):485–493. doi:10.1007/s00439-005-1331-y
- Bartsch O, Kress W, Kempf O, Lechno S, Haaf T, Zechner U (2010) Inheritance and variable expression in Rubinstein-Taybi syndrome. Am J Med Genet A 152A(9):2254–2261. doi:10.1002/ajmg.a.33598
- Bedford DC, Kasper LH, Fukuyama T, Brindle PK (2010) Target gene context influences the transcriptional requirement for the KAT3 family of CBP and p300 histone acetyltransferases. Epigenetics 5(1):9–15. doi:10449 [pii]
- Bedford DC, Kasper LH, Wang R, Chang Y, Green DR, Brindle PK (2011) Disrupting the CH1 domain structure in the acetyltransferases CBP and p300 results in lean mice with increased metabolic control. Cell Metab 14 (2):219–230. doi:S1550-4131(11)00259-2 [pii] 10.1016/j. cmet.2011.06.010
- Bishopric NH, Zeng G-Q, Sato B, Webster KA (1997) Adenovirus E1A inhibits cardiac myocytespecific gene expression through its amino terminus. J Biol Chem 272:20584–20594
- Black JC, Choi JE, Lombardo SR, Carey M (2006) A mechanism for coordinating chromatin modification and preinitiation complex assembly. Mol Cell 23(6):809–818
- Blanco-Garcia N, Asensio-Juan E, de la Cruz X, Martinez-Balbas MA (2009) Autoacetylation regulates P/CAF nuclear localization. J Biol Chem 284(3):1343–1352. doi:M806075200 [pii] 10.1074/jbc.M806075200
- Blough RI, Petrij F, Dauwerse JG, Milatovich-Cherry A, Weiss L, Saal HM, Rubinstein JH (2000) Variation in microdeletions of the cyclic AMP-responsive element-binding protein gene at chromosome band 16p13.3 in the Rubinstein-Taybi syndrome. Am J Med Genet 90(1): 29–34
- Bondy SC, Roberts S, Morelos BS (1970) Histone-acetylating enzyme of brain. Biochem J 119(4):665–672
- Bordoli L, Husser S, Luthi U, Netsch M, Osmani H, Eckner R (2001) Functional analysis of the p300 acetyltransferase domain: the PHD finger of p300 but not of CBP is dispensable for enzymatic activity. Nucleic Acids Res 29(21):4462–4471

- Bowers EM, Yan G, Mukherjee C, Orry A, Wang L, Holbert MA, Crump NT, Hazzalin CA, Liszczak G, Yuan H, Larocca C, Saldanha SA, Abagyan R, Sun Y, Meyers DJ, Marmorstein R, Mahadevan LC, Alani RM, Cole PA (2010) Virtual ligand screening of the p300/CBP histone acetyltransferase: identification of a selective small molecule inhibitor. Chem Biol 17(5):471– 482. doi:S1074-5521(10)00117-1 [pii] 10.1016/j.chembiol.2010.03.006
- Brouillard F, Cremisi CE (2003) Concomitant increase of histone acetyltransferase activity and degradation of p300 during retinoic acid-induced differentiation of F9 cells. J Biol Chem 278(41):39509–39516
- Brownell JE, Allis CD (1995) An activity gel assay detects a single, catalytically active histone acetyltransferase subunit in Tetrahymena macronuclei. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92(14):6364–6368
- Buchberger A, Ragge K, Arnold HH (1994) The myogenin gene is activated during myocyte differentiation by pre-existing, not newly synthesized transcription factor MEF-2. J BiolChem 269:17289–17296
- Burke TW, Cook JG, Asano M, Nevins JR (2001) Replication factors MCM2 and ORC1 interact with the histone acetyltransferase HBO1. J Biol Chem 276(18):15397–15408. doi:10.1074/ jbc.M011556200
- Campanero MR, Flemington EK (1997) Regulation of E2F through ubiquitin-proteasomedependent degradation: stabilization by the pRB tumor suppressor protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94(6):2221–2226
- Campeau PM, Lu JT, Dawson BC, Fokkema IF, Robertson SP, Gibbs RA, Lee BH (2012) The KAT6B-related disorders genitopatellar syndrome and Ohdo/SBBYS syndrome have distinct clinical features reflecting distinct molecular mechanisms. Hum Mutat 33(11):1520–1525. doi:10.1002/humu.22141
- Castellano S, Milite C, Feoli A, Viviano M, Mai A, Novellino E, Tosco A, Sbardella G (2015) Identification of structural features of 2-alkylidene-1,3-dicarbonyl derivatives that induce inhibition and/or activation of histone acetyltransferases KAT3B/p300 and KAT2B/ PCAF. ChemMedChem 10(1):144–157. doi:10.1002/cmdc.201402371
- Chan HM, Narita M, Lowe SW, Livingston DM (2005) The p400 E1A-associated protein is a novel component of the p53 --> p21 senescence pathway. Genes Dev 19(2):196–201. doi:10.1101/gad.1280205
- Chen H, Lin RJ, Schiltz RL, Chakravarti D, Nash A, Nagy L, Privalsky ML, Nakatani Y, Evans RM (1997) Nuclear receptor coactivator ACTR is a novel histone acetyltransferase and forms a multimeric activation complex with P/CAF and CBP/p300. Cell 90(3):569–580
- Chen SL, Dowhan DH, Hosking BM, Muscat GE (2000) The steroid receptor coactivator, GRIP-1, is necessary for MEF-2C-dependent gene expression and skeletal muscle differentiation. Genes Dev 14(10):1209–1228
- Chen S, Feng B, George B, Chakrabarti R, Chen M, Chakrabarti S (2010) Transcriptional coactivator p300 regulates glucose-induced gene expression in endothelial cells. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 298(1):E127–137. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00432.2009
- Chen Y, Zhao W, Yang JS, Cheng Z, Luo H, Lu Z, Tan M, Gu W, Zhao Y (2012a) Quantitative acetylome analysis reveals the roles of SIRT1 in regulating diverse substrates and cellular pathways. Mol Cell Proteomics 11(10):1048–1062. doi:10.1074/mcp.M112.019547
- Chen Z, Gao B, Zhou X (2012b) Expression patterns of histone acetyltransferases p300 and CBP during murine tooth development. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim 48(1):61–68. doi:10.1007/s11626-011-9472-x
- Choi SY, Ryu Y, Kee HJ, Cho SN, Kim GR, Cho JY, Kim HS, Kim IK, Jeong MH (2015) Tubastatin A suppresses renal fibrosis via regulation of epigenetic histone modification and Smad3-dependent fibrotic genes. Vascul Pharmacol. doi:10.1016/j.vph.2015.04.006
- Chopra AR, Louet JF, Saha P, An J, Demayo F, Xu J, York B, Karpen S, Finegold M, Moore D, Chan L, Newgard CB, O'Malley BW (2008) Absence of the SRC-2 coactivator results in a glycogenopathy resembling Von Gierke's disease. Science 322(5906):1395–1399. doi:10.1126/ science.1164847

- Christova R, Oelgeschlager T (2002) Association of human TFIID-promoter complexes with silenced mitotic chromatin in vivo. Nat Cell Biol 4(1):79–82. doi:10.1038/ncb733
- Chrivia JC, Kwok RP, Lamb N, Hagiwara M, Montminy MR, Goodman RH (1993) Phosphorylated CREB binds specifically to the nuclear protein CBP. Nature 365(6449):855– 859. doi:10.1038/365855a0
- Clayton-Smith J, O'Sullivan J, Daly S, Bhaskar S, Day R, Anderson B, Voss AK, Thomas T, Biesecker LG, Smith P, Fryer A, Chandler KE, Kerr B, Tassabehji M, Lynch SA, Krajewska-Walasek M, McKee S, Smith J, Sweeney E, Mansour S, Mohammed S, Donnai D, Black G (2011) Whole-exome-sequencing identifies mutations in histone acetyltransferase gene KAT6B in individuals with the Say-Barber-Biesecker variant of Ohdo syndrome. Am J Hum Genet 89(5):675–681. doi:10.1016/j.ajhg.2011.10.008
- Close P, Gillard M, Ladang A, Jiang Z, Papuga J, Hawkes N, Nguyen L, Chapelle JP, Bouillenne F, Svejstrup J, Fillet M, Chariot A (2012) DERP6 (ELP5) and C3ORF75 (ELP6) regulate tumorigenicity and migration of melanoma cells as subunits of Elongator. J Biol Chem 287(39):32535–32545. doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.402727
- Col E, Caron C, Chable-Bessia C, Legube G, Gazzeri S, Komatsu Y, Yoshida M, Benkirane M, Trouche D, Khochbin S (2005) HIV-1 Tat targets Tip60 to impair the apoptotic cell response to genotoxic stresses. EMBO J 24(14):2634–2645. doi:7600734 [pii] 10.1038/sj.emboj.7600734
- Cong SY, Pepers BA, Evert BO, Rubinsztein DC, Roos RA, van Ommen GJ, Dorsman JC (2005) Mutant huntingtin represses CBP, but not p300, by binding and protein degradation. Mol Cell Neurosci 30(1):12–23
- Cormier-Daire V, Chauvet ML, Lyonnet S, Briard ML, Munnich A, Le Merrer M (2000) Genitopatellar syndrome: a new condition comprising absent patellae, scrotal hypoplasia, renal anomalies, facial dysmorphism, and mental retardation. J Med Genet 37(7):520–524
- Coste A, Antal MC, Chan S, Kastner P, Mark M, O'Malley BW, Auwerx J (2006) Absence of the steroid receptor coactivator-3 induces B-cell lymphoma. EMBO J 25(11):2453–2464. doi:10.1038/sj.emboj.7601106
- Crump NT, Hazzalin CA, Bowers EM, Alani RM, Cole PA, Mahadevan LC (2011) Dynamic acetylation of all lysine-4 trimethylated histone H3 is evolutionarily conserved and mediated by p300/CBP. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108(19):7814–7819. doi:10.1073/pnas.1100099108
- Curtis AM, Seo SB, Westgate EJ, Rudic RD, Smyth EM, Chakravarti D, FitzGerald GA, McNamara P (2004) Histone acetyltransferase-dependent chromatin remodeling and the vascular clock. J Biol Chem 279(8):7091–7097. doi:10.1074/jbc.M311973200
- Dancy BM, Cole PA (2015) Protein lysine acetylation by p300/CBP. Chem Rev 115(6):2419–2452. doi:10.1021/cr500452k
- Day R, Beckett B, Donnai D, Fryer A, Heidenblad M, Howard P, Kerr B, Mansour S, Maye U, McKee S, Mohammed S, Sweeney E, Tassabehji M, de Vries BB, Clayton-Smith J (2008) A clinical and genetic study of the Say/Barber/Biesecker/Young-Simpson type of Ohdo syndrome. Clin Genet 74(5):434–444. doi:10.1111/j.1399-0004.2008.01087.x
- Deguchi K, Ayton PM, Carapeti M, Kutok JL, Snyder CS, Williams IR, Cross NC, Glass CK, Cleary ML, Gilliland DG (2003) MOZ-TIF2-induced acute myeloid leukemia requires the MOZ nucleosome binding motif and TIF2-mediated recruitment of CBP. Cancer Cell 3(3):259–271
- Delbridge LM, Mellor KM, Taylor DJ, Gottlieb RA (2015) Myocardial autophagic energy stress responses-macroautophagy, mitophagy, and glycophagy. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 308(10):H1194–H1204. doi:10.1152/ajpheart.00002.2015
- Dikstein R, Ruppert S, Tjian R (1996) TAFII250 is a bipartite protein kinase that phosphorylates the base transcription factor RAP74. Cell 84(5):781–790
- Doi M, Hirayama J, Sassone-Corsi P (2006) Circadian regulator CLOCK is a histone acetyltransferase. Cell 125(3):497–508. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2006.03.033
- Eckner R, Yao TP, Oldread E, Livingston DM (1996) Interaction and functional collaboration of p300/CBP and bHLH proteins in muscle and B-cell differentiation. Genes Dev 10:2478–2490
- Emani S, Ramlawi B, Sodha NR, Li J, Bianchi C, Sellke FW (2009) Increased vascular permeability after cardiopulmonary bypass in patients with diabetes is associated with increased expres-

sion of vascular endothelial growth factor and hepatocyte growth factor. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 138(1):185–191. doi:10.1016/j.jtcvs.2008.12.024

- Evans DM, Davey Smith G (2015) Mendelian randomization: new applications in the coming age of hypothesis-free causality. Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet. doi:10.1146/annurev-genom-090314-050016
- Fazzio TG, Huff JT, Panning B (2008) An RNAi screen of chromatin proteins identifies Tip60-p400 as a regulator of embryonic stem cell identity. Cell 134(1):162–174. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2008.05.031
- Feng B, Chen S, Chiu J, George B, Chakrabarti S (2008) Regulation of cardiomyocyte hypertrophy in diabetes at the transcriptional level. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 294:E1119–E1126
- Fisher JB, Kim MS, Blinka S, Ge ZD, Wan T, Duris C, Christian D, Twaroski K, North P, Auchampach J, Lough J (2012) Stress-induced cell-cycle activation in Tip60 haploinsufficient adult cardiomyocytes. PLoS One 7(2), e31569. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0031569
- Fondell JD, Brunel F, Hisatake K, Roeder RG (1996) Unliganded thyroid hormone receptor alpha can target TATA-binding protein for transcriptional repression. Mol Cell Biol 16(1):281–287
- Fusco C, Micale L, Augello B, Mandriani B, Pellico MT, De Nittis P, Calcagni A, Monti M, Cozzolino F, Pucci P, Merla G (2014) HDAC6 mediates the acetylation of TRIM50. Cell Signal 26(2):363–369. doi:10.1016/j.cellsig.2013.11.036
- Gajer JM, Furdas SD, Grunder A, Gothwal M, Heinicke U, Keller K, Colland F, Fulda S, Pahl HL, Fichtner I, Sippl W, Jung M (2015) Histone acetyltransferase inhibitors block neuroblastoma cell growth in vivo. Oncogenesis 4, e137. doi:10.1038/oncsis.2014.51
- Gallwitz D (1968) Acetylation of histones by a kinase from rat liver nucle. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 32(2):117–121
- Garcea RL, Alberts BM (1980) Comparative studies of histone acetylation in nucleosomes, nuclei, and intact cells. Evidence for special factors which modify acetylase action. J Biol Chem 255(23):11454–11463
- Gee CT, Koleski EJ, Pomerantz WC (2015) Fragment screening and druggability assessment for the CBP/p300 KIX domain through protein-observed 19F NMR spectroscopy. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 54(12):3735–3739. doi:10.1002/anie.201411658
- Ghanta S, Grossmann RE, Brenner C (2013) Mitochondrial protein acetylation as a cell-intrinsic, evolutionary driver of fat storage: chemical and metabolic logic of acetyl-lysine modifications. Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol 48(6):561–574. doi:10.3109/10409238.2013.838204
- Ghosh SS, Salloum FN, Abbate A, Krieg R, Sica DA, Gehr TW, Kukreja RC (2010) Curcumin prevents cardiac remodeling secondary to chronic renal failure through deactivation of hypertrophic signaling in rats. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 299(4):H975–984. doi:10.1152/ ajpheart.00154.2010
- Giles RH, Dauwerse JG, Higgins C, Petrij F, Wessels JW, Beverstock GC, Dohner H, Jotterand-Bellomo M, Falkenburg JH, Slater RM, van Ommen GJ, Hagemeijer A, van der Reijden BA, Breuning MH (1997) Detection of CBP rearrangements in acute myelogenous leukemia with t(8;16). Leukemia 11:2087–2096
- Giles RH, Dauwerse HG, van Ommen GJ, Breuning MH (1998a) Do human chromosomal bands 16p13 and 22q11-13 share ancestral origins? [letter]. Am J Hum Genet 63(4):1240–1242
- Giles RH, Peters DJ, Breuning MH (1998b) Conjunction dysfunction: CBP/p300 in human disease. Trends Genet 14:178–183
- Goodman RH, Smolik S (2000) CBP/p300 in cell growth, transformation, and development. Genes Dev 14(13):1553–1577
- Gorrini C, Squatrito M, Luise C, Syed N, Perna D, Wark L, Martinato F, Sardella D, Verrecchia A, Bennett S, Confalonieri S, Cesaroni M, Marchesi F, Gasco M, Scanziani E, Capra M, Mai S, Nuciforo P, Crook T, Lough J, Amati B (2007) Tip60 is a haplo-insufficient tumour suppressor required for an oncogene-induced DNA damage response. Nature 448(7157):1063–1067. doi:10.1038/nature06055
- Grant PA, Duggan L, Cote J, Roberts SM, Brownell JE, Candau R, Ohba R, Owen-Hughes T, Allis CD, Winston F, Berger SL, Workman JL (1997) Yeast Gcn5 functions in two multisub-

unit complexes to acetylate nucleosomal histones: characterization of an Ada complex and the SAGA (Spt/Ada) complex. Genes Dev 11(13):1640–1650

- Grossman SR, Deato ME, Brignone C, Chan HM, Kung AL, Tagami H, Nakatani Y, Livingston DM (2003) Polyubiquitination of p53 by a ubiquitin ligase activity of p300. Science 300(5617):342–344
- Gupta A, Sharma GG, Young CS, Agarwal M, Smith ER, Paull TT, Lucchesi JC, Khanna KK, Ludwig T, Pandita TK (2005) Involvement of human MOF in ATM function. Mol Cell Biol 25(12):5292–5305. doi:10.1128/mcb.25.12.5292-5305.2005
- Gupta A, Guerin-Peyrou TG, Sharma GG, Park C, Agarwal M, Ganju RK, Pandita S, Choi K, Sukumar S, Pandita RK, Ludwig T, Pandita TK (2008) The mammalian ortholog of Drosophila MOF that acetylates histone H4 lysine 16 is essential for embryogenesis and oncogenesis. Mol Cell Biol 28(1):397–409. doi:10.1128/mcb.01045-07
- Gustafson CL, Partch CL (2015) Emerging models for the molecular basis of mammalian circadian timing. Biochemistry 54(2):134–149. doi:10.1021/bi500731f
- Gusterson R, Brar B, Faulkes D, Giordano A, Chrivia J, Latchman D (2002) The transcriptional co-activators CBP and p300 are activated via phenylephrine through the p42/p44 MAPK cascade. J Biol Chem 277(4):2517–2524
- Gusterson RJ, Yuan LW, Latchman DS (2004) Distinct serine residues in CBP and p300 are necessary for their activation by phenylephrine. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 36(5):893–899
- Hamilton MJ, Newbury-Ecob R, Holder-Espinasse M, Yau S, Lillis S, Hurst JA, Clement E, Reardon W, Joss S, Hobson E, Blyth M, Al-Shehhi M, Lynch SA, Suri M (2016) Rubinstein-Taybi Syndrome type 2: report of nine new cases that extend the phenotypic and genotypic spectrum. Clinical Dysmorphology 25(4):135–145
- Hasegawa K, Meyers MB, Kitsis RN (1997) Transcriptional coactivator p300 stimulates cell typespecific gene expression in cardiac myocytes. J Biol Chem 272:20049–20054
- Hateboer G, Kerkhoven RM, Shvarts A, Bernards R, Beijersbergen RL (1996) Degradation of E2F by the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway: regulation by retinoblastoma family proteins and adenovirus transforming proteins. Genes Dev 10(23):2960–2970
- Hayashi Y, Ohmori S, Ito T, Seo H (1997) A splicing variant of Steroid Receptor Coactivator-1 (SRC-1E): the major isoform of SRC-1 to mediate thyroid hormone action. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 236(1):83–87. doi:10.1006/bbrc.1997.6911
- Hen R, Borrelli E, Chambon P (1985) Repression of the immunoglobulin heavy chain enhancer by the adenovirus-2 E1A products. Science 230:1391–1394
- Henry RA, Kuo YM, Andrews AJ (2013) Differences in specificity and selectivity between CBP and p300 acetylation of histone H3 and H3/H4. Biochemistry 52(34):5746–5759. doi:10.1021/bi400684q
- Henry RA, Kuo YM, Bhattacharjee V, Yen TJ, Andrews AJ (2015) Changing the selectivity of p300 by acetyl-CoA modulation of histone acetylation. ACS Chem Biol 10(1):146–156. doi:10.1021/cb500726b
- Hirayama J, Sahar S, Grimaldi B, Tamaru T, Takamatsu K, Nakahata Y, Sassone-Corsi P (2007) CLOCK-mediated acetylation of BMAL1 controls circadian function. Nature 450(7172):1086– 1090. doi:10.1038/nature06394
- Hong H, Kohli K, Garabedian MJ, Stallcup MR (1997) GRIP1, a transcriptional coactivator for the AF-2 transactivation domain of steroid, thyroid, retinoid, and vitamin D receptors. Mol Cell Biol 17(5):2735–2744
- Hsieh YJ, Kundu TK, Wang Z, Kovelman R, Roeder RG (1999) The TFIIIC90 subunit of TFIIIC interacts with multiple components of the RNA polymerase III machinery and contains a histone-specific acetyltransferase activity. Mol Cell Biol 19(11):7697–7704
- Hu SC, Chrivia J, Ghosh A (1999) Regulation of CBP-mediated transcription by neuronal calcium signaling. Neuron 22:799–808
- Hu Y, Fisher JB, Koprowski S, McAllister D, Kim MS, Lough J (2009) Homozygous disruption of the Tip60 gene causes early embryonic lethality. Dev Dyn 238(11):2912–2921. doi:10.1002/ dvdy.22110

- Ianculescu I, Wu DY, Siegmund KD, Stallcup MR (2012) Selective roles for cAMP response elementbinding protein binding protein and p300 protein as coregulators for androgen-regulated gene expression in advanced prostate cancer cells. J Biol Chem 287(6):4000–4013. doi:10.1074/jbc. M111.300194
- Iizuka M, Stillman B (1999) Histone acetyltransferase HBO1 interacts with the ORC1 subunit of the human initiator protein. J Biol Chem 274(33):23027–23034
- Jacobson RH, Ladurner AG, King DS, Tjian R (2000) Structure and function of a human TAFII250 double bromodomain module. Science 288(5470):1422–1425
- Jain S, Wei J, Mitrani LR, Bishopric NH (2012) Auto-acetylation stabilizes p300 in cardiac myocytes during acute oxidative stress, promoting STAT3 accumulation and cell survival. Breast Cancer Res Treat 135(1):103–114. doi:10.1007/s10549-012-2069-6
- Jin Q, Yu LR, Wang L, Zhang Z, Kasper LH, Lee JE, Wang C, Brindle PK, Dent SY, Ge K (2011) Distinct roles of GCN5/PCAF-mediated H3K9ac and CBP/p300-mediated H3K18/27ac in nuclear receptor transactivation. EMBO J 30(2):249–262. doi:10.1038/ emboj.2010.318
- Kalebic N, Sorrentino S, Perlas E, Bolasco G, Martinez C, Heppenstall PA (2013) AlphaTAT1 is the major alpha-tubulin acetyltransferase in mice. Nat Commun 4:1962. doi:10.1038/ ncomms2962
- Kalkhoven E (2004) CBP and p300: HATs for different occasions. Biochem Pharmacol 68(6):1145–1155
- Kalkhoven E, Roelfsema JH, Teunissen H, den Boer A, Ariyurek Y, Zantema A, Breuning MH, Hennekam RC, Peters DJ (2003) Loss of CBP acetyltransferase activity by PHD finger mutations in Rubinstein-Taybi syndrome. Hum Mol Genet 12(4):441–450
- Kamine J, Elangovan B, Subramanian T, Coleman D, Chinnadurai G (1996) Identification of a cellular protein that specifically interacts with the essential cysteine region of the HIV-1 Tat transactivator. Virology 216(2):357–366. doi:10.1006/viro.1996.0071
- Kasper LH, Brindle PK (2006) Mammalian gene expression program resiliency: the roles of multiple coactivator mechanisms in hypoxia-responsive transcription. Cell Cycle 5(2):142–146
- Kasper LH, Boussouar F, Ney PA, Jackson CW, Rehg J, van Deursen JM, Brindle PK (2002) A transcription-factor-binding surface of coactivator p300 is required for haematopoiesis. Nature 419(6908):738–743
- Kasper LH, Lerach S, Wang J, Wu S, Jeevan T, Brindle PK (2010) CBP/p300 double null cells reveal effect of coactivator level and diversity on CREB transactivation. EMBO J 29(21):3660– 3672. doi:10.1038/emboj.2010.235
- Kasper LH, Thomas MC, Zambetti GP, Brindle PK (2011) Double null cells reveal that CBP and p300 are dispensable for p53 targets p21 and Mdm2 but variably required for target genes of other signaling pathways. Cell Cycle 10(2):212–221
- Kauppi M, Murphy JM, de Graaf CA, Hyland CD, Greig KT, Metcalf D, Hilton AA, Nicola NA, Kile BT, Hilton DJ, Alexander WS (2008) Point mutation in the gene encoding p300 suppresses thrombocytopenia in Mpl-/- mice. Blood 112(8):3148–3153. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-10-119677
- Kiernan R, Bres V, Ng RW, Coudart MP, El Messaoudi S, Sardet C, Jin DY, Emiliani S, Benkirane M (2003) Post-activation turn-off of NF-kappa B-dependent transcription is regulated by acetylation of p65. J Biol Chem 278(4):2758–2766
- King DP, Zhao Y, Sangoram AM, Wilsbacher LD, Tanaka M, Antoch MP, Steeves TD, Vitaterna MH, Kornhauser JM, Lowrey PL, Turek FW, Takahashi JS (1997) Positional cloning of the mouse circadian clock gene. Cell 89(4):641–653
- Kitabayashi I, Eckner R, Arany Z, Chiu R, Gachelin G, Livingston DM, Yokoyama KK (1995) Phosphorylation of the adenovirus E1A-associated 300 kDa protein in response to retinoic acid and E1A during the differentiation of F9 cells. EMBO J 14:3496–3509
- Kondratov RV, Chernov MV, Kondratova AA, Gorbacheva VY, Gudkov AV, Antoch MP (2003) BMAL1-dependent circadian oscillation of nuclear CLOCK: posttranslational events induced by dimerization of transcriptional activators of the mammalian clock system. Genes Dev 17(15):1921–1932. doi:10.1101/gad.1099503

- Korzus E, Torchia J, Rose DW, Xu L, Kurokawa R, McInerney EM, Mullen TM, Glass CK, Rosenfeld MG (1998) Transcription factor-specific requirements for coactivators and their acetyltransferase functions. Science 279:703–707
- Kueh AJ, Dixon MP, Voss AK, Thomas T (2011) HBO1 is required for H3K14 acetylation and normal transcriptional activity during embryonic development. Mol Cell Biol 31(4):845–860. doi:10.1128/mcb.00159-10
- Kung AL, Rebel VI, Bronson RT, Ch'ng LE, Sieff CA, Livingston DM, Yao TP (2000) Gene dose-dependent control of hematopoiesis and hematologic tumor suppression by CBP. Genes Dev 14(3):272–277
- Kwok RP, Lundblad JR, Chrivia JC, Richards JP, Bachinger HP, Brennan RG, Roberts SG, Green MR, Goodman RH (1994) Nuclear protein CBP is a coactivator for the transcription factor CREB. Nature 370(6486):223–226. doi:10.1038/370223a0
- Kwok RP, Liu XT, Smith GD (2006) Distribution of co-activators CBP and p300 during mouse oocyte and embryo development. Mol Reprod Dev 73(7):885–894
- Lavandero S, Chiong M, Rothermel BA, Hill JA (2015) Autophagy in cardiovascular biology. J Clin Invest 125(1):55–64. doi:10.1172/jci73943
- Lee CW, La Thangue NB (1999) Promoter specificity and stability control of the p53-related protein p73. Oncogene 18:4171–4181
- Lee TI, Causton HC, Holstege FC, Shen WC, Hannett N, Jennings EG, Winston F, Green MR, Young RA (2000) Redundant roles for the TFIID and SAGA complexes in global transcription [in process citation]. Nature 405(6787):701–704
- Lee S, Lee B, Lee JW, Lee SK (2009) Retinoid signaling and neurogenin2 function are coupled for the specification of spinal motor neurons through a chromatin modifier CBP. Neuron 62(5):641–654. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2009.04.025
- Lee YH, Bedford MT, Stallcup MR (2011) Regulated recruitment of tumor suppressor BRCA1 to the p21 gene by coactivator methylation. Genes Dev 25(2):176–188. doi:10.1101/gad.1975811
- Levy L, Wei Y, Labalette C, Wu Y, Renard CA, Buendia MA, Neuveut C (2004) Acetylation of beta-catenin by p300 regulates beta-catenin-Tcf4 interaction. Mol Cell Biol 24(8):3404–3414
- Li S, Shang Y (2007) Regulation of SRC family coactivators by post-translational modifications. Cell Signal 19(6):1101–1112. doi:10.1016/j.cellsig.2007.02.002
- Li Q, Xiao H, Isobe K (2002) Histone acetyltransferase activities of cAMP-regulated enhancerbinding protein and p300 in tissues of fetal, young, and old mice. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 57(3):B93–98
- Li HJ, Haque Z, Lu Q, Li L, Karas R, Mendelsohn M (2007) Steroid receptor coactivator 3 is a coactivator for myocardin, the regulator of smooth muscle transcription and differentiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104(10):4065–4070. doi:10.1073/pnas.0611639104
- Li C, Liang YY, Feng XH, Tsai SY, Tsai MJ, O'Malley BW (2008) Essential phosphatases and a phospho-degron are critical for regulation of SRC-3/AIB1 coactivator function and turnover. Mol Cell 31(6):835–849. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2008.07.019
- Libby PR (1972) Histone acetylation and hormone action. Early effects of oestradiol-17beta on histone acetylation in rat uterus. Biochem J 130(3):663–669
- Lillie JW, Green M, Green MR (1986) An adenovirus E1a protein region required for transformation and transcriptional repression. Cell 46:1043–1051
- Lin SY, Li TY, Liu Q, Zhang C, Li X, Chen Y, Zhang SM, Lian G, Liu Q, Ruan K, Wang Z, Zhang CS, Chien KY, Wu J, Li Q, Han J, Lin SC (2012) GSK3-TIP60-ULK1 signaling pathway links growth factor deprivation to autophagy. Science 336(6080):477–481. doi:10.1126/ science.1217032
- Liu YZ, Chrivia JC, Latchman DS (1998) Nerve growth factor up-regulates the transcriptional activity of CBP through activation of the p42/p44(MAPK) cascade. J Biol Chem 273:32400–32407
- Liu YZ, Thomas NS, Latchman DS (1999a) CBP associates with the p42/p44 MAPK enzymes and is phosphorylated following NGF treatment. Neuroreport 10:1239–1243
- Liu L, Scolnick DM, Trievel RC, Zhang HB, Marmorstein R, Halazonetis TD, Berger SL (1999b) p53 sites acetylated in vitro by PCAF and p300 are acetylated in vivo in response to DNA damage. Mol Cell Biol 19(2):1202–1209

- Liu X, Xiao W, Wang XD, Li YF, Han J, Li Y (2013) The p38-interacting protein (p38IP) regulates G2/M progression by promoting alpha-tubulin acetylation via inhibiting ubiquitinationinduced degradation of the acetyltransferase GCN5. J Biol Chem 288(51):36648–36661. doi:10.1074/jbc.M113.486910
- Lopez-Atalaya JP, Gervasini C, Mottadelli F, Spena S, Piccione M, Scarano G, Selicorni A, Barco A, Larizza L (2012) Histone acetylation deficits in lymphoblastoid cell lines from patients with Rubinstein-Taybi syndrome. J Med Genet 49(1):66–74. doi:10.1136/jmedgenet-2011-100354
- Louet JF, Coste A, Amazit L, Tannour-Louet M, Wu RC, Tsai SY, Tsai MJ, Auwerx J, O'Malley BW (2006) Oncogenic steroid receptor coactivator-3 is a key regulator of the white adipogenic program. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103(47):17868–17873. doi:10.1073/pnas.0608711103
- Lu J, McKinsey TA, Nicol RL, Olson EN (2000) Signal-dependent activation of the MEF2 transcription factor by dissociation from histone deacetylases. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97(8):4070–4075
- Lydon JP, O'Malley BW (2011) Minireview: steroid receptor coactivator-3: a multifarious coregulator in mammary gland metastasis. Endocrinology 152(1):19–25. doi:10.1210/en.2010-1012
- Ma K, Chan JK, Zhu G, Wu Z (2005) Myocyte enhancer factor 2 acetylation by p300 enhances its DNA binding activity, transcriptional activity, and myogenic differentiation. Mol Cell Biol 25(9):3575–3582
- Mackeh R, Lorin S, Ratier A, Mejdoubi-Charef N, Baillet A, Bruneel A, Hamai A, Codogno P, Pous C, Perdiz D (2014) Reactive oxygen species, AMP-activated protein kinase, and the transcription cofactor p300 regulate alpha-tubulin acetyltransferase-1 (alphaTAT-1/MEC-17)-dependent microtubule hyperacetylation during cell stress. J Biol Chem 289(17):11816–11828. doi:10.1074/jbc.M113.507400
- Mai A, Rotili D, Tarantino D, Nebbioso A, Castellano S, Sbardella G, Tini M, Altucci L (2009) Identification of 4-hydroxyquinolines inhibitors of p300/CBP histone acetyltransferases. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 19(4):1132–1135. doi:10.1016/j.bmcl.2008.12.097
- Makino S, Kaji R, Ando S, Tomizawa M, Yasuno K, Goto S, Matsumoto S, Tabuena MD, Maranon E, Dantes M, Lee LV, Ogasawara K, Tooyama I, Akatsu H, Nishimura M, Tamiya G (2007) Reduced neuron-specific expression of the TAF1 gene is associated with X-linked dystonia-parkinsonism. Am J Hum Genet 80(3):393–406. doi:10.1086/512129
- Malik S, Roeder RG (2000) Transcriptional regulation through mediator-like coactivators in yeast and metazoan cells [in process citation]. Trends Biochem Sci 25(6):277–283
- Marcheva B, Ramsey KM, Buhr ED, Kobayashi Y, Su H, Ko CH, Ivanova G, Omura C, Mo S, Vitaterna MH, Lopez JP, Philipson LH, Bradfield CA, Crosby SD, JeBailey L, Wang X, Takahashi JS, Bass J (2010) Disruption of the clock components CLOCK and BMAL1 leads to hypoinsulinaemia and diabetes. Nature 466(7306):627–631. doi:10.1038/nature09253
- Marcu MG, Jung YJ, Lee S, Chung EJ, Lee MJ, Trepel J, Neckers L (2006) Curcumin is an inhibitor of p300 histone acetylatransferase. Med Chem 2(2):169–174
- Marion RW, Garcia DM, Karasik JB (1993) Apparent dominant transmission of the Rubinstein-Taybi syndrome. Am J Med Genet 46(3):284–287. doi:10.1002/ajmg.1320460309
- Marmorstein R (2001) Structure and function of histone acetyltransferases. Cell Mol Life Sci 58(5–6):693–703
- Martinez-Balbas MA, Bauer UM, Nielsen SJ, Brehm A, Kouzarides T (2000) Regulation of E2F1 activity by acetylation. Embo J 19(4):662–671
- McKinsey TA, Zhang CL, Olson EN (2001) Identification of a signal-responsive nuclear export sequence in class II histone deacetylases. Mol Cell Biol 21(18):6312–6321
- McNamara P, Seo SB, Rudic RD, Sehgal A, Chakravarti D, FitzGerald GA (2001) Regulation of CLOCK and MOP4 by nuclear hormone receptors in the vasculature: a humoral mechanism to reset a peripheral clock. Cell 105(7):877–889
- Milite C, Feoli A, Sasaki K, La Pietra V, Balzano AL, Marinelli L, Mai A, Novellino E, Castellano S, Tosco A, Sbardella G (2015) A novel cell-permeable, selective, and noncompetitive inhibitor of KAT3 histone acetyltransferases from a combined molecular pruning/classical isosterism approach. J Med Chem 58(6):2779–2798. doi:10.1021/jm5019687

- Miska EA, Karlsson C, Langley E, Nielsen SJ, Pines J, Kouzarides T (1999) HDAC4 deacetylase associates with and represses the MEF2 transcription factor. EMBO J 18:5099–5107
- Miyamoto S, Kawamura T, Morimoto T, Ono K, Wada H, Kawase Y, Matsumori A, Nishio R, Kita T, Hasegawa K (2006) Histone acetyltransferase activity of p300 is required for the promotion of left ventricular remodeling after myocardial infarction in adult mice in vivo. Circulation 113(5):679–690
- Mizzen CA, Yang XJ, Kokubo T, Brownell JE, Bannister AJ, Owen-Hughes T, Workman J, Wang L, Berger SL, Kouzarides T, Nakatani Y, Allis CD (1996) The TAF(II)250 subunit of TFIID has histone acetyltransferase activity. Cell 87(7):1261–1270. doi:S0092-8674(00)81821-8 [pii]
- Mora PT, Chandrasekaran K, Hoffman JC, McFarland VW (1982) Quantitation of a 55K cellular protein: similar amount and instability in normal and malignant mouse cells, Mol Cell Biol, 2 763–771
- Morf J, Rey G, Schneider K, Stratmann M, Fujita J, Naef F, Schibler U (2012) Cold-inducible RNA-binding protein modulates circadian gene expression posttranscriptionally. Science 338(6105):379–383. doi:10.1126/science.1217726
- Morimoto T, Sunagawa Y, Kawamura T, Takaya T, Wada H, Nagasawa A, Komeda M, Fujita M, Shimatsu A, Kita T, Hasegawa K (2008) The dietary compound curcumin inhibits p300 histone acetyltransferase activity and prevents heart failure in rats. J Clin Invest 118(3):868–878
- Nagarajan P, Ge Z, Sirbu B, Doughty C, Agudelo Garcia PA, Schlederer M, Annunziato AT, Cortez D, Kenner L, Parthun MR (2013) Histone acetyl transferase 1 is essential for mammalian development, genome stability, and the processing of newly synthesized histones H3 and H4. PLoS Genet 9(6), e1003518. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1003518
- Neal KC, Pannuti A, Smith ER, Lucchesi JC (2000) A new human member of the MYST family of histone acetyl transferases with high sequence similarity to Drosophila MOF. Biochim Biophys Acta 1490(1–2):170–174
- Norris KL, Lee JY, Yao TP (2009) Acetylation goes global: the emergence of acetylation biology. Sci Signal 2(97):pe76. doi:10.1126/scisignal.297pe76
- Ogryzko VV, Kotani T, Zhang X, Schiltz RL, Howard T, Yang XJ, Howard BH, Qin J, Nakatani Y (1998) Histone-like TAFs within the PCAF histone acetylase complex. Cell 94(1):35–44
- Oike Y, Takakura N, Hata A, Kaname T, Akizuki M, Yamaguchi Y, Yasue H, Araki K, Yamamura K, Suda T (1999) Mice homozygous for a truncated form of CREB-binding protein exhibit defects in hematopoiesis and vasculo-angiogenesis. Blood 93:2771–2779
- Oike T, Komachi M, Ogiwara H, Amornwichet N, Saitoh Y, Torikai K, Kubo N, Nakano T, Kohno T (2014) C646, a selective small molecule inhibitor of histone acetyltransferase p300, radiosensitizes lung cancer cells by enhancing mitotic catastrophe. Radiother Oncol 111(2):222– 227. doi:10.1016/j.radonc.2014.03.015
- Okada Y, Yamagata K, Hong K, Wakayama T, Zhang Y (2010) A role for the elongator complex in zygotic paternal genome demethylation. Nature 463(7280):554–558. doi:10.1038/nature08732
- Olson EN, Backs J, McKinsey TA (2006) Control of cardiac hypertrophy and heart failure by histone acetylation/deacetylation. Novartis Found Symp 274:3–12; discussion 13–19, 152–155, 272–156.
- Onate SA, Tsai SY, Tsai MJ, O'Malley BW (1995) Sequence and characterization of a coactivator for the steroid hormone receptor superfamily. Science 270(5240):1354–1357
- O'Neill JS, Maywood ES, Chesham JE, Takahashi JS, Hastings MH (2008) cAMP-dependent signaling as a core component of the mammalian circadian pacemaker. Science 320(5878):949– 953. doi:10.1126/science.1152506
- Oren M, Reich NC, Levine AJ (1982) Regulation of the cellular p53 tumor antigen in teratocarcinoma cells and their differentiated progeny. Mol Cell Biol 2(4):443–449
- Ornatsky OI, McDermott JC (1996) MEF2 protein expression, DNA binding specificity and complex composition, and transcriptional activity in muscle and non-muscle cells. J Biol Chem 271(40):24927–24933
- Pandey R, Muller A, Napoli CA, Selinger DA, Pikaard CS, Richards EJ, Bender J, Mount DW, Jorgensen RA (2002) Analysis of histone acetyltransferase and histone deacetylase families

of Arabidopsis thaliana suggests functional diversification of chromatin modification among multicellular eukaryotes. Nucleic Acids Res 30(23):5036–5055

- Partanen A, Motoyama J, Hui CC (1999) Developmentally regulated expression of the transcriptional cofactors/histone acetyltransferases CBP and p300 during mouse embryogenesis. Int J Dev Biol 43(6):487–494
- Pentz ES, Cordaillat M, Carretero OA, Tucker AE, Sequeira Lopez ML, Gomez RA (2012) Histone acetyl transferases CBP and p300 are necessary for maintenance of renin cell identity and transformation of smooth muscle cells to the renin phenotype. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 302(12):H2545–2552. doi:10.1152/ajpheart.00782.2011
- Perrot V, Rechler MM (2005) The coactivator p300 directly acetylates the forkhead transcription factor Foxo1 and stimulates Foxo1-induced transcription. Mol Endocrinol 19(9):2283–2298
- Petrij F, Dorsman JC, Dauwerse HG, Giles RH, Peeters T, Hennekam RC, Breuning MH, Peters DJ (2000) Rubinstein-Taybi syndrome caused by a De Novo reciprocal translocation t(2;16) (q36.3;p13.3). Am J Med Genet 92(1):47–52
- Phan HM, Xu AW, Coco C, Srajer G, Wyszomierski S, Evrard YA, Eckner R, Dent SY (2005) GCN5 and p300 share essential functions during early embryogenesis. Dev Dyn 233(4): 1337–1347
- Phillips DM (1963) The presence of acetyl groups of histones. Biochem J 87:258-263
- Pijnappel WW, Esch D, Baltissen MP, Wu G, Mischerikow N, Bergsma AJ, van der Wal E, Han DW, Bruch H, Moritz S, Lijnzaad P, Altelaar AF, Sameith K, Zaehres H, Heck AJ, Holstege FC, Scholer HR, Timmers HT (2013) A central role for TFIID in the pluripotent transcription circuitry. Nature 495(7442):516–519. doi:10.1038/nature11970
- Podobed P, Pyle WG, Ackloo S, Alibhai FJ, Tsimakouridze EV, Ratcliffe WF, Mackay A, Simpson J, Wright DC, Kirby GM, Young ME, Martino TA (2014) The day/night proteome in the murine heart. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 307(2):R121–137. doi:10.1152/ajpregu. 00011.2014
- Pogo BG, Allfrey VG, Mirsky AE (1966) RNA synthesis and histone acetylation during the course of gene activation in lymphocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 55(4):805–812
- Pogo BG, Pogo AO, Allfrey VG, Mirsky AE (1968) Changing patterns of histone acetylation and RNA synthesis in regeneration of the liver. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 59(4):1337–1344
- Poizat C, Puri PL, Bai Y, Kedes L (2005) Phosphorylation-dependent degradation of p300 by doxorubicin-activated p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase in cardiac cells. Mol Cell Biol 25(7):2673–2687
- Polesskaya A, Duquet A, Naguibneva I, Weise C, Vervisch A, Bengal E, Hucho F, Robin P, Harel-Bellan A (2000) CREB-binding protein/p300 activates MyoD by acetylation. J Biol Chem 275(44):34359–34364
- Polesskaya A, Naguibneva I, Fritsch L, Duquet A, Ait-Si-Ali S, Robin P, Vervisch A, Pritchard LL, Cole P, Harel-Bellan A (2001) CBP/p300 and muscle differentiation: no HAT, no muscle. Embo J 20(23):6816–6825
- Puri P, Sartorelli V, Yang X-J, Hamamori Y, Ogryzko VV, Howard BH, Kedes L, Wang JYJ, Graessmann A, Nakatani Y, Levrero M (1997) Differential roles of p300 and PCAF acetyltransferases in muscle differentiation. Mol Cell 1:35–45
- Qi C, Zhu Y, Pan J, Yeldandi AV, Rao MS, Maeda N, Subbarao V, Pulikuri S, Hashimoto T, Reddy JK (1999) Mouse steroid receptor coactivator-1 is not essential for peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor alpha-regulated gene expression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96(4):1585–1590
- Qiu Y, Guo M, Huang S, Stein R (2004) Acetylation of the BETA2 transcription factor by p300-associated factor is important in insulin gene expression. J Biol Chem 279(11): 9796–9802
- Ran Q, Pereira-Smith OM (2000) Identification of an alternatively spliced form of the Tat interactive protein (Tip60), Tip60(beta). Gene 258(1–2):141–146
- Reiter R, Wellstein A, Riegel AT (2001) An isoform of the coactivator AIB1 that increases hormone and growth factor sensitivity is overexpressed in breast cancer. J Biol Chem 276(43):39736– 39741. doi:10.1074/jbc.M104744200

- Ren J, Taegtmeyer H (2015) Too much or not enough of a good thing the Janus faces of autophagy in cardiac fuel and protein homeostasis. J Mol Cell Cardiol 84:223–226. doi:10.1016/j. yjmcc.2015.03.001
- Richards J, Diaz AN, Gumz ML (2014) Clock genes in hypertension: novel insights from rodent models. Blood Press Monit 19(5):249–254. doi:10.1097/mbp.0000000000000000
- Roden DM (2015) Cardiovascular pharmacogenomics: current status and future directions. J Hum Genet. doi:10.1038/jhg.2015.78
- Roelfsema JH, White SJ, Ariyurek Y, Bartholdi D, Niedrist D, Papadia F, Bacino CA, den Dunnen JT, van Ommen GJ, Breuning MH, Hennekam RC, Peters DJ (2005) Genetic heterogeneity in Rubinstein-Taybi syndrome: mutations in both the CBP and EP300 genes cause disease. Am J Hum Genet 76(4):572–580
- Roth JF, Shikama N, Henzen C, Desbaillets I, Lutz W, Marino S, Wittwer J, Schorle H, Gassmann M, Eckner R (2003) Differential role of p300 and CBP acetyltransferase during myogenesis: p300 acts upstream of MyoD and Myf5. EMBO J 22(19):5186–5196
- Samuelson AV, Narita M, Chan HM, Jin J, de Stanchina E, McCurrach ME, Narita M, Fuchs M, Livingston DM, Lowe SW (2005) p400 is required for E1A to promote apoptosis. J Biol Chem 280(23):21915–21923. doi:10.1074/jbc.M414564200
- Sanchez-Molina S, Oliva JL, Garcia-Vargas S, Valls E, Rojas JM, Martinez-Balbas MA (2006) The histone acetyltransferases CBP/p300 are degraded in NIH 3T3 cells by activation of Ras signalling pathway. Biochem J 398(2):215–224
- Sartorelli V, Huang J, Hamamori Y, Kedes L (1997) Molecular mechanisms of myogenic coactivation by p300: direct interaction with the activation domain of MyoD and with the MADS box of MEF2C. Mol Cell Biol 17(2):1010–1026
- Sartorelli V, Puri PL, Hamamori Y, Ogryzko V, Chung G, Nakatani Y, Wang JY, Kedes L (1999) Acetylation of MyoD directed by PCAF is necessary for the execution of the muscle program. Mol Cell 4(5):725–734
- Schroder EA, Burgess DE, Zhang X, Lefta M, Smith JL, Patwardhan A, Bartos DC, Elayi CS, Esser KA, Delisle BP (2015) The cardiomyocyte molecular clock regulates the circadian expression of Kcnh2 and contributes to ventricular repolarization. Heart Rhythm 12(6):1306– 1314. doi:10.1016/j.hrthm.2015.02.019
- Sharma M, Zarnegar M, Li X, Lim B, Sun Z (2000) Androgen receptor interacts with a novel MYST protein, HBO1. J Biol Chem 275(45):35200–35208. doi:10.1074/jbc.M004838200
- Sharma S, Liu J, Wei J, Yuan H, Zhang T, Bishopric NH (2012) Repression of miR-142 by p300 and MAPK is required for survival signalling via gp130 during adaptive hypertrophy. EMBO Mol Med 4(7):617–632. doi:10.1002/emmm.201200234
- Shehadeh LA, Sharma S, Pessanha M, Wei J, Liu J, Yuan H, Rodrigues CO, Scherr M, Tsinoremas NF, Bishopric NH (2013) MicroRNA-20a constrains p300-driven myocardial angiogenic transcription by direct targeting of p300. PLoS One 8(11), e79133. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0079133
- Sheridan AM, Force T, Yoon HJ, O'Leary E, Choukroun G, Taheri MR, Bonventre JV (2001) PLIP, a novel splice variant of Tip60, interacts with group IV cytosolic phospholipase A(2), induces apoptosis, and potentiates prostaglandin production. Mol Cell Biol 21(14):4470–4481. doi:10.1128/mcb.21.14.4470-4481.2001
- Shikama N, Lutz W, Kretzschmar R, Sauter N, Roth JF, Marino S, Wittwer J, Scheidweiler A, Eckner R (2003) Essential function of p300 acetyltransferase activity in heart, lung and small intestine formation. EMBO J 22(19):5175–5185
- Shukla PC, Singh KK, Quan A, Al-Omran M, Teoh H, Lovren F, Cao L, Rovira II, Pan Y, Brezden-Masley C, Yanagawa B, Gupta A, Deng CX, Coles JG, Leong-Poi H, Stanford WL, Parker TG, Schneider MD, Finkel T, Verma S (2011) BRCA1 is an essential regulator of heart function and survival following myocardial infarction. Nat Commun 2:593. doi:10.1038/ncomms1601
- Simpson CL, Lemmens R, Miskiewicz K, Broom WJ, Hansen VK, van Vught PW, Landers JE, Sapp P, Van Den Bosch L, Knight J, Neale BM, Turner MR, Veldink JH, Ophoff RA, Tripathi VB, Beleza A, Shah MN, Proitsi P, Van Hoecke A, Carmeliet P, Horvitz HR, Leigh PN, Shaw CE, van den Berg LH, Sham PC, Powell JF, Verstreken P, Brown RH Jr, Robberecht W,

Al-Chalabi A (2009) Variants of the elongator protein 3 (ELP3) gene are associated with motor neuron degeneration. Hum Mol Genet 18(3):472–481. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddn375

- Smith ER, Cayrou C, Huang R, Lane WS, Cote J, Lucchesi JC (2005) A human protein complex homologous to the Drosophila MSL complex is responsible for the majority of histone H4 acetylation at lysine 16. Mol Cell Biol 25(21):9175–9188. doi:10.1128/mcb.25.21.9175-9188.2005
- Solomon BD, Bodian DL, Khromykh A, Mora GG, Lanpher BC, Iyer RK, Baveja R, Vockley JG, Niederhuber JE (2015) Expanding the phenotypic spectrum in EP300-related Rubinstein-Taybi syndrome. Am J Med Genet A 167A(5):1111–1116. doi:10.1002/ajmg.a.36883
- Spallotta F, Cencioni C, Straino S, Sbardella G, Castellano S, Capogrossi MC, Martelli F, Gaetano C (2013) Enhancement of lysine acetylation accelerates wound repair. Commun Integr Biol 6(5), e25466. doi:10.4161/cib.25466
- Spena S, Milani D, Rusconi D, Negri G, Colapietro P, Elcioglu N, Bedeschi F, Pilotta A, Spaccini L, Ficcadenti A, Magnani C, Scarano G, Selicorni A, Larizza L, Gervasini C (2014) Insights into genotype-phenotype correlations from CREBBP point mutation screening in a cohort of 46 Rubinstein-Taybi syndrome patients. Clin Genet. doi:10.1111/cge.12537
- Spin JM, Quertermous T, Tsao PS (2010) Chromatin remodeling pathways in smooth muscle cell differentiation, and evidence for an integral role for p300. PLoS One 5(12), e14301. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0014301
- Steeves TD, King DP, Zhao Y, Sangoram AM, Du F, Bowcock AM, Moore RY, Takahashi JS (1999) Molecular cloning and characterization of the human CLOCK gene: expression in the suprachiasmatic nuclei. Genomics 57(2):189–200. doi:10.1006/geno.1998.5675
- Stein RW, Corrigan M, Yaciuk P, Whelan J, Moran E (1990) Analysis of E1A-mediated growth regulation functions: binding of the 300-kilodalton cellular product correlates with E1A enhancer repression function and DNA synthesis-inducing activity. J Virol 64(9):4421–4427
- Stevens CA, Bhakta MG (1995) Cardiac abnormalities in the Rubinstein-Taybi syndrome. Am J Med Genet 59:346–348
- Stiehl DP, Fath DM, Liang D, Jiang Y, Sang N (2007) Histone deacetylase inhibitors synergize p300 autoacetylation that regulates its transactivation activity and complex formation. Cancer Res 67(5):2256–2264
- Struhl K, Moqtaderi Z (1998) The TAFs in the HAT. Cell 94(1):1-4
- Sun Y, Jiang X, Price BD (2010) Tip60: connecting chromatin to DNA damage signaling. Cell Cycle 9(5):930–936
- Sykes SM, Mellert HS, Holbert MA, Li K, Marmorstein R, Lane WS, McMahon SB (2006) Acetylation of the p53 DNA-binding domain regulates apoptosis induction. Mol Cell 24(6):841–851. doi:S1097-2765(06)00821-5 [pii] 10.1016/j.molcel.2006.11.026
- Takaya T, Kawamura T, Morimoto T, Ono K, Kita T, Shimatsu A, Hasegawa K (2008) Identification of p300-targeted acetylated residues in GATA4 during hypertrophic responses in cardiac myocytes. J Biol Chem 283(15):9828–9835. doi:10.1074/jbc.M707391200
- Takeshita A, Cardona GR, Koibuchi N, Suen CS, Chin WW (1997) TRAM-1, a novel 160-kDa thyroid hormone receptor activator molecule, exhibits distinct properties from steroid receptor coactivator-1. J Biol Chem 272(44):27629–27634
- Tamkun JW, Deuring R, Scott MP, Kissinger M, Pattatucci AM, Kaufman TC, Kennison JA (1992) brahma: a regulator of Drosophila homeotic genes structurally related to the yeast transcriptional activator SNF2/SWI2. Cell 68(3):561–572
- Tanaka Y, Naruse I, Maekawa T, Masuya H, Shiroishi T, Ishii S (1997) Abnormal skeletal patterning in embryos lacking single Cbp allele: a partial similarity with Rubenstein-Taybi syndrome. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94:10215–10220
- Tanaka Y, Naruse I, Hongo T, Xu M, Nakahata T, Maekawa T, Ishii S (2000) Extensive brain hemorrhage and embryonic lethality in a mouse null mutant of CREB-binding protein. Mech Dev 95(1–2):133–145
- Tang Y, Luo J, Zhang W, Gu W (2006) Tip60-dependent acetylation of p53 modulates the decision between cell-cycle arrest and apoptosis. Mol Cell 24(6):827–839. doi:10.1016/j. molcel.2006.11.021
- Tang Y, Holbert MA, Wurtele H, Meeth K, Rocha W, Gharib M, Jiang E, Thibault P, Verreault A, Cole PA, Marmorstein R (2008) Fungal Rtt109 histone acetyltransferase is an unexpected

structural homolog of metazoan p300/CBP. Nat Struct Mol Biol 15(9):998. doi:nsmb0908-998d [pii] 10.1038/nsmb0908-998d

- Tang J, Cho NW, Cui G, Manion EM, Shanbhag NM, Botuyan MV, Mer G, Greenberg RA (2013) Acetylation limits 53BP1 association with damaged chromatin to promote homologous recombination. Nat Struct Mol Biol. doi:10.1038/nsmb.2499
- Tham E, Lindstrand A, Santani A, Malmgren H, Nesbitt A, Dubbs HA, Zackai EH, Parker MJ, Millan F, Rosenbaum K, Wilson GN, Nordgren A (2015) Dominant mutations in KAT6A cause intellectual disability with recognizable syndromic features. Am J Hum Genet (1537–6605 (Electronic)). doi:D-NLM: PMC4375419 [available on 09/05/15] EDAT- 2015/03/03 06:00 MHDA- 2015/05/13 06:00 CRDT- 2015/03/03 06:00 PMCR- 2015/09/05 00:00 PHST-2014/10/24 [received] PHST- 2015/01/20 [accepted] PHST- 2015/02/26 [aheadofprint] AID -S0002-9297(15)00024-5 [pii] AID - 10.1016/j.ajhg.2015.01.016 [doi] PST - ppublish
- Thomas T, Dixon MP, Kueh AJ, Voss AK (2008) Mof (MYST1 or KAT8) is essential for progression of embryonic development past the blastocyst stage and required for normal chromatin architecture. Mol Cell Biol 28(16):5093–5105. doi:10.1128/mcb.02202-07
- Thompson PR, Wang D, Wang L, Fulco M, Pediconi N, Zhang D, An W, Ge Q, Roeder RG, Wong J, Levrero M, Sartorelli V, Cotter RJ, Cole PA (2004) Regulation of the p300 HAT domain via a novel activation loop. Nat Struct Mol Biol 11(4):308–315
- Treier M, Staszewski LM, Bohmann D (1994) Ubiquitin-dependent c-Jun degradation in vivo is mediated by the delta domain. Cell 78(5):787–798
- Troke PJ, Kindle KB, Collins HM, Heery DM (2006) MOZ fusion proteins in acute myeloid leukaemia. Biochem Soc Symp 73:23–39
- Uttarkar S, Dukare S, Bopp B, Goblirsch M, Jose J, Klempnauer KH (2015) Naphthol AS-E phosphate inhibits the activity of the transcription factor Myb by blocking the interaction with the KIX domain of the coactivator p300. Mol Cancer Ther 14(6):1276–1285. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.mct-14-0662
- Vanyai HK, Thomas T, Voss AK (2015) Mesodermal expression of Moz is necessary for cardiac septum development. Dev Biol. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2015.04.011
- Varshavsky A (1997) The ubiquitin system. Trends Biochem Sci 22(10):383-387
- Vega RB, Harrison BC, Meadows E, Roberts CR, Papst PJ, Olson EN, McKinsey TA (2004) Protein kinases C and D mediate agonist-dependent cardiac hypertrophy through nuclear export of histone deacetylase 5. Mol Cell Biol 24(19):8374–8385
- Verdin E, Ott M (2015) 50 years of protein acetylation: from gene regulation to epigenetics, metabolism and beyond. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 16(4):258–264. doi:10.1038/nrm3931
- Viosca J, Lopez-Atalaya JP, Olivares R, Eckner R, Barco A (2010) Syndromic features and mild cognitive impairment in mice with genetic reduction on p300 activity: differential contribution of p300 and CBP to Rubinstein-Taybi syndrome etiology. Neurobiol Dis 37(1):186–194. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2009.10.001
- Vitaterna MH, King DP, Chang AM, Kornhauser JM, Lowrey PL, McDonald JD, Dove WF, Pinto LH, Turek FW, Takahashi JS (1994) Mutagenesis and mapping of a mouse gene, Clock, essential for circadian behavior. Science 264(5159):719–725
- Vo NK, Goodman RH (2001) CBP and p300 in transcriptional regulation. J Biol Chem 276(17):13505–13508
- Voegel JJ, Heine MJ, Zechel C, Chambon P, Gronemeyer H (1996) TIF2, a 160 kDa transcriptional mediator for the ligand-dependent activation function AF-2 of nuclear receptors. EMBO J 15(14):3667–3675
- Voss AK, Collin C, Dixon MP, Thomas T (2009). Moz and retinoic acid coordinately regulate H3K9 acetylation, Hox gene expression, and segment identity. Dev. Cell 17, 674–686.
- Voss AK, Vanyai HK, Collin C, Dixon MP, McLennan TJ, Sheikh BN, Scambler P, Thomas T (2012) MOZ regulates the Tbx1 locus, and Moz mutation partially phenocopies DiGeorge syndrome. Dev Cell 23(3):652–663. doi:10.1016/j.devcel.2012.07.010
- Wadhawan S, Runz H, Burchard J (2015) The genome as pharmacopeia: association of genetic dose with phenotypic response. Biochem Pharmacol 94(4):229–240. doi:10.1016/j.bcp.2015.02.005
- Wagner GR, Hirschey MD (2014) Nonenzymatic protein acylation as a carbon stress regulated by sirtuin deacylases. Mol Cell 54(1):5–16. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2014.03.027

- Wang L, Dent SY (2014) Functions of SAGA in development and disease. Epigenomics 6(3):329– 339. doi:10.2217/epi.14.22
- Wang D, Thompson P, Cole PA, Cotter RJ (2005a) Structural analysis of a highly acetylated protein using a curved-field reflectron mass spectrometer. Proteomics 5(9):2288–2296
- Wang R, Cherukuri P, Luo J (2005b) Activation of Stat3 sequence-specific DNA binding and transcription by p300/CREB-binding protein-mediated acetylation. J Biol Chem 280(12):11528–11534
- Wang Z, Qi C, Krones A, Woodring P, Zhu X, Reddy JK, Evans RM, Rosenfeld MG, Hunter T (2006) Critical roles of the p160 transcriptional coactivators p/CIP and SRC-1 in energy balance. Cell Metab 3(2):111–122. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2006.01.002
- Wang YL, Faiola F, Xu M, Pan S, Martinez E (2008a) Human ATAC is a GCN5/PCAF-containing acetylase complex with a novel NC2-like histone fold module that interacts with the TATAbinding protein. J Biol Chem 283(49):33808–33815. doi:10.1074/jbc.M806936200
- Wang L, Tang Y, Cole PA, Marmorstein R (2008b) Structure and chemistry of the p300/CBP and Rtt109 histone acetyltransferases: implications for histone acetyltransferase evolution and function. Curr Opin Struct Biol 18(6):741–747. doi:S0959-440X(08)00128-0 [pii] 10.1016/j. sbi.2008.09.004
- Wang C, George B, Chen S, Feng B, Li X, Chakrabarti S (2012) Genotoxic stress and activation of novel DNA repair enzymes in human endothelial cells and in the retinas and kidneys of streptozotocin diabetic rats. Diabetes Metab Res Rev 28(4):329–337. doi:10.1002/dmrr.2279
- Wang W, Bian K, Vallabhaneni S, Zhang B, Wu RC, O'Malley BW, Long W (2014) ERK3 promotes endothelial cell functions by upregulating SRC-3/SP1-mediated VEGFR2 expression. J Cell Physiol 229(10):1529–1537. doi:10.1002/jcp.24596
- Wang Y, Wang Y, Luo M, Wu H, Kong L, Xin Y, Cui W, Zhao Y, Wang J, Liang G, Miao L, Cai L (2015) Novel curcumin analog C66 prevents diabetic nephropathy via JNK pathway with the involvement of p300/CBP-mediated histone acetylation. Biochim Biophys Acta 1852(1):34– 46. doi:10.1016/j.bbadis.2014.11.006
- Weeks KL, Avkiran M (2015) Roles and post-translational regulation of cardiac class IIa histone deacetylase isoforms. J Physiol 593(8):1785–1797. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2014.282442
- Wei JQ, Shehadeh LA, Mitrani JM, Pessanha M, Slepak TI, Webster KA, Bishopric NH (2008) Quantitative control of adaptive cardiac hypertrophy by acetyltransferase p300. Circulation 118(9):934–946
- Wincent J, Luthman A, van Belzen M, van der Lans C, Albert J, Nordgren A, Anderlid BM (2016) CREBBP and EP300 mutational spectrum and clinical presentations in a cohort of Swedish patients with Rubinstein-Taybi syndrome Mol Genet Genomic Med 4(1):39–45. doi: 10.1002/ mgg3.177
- Woods SA, Robinson HB, Kohler LJ, Agamanolis D, Sterbenz G, Khalifa M (2014) Exome sequencing identifies a novel EP300 frame shift mutation in a patient with features that overlap Cornelia de Lange syndrome. Am J Med Genet A 164A(1):251–258. doi:10.1002/ajmg.a.36237
- Wu RC, Feng Q, Lonard DM, O'Malley BW (2007) SRC-3 coactivator functional lifetime is regulated by a phospho-dependent ubiquitin time clock. Cell 129(6):1125–1140. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2007.04.039
- Xenaki G, Ontikatze T, Rajendran R, Stratford IJ, Dive C, Krstic-Demonacos M, Demonacos C (2008) PCAF is an HIF-1alpha cofactor that regulates p53 transcriptional activity in hypoxia. Oncogene 27(44):5785–5796. doi:10.1038/onc.2008.192
- Xiao H, Hasegawa T, Isobe K (2000) p300 collaborates with Sp1 and Sp3 in p21(waf1/cip1) promoter activation induced by histone deacetylase inhibitor. J Biol Chem 275(2):1371–1376
- Xu J, Qiu Y, DeMayo FJ, Tsai SY, Tsai MJ, O'Malley BW (1998) Partial hormone resistance in mice with disruption of the steroid receptor coactivator-1 (SRC-1) gene. Science 279(5358):1922–1925
- Xu W, Edmondson DG, Evrard YA, Wakamiya M, Behringer RR, Roth SY (2000a) Loss of Gcn512 leads to increased apoptosis and mesodermal defects during mouse development. Nat Genet 26(2):229–232. doi:10.1038/79973

- Xu J, Liao L, Ning G, Yoshida-Komiya H, Deng C, O'Malley BW (2000b) The steroid receptor coactivator SRC-3 (p/CIP/RAC3/AIB1/ACTR/TRAM-1) is required for normal growth, puberty, female reproductive function, and mammary gland development. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:6379–6384
- Xu Y, Sun Y, Jiang X, Ayrapetov MK, Moskwa P, Yang S, Weinstock DM, Price BD (2010) The p400 ATPase regulates nucleosome stability and chromatin ubiquitination during DNA repair. J Cell Biol 191(1):31–43. doi:10.1083/jcb.201001160
- Xu H, Gustafson CL, Sammons PJ, Khan SK, Parsley NC, Ramanathan C, Lee HW, Liu AC, Partch CL (2015) Cryptochrome 1 regulates the circadian clock through dynamic interactions with the BMAL1 C terminus. Nat Struct Mol Biol 22(6):476–484. doi:10.1038/nsmb.3018
- Yamada T, Kawano H, Sekine K, Matsumoto T, Fukuda T, Azuma Y, Itaka K, Chung UI, Chambon P, Nakamura K, Kato S, Kawaguchi H (2004) SRC-1 is necessary for skeletal responses to sex hormones in both males and females. J Bone Miner Res 19(9):1452–1461. doi:10.1359/ jbmr.040515
- Yamauchi T, Oike Y, Kamon J, Waki H, Komeda K, Tsuchida A, Date Y, Li MX, Miki H, Akanuma Y, Nagai R, Kimura S, Saheki T, Nakazato M, Naitoh T, Yamamura K, Kadowaki T (2002) Increased insulin sensitivity despite lipodystrophy in Crebbp heterozygous mice. Nat Genet 30(2):221–226. doi:10.1038/ng829
- Yang XJ (2004) The diverse superfamily of lysine acetyltransferases and their roles in leukemia and other diseases. Nucleic Acids Res 32(3):959–976. doi:10.1093/nar/gkh252
- Yang X, Yu W, Shi L, Sun L, Liang J, Yi X, Li Q, Zhang Y, Yang F, Han X, Zhang D, Yang J, Yao Z, Shang Y (2011) HAT4, a Golgi apparatus-anchored B-type histone acetyltransferase, acetylates free histone H4 and facilitates chromatin assembly. Mol Cell 44(1):39–50. doi:10.1016/j. molcel.2011.07.032
- Yao TP, Oh SP, Fuchs M, Zhou ND, Ch'ng LE, Newsome D, Bronson RT, Li E, Livingston DM, Eckner R (1998) Gene dosage-dependent embryonic development and proliferation defects in mice lacking the transcriptional integrator p300. Cell 93:361–372
- York B, Yu C, Sagen JV, Liu Z, Nikolai BC, Wu RC, Finegold M, Xu J, O'Malley BW (2010) Reprogramming the posttranslational code of SRC-3 confers a switch in mammalian systems biology. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107(24):11122–11127. doi:10.1073/pnas.1005262107
- Youn HD, Liu JO (2000) Cabin1 represses MEF2-dependent Nur77 expression and T cell apoptosis by controlling association of histone deacetylases and acetylases with MEF2. Immunity 13(1):85–94
- Young ME, Brewer RA, Peliciari-Garcia RA, Collins HE, He L, Birky TL, Peden BW, Thompson EG, Ammons BJ, Bray MS, Chatham JC, Wende AR, Yang Q, Chow CW, Martino TA, Gamble KL (2014) Cardiomyocyte-specific BMAL1 plays critical roles in metabolism, signaling, and maintenance of contractile function of the heart. J Biol Rhythms 29(4):257–276. doi:10.1177/0748730414543141
- Yu C, York B, Wang S, Feng Q, Xu J, O'Malley BW (2007) An essential function of the SRC-3 coactivator in suppression of cytokine mRNA translation and inflammatory response. Mol Cell 25(5):765–778. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2007.01.025
- Yuan CX, Ito M, Fondell JD, Fu ZY, Roeder RG (1998) The TRAP220 component of a thyroid hormone receptor- associated protein (TRAP) coactivator complex interacts directly with nuclear receptors in a ligand-dependent fashion. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95(14):7939–7944
- Yuan ZL, Guan YJ, Chatterjee D, Chin YE (2005) Stat3 dimerization regulated by reversible acetylation of a single lysine residue. Science 307(5707):269–273
- Zaidi S, Choi M, Wakimoto H, Ma L, Jiang J, Overton JD, Romano-Adesman A, Bjornson RD, Breitbart RE, Brown KK, Carriero NJ, Cheung YH, Deanfield J, DePalma S, Fakhro KA, Glessner J, Hakonarson H, Italia MJ, Kaltman JR, Kaski J, Kim R, Kline JK, Lee T, Leipzig J, Lopez A, Mane SM, Mitchell LE, Newburger JW, Parfenov M, Pe'er I, Porter G, Roberts AE, Sachidanandam R, Sanders SJ, Seiden HS, State MW, Subramanian S, Tikhonova IR, Wang W, Warburton D, White PS, Williams IA, Zhao H, Seidman JG, Brueckner M, Chung WK, Gelb BD, Goldmuntz E, Seidman CE, Lifton RP (2013) De novo mutations in histone-modi-

fying genes in congenital heart disease. Nature 498(7453):220–223. doi:10.1038/nature12141, nature12141 [pii]

- Zhang K, Faiola F, Martinez E (2005) Six lysine residues on c-Myc are direct substrates for acetylation by p300. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 336(1):274–280
- Zhang Y, Zhang H, Liang J, Yu W, Shang Y (2007) SIP, a novel ankyrin repeat containing protein, sequesters steroid receptor coactivators in the cytoplasm. EMBO J 26(11):2645–2657. doi:10.1038/sj.emboj.7601710
- Zhang X, Gibson ME, Li ZL, Zhu XY, Jordan KL, Lerman A, Lerman LO (2015) Autophagy portends the level of cardiac hypertrophy in experimental hypertensive swine model. Am J Hypertens 29:81–89. doi:10.1093/ajh/hpv057
- Zhao X, Sternsdorf T, Bolger TA, Evans RM, Yao TP (2005) Regulation of MEF2 by histone deacetylase 4- and SIRT1 deacetylase-mediated lysine modifications. Mol Cell Biol 25(19):8456–8464
- Zhao S, Xu W, Jiang W, Yu W, Lin Y, Zhang T, Yao J, Zhou L, Zeng Y, Li H, Li Y, Shi J, An W, Hancock SM, He F, Qin L, Chin J, Yang P, Chen X, Lei Q, Xiong Y, Guan KL (2010) Regulation of cellular metabolism by protein lysine acetylation. Science 327(5968):1000–1004. doi:10.1126/science.1179689
- Zhao X, Cho H, Yu RT, Atkins AR, Downes M, Evans RM (2014) Nuclear receptors rock around the clock. EMBO Rep 15(5):518–528. doi:10.1002/embr.201338271
- Zhou XY, Shibusawa N, Naik K, Porras D, Temple K, Ou H, Kaihara K, Roe MW, Brady MJ, Wondisford FE (2004) Insulin regulation of hepatic gluconeogenesis through phosphorylation of CREB-binding protein. Nat Med 10(6):633–637. doi:10.1038/nm1050
- Zimmermann N, Acosta AM, Kohlhase J, Bartsch O (2007) Confirmation of EP300 gene mutations as a rare cause of Rubinstein-Taybi syndrome. Eur J Hum Genet 15:837–842



Mariya Kronlage, Hugo A. Katus, and Johannes Backs

# Contents

8.1	Introduction	192			
8.2	Classification of HDACs and Basic Principles.	193			
8.3	Class IIa HDACs and Adverse Cardiac Remodeling				
8.4	Class IIa HDACs are Signal Responsive Through Posttranslational Modifications				
	(PTMs)				
	8.4.1 Phosphorylation	196			
	8.4.2 Proteolysis of HDAC4	198			
	8.4.3 Oxidation	200			
	8.4.4 Sumoylation	200			
	8.4.5 Ubiquitination.	201			
	8.4.6 Other PTMs	201			
8.5	Outlook: Epigenetic Therapies	201			
8.6	Summary				
Refe	erences	203			

M. Kronlage

Department of Cardiology, University of Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany

Department of Molecular Cardiology and Epigenetics, University of Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany

DZHK (German Centre for Cardiovascular Research), partner site, Heidelberg/Mannheim, Germany

H.A. Katus Department of Cardiology, University of Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany

DZHK (German Centre for Cardiovascular Research), partner site, Heidelberg/Mannheim, Germany

J. Backs, MD (⊠) Department of Molecular Cardiology and Epigenetics, University of Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany

Department of Molecular Cardiology and Epigenetics, Heidelberg University, Im Neuenheimer Feld 669, 69120 Heidelberg, Germany e-mail: johannes.backs@med.uni-heidelberg.de

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016 J. Backs, T.A. McKinsey (eds.), *Epigenetics in Cardiac Disease*, Cardiac and Vascular Biology 1, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-41457-7\_8 8

#### Abstract

Histone modifications are mediated by multiple chromatin-modifying enzymes such as histone methyltransferases and demethylases or histone acetyltransferases and histone deacetylases (HDACs). Because of their involvement in heart muscle disease, HDACs have gained a lot of attention over the last 15 years. HDACs are divided into different classes. Among them, class IIa HDACs undergo many posttranslational modification and bind to signaling molecules and other transcriptional regulators. Thereby, class IIa HDACs play a central role in cardiac signaling networks. Understanding the specific signaling events may allow the development of pharmacological approaches other than inhibiting their enzymatic activity. Thus, targeting HDAC signaling may provide more specificity towards disease- and stress-related mechanisms, potentially leading to fewer side effects than global inhibition of HDACs.

#### 8.1 Introduction

Heart failure (HF) is a chronic progressive disease with unfavorable long-term survival that could be compared with the grim prognosis of many aggressive cancer diagnoses: 5-year mortality rate following the first admission for HF is over 40%, and costs of re-hospitalization rates are steadily increasing (McMurray et al. 1998; Mosterd and Hoes 2007; Murray-Thomas and Cowie 2003). HF is not only the leading cause of death in the developed countries but also a major public health burden worldwide with far-reaching economic and political consequences (Cook et al. 2014; McMurray et al. 1998). Modern treatment of HF already covers a broad spectrum of known maladaptive remodeling mechanisms in the heart, involving neurohumoral and sympathetic inhibitors (angiotensin and  $\beta$ -adrenergic receptor antagonists) (Hunt et al. 2005). Ongoing therapeutic efforts are directed towards signaling factors downstream of receptors, as this would have the advantage of increasing effectiveness and minimizing the risk of adverse drug reactions (McKinsey 2012).

In the search to identify such targets, a substantial amount of evidence has been gathered in support of the importance of histone acetyltransferases and histone deacetylases (HDACs) in the physiology and pathophysiology of the heart. HDACs represent a family of enzymes that catalyze the removal of acetyl groups from lysine residues in a variety of proteins (such as histones), thus leading to chromatin condensation, which impairs binding of certain transcriptional factors (TFs) to their specific targets on the DNA (Backs and Olson 2006; Chen et al. 2015; Haberland et al. 2009; McKinsey and Olson 2004). HDACs can control gene expression through their ability to deacetylate nucleosomal histones, change chromatin, and in effect repress gene expression (Wang et al. 2009).

Apart from this, HDAC downstream effects extend far beyond their histone substrates and encompass a huge group of non-histone targets that regulate remodeling, contractility, autophagy, or metabolism (Gut and Verdin 2013; Karpac and Jasper 2011; Mihaylova et al. 2011; Xie and Hill 2013). In the heart, HDACs function as important links between upstream neurohumoral, adrenergic, and metabolic signaling pathways and downstream gene targets (Lehmann et al. 2014b; McKinsey 2011a; Weeks and Avkiran 2015). Thus, HDACs are critically involved in the differential response of the cardiomyocyte to different physiological and pathological environmental signals.

# 8.2 Classification of HDACs and Basic Principles

A total of 18 mammalian HDACs are distributed into four classes, based on structural and functional characteristics (Backs and Olson 2006; Landry et al. 2000). Class I, II, and IV HDACs are zinc-dependent enzymes, whereas class III HDACs (sirtuins) are nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD)-dependent enzymes (Gut and Verdin 2013; Landry et al. 2000). HDACs in general catalyze the removal of acetyl groups from the  $\varepsilon$ -amino group of acetyl lysine residues within their targets (Gong and Miller 2013; Landry et al. 2000). Deacetylation of histones in nucleosomes induces chromatin condensation, which represses transcription by preventing binding of transcription factors (TFs) to gene promoter and enhancer regions. In contrast, acetylation of histones by histone acetyltransferases (HATs) induces chromatin relaxation, resulting in increased gene transcription (Gong and Miller 2013; Wang et al. 2009; Yang and Seto 2007). Thus, HDACs and HATs are involved in an intense cross talk and serve as antagonistic epigenetic regulators of gene expression. Class IIa HDACs have gained a lot of attention in the field of cardiovascular health and disease. The class IIa family of HDACs consists of HDAC4, HDAC5, HDAC7, and HDAC9. The latter is also expressed as the splicing variant (myocyte enhancer factor-2 (MEF2)-interacting transcriptional repressor (MITR)) that lacks the actual deacetalyse domain. Expression of HDAC4, HDAC5, and HDAC9 is the highest in heart, brain, and skeletal muscles (Grozinger et al. 1999; Kao et al. 2000; Lehmann et al. 2014b), whereas HDAC7 is abundant in endothelial cells within the heart, lung, and skeletal muscles (Chang et al. 2006; Kao et al. 2000). In the human heart, HDAC5 is thought to be the member of class IIa HDACs with the strongest expression (de Ruijter et al. 2003) (Table 8.1).

Class IIa HDACs consist of an N-terminal regulatory domain and a C-terminal domain with a predicted enzymatic function (Lehmann et al. 2014b; McKinsey et al. 2001; Montgomery et al. 2007; Weeks and Avkiran 2015). The N-terminal regulatory domain of these HDACs plays important roles in the recruitment of various cofactors and contains a binding domain for the TF MEF2, a nuclear localization signal (NLS), and several conserved serine residues that act as docking sites for 14-3-3 chaperone proteins when phosphorylated by different kinases. Further structural features that mediate signal responsiveness are discussed below. Figure 8.1 summarizes structural domains that mediate (a) signal responsiveness, (b) their localization to specific chromatin regions through binding to TFs, and (c) the recruitment of other chromatin-modifying enzymes, which ultimately mediate transcriptional repression. Work by the Verdin group and others described that class IIa HDACs possess only low deacetylase activity but that the recruitment of class I

	T 1' .'	E 1'	KO	Embryonic/ early	D.C.
Member	Localization	Expressed in	Phenotype	lethality	References
HDAC4	Nucleus/ cytoplasm	Heart, skeletal muscle, brain	Premature ossification	YES	Hohl et al. 2013 Vega et al. 2004b
HDAC5	Nucleus/ cytoplasm	Heart, skeletal muscle, brain	Cardiac defects	NO	Chang et al. 2005
HDAC7	Nucleus/ cytoplasm/ Mitochondria	Heart, skeletal muscle, pancreas, placenta	Defects in endothelium	Conditional: NO Global: YES	Chang et al. 2006
HDAC9	Nucleus/ cytoplasm	Brain, skeletal muscle	Cardiac defects	NO	Chang et al. 2004

**Table 8.1** Summary of the expression patterns of different members of the class IIa HDACs in a variety of tissues. This table also provides a short description of the reported phenotypes of HDAC-deficient mice

HDACs ultimately mediates HDAC activity (Fischle et al. 2002; Lahm et al. 2007; Lehmann et al. 2014b). Similarly, class IIa HDACs can recruit other types of epigenetic enzymes such as histone methyltransferases that in turn may mediate transcriptional repression by adding methyl groups to chromatin regions where class IIa HDACs localize due to their binding of certain TFs such as MEF2 (Hohl et al. 2013; Zhang et al. 2002b). Class IIa HDACs antagonize adverse cardiac remodeling in the nucleus by suppressing TFs, such as the MEF2 family (Lu et al. 2000; Zhang et al. 2000). MEF2 is not the only TF that HDACs interact with; it has also been shown that the N-terminal domain of class IIa HDACs also represses the activity of serum response factor (SRF), nuclear factor of activated T-cells (NFAT), calmodulin-binding transcriptional activators (CAMTA), and GATA TFs (Backs et al. 2011; Dai et al. 2005; Davis et al. 2003; Lehmann et al. 2014b; Song et al. 2006). Association with 14-3-3 chaperone proteins upon phosphorylation leads to cytosolic accumulation of HDACs (McKinsey et al. 2001; Vega et al. 2004a; Weeks and Avkiran 2015), resulting in adverse cardiac remodeling by disinhibition of TFs and consequent increased expression of downstream target genes. Thus, nucleo-cytoplasmic shuttling has been demonstrated to be a key mechanism-regulating class IIa HDAC function (Backs et al. 2006; Brehm et al. 1999; Lu et al. 2000; McKinsey 2007; Vega et al. 2004a).

# 8.3 Class IIa HDACs and Adverse Cardiac Remodeling

The role of class IIa HDACs in maintaining cardiac homeostasis has been intensively investigated in the past 15 years in a number of different experimental models. Importantly, global deficiency of either HDAC5 or HDAC9 was compatible with life. However, global HDAC5 and HDAC9-knockout (KO) mice were characterized by abnormal cardiac growth (Chang et al. 2004; Zhang et al. 2002a). The simultaneous deletion of HDAC5 and HDAC9 was not compatible with life since these mice suffered from associated growth retardation, ventricular defects, and



**Fig. 8.1** A diagram highlighting the interactions of class IIa HDACs with (**a**) the transcriptional regulators C-terminal binding protein (CTBP), myocyte enhancer factor 2 (MEF2) and the serum response factor (SRF) that direct these HDACs to specific genomic regions, with (**b**) other chromatin-modifying enzymes such as class I HDACs that contain high deacetylase activity (in contrast to low deacetylase activity of HDAC4, HDAC5 and HDAC9) through binding to SMRT/NCoR, and the histone methyltransferase SUV39H1 through binding to heterochromatin protein 1 (HP1) that mediate histone deacetylation or methylation, and with (**c**) CaMKII that binds to HDAC4 but not HDAC5 or HDAC9. (**d**) Oligomerization between HDAC4 and HDAC5/HDAC9 (as indicated by the black bar) confers CaMKII responsiveness from HDAC4 to HDAC5 and HDAC9 resulting in 14-3-3 mediated cytosolic accumulation

bleeding, resulting eventually in premature death (Chang et al. 2004). A limitation of these studies regarding cardiomyocyte autonomous effects was, however, that gene deletion occurred globally, implying that the observed phenotype could also be influenced by the deletion of HDAC5 and/or HDAC9 in non-myocytes. Exaggerated cardiac hypertrophy could be observed upon crossing HDAC9 KO with a transgenic model with constitutively activated calcineurin (Molkentin et al. 1998; Zhang et al. 2002a). However, recent evidence suggested that calcineurin signaling might also mediate adaptive signaling as opposed to class IIa HDAC inactivation (Chung et al. 2013; Heineke et al. 2010; Kreusser et al. 2014). Mice lacking HDAC4 globally die before birth due to chondrocyte hypertrophy, leading to premature ossification of developing bones, which excluded HDAC4 until very recently to be investigated

more specifically regarding its role for the adult heart (Vega et al. 2004b). In order to better understand the specific role of HDAC4 in the heart, mice with cardiomvocyte-specific deletion of HDAC4 have been generated in the Olson lab and its role has been studied so far in ex vivo models, showing that HDAC4 might act as a nexus between calcium-dependent signaling and histone methylation upon elevated cardiac load (Hohl et al. 2013). However, the effects of stress on HDAC4-deficient mice in vivo have not been described yet. Because HDAC4 was implied to respond specifically to  $\beta$ -adrenergic signaling (Backs et al. 2006; Backs et al. 2011; Lehmann et al. 2014b; McKinsey 2007; Weeks and Avkiran 2015), an important stress pathway in the heart that drives the progression of HF, it will be interesting in the future to investigate whether HDAC4 exerts a distinct function in the heart as compared with HDAC5 and HDAC9. Mice with global deletion of HDAC7 die also during early embryogenetic development due to cardiovascular defects (Chang et al. 2006). Conditional deletion of HDAC7 endothelial cells showed a similar phenotype to the global deletion one (Chang et al. 2006). An essential role of HDAC7 in the heart has not been described so far, most likely because of its low expression in cardiac myocytes. Thus, although many genetic mouse models were generated and characterzized, it is still somewhat unclear, which HDAC in what cell type is responsible for cardiac hypertrophy and cardiac dysfunction. It will also be interesting to investigate whether there are distinct functions of the different class IIa HDACs regarding cardiac growth and function and, in particular, to identify critical downstream gene programs and cellular processes that cause hypertrophy and dysfunction.

### 8.4 Class IIa HDACs are Signal Responsive Through Posttranslational Modifications (PTMs)

PTMs may change the structure, function, as well as intracellular compartmentalization of affected proteins. The following sections describe prominent PTMs of class IIa HDACs because they provide an extraordinary level of changing and finetuning HDAC functions.

#### 8.4.1 Phosphorylation

Class IIa HDACs are substrates of a number of different protein kinases including protein kinase D (PKD); Ca<sup>2+</sup>/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase I, II, and IV (CaMKI, CaMKII, and CaMKIV); cAMP-dependent protein kinase (PKA); micro-tubule affinity-regulating kinase; salt-induced kinase 1; and G-protein-coupled receptor kinase-5 (Berdeaux et al. 2007; Chang et al. 2013; Chang et al. 2005; Dequiedt et al. 2006; Ha et al. 2010; Martini et al. 2008; Passier et al. 2000; Vega et al. 2004a; Walkinshaw et al. 2013). Phosphorylation of class IIa HDACs has been intensely studied and has first been identified as a mechanism that affects nucleo-cytoplasmatic shuttling of class IIa HDACs. Prominent phosphorylation sites of HDAC5 are, for instance, Ser-259 and Ser-498, which are localized close to the

NLS, and Ser-279, which lies within the NLS. Phosphorylation at Ser-259 and Ser-498 of HDAC5 and of the corresponding serine residues of the other class IIa HDACs profoundly affects their subcellular localization. In particular, phosphorylation of class IIa HDACs by e.g., CaMKI, CaMKIV, and PKD induces nuclear export of HDAC5 by creating binding sites for the chaperone 14-3-3 that escorts class IIa HDACs via a CRM1-dependent nuclear export to the cytosol (Harrison et al. 2004; Lehmann et al. 2014b; McKinsey et al. 2000a; McKinsey et al. 2000b; Passier et al. 2000; Vega et al. 2004a). In contrast, phosphorylation of Ser-279 by PKA has been suggested to trigger nuclear retention by disrupting the binding of 14-3-3 proteins (Chang et al. 2013; Greco et al. 2011; Ha et al. 2010).

Of note, whereas PKD, CaMKI, or CaMKIV phosphorylate all members of the class IIa HDAC family, CaMKII selectively binds to HDAC4 (Backs et al. 2006; Little et al. 2007). This is an important observation because CaMKII is implied by multiple studies to play a critical role in the development of HF (Kreusser and Backs 2014; Westenbrink et al. 2013). This selectivity is mediated through a specific CaMKII docking site in HDAC4 that is missing in HDAC5, 7, or 9 (Backs et al. 2006). But importantly, it was also shown—as illustrated in Fig. 8.1—that formation of a protein complex by oligomerization between HDAC4 and HDAC5 allows CaMKII to phosphorylate HDAC5 and thereby also facilitate cytosolic accumulation of HDAC5 (Backs et al. 2008; Metrich et al. 2010). Oligomerization of class IIa HDACs represents therefore a point of convergence and a mechanism for coupling specific upstream signaling molecules with downstream transcriptional targets. In an attempt to better understand the mechanistic implications of the CaMKII-HDAC4 interaction, different in vivo models have been developed and established so far. Transgenic mice with cardiac-specific overexpression of CaMKII\delta-the predominant CaMKII isoform in the heart-show adverse cardiac remodeling, elevated MEF2 activity, and increased expression of genes that are normally only expressed in the fetal stage (so-called "fetal gene program"). These findings were associated with increased phosphorylation and inactivation of HDAC4 (Zhang et al. 2007). CaMKIIS-deficient mice show no obvious abnormalities under unstressed conditions but less adverse cardiac remodeling in response to pathological pressure overload and lower levels of phosphorylated HDAC4 (Backs et al. 2009; Ling et al. 2009). However, the single deletion of CaMKII $\delta$  alone led to compensatory activation of the other cardiac CaMKII isoform, namely CaMKIIy. In an attempt to completely abolish CaMKII activity in the heart, mice with a cardiac-specific simultaneous deletion of CaMKII $\delta$  and CaMKII $\gamma$  have been generated (Kreusser et al. 2014; Weinreuter et al. 2014), lacking the two major cardiac CaMKII genes  $\delta$ and  $\gamma$  specifically only in cardiac myocytes. Under unstressed conditions, these mutant mice develop normally and display neither abnormal Ca<sup>2+</sup> handling nor functional and structural abnormalities. However, in response to pathological pressure overload and  $\beta$ -adrenergic stimulation, these mice are protected from cardiac dysfunction and interstitial fibrosis and in this model phosphorylation of HDAC4 at the CaMKII phosphorylation and 14-3-3 binding sites (Backs et al. 2006; Little et al. 2007) Ser-632 was decreased, indicating that CaMKII is the endogenous kinase of HDAC4. Interestingly, CaMKII double KO mice did develop cardiac

hypertrophy driven by excessive activation of endogenous calcineurin, which is associated with a lack of phosphorylation at the auto-inhibitory calcineurin A site Ser-411 (Kreusser et al. 2014). These results point into the direction that CaMKII–HDAC4 signaling regulates specifically cardiac function rather than hypertrophic growth. It will be important to analyze the relative contribution of the specific downstream mechanisms that control cardiac function.

In addition to the abovementioned mechanisms, some recent evidence suggests that increased HDAC4 and HDAC5 phosphorylation and consequent MEF2 activation following endothelin-1 stimulation may occur primarily through stimulation of  $\alpha_1$ - and  $\beta_1$ -adrenergic receptors on cardiomyocytes, following activation of presynaptic ET<sub>A</sub> receptors and subsequent inhibition of noradrenaline reuptake into sympathetic nerve terminals (Lehmann et al. 2014a). This observation suggests that there is a significant cross talk between different neurohumoral stimuli in the regulation of class IIa HDACs and that this cross talk also affects cardiac integrity. This also implies that HDAC signaling builds up a tight network not only within the cardiomyocyte downstream of  $\beta$ -adrenergic receptors but also between cardiomyocytes and the sympathetic nervous system at the neuromuscular junction.

Apart from CaMKII, another major downstream kinase of  $\beta$ -adrenergic receptors, namely PKA, is known to interact at least with two members of the class IIa HDAC family. On the one hand, and as mentioned above, PKA was proposed to phosphorylate HDAC5 at Ser-279, blocking 14-3-3 binding and nuclear export (Ha et al. 2010). On the other hand, PKA also inhibits PKD-dependent phosphorylation of HDAC5, thus preventing depression of MEF2 transcription factor (Haworth et al. 2007; Sucharov et al. 2011). However, recently we could also demonstrate that PKA signaling influences specifically the HDAC4 function. In the setting of acute  $\beta$ -adrenergic stimulation, PKA activates a so far unknown serine protease, which in turn cleaves HDAC4 and produces an N-terminal proteolytic cleavage polypeptide (HDAC4-NT) (Backs et al. 2011). The cleavage site, located between amino acids 201 and 202, is highly specific for HDAC4 and not present in other class IIa HDACs. HDAC4-NT accumulates in the nucleus and suppresses MEF2-dependent gene transcription (Backs et al. 2011). This pathway is highlighted in Fig. 8.2 and described in more detail below.

#### 8.4.2 Proteolysis of HDAC4

PKA activation leads to proteolysis of HDAC4 by a serine protease at Tyr201. This site is not present in other members of the class IIa HDAC family (Backs et al. 2011). The resulting N-terminal polypeptide of HDAC4 (HDAC4-NT) is stable whereas the C-terminal polypeptide seems to be unstable. HDAC4-NT enters the nucleus where it inhibits selectively the pro-remodeling transcription factor MEF2 but not the essential transcription factor SRF, because the SRF binding sites extend to a part C-terminal of Tyr-201. Thereby, HDAC4-NT may counteract adverse cardiac remodeling. Indeed, in vivo experiments showed that HDAC4-NT could be found in hearts of wild-type mice upon β-adrenergic stimulation, but not in hearts of



**Fig.8.2** Working model highlighting two opposing signaling cascades downstream of  $\beta$ -adrenergic receptors. Short-term  $\beta$ -adrenergic stimulation as it occurs under physiologic conditions such as exercise training preferentially activates PKA. PKA in turn binds to HDAC4 and leads to recruitment of a protease that cleaves off an N-terminal fragment of HDAC4. HDAC4-NT inhibits the transcription factor MEF2 in a CaMKII-resistant manner because it does not contain the CaMKII binding site or phosphorylation sites. Sustained  $\beta$ -adrenergic stimulation leads to CaMKII activation as it occurs under pathologic conditions such as pressure overload. CaMKII binds and then phosphorylates full-length HDAC4 leading to 14-3-3 binding, which in turn triggers cytosolic accumulation and consequently MEF2 activation, which is left uninhibited in the nucleus

mice lacking the catalytic  $\alpha$ -subunit of PKA (Backs et al. 2011). Based on this model, it has been suggested that this mechanism of proteolytic cleavage may enable differential responses to hypertrophic stimuli depending on the type of stress. It would be also intriguing to explore whether and to what extent endogenous HDAC4-NT is expressed in the heart under normal conditions and how this expression changes in situations of acute and chronic stress. Moreover, HDAC4-NT lacks the CaMKII-dependent phosphorylation sites of HDAC4 (Ser-246 and Ser-467) and thus would resist from being inactivated due to CaMKII activation in pathological

conditions such as HF. Thus, a gain of function approach mimicking HDAC4-NT might be a promising approach to combat HF.

Moreover, it has also been reported that HDAC4 can be proteolytically processed by caspase-2 and caspase-3 at Asp-289 (Paroni et al. 2004). The resulting N-terminal fragment was suggested to induce apoptosis via the repression of SRF and Runt-related transcription factor Runx2 (Paroni et al. 2007; Paroni et al. 2004). Interestingly, the additional amino acids of HDAC4 between 201 and 289 represent a binding site for SRF (Backs et al. 2011). Thereby, proteolysis is a biological process, by which the specificity of HDACs towards different TFs can be modified. Moreover, a most recent report demonstrated that an even shorter N-terminal fragment of HDAC4 (shorter than HDAC4-NT) plays a critical protective role for photoreceptors in a model of retinitis pigmentosa by suppressing cellular death in the eye (Guo et al. 2015). The presence and the function of this proteolytic product in the heart have not been described yet.

#### 8.4.3 Oxidation

Oxidation represents a phosphorylation-independent PTM regulating subcellular localization and nuclear export of HDAC4 in cardiomyocytes (Ago et al. 2008; Haworth et al. 2012; Matsushima et al. 2013). Formation of a disulphide bond between two cysteine residues (Cys-667 and Cys-669) in HDAC4 leads to a conformational change that enhances the exposure of the nuclear export signal to CRM1 (Ago et al. 2008). Of note and other than the abovementioned unique responsiveness of HDAC4 to CaMKII and PKA, the cysteine residues and thus the disulphide bond occur in all class IIa HDACs, indicating that oxidation is rather a general mechanism and not an HDAC4-selective phenomenon. Likewise, under oxidative stress, HDAC5 appears to be regulated in a similar manner to HDAC4, as catecholamine-induced nuclear export of HDAC5 was blocked by overexpression of the disulphide oxidoreductase protein thioredoxin-1 or by treatment with the antioxidant N-acetylcysteine (Haworth et al. 2012).

#### 8.4.4 Sumoylation

Sumoylation is a process in which the small ubiquitine-like modifier SUMO is added to lysine residues. HDAC4 has been shown to be sumoylated at Lys-559 by the SUMO E3 ligase RanBP2, which is attenuated by CaMK signaling and occurs at the nuclear core complex (Kirsh et al. 2002; Weeks and Avkiran 2015). Similar modifications were also found in the case of HDAC9, indicating that class IIa HDACs are generally modified by sumoylation. Most recently, sumoylation of HDAC4 has been studied in isolated cardiac myocytes and has been suggested to be cardioprotective upon hypoxia/reoxygenation injury (Du et al. 2015). These data call for more studies that investigate the functional relevance of HDAC sumoylation in vivo in the adult heart.

#### 8.4.5 Ubiquitination

Ubiquitination of proteins might serve as a signal for proteasome degradation, but might also change the intracellular compartmentalization and affect the proteins. In cardiovascular pathogenesis, it has a profound effect on gene expression (Portbury et al. 2012). Although HDAC ubiquitination has not been intensively studied in the heart, a study on skeletal muscle suggests that it is an important posttranslational modification that regulates class IIa HDAC function, activation of MEF2, and an increased expression of slow-twitch fiber-specific genes (Potthoff et al. 2007). Based on these observations, further studies are warranted to investigate whether ubiquitination could also play a role in altering HDAC function in the heart.

#### 8.4.6 Other PTMs

To the best of our knowledge, other PTMs such as nitrosylation or glycosylation of HDACs and their possible functional implications have not been described yet in the heart. Recently, evidence about HDAC4's critical involvement in metabolic processes such as defective insulin signaling in diabetes in the liver or its involvement in the podocyte injury in diabetic nephropathy (Mihaylova et al. 2011; Ozcan et al. 2016; Wang et al. 2011; Wang et al. 2014) has been growing. This involvement also implies a role of HDACs in the regulation of metabolic processes and makes a further investigation of responsiveness to metabolic stress such as hyperglycemia or nutritional changes via previously-not-investigated PTMs intriguingly. This is in particular interesting because epigenetic processes have been demonstrated to act as a nexus between metabolic factors and gene expression (Gut and Verdin 2013).

# 8.5 Outlook: Epigenetic Therapies

The HDAC family opens new potentials for development of next-generation therapeutic strategies against cardiac disease as it acts as an important regulator of both maladaptive and adaptive signaling and could contribute to normalizing gene expression in the failing heart (Lehmann et al. 2014b; McKinsey 2011a, 2012). Administration of small molecule HDAC inhibitors, such as trichostatin A (TSA), suberanilohydroxamic acid (SAHA), and valproic acid, has already been tested under experimental conditions and has been implied to play a cardioprotective role. Administration of TSA upon pressure overload attenuated cardiac hypertrophy in mice (Kee et al. 2006; Kong et al. 2006) and SAHA-treatment was associated with a reduced infarct size and functional improvement in a rabbit model of ischemiareperfusion injury (Xie et al. 2014). Valproic acid was in addition demonstrated to reduce right ventricular hypertrophy upon pulmonary hypertension (Cavasin et al. 2015). Furthermore, HDAC inhibitors have been argued to play an advantageous role in modulating the pro-inflammatory response upon cardiac injury. In spontaneously hypertensive rats, a 20-week treatment with valproic acid led to normalization of IL-1ß and TNF $\alpha$ -levels, which correlated well with a reduction in the LV-wall thickness and fibrosis (Cardinale et al. 2010). Four weeks' treatment with SAHA led also to a significant reduction in the circulating levels of IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, and TNF- $\alpha$ (McKinsey 2011b). HDAC inhibitors have also profound effects on cardiac fibrosis; for example, TSA blocks transforming growth factor β-mediated induction of collagen synthesis in ventricular fibroblasts (McKinsey 2011b). Based on these insights in the mechanisms of action and the potential off-target effects of HDAC inhibitors, further studies are warranted to reveal not only the short- and long-term advantages but also the potentials and hazards of HDAC inhibitor treatment. The effects of HDAC inhibitors are also discussed in other chapters of this book. It is important to emphasize that these effects are mainly explained by inhibition of class I HDACs rather than class IIa HDACs because the deacetylase activity of class HDACs is higher than the deacetylase activity of class IIa HDACs (Fischle et al. 2002; Lahm et al. 2007). Moreover, the aforementioned mouse genetic studies suggested that promoting the gain of function of class IIa HDACs in the nucleus is rather beneficial as compared with their inhibition. Following this line, the remarkable signal responsiveness and our gained understanding of specific signaling events that mediate for instance cytosolic accumulation or proteolysis of HDAC4 may open new therapeutic avenues. Some of these signaling events seem to be specific in disease situations. Thus, inhibiting a signaling event may be a more specific approach to inhibit an HDAC action only in this situation, but not generally as enzymatic inhibitors do. For instance, it might be feasible to develop disrupting compounds or peptides that block binding of CaMKII to HDAC4 (Backs et al. 2006). Because HDAC5 regulation by CaMKII depends on HDAC4 (Backs et al. 2008), such an approach would be specific to increase in HDAC4 and HDAC5 activity in the nucleus only in a CaMKII-dependent stress situation. Another feasible approach may be an activation of the HDAC4 proteolysis pathway (Backs et al. 2011) by a gene therapy approach using HDAC4-NT or the upstream protease. A deeper understanding of the regulatory mechanisms and the molecular basis of the regulation of chromatin-modifying enzymes therefore may open new translational avenues.

# 8.6 Summary

The class IIa HDAC family has been identified as an important molecular nexus linking both acute and chronic stress signaling to activation of different transcriptional programs that affect cardiac growth, hypertrophy, and both pathological and physiological remodeling. The unique role of HDACs in the fine-orchestrated epigenetic regulation of cardiac gene expression originates from nucleo-cytoplasmic shuttling in response to signal-driven ( $\beta$ -adrenergic, neurohumoral) PTMs. Due to their direct interactions with several potent transcriptional regulators, such as MEF2, HDACs represent interesting potential targets for development of novel pharmacological strategies to treat HF. Some of the possible pathways that are currently under discussion comprise direct inhibition of HDACs, prevention of nuclear export and/ or enhancing nuclear import, and stimulation of proteolytic cleavage formation.

However, many of the mechanisms of cardioprotective HDAC function are still only insufficiently known and there is a need for future investigations.

Due to the high epidemiologic relevance, HF has turned into a heavy burden not only for patients and their families but also for the health care system in our modern society. Defeating the disease and substantially improving duration and quality of life rather than simply living with HF is hence one of the biggest challenges in modern cardiology. An important prerequisite for the development of new, specific, and effective pharmacological therapies against HF is the profound understanding of the underlying mechanisms and signaling cascades transmitting pathological stress to effector molecules in the cardiomyocyte that ultimately lead to maladaptive remodeling. The HDAC family offers critical mechanisms that directly link to adverse remodeling responses and ultimately HF.

Acknowledgments J.B. was supported by grants from the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (BA 2258/2-1, SFB 1118), the European Commission (FP7-Health-2010, MEDIA-261409), H.A.K. and J.B. by the DZHK (Deutsches Zentrum für Herz-Kreislauf-Forschung—German Centre for Cardiovascular Research) and by the BMBF (German Ministry of Education and Research).

**Conflict of Interest** J.B. holds a patent on epigenetic therapies, in particular, disrupting the CaMKII–HDAC4 interaction and gene therapy with HDAC4-NT and the upstream protease.

#### References

- Ago T, Liu T, Zhai P, Chen W, Li H, Molkentin JD, Vatner SF, Sadoshima J (2008) A redoxdependent pathway for regulating class II HDACs and cardiac hypertrophy. Cell 133:978–993
- Backs J, Olson EN (2006) Control of cardiac growth by histone acetylation/deacetylation. Circ Res 98:15–24
- Backs J, Song K, Bezprozvannaya S, Chang S, Olson EN (2006) CaM kinase II selectively signals to histone deacetylase 4 during cardiomyocyte hypertrophy. J Clin Invest 116:1853–1864
- Backs J, Backs T, Bezprozvannaya S, McKinsey TA, Olson EN (2008) Histone deacetylase 5 acquires calcium/calmodulin-dependent kinase II responsiveness by oligomerization with histone deacetylase 4. Mol Cell Biol 28:3437–3445
- Backs J, Backs T, Neef S, Kreusser MM, Lehmann LH, Patrick DM, Grueter CE, Qi X, Richardson JA, Hill JA et al (2009) The delta isoform of CaM kinase II is required for pathological cardiac hypertrophy and remodeling after pressure overload. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106: 2342–2347
- Backs J, Worst BC, Lehmann LH, Patrick DM, Jebessa Z, Kreusser MM, Sun Q, Chen L, Heft C, Katus HA et al (2011) Selective repression of MEF2 activity by PKA-dependent proteolysis of HDAC4. J Cell Biol 195:403–415
- Berdeaux R, Goebel N, Banaszynski L, Takemori H, Wandless T, Shelton GD, Montminy M (2007) SIK1 is a class II HDAC kinase that promotes survival of skeletal myocytes. Nat Med 13:597–603
- Brehm A, Nielsen SJ, Miska EA, McCance DJ, Reid JL, Bannister AJ, Kouzarides T (1999) The E7 oncoprotein associates with Mi2 and histone deacetylase activity to promote cell growth. EMBO J 18:2449–2458

- Cardinale JP, Sriramula S, Pariaut R, Guggilam A, Mariappan N, Elks CM, Francis J (2010) HDAC inhibition attenuates inflammatory, hypertrophic, and hypertensive responses in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Hypertension 56:437–444
- Cavasin MA, Stenmark KR, McKinsey TA (2015) Emerging roles for histone deacetylases in pulmonary hypertension and right ventricular remodeling (2013 Grover Conference series). Pulm Circ 5:63–72
- Chang S, McKinsey TA, Zhang CL, Richardson JA, Hill JA, Olson EN (2004) Histone deacetylases 5 and 9 govern responsiveness of the heart to a subset of stress signals and play redundant roles in heart development. Mol Cell Biol 24:8467–8476
- Chang S, Bezprozvannaya S, Li S, Olson EN (2005) An expression screen reveals modulators of class II histone deacetylase phosphorylation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:8120–8125
- Chang S, Young BD, Li S, Qi X, Richardson JA, Olson EN (2006) Histone deacetylase 7 maintains vascular integrity by repressing matrix metalloproteinase 10. Cell 126:321–334
- Chang CW, Lee L, Yu D, Dao K, Bossuyt J, Bers DM (2013) Acute beta-adrenergic activation triggers nuclear import of histone deacetylase 5 and delays G(q)-induced transcriptional activation. J Biol Chem 288:192–204
- Chen HP, Zhao YT, Zhao TC (2015) Histone deacetylases and mechanisms of regulation of gene expression. Crit Rev Oncog 20:35–47
- Chung E, Yeung F, Leinwand LA (2013) Calcineurin activity is required for cardiac remodelling in pregnancy. Cardiovasc Res 100:402–410
- Cook C, Cole G, Asaria P, Jabbour R, Francis DP (2014) The annual global economic burden of heart failure. Int J Cardiol 171:368–376
- Dai YS, Xu J, Molkentin JD (2005) The DnaJ-related factor Mrj interacts with nuclear factor of activated T cells c3 and mediates transcriptional repression through class II histone deacetylase recruitment. Mol Cell Biol 25:9936–9948
- Davis FJ, Gupta M, Camoretti-Mercado B, Schwartz RJ, Gupta MP (2003) Calcium/calmodulindependent protein kinase activates serum response factor transcription activity by its dissociation from histone deacetylase, HDAC4. Implications in cardiac muscle gene regulation during hypertrophy. J Biol Chem 278:20047–20058
- de Ruijter AJ, van Gennip AH, Caron HN, Kemp S, van Kuilenburg AB (2003) Histone deacetylases (HDACs): characterization of the classical HDAC family. Biochem J 370:737–749
- Dequiedt F, Martin M, Von Blume J, Vertommen D, Lecomte E, Mari N, Heinen MF, Bachmann M, Twizere JC, Huang MC et al (2006) New role for hPar-1 kinases EMK and C-TAK1 in regulating localization and activity of class IIa histone deacetylases. Mol Cell Biol 26:7086–7102
- Du J, Zhang L, Zhuang S, Qin GJ, Zhao TC (2015) HDAC4 degradation mediates HDAC inhibition-induced protective effects against hypoxia/reoxygenation injury. J Cell Physiol 230:1321–1331
- Fischle W, Dequiedt F, Hendzel MJ, Guenther MG, Lazar MA, Voelter W, Verdin E (2002) Enzymatic activity associated with class II HDACs is dependent on a multiprotein complex containing HDAC3 and SMRT/N-CoR. Mol Cell 9:45–57
- Gong F, Miller KM (2013) Mammalian DNA repair: HATs and HDACs make their mark through histone acetylation. Mutat Res 750:23–30
- Greco TM, Yu F, Guise AJ, Cristea IM (2011) Nuclear import of histone deacetylase 5 by requisite nuclear localization signal phosphorylation. Mol Cell Proteomics: MCP 10:M110 004317
- Grozinger CM, Hassig CA, Schreiber SL (1999) Three proteins define a class of human histone deacetylases related to yeast Hda1p. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:4868–4873
- Guo X, Wang SB, Xu H, Ribic A, Mohns EJ, Zhou Y, Zhu X, Biederer T, Crair MC, Chen B (2015) A short N-terminal domain of HDAC4 preserves photoreceptors and restores visual function in retinitis pigmentosa. Nat Commun 6:8005
- Gut P, Verdin E (2013) The nexus of chromatin regulation and intermediary metabolism. Nature 502:489–498
- Ha CH, Kim JY, Zhao J, Wang W, Jhun BS, Wong C, Jin ZG (2010) PKA phosphorylates histone deacetylase 5 and prevents its nuclear export, leading to the inhibition of gene transcription and cardiomyocyte hypertrophy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:15467–15472

- Haberland M, Montgomery RL, Olson EN (2009) The many roles of histone deacetylases in development and physiology: implications for disease and therapy. Nat Rev Genet 10:32–42
- Harrison BC, Roberts CR, Hood DB, Sweeney M, Gould JM, Bush EW, McKinsey TA (2004) The CRM1 nuclear export receptor controls pathological cardiac gene expression. Mol Cell Biol 24:10636–10649
- Haworth RS, Roberts NA, Cuello F, Avkiran M (2007) Regulation of protein kinase D activity in adult myocardium: novel counter-regulatory roles for protein kinase Cepsilon and protein kinase A. J Mol Cell Cardiol 43:686–695
- Haworth RS, Stathopoulou K, Candasamy AJ, Avkiran M (2012) Neurohormonal regulation of cardiac histone deacetylase 5 nuclear localization by phosphorylation-dependent and phosphorylation-independent mechanisms. Circ Res 110:1585–1595
- Heineke J, Wollert KC, Osinska H, Sargent MA, York AJ, Robbins J, Molkentin JD (2010) Calcineurin protects the heart in a murine model of dilated cardiomyopathy. J Mol Cell Cardiol 48:1080–1087
- Hohl M, Wagner M, Reil JC, Muller SA, Tauchnitz M, Zimmer AM, Lehmann LH, Thiel G, Bohm M, Backs J et al (2013) HDAC4 controls histone methylation in response to elevated cardiac load. J Clin Invest 123:1359–1370
- Hunt SA, American College of Cardiology, American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines (2005) ACC/AHA 2005 guideline update for the diagnosis and management of chronic heart failure in the adult: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines (Writing Committee to Update the 2001 Guidelines for the Evaluation and Management of Heart Failure). J Am Coll Cardiol 46:e1–e82
- Kao HY, Downes M, Ordentlich P, Evans RM (2000) Isolation of a novel histone deacetylase reveals that class I and class II deacetylases promote SMRT-mediated repression. Genes Dev 14:55–66
- Karpac J, Jasper H (2011) Metabolic homeostasis: HDACs take center stage. Cell 145:497–499
- Kee HJ, Sohn IS, Nam KI, Park JE, Qian YR, Yin Z, Ahn Y, Jeong MH, Bang YJ, Kim N et al (2006) Inhibition of histone deacetylation blocks cardiac hypertrophy induced by angiotensin II infusion and aortic banding. Circulation 113:51–59
- Kirsh O, Seeler JS, Pichler A, Gast A, Muller S, Miska E, Mathieu M, Harel-Bellan A, Kouzarides T, Melchior F et al (2002) The SUMO E3 ligase RanBP2 promotes modification of the HDAC4 deacetylase. EMBO J 21:2682–2691
- Kong Y, Tannous P, Lu G, Berenji K, Rothermel BA, Olson EN, Hill JA (2006) Suppression of class I and II histone deacetylases blunts pressure-overload cardiac hypertrophy. Circulation 113:2579–2588
- Kreusser MM, Backs J (2014) Integrated mechanisms of CaMKII-dependent ventricular remodeling. Front Pharmacol 5:36
- Kreusser MM, Lehmann LH, Keranov S, Hoting MO, Oehl U, Kohlhaas M, Reil JC, Neumann K, Schneider MD, Hill JA et al (2014) Cardiac CaM Kinase II genes delta and gamma contribute to adverse remodeling but redundantly inhibit calcineurin-induced myocardial hypertrophy. Circulation 130:1262–1273
- Lahm A, Paolini C, Pallaoro M, Nardi MC, Jones P, Neddermann P, Sambucini S, Bottomley MJ, Lo Surdo P, Carfi A et al (2007) Unraveling the hidden catalytic activity of vertebrate class IIa histone deacetylases. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:17335–17340
- Landry J, Slama JT, Sternglanz R (2000) Role of NAD(+) in the deacetylase activity of the SIR2like proteins. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 278:685–690
- Lehmann LH, Rostosky JS, Buss SJ, Kreusser MM, Krebs J, Mier W, Enseleit F, Spiger K, Hardt SE, Wieland T et al (2014a) Essential role of sympathetic endothelin A receptors for adverse cardiac remodeling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111:13499–13504
- Lehmann LH, Worst BC, Stanmore DA, Backs J (2014b) Histone deacetylase signaling in cardioprotection. Cell Mol Life Sci 71:1673–1690
- Ling H, Zhang T, Pereira L, Means CK, Cheng H, Gu Y, Dalton ND, Peterson KL, Chen J, Bers D et al (2009) Requirement for Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent kinase II in the transition from pressure overload-induced cardiac hypertrophy to heart failure in mice. J Clin Invest 119:1230–1240

- Little GH, Bai Y, Williams T, Poizat C (2007) Nuclear calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase IIdelta preferentially transmits signals to histone deacetylase 4 in cardiac cells. J Biol Chem 282:7219–7231
- Lu J, McKinsey TA, Nicol RL, Olson EN (2000) Signal-dependent activation of the MEF2 transcription factor by dissociation from histone deacetylases. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:4070–4075
- Martini JS, Raake P, Vinge LE, DeGeorge BR Jr, Chuprun JK, Harris DM, Gao E, Eckhart AD, Pitcher JA, Koch WJ (2008) Uncovering G protein-coupled receptor kinase-5 as a histone deacetylase kinase in the nucleus of cardiomyocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:12457–12462
- Matsushima S, Kuroda J, Ago T, Zhai P, Park JY, Xie LH, Tian B, Sadoshima J (2013) Increased oxidative stress in the nucleus caused by Nox4 mediates oxidation of HDAC4 and cardiac hypertrophy. Circ Res 112:651–663
- McKinsey TA (2007) Derepression of pathological cardiac genes by members of the CaM kinase superfamily. Cardiovasc Res 73:667–677
- McKinsey TA (2011a) The biology and therapeutic implications of HDACs in the heart. Handb Exp Pharmacol 206:57–78
- McKinsey TA (2011b) Targeting inflammation in heart failure with histone deacetylase inhibitors. Mol Med 17:434–441
- McKinsey TA (2012) Therapeutic potential for HDAC inhibitors in the heart. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 52:303–319
- McKinsey TA, Olson EN (2004) Dual roles of histone deacetylases in the control of cardiac growth. Novartis Found Symp 259:132–141, discussion 141–135, 163–139
- McKinsey TA, Zhang CL, Lu J, Olson EN (2000a) Signal-dependent nuclear export of a histone deacetylase regulates muscle differentiation. Nature 408:106–111
- McKinsey TA, Zhang CL, Olson EN (2000b) Activation of the myocyte enhancer factor-2 transcription factor by calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase-stimulated binding of 14-3-3 to histone deacetylase 5. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:14400–14405
- McKinsey TA, Zhang CL, Olson EN (2001) Identification of a signal-responsive nuclear export sequence in class II histone deacetylases. Mol Cell Biol 21:6312–6321
- McMurray JJ, Petrie MC, Murdoch DR, Davie AP (1998) Clinical epidemiology of heart failure: public and private health burden. Eur Heart J 19(Suppl P):P9–P16
- Metrich M, Laurent AC, Breckler M, Duquesnes N, Hmitou I, Courillau D, Blondeau JP, Crozatier B, Lezoualc'h F, Morel E (2010) Epac activation induces histone deacetylase nuclear export via a Ras-dependent signalling pathway. Cell Signal 22:1459–1468
- Mihaylova MM, Vasquez DS, Ravnskjaer K, Denechaud PD, Yu RT, Alvarez JG, Downes M, Evans RM, Montminy M, Shaw RJ (2011) Class IIa histone deacetylases are hormone-activated regulators of FOXO and mammalian glucose homeostasis. Cell 145:607–621
- Molkentin JD, Lu JR, Antos CL, Markham B, Richardson J, Robbins J, Grant SR, Olson EN (1998) A calcineurin-dependent transcriptional pathway for cardiac hypertrophy. Cell 93:215–228
- Montgomery RL, Davis CA, Potthoff MJ, Haberland M, Fielitz J, Qi X, Hill JA, Richardson JA, Olson EN (2007) Histone deacetylases 1 and 2 redundantly regulate cardiac morphogenesis, growth, and contractility. Genes Dev 21:1790–1802
- Mosterd A, Hoes AW (2007) Clinical epidemiology of heart failure. Heart 93:1137-1146
- Murray-Thomas T, Cowie MR (2003) Epidemiology and clinical aspects of congestive heart failure. J Renin Angiotensin Aldosterone Syst: JRAAS 4:131–136
- Ozcan L, Ghorpade DS, Zheng Z, de Souza JC, Chen K, Bessler M, Bagloo M, Schrope B, Pestell R, Tabas I (2016) Hepatocyte DACH1 is increased in obesity via nuclear exclusion of HDAC4 and promotes hepatic insulin resistance. Cell Rep 15:2214–2225
- Paroni G, Mizzau M, Henderson C, Del Sal G, Schneider C, Brancolini C (2004) Caspasedependent regulation of histone deacetylase 4 nuclear-cytoplasmic shuttling promotes apoptosis. Mol Biol Cell 15:2804–2818

- Paroni G, Fontanini A, Cernotta N, Foti C, Gupta MP, Yang XJ, Fasino D, Brancolini C (2007) Dephosphorylation and caspase processing generate distinct nuclear pools of histone deacetylase 4. Mol Cell Biol 27:6718–6732
- Passier R, Zeng H, Frey N, Naya FJ, Nicol RL, McKinsey TA, Overbeek P, Richardson JA, Grant SR, Olson EN (2000) CaM kinase signaling induces cardiac hypertrophy and activates the MEF2 transcription factor in vivo. J Clin Invest 105:1395–1406
- Portbury AL, Ronnebaum SM, Zungu M, Patterson C, Willis MS (2012) Back to your heart: ubiquitin proteasome system-regulated signal transduction. J Mol Cell Cardiol 52:526–537
- Potthoff MJ, Olson EN, Bassel-Duby R (2007) Skeletal muscle remodeling. Curr Opin Rheumatol 19:542–549
- Song K, Backs J, McAnally J, Qi X, Gerard RD, Richardson JA, Hill JA, Bassel-Duby R, Olson EN (2006) The transcriptional coactivator CAMTA2 stimulates cardiac growth by opposing class II histone deacetylases. Cell 125:453–466
- Sucharov CC, Dockstader K, Nunley K, McKinsey TA, Bristow M (2011) beta-Adrenergic receptor stimulation and activation of protein kinase A protect against alpha1-adrenergic-mediated phosphorylation of protein kinase D and histone deacetylase 5. J Card Fail 17:592–600
- Vega RB, Harrison BC, Meadows E, Roberts CR, Papst PJ, Olson EN, McKinsey TA (2004a) Protein kinases C and D mediate agonist-dependent cardiac hypertrophy through nuclear export of histone deacetylase 5. Mol Cell Biol 24:8374–8385
- Vega RB, Matsuda K, Oh J, Barbosa AC, Yang X, Meadows E, McAnally J, Pomajzl C, Shelton JM, Richardson JA et al (2004b) Histone deacetylase 4 controls chondrocyte hypertrophy during skeletogenesis. Cell 119:555–566
- Walkinshaw DR, Weist R, Xiao L, Yan K, Kim GW, Yang XJ (2013) Dephosphorylation at a conserved SP motif governs cAMP sensitivity and nuclear localization of class IIa histone deacetylases. J Biol Chem 288:5591–5605
- Wang Z, Zang C, Cui K, Schones DE, Barski A, Peng W, Zhao K (2009) Genome-wide mapping of HATs and HDACs reveals distinct functions in active and inactive genes. Cell 138:1019–1031
- Wang B, Moya N, Niessen S, Hoover H, Mihaylova MM, Shaw RJ, Yates JR 3rd, Fischer WH, Thomas JB, Montminy M (2011) A hormone-dependent module regulating energy balance. Cell 145:596–606
- Wang X, Liu J, Zhen J, Zhang C, Wan Q, Liu G, Wei X, Zhang Y, Wang Z, Han H et al (2014) Histone deacetylase 4 selectively contributes to podocyte injury in diabetic nephropathy. Kidney Int 86:712–725
- Weeks KL, Avkiran M (2015) Roles and post-translational regulation of cardiac class IIa histone deacetylase isoforms. J Physiol 593:1785–1797
- Weinreuter M, Kreusser MM, Beckendorf J, Schreiter FC, Leuschner F, Lehmann LH, Hofmann KP, Rostosky JS, Diemert N, Xu C et al (2014) CaM Kinase II mediates maladaptive post-infarct remodeling and pro-inflammatory chemoattractant signaling but not acute myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury. EMBO Mol Med 6:1231–1245
- Westenbrink BD, Edwards AG, McCulloch AD, Brown JH (2013) The promise of CaMKII inhibition for heart disease: preventing heart failure and arrhythmias. Expert Opin Ther Targets 17:889–903
- Xie M, Hill JA (2013) HDAC-dependent ventricular remodeling. Trends Cardiovasc Med 23:229–235
- Xie M, Kong Y, Tan W, May H, Battiprolu PK, Pedrozo Z, Wang ZV, Morales C, Luo X, Cho G et al (2014) Histone deacetylase inhibition blunts ischemia/reperfusion injury by inducing cardiomyocyte autophagy. Circulation 129:1139–1151
- Yang XJ, Seto E (2007) HATs and HDACs: from structure, function and regulation to novel strategies for therapy and prevention. Oncogene 26:5310–5318
- Zhang Q, Vo N, Goodman RH (2000) Histone binding protein RbAp48 interacts with a complex of CREB binding protein and phosphorylated CREB. Mol Cell Biol 20:4970–4978

- Zhang CL, McKinsey TA, Chang S, Antos CL, Hill JA, Olson EN (2002a) Class II histone deacetylases act as signal-responsive repressors of cardiac hypertrophy. Cell 110:479–488
- Zhang CL, McKinsey TA, Olson EN (2002b) Association of class II histone deacetylases with heterochromatin protein 1: potential role for histone methylation in control of muscle differentiation. Mol Cell Biol 22:7302–7312
- Zhang T, Kohlhaas M, Backs J, Mishra S, Phillips W, Dybkova N, Chang S, Ling H, Bers DM, Maier LS et al (2007) CaMKIIdelta isoforms differentially affect calcium handling but similarly regulate HDAC/MEF2 transcriptional responses. J Biol Chem 282:35078–35087



# Epigenetic and Nongenomic Roles for Histone Deacetylases in Heart Failure

9

Weston W. Blakeslee, Philip D. Tatman, and Timothy A. McKinsey

# Contents

9.2 HDACs: Erasers of the Histone Code	210 212 213
	212 213
9.3 Cardiac Phenotypes in Class I HDAC Knockout Mice	213
9.4 Class I HDAC Inhibitors in Heart Failure Models	
9.5 Pharmacological Manipulation of Class IIa HDACs in Heart Failure Models	214
9.6 Emerging Roles for Class IIb HDAC6 in Heart Failure	215
9.7 HDAC8, HDAC10, and HDAC11: Cardiac Functions Unknown	216
9.8 Regulation of the Cardiac Epigenetics by HDACs	217
9.9 Beyond Epigenetics: Nongenomic Targets of Acetylation in the Heart	219
9.10 Cross Talk Between Acetylation and SUMOylation	222
References	223

#### Abstract

Heart failure due to systolic and/or diastolic ventricular dysfunction afflicts millions of people worldwide. Most heart failure drugs target signaling cascades that emanate from the cardiomyocyte cell surface. However, given the ability of numerous

W.W. Blakeslee

Department of Pharmacology, University of Colorado Denver, Aurora, CO, USA

P.D. Tatman

Medical Scientist Training Program, University of Colorado Denver, Aurora, CO, USA

Department of Medicine, Division of Cardiology, University of Colorado Denver, Aurora, CO, USA

T.A. McKinsey (⊠) Department of Pharmacology, University of Colorado Denver, Aurora, CO, USA

Medical Scientist Training Program, University of Colorado Denver, Aurora, CO, USA

Department of Medicine, Division of Cardiology, University of Colorado Denver, Aurora, CO, USA

Consortium for Fibrosis Research and Translation, University of Colorado Denver, Aurora, CO, USA e-mail: timothy.mckinsey@ucdenver.edu

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016 J. Backs, T.A. McKinsey (eds.), *Epigenetics in Cardiac Disease*, Cardiac and Vascular Biology 1, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-41457-7\_9 receptors to trigger adverse ventricular remodeling, it has been hypothesized that more efficacious therapeutic strategies would be based on inhibition of downstream "nodal" points that integrate upstream signals to convey a common pathway for heart failure pathogenesis. This chapter highlights data suggesting that a family of epigenetic regulatory enzymes, histone deacetylases (HDACs), represent such nodal points. We discuss recent findings that illustrate how HDACs not only control cardiac gene expression via epigenetic regulation, but also serve crucial nongenomic functions in the heart through deacetylation of non-histone proteins.

#### 9.1 Introduction

Heart failure due to systolic and/or diastolic ventricular dysfunction currently afflicts approximately six million adults in the United States, and this number is projected to rise to eight million by 2030 (Mozaffarian et al. 2015). Research efforts over the past two decades have led to enormous progress in our understanding of the molecular mechanisms that control heart failure (Burchfield et al. 2013). The ultimate goal of this work has been to facilitate development of novel therapies for the treatment of this devastating condition. With the exception of the dual angiotensin receptor/neprilysin inhibitor, LCZ696 (McMurray et al. 2014), innovative new therapies for heart failure have not emerged, and the 5-year mortality rate for individuals with heart failure still approaches 50 % (Mozaffarian et al. 2015).

Most heart failure drugs target signaling cascades that emanate from the cardiomyocyte cell surface (e.g.,  $\beta$ -adrenergic and angiotensin receptor blockers) (Xie et al. 2013). However, given the ability of numerous receptors to trigger adverse ventricular remodeling, it has been hypothesized that more efficacious therapeutic strategies would be based on inhibition of downstream "nodal" points that integrate upstream signals to convey a common pathway for heart failure pathogenesis (Haldar and McKinsey 2014). This chapter highlights data suggesting that a family of epigenetic regulatory enzymes, histone deacetylases (HDACs), represent such nodal points. These enzymes are highly amenable to pharmacological manipulation. Two HDAC inhibitors, SAHA (vorinostat) and FK-228 (romidepsin), are approved for use in humans with cutaneous T-cell lymphoma, and the drugs are generally well tolerated, establishing the feasibility of targeting these, and other epigenetic regulators, to treat human disease (West and Johnstone 2014). We describe recent findings that illustrate how HDACs not only control epigenetic processes in the heart but also serve crucial nongenomic functions in the regulation of cardiac contraction/relaxation and intracellular signaling.

# 9.2 HDACs: Erasers of the Histone Code

The basic unit of chromatin is the nucleosome, which is a histone octamer wrapped in a 147-bp stretch of DNA. Modifications of nucleosomal DNA or protein, without changes to the underlying nucleotide sequence, can have a profound effect on gene
expression. This mode of gene regulation is referred to as epigenetics. One of the most widely studied epigenetic events is histone tail acetylation on  $\varepsilon$ -amino groups of lysine residues. Acetyl groups are coupled to lysines by histone acetyltransferases (HATs) and removed by HDACs. HATs and HDACs are commonly referred to as "writers" and "erasers" of the epigenetic code, respectively. In addition to influencing transcription by altering the electrostatic properties of histones, lysine acetylation often creates docking sites for proteins such as bromodomain-containing BET proteins, which "read" the histone code and alter the gene expression by



Fig. 9.1 HDAC isoform functions in the heart. The 11 zinc-dependent HDACs fall into four classes. Proposed functions for specific HDAC isoforms are indicated

recruiting factors that influence RNA polymerase II (Pol II) dynamics (Haldar and McKinsey 2014; Anand et al. 2013; Jenuwein and Allis 2001; Spiltoir et al. 2013; Wang et al. 2004).

The 18 mammalian HDACs are encoded by distinct genes and are grouped into four classes: class I (HDACs 1, 2, 3, and 8), class II (HDACs 4, 5, 6, 9, and 10), class III (SirT1–7), and class IV (HDAC11) (Gregoretti et al. 2004). Class II HDACs are further divided into two subclasses, IIa (HDACs 4, 5, 7, and 9) and IIb (HDACs 6 and 10). Coordination of a zinc atom in the catalytic domains of class I, II, and IV HDACs is required for catalysis, while class III HDACs (sirtuins) utilize nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD<sup>+</sup>) as a co-factor for catalytic activity. This chapter focuses on zinc-dependent HDACs (Fig. 9.1).

# 9.3 Cardiac Phenotypes in Class I HDAC Knockout Mice

Class I HDACs, particularly HDACs –1, –2, and –3, are canonical epigenetic regulators. These HDACs are present in the nucleus in large multi-protein complexes referred to as Sin3, NuRD, CoREST, and NCoR/SMRT, which are recruited to gene-regulatory elements by sequence-specific DNA binding transcription factors (Cunliffe 2008; Kelly and Cowley 2013). HDAC1 and HDAC2 tend to be present together in Sin3, NuRD, and CoREST complexes, while HDAC3 is a component of the NCoR/SMRT complex. However, as discussed below, class I HDACs can be detected outside of the nucleus and likely also serve diverse nongenomic functions in the heart by deacetylating proteins other than histones.

Conditional cardiac deletions of either HDAC1 or HDAC2 produce no phenotype, while homozygous loss of both genes in the heart results in dilated cardiomyopathy, arrhythmia, and neonatal lethality (Montgomery et al. 2007). HDAC1 or HDAC2 conditional null mice remain susceptible to isoproterenol- or pressure overload-induced cardiac hypertrophy, suggesting that these isoforms may serve redundant functions in controlling growth of the adult heart. Alternatively, it is possible that these HDACs do not regulate cardiac hypertrophy.

Mice with cardiac-specific deletion of HDAC3 succumb to metabolic cataclysm in the heart. These animals develop massive cardiac hypertrophy and excessive myocardial lipid accumulation due to constitutive activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-mediated gene expression (Montgomery et al. 2008). Cardiac deletion of HDAC3 in this study was driven by Cre recombinase expressed via the  $\alpha$ -myosin heavy chain (MHC) promoter, which is active during embryonic development. Deletion of HDAC3 from the mouse heart at a later point, using an MCK-Cre transgene, did not yield an overt phenotype until animals were fed a highfat diet, whereupon they developed severe cardiomyopathy with concomitant downregulation of genes involved in lipid metabolism (Sun et al. 2011).

In contrast to the injurious effects of knocking out HDAC3 in the heart, knockdown of HDAC3 expression using a morpholino oligonucleotide led to reduced left ventricular (LV) hypertrophy and fibrosis in a mouse pressure overload model (Sharifi-Sanjani et al. 2014). It is possible that these discrepant findings are due to incomplete knockdown of HDAC3 expression with the oligonucleotide.

#### 9.4 Class I HDAC Inhibitors in Heart Failure Models

Several studies have shown that HDAC inhibitors such as trichostatin A (TSA) are able to block cardiac hypertrophy in rodent models. TSA is a "pan" inhibitor that targets all zinc-dependent HDACs (Bradner et al. 2010). It has long been speculated that the anti-hypertrophic action of pan-HDAC inhibitors is due to blockade of class I HDAC activity (McKinsey and Olson 2004). Indeed, experiments with cultured cardiomyocytes have implicated class I HDACs in the control of cardiac hypertrophy (Antos et al. 2003; Cao et al. 2011; Eom et al. 2014; Ferguson et al. 2013; Kee et al. 2008). However, data that definitively illustrates a pro-hypertrophic role for these HDACs in vivo are still lacking. Using a rat model having right ventricular (RV) hypertrophy, we demonstrated that a highly selective HDAC1/2/3 inhibitor, Mocetinostat, blocked adverse signaling events in the heart (e.g., caspase activation), while only modestly blunting hypertrophic growth of the RV (Cavasin et al. 2012). Likewise, a derivative of apicidin, which is a fungal metabolite that selectively inhibits class I HDACs, incompletely blocked hypertrophy in a long-term mouse pressure overload model (Gallo et al. 2008). SK-7041 is an HDAC inhibitor that is reportedly specific for class I HDACs and was shown to effectively block pressure overload-induced hypertrophy in mice (Kee et al. 2006). However, we have evaluated SK-7041 in vitro and found that the compound is a pan-HDAC inhibitor (unpublished observations).

While the role of class I HDACs in cardiac hypertrophy remains incompletely understood, it is clear that inhibiting the catalytic activity of these HDACs is beneficial in the context of heart failure. Selective class I HDAC inhibition with Mocetinostat blocked cardiac fibrosis in response to chronic angiotension II infusion (Williams et al. 2014). This class I HDAC inhibitor also blunted progression of fibrosis in a chronic rat MI model (with no impact on scar size), resulting in a profound reduction in LV end diastolic pressure (Nural-Guvener et al. 2014). In this model, Mocetinostat was delivered 3 weeks post-MI and continued for 3 additional weeks, illustrating the potential of class I HDAC inhibition to improve the preexisting cardiac disease. In a 7-day model of mouse MI, induced by left anterior descending coronary artery ligation, administration of the class I HDAC inhibitor, PD-106, post-MI resulted in reduced LV remodeling and improved cardiac function at the study endpoint, with concomitant suppression of matrix metalloproteinase-2 and 9 expression (Mani et al. 2015). In an ex vivo model of ischemia/reperfusion injury in the rat heart, pretreatment with MS-275, another class I HDAC inhibitor, led to reduced infarct area and significant improvements in LV contractile function (Aune et al. 2014). Efficacy of MS-275 was associated with FOXO3a-mediated induction of the antioxidant genes, catalase, and mitochondrial superoxide dismutase. Mocetinostat, PD-106, and MS-275 are structurally related HDAC inhibitors that contain a benzamide warhead that confers a high degree of specificity for inhibition of class I HDACs 1, 2, and 3 over other HDAC isoforms (Wagner et al. 2013).

Valproic acid (VPA) is a weak, albeit selective (Fass et al. 2010), inhibitor of class I HDACs that has been shown to block cardiac hypertrophy in various rodent models (Cardinale et al. 2010; Cho et al. 2010; Kang et al. 2015; Kee et al. 2006, 2013; Zhao et al. 2012). VPA has been used in the clinic for decades as a safe

anti-convulsant and mood stabilizer. Thus, it is not unreasonable to speculate that VPA could be repurposed for other indications, such as heart failure. Nonetheless, it remains unclear whether the efficacy of VPA observed in preclinical models of heart failure is actually due to class I HDAC inhibition, since VPA can also alter the activity of ion channels, kinases, and other biochemical pathways (Terbach and Williams 2009). Furthermore, VPA is able to reduce systemic blood pressure, as seen in spontaneously hypertensive rats (Cardinale et al. 2010), and thus some of the beneficial effects of VPA on the heart could be due to a reduction in the afterload.

Data from studies with small molecule inhibitors are often compared with results of genetic loss-of-function experiments to ascertain whether the given action of a compound is due to on-target or off-target action; the notion is that knockdown/knockout of a target should recapitulate the phenotype seen with pharmacological inhibition of the target. However, HDAC knockout/knockdown does not always mimic effects of HDAC inhibitors, due to noncatalytic functions of HDACs. This is exemplified by HDAC3. Cardiac-specific deletion of HDAC3 causes cardiomyopathy in mice; yet TSA, Mocetinostat, or other potent HDAC3 inhibitors have a positive impact on the heart. The noncatalytic function of HDAC3 was clearly demonstrated in the studies of mouse liver, where HDAC3 deletion caused hepatosteatosis, which was rescued by catalytically inactive mutants of HDAC3 (Sun et al. 2013).

A more relevant strategy for assessing on-/off-target effects of HDAC inhibitors is to employ numerous, structurally dissimilar compounds, because it is improbable that all of the compounds will interfere with the action of a common off-target effector. In preclinical models of heart failure, HDAC inhibitors from four broad chemical classes are efficacious: short chain fatty acids (VPA), hydroxamic acids (TSA), aminobenzamides (Mocetinostat), and cyclic peptides (apicidin) (Bush and McKinsey 2010). These findings strongly suggest that HDAC inhibition is beneficial in the setting of heart failure.

There is one HDAC-independent action of hydroxamic acid HDAC inhibitors that could contribute to the ability of this compound class to suppress adverse cardiac remodeling. Some hydroxamic acids were recently found to bind to free cellular iron and form complexes catalyzing the conversion of hydrogen peroxide into water and  $O_2$  (Olson et al. 2015). This catalase-like antioxidant activity would be expected to benefit the heart, since oxidative stress contributes to cardiac hypertrophy, cardiac fibrosis, and contractile dysfunction (Ferguson and McKinsey 2015).

# 9.5 Pharmacological Manipulation of Class IIa HDACs in Heart Failure Models

The roles of class IIa HDACs as suppressors of cardiac hypertrophy are well described (McKinsey 2012), particularly for HDAC5 and HDAC9 (Chang et al. 2004; Zhang et al. 2002). Class IIa HDACs have extended (~500 amino acid) amino-terminal domains that govern recruitment to pro-hypertrophic genes through transcription factors such as myocyte enhancer factor 2 (MEF2). In response to signals for cardiac

hypertrophy, serine residues within these domains are phosphorylated, leading to nuclear export of the HDACs and derepression of downstream target genes. It has been hypothesized that blockade of HDAC5/9 nuclear export would block cardiac hypertrophy (Harrison et al. 2004) and that the most selective way to achieve this goal would be to inhibit the kinase(s) that phosphorylates the amino-terminal serine residues in class IIa HDACs. To this end, several class IIa HDAC kinases were discovered, most of which fall into the calcium/calmodulin-dependent kinase (CaM Kinase) superfamily (McKinsey 2007), including protein kinase D (PKD) and CaM Kinase II (Backs et al. 2006; Vega et al. 2004). While highly selective PKD inhibitors have been shown to block hypertrophy of cultured cardiac myocytes (Monovich et al. 2010), these compounds have thus far failed to suppress adverse cardiac remodeling *in vivo* (Meredith et al. 2010a, b). It is likely that functionally redundant class IIa HDAC kinases II) are able to compensate for the lack of PKD activity in inhibitor-treated animals and that simultaneous inhibition of multiple class IIa HDAC kinases will be required to block cardiac hypertrophy.

The designation of class IIa HDACs as HDAC enzymes is misleading since, despite having conserved catalytic domains, these proteins are unable to deacetylate histones. Class IIa HDAC catalytic activity is only detectable using an artificial substrate (Jones et al. 2008; Lahm et al. 2007). Research aimed at discovering endogenous substrates of class IIa HDACs is ongoing and will likely be aided by recently described small molecules that have a high degree of specificity for class IIa HDAC catalytic domains over other HDAC isoforms (Lobera et al. 2013); these compounds were discovered based on their ability to block class IIa HDACmediated deacetylation of the artificial substrate. A small molecule termed MC1568 has long been touted as a class IIa HDAC inhibitor (Mai et al. 2005). However, we and others have found that MC1568 lacks the ability to inhibit class IIa HDAC catalytic activity, and thus caution is warranted when interpreting data obtained with this compound (Fleming et al. 2014; Lemon et al. 2015).

# 9.6 Emerging Roles for Class IIb HDAC6 in Heart Failure

Although HDAC6 has been shown to enter the nucleus (Liu et al. 2012), where it presumably regulates gene expression, this class IIb HDAC primarily resides in the cytoplasmic compartment. HDAC6 is the predominant tubulin deacetylase (Matsuyama et al. 2002) and has also clearly been shown to deacetylate heat shock protein 90 (HSP90) and cortactin, which is F-actin binding protein (Valenzuela-Fernandez et al. 2008). Studies of HDAC6 in the heart are just beginning. HDAC6 catalytic activity was shown to be elevated in multiple models of cardiac dysfunction (Lemon et al. 2011), and subsequent findings suggest a role for this HDAC6 contributes to structural and electrical remodeling of atrial myocytes and has been proposed to trigger atrial fibrillation by deacetylating tubulin and disrupting microtubule structure (Zhang et al. 2014). HDAC6-deficient mice and wild-type mice treated with Tubastatin A, which is a selective

HDAC6 inhibitor (Butler et al. 2010), exhibited improved LV systolic function in models of pressure overload or chronic angiotensin II signaling, compared with controls (Demos-Davies et al. 2014). HDAC6 deletion did not block cardiac hypertrophy or fibrosis. Rather, cardiac myofibrils were found to have greater force-generating capacity in the absence of HDAC6. HDAC6 was shown to co-purify with cardiac myofibrils, suggesting that sarcomeric proteins are substrates of this deacetylase and that HDAC6-mediated deacetylation of one or more sarcomeric proteins leads to perturbation of systolic function of the heart (Demos-Davies et al. 2014).

HDAC6 was also recently shown to contribute to pathogenesis in a model of desmin-related cardiomyopathy (McLendon et al. 2014). Expression of a mutant  $\alpha$ B-crystallin (R120G) in the mouse heart leads to accumulation of misfolded protein aggregates, which trigger pathological cardiac remodeling and heart failure (Wang et al. 2001). Tubastatin A reduced aggregate formation in cultured cardiomyocytes expressing  $\alpha$ B-crystallin (R120G) and pan-HDAC inhibition with Vorinostat, which is a hydroxamic acid-containing compound, blunted cardiac aggregate formation, and improved ventricular function in  $\alpha$ B-crystallin (R120G) transgenic mice (McLendon et al. 2014). Efficacy of SAHA in the model was associated with increased autophagy in the heart. Together, the early studies of HDAC6 reveal unique functions for this cytoplasmic deacetylase in the pathogenesis of heart failure. Intriguingly, HDAC6 null mice do not exhibit overt abnormalities, suggesting that pharmacological inhibition of this enzyme will be well tolerated in humans.

# 9.7 HDAC8, HDAC10, and HDAC11: Cardiac Functions Unknown

The functions of HDAC8, HDAC10, and HDAC11 in the heart remain completely unknown. HDAC8 catalytic activity was shown to be elevated in the heart in a rat model of hypertension-induced cardiac hypertrophy (Kee et al. 2013). Several substrates of HDAC8, in addition to histones, have been identified in noncardiac cells, including cortactin and estrogen-related receptor (Chakrabarti et al. 2015; Li et al. 2014; Wilson et al. 2010), and thus there is potential for this HDAC isoform to have diverse nuclear and cytoplasmic functions in the heart. The availability of selective small molecule inhibitors of HDAC8 provides an opportunity to use a chemical biological approach to dissect the role of this HDAC in normal heart and in the pathogenesis of heart failure (Chakrabarti et al. 2015).

HDAC10 is most closely related to HDAC6, and thus it is designated as a class IIb HDAC. In cultured cardiomyocytes, knockdown of HDAC10 leads to upregulation of HDAC6, and vice versa (Lemon et al. 2011), suggesting that these proteins serve redundant functions. In cancer cells, knockdown of HDAC10 expression leads to suppression of autophagy (Oehme et al. 2013a, b). It will be interesting to determine if HDAC6 and HDAC10 function within a common pathway to control autophagy in the heart.

The sole member of class IV HDACs is HDAC11, which remains poorly characterized due to the inability to effectively monitor its catalytic activity using in vitro assays. The original description of HDAC11 revealed high levels of HDAC11 mRNA in human cardiac tissue (Gao et al. 2002); yet a function for this HDAC isoform in the heart has not been described.

# 9.8 Regulation of the Cardiac Epigenetics by HDACs

Acetylated-lysine residues from all components of the nucleosome have been found, with acetyl marks on the tails of histone H3 (H3) and histone H4 (H4) being the best characterized and most abundant (Shahbazian and Grunstein 2007). In mammalian cells, acetylation of eight lysine residues on H3 and five lysines on H4 are readily detected by mass spectrometry (Tan et al. 2011). Adding further complexity, histone lysines can be methylated, sumoylated, ubiquitinated, crotonylated, succinylated, and malonylated (Tan et al. 2011; Bradbury 1992; Shiio and Eisenman 2003; Xie et al. 2012). Histone acetylation is typically associated with active transcription (Schubeler et al. 2004). However, whether a specific acetylation event has a positive, negative, or neutral effect on gene expression is dependent on the interplay with other histone modifications and is promoter context dependent (Felsenfeld and Groudine 2003).

An example of HDAC-mediated alterations in histone acetylation leading to changes in cardiac gene transcription was provided by studies of MHC expression. A hallmark of heart failure is the differential regulation of the two cardiac MHC isoforms,  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ , which has a profound effect on cardiac function (Braunwald and Bristow 2000).  $\alpha$ -MHC, which is upregulated in the heart after birth, has high ATPase activity, whereas  $\beta$ -MHC has low ATPase activity. In the failing heart,  $\beta$ -MHC expression is upregulated and  $\alpha$ -MHC is downregulated, with a consequent reduction in myofibrillar ATPase activity and reduced shortening velocity of cardiac myofibrils. It has long been recognized that HDAC inhibition can stimulate α-MHC expression in cardiomyocytes (Davis et al. 2005). In a mouse transverse aortic constriction (TAC) model, TSA was shown to enhance acetylation of H3K9/K14 within the α-MHC promoter, leading to increased expression of this "fast" myosin isoform (Chang et al. 2011). In response to pressure overload, HDAC2 was recruited to the  $\alpha$ -MHC promoter, leading to decreased H3K9/K14 acetylation and consequent suppression of α-MHC expression. Improved contractile function in HDAC inhibitortreated animals may be linked, in part, to the ability of these compounds to stimulate α-MHC expression.

Evaluation of epigenetic modifications in the heart has classically been in the context of specific gene promoters (e.g.,  $\alpha$ -MHC) using chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) followed by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) of the relevant promoter sequences. While this approach has provided insight into the role of HDACs with respect to an isolated set of genes, studying single gene promoters does not address the functions of HDACs in the regulation of epigenetics throughout the cardiomyocyte genome. Given that histones are responsible for maintaining

chromatin structure and are bound throughout the genome, it is likely that HDACs influence vast regions of the genome in the context of heart failure.

Whole transcriptome sequencing (RNA-Seq) and ChIP sequencing (CHIP-Seq) technologies have begun to be applied to genome-wide investigations of epigenetics in the heart. RNA-Seq allows for the study of global change of all RNA transcripts in relation to HDAC gene alterations, or HDAC pharmacologic inhibition; while ChIP-Seq is a method used to determine the exact locations of specific transcription factors or histone marks throughout the genome. ChIP-Seq differs from established ChIP protocols in that, instead of using PCR to amplify specific regions of the genome, all isolated DNA fragments are sequenced and then aligned to a reference genome. Processing data on this scale can be computationally demanding; however, in recent years it has become possible to overlay RNA-Seq data sets with ChIP-Seq data sets to look at quantitative changes in global transcription in relation to global changes in chromatin modifications (Hughes et al. 2014; Wang et al. 2013).

Antibodies specific for distinct H3 acetylation and methylation marks were used to map genome-wide changes that occur in mouse hearts subjected to 1 week of pressure overload due to TAC (Papait et al. 2013); this study was performed with isolated cardiomyocytes from these hearts. By combining the ChIP-Seq datasets with RNA-Seq data obtained from the same cells, it was found that the combined presence of acetyl-H3K9, acetyl-H3K27, methyl-H3K4, and dimethyl-H3K79 within promoter sequences was associated with enhanced gene transcription during hypertrophy. In a separate study performed with whole hearts of mice subjected to TAC for 4 days, it was found that RNA polymerase II (Pol II) co-localized with acetyl-H3K9 in hypertrophic hearts (Sayed et al. 2013). All promoters where Pol II was bound, acetylated-H3K9 was also bound, although Pol II was not found at all acetyl-H3K9 sites. The findings establish that dynamic changes in H3K9 acetylation and Pol II recruitment or mobilization occur during pathological cardiac hypertrophy.

A genome-wide evaluation of the impact of HDAC inhibition on cardiomyocyte epigenetics in heart failure was recently described (Ooi et al. 2015). Mice underwent TAC surgery and were administered TSA or vehicle control for 4 weeks. Whole heart homogenates were analyzed by ChIP-Seq with an anti-acetyl-H3K9/K14 antibody. Pressure overload was shown to cause both increases and decreases in H3K9/14 acetylation throughout the genome, and these changes were reversed by TSA. A paradoxical finding from this study was the profound ability of TSA to reduce, rather than increase, H3 acetylation at many loci. Follow-up studies evaluating potential cross talk between HDACs and HATs in the heart should provide further insight into this intriguing finding.

Our understanding of the genome-wide functions of HDACs in the control of cardiac epigenetics in heart failure is still limited. These early studies suggest that HDACs regulate specific areas of the cardiomyocyte genome, perhaps through interactions with specific transcription factors. Use of isoform-selective HDAC inhibitors, as opposed to TSA, should simplify interpretation of the data and will provide a unique opportunity to address the mechanism(s) by which distinct HDAC

isoforms influence the histone code in the heart. In this regard, a recent, powerful study employed mass spectrometry to quantify changes in histone and nonhistone proteins in HeLa and MV4-11 cells exposed to pan and isoform-selective HDAC inhibitors (Scholz et al. 2015). The findings demonstrated HDAC isoform-specific substrates and revealed complexly orchestrated regulation of cellular function through specific and nonspecific protein deacetylation that extends beyond the nucleus.

# 9.9 Beyond Epigenetics: Nongenomic Targets of Acetylation in the Heart

The first "acetylome" was reported 6 years ago (Choudhary et al. 2009), and together with subsequent studies, thousands of acetylation sites on thousands of proteins have been identified in mammalian cells (Choudhary et al. 2014), illustrating that the reach of acetylation in biological control extends far beyond epigenetics. Two papers have described efforts to quantify acetylation of proteins in the heart (Foster et al. 2013; Lundby et al. 2012). Both studies employed immunoprecipitation of proteins from normal, unstressed hearts (rat or guinea pig) using "pan" anti-acetyllysine antibodies prior to mass spectrometry and label-free identification of acetylated peptides; the study using guinea pig hearts employed proteins that were fractionated into myofilament, mitochondrial, and cytosolic pools prior to immunoprecipitation. We overlaid the common orthologues from each dataset that were found to be acetylated, resulting in a total of 160 common nonhistone acetyl-proteins (Fig. 9.2a). Many of the common acetylated proteins are regulators of metabolism (not shown). Acetylation of mitochondrial proteins involved in metabolism is well appreciated, and deacetylation of these proteins is generally governed by class III HDACs (sirtuins) (Newman et al. 2012). The analysis also revealed acetylation of many cardiac proteins involved in intra- and extracellular signaling, gene regulation, cell-cell communication, and contraction (Fig. 9.2b). The potential role of reversible lysine acetylation in the regulation of cardiac contraction and relaxation is further highlighted by the numerous components of the sarcomere that were shown to be acetylated (Fig. 9.2c). It is intriguing to speculate that the ability of HDAC inhibitors to improve contractile function in animal models of heart failure is related to enhanced acetylation of sarcomeric proteins. In this regard, in vitro studies showed that acetylation of  $\alpha$ -MHC and  $\beta$ -MHC increased the actin-sliding velocity of both myosin isoforms, and HDAC3 was implicated as the MHC deacetylase (Samant et al. 2015).

The difference in total acetylated proteins between the guinea pig and rat studies (Fig. 9.2a) could be due to variations in the fractionation steps prior to MS/MS. By increasing the degree of fractionation, the overall sample resolution increases, allowing for the identification of many more acetyl sites. Future investigations into the cardiac acetylome should, in part, also focus on refinement and standardization of a mass spectroscopy acetylome protocol to maximize the potential of this powerful technique.



g

Fig. 9.2 Nonhistone targets of acetylation in the heart. (a) Acetylated peptides identified from normal, unstressed rat hearts (Lundby et al. 2012) and guinea studies were subjected to the Kyoto encyclopedia of genes and genomes analysis. Results are displayed as a network via Cytoscape and grouped by specific cellular signaling pathways. (c) Of the 160 acetylated target found in both studies, many proteins within the cardiac sarcomere were found to be acetylated, as ndicated by green boxes and yellow Ac labels. \*Myosin binding protein C (MyBP-C), α-MHC, troponin T, and tropomodulin were identified as acetylated pig hearts (Foster et al. 2013) were overlaid and analyzed to identify acetylated targets found in both studies. (b) The 160 acetylated targets identified from both cellular functions. Gray boxes indicate a function associated with an acetylated target. Red lines between boxes indicate that an acetylated target belongs to both proteins in rat hearts but not guinea pig hearts Investigation of the function of nonhistone protein acetylation in the heart is in its infancy. The cardiac acetylome represents a rich reservoir for discovery of novel regulatory pathways in normal and diseased hearts and has the potential to yield innovative therapeutic targets for heart failure. We hypothesize that beneficial effects of HDAC inhibitors in heart failure models are due to actions on multiple cell types (e.g., myocytes, fibroblasts, inflammatory cells) and due to influences of HDAC inhibition on acetylation of both histone and nonhistone targets. To address this hypothesis, it will be necessary to perform quantitative analyses of changes in nonhistone protein acetylation that occurs in the setting of heart failure and to evaluate the impact of isoform-selective HDAC inhibitors on nonhistone protein acetylation in the heart.

# 9.10 Cross Talk Between Acetylation and SUMOylation

Lysine is a highly versatile amino acid target for posttranslational modifications, which include methylation, acyl modifications (e.g., acetylation, crotonylation, succinvlation), small protein isopeptide bonds (i.e., ubiquitination, NEDDylation, SUMOylation), and biotinylation (Yang and Seto 2008). A particular lysine residue may only be subject to one posttranslational modification at a given time; an exception to this is that lysine can be simultaneously conjugated to multiple methyl groups (i.e., mono-, di-, tri-methyl). Given the mutually exclusive nature of lysine modifications, we hypothesized that increasing nonhistone protein acetylation, through the use of HDAC inhibitors, would result in suppression of SUMO-1 conjugation in cardiac cells. Paradoxically, treatment of cardiomyocytes or cardiac fibroblasts with HDAC inhibitors such as TSA and Mocetinostat led to a global increase in protein SUMO-1-vlation, indicating cross talk between the two modifications, albeit in a direction converse to what was previously hypothesized (Blakeslee et al. 2014). Increased SUMO-1-ylation occurred in the absence of new protein synthesis, suggesting the possibility that HDAC inhibitor-mediated acetylation of a component(s) of the SUMO conjugation machinery enhances protein SUMO-1-ylation in cardiac cells.

It is intriguing to speculate that HDAC inhibitor efficacy in heart failure models is due, at least in part, to the ability of these compounds to promote SUMO-1ylation. SUMO-1 is downregulated in human heart failure patients, as well as in mice subjected to TAC-induced pressure overload (Kho et al. 2011). Furthermore, overexpression of SUMO-1 using recombinant adeno-associated virus (rAAV) was shown to improve cardiac function in a mouse model of pressure overload model, as well as in a pig model of ischemia/reperfusion injury, in which animals received coronary infusion of rAAV-SUMO-1 1 month after I/R injury (Kho et al. 2011; Tilemann et al. 2013). Consistent with the idea of defective SUMOylation being maladaptive for the heart, cardiac-specific transgenic overexpression of the SUMO protease, SENP2, resulted in elevated levels of free SUMO-1 and dysfunctional hemodynamics and gross malformations of the myocardium (Kim et al. 2012). Additionally, SENP1 expression was elevated in failing mouse and human hearts, and rAAV-SENP1 overexpression *in vivo* was sufficient to cause dilated cardiomyopathy in mice (Cai et al. 2015). Collectively, these results favor the concept of defective SUMOylation contributing to heart failure. Experiments designed to test whether concomitant HDAC inhibitor therapy and SUMO-1 gene transfer provide synergistic efficacy in heart failure models should be enlightening.

#### Conclusions

Despite significant advances in our understanding of the functions of HDACs in the heart, major knowledge gaps still exist (Fig. 9.1). The ability to couple stateof-the-art epigenomic technologies (e.g., high-resolution ChIP-Seq) with pharmacological tool compounds that selectively inhibit the catalytic activity of class I, IIa, or IIb HDACs should reveal novel mechanisms for epigenetic control of cardiac hypertrophy, fibrosis, and dysfunction. Furthermore, mass spectrometry-based global analysis of lysine acetylation in the heart has highlighted the fact that this posttranslational modification extends far beyond nucleus and likely plays a central role in the regulation of all processes in the cardiomyocyte. We are in an extremely unique and exciting era of research on HDACs in the heart, with the outcome of experiments conducted over the next few years having tremendous potential to provide novel insights into the molecular underpinnings of heart failure; and to reveal previously unappreciated targets for innovative therapeutic approaches aimed at combating the emerging global health crisis of heart failure.

**Acknowledgments** The authors thank Molly K. McKinsey for assistance with graphics. W.W.B. was funded by the University of Colorado Denver Pharmacology Program NIH T32 Training Grant (GM007635), and T.A.M. was supported by grants from the NIH (R01HL116848, R21AG043822, R01HL127240) and American Heart Association (13GRNT14510001).

**Conflict of Interest** The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

# References

- Anand P, Brown JD, Lin CY, Qi J, Zhang R, Artero PC, Alaiti MA, Bullard J, Alazem K, Margulies KB, Cappola TP, Lemieux M, Plutzky J, Bradner JE, Haldar SM (2013) BET bromodomains mediate transcriptional pause release in heart failure. Cell 154:569–582
- Antos CL, McKinsey TA, Dreitz M, Hollingsworth LM, Zhang CL, Schreiber K, Rindt H, Gorczynski RJ, Olson EN (2003) Dose-dependent blockade to cardiomyocyte hypertrophy by histone deacetylase inhibitors. J Biol Chem 278:28930–28937
- Aune SE, Herr DJ, Mani SK, Menick DR (2014) Selective inhibition of class I but not class IIb histone deacetylases exerts cardiac protection from ischemia reperfusion. J Mol Cell Cardiol 72:138–145
- Backs J, Song K, Bezprozvannaya S, Chang S, Olson EN (2006) CaM kinase II selectively signals to histone deacetylase 4 during cardiomyocyte hypertrophy. J Clin Invest 116:1853–1864
- Blakeslee WW, Wysoczynski CL, Fritz KS, Nyborg JK, Churchill ME, McKinsey TA (2014) Class I HDAC inhibition stimulates cardiac protein SUMOylation through a post-translational mechanism. Cell Signal 26:2912–2920
- Bradbury EM (1992) Reversible histone modifications and the chromosome cell cycle. Bioessays 14:9–16
- Bradner JE, West N, Grachan ML, Greenberg EF, Haggarty SJ, Warnow T, Mazitschek R (2010) Chemical phylogenetics of histone deacetylases. Nat Chem Biol 6:238–243

- Braunwald E, Bristow MR (2000) Congestive heart failure: fifty years of progress. Circulation 102:IV14–IV23
- Burchfield JS, Xie M, Hill JA (2013) Pathological ventricular remodeling: mechanisms: part 1 of 2. Circulation 128:388–400
- Bush EW, McKinsey TA (2010) Protein acetylation in the cardiorenal axis: the promise of histone deacetylase inhibitors. Circ Res 106:272–284
- Butler KV, Kalin J, Brochier C, Vistoli G, Langley B, Kozikowski AP (2010) Rational design and simple chemistry yield a superior, neuroprotective HDAC6 inhibitor, tubastatin A. J Am Chem Soc 132:10842–10846
- Cai R, Gu J, Sun H, Liu X, Mei W, Qi Y, Xue S, Ren S, Rabinowitz JE, Wang Y, Yeh ET, Cheng J (2015) Induction of SENP1 in myocardium contributes to abnormities of mitochondria and cardiomyopathy. J Mol Cell Cardiol 79:115–122
- Cao DJ, Wang ZV, Battiprolu PK, Jiang N, Morales CR, Kong Y, Rothermel BA, Gillette TG, Hill JA (2011) Histone deacetylase (HDAC) inhibitors attenuate cardiac hypertrophy by suppressing autophagy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108:4123–4128
- Cardinale JP, Sriramula S, Pariaut R, Guggilam A, Mariappan N, Elks CM, Francis J (2010) HDAC inhibition attenuates inflammatory, hypertrophic, and hypertensive responses in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Hypertension 56:437–444
- Cavasin MA, Demos-Davies K, Horn TR, Walker LA, Lemon DD, Birdsey N, Weiser-Evans MC, Harral J, Irwin DC, Anwar A, Yeager ME, Li M, Watson PA, Nemenoff RA, Buttrick PM, Stenmark KR, McKinsey TA (2012) Selective class I histone deacetylase inhibition suppresses hypoxia-induced cardiopulmonary remodeling through an antiproliferative mechanism. Circ Res 110:739–748
- Chakrabarti A, Oehme I, Witt O, Oliveira G, Sippl W, Romier C, Pierce RJ, Jung M (2015) HDAC8: a multifaceted target for therapeutic interventions. Trends Pharmacol Sci 36(7):481–92
- Chang S, McKinsey TA, Zhang CL, Richardson JA, Hill JA, Olson EN (2004) Histone deacetylases 5 and 9 govern responsiveness of the heart to a subset of stress signals and play redundant roles in heart development. Mol Cell Biol 24:8467–8476
- Chang L, Kiriazis H, Gao XM, Du XJ, El-Osta A (2011) Cardiac genes show contextual SWI/SNF interactions with distinguishable gene activities. Epigenetics 6:760–768
- Cho YK, Eom GH, Kee HJ, Kim HS, Choi WY, Nam KI, Ma JS, Kook H (2010) Sodium valproate, a histone deacetylase inhibitor, but not captopril, prevents right ventricular hypertrophy in rats. Circ J 74:760–770
- Choudhary C, Kumar C, Gnad F, Nielsen ML, Rehman M, Walther TC, Olsen JV, Mann M (2009) Lysine acetylation targets protein complexes and co-regulates major cellular functions. Science 325:834–840
- Choudhary C, Weinert BT, Nishida Y, Verdin E, Mann M (2014) The growing landscape of lysine acetylation links metabolism and cell signalling. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 15:536–550
- Cunliffe VT (2008) Eloquent silence: developmental functions of class I histone deacetylases. Curr Opin Genet Dev 18:404–410
- Davis FJ, Pillai JB, Gupta M, Gupta MP (2005) Concurrent opposite effects of trichostatin A, an inhibitor of histone deacetylases, on expression of alpha-MHC and cardiac tubulins: implication for gain in cardiac muscle contractility. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 288:H1477–H1490
- Demos-Davies KM, Ferguson BS, Cavasin MA, Mahaffey JH, Williams SM, Spiltoir JI, Schuetze KB, Horn TR, Chen B, Ferrara C, Scellini B, Piroddi N, Tesi C, Poggesi C, Jeong MY, McKinsey TA (2014) HDAC6 contributes to pathological responses of heart and skeletal muscle to chronic angiotensin-II signaling. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 307:H252–H258
- Eom GH, Nam YS, Oh JG, Choe N, Min HK, Yoo EK, Kang G, Nguyen VH, Min JJ, Kim JK, Lee IK, Bassel-Duby R, Olson EN, Park WJ, Kook H (2014) Regulation of acetylation of histone deacetylase 2 by p300/CBP-associated factor/histone deacetylase 5 in the development of cardiac hypertrophy. Circ Res 114:1133–1143
- Fass DM, Shah R, Ghosh B, Hennig K, Norton S, Zhao WN, Reis SA, Klein PS, Mazitschek R, Maglathlin RL, Lewis TA, Haggarty SJ (2010) Effect of inhibiting histone deacetylase with

short-chain carboxylic acids and their hydroxamic acid analogs on vertebrate development and neuronal chromatin. ACS Med Chem Lett 2:39–42

- Felsenfeld G, Groudine M (2003) Controlling the double helix. Nature 421:448-453
- Ferguson BS, McKinsey TA (2015) Non-sirtuin histone deacetylases in the control of cardiac aging. J Mol Cell Cardiol 83:14–20
- Ferguson BS, Harrison BC, Jeong MY, Reid BG, Wempe MF, Wagner FF, Holson EB, McKinsey TA (2013) Signal-dependent repression of DUSP5 by class I HDACs controls nuclear ERK activity and cardiomyocyte hypertrophy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110:9806–9811
- Fleming CL, Ashton TD, Gaur V, McGee SL, Pfeffer FM (2014) Improved synthesis and structural reassignment of MC1568: a class IIa selective HDAC inhibitor. J Med Chem 57:1132–1135
- Foster DB, Liu T, Rucker J, O'Meally RN, Devine LR, Cole RN, O'Rourke B (2013) The cardiac acetyl-lysine proteome. PLoS One 8, e67513
- Gallo P, Latronico MV, Gallo P, Grimaldi S, Borgia F, Todaro M, Jones P, Gallinari P, De FR, Ciliberto G, Steinkuhler C, Esposito G, Condorelli G (2008) Inhibition of class I histone deacetylase with an apicidin derivative prevents cardiac hypertrophy and failure. Cardiovasc Res 80:416–424
- Gao L, Cueto MA, Asselbergs F, Atadja P (2002) Cloning and functional characterization of HDAC11, a novel member of the human histone deacetylase family. J Biol Chem 277:25748–25755
- Gregoretti IV, Lee YM, Goodson HV (2004) Molecular evolution of the histone deacetylase family: functional implications of phylogenetic analysis. J Mol Biol 338:17–31
- Haldar SM, McKinsey TA (2014) BET-ting on chromatin-based therapeutics for heart failure. J Mol Cell Cardiol 74:98–102
- Harrison BC, Roberts CR, Hood DB, Sweeney M, Gould JM, Bush EW, McKinsey TA (2004) The CRM1 nuclear export receptor controls pathological cardiac gene expression. Mol Cell Biol 24:10636–10649
- Hughes JR, Roberts N, McGowan S, Hay D, Giannoulatou E, Lynch M, De Gobbi GM, Taylor S, Gibbons R, Higgs DR (2014) Analysis of hundreds of cis-regulatory landscapes at high resolution in a single, high-throughput experiment. Nat Genet 46:205–212
- Jenuwein T, Allis CD (2001) Translating the histone code. Science 293:1074-1080
- Jones P, Altamura S, De Francesco R, Gallinari P, Lahm A, Neddermann P, Rowley M, Serafini S, Steinkuhler C (2008) Probing the elusive catalytic activity of vertebrate class IIa histone deacetylases. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 18:1814–1819
- Kang SH, Seok YM, Song MJ, Lee HA, Kurz T, Kim I (2015) Histone deacetylase inhibition attenuates cardiac hypertrophy and fibrosis through acetylation of mineralocorticoid receptor in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Mol Pharmacol 87:782–791
- Kee HJ, Sohn IS, Nam KI, Park JE, Qian YR, Yin Z, Ahn Y, Jeong MH, Bang YJ, Kim N, Kim JK, Kim KK, Epstein JA, Kook H (2006) Inhibition of histone deacetylation blocks cardiac hypertrophy induced by angiotensin II infusion and aortic banding. Circulation 113:51–59
- Kee HJ, Eom GH, Joung H, Shin S, Kim JR, Cho YK, Choe N, Sim BW, Jo D, Jeong MH, Kim KK, Seo JS, Kook H (2008) Activation of histone deacetylase 2 by inducible heat shock protein 70 in cardiac hypertrophy. Circ Res 103:1259–1269
- Kee HJ, Bae EH, Park S, Lee KE, Suh SH, Kim SW, Jeong MH (2013) HDAC inhibition suppresses cardiac hypertrophy and fibrosis in DOCA-salt hypertensive rats via regulation of HDAC6/HDAC8 enzyme activity. Kidney Blood Press Res 37:229–239
- Kelly RD, Cowley SM (2013) The physiological roles of histone deacetylase (HDAC) 1 and 2: complex co-stars with multiple leading parts. Biochem Soc Trans 41:741–749
- Kho C, Lee A, Jeong D, Oh JG, Chaanine AH, Kizana E, Park WJ, Hajjar RJ (2011) SUMO1dependent modulation of SERCA2a in heart failure. Nature 477:601–605
- Kim EY, Chen L, Ma Y, Yu W, Chang J, Moskowitz IP, Wang J (2012) Enhanced desumoylation in murine hearts by overexpressed SENP2 leads to congenital heart defects and cardiac dysfunction. J Mol Cell Cardiol 52:638–649
- Lahm A, Paolini C, Pallaoro M, Nardi MC, Jones P, Neddermann P, Sambucini S, Bottomley MJ, Lo SP, Carfi A, Koch U, De FR, Steinkuhler C, Gallinari P (2007) Unraveling the hidden catalytic activity of vertebrate class IIa histone deacetylases. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:17335–17340

- Lemon DD, Horn TR, Cavasin MA, Jeong MY, Haubold KW, Long CS, Irwin DC, McCune SA, Chung E, Leinwand LA, McKinsey TA (2011) Cardiac HDAC6 catalytic activity is induced in response to chronic hypertension. J Mol Cell Cardiol 51:41–50
- Lemon DD, Harrison BC, Horn TR, Stratton MS, Ferguson BS, Wempe MF, McKinsey TA (2015) Promiscuous actions of small molecule inhibitors of the protein kinase D-class IIa HDAC axis in striated muscle. FEBS Lett 589:1080–1088
- Li J, Chen S, Cleary RA, Wang R, Gannon OJ, Seto E, Tang DD (2014) Histone deacetylase 8 regulates cortactin deacetylation and contraction in smooth muscle tissues. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 307:C288–C295
- Liu Y, Peng L, Seto E, Huang S, Qiu Y (2012) Modulation of histone deacetylase 6 (HDAC6) nuclear import and tubulin deacetylase activity through acetylation. J Biol Chem 287:29168–29174
- Lobera M, Madauss KP, Pohlhaus DT, Wright QG, Trocha M, Schmidt DR, Baloglu E, Trump RP, Head MS, Hofmann GA, Murray-Thompson M, Schwartz B, Chakravorty S, Wu Z, Mander PK, Kruidenier L, Reid RA, Burkhart W, Turunen BJ, Rong JX, Wagner C, Moyer MB, Wells C, Hong X, Moore JT, Williams JD, Soler D, Ghosh S, Nolan MA (2013) Selective class IIa histone deacetylase inhibition via a nonchelating zinc-binding group. Nat Chem Biol 9:319–325
- Lundby A, Lage K, Weinert BT, Bekker-Jensen DB, Secher A, Skovgaard T, Kelstrup CD, Dmytriyev A, Choudhary C, Lundby C, Olsen JV (2012) Proteomic analysis of lysine acetylation sites in rat tissues reveals organ specificity and subcellular patterns. Cell Rep 2:419–431
- Mai A, Massa S, Pezzi R, Simeoni S, Rotili D, Nebbioso A, Scognamiglio A, Altucci L, Loidl P, Brosch G (2005) Class II (IIa)-selective histone deacetylase inhibitors. 1. Synthesis and biological evaluation of novel (aryloxopropenyl)pyrrolyl hydroxyamides. J Med Chem 48:3344–3353
- Mani SK, Kern CB, Kimbrough D, Addy B, Kasiganesan H, Rivers WT, Patel RK, Chou JC, Spinale FG, Mukherjee R, Menick DR (2015) Inhibition of class I histone deacetylase activity represses matrix metalloproteinase-2 and -9 expression and preserves LV function postmyocardial infarction. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 308:H1391–H1401
- Matsuyama A, Shimazu T, Sumida Y, Saito A, Yoshimatsu Y, Seigneurin-Berny D, Osada H, Komatsu Y, Nishino N, Khochbin S, Horinouchi S, Yoshida M (2002) In vivo destabilization of dynamic microtubules by HDAC6-mediated deacetylation. EMBO J 21:6820–6831
- McKinsey TA (2007) Derepression of pathological cardiac genes by members of the CaM kinase superfamily. Cardiovasc Res 73:667–677
- McKinsey TA (2012) Therapeutic potential for HDAC inhibitors in the heart. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 52:303–319
- McKinsey TA, Olson EN (2004) Dual roles of histone deacetylases in the control of cardiac growth. Novartis Found Symp 259:132–141
- McLendon PM, Ferguson BS, Osinska H, Bhuiyan MS, James J, McKinsey TA, Robbins J (2014) Tubulin hyperacetylation is adaptive in cardiac proteotoxicity by promoting autophagy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111:E5178–E5186
- McMurray JJ, Packer M, Desai AS, Gong J, Lefkowitz MP, Rizkala AR, Rouleau JL, Shi VC, Solomon SD, Swedberg K, Zile MR (2014) Angiotensin-neprilysin inhibition versus enalapril in heart failure. N Engl J Med 371:993–1004
- Meredith EL, Beattie K, Burgis R, Capparelli M, Chapo J, Dipietro L, Gamber G, Enyedy I, Hood DB, Hosagrahara V, Jewell C, Koch KA, Lee W, Lemon DD, McKinsey TA, Miranda K, Pagratis N, Phan D, Plato C, Rao C, Rozhitskaya O, Soldermann N, Springer C, van Eis M, Vega RB, Yan W, Zhu Q, Monovich LG (2010a) Identification of potent and selective amidobi-pyridyl inhibitors of protein kinase D. J Med Chem 53:5422–5438
- Meredith EL, Ardayfio O, Beattie K, Dobler MR, Enyedy I, Gaul C, Hosagrahara V, Jewell C, Koch K, Lee W, Lehmann H, McKinsey TA, Miranda K, Pagratis N, Pancost M, Patnaik A, Phan D, Plato C, Qian M, Rajaraman V, Rao C, Rozhitskaya O, Ruppen T, Shi J, Siska SJ, Springer C, van Eis M, Vega RB, von Matt A, Yang L, Yoon T, Zhang JH, Zhu N, Monovich LG (2010b) Identification of orally available naphthyridine protein kinase D inhibitors. J Med Chem 53:5400–5421
- Monovich L, Vega RB, Meredith E, Miranda K, Rao C, Capparelli M, Lemon DD, Phan D, Koch KA, Chapo JA, Hood DB, McKinsey TA (2010) A novel kinase inhibitor establishes a

predominant role for protein kinase D as a cardiac class IIa histone deacetylase kinase. FEBS Lett 584:631-637

- Montgomery RL, Davis CA, Potthoff MJ, Haberland M, Fielitz J, Qi X, Hill JA, Richardson JA, Olson EN (2007) Histone deacetylases 1 and 2 redundantly regulate cardiac morphogenesis, growth, and contractility. Genes Dev 21:1790–1802
- Montgomery RL, Potthoff MJ, Haberland M, Qi X, Matsuzaki S, Humphries KM, Richardson JA, Bassel-Duby R, Olson EN (2008) Maintenance of cardiac energy metabolism by histone deacetylase 3 in mice. J Clin Invest 118:3588–3597
- Mozaffarian D, Benjamin EJ, Go AS, Arnett DK, Blaha MJ, Cushman M, de Ferranti S, Despres JP, Fullerton HJ, Howard VJ, Huffman MD, Judd SE, Kissela BM, Lackland DT, Lichtman JH, Lisabeth LD, Liu S, Mackey RH, Matchar DB, McGuire DK, Mohler ER III, Moy CS, Muntner P, Mussolino ME, Nasir K, Neumar RW, Nichol G, Palaniappan L, Pandey DK, Reeves MJ, Rodriguez CJ, Sorlie PD, Stein J, Towfighi A, Turan TN, Virani SS, Willey JZ, Woo D, Yeh RW, Turner MB (2015) Heart disease and stroke statistics--2015 update: a report from the American Heart Association. Circulation 131:e29–e322
- Newman JC, He W, Verdin E (2012) Mitochondrial protein acylation and intermediary metabolism: regulation by sirtuins and implications for metabolic disease. J Biol Chem 287:42436–42443
- Nural-Guvener HF, Zakharova L, Nimlos J, Popovic S, Mastroeni D, Gaballa MA (2014) HDAC class I inhibitor, Mocetinostat, reverses cardiac fibrosis in heart failure and diminishes CD90+ cardiac myofibroblast activation. Fibrogenesis Tissue Repair 7:10
- Oehme I, Lodrini M, Brady NR, Witt O (2013a) Histone deacetylase 10-promoted autophagy as a druggable point of interference to improve the treatment response of advanced neuroblastomas. Autophagy 9:2163–2165
- Oehme I, Linke JP, Bock BC, Milde T, Lodrini M, Hartenstein B, Wiegand I, Eckert C, Roth W, Kool M, Kaden S, Grone HJ, Schulte JH, Lindner S, Hamacher-Brady A, Brady NR, Deubzer HE, Witt O (2013b) Histone deacetylase 10 promotes autophagy-mediated cell survival. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110:E2592–E2601
- Olson DE, Sleiman SF, Bourassa MW, Wagner FF, Gale JP, Zhang YL, Ratan RR, Holson EB (2015) Hydroxamate-based histone deacetylase inhibitors can protect neurons from oxidative stress via a histone deacetylase-independent catalase-like mechanism. Chem Biol 22:439–445
- Ooi JY, Tuano NK, Rafehi H, Gao XM, Ziemann M, Du XJ, El-Osta A (2015) HDAC inhibition attenuates cardiac hypertrophy by acetylation and deacetylation of target genes. Epigenetics 10:418–430
- Papait R, Cattaneo P, Kunderfranco P, Greco C, Carullo P, Guffanti A, Vigano V, Stirparo GG, Latronico MV, Hasenfuss G, Chen J, Condorelli G (2013) Genome-wide analysis of histone marks identifying an epigenetic signature of promoters and enhancers underlying cardiac hypertrophy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110:20164–20169
- Samant SA, Pillai VB, Sundaresan NR, Shroff SG, Gupta MP (2015) Histone Deacetylase 3 (HDAC3)-dependent reversible lysine acetylation of cardiac myosin heavy chain isoforms modulates their enzymatic and motor activity. J Biol Chem 290:15559–15569
- Sayed D, He M, Yang Z, Lin L, Abdellatif M (2013) Transcriptional regulation patterns revealed by high resolution chromatin immunoprecipitation during cardiac hypertrophy. J Biol Chem 288:2546–2558
- Scholz C, Weinert BT, Wagner SA, Beli P, Miyake Y, Qi J, Jensen LJ, Streicher W, McCarthy AR, Westwood NJ, Lain S, Cox J, Matthias P, Mann M, Bradner JE, Choudhary C (2015) Acetylation site specificities of lysine deacetylase inhibitors in human cells. Nat Biotechnol 33:415–423
- Schubeler D, MacAlpine DM, Scalzo D, Wirbelauer C, Kooperberg C, van Leeuwen F, Gottschling DE, O'Neill LP, Turner BM, Delrow J, Bell SP, Groudine M (2004) The histone modification pattern of active genes revealed through genome-wide chromatin analysis of a higher eukaryote. Genes Dev 18:1263–1271
- Shahbazian MD, Grunstein M (2007) Functions of site-specific histone acetylation and deacetylation. Annu Rev Biochem 76:75–100
- Sharifi-Sanjani M, Shoushtari AH, Quiroz M, Baust J, Sestito SF, Mosher M, Ross M, McTiernan CF, St Croix CM, Bilonick RA, Champion HC, Isenberg JS (2014) Cardiac CD47 drives left

ventricular heart failure through Ca2+-CaMKII-regulated induction of HDAC3. J Am Heart Assoc 3:e000670

- Shiio Y, Eisenman RN (2003) Histone sumoylation is associated with transcriptional repression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:13225–13230
- Spiltoir JI, Stratton MS, Cavasin MA, Demos-Davies K, Reid BG, Qi J, Bradner JE, McKinsey TA (2013) BET acetyl-lysine binding proteins control pathological cardiac hypertrophy. J Mol Cell Cardiol 63:175–179
- Sun Z, Singh N, Mullican SE, Everett LJ, Li L, Yuan L, Liu X, Epstein JA, Lazar MA (2011) Dietinduced lethality due to deletion of the Hdac3 gene in heart and skeletal muscle. J Biol Chem 286:33301–33309
- Sun Z, Feng D, Fang B, Mullican SE, You SH, Lim HW, Everett LJ, Nabel CS, Li Y, Selvakumaran V, Won KJ, Lazar MA (2013) Deacetylase-independent function of HDAC3 in transcription and metabolism requires nuclear receptor corepressor. Mol Cell 52:769–782
- Tan M, Luo H, Lee S, Jin F, Yang JS, Montellier E, Buchou T, Cheng Z, Rousseaux S, Rajagopal N, Lu Z, Ye Z, Zhu Q, Wysocka J, Ye Y, Khochbin S, Ren B, Zhao Y (2011) Identification of 67 histone marks and histone lysine crotonylation as a new type of histone modification. Cell 146:1016–1028
- Terbach N, Williams RS (2009) Structure-function studies for the panacea, valproic acid. Biochem Soc Trans 37:1126–1132
- Tilemann L, Lee A, Ishikawa K, Aguero J, Rapti K, Santos-Gallego C, Kohlbrenner E, Fish KM, Kho C, & Hajjar RJ (2013) SUMO-1 gene transfer improves cardiac function in a large-animal model of heart failure. Sci Transl Med 5: 211ra159.
- Valenzuela-Fernandez A, Cabrero JR, Serrador JM, Sanchez-Madrid F (2008) HDAC6: a key regulator of cytoskeleton, cell migration and cell-cell interactions. Trends Cell Biol 18:291–297
- Vega RB, Harrison BC, Meadows E, Roberts CR, Papst PJ, Olson EN, McKinsey TA (2004) Protein kinases C and D mediate agonist-dependent cardiac hypertrophy through nuclear export of histone deacetylase 5. Mol Cell Biol 24:8374–8385
- Wagner FF, Weiwer M, Lewis MC, Holson EB (2013) Small molecule inhibitors of zinc-dependent histone deacetylases. Neurotherapeutics 10:589–604
- Wang X, Osinska H, Klevitsky R, Gerdes AM, Nieman M, Lorenz J, Hewett T, Robbins J (2001) Expression of R120G-alphaB-crystallin causes aberrant desmin and alphaB-crystallin aggregation and cardiomyopathy in mice. Circ Res 89:84–91
- Wang Y, Fischle W, Cheung W, Jacobs S, Khorasanizadeh S, Allis CD (2004) Beyond the double helix: writing and reading the histone code. Novartis Found Symp 259:3–17
- Wang S, Sun H, Ma J, Zang C, Wang C, Wang J, Tang Q, Meyer CA, Zhang Y, Liu XS (2013) Target analysis by integration of transcriptome and ChIP-seq data with BETA. Nat Protoc 8:2502–2515
- West AC, Johnstone RW (2014) New and emerging HDAC inhibitors for cancer treatment. J Clin Invest 124:30–39
- Williams SM, Golden-Mason L, Ferguson BS, Schuetze KB, Cavasin MA, Demos-Davies K, Yeager ME, Stenmark KR, McKinsey TA (2014) Class I HDACs regulate angiotensin II-dependent cardiac fibrosis via fibroblasts and circulating fibrocytes. J Mol Cell Cardiol 67:112–125
- Wilson BJ, Tremblay AM, Deblois G, Sylvain-Drolet G, Giguere V (2010) An acetylation switch modulates the transcriptional activity of estrogen-related receptor alpha. Mol Endocrinol 24:1349–1358
- Xie Z, Dai J, Dai L, Tan M, Cheng Z, Wu Y, Boeke JD, Zhao Y (2012) Lysine succinylation and lysine malonylation in histones. Mol Cell Proteomics 11:100–107
- Xie M, Burchfield JS, Hill JA (2013) Pathological ventricular remodeling: therapies: part 2 of 2. Circulation 128:1021–1030
- Yang XJ, Seto E (2008) Lysine acetylation: codified crosstalk with other posttranslational modifications. Mol Cell 31:449–461

- Zhang CL, McKinsey TA, Chang S, Antos CL, Hill JA, Olson EN (2002) Class II histone deacetylases act as signal-responsive repressors of cardiac hypertrophy. Cell 110:479–488
- Zhang D, Wu CT, Qi X, Meijering RA, Hoogstra-Berends F, Tadevosyan A, Cubukcuoglu DG, Durdu S, Akar AR, Sibon OC, Nattel S, Henning RH, Brundel BJ (2014) Activation of histone deacetylase-6 induces contractile dysfunction through derailment of alpha-tubulin proteostasis in experimental and human atrial fibrillation. Circulation 129:346–358
- Zhao L, Chen CN, Hajji N, Oliver E, Cotroneo E, Wharton J, Wang D, Li M, McKinsey TA, Stenmark KR, Wilkins MR (2012) Histone deacetylation inhibition in pulmonary hypertension: therapeutic potential of valproic acid and suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid. Circulation 126:455–467



# Cardiac Autophagy and Its Regulation by Reversible Protein Acetylation

Min Xie and Joseph A. Hill

# Contents

10.1	Introduction		232
10.2	Autophagy		233
10.3	Molecular Mechanisms of Autophagy		234
	10.3.1	Molecular Processes of Autophagy	234
	10.3.2	Molecular Signaling Pathways Governing Autophagy	235
10.4	Regulation of Autophagy by Protein Acetylation		236
	10.4.1	Epigenetic Regulation of Autophagy	236
	10.4.2	HATs and HDACs Operate at Multiple Levels Within the Autophagy	
		Process	237
	10.4.3	Level I, Regulating Upstream Signaling Pathways: Acetylation of Proteins	
		in the mTOR Pathway	240
	10.4.4	Level II, Regulation of ATG Proteins at the Transcriptional Level:	
		Acetylation of FoxO Transcription Factors	241
	10.4.5	Level III, Direct Regulation of ATG Activity by Modification	
		of the Acetylation Status of Core Components	242
	10.4.6	Level IV, Regulation of Autophagosome Trafficking and Selective	
		Autophagy	245
10.5	Autophagy in Cardiovascular Disease and Its Regulation by Acetylation		247
	10.5.1	Autophagy in the Transition from Hypertrophy to Heart Failure	248
	10.5.2	Autophagy in Ischemic Heart Disease: Ischemia/Reperfusion Injury	251
	10.5.3	Autophagy in Anticancer Drug-Induced Cardiomyopathy	253
	10.5.4	Autophagy in Glycogen Storage Disease-Related Cardiomyopathy	254
10.6	.6 Perspectives		254
References			255

M. Xie, MD, PhD

Division of Cardiovascular Disease, University of Alabama at Birmingham, 297 MCLM Basic Health Science Bldg, 1918 University Blvd, Birmingham, AL 35233–2008, USA

J.A. Hill, MD, PhD (🖂)

UT Southwestern Medical Center, 6000 Harry Hines Blvd, Dallas, TX 75390-8573, USA e-mail: Joseph.Hill@UTSouthwestern.edu

J. Backs, T.A. McKinsey (eds.), *Epigenetics in Cardiac Disease*, Cardiac and Vascular Biology 1, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-41457-7\_10

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

#### Abstract

Autophagy is an evolutionarily conserved and strictly regulated process implicated in the pathogenesis of multiple cardiovascular diseases. Autophagy is a multi-step process regulated by an orchestrated profile of molecular signaling pathways. Post-translational protein modifications, including reversible acetylation, regulate autophagy at the levels of signaling cascades, autophagy-related protein expression, and direct acetylation and trafficking of autophagic components. Autophagy has been implicated in cardiac hypertrophy, heart failure, ischemia/reperfusion injury, anticancer drug-induced cardiomyopathy and glycogen storage diseases. Manipulations of autophagy by HDAC inhibition is a novel strategy worthy of consideration in the treatment of these common cardiovascular diseases.

# 10.1 Introduction

Autophagy is an evolutionarily conserved process of intracellular recycling of defective proteins and organelles (Klionsky 2007). Autophagy was initially described as lysosome-dependent degradation of cytoplasmic components in the setting of starvation, serving to maintain intracellular energy homeostasis when external energy resources are limited (Klionsky 2007). Now, over the past 10–15 years, autophagy has been associated with multiple physiological processes, including the response to a wide range of extracellular or intracellular stress factors, including growth factor deprivation, ER stress, presence of damaged organelles and aggregated proteins, and cellular and tissue remodeling during development (Choi et al. 2013).

In addition, this evolutionarily ancient cellular process is associated with many human diseases, including heart disease (Lavandero et al. 2015). Further, autophagy is central to cellular defense against infection by various pathogens, as well as antigen processing (Choi et al. 2013). Alterations in autophagic activity have been linked to a variety of pathological conditions and can be either adaptive or maladaptive, depending on the context (Mizushima et al. 2008; Kroemer and Levine 2008). In the heart, autophagy has been implicated in the pathogenesis of heart failure, ischemia/reperfusion injury, glycogen storage disease, and atherosclerosis (Lavandero et al. 2015; Xie et al. 2011). Elucidation of the molecular underpinnings of the autophagy pathway, as well as their regulation, is essential to delineate precise mechanisms underlying cardiovascular disease and to devise novel therapies.

Autophagy can be triggered by pathological stimuli relevant to heart disease, including ischemia (Xie et al. 2014), mechanical stress (Cao et al. 2011), and metabolic derangement (Hariharan et al. 2010, 2011; Wang et al. 2013). These triggers provoke changes at transcriptional, translational, and posttranslational levels which culminate in altered autophagic flux (Banreti et al. 2013).

Among the posttranslational modifications governing autophagy are phosphorylation, ubiquitination, sumoylation, and acetylation. In fact, posttranslational



**Fig. 10.1** Diagram of simplified autophagy pathway. The first step of the autophagic pathway is termed *nucleation*, a process regulated by PI3K and ULK1. The *elongation* step (phagophore expansion, autophagosome maturation and cargo recruitment) is accomplished by activation of E1-like (ATG7) and E2-like (ATG3). The final step is accomplished by the *fusion* of the autophagosome with a lysosome forming an autolysosome. The proteolytic products are recycled for energy production or providing building blocks for new organelles (Adapted from reference Xie et al. (2011))

regulation of autophagy has garnered attention recently for potential therapeutic implications. Arguably chief among them is reversible protein acetylation (Banreti et al. 2013). The emergence of histone deacetylase (HDAC) inhibitors as efficacious anticancer agents has heightened interest in potential translation within the realm of cardiovascular disease.

# 10.2 Autophagy

Autophagy is a ubiquitous catabolic process. The name derives from the Greek *auto*- "self" and *phagein* "to eat," which is an apt description of this process of catabolism of unnecessary or dysfunctional cellular components (Klionsky 2007). Degradation of these components promotes cell survival during starvation by maintaining cellular energy levels and, at the same time, eliminating otherwise toxic elements within the cytoplasm (Klionsky 2007). During the process of autophagic flux, targeted cytoplasmic constituents are isolated from the rest of the cell within a double-membrane vesicle known as an autophagosome. Next, the autophagosome fuses with a lysosome, releasing into the now autolysosome acidic pH and acid hydrolases. As a result, the sequestered cargo is degraded and repurposed for new functions within the cell (Klionsky 2007) (Fig. 10.1). Three different forms of autophagy have been described: macroautophagy, microautophagy, and chaperone-mediated autophagy (Lavandero et al. 2013). In the context of disease, autophagy can serve as an adaptive response to stress, promoting survival, whereas in other

cases, it appears to promote disease progression (Lavandero et al. 2015; Mizushima et al. 2008; Kroemer and Levine 2008; Rifki and Hill 2012).

*Macroautophagy* is the best characterized pathway, serving mainly to clear damaged organelles and damaged or aggregated proteins (Klionsky 2007). Molecular mechanisms of macroautophagy are well delineated and will be detailed below.

*Microautophagy*, in contrast, involves the engulfment of cytoplasmic material directly into the lysosome via invagination of the lysosomal membrane (Mijaljica et al. 2011).

*Chaperone-mediated autophagy* (CMA) involves the recognition of a specific group of proteins by the heat shock cognate 70 (hsc70)-containing complex to form a CMA-substrate/chaperone complex (Bandyopadhyay et al. 2008). This complex is transported to a lysosomal membrane-bound protein that binds the CMA receptor. Then, the substrate protein is unfolded and translocated across the lysosome membrane with the assistance of the lysosomal hsc70 chaperone (Bandyopadhyay et al. 2008). CMA is unique in that it translocates protein material in a one-by-one manner, and it is selective in terms of the proteins transported across the lysosomal barrier.

# 10.3 Molecular Mechanisms of Autophagy

#### 10.3.1 Molecular Processes of Autophagy

Macroautophagy, hereafter termed autophagy, involves the formation of a double membrane that engulfs cytoplasmic substrates, resulting in an organelle known as the autophagosome. Overall, the process has been divided into specific steps, *viz.* induction, cargo recognition and selection, vesicle formation, autophagosome-vacuole fusion, breakdown of cargo, and release of the degradation products into the cytosol (Fig. 10.1). The core autophagic machinery consists of evolutionarily conserved signaling modules encoded by *autophagy-related (ATG)* genes (Mizushima et al. 2008; He and Klionsky 2009; Nakatogawa et al. 2009).

The first step of the autophagic pathway is termed *nucleation*, a process promoted by class III PI3K (phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase) activity. The PI3K complex comprises vacuolar protein sorting 34 (VPS34)-VPS15-VPS30/ATG6-ATG14 and the mammalian counterpart (including PIK3C3/VPS34-PIK3R4/VPS15-BECN1-ATG14), which promotes formation of the membrane compartment phagophore from intracellular membrane sources or via *de novo* membrane synthesis.

Next, the *elongation* step (phagophore expansion, autophagosome maturation, and cargo engulfment) is accomplished by activation of two parallel pathways: in one, the E1-like enzyme ATG7 mediates the conjugation of ATG12 to ATG5, which then couples with ATG16. This complex is required for autophagosome formation and ultimately dissociates from the vacuole upon maturation. In the other cascade, microtubule-associated protein 1 light chain 3 (LC3/ATG8) is cleaved by ATG4, producing the so-called LC3-I isoform. LC3-I is subsequently activated by conjugation to phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) by means of its interaction with ATG7 and ATG3 (E2-like enzymes), resulting in LC3-II (Kroemer et al. 2010; Ravikumar et al. 2010). The ubiquitin-like protein conjugation cascades involve ATG3, ATG4, ATG5, ATG7,

ATG8 (and the mammalian LC3 and GABA-A receptor-associated protein (GABARAP) subfamilies), ATG10, ATG12, and ATG16 (mammalian ATG16L1). LC3-II levels are commonly tracked markers of autophagy, as the molecule remains attached to the autophagosome membrane until degradation is completed (Mizushima and Klionsky 2007). LC3-II can also be detected as discrete puncta on immunofluorescence analysis, indicating autophagosome abundance (Choi et al. 2013).

The final step is accomplished by the *fusion* of the autophagosome with a lysosome, forming an autolysosome. Degradation of the autolysosomal cargo is accomplished by several lysosomal hydrolases, and the catabolized products are released into the cytosol and recycled for nutrient and/or structural needs (Ravikumar et al. 2010). This step also involves recycling of components between the phagophore, the phagophore assembly sites, and membrane donor sites. A recycling protein complex consists of ATG2, ATG9, ATG18, and ATG21 and the mammalian homologs, including WD repeat domain phosphoinositide-interacting protein1/2 (WIPI1/2).

#### 10.3.2 Molecular Signaling Pathways Governing Autophagy

Environmental stimuli signal to the autophagic machinery via several regulatory factors. In the fed state, the abundance of nutrients, circulating insulin, and growth factors triggers activation of class I phosphatidylinositol-3-kinases (PI3K-I). This, in turn, leads to phosphorylation and activation of AKT, a nexus of metabolic signaling in many cell types. AKT activates mTOR (mechanistic target of rapamycin), including the isoform mTORC1, which negatively regulates a complex consisting of UNC-51-like kinase 1 (ULK1), ATG13, ATG101, and FIP200. This, in turn, suppresses autophagy by inhibiting nucleation of a macromolecular complex comprising class III PI3K/vacuolar protein sorting 34 (VPS34) (Kroemer et al. 2010; Ravikumar et al. 2010) (Fig. 10.2).

In states of nutrient deprivation, by contrast, mTOR is inhibited, and the autophagic flux pathway is released from repression (Levine and Kroemer 2008). This permits activation of ULK1, a crucial initiating step in autophagy. Consistent with this, the class III PI3K-selective inhibitor 3-methyladenine (3-MA) blocks autophagy (Mizushima and Klionsky 2007). The Beclin 1-interacting complex, a regulatory platform, consists of Beclin 1, B-cell lymphoma 2 (BCL-2) family proteins (inhibiting autophagy), and the class III phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and ATG14L (required for autophagy). Activation of this complex generates phosphatidylinositol-3-phosphate, which promotes autophagosomal membrane nucleation (Mizushima and Klionsky 2007).

Apart from mTOR, AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) is activated by depletion of intracellular nutrient stores, activating ULK1 and up-regulating autophagy (Gottlieb and Mentzer 2010). Alternatively, in the setting of pathologic stress (e.g., starvation, ischemia, hypoxia, oxidative stress, mitochondrial damage, chemotherapeutic drugs), a Beclin 1/PI3K-III complex is formed promoting initiation of autophagy (Kroemer et al. 2010). Disrupting the interaction of Beclin 1 with the Vps34 complex, or depleting Beclin 1 by genetic silencing, can significantly diminish progression of the autophagic cascade (Yang and Klionsky 2010).



**Fig. 10.2** Upstream signals regulating autophagy. Autophagy is regulated by mTOR-ULK1, 1,4,5-inositol trisphosphate (IP3) and ITPR (inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptor), transcription factor TP53, cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase A (PKA), glycogen synthase kinase 3B (GSK3B), nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD, through sirtuins (SIRT)), and also histone acetyltransferases (HATs) or histone deacetylases (HDACs)

Autophagy can also be regulated by 1,4,5-trisphosphate (IP3) and ITPR (inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptor), the transcription factor TP53, cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase A (PKA), and glycogen synthase kinase 3B (GSK3B). Reversible protein acetylation is a more recently recognized mechanism governing autophagy, mediated by nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD), sirtuins (SIRT), histone acetyltransferases (HATs), and histone deacetylases (HDACs) (Lavandero et al. 2013) (Fig. 10.2).

# 10.4 Regulation of Autophagy by Protein Acetylation

#### 10.4.1 Epigenetic Regulation of Autophagy

Epigenetic control has emerged as a major mechanism governing a wide range of heart diseases (Gillette and Hill 2015). As part of this, posttranslational modifications (PTMs) are central to the regulation of eukaryotic proteins. Among the major PTMs are tyrosine or serine/threonine phosphorylation, lysine and N-terminal acetylation, lysine/arginine methylation, sumoylation, and ubiquitination (Banreti et al. 2013). Recently, a number of examples have emerged of the regulation of autophagy by PTMs other than acetylation. As noted above, it is well known that phosphorylation events have essential roles in the initiation of autophagy. For example, the ATG1-ATG13 complex is actively regulated by phosphorylation mediated by mTOR and PKA.

PTMs that are analogous to ubiquitination are also crucial for autophagy. Two major ubiquitin-like conjugation systems are involved in the elongation of the phagophore. First, ATG12 is conjugated to ATG5 by the E2-like protein ATG10, whereas LC3 is conjugated to phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) by ATG3 (Ravikumar et al. 2010; McEwan and Dikic 2011). Lysine side chains of proteins involved in autophagy can be targeted by multiple, mutually exclusive PTMs targeting the same lysine and providing an opportunity for cross-regulation (Yang and Seto 2008).

That being said, the importance of acetylation in autophagy control has been recognized only recently. While initially identified in histones 40 years ago, lysine acetylation also regulates many nonhistone proteins, including transcription factors and cytoplasmic proteins regulating cytoskeleton dynamics, energy metabolism, and endocytosis (Yang and Seto 2008; Glozak et al. 2005). Recent studies highlight the importance of protein acetylation in autophagy control (Lavandero et al. 2015; Xie et al. 2014; Cao et al. 2011; Banreti et al. 2013). Here, we summarize the emerging evidence for acetylation-mediated control of autophagy (mostly in yeast and cancer cells) and discuss the implications in the context of human and animal models of cardiovascular disease.

# 10.4.2 HATs and HDACs Operate at Multiple Levels Within the Autophagy Process

Protein acetylation and deacetylation are accomplished by HATs or HDACs, targeting a wide range of proteins within the cell (Yang and Seto 2008). HATs catalyze the transfer an acetyl-group from AcCoA (acetyl-coenzyme A) to the  $\varepsilon$ -amino group of a lysine residue on a protein; they are sometimes termed "writers." Conversely, HDACs, sometimes called "erasers," remove acetyl groups from proteins. As the PTMs occur on many proteins, not just histones, it is expected that with time the terms lysine acetyltransferase (KAT) and lysine deacetylases (KDAC) will emerge in common use.

There are three major classes of HATs: the E1A binding protein p300 (EP300/ CREBBP (cAMP-response element binding protein)) family, the MYST family, and the KAT2/GCN5 (general control nonderepressible 5)-related N-acetyltransferases (GNAT) family. As mentioned in other chapters, HDACs are classified into four groups. The class I, IIa, IIb, and IV enzymes are zinc dependent, whereas the class III family comprises sirtuins which use NAD<sup>+</sup> as a cofactor to catalyze deacetylation reactions (Sadoul et al. 2011).

Data from yeast and mammalian cells have shown that HATs and HDACs are involved in the regulation of autophagic activity. Using gain- and loss-of-function strategies, HATs and HDACs have been divided into those inducing autophagy or inhibiting autophagy.

Another line of evidence emerges from work with small molecule HDAC inhibitors, which have been studied extensively for possible therapeutic uses. Among the HATs, CREBBP/KAT3A is reported to induce autophagy, (Steffan et al. 2000; Nucifora et al. 2001; Jeong et al. 2009; McCampbell et al. 2000) whereas EP300/ KAT3B inhibits autophagy (Lee and Finkel 2009; Lin et al. 2012). KATs/TIP in the MYST family induces autophagy (Yang and Klionsky 2010; Yi et al. 2012).

Three classes of HDACs - class I, IIa/b, and III - have been reported to regulate autophagy. Among the class I HDACs, HDAC1 inhibits autophagy (Oh et al. 2008; Lamothe et al. 2012), HDAC2 induces autophagy (Cao et al. 2011), and HDAC3 inhibits autophagy through P21 (Rikiishi 2011). Among the class IIa HDACs, HDAC4 inhibits autophagy through CDKN1A (Rikiishi 2011; Roccaro et al. 2010). HDAC5 (Steffan et al. 2000) and HDAC7 (Hrzenjak et al. 2008) inhibit autophagy. Among the class IIb HDACs, HDAC6 induces autophagy through cortactin, tubulin, and dyenein, which are important for selective autophagy (Matthias et al. 2008; Lee and Yao 2010; Iwata et al. 2005a, b). In hepatic cancer cells, HDACs generally induce autophagy through BECN1-MAPK/JNK and the increase in autophagy in these cells is associated with cell death and limited tumor growth (Jung et al. 2012). Among the sirtuins (class III HDACs), SIRT1 induces autophagy through deacetylation of ATGs and FoxO1/3 (Hariharan et al. 2010; Lee et al. 2008; Jeong et al. 2013). SIRT2 inhibits autophagy by regulating FoxO1 (Kuo et al. 2010), and SIRT3 induces autophagy (Hrzenjak et al. 2008). For sake of completeness, we note that N-acetyltransferases (NATs) also have some role; NAT10 induces autophagy by repressing the TSC1-TSC2 complex (Kuo and Hung 2010). NAT9 inhibits autophagy and knockdown of NAT9 increases autophagy (Lipinski et al. 2010).

The most studied HDAC inhibitor, SAHA (suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid), is an inhibitor of class I, II, and IV HDACs. SAHA induces autophagy through inhibition of HDAC7 in endometrial stromal cells (Hrzenjak et al. 2008) or through hyperacetylation of tubulin in HeLa cells (Oh et al. 2008) and mouse neuronal cells(Dompierre et al. 2007). Similarly, the class I-II HDAC inhibitors valproic acid (VPA) (Fu et al. 2010) and butyrate (Donohoe et al. 2011; Shao et al. 2004) induce autophagy in cancer cells. Short-term exposure to SAHA has also been shown to induce autophagy in cardiomyocytes, returning flux suppressed by ischemia/reperfusion back to control levels (Xie et al. 2014). The HDAC 1, 2, 3-specific inhibitor MS-275 induces autophagy in malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumor (MPNST) cell lines (Lopez et al. 2011). The HDAC1-specific inhibitor, FK228, induces autophagy in Waldenström macroglubulinemia lymphoma cells (Roccaro et al. 2010). However, tubacin, an HDAC6-specific inhibitor, reduces autophagy in MEF cells (Lee et al. 2010).

Inhibition of class III HDACs generally induces autophagy. Longevinex, a specific inhibitor of SIRT1 and 3, induces autophagy in isolated neonatal rat ventricular myocytes (NRVM) (Mukherjee et al. 2010). The SIRT1-specific inhibitor, sirtinol, augments cigarette smoke-induced autophagy in lung epithelial cells (Hwang et al. 2010). Interestingly, resveratol, a Sirt1 inducer, also induces autophagy in lung epithelial cells, fibroblasts, colon cancer cells, C. elegans, and yeast (Hwang et al. 2010; Morselli et al. 2011). HDAC inhibitors are emerging as potent anticancer agents that can activate gene expression and enable elimination of malignant cells by apoptotic or autophagic cell death (Rikiishi 2011). Two potent HDAC inhibitors, OSU-HDAC42 and SAHA, induce autophagy in hepatocellular carcinoma cells through downregulation of AKT1-mTOR signaling and induction of an ER stress response (Liu et al. 2010). It was also reported that the HDAC inhibitor SAHA acts on HDAC7 and induces autophagic cell death in endometrial stromal sarcoma cells by influencing the mTOR pathway (Hrzenjak et al. 2008). SAHA also induces autophagy in chondrosarcoma and HeLa cells (Mizushima 2011; Yamamoto et al. 2008).



**Fig. 10.3** Acetylation regulates autophagy at multiple levels. First, reversible protein acetylation governs upstream signaling pathways that regulate autophagy. Second, it regulates the activity of essential autophagy related proteins. Third, acetylation regulates the expression of autophagy-related proteins through acetylation of transcription factors, including FoxO proteins. Finally, reversible acetylation of structural proteins regulates the trafficking of autophagic structural components. Line with ball end denotes regulation (activation or inhibition in various contexts)

In the heart, chronic therapy with HDAC inhibitors suppresses pathological cardiac remodeling by inhibiting stress-induced autophagy, and this autophagic response is required for much of the pathological growth response (Cao et al. 2011; Kong et al. 2006; Berry et al. 2008; Cao and Hill 2011). On the other hand, during ischemia/reperfusion injury, short-term therapy with SAHA induces autophagy, returning flux to basal levels in the infarct border zone and protecting cardiomyocytes to reduce infarct size (Xie et al. 2014). Silencing the class IIB HDAC (HDAC6) leads to failure of autophagosomal maturation in the context of basal autophagy, thereby disrupting mitophagy and protein aggregate removal (Lee et al. 2010). Class III HDACs (sirtuins) are required for the autophagic response to nutrient deprivation but not for autophagy triggered by other signals, such as TP53 activation or mTOR inhibition (Lee et al. 2008).

In aggregate, considerable evidence supports the idea that HATs and HDACs play a pivotal role in governing autophagic flux. Accompanying mechanistic studies have revealed that HATs and HDACs regulate autophagy at multiple levels. One is through interacting with the upstream signaling pathways that trigger autophagy. Another is by regulating expression of autophagy-related proteins through acetylation of transcription factors, notably FoxO (forkhead box, subfamily O) proteins. Another is through regulation of the activity of essential autophagy-related proteins themselves. Finally, acetylation of structural proteins regulates the process of trafficking of autophagic structural components (Fig. 10.3).

# 10.4.3 Level I, Regulating Upstream Signaling Pathways: Acetylation of Proteins in the mTOR Pathway

In hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) cells, two potent HDAC inhibitors, OSU-HDAC42 and SAHA, induce autophagy. SAHA and OSU-HDAC42 induce autophagy through downregulation of AKT/mTOR signaling and induction of the ER stress response (Liu et al. 2010). Inhibition of autophagy by 3-MA or ATG5 silencing reduces SAHA-induced cytotoxicity, suggesting that SAHA-induced autophagy contributes to cell death (Liu et al. 2010). In lymphoma cells, co-treatment with VPA and temsirolimus (mTOR inhibitor) synergistically inhibits tumor cell growth and triggers autophagy and cell death. Indeed, cell death may be caused by excessive autophagy (Dong et al. 2013). The class I HDAC inhibitor, VPA, potentiates the effect of temsirolimus on autophagy through inhibiting HDAC1. Loss of function of HDAC1 attenuates VPA-mediated regulation of CDKN1A (cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor 1A), CDKN1B, and LC3-I/II (Dong et al. 2013). However, loss of HDAC1 function induces regression of tumor cell growth and activation of autophagy. Furthermore, VPA antagonizes temsirolimus-induced AKT activation via HDAC3 inhibition (Dong et al. 2013). Loss of function of HDAC3 abolishes the ability of VPA to modulate AKT phosphorylation, suppressing tumor cell growth and inducing autophagy (Dong et al. 2013). These strong antitumor effects by HDAC and mTOR inhibition may be tumor cell-specific, sparing normal hematopoiesis ex vivo (Dong et al. 2013). In NRVMs, the induction of autophagy is likely through inhibiting HDAC1 and up-regulation of TSC2 (tuberous sclerosis complex 2). Autophagy induced by HDAC1 inhibition abrogates pressure overload-induced hypertrophy in mouse heart (Morales et al. 2016) (Fig. 10.4).





## 10.4.4 Level II, Regulation of ATG Proteins at the Transcriptional Level: Acetylation of FoxO Transcription Factors

FoxO (<u>Fo</u>rkhead bo<u>x</u>-containing, family <u>O</u>) proteins are evolutionarily conserved transcription factors involved in a wide range of biological processes. There is only a single, unique dFoxO in Drosophila, whereas several mammalian orthologs exist, including FoxO1, FoxO3, FoxO4, and FoxO6 (Van Der Heide et al. 2004; Juhasz et al. 2007). FoxO transcription factors regulate cell cycle, proliferation, cell death, DNA repair, metabolism, protection from oxidative stress, and autophagy (Greer and Brunet 2005; Yang and Hung 2011).

Autophagy is tightly regulated by FoxO-dependent gene transcription. During fasting, dFoxO induces the transcription of ATGs, thereby inducing autophagy. In mammalian cardiac and skeletal muscles, overexpression of FoxO1 or FoxO3 results in expression of ATGs and induction of autophagy (Mammucari et al. 2007; Zhao et al. 2007a; Sengupta et al. 2009). FoxO factors are governed themselves by multiple posttranslational modifications regulating subcellular localization, DNA binding, and transcriptional properties (Van Der Heide et al. 2004; Boccitto and Kalb 2011). In fed conditions, EP300-CREBBP acetyltransferases promote FoxO1 and FoxO3 acetylation, which results in decreased DNA binding activity and increased sensitivity to phosphorylation. This results in the downregulation of FoxO1-mediated transcriptional regulation of ATGs (Matsuzaki et al. 2005). Consistent with this, overexpression of the HAT, EP300, significantly increases FoxO1 acetylation and inhibits autophagy (Hariharan et al. 2010). This acetylation event decreases the DNA binding efficiency of FoxO1 and promotes its subsequent phosphorylation by AKT1 (Matsuzaki et al. 2005). Stimulation by growth factors or insulin triggers FoxO1 and FoxO3 phosphorylation via AKT1. Subsequent acetylation leads to FoxO dissociation from DNA and transport from the nucleus into the cytoplasm through exportin 1/chromosomal maintenance 1 (XPO1/CRM1)mediated transport. This, in turn, diminishes transcription of ATGs and autophagic activity (Tzivion et al. 1813).

The acetylation status of FoxO proteins is also regulated by class III HDACs, so-called sirtuin deacetylases. SIRT1 controls the subcellular localization and activity of FoxO1. Upon starvation, SIRT1 deacetylates at the LXXLL motif, which increases the transcription of the *PNPLA2/ATGL* (patatin-like phospholipase domain containing 2/adipose triglyceride lipase) gene encoding a rate-limiting lipolytic enzyme (Chakrabarti et al. 2011). The production of PNPLA2, a major lipase for fat mobilization from lipid droplets in mammals and in Drosophila, results in increased usage of fat to generate energy (Zimmermann et al. 2004; Gronke et al. 2005). Similarly, SIRT2 also deacetylates FoxO1 and FoxO3 in the setting of caloric restriction (Wang and Tong 2009; Wang et al. 2007). Of note, the expression of SIRT2 is upregulated in starved conditions, which highlights its important role in FoxO deacetylation and in promoting lipid remobilization (Wang and Tong 2009). At the same time, autophagic flux is also activated. In skeletal muscle, SIRT1 can deacetylate FoxO3, leading to transcription of genes involved in autophagosome formation, including *MAP1LC3*, *PIK3C3/VPS34*, *GABARAPL1*,



**Fig. 10.5** Level II: Acetylation regulates expression of core autophagy proteins through FoxO transcription factors. FoxO1 and FoxO3 are required for the transcription of essential autophagy-related proteins. They are regulated by both acetylation and phosphorylation. Under fed conditions, EP300-CREBBP acetyltransferase increases FoxO1/3 acetylation, which results in decreasing their DNA binding activity and in increasing their sensitivity to phosphorylation. At the same time, insulin signaling activates AKT1 leading to phosphorylation of FoxO1/3. This results in the dissociation of FoxO1/3 from DNA and subsequent export from the nucleus. Upon starvation, SIRT1 induces autophagy through the deacetylation of FoxO1/3. The dephosphorylation of FoxO1/3 is carried out by protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A)

*ATG12*, *ATG4*, *BECN1*, *ULK1*, and *BNIP3* (Mammucari et al. 2007; Kume et al. 2010) (Fig. 10.5).

An additional mechanism of autophagy regulation by FoxO1 is transcription independent. In cancer cells exposed to serum starvation, FoxO1 is dissociated from SIRT2, resulting in the acetylation of FoxO1. Hyperacetylated FoxO1, in turn, interacts with ATG7 directly and induces autophagy (Kuo et al. 2010). In so doing, FoxO1 couples cellular metabolic status with autophagy regulation. Under conditions of starvation, acetylation-activated FoxO1 and FoxO3 not only increase lipase expression but also increase autophagy. This is achieved by transcriptional upregulation of core autophagy genes and/or by direct protein-protein interaction with ATG7 (Kuo et al. 2010).

# 10.4.5 Level III, Direct Regulation of ATG Activity by Modification of the Acetylation Status of Core Components

As discussed above, the ATG proteins work in concert to carry out the autophagic process through phagophore formation and elongation. There are four complexes

involved: (1) the kinase complex ATG1–ATG13; (2) the phosphatidylinositol-3kinase complex I (containing BECN1, ATG14, PIK3C3/VPS34, and PIK3R4/ VPS15); (3) two ubiquitin-like protein conjugation complexes (ATG12–ATG5-ATG16L1, along with ATG7 and ATG10); and (4) LC3–PE, with ATG4, ATG7 and ATG3) (Yang and Klionsky 2010). There are also two highly characterized HAT-HDAC pairs, EP300-sirtuins and MYST-HDAC3/RPD3, which regulate the acetylation status and activities of multiple ATG proteins.

#### 10.4.5.1 MYST and HDAC3

These proteins are best characterized in macroautophagy occurring in yeast. MYST acetyltransferases are defined by a conserved histone acetyltransferase domain called MYST which harbors a C<sub>2</sub>HC zinc finger and an AcCoA binding domain (Sapountzi and Cote 2011). MYST acetyltransferase includes KAT5/TIP60 and the yeast ortholog, ESA1. Mammalian HDAC3 and the yeast ortholog RPD3 catalyze the reverse reaction. Under conditions of growth factor deprivation or starvation, mTOR, AKT1 and the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways are suppressed and GSK3 is activated. Then GSK3 phosphorylates KAT5/TIP60 acetyltransferase, resulting in its activation, which in turn acetylates and activates the autophagy-initiation kinase ULK1, an event essential to starvation-induced autophagy (Lin et al. 2012). In S. cerevisiae, ESA1, the ortholog of KAT5, acetylates ATG3 at K19 and K48 under conditions of starvation. Next, the activated ATG3 interacts with ATG8, promoting lipidation of ATG8. The reverse reaction is accomplished by the deacetylase RPD3, the ortholog of HDAC3 (Yi et al. 2012). Interestingly, an antagonistic function of the class I family member RPD3 (deacetylase) and of another MYST protein, chm/chapeau (acetyltransferase), has been reported (Grienenberger et al. 2002; Miotto et al. 2006) (Fig. 10.6).

#### 10.4.5.2 EP300-CREBBP and Sirtuins

In mammalian cells, the HAT, EP300 acetyltransferase physically co-localizes with ATG7 during starvation and promotes hyperacetylation of ATG7 (Lee and Finkel 2009). Hyperacetylated ATG7 is inactive, which suppresses phagophore formation. The converse reaction is carried out by the sirtuin SIRT1, which can deacetylate ATG7, as well as ATG5, LC3, and ATG12, to promote autophagic vesicle formation (Lee et al. 2008). Other lines of evidence derive from studies employing the specific SIRT1 inducer, resveratrol, and an acetyltransferase inhibitor, spermidine, which together promote deacetylation of ATG5 and LC3 (ATG8), synergizing to induce autophagy (Morselli et al. 2011). Additional work has shown that resveratrol and spermidine induce changes in the acetylation status of 170 proteins whose activity is connected to autophagy control (Marino et al. 2011). Interestingly, HAT and HDAC proteins harbor lysine sites that may be regulated internally. For example, SIRT2 controls the self-acetylation of EP300, which can also acetylate SIRT2 to inhibit its enzymatic activity (Black et al. 2008; Han et al. 2008) (Fig. 10.6).

AcCoA is a major integrator of nutritional status at the crossroads of lipid, carbohydrate, and protein catabolism. Reversible protein acetylation is an elegant means of coupling the regulation of autophagy to the cellular metabolic state. The



**Fig. 10.6** Level III: Acetylation regulates the activity of core autophagy proteins. (a) In mammalian cells, the HAT, EP300, deactivates ATG5, ATG7, ATG8, and ATG12 by acetylation to inhibit the elongation step of autophagy. Conversely, upon starvation, SIRT1 deacetylates these ATG proteins and induces autophagy. (b) Results in yeast support the antagonistic roles of HATs and HDACs. Starvation induces acetylation of ATG3 by Esa1 (KAT5) increasing its interaction with ATG8 (LC3) and ATG8 lipidation, which induces autophagy. Rpd3 (HDAC3) deacetylates ATG3 leading to the inhibition of autophagy

maintenance of cellular energy homeostasis requires the intracellular storage and usage of lipids, and autophagy can play an important role in regulating intracellular lipid mobilization (macrolipophagy) (Singh et al. 2009; Dong and Czaja 2011; Singh and Cuervo 2012). Starvation triggers rapid depletion of AcCoA, which, in turn, reduces the activity of the acetyltransferase EP300, along with reduction in the overall acetylation of cytoplasmic proteins and induction of autophagy (Marino et al. 2014). However, lipid mobilization enhances  $\beta$ -oxidation of fatty acids in mitochondria which leads to the production of NADH and AcCoA, which are required for EP300 enzymatic activity, leading to reduced autophagic activity. Multiple distinct manipulations designed to increase or reduce cytosolic AcCoA lead to suppression or induction of autophagy, respectively, both in cultured human cells and in mice (Marino et al. 2014). Moreover, maintenance of high AcCoA levels inhibited maladaptive autophagy in a model of ventricular pressure overload (Marino et al. 2014). High levels of AcCoA induce EP300 activity leading to suppression of autophagy (Marino et al. 2014).

Cytosolic AcCoA functions as a central metabolic regulator of autophagy, and as such, it is of interest to delineate AcCoA-centered pharmacological strategies that allow for the therapeutic manipulation of autophagy. This is particularly the case in cardiomyocyte autophagy, a process pivotal to stress-dependent responses in heart (Lavandero et al. 2015).

# 10.4.6 Level IV, Regulation of Autophagosome Trafficking and Selective Autophagy

## 10.4.6.1 Autophagosome Trafficking and Lysosome Fusion Governed by Acetylation of Tubulin

Trafficking of autophagic vesicles is regulated by cytoskeletal structures, and reversible protein acetylation is critically involved here, as well. Microtubule stability and function are regulated by the reversible acetylation of  $\alpha$ -tubulin, the first acetylated cytosolic protein described (L'Hernault and Rosenbaum 1985; Piperno and Fuller 1985). The acetylation status of microtubules is coordinated by the HAT, ELP3/ KAT9 (Creppe et al. 2009) and by the HDACs, HDAC6 (Hubbert et al. 2002), and SIRT2 (North et al. 2003). These enzymes also regulate actin dynamics, stress signaling and exocytosis (Holmberg et al. 2002; Rahl et al. 2005). Upon starvation, acetylation of tubulin at Lys40 increases both in labile and stable microtubule fractions, which, in turn, enhances MAPK/JNK phosphorylation and activation via kinesin family member 1 (KIF1)-dependent mechanisms to promote autophagy. Specifically, MAPK/JNK signaling increases the dissociation of BECN1 (ATG6) from BCL2, releasing it from the repressive effects of BCL2 binding and thereby promoting its association with factors such as microtubules required for initiating autophagosome formation. While the markers of phagophore/autophagosome formation (BECN1, class III PI3K, WIPI1, ATG12-ATG5 and LC3-II) are recruited to labile microtubules, mature autophagosomes (marked with LC3-II) are transported along stable microtubules (Geeraert et al. 2010). Tubulin acetylation is not only important in the trafficking of autophagosomes but is also essential for fusion of autophagosomes to lysosomes to deliver cargo for degradation (Kochl et al. 2006; Xie et al. 2010).

Organelle movement is accomplished by cellular motor proteins functioning along microtubule tracks. Dynein moves toward the slow growing or "minus" ends of microtubules and is responsible for centripetal transport, whereas centrifugal movements are driven by kinesins. Tubulin acetylation at Lys40 increases the recruitment and mobility of KIF1 and dynein (Dompierre et al. 2007; Reed et al. 2006). Fully formed autophagosomes are delivered centripetally by dyneins along the microtubule tracks in the direction of the centrosomes (Geeraert et al. 2010; Ravikumar et al. 2005; Jahreiss et al. 2008; Kimura et al. 2008).

The dynein motor machinery also plays a role in autophagosome-lysosome fusion (Rubinsztein et al. 2005). As a consequence, mutations that influence the dynein motor machinery reduce the efficiency of autophagic clearance of protein aggregates and increase levels of LC3-II (Ravikumar et al. 2005). KIF1 is involved in autophagosome trafficking under basal nutritional conditions. In contrast with its recruitment to microtubules to activate MAPK/JNK, KIF1 is not involved in transporting autophagosomes upon nutrient deprivation. In parallel, dynein participates in transporting autophagosomes both in nutrient-rich and nutrient-depleted conditions (Geeraert et al. 2010). These data collectively establish the importance of tubulin acetylation in autophagic dynamics. Further work is required, however, to



**Fig. 10.7** Level IV: Acetylation regulates trafficking and selectivity of autophagy. (**a**) In the fusion step of autophagy, HDAC6 recruits cortactin to the ubiquitinated organelles or protein aggregates. HDAC6 mediates F-actin network assembly, promoting autophagosome-lysosome fusion by deacetylation of cortactin. (**b**) HDAC6 is also responsible for dynein-mediated transport and perinuclear concentration of altered mitochondria and lipid droplets, leading to mitophagy and lipophagy respectively

uncover direct links between HDAC6, SIRT2, and ELP3 activity and acetylated tubulin-controlled autophagy induction.

#### 10.4.6.2 Selective Autophagy Governed by Actin Acetylation

HDAC6 has emerged as a central regulator of special types of autophagy, those which selectively eliminate specific cellular components, such as mitochondria (mitophagy), ER (reticulophagy), portions of the nucleus (nucleophagy), peroxisomes (pexophagy), microorganisms (xenophagy), ribosomes (ribophagy), lipid droplets (lipophagy), or protein aggregates (aggrephagy) (Fig. 10.7) (Lavandero et al. 2013; Lee et al. 2010; Reed et al. 2006; Reggiori and Klionsky 2005). A recent study suggests that a specific form of autophagy, termed quality control (QC) autophagy, selectively disassembles altered, nonfunctioning organelles and protein aggregates (Lee and Yao 2010).

HDAC6 controls selective autophagy by recruiting the actin and tubulin networks. And similar to tubulin, cytoskeletal actin is targeted by acetylation. Ubiquitinated substrates are specifically bound by the ubiquitin-associated (UBA) domain of autophagy receptors SQSTM1/p62 and NBR1, while damaged mitochondria are specifically recognized by BNIP3L/NIP3-like protein X (NIX) receptors. All autophagy receptors have an LC3-interacting region (LIR) domain, which recruits the membrane to the cargo by binding LC3. HDAC6 recruits cortactin to ubiquitinated protein aggregates or mitochondria and, through cortactin deacetylation, mediates F-actin network assembly to promote autophagosome-lysosome fusion. HDAC6 is also responsible for dynein-mediated transport and perinuclear concentration of altered mitochondria and protein aggregates.

In yeast, actin microfilaments are dispensable for bulk autophagy but required for selective autophagy, such as pexophagy (the selective degradation of peroxisomes). The yeast actin-related protein (Arp)2/3 complex, which is necessary for actin nucleation and F-actin formation, directly regulates the dynamics of ATG9 (Monastyrska et al. 2008). In mammalian cell lines, the actin network also has an important role in selective autophagy. Cortactin, known to interact with F-actin in promoting polymerization and branching, was recently identified as a substrate of HDAC6 (Zhang et al. 2007). HDAC6 induces F-actin network formation around cytosolic aggregated proteins in a cortactin-dependent manner and promotes autophagosome-lysosome fusion. Thus, cortactin-dependent actin and HDAC6 distinguish QC autophagy from starvation-induced autophagy for which these components are dispensable (Lee and Yao 2010; Lee et al. 2010) (Fig. 10.7).

# 10.5 Autophagy in Cardiovascular Disease and Its Regulation by Acetylation

Autophagy is essential to the homeostasis of cardiomyocytes by governing energy generation, substrate recycling, organelle self-renewal, and degradation of misfolded or dysfunctional proteins (Lavandero et al. 2015). Numerous studies have shown that too much or too little autophagy is detrimental to cardiomyocytes. Maintaining basal levels of autophagy is vital for cardiomyocyte function and viability and yet overactivated autophagic flux can be harmful, too (Lavandero et al. 2013).

Due to limitations of tissue availability and detection methods, little is known about cardiomyocyte autophagy in human disease. Most evidence to date has been obtained from myocardial biopsy samples obtained from patients with heart failure (including patients treated with a left ventricular assist device (LVAD) and cardiac transplants), Danon disease, ischemic heart disease, and cancer chemotherapy cardiomyopathy. In these patients, increases in steady-state autophagy have been documented (Shimomura et al. 2001). However, whether this catabolic process is adaptive or maladaptive remains unknown. Animal models of these diseases have been developed to decipher the role of autophagy in disease pathogenesis and define the effects of novel therapeutic agents, including HDAC inhibitors (Xie and Hill 2013).
#### 10.5.1 Autophagy in the Transition from Hypertrophy to Heart Failure

#### 10.5.1.1 Autophagy in Human Heart Failure

Evidence for autophagy in human heart disease emerged first from tissue samples of dilated cardiomyopathy obtained at the time of cardiac transplantation (Shimomura et al. 2001). Autophagic vacuoles containing cytoplasmic material and organelles were detected within degenerated cardiomyocytes using electron microscopy. In dilated cardiomyopathy hearts, autophagy appeared to be associated not only with clearance of damaged intracellular organelles but also with progressive destruction of cardiomyocytes (Shimomura et al. 2001). In one case, it was inferred that cardiomyocyte "autophagic death" was taking place (Kostin et al. 2003).

These findings suggested that autophagic activity may be a significant contributor to the pathogenesis of heart failure (Kostin et al. 2003; Saijo et al. 2004). For example, in patients with severe aortic valvular stenosis, the progression of LV systolic dysfunction correlates with the degree of cell loss (Hein et al. 2003). Although excessive autophagy in end-stage heart failure can be lethal to cardiomyocytes, basal levels of autophagy are fundamentally required for cell viability. In biopsy samples from patients with idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy obtained at the time of implantation and explantation of an LVAD, it was noted that mechanical unloading of the ventricle was associated with decreased markers of autophagy (Kassiotis et al. 2009). This suggests that increased levels of autophagy may be an adaptive mechanism in the failing heart and that this phenomenon is attenuated by LVAD support (Kassiotis et al. 2009).

#### 10.5.1.2 Animal Models of Hypertrophy and Heart Failure

The initial response of the heart to increases in afterload or postinfarct stress is hypertrophic growth (Hill and Olson 2008). If the afterload stress persists, the ventricle will eventually dilate, systolic function will decline, and a clinical syndrome of heart failure ensues. This progressive course of disease occurs commonly in patients with hypertension, moderate to severe aortic stenosis, or ischemic heart disease (St John Sutton 2009). In an animal model of pressure overload imposed surgically by transverse aortic constriction (TAC), autophagic flux in cardiomyocytes is activated. For instance, we have reported that autophagic activity increases rapidly after TAC, peaks at 72 h, and is maintained at elevated levels for at least 3–4 weeks (Zhu et al. 2007). The degree of autophagic activity correlates with the magnitude of hypertrophic growth and with the rate of transition to heart failure (Zhu et al. 2007); further, levels of autophagic flux correlate with the degree of hypertrophy (Cao et al. 2011). Consistent with these findings, cardiomyocyte-specific overexpression of a rate-limiting protein in the autophagic cascade, Beclin 1, provokes increased autophagic activity in the setting of pressure stress. These mice have exaggerated hypertrophic growth and early transition to ventricular dilation, systolic dysfunction, and mortality (Cao et al. 2011; Zhu et al. 2007). Conversely, suppression of autophagy in the context of Beclin 1 haploinsufficiency halved the stress-induced autophagic response and partially rescued the hypertrophic phenotype (Zhu et al. 2007).

#### 10.5.1.3 HDACs in Cardiac Hypertrophy and Failure

Collectively, data such as these suggest that excessive autophagy can be maladaptive under conditions of pressure overload, a common clinical scenario in hypertension and aortic stenosis. One potential mechanism for this disease-promoting behavior is that autophagy may facilitate hypertrophic growth and allow for the sustenance of greater degrees of hypertrophy. Later, cell death induced by excessive autophagy may facilitate the onset of systolic dysfunction and heart failure. In this context, afterload-induced excessive cardiomyocyte autophagy is a potential target for therapeutic intervention. As the broad-spectrum HDAC inhibitor, trichostatin A (TSA), inhibits hypertrophic growth in mice subjected to TAC (Kong et al. 2006), we tested whether HDAC inhibition reduces autophagy in this scenario. We hypothesized that HDAC-dependent pathological autophagy may contribute to the disease process and that suppression of pathological autophagy by HDAC inhibition may underlie their beneficial effects. Consistent with this model, we found that HDAC inhibition suppresses load-induced cardiomyocyte autophagy, and this autophagic response is required for much of the pathological growth response (Cao et al. 2011) (Fig. 10.8).



**Fig. 10.8** HDAC inhibition in hypertrophic and ischemic heart disease. (a) Class I HDACs participate in pressure-overload induced cardiac hypertrophy. HDAC inhibitors are capable of reversing established hypertrophy through inhibiting the catalytic activity of class I HDACs. (b) Ischemic or ischemia/reperfusion stresses provoke cell death through HDACs. Blocking HDAC activity reduces infarct size possibly through normalizing autophagic flux. Postinfarct stresses on the myocardium induce cardiomyocyte hypertrophy, cell death (apoptosis) and fibrosis. HDAC inhibitors block these detrimental remodeling processes in part by manipulating cardiomyocyte autophagy (Adapted from reference Xie and Hill (2013))

TSA inhibits both class I and II HDACs. Therefore, it is of interest to determine which HDAC isoforms(s) are involved in the hypertrophic growth of the heart induced by afterload stress. Recent studies suggest that class I HDACs are responsible for pathological hypertrophy. Genetic models of HDAC1 and HDAC2 gene silencing demonstrate that these isoforms can compensate for one another in their ability to promote cardiomyocyte growth (Montgomery et al. 2007). However, double knockout of HDAC1 and HDAC2 is lethal at P14 and, as a result, characterization of these enzymes in adult heart has been lacking (Montgomery et al. 2007). An additional model, one in which HDAC2 is silenced specifically in the heart manifests inhibition of hypertrophy (Trivedi et al. 2007).

This question has also been addressed using inhibitors specific for class I HDACs, which demonstrated significant suppression of hypertrophic growth in heart exposed to pressure overload (Gallo et al. 2008). Overall, additional characterization of the role of class I HDACs in cardiac hypertrophy is warranted.

Data from our lab have shown that repression of class I HDACs suppresses mTOR activity in several forms of cardiac hypertrophy. Inhibition of class I HDACs induces *tuberous sclerosis complex 2 (TSC2)* mRNA levels, which is necessary for the inhibition of mTOR (Morales et al. 2016). Overall, we propose a model in which TSC2-dependent repression of mTOR is relieved in the setting of hypertrophic growth triggers. However, when class I HDACs are inhibited, transcription of *TSC2* is induced, resulting in the formation of a TSC1/TSC2 complex, leading to reduction of mTOR activity, and repression of pathological hypertrophic growth. The mechanism by which inhibition of class I HDACs increases TSC2 levels is currently under investigation.

Whereas excessive cardiomyocyte autophagy can be detrimental, complete abrogation of the catabolic response is similarly maladaptive. For example, knockout of a rate-limiting autophagic protein, ATG5, in the heart triggers rapid-onset heart failure (Nakai et al. 2007). Consistent with this, blocking autophagy using systemic inactivation of the gene coding for the lysosomal enzyme cysteine endopeptidase cathepsin L (Ctsl) was associated with emergence of dilated cardiomyopathy (Dennemarker et al. 2010). Nutrient deprivation and mTOR suppression with rapamycin, two robust triggers of autophagy, failed to reactivate autophagic flux. Thus, impaired degradation of autolysosomal content in the absence of Ctsl can be a major mechanism underlying this cardiomyopathic phenotype (Dennemarker et al. 2010).

These observations, then, are consistent with the idea that basal levels of cardiomyocyte autophagy are critically required from cellular proteostasis. Based on this, we favor a model where titration of cardiomyocyte autophagy within an optimal, adaptive zone is an approach of therapeutic interest (Rothermel and Hill 2008). Interestingly and importantly, chronic HDAC inhibition suppresses, but does not eliminate, the autophagic response to stress and hence is an attractive strategy worthy of additional investigation (Cao et al. 2011). Similarly, HDAC inhibition restored basal autophagic flux in the setting of ischemia/reperfusion injury (see below) (Xie et al. 2014). Thus, we believe that HDAC inhibition is an attractive strategy for therapeutic manipulation of cardiomyocyte autophagy, one worthy of additional study.

#### 10.5.2 Autophagy in Ischemic Heart Disease: Ischemia/ Reperfusion Injury

#### 10.5.2.1 Autophagy in Human Ischemic Heart Disease

Cardiomyocyte autophagy is a prominent feature in ischemic disease (Shimomura et al. 2001). That said, samples of tissue from patients with ischemic heart disease are typically confounded by co-existing heart failure (Shimomura et al. 2001). Again, due to the difficulty in obtaining human samples and lack of feasible genetic studies, most of our knowledge of autophagy in ischemic heart disease derives from preclinical, animal models. Activation of cardiomyocyte autophagy has been reported in a porcine model of chronic ischemia/reperfusion (I/R) (Yan et al. 2005), and rodent I/R models have been employed extensively in studies designed to delineate mechanism (Kong et al. 2006).

#### 10.5.2.2 Autophagy in Animal Models of Ischemic Heart Disease

Multiple studies have demonstrated that cardiomyocyte autophagy is activated during prolonged ischemia and that suppression of that autophagic activity can be maladaptive (Matsui et al. 2007; Zhang et al. 2008). Underlying mechanisms may relate to autophagy-dependent replenishment of cellular metabolic substrates in the setting of their inadequacy coupled with elimination of dysfunctional mitochondria, which would otherwise release reactive oxygen species (ROS) and pro-apoptotic mediators (Zhang et al. 2008). However, most patients with ischemic heart disease recanalize their coronary vessels either spontaneously or by means of therapeutic intervention. As such, in most clinical scenarios, myocardial ischemia is coupled with restoration of blood flow and reperfusion injury, including robust release of ROS, calcium dysregulation, inflammation, and impaired ATP production (Yellon and Hausenloy 2007). In one study, reperfusion following coronary artery occlusion triggered robust increases in steady-state autophagy (Hariharan et al. 2011). Multiple other studies, conducted in tissue culture (Gurusamy et al. 2009), rodents (Zhu et al. 2007), and large animal models (Yan et al. 2005), have shown marked activation of steady-state autophagy during the reperfusion phase. Oxidative stress is thought to be a major underlying mechanism (Hariharan et al. 2011).

However, whether this upregulated autophagy is adaptive or maladaptive is the subject of debate. In heterozygous Beclin 1-null mice, I/R-induced autophagy was significantly attenuated compared with wild-type controls. Following experimental I/R, these mice developed smaller infarctions and less apoptosis (Matsui et al. 2007). Similar findings have been reported in cultured NRVMs exposed to simulated I/R, where chemical suppression of autophagy with 3-methyladenine (3-MA) improved cell viability (Valentim et al. 2006). In contrast, it has been reported that simulated I/R-induced autophagy in cultured cell lines can be protective (Gurusamy et al. 2009; Yitzhaki et al. 2009). Recently, it was reported that sulfaphenazole, an inhibitor of cytochrome P450-2C9, activates autophagy and is protective against I/R injury, both in tissue culture and in isolated perfused rat hearts (Kuo et al. 2010).

Based on these data, conflicting models of the role of autophagy in cardiac injury during I/R have been proposed, with some suggesting a detrimental role

and others a cardioprotective role (Hariharan et al. 2011; Ma et al. 2012a). At present, it is unclear the extent to which these discrepancies derive from differing cell types, model systems, or experimental paradigms. For example, it is important to distinguish measurements of steady-state autophagy from bona fide autophagic flux (the effective clearance and recycling of damaged organelles). A recent report using in vivo measurements of autophagic flux may have clarified these differences, suggesting that accumulation of autophagosomes after I/R damage due to impaired autophagic flux may have contributed to the confusion (Ma et al. 2012a, b).

#### 10.5.2.3 HDACs in Ischemic Heart Disease

As mentioned above, HDAC inhibition has been shown to reduce cardiomyocyte autophagy in the context of prolonged treatment and thereby prevent pressure overload-induced hypertrophy (Kong et al. 2006). Multiple preclinical studies have demonstrated potent cardioprotective benefits of HDAC inhibitors in murine models of myocardial stress, including I/R (Kong et al. 2006; Antos et al. 2003; Zhao et al. 2007b; Granger et al. 2008). TSA, as well as another HDAC inhibitor scriptaid, reduces myocardial infarct size up to 50% (Zhao et al. 2007b; Granger et al. 2008). Of note, HDAC inhibitor delivery as late as one hour after the onset of reperfusion still reduced infarct size to an extent similar to pretreatment (Granger et al. 2008). Furthermore, HDAC inhibition may promote myocardial repair and prevent cardiac remodeling, which seems to be dependent on c-kit signaling (Zhang et al. 2012) (Fig. 10.8).

In our lab, we tested SAHA, an HDAC inhibitor FDA-approved for cancer treatment, in a large animal (rabbit) I/R model (Xie et al. 2014). Experiments were carried out in a blinded fashion with all the rigor that is used in a human clinical trial. Rabbits were randomized into three groups: vehicle control, SAHA pretreatment (one day prior and at surgery), and SAHA treatment at the time of reperfusion only. Each arm was subjected to I/R surgery. SAHA reduced infarct size and partially rescued systolic function when administered either before surgery (pretreatment) or solely at the time of reperfusion. Additionally, cultured neonatal and adult rat ventricular cardiomyocytes were subjected to simulated I/R (sI/R) to identify mechanisms of SAHAinduced cardioprotection. Interestingly, in the infarct border zone, SAHA increased autophagy as measured by LC3-II levels and GFP-LC3 puncta formation, findings which were verified by electron microscopy. Furthermore, SAHA increased autophagic flux in the infarct border zone assayed using a tandem reporter RFP-GFP-LC3 transgenic mouse. In cultured myocytes subjected to sI/R, SAHA pretreatment reduced cell death by 40%. This reduction in cell death correlated with increased autophagic flux in SAHA-treated cells. RNAi-mediated knockdown of ATG7 and ATG5, essential autophagy proteins, abolished SAHA's cardioprotective effects. We conclude that the cardioprotective effects of SAHA during I/R occur, at least in part, through the induction of autophagic flux. Importantly, SAHA plasma concentrations in the rabbits were similar to those achieved in cancer patients (Xie et al. 2014).

Thus, data from our lab support a model of decreased autophagic flux during reperfusion and the protective nature of restoring autophagic flux back to basal levels in limiting reperfusion injury. Indeed, we have reported that reinduction of I/R-suppressed cardiomyocyte autophagy by short-term treatment with HDAC inhibitors at the time of reperfusion affords significant cardioprotection (Xie et al. 2014). Again, HDAC inhibition is unique in that it can both suppress excessive cardiomyocyte autophagic flux during pressure-overload (long-term treatment) and restore I/R-suppressed autophagy (short-term treatment). In light of this, HDAC inhibition might be an effective therapeutic measure in reperfusion injury, which lacks efficacious therapy in the clinical setting (Xie et al. 2014; Yellon and Hausenloy 2007; Turer and Hill 2010).

#### 10.5.3 Autophagy in Anticancer Drug-Induced Cardiomyopathy

Cancer chemotherapy, particularly with anthracyclines, has long been associated with significant cardiotoxicity, cardiomyopathy, and heart failure. However, the fact that cancer patients are typically treated with multiple drugs in combination has made it difficult to pinpoint a unique culprit. Again, availability of human tissues in this context is rare. However, in a rat model of doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy, cardiomyocyte autophagy was implicated as a catabolic pathway active in the development of heart failure (Lu et al. 2009; Li and Hill 2014). Furthermore, in cancer patients treated with the reversible proteasome inhibitor bortezomib, drug-related cardiotoxicity has been observed (Nowis et al. 2010). Rats exposed to bort-ezomib developed heart failure, and ER stress and upregulated autophagy have been described (Nowis et al. 2010).

Doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy has been studied extensively (Lu et al. 2009; Kobayashi et al. 2010). Current management of doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity includes regular monitoring of cardiac function and limiting the maximum dose of exposure. Given these inadequate tools, it is important to identify precise underlying mechanisms. Cardiomyocyte death by apoptosis and necrosis is thought to be the primary mechanism of doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy. In a rat model of doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy, pharmacological suppression of autophagy was associated with significant rescue of cardiac function (Lu et al. 2009). Furthermore, doxorubicin-induced autophagic vacuoles were blocked by 3-MA in failing rat heart (Lu et al. 2009). A recent report showed that the transcription factor GATA4 inhibits doxorubicin-induced autophagy and cardiomyocyte death by upregulating the survival factor BCL2 and downregulating autophagy-related genes (Kobayashi et al. 2010). Given the favorable effects of HDAC inhibition on cardiomyocyte autophagy (Xie et al. 2014; Cao et al. 2011). HDAC inhibitor therapy could be considered for further characterization.

Recent work from our group has shown that doxorubicin blocks autophagic flux in cardiomyocytes by impairing lysosome acidification and lysosomal function (Li et al. 2016). We went on to demonstrate that reducing autophagy initiation protects against doxorubicin cardiotoxicity, possibly by decreasing demand on a dysfunctional system, allowing for the proper processing of lysosomal content (Li et al. 2016).

#### 10.5.4 Autophagy in Glycogen Storage Disease-Related Cardiomyopathy

Glycogen storage disease can present as hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (Arad et al. 2005; Tanaka et al. 2000; Nishino et al. 2000). This is particularly the case for Danon disease, a condition characterized by defective autophagosome-lysosome fusion owing to a mutation in the gene coding for the lysosomal membrane protein LAMP2. Consequent accretion of unprocessed autophagosomes provokes cardiomyopathy (Tanaka et al. 2000). In a mouse model of Pompe disease, a disorder marked by defective metabolism of glycogen due to insufficiency of lysosomal acid alpha-glucosidase, suppression of the initiation steps of autophagy by inactivating ATG7 facilitates successful enzyme replacement therapy (Raben et al. 2010). A novel LAMP-2-positive dilated cardiomyopathy has also been reported (Sugimoto et al. 2007). This late onset cardiomyopathy is characterized by increased autophagic vacuoles, but its clinical features are similar to Danon disease (Sugimoto et al. 2007). As short-term HDAC inhibition can induce basal levels of cardiomyocyte autophagy (Xie et al. 2014; Cao et al. 2011), HDAC inhibition could be considered for further study in glycogen storage disease-related cardiomyopathy.

#### Conclusions

Autophagy, a highly conserved physiological process, is regulated at multiple levels by reversible protein acetylation. Further, autophagy is involved in the pathogenesis of numerous cardiovascular diseases, and HDAC inhibition is effective in preventing hypertrophy and the onset of heart failure. Equally important, HDAC inhibition reduces infarct size during I/R and blunts the onset of heart failure. Thus, convergence exists around these biological processes which warrants further characterization.

In animal studies, pressure overload can induce excessive autophagy and I/R reduces basal autophagy, events which can be maladaptive and promote cell death. Long-term HDAC inhibition can prevent hypertrophy and heart failure by blunting excessive autophagy. Interestingly, short-term HDAC inhibition also restores I/R-induced suppression of autophagy back to basal levels, reducing infarct size. This surprising, bidirectional regulation of autophagy by HDAC inhibition is, in fact, a favorable characteristic for therapeutic exploitation.

#### 10.6 Perspectives

Use of HDAC inhibitors in the treatment of hypertrophy or reducing infarct size in patients may be on the horizon. However, formulating the timing and dosing of HDAC inhibitor therapy requires further understanding of HDAC-dependent control of autophagy. Regulation of autophagy by HDACs is most widely studied in cancer biology, and much work remains to delineate the precise role of HDACs in cardiomyocyte autophagy. However, prospects for translation to the clinical context are promising.

#### Conflicts of Interest None

#### References

- Antos CL, McKinsey TA, Dreitz M, Hollingsworth LM, Zhang CL, Schreiber K, Rindt H, Gorczynski RJ, Olson EN (2003) Dose-dependent blockade to cardiomyocyte hypertrophy by histone deacetylase inhibitors. J Biol Chem 278:28930–28937
- Arad M, Maron BJ, Gorham JM, Johnson WH Jr, Saul JP, Perez-Atayde AR, Spirito P, Wright GB, Kanter RJ, Seidman CE, Seidman JG (2005) Glycogen storage diseases presenting as hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. N Engl J Med 352:362–372
- Bandyopadhyay U, Kaushik S, Varticovski L, Cuervo AM (2008) The chaperone-mediated autophagy receptor organizes in dynamic protein complexes at the lysosomal membrane. Mol Cell Biol 28:5747–5763
- Banreti A, Sass M, Graba Y (2013) The emerging role of acetylation in the regulation of autophagy. Autophagy 9:819–829
- Berry JM, Cao DJ, Rothermel BA, Hill JA (2008) Histone deacetylase inhibition in the treatment of heart disease. Expert Opin Drug Saf 7:53–67
- Black JC, Mosley A, Kitada T, Washburn M, Carey M (2008) The SIRT2 deacetylase regulates autoacetylation of p300. Mol Cell 32:449–455
- Boccitto M, Kalb RG (2011) Regulation of Foxo-dependent transcription by post-translational modifications. Curr Drug Targets 12:1303–1310
- Cao DJ, Hill JA (2011) Titrating autophagy in cardiac plasticity. Autophagy 7:1078–1079
- Cao DJ, Wang ZV, Battiprolu PK, Jiang N, Morales CR, Kong Y, Rothermel BA, Gillette TG, Hill JA (2011b) Histone deacetylase (HDAC) inhibitors attenuate cardiac hypertrophy by suppressing autophagy. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 108:4123–4128
- Chakrabarti P, English T, Karki S, Qiang L, Tao R, Kim J, Luo Z, Farmer SR, Kandror KV (2011) SIRT1 controls lipolysis in adipocytes via FOXO1-mediated expression of ATGL. J Lipid Res 52:1693–1701
- Choi AM, Ryter SW, Levine B (2013) Autophagy in human health and disease. N Engl J Med 368:651–662
- Creppe C, Malinouskaya L, Volvert ML, Gillard M, Close P, Malaise O, Laguesse S, Cornez I, Rahmouni S, Ormenese S, Belachew S, Malgrange B, Chapelle JP, Siebenlist U, Moonen G, Chariot A, Nguyen L (2009) Elongator controls the migration and differentiation of cortical neurons through acetylation of alpha-tubulin. Cell 136:551–564
- Dennemarker J, Lohmuller T, Muller S, Aguilar SV, Tobin DJ, Peters C, Reinheckel T (2010) Impaired turnover of autophagolysosomes in cathepsin L deficiency. Biol Chem 391:913–922
- Dompierre JP, Godin JD, Charrin BC, Cordelieres FP, King SJ, Humbert S, Saudou F (2007) Histone deacetylase 6 inhibition compensates for the transport deficit in Huntington's disease by increasing tubulin acetylation. J Neurosci 27:3571–3583
- Dong H, Czaja MJ (2011) Regulation of lipid droplets by autophagy. Trends Endocrinol Metab 22:234–240
- Dong LH, Cheng S, Zheng Z, Wang L, Shen Y, Shen ZX, Chen SJ, Zhao WL (2013) Histone deacetylase inhibitor potentiated the ability of MTOR inhibitor to induce autophagic cell death in Burkitt leukemia/lymphoma. J Hematol Oncol 6:53
- Donohoe DR, Garge N, Zhang X, Sun W, O'Connell TM, Bunger MK, Bultman SJ (2011) The microbiome and butyrate regulate energy metabolism and autophagy in the mammalian colon. Cell Metab 13:517–526
- Fu J, Shao CJ, Chen FR, Ng HK, Chen ZP (2010) Autophagy induced by valproic acid is associated with oxidative stress in glioma cell lines. Neuro Oncol 12:328–340
- Gallo P, Latronico MV, Gallo P, Grimaldi S, Borgia F, Todaro M, Jones P, Gallinari P, De Francesco R, Ciliberto G, Steinkuhler C, Esposito G, Condorelli G (2008) Inhibition of class I histone deacetylase with an apicidin derivative prevents cardiac hypertrophy and failure. Cardiovasc Res 80:416–424
- Geeraert C, Ratier A, Pfisterer SG, Perdiz D, Cantaloube I, Rouault A, Pattingre S, Proikas-Cezanne T, Codogno P, Pous C (2010) Starvation-induced hyperacetylation of tubulin is required for the stimulation of autophagy by nutrient deprivation. J Biol Chem 285:24184–24194

- Gillette TG, Hill JA (2015) Readers, writers, and erasers: chromatin as the whiteboard of heart disease. Circ Res 116:1245–1253
- Glozak MA, Sengupta N, Zhang X, Seto E (2005) Acetylation and deacetylation of non-histone proteins. Gene 363:15–23
- Gottlieb RA, Mentzer RM (2010) Autophagy during cardiac stress: joys and frustrations of autophagy. Annu Rev Physiol 72:45–59
- Granger A, Abdullah I, Huebner F, Stout A, Wang T, Huebner T, Epstein JA, Gruber PJ (2008) Histone deacetylase inhibition reduces myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury in mice. FASEB J 22:3549–3560
- Greer EL, Brunet A (2005) FOXO transcription factors at the interface between longevity and tumor suppression. Oncogene 24:7410–7425
- Grienenberger A, Miotto B, Sagnier T, Cavalli G, Schramke V, Geli V, Mariol MC, Berenger H, Graba Y, Pradel J (2002) The MYST domain acetyltransferase chameau functions in epigenetic mechanisms of transcriptional repression. Curr Biol 12:762–766
- Gronke S, Mildner A, Fellert S, Tennagels N, Petry S, Muller G, Jackle H, Kuhnlein RP (2005) Brummer lipase is an evolutionary conserved fat storage regulator in drosophila. Cell Metab 1:323–330
- Gurusamy N, Lekli I, Gorbunov NV, Gherghiceanu M, Popescu LM, Das DK (2009) Cardioprotection by adaptation to ischaemia augments autophagy in association with BAG-1 protein. J Cell Mol Med 13:373–387
- Han Y, Jin YH, Kim YJ, Kang BY, Choi HJ, Kim DW, Yeo CY, Lee KY (2008) Acetylation of Sirt2 by p300 attenuates its deacetylase activity. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 375:576–580
- Hariharan N, Maejima Y, Nakae J, Paik J, Depinho RA, Sadoshima J (2010) Deacetylation of FoxO by Sirt1 plays an essential role in mediating starvation-induced autophagy in cardiac myocytes. Circ Res 107:1470–1482
- Hariharan N, Zhai P, Sadoshima J (2011) Oxidative stress stimulates autophagic flux during ischemia/reperfusion. Antioxid Redox Signal 14:2179–2190
- He C, Klionsky DJ (2009) Regulation mechanisms and signaling pathways of autophagy. Annu Rev Genet 43:67–93
- Hein S, Arnon E, Kostin S, Schonburg M, Elsasser A, Polyakova V, Bauer EP, Klovekorn WP, Schaper J (2003) Progression from compensated hypertrophy to failure in the pressureoverloaded human heart: structural deterioration and compensatory mechanisms. Circulation 107:984–991
- Hill JA, Olson EN (2008) Cardiac plasticity. N Engl J Med 358:1370-1380
- Holmberg C, Katz S, Lerdrup M, Herdegen T, Jaattela M, Aronheim A, Kallunki T (2002) A novel specific role for I kappa B kinase complex-associated protein in cytosolic stress signaling. J Biol Chem 277:31918–31928
- Hrzenjak A, Kremser ML, Strohmeier B, Moinfar F, Zatloukal K, Denk H (2008) SAHA induces caspase-independent, autophagic cell death of endometrial stromal sarcoma cells by influencing the mTOR pathway. J Pathol 216:495–504
- Hubbert C, Guardiola A, Shao R, Kawaguchi Y, Ito A, Nixon A, Yoshida M, Wang XF, Yao TP (2002) HDAC6 is a microtubule-associated deacetylase. Nature 417:455–458
- Hwang JW, Chung S, Sundar IK, Yao H, Arunachalam G, McBurney MW, Rahman I (2010) Cigarette smoke-induced autophagy is regulated by SIRT1-PARP-1-dependent mechanism: implication in pathogenesis of COPD. Arch Biochem Biophys 500:203–209
- Iwata A, Riley BE, Johnston JA, Kopito RR (2005a) HDAC6 and microtubules are required for autophagic degradation of aggregated huntingtin. J Biol Chem 280:40282–40292
- Iwata A, Christianson JC, Bucci M, Ellerby LM, Nukina N, Forno LS, Kopito RR (2005b) Increased susceptibility of cytoplasmic over nuclear polyglutamine aggregates to autophagic degradation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 102:13135–13140
- Jahreiss L, Menzies FM, Rubinsztein DC (2008) The itinerary of autophagosomes: from peripheral formation to kiss-and-run fusion with lysosomes. Traffic 9:574–587
- Jeong H, Then F, Melia TJ Jr, Mazzulli JR, Cui L, Savas JN, Voisine C, Paganetti P, Tanese N, Hart AC, Yamamoto A, Krainc D (2009) Acetylation targets mutant huntingtin to autophagosomes for degradation. Cell 137:60–72

- Jeong JK, Moon MH, Lee YJ, Seol JW, Park SY (2013) Autophagy induced by the class III histone deacetylase Sirt1 prevents prion peptide neurotoxicity. Neurobiol Aging 34:146–156
- Juhasz G, Puskas LG, Komonyi O, Erdi B, Maroy P, Neufeld TP, Sass M (2007) Gene expression profiling identifies FKBP39 as an inhibitor of autophagy in larval Drosophila fat body. Cell Death Differ 14:1181–1190
- Jung KH, Noh JH, Kim JK, Eun JW, Bae HJ, Chang YG, Kim MG, Park WS, Lee JY, Lee SY, Chu IS, Nam SW (2012) Histone deacetylase 6 functions as a tumor suppressor by activating c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase-mediated beclin 1-dependent autophagic cell death in liver cancer. Hepatology 56:644–657
- Kassiotis C, Ballal K, Wellnitz K, Vela D, Gong M, Salazar R, Frazier OH, Taegtmeyer H (2009) Markers of autophagy are downregulated in failing human heart after mechanical unloading. Circulation 120:S191–S197
- Kimura S, Noda T, Yoshimori T (2008) Dynein-dependent movement of autophagosomes mediates efficient encounters with lysosomes. Cell Struct Funct 33:109–122
- Klionsky DJ (2007) Autophagy: from phenomenology to molecular understanding in less than a decade. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 8:931–937
- Kobayashi S, Volden P, Timm D, Mao K, Xu X, Liang Q (2010) Transcription factor GATA4 inhibits doxorubicin-induced autophagy and cardiomyocyte death. J Biol Chem 285:793–804
- Kochl R, Hu XW, Chan EY, Tooze SA (2006) Microtubules facilitate autophagosome formation and fusion of autophagosomes with endosomes. Traffic 7:129–145
- Kong Y, Tannous P, Lu G, Berenji K, Rothermel BA, Olson EN, Hill JA (2006) Suppression of class I and II histone deacetylases blunts pressure-overload cardiac hypertrophy. Circulation 113:2579–2588
- Kostin S, Pool L, Elsasser A, Hein S, Drexler HC, Arnon E, Hayakawa Y, Zimmermann R, Bauer E, Klovekorn WP, Schaper J (2003) Myocytes die by multiple mechanisms in failing human hearts. Circ Res 92:715–724
- Kroemer G, Levine B (2008) Autophagic cell death: the story of a misnomer. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 9:1004–1010
- Kroemer G, Marino G, Levine B (2010) Autophagy and the integrated stress response. Mol Cell 40:280–293
- Kume S, Uzu T, Horiike K, Chin-Kanasaki M, Isshiki K, Araki S, Sugimoto T, Haneda M, Kashiwagi A, Koya D (2010) Calorie restriction enhances cell adaptation to hypoxia through Sirt1-dependent mitochondrial autophagy in mouse aged kidney. J Clin Invest 120:1043–1055
- Kuo HP, Hung MC (2010) Arrest-defective-1 protein (ARD1): tumor suppressor or oncoprotein? Am J Transl Res 2:56–64
- Kuo HP, Lee DF, Chen CT, Liu M, Chou CK, Lee HJ, Du Y, Xie X, Wei Y, Xia W, Weihua Z, Yang JY, Yen CJ, Huang TH, Tan M, Xing G, Zhao Y, Lin CH, Tsai SF, Fidler IJ, Hung MC (2010) ARD1 stabilization of TSC2 suppresses tumorigenesis through the mTOR signaling pathway. Sci Signal 3:ra9
- Lamothe B, Lai Y, Hur L, Orozco NM, Wang J, Campos AD, Xie M, Schneider MD, Lockworth CR, Jakacky J, Tran D, Ho M, Dawud S, Dong C, Lin HK, Hu P, Estrov Z, Bueso-Ramos CE, Darnay BG (2012) Deletion of TAK1 in the myeloid lineage results in the spontaneous development of myelomonocytic leukemia in mice. PLoS One 7, e51228
- Lavandero S, Troncoso R, Rothermel BA, Martinet W, Sadoshima J, Hill JA (2013) Cardiovascular autophagy: concepts, controversies, and perspectives. Autophagy 9:1455–1466
- Lavandero S, Chiong M, Rothermel BA, Hill JA (2015) Autophagy in cardiovascular biology. J Clin Invest 125:55–64
- Lee IH, Finkel T (2009) Regulation of autophagy by the p300 acetyltransferase. J Biol Chem 284:6322–6328
- Lee JY, Yao TP (2010) Quality control autophagy: a joint effort of ubiquitin, protein deacetylase and actin cytoskeleton. Autophagy 6:555–557
- Lee IH, Cao L, Mostoslavsky R, Lombard DB, Liu J, Bruns NE, Tsokos M, Alt FW, Finkel T (2008) A role for the NAD-dependent deacetylase Sirt1 in the regulation of autophagy. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 105:3374–3379

- Lee JY, Koga H, Kawaguchi Y, Tang W, Wong E, Gao YS, Pandey UB, Kaushik S, Tresse E, Lu J, Taylor JP, Cuervo AM, Yao TP (2010) HDAC6 controls autophagosome maturation essential for ubiquitin-selective quality-control autophagy. EMBO J 29:969–980
- Levine B, Kroemer G (2008) Autophagy in the pathogenesis of disease. Cell 132:27-42
- L'Hernault SW, Rosenbaum JL (1985) Chlamydomonas alpha-tubulin is posttranslationally modified by acetylation on the epsilon-amino group of a lysine. Biochemistry 24:473–478
- Li DL, Hill JA (2014) Cardiomyocyte autophagy and cancer chemotherapy. J Mol Cell Cardiol 71:54–61
- Li DL, Wang ZV, Ding G, Tan W, Luo X, Criollo A, Xie M, Jiang N, May H, Kyrychenko V, Schneider JW, Gillette TG, Hill JA (2016) Doxorubicin blocks cardiomyocyte autophagic flux by inhibiting lysosome acidification. Circulation 133:1668–1687
- Lin SY, Li TY, Liu Q, Zhang C, Li X, Chen Y, Zhang SM, Lian G, Ruan K, Wang Z, Zhang CS, Chien KY, Wu J, Li Q, Han J, Lin SC (2012) GSK3-TIP60-ULK1 signaling pathway links growth factor deprivation to autophagy. Science 336:477–481
- Lipinski MM, Hoffman G, Ng A, Zhou W, Py BF, Hsu E, Liu X, Eisenberg J, Liu J, Blenis J, Xavier RJ, Yuan J (2010) A genome-wide siRNA screen reveals multiple mTORC1 independent signaling pathways regulating autophagy under normal nutritional conditions. Dev Cell 18:1041–1052
- Liu YL, Yang PM, Shun CT, Wu MS, Weng JR, Chen CC (2010) Autophagy potentiates the anticancer effects of the histone deacetylase inhibitors in hepatocellular carcinoma. Autophagy 6:1057–1065
- Lopez G, Torres K, Liu J, Hernandez B, Young E, Belousov R, Bolshakov S, Lazar AJ, Slopis JM, McCutcheon IE, McConkey D, Lev D (2011) Autophagic survival in resistance to histone deacetylase inhibitors: novel strategies to treat malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumors. Cancer Res 71:185–196
- Lu L, Wu W, Yan J, Li X, Yu H, Yu X (2009) Adriamycin-induced autophagic cardiomyocyte death plays a pathogenic role in a rat model of heart failure. Int J Cardiol 134:82–90
- Ma X, Liu H, Foyil SR, Godar RJ, Weinheimer CJ, Diwan A (2012a) Autophagy is impaired in cardiac ischemia-reperfusion injury. Autophagy 8:1394–1396
- Ma X, Liu H, Foyil SR, Godar RJ, Weinheimer CJ, Hill JA, Diwan A (2012b) Impaired autophagosome clearance contributes to cardiomyocyte death in ischemia/reperfusion injury. Circulation 125:3170–3181
- Mammucari C, Milan G, Romanello V, Masiero E, Rudolf R, Del Piccolo P, Burden SJ, Di Lisi R, Sandri C, Zhao J, Goldberg AL, Schiaffino S, Sandri M (2007) FoxO3 controls autophagy in skeletal muscle in vivo. Cell Metab 6:458–471
- Marino G, Morselli E, Bennetzen MV, Eisenberg T, Megalou E, Schroeder S, Cabrera S, Benit P, Rustin P, Criollo A, Kepp O, Galluzzi L, Shen S, Malik SA, Maiuri MC, Horio Y, Lopez-Otin C, Andersen JS, Tavernarakis N, Madeo F, Kroemer G (2011) Longevity-relevant regulation of autophagy at the level of the acetylproteome. Autophagy 7:647–649
- Marino G, Pietrocola F, Eisenberg T, Kong Y, Malik SA, Andryushkova A, Schroeder S, Pendl T, Harger A, Niso-Santano M, Zamzami N, Scoazec M, Durand S, Enot DP, Fernandez AF, Martins I, Kepp O, Senovilla L, Bauvy C, Morselli E, Vacchelli E, Bennetzen M, Magnes C, Sinner F, Pieber T, Lopez-Otin C, Maiuri MC, Codogno P, Andersen JS, Hill JA, Madeo F, Kroemer G (2014) Regulation of autophagy by cytosolic acetyl-coenzyme A. Mol Cell 53:710–725
- Matsui Y, Takagi H, Qu X, Abdellatif M, Sakoda H, Asano T, Levine B, Sadoshima J (2007) Distinct roles of autophagy in the heart during ischemia and reperfusion: roles of AMPactivated protein kinase and Beclin 1 in mediating autophagy. Circ Res 100:914–922
- Matsuzaki H, Daitoku H, Hatta M, Aoyama H, Yoshimochi K, Fukamizu A (2005) Acetylation of Foxo1 alters its DNA-binding ability and sensitivity to phosphorylation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 102:11278–11283
- Matthias P, Yoshida M, Khochbin S (2008) HDAC6 a new cellular stress surveillance factor. Cell Cycle 7:7–10

- McCampbell A, Taylor JP, Taye AA, Robitschek J, Li M, Walcott J, Merry D, Chai Y, Paulson H, Sobue G, Fischbeck KH (2000) CREB-binding protein sequestration by expanded polyglutamine. Hum Mol Genet 9:2197–2202
- McEwan DG, Dikic I (2011) The three musketeers of autophagy: phosphorylation, ubiquitylation and acetylation. Trends Cell Biol 21:195–201
- Mijaljica D, Prescott M, Devenish RJ (2011) Microautophagy in mammalian cells: revisiting a 40-year-old conundrum. Autophagy 7:673–682
- Miotto B, Sagnier T, Berenger H, Bohmann D, Pradel J, Graba Y (2006) Chameau HAT and DRpd3 HDAC function as antagonistic cofactors of JNK/AP-1-dependent transcription during drosophila metamorphosis. Genes Dev 20:101–112
- Mizushima N (2011) Autophagy in protein and organelle turnover. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol 76:397–402
- Mizushima N, Klionsky DJ (2007) Protein turnover via autophagy: implications for metabolism. Annu Rev Nutr 27:19–40
- Mizushima N, Levine B, Cuervo AM, Klionsky DJ (2008) Autophagy fights disease through cellular self-digestion. Nature 451:1069–1075
- Monastyrska I, He C, Geng J, Hoppe AD, Li Z, Klionsky DJ (2008) Arp2 links autophagic machinery with the actin cytoskeleton. Mol Biol Cell 19:1962–1975
- Montgomery RL, Davis CA, Potthoff MJ, Haberland M, Fielitz J, Qi X, Hill JA, Richardson JA, Olson EN (2007) Histone deacetylases 1 and 2 redundantly regulate cardiac morphogenesis, growth, and contractility. Genes Dev 21:1790–1802
- Morales CR, Li DL, Pedrozo Z, May HI, Jiang N, Kyrychenko V, Cho GW, Kim SY, Wang ZV, Rotter D, Rothermel BA, Schneider JW, Lavandero S, Gillette TG, Hill JA (2016) Inhibition of class I histone deacetylases blunts cardiac hypertrophy through TSC2-dependent mTOR repression. Sci Signal 9:ra34
- Morselli E, Marino G, Bennetzen MV, Eisenberg T, Megalou E, Schroeder S, Cabrera S, Benit P, Rustin P, Criollo A, Kepp O, Galluzzi L, Shen S, Malik SA, Maiuri MC, Horio Y, Lopez-Otin C, Andersen JS, Tavernarakis N, Madeo F, Kroemer G (2011) Spermidine and resveratrol induce autophagy by distinct pathways converging on the acetylproteome. J Cell Biol 192:615–629
- Mukherjee S, Ray D, Lekli I, Bak I, Tosaki A, Das DK (2010) Effects of longevinex (modified resveratrol) on cardioprotection and its mechanisms of action. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 88:1017–1025
- Nakai A, Yamaguchi O, Takeda T, Higuchi Y, Hikoso S, Taniike M, Omiya S, Mizote I, Matsumura Y, Asahi M, Nishida K, Hori M, Mizushima N, Otsu K (2007) The role of autophagy in cardiomyocytes in the basal state and in response to hemodynamic stress. Nat Med 13:619–624
- Nakatogawa H, Suzuki K, Kamada Y, Ohsumi Y (2009) Dynamics and diversity in autophagy mechanisms: lessons from yeast. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 10:458–467
- Nishino I, Fu J, Tanji K, Yamada T, Shimojo S, Koori T, Mora M, Riggs JE, Oh SJ, Koga Y, Sue CM, Yamamoto A, Murakami N, Shanske S, Byrne E, Bonilla E, Nonaka I, DiMauro S, Hirano M (2000) Primary LAMP-2 deficiency causes X-linked vacuolar cardiomyopathy and myopathy (Danon disease). Nature 406:906–910
- North BJ, Marshall BL, Borra MT, Denu JM, Verdin E (2003) The human Sir2 ortholog, SIRT2, is an NAD+-dependent tubulin deacetylase. Mol Cell 11:437–444
- Nowis D, Maczewski M, Mackiewicz U, Kujawa M, Ratajska A, Wieckowski MR, Wilczynski GM, Malinowska M, Bil J, Salwa P, Bugajski M, Wojcik C, Sinski M, Abramczyk P, Winiarska M, Dabrowska-Iwanicka A, Duszynski J, Jakobisiak M, Golab J (2010) Cardiotoxicity of the anticancer therapeutic agent bortezomib. Am J Pathol 176:2658–2668
- Nucifora FC Jr, Sasaki M, Peters MF, Huang H, Cooper JK, Yamada M, Takahashi H, Tsuji S, Troncoso J, Dawson VL, Dawson TM, Ross CA (2001) Interference by huntingtin and atrophin-1 with cbp-mediated transcription leading to cellular toxicity. Science 291:2423–2428
- Oh M, Choi IK, Kwon HJ (2008) Inhibition of histone deacetylase1 induces autophagy. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 369:1179–1183

- Piperno G, Fuller MT (1985) Monoclonal antibodies specific for an acetylated form of alphatubulin recognize the antigen in cilia and flagella from a variety of organisms. J Cell Biol 101:2085–2094
- Raben N, Schreiner C, Baum R, Takikita S, Xu S, Xie T, Myerowitz R, Komatsu M, Van der Meulen JH, Nagaraju K, Ralston E, Plotz PH (2010) Suppression of autophagy permits successful enzyme replacement therapy in a lysosomal storage disorder—murine Pompe disease. Autophagy 6:1078–1089
- Rahl PB, Chen CZ, Collins RN (2005) Elp1p, the yeast homolog of the FD disease syndrome protein, negatively regulates exocytosis independently of transcriptional elongation. Mol Cell 17:841–853
- Ravikumar B, Acevedo-Arozena A, Imarisio S, Berger Z, Vacher C, O'Kane CJ, Brown SD, Rubinsztein DC (2005) Dynein mutations impair autophagic clearance of aggregate-prone proteins. Nat Genet 37:771–776
- Ravikumar B, Sarkar S, Davies JE, Futter M, Garcia-Arencibia M, Green-Thompson ZW, Jimenez-Sanchez M, Korolchuk VI, Lichtenberg M, Luo S, Massey DC, Menzies FM, Moreau K, Narayanan U, Renna M, Siddiqi FH, Underwood BR, Winslow AR, Rubinsztein DC (2010) Regulation of mammalian autophagy in physiology and pathophysiology. Physiol Rev 90:1383–1435
- Reed NA, Cai D, Blasius TL, Jih GT, Meyhofer E, Gaertig J, Verhey KJ (2006) Microtubule acetylation promotes kinesin-1 binding and transport. Curr Biol 16:2166–2172
- Reggiori F, Klionsky DJ (2005) Autophagosomes: biogenesis from scratch? Curr Opin Cell Biol 17:415–422
- Rifki OF, Hill JA (2012) Cardiac autophagy: good with the bad. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 60:248–252
- Rikiishi H (2011) Autophagic and apoptotic effects of HDAC inhibitors on cancer cells. J Biomed Biotechnol 2011:830260
- Roccaro AM, Sacco A, Jia X, Azab AK, Maiso P, Ngo HT, Azab F, Runnels J, Quang P, Ghobrial IM (2010) microRNA-dependent modulation of histone acetylation in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood 116:1506–1514
- Rothermel BA, Hill JA (2008) Autophagy in load-induced heart disease. Circ Res 103:1363–1369
- Rubinsztein DC, Ravikumar B, Acevedo-Arozena A, Imarisio S, O'Kane CJ, Brown SD (2005) Dyneins, autophagy, aggregation and neurodegeneration. Autophagy 1:177–178
- Sadoul K, Wang J, Diagouraga B, Khochbin S (2011) The tale of protein lysine acetylation in the cytoplasm. J Biomed Biotechnol 2011:970382
- Saijo M, Takemura G, Koda M, Okada H, Miyata S, Ohno Y, Kawasaki M, Tsuchiya K, Nishigaki K, Minatoguchi S, Goto K, Fujiwara H (2004) Cardiomyopathy with prominent autophagic degeneration, accompanied by an elevated plasma brain natriuretic peptide level despite the lack of overt heart failure. Intern Med 43:700–703
- Sapountzi V, Cote J (2011) MYST-family histone acetyltransferases: beyond chromatin. Cell Mol Life Sci 68:1147–1156
- Sengupta A, Molkentin JD, Yutzey KE (2009) FoxO transcription factors promote autophagy in cardiomyocytes. J Biol Chem 284:28319–28331
- Shao Y, Gao Z, Marks PA, Jiang X (2004) Apoptotic and autophagic cell death induced by histone deacetylase inhibitors. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 101:18030–18035
- Shimomura H, Terasaki F, Hayashi T, Kitaura Y, Isomura T, Suma H (2001) Autophagic degeneration as a possible mechanism of myocardial cell death in dilated cardiomyopathy. Jpn Circ J 65:965–968
- Singh R, Cuervo AM (2012) Lipophagy: connecting autophagy and lipid metabolism. Int J Cell Biol 2012:282041
- Singh R, Kaushik S, Wang Y, Xiang Y, Novak I, Komatsu M, Tanaka K, Cuervo AM, Czaja MJ (2009) Autophagy regulates lipid metabolism. Nature 458:1131–1135
- St John Sutton MG (2009) Plappert T and Rahmouni H. Assessment of left ventricular systolic function by echocardiography. Heart Fail Clin 5:177–190

- Steffan JS, Kazantsev A, Spasic-Boskovic O, Greenwald M, Zhu YZ, Gohler H, Wanker EE, Bates GP, Housman DE, Thompson LM (2000) The Huntington's disease protein interacts with p53 and CREB-binding protein and represses transcription. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 97:6763–6768
- Sugimoto S, Shiomi K, Yamamoto A, Nishino I, Nonaka I, Ohi T (2007) LAMP-2 positive vacuolar myopathy with dilated cardiomyopathy. Intern Med 46:757–760
- Tanaka Y, Guhde G, Suter A, Eskelinen EL, Hartmann D, Lullmann-Rauch R, Janssen PM, Blanz J, von Figura K, Saftig P (2000) Accumulation of autophagic vacuoles and cardiomyopathy in LAMP-2-deficient mice. Nature 406:902–906
- Trivedi CM, Luo Y, Yin Z, Zhang M, Zhu W, Wang T, Floss T, Goettlicher M, Noppinger PR, Wurst W, Ferrari VA, Abrams CS, Gruber PJ, Epstein JA (2007) Hdac2 regulates the cardiac hypertrophic response by modulating Gsk3 beta activity. Nat Med 13:324–331
- Turer AT, Hill JA (2010) Pathogenesis of myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury and rationale for therapy. Am J Cardiol 106:360–368
- Tzivion G, Dobson M, Ramakrishnan G (1813) FoxO transcription factors; regulation by AKT and 14-3-3 proteins. Biochim Biophys Acta 2011:1938–1945
- Valentim L, Laurence KM, Townsend PA, Carroll CJ, Soond S, Scarabelli TM, Knight RA, Latchman DS, Stephanou A (2006) Urocortin inhibits Beclin1-mediated autophagic cell death in cardiac myocytes exposed to ischaemia/reperfusion injury. J Mol Cell Cardiol 40:846–852
- Van Der Heide LP, Hoekman MF, Smidt MP (2004) The ins and outs of FoxO shuttling: mechanisms of FoxO translocation and transcriptional regulation. Biochem J 380:297–309
- Wang F, Tong Q (2009) SIRT2 suppresses adipocyte differentiation by deacetylating FOXO1 and enhancing FOXO1's repressive interaction with PPARgamma. Mol Biol Cell 20:801–808
- Wang F, Nguyen M, Qin FX, Tong Q (2007) SIRT2 deacetylates FOXO3a in response to oxidative stress and caloric restriction. Aging Cell 6:505–514
- Wang ZV, Ferdous A, Hill JA (2013) Cardiomyocyte autophagy: metabolic profit and loss. Heart Fail Rev 18:585–594
- Xie M, Hill JA (2013) HDAC-dependent ventricular remodeling. Trends Cardiovasc Med 23:229–235
- Xie R, Nguyen S, McKeehan WL, Liu L (2010) Acetylated microtubules are required for fusion of autophagosomes with lysosomes. BMC Cell Biol 11:89
- Xie M, Morales CR, Lavandero S, Hill JA (2011) Tuning flux: autophagy as a target of heart disease therapy. Curr Opin Cardiol 26:216–222
- Xie M, Kong Y, Tan W, May H, Battiprolu PK, Pedrozo Z, Wang ZV, Morales C, Luo X, Cho G, Jiang N, Jessen ME, Warner JJ, Lavandero S, Gillette TG, Turer AT, Hill JA (2014) Histone deacetylase inhibition blunts ischemia/reperfusion injury by inducing cardiomyocyte autophagy. Circulation 129:1139–1151
- Yamamoto S, Tanaka K, Sakimura R, Okada T, Nakamura T, Li Y, Takasaki M, Nakabeppu Y, Iwamoto Y (2008) Suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid (SAHA) induces apoptosis or autophagyassociated cell death in chondrosarcoma cell lines. Anticancer Res 28:1585–1591
- Yan L, Vatner DE, Kim SJ, Ge H, Masurekar M, Massover WH, Yang G, Matsui Y, Sadoshima J, Vatner SF (2005) Autophagy in chronically ischemic myocardium. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 102:13807–13812
- Yang JY, Hung MC (2011) Deciphering the role of forkhead transcription factors in cancer therapy. Curr Drug Targets 12:1284–1290
- Yang Z, Klionsky DJ (2010) Mammalian autophagy: core molecular machinery and signaling regulation. Curr Opin Cell Biol 22:124–131
- Yang XJ, Seto E (2008) Lysine acetylation: codified crosstalk with other posttranslational modifications. Mol Cell 31:449–461
- Yellon DM, Hausenloy DJ (2007) Myocardial reperfusion injury. N Engl J Med 357:1121-1135
- Yi C, Ma M, Ran L, Zheng J, Tong J, Zhu J, Ma C, Sun Y, Zhang S, Feng W, Zhu L, Le Y, Gong X, Yan X, Hong B, Jiang FJ, Xie Z, Miao D, Deng H, Yu L (2012) Function and molecular mechanism of acetylation in autophagy regulation. Science 336:474–477

- Yitzhaki S, Huang C, Liu W, Lee Y, Gustafsson AB, Mentzer RM Jr, Gottlieb RA (2009) Autophagy is required for preconditioning by the adenosine A1 receptor-selective agonist CCPA. Basic Res Cardiol 104:157–167
- Zhang X, Yuan Z, Zhang Y, Yong S, Salas-Burgos A, Koomen J, Olashaw N, Parsons JT, Yang XJ, Dent SR, Yao TP, Lane WS, Seto E (2007) HDAC6 modulates cell motility by altering the acetylation level of cortactin. Mol Cell 27:197–213
- Zhang H, Bosch-Marce M, Shimoda LA, Tan YS, Baek JH, Wesley JB, Gonzalez FJ, Semenza GL (2008) Mitochondrial autophagy is an HIF-1-dependent adaptive metabolic response to hypoxia. J Biol Chem 283:10892–10903
- Zhang L, Chen B, Zhao Y, Dubielecka PM, Wei L, Qin GJ, Chin YE, Wang Y, Zhao TC (2012) Inhibition of histone deacetylase-induced myocardial repair is mediated by c-kit in infarcted hearts. J Biol Chem 287:39338–39348
- Zhao J, Brault JJ, Schild A, Cao P, Sandri M, Schiaffino S, Lecker SH, Goldberg AL (2007a) FoxO3 coordinately activates protein degradation by the autophagic/lysosomal and proteasomal pathways in atrophying muscle cells. Cell Metab 6:472–483
- Zhao TC, Cheng G, Zhang LX, Tseng YT, Padbury JF (2007b) Inhibition of histone deacetylases triggers pharmacologic preconditioning effects against myocardial ischemic injury. Cardiovasc Res 76:473–481
- Zhu H, Tannous P, Johnstone JL, Kong Y, Shelton JM, Richardson JA, Le V, Levine B, Rothermel BA, Hill JA (2007) Cardiac autophagy is a maladaptive response to hemodynamic stress. J Clin Invest 117:1782–1793
- Zimmermann R, Strauss JG, Haemmerle G, Schoiswohl G, Birner-Gruenberger R, Riederer M, Lass A, Neuberger G, Eisenhaber F, Hermetter A, Zechner R (2004) Fat mobilization in adipose tissue is promoted by adipose triglyceride lipase. Science 306:1383–1386



# Sirtuins as Regulators of Cardiac Hypertrophy and Heart Failure

# 11

Sadhana Samant and Mahesh P. Gupta

### Contents

Introduction	264		
2 Role of Lysine Acetylation as an Epigenetic Modifier			
Sirtuin Family of Lysine Deacetylases.			
Sirtuins as Histone Modifiers.			
Sirtuins as Regulators of Gene Expression in Cardiovascular Diseases	267		
11.5.1 SIRT1	268		
11.5.2 SIRT3	273		
11.5.3 SIRT6	274		
11.5.4 SIRT7	275		
Concluding Remarks	275		
ences	275		
	Introduction Role of Lysine Acetylation as an Epigenetic Modifier Sirtuin Family of Lysine Deacetylases Sirtuins as Histone Modifiers Sirtuins as Regulators of Gene Expression in Cardiovascular Diseases 11.5.1 SIRT1 11.5.2 SIRT3 11.5.3 SIRT6 11.5.4 SIRT7 Concluding Remarks		

#### Abstract

Sirtuins are emerging as key regulators of a number of biological functions ranging from cell growth, differentiation to longevity. Mammalian genome encodes seven sirtuins isoform (SIRT1–SIRT7), which are distributed in different compartment of the cells. Sirtuins need NAD<sup>+</sup> for their enzymatic reaction. Because of their dependency on NAD, they can respond to energy need of the cells and modulate key enzymatic pathways relevant to the maintenance of cellular health. Throughout the evolution, from prokaryotes to mammals, sirtuins are mainly valued for their ability to bestow cells with efficient adaptation to stress conditions. Sirtuins target histone and nonhistone proteins to ameliorate varied pathophysiologic conditions by controlling gene transcription and fitness of mitochondria. Many sirtuin isoforms have been also studied for their roles in regulating cardiac development and protecting the heart from pathological stress. In this review, we will discuss impact of sirtuins in overall health of the cardiovascular system.

S. Samant

M.P. Gupta (🖂)

Biological Science Division, University of Chicago Medicine, 5841. South Maryland Avenue, Chicago, IL 60637, USA

Department of Surgery, University of Chicago,

<sup>5841</sup> South Maryland Avenue, Chicago, IL 60637, USA e-mail: mgupta@surgery.bsd.uchicago.edu

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

J. Backs, T.A. McKinsey (eds.), Epigenetics in Cardiac Disease,

Cardiac and Vascular Biology 1, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-41457-7\_11

#### 11.1 Introduction

Heart failure (HF) remains an important clinical and societal problem. In the United States alone, about 600,000 people die of heart disease, and approximately 550,000 new cases are recognized annually. It is estimated that there are nearly five million Americans currently living with congestive heart failure (CHF) and it is the first listed diagnosis in around 900,000 hospitalizations each year (Go et al. 2013). Although there have been important advances in our understanding of the mechanisms, etiologies, and treatments of HF over the past two decades, the morbidity and mortality attributed to HF continues to rise (Massie and Shah 1997). In general terms, HF is recognized as a pathophysiological state in which the heart is unable to pump blood at a rate commensurate with the requirements of the metabolizing tissues. HF is usually caused by a defect in myocardial contraction. It can arise from multiple conditions such as coronary heart diseases (CHD), high blood pressure, metabolic disorders, excessive alcoholism, and also as a consequence of aging. In addition, genetic factors could also contribute to the evolution of HF. Defect in myocardial contractile function causing HF may result from decrease in number of viable fully functional myocytes, decrement in the function of viable myocytes, or alterations to the intrinsic contractile activity of individual myocytes (Anversa et al. 1990). Several functional abnormalities involving calcium homeostasis, contractile protein function, mitochondrial bioenergetics, and cytoskeleton rearrangement have been identified in the hypertrophied and failing myocardium (Colucci 1997; Frey and Olson 2003; Katz 1990). At the molecular level, alterations have been observed in the expression of numerous genes that are central to the normal structure and function of the myocardium; however, the basic mechanism of gene dys-regulation that contributes to the evolution of HF is not yet fully understood.

There are multiple layers of controls involved in gene expression, which include location of regulatory sequences such as promoters and enhancers in the gene, various histone modifications, and multiprotein complexes that remodel chromatin (Bernstein et al. 2007). Common epigenetic modifications, such as methylation and acetylation of histones (Allfrey et al. 1964) or chromatin-associated nonhistone proteins, also play critical roles in gene expression (Thiagalingam et al. 2003; Wu et al. 2009). One such epigenetic modification is reversible acetylation of specific lysine residues in the histones and nonhistone proteins (Glozak et al. 2005). This type of modification has gained significant interest in recent years because of its versatile role in the regulation of diverse cellular pathways (Norris et al. 2009; Spange et al. 2009). Defects in protein lysine acetylation have been attributed to several human diseases including heart failure (Batta et al. 2007; Morris 2013).

#### 11.2 Role of Lysine Acetylation as an Epigenetic Modifier

Protein acetylation is carried out by the addition of an acetyl moiety to the epsilonamino group ( $\varepsilon$ ) of lysine residues within a protein. In this process, acetyl group from acetyl-coenzyme A (acetyl-CoA) is added to the lysine residue by either an enzymatic or a nonenzymatic mechanism (Wagner and Hirschey 2014). Enzymatic addition is facilitated by a class of enzymes called histone acetyl-transferases (HATs), while the nonenzymatic addition depends on various factors, such as concentration of acetyl-CoA and pH of the milieu interior of the cell. It is proposed that acetyl-CoA concentrations can be a determining factor for the metabolic status of the cell (Cai and Tu 2011). Since acetyl-CoA is necessary for acetylation reaction, it can influence activation of gene expression via acetylation of regulatory factors and/or histones. Histones that comprise the core of nucleosomes when acetylated get repelled from the negatively charged DNA, thereby facilitating access of transcription factors to promoters and enhancers of the gene. The reverse direction of this reaction is removal of acetyl group from the lysine residue of the histones, a process called deacetylation. Histone deacetylation results in compaction of the chromatin, and thus, it shuts off the gene transcription (Wolffe 1996). Deacetylation of histone proteins is carried out by a group of enzymes termed as lysine deacetylases (HDACs or KDACs).

Recent studies have brought HDACs into limelight because of the wide spectrum of involvement they demonstrate in different facets of cellular processes. HDACs are classified into four classes and comprise of 18 members in eukaryotes (Ekwall 2005). Class I HDACs that include HDAC 1, 2, 3, and 8 are largely known to associate with multiprotein chromatin-remodeling complexes in the nucleus. However, HDAC3 was also found in cytoplasm where it regulates contractility of myofilaments (Samant et al. 2011). Class II HDACs include HDAC 4, 5, 6, 7, 9, and 10 that can shuttle between nucleus and cytoplasm based on the cellular cues. HDAC11 is separately classified into Class IV. These three classes of HDACs are zinc-dependent enzymes. In the heart, majority of Class I HDACs seems to act as pro-hypertrophic molecules (Backs and Olson 2006). HDAC2 overexpression in mouse heart has been shown to induce hypertrophy through activation of PI3K-Akt-GSK3βsignaling pathway (Trivedi et al. 2007). On the other hand, members of Class II HDACs repress activity of several pro-hypertrophic transcription factors including GATA4, NFAT, MEF2, SRF and thus act as antihypertrophic agents (Backs and Olson 2006; Chang et al. 2004; Zhang et al. 2002). Class III HDACs, more commonly known as "Sirtuins," are structurally distinct from the other classes of deacetylases. These are NAD+-dependent lysine deacetylases that are highly conserved during evolution.

#### 11.3 Sirtuin Family of Lysine Deacetylases

Members of sirtuin family are found in as primitive form of life as eubacteria and archaea. Their expression precedes histones and even the existence of chromatinlike entity (Frye 2000). It is suggested that fluctuations in the intracellular acetate and NAD<sup>+</sup> levels in response to environmental stress could regulate cellular growth and metabolic processes via dynamic interplay between lysine acetylation–deacetylation of key proteins. A good example of such reversible regulation goes back in evolution to the single-cell prokaryotes called archaea, which were first found in extreme environments such as volcanic hot springs (Brock and Freeze 1969). Archaea are considered ancestors of eukaryotes, which were first to possess chromatin-like structures (Pereira et al. 1997). Archaeal sirtuin, Sir2 was found to deacetylate another conserved chromatin-binding protein *Alba* to modulate its affinity toward DNA, and thereby regulating genome organization (Bell et al. 2002). It appears that as the complexity of systems increased diversification of sirtuins became a necessity for the multicellular organism to fulfill the unique, but intimately coordinated signaling networks of the cell, to maintain unanimity with the environmental stress.

The mammalian genome encodes seven highly conserved sirtuin isoforms, SIRT1 to SIRT7 (Frye 2000). These seven isoforms are localized to different subcellular compartments and regulate variety of cellular functions ranging from cell growth, metabolism to lifespan. Because of their dependency on NAD<sup>+</sup> as a cofactor, these deacetylases are considered to be sensors of energy crisis in the cell. They are prominently involved as regulators of key members of the critical signaling pathways (Nakagawa and Guarente 2011; Vassilopoulos et al. 2011). During deacetylation reaction, sirtuins remove the acetyl group from the  $\varepsilon$ -acetyl-lysine substrates and transfer it to ADP-ribose moiety of NAD<sup>+</sup>, leaving nicotinamide (NAM) and O-acetyl-ADP-ribose (OAADPR) as the by-product of the reaction (Tanner et al. 2000). Some of the sirtuin isoforms also harbor other enzymatic activities, such as ADP ribosyl-transferase (ART), demalonylation, and desuccinylation, though much less has been understood for their roles in these modifications, compared to deacetylation (Du et al. 2011; Nakagawa and Guarente 2011; Peng et al. 2011).

Of the seven sirtuins, SIRT1, SIRT6, and SIRT7 mainly reside in the nucleus (Michishita et al. 2005). SIRT1 is also shown to migrate to cytoplasm and to plasma membrane during development and growth conditions (Sundaresan et al. 2011a; Tanno et al. 2007), while SIRT7 is the resident of nucleolus (Michishita et al. 2005). SIRT2 is primarily localized to the cytoplasm but can shuttle to the nucleus to regulate cell cycle (Inoue et al. 2007). SIRT3, SIRT4, and SIRT5 are predominantly mitochondrial (Nakagawa and Guarente 2011). A lesser amount of SIRT3 is also present in the nuclear and cytoplasmic compartments (Sundaresan et al. 2008). Research in the past decade has highlighted beneficial effects of sirtuins in maintaining cellular growth, metabolic homeostasis, and longevity (Haigis and Guarente 2006; Haigis and Sinclair 2010; Michan and Sinclair 2007). As these processes are dependent upon the proper balance of gene regulation, a role of sirtuins in gene transcription is obvious. Regulation of gene transcription by sirtuins could be directly mediated through their interactions with relevant transcription factors or indirectly as a member of different multiprotein chromatin-remodeling complexes. In addition to deacetylation activity, sirtuins are now being implicated in the process of protein-deacylation where lysine residues are stripped off modifications by succinyl-CoA, malonyl-CoA, glutaryl-CoA, etc. SIRT5 possesses lysine desuccinylase, demalonylase, and deglutarylase activity (Du et al. 2011; Peng et al. 2011), while SIRT6 displays lysine demyristoylase and depalmitoylase activity (Jiang et al. 2013). This implies that these NAD+-dependent enzymes can multitask to regulate several signaling pathways in different subcellular compartments to maintain cellular homeostasis and combat environmental stresses.

#### 11.4 Sirtuins as Histone Modifiers

The basic unit of DNA packaging in eukaryotic chromatin, called as nucleosome, is made up of 147 bp of DNA strand wound around a histone octamer, consisting of two copies of each of the four histones (H2A, H2B, H3, and H4) (Kornberg and Lorch 1999). When sirtuins get incorporated in the multiprotein regulatory complexes residing at the gene promoters, they modulate distribution of nucleosomes at these sites. Covalent modifications of specific amino-acid residues in the N-terminal tail of core histones alter interaction of negatively charged DNA with its binding proteins, including histone and other nonhistone proteins. So far, in addition to acetylation, a wide array of post-translational modifications of histones is reported. These include methylation, phosphorylation, ubiquitination, ADPribosylation, sumovlation, etc. (Jenuwein and Allis 2001). All these reversible modifications are intricately regulated via balanced coordination between counteracting enzymes. Based on the position of the modified amino acid residue in histones or the type of modification, higher order structure of the chromatin gets altered, and thereby a specific gene or different set of genes are repressed or activated (Batta et al. 2007).

In mammals, more than two thousand proteins are reported to be acetylated making lysine acetylation/deacetylation a major player in the field of cellular regulatory mechanisms (Guan and Xiong 2011; Lundby et al. 2012). Sirtuins, not only on their own are significant contributors to epigenetic modifications of histones, but also work in conjunction with methylation, the other well-studied histone modification (Papait et al. 2013). Together, they create an "epigenetic code" for chromatin that can result into transcriptionally active or silenced domains. Coordination between histone acetylation and methylation is observed in important cellular processes, such as DNA replication, repair, and gene transcription (Lorenzen et al. 2012).

Of the four core histones, the major two which are reported to be common targets of multiple sirtuins are histone H3 and H4. Lysine 9 in H3 (H3K9) and lysine 16 in H4 (H4K16) are highly conserved and commonly acetylated residues throughout the evolution (Bosch-Presegue and Vaquero 2014). H3K9 acetylation is reported in many actively transcribed gene promoters. However, H4K16 acetylation is unique in the sense it is linked to both transcriptional activation and repression (Martinez-Redondo and Vaquero 2013). Table 11.1 summarizes the different lysine residues of histones targeted by sirtuins.

#### 11.5 Sirtuins as Regulators of Gene Expression in Cardiovascular Diseases

Most common causes of heart failure are coronary artery disease, which leads to myocardial infarction. These cardiac pathologies ultimately result in loss of functioning myocytes, development of fibrosis, and remodeling of the left ventricle. Of the seven sirtuins expressed in mammals, so far the roles for SIRT1, SIRT3, SIRT6, and SIRT7 have been studied in some detail for their ability to regulate the development of cardiac remodeling and heart failure (Fig. 11.1). However, relatively less is

Histone substrate	Sirtuin	References
H1K26	SIRT1	(Vaquero et al. 2004)
H3K9	SIRT1	(Imai et al. 2000; Vaquero et al. 2007)
	SIRT3	(Scher et al. 2007)
	SIRT6	(Kawahara et al. 2009; McCord et al. 2009; Michishita et al. 2008; Sundaresan et al. 2012; Zhong et al. 2010)
H3K14	SIRT1	(Imai et al. 2000)
H3K18	SIRT7	(Barber et al. 2012)
H3K56	SIRT1	(Yuan et al. 2009)
	SIRT2	(Vempati et al. 2010)
	SIRT6	(Michishita et al. 2009; Yang et al. 2009)
H4K16	SIRT1	(Imai et al. 2000)
	SIRT2	(Vaquero et al. 2006)
	SIRT3	(Iwahara et al. 2012; Scher et al. 2007)

Table 11.1 Lysine residues in histones targeted by different sirtuin isoforms



Fig. 11.1 Sirtuins in cardiovascular diseases

Sirtuin 1, 3, 6, and 7 contribute positively to improve cardiovascular health in spite of their different subcellular locations. In addition to their role as epigenetic modulators of histones, these NAD<sup>+</sup>-dependent class III deacetylases regulate multitude of key pathways associated with oxidative stress, calorie restriction, aging, metabolic disorders, pressure overload, etc

known for their effects in maintaining fitness of the vascular system. Here, we will discuss these sirtuin isoforms individually for their involvement in protecting the heart from going into failure.

#### 11.5.1 SIRT1

SIRT1 is a prototype member of the sirtuin family, and it has been studied most for its role in regulating growth and functioning of the heart. We and others have previously reviewed the role of SIRT1 in the heart and its critical participation in signaling pathways contributing to development of cardiac hypertrophy. Interested readers can consult these reviews for details (Giblin et al. 2014; Sundaresan et al. 2011a; Zhang and Kraus 2010). SIRT1 has been shown to play a critical role in the development of the embryonic heart (Cheng et al. 2003; McBurney et al. 2003). SIRT1 whole-body knock-out mice on an inbred genetic background show cardiac malformations and succumb to death soon after birth (Cheng et al. 2003; McBurney et al. 2003). Occasionally, few pups with complete SIRT1 deficiency survive, and they display retarded body size and defects in the development of ventricular septum, valves, and endocardial cushion (Cheng et al. 2003). Studies conducted to determine subcellular localization of SIRT1 during development have revealed that it is exclusively nuclear in embryonic heart but become expressed both in the nucleus and in the cytoplasm in the adult heart (Tanno et al. 2007), thus suggesting a shifting role for SIRT1 to accommodate needs of the adult heart. Based on biochemical studies, it is suggested that in the absence of SIRT1, hyperacetylation of p53 and dysregulation of the apoptotic process, which is necessary for cardiac development, may contribute to cardiac developmental defects (Cheng et al. 2003). Also, acetylation of myocyte enhancer factor 2 (Mef2) was reported in SIRT1KO hearts. Since MEF2 is a critical transcription factor necessary for the normal growth and development of the heart, the acetylation of this factor is also proposed to be root cause of cardiomyopathy seen in SIRT1KO hearts. At the cellular level, these SIRT1KO hearts show reduced size of cardiomyocytes, lack of extracellular matrix and defects in mitochondrial structure and function (Planavila et al. 2012).

SIRT1 has been also shown to play an essential role in regulating activity of the Akt-signaling pathway (Pillai et al. 2014; Sundaresan et al. 2011b). Same as for Akt, which plays contrasting roles in regulating growth of the heart depending on the degree of activation (Catalucci and Condorelli 2006), SIRT1 has been also shown to exert a dose-dependent effect for the development of cardiac hypertrophy (Alcendor et al. 2007). In primary cultures of cardiomyocytes, SIRT1 expression seems to be necessary for the induction of cellular hypertrophy (Alcendor et al. 2004). Ischemia reperfusion causes more injury to SIRT1-deficient, but attenuation in SIRT1 over-expressing heart (Hsu et al. 2010). In the in vivo models of cardiac I/R injury, long-term calorie restriction (CR) was shown to restrain infarct size with concomitant increase in nuclear localization of SIRT1 (Shinmura et al. 2008). However, studies conducted with transgenic mice having cardiac-specific overexpression of SIRT1 showed induction of cardiac hypertrophy with impaired diastolic function in a dose-dependent manner. Only moderate overexpression (2.5-fold) of SIRT1 in transgenic hearts was reported to be beneficial to protect the heart from oxidative stress, age-associated cardiac hypertrophy, fibrosis, and apoptosis (Alcendor et al. 2007). Mechanistic studies have demonstrated that during oxidative stress, SIRT1 inhibits the activity of pro-apoptotic transcription factors, p53 and FOXO3a by deacetylation, while it activates FOXO1-dependent expression of the antioxidant enzymes such as MnSOD and catalase, thereby suppressing cardiomyocyte death (Alcendor et al. 2004). On the other hand, more than ninefold overexpression of SIRT1 leads to cardiac hypertrophy due to overactivation of the Akt-signaling pathway (Alcendor et al. 2007). Hyperexpression of SIRT1 in

spontaneously hypertensive rat hearts (Li et al. 2009) and in diabetic rats (Vahtola et al. 2008) is also reported to be associated with the evolution of cardiac hypertrophy.

In addition to dose dependency, beneficial effects of SIRT1 are also reliant on availability of NAD<sup>+</sup>, the essential cofactor needed for its enzymatic activity. Evidence for NAD<sup>+</sup>'s role in conferring favorable effect of SIRT1 comes from the hearts of fructose fed (Pillai et al. 2008) or exercise-trained mice (Ferrara et al. 2008). These hearts show mild induction of SIRT1 with abundant supply of NAD<sup>+</sup> and therefore suppression of stress-induced cardiac hypertrophy. Also, in the rat model of cardiac hypertrophy where poly-ADP ribose polymerase 1 (PARP1), another NAD<sup>+</sup>-consuming enzyme was activated; concomitant decrease in SIRT1 activity was reported (Pillai et al. 2005). Replenishing NAD<sup>+</sup> or activating enzymes necessary for NAD<sup>+</sup> biosynthesis (NAMPT or NMNAT) prevented loss of SIRT1 activity (Zhang et al. 2009) and helped to improve cardiomyocyte survival (Pillai et al. 2005). In another study, PARP1-mediated cardiomyocyte death was shown to be averted by SIRT1-mediated deacetylation of PARP1, as well as by reducing its expression through the inhibition of PARP1 promoter (Rajamohan et al. 2009).

Defects in mitochondrial structure and function are also hallmarks of the failing heart (Nisoli et al. 2007). Expression of genes involved in nuclear-encoded mitochondrial genes is downregulated in human hearts undergoing failure. Many of these genes are targets of estrogen-related receptors (ERRs), a nuclear receptor family. In the failing heart, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- $\alpha$  (PPAR- $\alpha$ ) makes a complex with SIRT1 and directly interacts with ERR response elements (ERRE) in the target promoters to repress their transcription (Oka et al. 2012). Pressure overload that downregulates many ERR target genes can be rescued partially by knocking down PPAR- $\alpha$  and SIRT1 together (Oka et al. 2012). SIRT1 appears to be an essential functional partner for the suppressive transcriptional action of PPAR- $\alpha$  (Oka et al. 2012). Additionally, liver-specific SIRT1 knock-out mice show impaired PPAR- $\alpha$  target gene expression (Purushotham et al. 2009). However, another study reports that activation of PPARa pathway through the upregulation of SIRT1 protects the heart from the development of hypertrophy. In this study, activation of SIRT1 by resveratrol (RSV) prevented agonist-induced cardiac hypertrophy, metabolic dysregulation, and inflammation in a PPAR $\alpha$ -dependent manner (Planavila et al. 2011). These opposing effects of SIRT1 involving the same pathway, emphasize how subtle changes in sirtuin levels can impact delicate regulation of transcription factors. In the first study, where SIRT1 was found to be detrimental, cardiac hypertrophy was induced via pressure overload, while in the second study where its activation was found to be protective, hypertrophy was induced by isoproterenol infusion. It is possible that the opposite effects of SIRT1 could be dose-dependent as was the case with SIRT1 overexpressing transgenic mice, or due to duration of activation. Higher doses of SIRT1 may impose detrimental effects due to indiscriminate deacetylation of proteins that may not occur in conditions where SIRT1 activation is mild. RSV-induced SIRT1 activity was also reported to improve cardiac contractility in rat hearts subjected to trauma-hemorrhage injury (Jian et al. 2012). Elevated expression of SIRT1 upon RSV treatment in this model

was found to be associated with decreased levels of c-Myc, cytosolic cytochrome C, and plasma TNF- $\alpha$ , while an increased cardiac ATP contents and augmented PGC-1 $\alpha$  expression. This positive effect of RSV was abolished upon treatment with SIRT1 inhibitor sirtinol-reiterating SIRT1 dependency.

One of the factors that play a pivotal role in regulating mitochondrial biogenesis and fatty acid metabolism is PGC1 $\alpha$ , and its optimal activity is necessary for maintaining energy demand of the heart. In human failing heart, PGC-1a levels are approximately 30% of that in the nonfailing heart. PGC-1a levels were also found to be reduced in aging mouse hearts concomitant with decreased levels of SIRT1 (Garnier et al. 2009). PGC1a is a direct target of SIRT1. SIRT1 physically interacts with and deacetylates PGC1 $\alpha$  at multiple lysine residues leading to an increased activity of PGC1 $\alpha$  (Rodgers et al. 2005). Therefore, observed activation of PGC-1 $\alpha$ through SIRT1-mediated deacetylation is expected to improve energy metabolism of the failing heart. In accordance with this presumption, it was reported that SIRT1 activator resveratrol ameliorates cardiac dysfunctions by preserving mitochondrial biogenesis in a rodent model of heart failure (Lagouge et al. 2006). Additionally, in mice fed with high-calorie diet, impaired insulin sensitivity was correlated with pathological histology of hearts. This pathology was attenuated by treatment with resveratrol in the SIRT1-dependent manner. Also, in high-fat-fed mice, SIRT1 was implicated in improving insulin sensitivity by repressing protein tyrosine phosphatase (PTP) 1B transcription at the level of chromatin. PTP1B is a key insulinreceptor phosphatase, which reverses tyrosine kinase effect to negatively regulate insulin-signaling transduction cascade (Moller 2001). SIRT1 was shown to improve contractile function of failing myocardium through the regulation of insulin sensitivity (Sun et al. 2007).

Cardiac hypertrophy is dependent on coronary angiogenesis. Loss of coordination between angiogenesis and cardiac muscle growth culminates into development and progression of pathologic hypertrophy (Shiojima et al. 2005). In agingassociated cardiovascular diseases such as hypertension, diabetic cardiomyopathy, and atherosclerosis, endothelial dysfunction arising from oxidative stress and premature senescence of endothelial cells is very common (Taddei et al. 2006; Voghel et al. 2007). SIRT1 plays a dual role in the activation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) by increasing its expression and by deacetylation to stimulate its activity, and thereby promoting endothelium-dependent vasodilation (Mattagajasingh et al. 2007; Napoli et al. 2008). SIRT1 has also been shown to interfere with the NF-kB signaling pathway and thereby down-regulating expression of proinflammatory cytokines in the endothelial cells and macrophages (Stein and Matter 2011). This effect of SIRT1 has been implicated for its ability to prevent chronic inflammatory diseases such as atherosclerosis and atherothrombosis (Stein and Matter 2011). It has also been demonstrated that sustained pressure overload results in the accumulation of p53, which inhibits HIF-1a activity leading to impaired cardiac angiogenesis, and thus promoting progression of hypertrophy to failure (Sano et al. 2007). As mentioned above SIRT1 deacetylates and reduces transcriptional activity of p53 in cardiomyocytes, and this can help in inhibiting antiangiogenic properties of p53 by stabilizing HIF1a. Additionally, FOXO1 transcription factor that is a negative regulator of blood vessel formation is deacetylated and deactivated by SIRT1, leading to promotion of angiogenesis (Potente et al. 2007). Resveratrol was also shown to ameliorate cardiac damage caused by myocardial infarction (MI) by upregulating expression of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), and its downstream-signaling pathway leading to angiogenesis (Fukuda et al. 2006).

Other modes controlled by sirtuins to keep heart healthy are by inhibiting cardiomyocyte cell death and preventing cardiac fibrosis. In the mitochondria-mediated cell death pathway, stress-induced acetylation of Ku70 leads to its dissociation from pro-apoptotic protein, Bax. Bax released from Ku70 enters into mitochondria to induce apoptosis (Cohen et al. 2004a). SIRT1 maintains Ku70 in the deacetylated state and thus keeps it in the complex with Bax to suppress the stress-induced apoptosis (Cohen et al. 2004b). SIRT1 also deacetylates p53 to inhibit its pro-apoptotic activity at the p53-target genes. A recent study in a mouse model of accelerated aging, demonstrated that long-term (8 months) treatment with resveratrol-restored SIRT1 activity, and this in turn mitigated FOXO1- mediated pro-apoptotic signaling in the senescent heart (Sin et al. 2014). SIRT1-mediated deacetylation of FOXO1 was also shown to be required for the upregulation of starvation-induced autophagy in the mouse heart, and this was implicated in maintaining left ventricular function during starvation (Hariharan et al. 2010). Deacetylated FOXO1 elevates expression of a small GTP-binding protein (Rab7), which is needed for autophagosomelysosome fusion to increase autophagic flux (Hariharan et al. 2010). Another pathway through which SIRT1 may influence autophagy in response to DNA damage is by the regulating activity of E2F1, a cell cycle and apoptosis-regulating transcription factor. Mutual regulation between SIRT1 and E2F1 is demonstrated to impact cellular response to DNA damage. While SIRT1 deacetylates E2F1 to inhibit its transactivation activity, DNA damage-induced E2F1 upregulates SIRT1 at transcriptional level (Wang et al. 2006). E2F1 has also been shown to upregulate the expression of several autophagy-related genes (ATGs) and also of the damageregulated autophagy modulator (DRAM) (Polager et al. 2008).

SIRT1 is also shown to modify cardiac hypertrophic response by deacetylating histones. The histone H2A variant H2A.z, which is essential for development in mammals, is found to be upregulated during cardiac hypertrophy. Knock-down of H2A.z is shown to inhibit the expression of hypertrophic growth-related genes, including cyclin-dependent kinase (Cdk)-7 and ribosomal protein S6. H2A.z is deacetylated on K15 by Sir2 $\alpha$ , the mouse homolog of yeast Sir2, which leads to the ubiquitination of distant lysine residues (K115 and K121) and degradation of the histone (Chen et al. 2006). Thus, it appears that SIRT1 exerts its gene silencing effect in the cells via different routes either by remodeling chromatin through epigenetic modifications of histones or by regulating the activity of other transcription factors.

SIRT1 has been also shown to promote cardiac contraction by regulating intracellular calcium (Ca<sup>2+</sup>) handling. In the heart, SERCA2a plays a major role in controlling Ca<sup>2+</sup> uptake into sarcoplasmic reticulum. Impaired SERCA2a function is associated with human dilated or ischemic cardiomyopathy and heart failure (Arai et al. 1993; Limas et al. 1987). We have reported earlier that resveratrol could enhance SERCA2a promoter activity in cultured cardiomyocytes in SIRT1dependent manner (Sulaiman et al. 2010). In another study utilizing the rat model of myocardial infarction, resveratrol treatment improved cardiac function and reduced mortality via activation of SIRT1-AMPK axis of signaling (Gu et al. 2014).

#### 11.5.2 SIRT3

SIRT3 is mainly localized to mitochondria where most of its targets have been identified. We have recently reported that cardiomyocyte death induced by doxorubicin, a cardiotoxic anticancer drug, is prevented via deacetylation and activation of OPA1, a quintessential mitochondrial inner membrane fusion protein (Samant et al. 2014). SIRT3-mediated deacetylation primes cells to successfully combat cellular stress by improving mitochondrial health, facilitating ATP production and reducing excessive ROS (reactive oxygen species) synthesis. SIRT3 has also been shown to deacetylate and activate the antioxidant MnSOD, thereby increasing ROS-detoxifying capacity of cells. SIRT3 is considered a guardian of mitochondria because of its wide range of effects to maintain mitochondrial fitness, reviewed in references (Giralt and Villarroya 2012; Pillai et al. 2010a; Sack 2012). SIRT3 is expressed in two isoforms, a short form of processed SIRT3 that is present exclusively in mitochondria, and a fulllength long form of SIRT3, which is present in the nucleus and in cytoplasm (Iwahara et al. 2012; Sundaresan et al. 2008). Nuclear full-length (FL)-SIRT3 is reported to repress gene transcription through gene-specific deacetylation of histones H3K9 and H4K16 under physiological conditions (Iwahara et al. 2012; Scher et al. 2007). It is demonstrated that, when cells are stressed, for example by treating them with DNAdamaging agents, nuclear FL-SIRT3, but not the mitochondrial short form, gets ubiquitinated and rapidly degraded. Upon degradation, the repressive effect of FL-SIRT3 is eliminated and the target genes are rapidly activated to combat cellular insult (Iwahara et al. 2012). Similar to SIRT1, FL-SIRT3 deacetylates Ku70 to prevent stress-mediated death of cardiomyocytes by sequestering the proapoptotic BAX to preclude it from entering into mitochondria (Sundaresan et al. 2008). We and others have reported that SIRT3KO mice show no obvious developmental defect at birth, but they spontaneously develop cardiac hypertrophy as they reach to adulthood. SIRT3KO mice are also highly sensitive to hypertrophic agonists (Hafner et al. 2010; Sundaresan et al. 2009) and to IR-injury (Porter et al. 2014). The transgenic mice with cardiac-specific overexpression of SIRT3 are protected from developing pathologic cardiac hypertrophy (Sundaresan et al. 2009). The antihypertrophic role of SIRT3 is linked to its ability to retain FOXO3A in the nucleus, and thereby promoting expression of antioxidant enzymes, MnSOD and catalase. SIRT3-induced activity of antioxidants was also shown to help in preventing ROS-mediated RAS activation in cardiomyocytes (Sundaresan et al. 2009). Interestingly, we also observed that the pro-hypertrophic Akt signaling was suppressed by SIRT3, through the deacetylation of LKB1 and thereby activating antihypertrophic LKB1-AMPK signaling in the heart (Pillai et al. 2010b). All these study demonstrated a protective role of SIRT3 to maintain growth and function of the heart.

#### 11.5.3 SIRT6

Another sirtuin that has been studied for its role in regulating cardiac hypertrophy is SIRT6. This is a nuclear, chromatin-associated sirtuin that controls diverse biological pathways related to genomic stability and metabolic homeostasis. SIRT6 possesses dual enzymatic activities, lysine deacetylation, and mono-ADP ribosylation. Through deacetylation of H3K9 and H3K56, it regulates the maintenance of telomeric chromatin, accessibility of DNA repair factors to chromatin, gene expression pertaining to inflammation and glucose/lipid metabolism (Kugel and Mostoslavsky 2014; Michishita et al. 2008; Michishita et al. 2009; Yang et al. 2009). As a histone H3K9 deacetylase, SIRT6 is recruited to the promoters of NF-kB target genes involved in apoptosis and cell senescence, via physical interaction with RELA subunit of NF-kB to attenuate aging-related inflammation (Kawahara et al. 2009). The involvement of SIRT6 in maintaining genome stability through H3K9 and H4K56 deacetylation is linked to its ability to regulate lifespan of the organism. SIRT6 as a H3K9 deacetylase recruits Werner helicase (Wrn) to telomeres and preserves telomere integrity. SIRT6KO mice exhibit pleiotropic effects resembling a human degenerative syndrome of premature aging called progeria, Werner syndrome (Michishita et al. 2008; Michishita et al. 2009). McCord et al., demonstrate that SIRT6 dynamically associates with chromatin at the site of double-stranded break (DSB) in the DNA to deacetylate H3K9Ac and mobilizes catalytic subunit of DNAdependent protein kinase to the repair site (McCord et al. 2009). SIRT6-mediated mono-ADP-ribosylation and activation of PARP1 is reported to be necessary for DSB repair in oxidative stress-induced DNA damage (Mao et al. 2011). Another study demonstrated that SIRT6 increases accessibility of chromatin to DNA repair factors for efficient DSB repair by deacetylating H3K56 and recruiting SNF2H, an ATP-dependent chromatin remodeler to the break site (Toiber et al. 2013). Human SIRT6 is shown to regulate global and telomere-specific levels of H3K56Ac correlating with cell-cycle phases, being highest at S-phase and substantially reduced by G2/M phase (Michishita et al. 2009). We have demonstrated that SIRT6 through its interaction with c-Jun is recruited to target promoters of genes involved in IGF/Akt signaling. SIRT6 represses the expression of different components of IGF/Akt signaling by the deacetylation of histone H3K9 and thus blocks the development of pathologic cardiac hypertrophy (Sundaresan et al. 2012).

Senescence of endothelial cells is also a major contributory factor in the development of cardiovascular maladies. It is observed that SIRT6 prevents onset of premature senescence and a decrease in replicative capacity of human endothelial cells (Cardus et al. 2013). Recently, a study has reported that NMNAT2 (nicotinamide mononucleotide adenylyltransferase), a central enzyme in NAD<sup>+</sup> synthesis, protected neonatal rat cardiomyocytes from angiotensin II-induced hypertrophy through the activation of SIRT6, but not SIRT1 (Cai et al. 2012). Another study reports that cardiomyocytes isolated from transgenic mice overexpressing SIRT6 show resistance to hypoxic damage. Authors of this study demonstrate that, SIRT6-mediated protection from hypoxia-impeded apoptosis-necrotic pathways involving the activation of pAMPK $\alpha$  pathway, increased expression of Bcl-2, inhibition of NF-kB, reduction in ROS levels and decreased levels of pAkt (Maksin-Matveev et al. 2014). The contribution of SIRT6 in various cellular processes and impact of its deregulation on human diseases is reviewed in reference (Kugel and Mostoslavsky 2014).

#### 11.5.4 SIRT7

Similar to SIRT1, mice deficient in SIRT7 display hyperacetylation of p53 develop progressive cardiac hypertrophy, extensive fibrosis, and inflammatory cardiomyopathy. Unlike the postnatal lethality observed for SIRT1 and SIRT6 knock-out mice, deficiency for SIRT7 shortens the lifespan of SIRT7-KO mice to 11 months of age, emphasizing unique and diverse roles for these sirtuins at different stages of heart development (Vakhrusheva et al. 2008). The role SIRT7 in different models of cardiac diseases has not been studied yet.

#### 11.6 Concluding Remarks

Sirtuins have multitask action in the cardiovascular system at several levels; from regulating cardiac development, angiogenesis, metabolism, cell survival to managing myocardial stress. Given a wide range of sirtuin targets in different compartments of cells, it seems that majority (if not all) of cellular pathways are directly or indirectly regulated by this class of NAD<sup>+</sup>-dependent deacetylases. Though our understanding of sirtuin biology has expanded remarkably over the past decade, their role as epigenomic modulators in cardiovascular field is not yet completely understood. Because of their NAD<sup>+</sup> dependency, sirtuins are many times uniquely positioned as the "first responders" to combat metabolic stress on the cell, either in physiologic or in pathologic scenario. Sirtuins in terminally differentiated cells, such as cardiac fibroblasts and cancer cells. However, with "epigenetic nutriceuticals" already being on the market, a word of caution is necessary when considering sirtuins as potential targets for drug development because of their apparently conflicting functions in different cell-specific contexts.

Acknowledgment These studies were supported from NIH RO1 grants HL117041 and HL111455 to MPG.

**Conflict of Interest** The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

#### References

Alcendor RR, Kirshenbaum LA, Imai S, Vatner SF, Sadoshima J (2004) Silent information regulator 2alpha, a longevity factor and class III histone deacetylase, is an essential endogenous apoptosis inhibitor in cardiac myocytes. Circ Res 95:971–980

- Alcendor RR, Gao S, Zhai P, Zablocki D, Holle E, Yu X, Tian B, Wagner T, Vatner SF, Sadoshima J (2007) Sirt1 regulates aging and resistance to oxidative stress in the heart. Circ Res 100:1512–1521
- Allfrey VG, Faulkner R, Mirsky AE (1964) Acetylation and methylation of histones and their possible role in the regulation of RNA synthesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 51:786–794
- Anversa P, Palackal T, Sonnenblick EH, Olivetti G, Meggs LG, Capasso JM (1990) Myocyte cell loss and myocyte cellular hyperplasia in the hypertrophied aging rat heart. Circ Res 67:871–885
- Arai M, Alpert NR, MacLennan DH, Barton P, Periasamy M (1993) Alterations in sarcoplasmic reticulum gene expression in human heart failure. A possible mechanism for alterations in systolic and diastolic properties of the failing myocardium. Circ Res 72:463–469
- Backs J, Olson EN (2006) Control of cardiac growth by histone acetylation/deacetylation. Circ Res 98:15–24
- Barber MF, Michishita-Kioi E, Xi Y, Tasselli L, Kioi M, Moqtaderi Z, Tennen RI, Paredes S, Young NL, Chen K, Struhl K, Garcia BA, Gozani O, Li W, Chua KF (2012) SIRT7 links H3K18 deacetylation to maintenance of oncogenic transformation. Nature 487:114–118
- Batta K, Das C, Gadad S, Shandilya J, Kundu TK (2007) Reversible acetylation of non histone proteins: role in cellular function and disease. Subcell Biochem 41:193–212
- Bell SD, Botting CH, Wardleworth BN, Jackson SP, White MF (2002) The interaction of Alba, a conserved archaeal chromatin protein, with Sir2 and its regulation by acetylation. Science (New York, NY) 296:148–151
- Bernstein BE, Meissner A, Lander ES (2007) The mammalian epigenome. Cell 128:669-681
- Bosch-Presegue L, Vaquero A (2014) Sirtuins in stress response: guardians of the genome. Oncogene 33:3764–3775
- Brock TD, Freeze H (1969) Thermus aquaticus gen. n. and sp. n., a nonsporulating extreme thermophile. J Bacteriol 98:289–297
- Cai L, Tu BP (2011) On acetyl-CoA as a gauge of cellular metabolic state. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol 76:195–202
- Cai Y, Yu SS, Chen SR, Pi RB, Gao S, Li H, Ye JT, Liu PQ (2012) Nmnat2 protects cardiomyocytes from hypertrophy via activation of SIRT6. FEBS Lett 586:866–874
- Cardus A, Uryga AK, Walters G, Erusalimsky JD (2013) SIRT6 protects human endothelial cells from DNA damage, telomere dysfunction, and senescence. Cardiovasc Res 97:571–579
- Catalucci D, Condorelli G (2006) Effects of Akt on cardiac myocytes: location counts. Circ Res 99:339–341
- Chang S, McKinsey TA, Zhang CL, Richardson JA, Hill JA, Olson EN (2004) Histone deacetylases 5 and 9 govern responsiveness of the heart to a subset of stress signals and play redundant roles in heart development. Mol Cell Biol 24:8467–8476
- Chen IY, Lypowy J, Pain J, Sayed D, Grinberg S, Alcendor RR, Sadoshima J, Abdellatif M (2006) Histone H2A.z is essential for cardiac myocyte hypertrophy but opposed by silent information regulator 2alpha. J Biol Chem 281:19369–19377
- Cheng HL, Mostoslavsky R, Saito S, Manis JP, Gu Y, Patel P, Bronson R, Appella E, Alt FW, Chua KF (2003) Developmental defects and p53 hyperacetylation in Sir2 homolog (SIRT1)-deficient mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:10794–10799
- Cohen HY, Lavu S, Bitterman KJ, Hekking B, Imahiyerobo TA, Miller C, Frye R, Ploegh H, Kessler BM, Sinclair DA (2004a) Acetylation of the C terminus of Ku70 by CBP and PCAF controls Bax-mediated apoptosis. Mol Cell 13:627–638
- Cohen HY, Miller C, Bitterman KJ, Wall NR, Hekking B, Kessler B, Howitz KT, Gorospe M, de Cabo R, Sinclair DA (2004b) Calorie restriction promotes mammalian cell survival by inducing the SIRT1 deacetylase. Science (New York, NY) 305:390–392
- Colucci WS (1997) Molecular and cellular mechanisms of myocardial failure. Am J Cardiol 80:15L-25L
- Du J, Zhou Y, Su X, Yu JJ, Khan S, Jiang H, Kim J, Woo J, Kim JH, Choi BH, He B, Chen W, Zhang S, Cerione RA, Auwerx J, Hao Q, Lin H (2011) Sirt5 is a NAD-dependent protein lysine demalonylase and desuccinylase. Science (New York, NY) 334:806–809

Ekwall K (2005) Genome-wide analysis of HDAC function. Trends Genet: TIG 21:608-615

- Ferrara N, Rinaldi B, Corbi G, Conti V, Stiuso P, Boccuti S, Rengo G, Rossi F, Filippelli A (2008) Exercise training promotes SIRT1 activity in aged rats. Rejuvenation Res 11:139–150
- Frey N, Olson EN (2003) Cardiac hypertrophy: the good, the bad, and the ugly. Annu Rev Physiol 65:45–79
- Frye RA (2000) Phylogenetic classification of prokaryotic and eukaryotic Sir2-like proteins. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 273:793–798
- Fukuda S, Kaga S, Zhan L, Bagchi D, Das DK, Bertelli A, Maulik N (2006) Resveratrol ameliorates myocardial damage by inducing vascular endothelial growth factor-angiogenesis and tyrosine kinase receptor Flk-1. Cell Biochem Biophys 44:43–49
- Garnier A, Zoll J, Fortin D, N'Guessan B, Lefebvre F, Geny B, Mettauer B, Veksler V, Ventura-Clapier R (2009) Control by circulating factors of mitochondrial function and transcription cascade in heart failure: a role for endothelin-1 and angiotensin II. Circ Heart Fail 2:342–350
- Giblin W, Skinner ME, Lombard DB (2014) Sirtuins: guardians of mammalian healthspan. Trends Genet: TIG 30:271–286
- Giralt A, Villarroya F (2012) SIRT3, a pivotal actor in mitochondrial functions: metabolism, cell death and aging. Biochem J 444:1–10
- Glozak MA, Sengupta N, Zhang X, Seto E (2005) Acetylation and deacetylation of non-histone proteins. Gene 363:15–23
- Go AS, Mozaffarian D, Roger VL, Benjamin EJ, Berry JD, Borden WB, Bravata DM, Dai S, Ford ES, Fox CS, Franco S, Fullerton HJ, Gillespie C, Hailpern SM, Heit JA, Howard VJ, Huffman MD, Kissela BM, Kittner SJ, Lackland DT, Lichtman JH, Lisabeth LD, Magid D, Marcus GM, Marelli A, Matchar DB, McGuire DK, Mohler ER, Moy CS, Mussolino ME, Nichol G, Paynter NP, Schreiner PJ, Sorlie PD, Stein J, Turan TN, Virani SS, Wong ND, Woo D, Turner MB (2013) Heart disease and stroke statistics--2013 update: a report from the American Heart Association. Circulation 127:e6–e245
- Gu XS, Wang ZB, Ye Z, Lei JP, Li L, Su DF, Zheng X (2014) Resveratrol, an activator of SIRT1, upregulates AMPK and improves cardiac function in heart failure. Genet Mol Res 13:323–335
- Guan KL, Xiong Y (2011) Regulation of intermediary metabolism by protein acetylation. Trends Biochem Sci 36:108–116
- Hafner AV, Dai J, Gomes AP, Xiao CY, Palmeira CM, Rosenzweig A, Sinclair DA (2010) Regulation of the mPTP by SIRT3-mediated deacetylation of CypD at lysine 166 suppresses age-related cardiac hypertrophy. Aging 2:914–923
- Haigis MC, Guarente LP (2006) Mammalian sirtuins emerging roles in physiology, aging, and calorie restriction. Genes Dev 20:2913–2921
- Haigis MC, Sinclair DA (2010) Mammalian sirtuins: biological insights and disease relevance. Annu Rev Pathol 5:253–295
- Hariharan N, Maejima Y, Nakae J, Paik J, Depinho RA, Sadoshima J (2010) Deacetylation of FoxO by Sirt1 plays an essential role in mediating starvation-induced autophagy in cardiac myocytes. Circ Res 107:1470–1482
- Hsu CP, Zhai P, Yamamoto T, Maejima Y, Matsushima S, Hariharan N, Shao D, Takagi H, Oka S, Sadoshima J (2010) Silent information regulator 1 protects the heart from ischemia/reperfusion. Circulation 122:2170–2182
- Imai S, Johnson FB, Marciniak RA, McVey M, Park PU, Guarente L (2000) Sir2: an NADdependent histone deacetylase that connects chromatin silencing, metabolism, and aging. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol 65:297–302
- Inoue T, Hiratsuka M, Osaki M, Oshimura M (2007) The molecular biology of mammalian SIRT proteins: SIRT2 in cell cycle regulation. Cell Cycle (Georgetown, Tex) 6:1011–1018
- Iwahara T, Bonasio R, Narendra V, Reinberg D (2012) SIRT3 functions in the nucleus in the control of stress-related gene expression. Mol Cell Biol 32:5022–5034

Jenuwein T, Allis CD (2001) Translating the histone code. Science (New York, NY) 293:1074–1080

Jian B, Yang S, Chaudry IH, Raju R (2012) Resveratrol improves cardiac contractility following trauma-hemorrhage by modulating Sirt1. Mol Med (Cambridge, Mass) 18:209–214

- Jiang H, Khan S, Wang Y, Charron G, He B, Sebastian C, Du J, Kim R, Ge E, Mostoslavsky R, Hang HC, Hao Q, Lin H (2013) SIRT6 regulates TNF-alpha secretion through hydrolysis of long-chain fatty acyl lysine. Nature 496:110–113
- Katz AM (1990) Cardiomyopathy of overload. A major determinant of prognosis in congestive heart failure. N Engl J Med 322:100–110
- Kawahara TL, Michishita E, Adler AS, Damian M, Berber E, Lin M, McCord RA, Ongaigui KC, Boxer LD, Chang HY, Chua KF (2009) SIRT6 links histone H3 lysine 9 deacetylation to NF-kappaB-dependent gene expression and organismal life span. Cell 136:62–74
- Kornberg RD, Lorch Y (1999) Twenty-five years of the nucleosome, fundamental particle of the eukaryote chromosome. Cell 98:285–294
- Kugel S, Mostoslavsky R (2014) Chromatin and beyond: the multitasking roles for SIRT6. Trends Biochem Sci 39:72–81
- Lagouge M, Argmann C, Gerhart-Hines Z, Meziane H, Lerin C, Daussin F, Messadeq N, Milne J, Lambert P, Elliott P, Geny B, Laakso M, Puigserver P, Auwerx J (2006) Resveratrol improves mitochondrial function and protects against metabolic disease by activating SIRT1 and PGClalpha. Cell 127:1109–1122
- Li L, Zhao L, Yi-Ming W, Yu YS, Xia CY, Duan JL, Su DF (2009) Sirt1 hyperexpression in SHR heart related to left ventricular hypertrophy. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 87:56–62
- Limas CJ, Olivari MT, Goldenberg IF, Levine TB, Benditt DG, Simon A (1987) Calcium uptake by cardiac sarcoplasmic reticulum in human dilated cardiomyopathy. Cardiovasc Res 21: 601–605
- Lorenzen JM, Martino F, Thum T (2012) Epigenetic modifications in cardiovascular disease. Basic Res Cardiol 107:245
- Lundby A, Lage K, Weinert BT, Bekker-Jensen DB, Secher A, Skovgaard T, Kelstrup CD, Dmytriyev A, Choudhary C, Lundby C, Olsen JV (2012) Proteomic analysis of lysine acetylation sites in rat tissues reveals organ specificity and subcellular patterns. Cell Rep 2:419–431
- Maksin-Matveev A, Kanfi Y, Hochhauser E, Isak A, Cohen HY, Shainberg A (2014) Sirtuin 6 protects the heart from hypoxic damage. Exp Cell Res 330:81–90
- Mao Z, Hine C, Tian X, Van Meter M, Au M, Vaidya A, Seluanov A, Gorbunova V (2011) SIRT6 promotes DNA repair under stress by activating PARP1. Science (New York, NY) 332:1443–1446
- Martinez-Redondo P, Vaquero A (2013) The diversity of histone versus nonhistone sirtuin substrates. Genes Cancer 4:148–163
- Massie BM, Shah NB (1997) Evolving trends in the epidemiologic factors of heart failure: rationale for preventive strategies and comprehensive disease management. Am Heart J 133: 703–712
- Mattagajasingh I, Kim CS, Naqvi A, Yamamori T, Hoffman TA, Jung SB, DeRicco J, Kasuno K, Irani K (2007) SIRT1 promotes endothelium-dependent vascular relaxation by activating endothelial nitric oxide synthase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:14855–14860
- McBurney MW, Yang X, Jardine K, Hixon M, Boekelheide K, Webb JR, Lansdorp PM, Lemieux M (2003) The mammalian SIR2alpha protein has a role in embryogenesis and gametogenesis. Mol Cell Biol 23:38–54
- McCord RA, Michishita E, Hong T, Berber E, Boxer LD, Kusumoto R, Guan S, Shi X, Gozani O, Burlingame AL, Bohr VA, Chua KF (2009) SIRT6 stabilizes DNA-dependent protein kinase at chromatin for DNA double-strand break repair. Aging 1:109–121
- Michan S, Sinclair D (2007) Sirtuins in mammals: insights into their biological function. Biochem J 404:1–13
- Michishita E, Park JY, Burneskis JM, Barrett JC, Horikawa I (2005) Evolutionarily conserved and nonconserved cellular localizations and functions of human SIRT proteins. Mol Biol Cell 16:4623–4635
- Michishita E, McCord RA, Berber E, Kioi M, Padilla-Nash H, Damian M, Cheung P, Kusumoto R, Kawahara TL, Barrett JC, Chang HY, Bohr VA, Ried T, Gozani O, Chua KF (2008) SIRT6 is a histone H3 lysine 9 deacetylase that modulates telomeric chromatin. Nature 452:492–496

- Michishita E, McCord RA, Boxer LD, Barber MF, Hong T, Gozani O, Chua KF (2009) Cell cycledependent deacetylation of telomeric histone H3 lysine K56 by human SIRT6. Cell Cycle (Georgetown, Tex) 8:2664–2666
- Moller DE (2001) New drug targets for type 2 diabetes and the metabolic syndrome. Nature 414:821–827
- Morris BJ (2013) Seven sirtuins for seven deadly diseases of aging. Free Radic Biol Med 56:133-171
- Nakagawa T, Guarente L (2011) Sirtuins at a glance. J Cell Sci 124:833-838
- Napoli C, Balestrieri ML, Sica V, Lerman LO, Crimi E, De Rosa G, Schiano C, Servillo L, D'Armiento FP (2008) Beneficial effects of low doses of red wine consumption on perturbed shear stress-induced atherogenesis. Heart Vessels 23:124–133
- Nisoli E, Clementi E, Carruba MO, Moncada S (2007) Defective mitochondrial biogenesis: a hallmark of the high cardiovascular risk in the metabolic syndrome? Circ Res 100:795–806
- Norris KL, Lee JY, Yao TP (2009) Acetylation goes global: the emergence of acetylation biology. Sci Signal 2:pe76
- Oka S, Zhai P, Alcendor R, Park JY, Tian B, Sadoshima J (2012) Suppression of ERR targets by a PPARalpha/Sirt1 complex in the failing heart. Cell Cycle (Georgetown, Tex) 11:856–864
- Papait R, Greco C, Kunderfranco P, Latronico MV, Condorelli G (2013) Epigenetics: a new mechanism of regulation of heart failure? Basic Res Cardiol 108:361
- Peng C, Lu Z, Xie Z, Cheng Z, Chen Y, Tan M, Luo H, Zhang Y, He W, Yang K, Zwaans BM, Tishkoff D, Ho L, Lombard D, He TC, Dai J, Verdin E, Ye Y, Zhao Y (2011) The first identification of lysine malonylation substrates and its regulatory enzyme. Mol Cell Proteomics 10:M111 012658
- Pereira SL, Grayling RA, Lurz R, Reeve JN (1997) Archaeal nucleosomes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94:12633–12637
- Pillai JB, Isbatan A, Imai S, Gupta MP (2005) Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase-1-dependent cardiac myocyte cell death during heart failure is mediated by NAD+ depletion and reduced Sir2alpha deacetylase activity. J Biol Chem 280:43121–43130
- Pillai JB, Chen M, Rajamohan SB, Samant S, Pillai VB, Gupta M, Gupta MP (2008) Activation of SIRT1, a class III histone deacetylase, contributes to fructose feeding-mediated induction of the alpha-myosin heavy chain expression. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 294: H1388–H1397
- Pillai VB, Sundaresan NR, Jeevanandam V, Gupta MP (2010a) Mitochondrial SIRT3 and heart disease. Cardiovasc Res 88:250–256
- Pillai VB, Sundaresan NR, Kim G, Gupta M, Rajamohan SB, Pillai JB, Samant S, Ravindra PV, Isbatan A, Gupta MP (2010b) Exogenous NAD blocks cardiac hypertrophic response via activation of the SIRT3-LKB1-AMP-activated kinase pathway. J Biol Chem 285:3133–3144
- Pillai VB, Sundaresan NR, Gupta MP (2014) Regulation of Akt signaling by sirtuins: its implication in cardiac hypertrophy and aging. Circ Res 114:368–378
- Planavila A, Iglesias R, Giralt M, Villarroya F (2011) Sirt1 acts in association with PPARalpha to protect the heart from hypertrophy, metabolic dysregulation, and inflammation. Cardiovasc Res 90:276–284
- Planavila A, Dominguez E, Navarro M, Vinciguerra M, Iglesias R, Giralt M, Lope-Piedrafita S, Ruberte J, Villarroya F (2012) Dilated cardiomyopathy and mitochondrial dysfunction in Sirt1deficient mice: a role for Sirt1-Mef2 in adult heart. J Mol Cell Cardiol 53:521–531
- Polager S, Ofir M, Ginsberg D (2008) E2F1 regulates autophagy and the transcription of autophagy genes. Oncogene 27:4860–4864
- Porter GA, Urciuoli WR, Brookes PS, Nadtochiy SM (2014) SIRT3 deficiency exacerbates ischemia-reperfusion injury: implication for aged hearts. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 306:H1602–H1609
- Potente M, Ghaeni L, Baldessari D, Mostoslavsky R, Rossig L, Dequiedt F, Haendeler J, Mione M, Dejana E, Alt FW, Zeiher AM, Dimmeler S (2007) SIRT1 controls endothelial angiogenic functions during vascular growth. Genes Dev 21:2644–2658

- Purushotham A, Schug TT, Xu Q, Surapureddi S, Guo X, Li X (2009) Hepatocyte-specific deletion of SIRT1 alters fatty acid metabolism and results in hepatic steatosis and inflammation. Cell Metab 9:327–338
- Rajamohan SB, Pillai VB, Gupta M, Sundaresan NR, Birukov KG, Samant S, Hottiger MO, Gupta MP (2009) SIRT1 promotes cell survival under stress by deacetylation-dependent deactivation of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase 1. Mol Cell Biol 29:4116–4129
- Rodgers JT, Lerin C, Haas W, Gygi SP, Spiegelman BM, Puigserver P (2005) Nutrient control of glucose homeostasis through a complex of PGC-1alpha and SIRT1. Nature 434:113–118
- Sack MN (2012) The role of SIRT3 in mitochondrial homeostasis and cardiac adaptation to hypertrophy and aging. J Mol Cell Cardiol 52:520–525
- Samant SA, Courson DS, Sundaresan NR, Pillai VB, Tan M, Zhao Y, Shroff SG, Rock RS, Gupta MP (2011) HDAC3-dependent reversible lysine acetylation of cardiac myosin heavy chain isoforms modulates their enzymatic and motor activity. J Biol Chem 286:5567–5577
- Samant SA, Zhang HJ, Hong Z, Pillai VB, Sundaresan NR, Wolfgeher D, Archer SL, Chan DC, Gupta MP (2014) SIRT3 deacetylates and activates OPA1 to regulate mitochondrial dynamics during stress. Mol Cell Biol 34:807–819
- Sano M, Minamino T, Toko H, Miyauchi H, Orimo M, Qin Y, Akazawa H, Tateno K, Kayama Y, Harada M, Shimizu I, Asahara T, Hamada H, Tomita S, Molkentin JD, Zou Y, Komuro I (2007) p53-induced inhibition of Hif-1 causes cardiac dysfunction during pressure overload. Nature 446:444–448
- Scher MB, Vaquero A, Reinberg D (2007) SirT3 is a nuclear NAD+-dependent histone deacetylase that translocates to the mitochondria upon cellular stress. Genes Dev 21:920–928
- Shinmura K, Tamaki K, Bolli R (2008) Impact of 6-mo caloric restriction on myocardial ischemic tolerance: possible involvement of nitric oxide-dependent increase in nuclear Sirt1. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 295:H2348–H2355
- Shiojima I, Sato K, Izumiya Y, Schiekofer S, Ito M, Liao R, Colucci WS, Walsh K (2005) Disruption of coordinated cardiac hypertrophy and angiogenesis contributes to the transition to heart failure. J Clin Invest 115:2108–2118
- Sin TK, Yu AP, Yung BY, Yip SP, Chan LW, Wong CS, Ying M, Rudd JA, Siu PM (2014) Modulating effect of SIRT1 activation induced by resveratrol on Foxo1-associated apoptotic signalling in senescent heart. J Physiol 592:2535–2548
- Spange S, Wagner T, Heinzel T, Kramer OH (2009) Acetylation of non-histone proteins modulates cellular signalling at multiple levels. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 41:185–198
- Stein S, Matter CM (2011) Protective roles of SIRT1 in atherosclerosis. Cell Cycle (Georgetown, Tex) 10:640–647
- Sulaiman M, Matta MJ, Sunderesan NR, Gupta MP, Periasamy M, Gupta M (2010) Resveratrol, an activator of SIRT1, upregulates sarcoplasmic calcium ATPase and improves cardiac function in diabetic cardiomyopathy. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 298:H833–H843
- Sun C, Zhang F, Ge X, Yan T, Chen X, Shi X, Zhai Q (2007) SIRT1 improves insulin sensitivity under insulin-resistant conditions by repressing PTP1B. Cell Metab 6:307–319
- Sundaresan NR, Samant SA, Pillai VB, Rajamohan SB, Gupta MP (2008) SIRT3 is a stressresponsive deacetylase in cardiomyocytes that protects cells from stress-mediated cell death by deacetylation of Ku70. Mol Cell Biol 28:6384–6401
- Sundaresan NR, Gupta M, Kim G, Rajamohan SB, Isbatan A, Gupta MP (2009) Sirt3 blocks the cardiac hypertrophic response by augmenting Foxo3a-dependent antioxidant defense mechanisms in mice. J Clin Invest 119:2758–2771
- Sundaresan NR, Pillai VB, Gupta MP (2011a) Emerging roles of SIRT1 deacetylase in regulating cardiomyocyte survival and hypertrophy. J Mol Cell Cardiol 51:614–618
- Sundaresan NR, Pillai VB, Wolfgeher D, Samant S, Vasudevan P, Parekh V, Raghuraman H, Cunningham JM, Gupta M, Gupta MP (2011b) The deacetylase SIRT1 promotes membrane localization and activation of Akt and PDK1 during tumorigenesis and cardiac hypertrophy. Sci Signal 4:ra46
- Sundaresan NR, Vasudevan P, Zhong L, Kim G, Samant S, Parekh V, Pillai VB, Ravindra PV, Gupta M, Jeevanandam V, Cunningham JM, Deng CX, Lombard DB, Mostoslavsky R, Gupta

MP (2012) The sirtuin SIRT6 blocks IGF-Akt signaling and development of cardiac hypertrophy by targeting c-Jun. Nat Med 18:1643–1650

- Taddei S, Virdis A, Ghiadoni L, Versari D, Salvetti A (2006) Endothelium, aging, and hypertension. Curr Hypertens Rep 8:84–89
- Tanner KG, Landry J, Sternglanz R, Denu JM (2000) Silent information regulator 2 family of NAD- dependent histone/protein deacetylases generates a unique product, 1-O-acetyl-ADPribose. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:14178–14182
- Tanno M, Sakamoto J, Miura T, Shimamoto K, Horio Y (2007) Nucleocytoplasmic shuttling of the NAD+-dependent histone deacetylase SIRT1. J Biol Chem 282:6823–6832
- Thiagalingam S, Cheng KH, Lee HJ, Mineva N, Thiagalingam A, Ponte JF (2003) Histone deacetylases: unique players in shaping the epigenetic histone code. Ann N Y Acad Sci 983: 84–100
- Toiber D, Erdel F, Bouazoune K, Silberman DM, Zhong L, Mulligan P, Sebastian C, Cosentino C, Martinez-Pastor B, Giacosa S, D'Urso A, Naar AM, Kingston R, Rippe K, Mostoslavsky R (2013) SIRT6 recruits SNF2H to DNA break sites, preventing genomic instability through chromatin remodeling. Mol Cell 51:454–468
- Trivedi CM, Luo Y, Yin Z, Zhang M, Zhu W, Wang T, Floss T, Goettlicher M, Noppinger PR, Wurst W, Ferrari VA, Abrams CS, Gruber PJ, Epstein JA (2007) Hdac2 regulates the cardiac hypertrophic response by modulating Gsk3 beta activity. Nat Med 13:324–331
- Vahtola E, Louhelainen M, Merasto S, Martonen E, Penttinen S, Aahos I, Kyto V, Virtanen I, Mervaala E (2008) Forkhead class O transcription factor 3a activation and Sirtuin1 overexpression in the hypertrophied myocardium of the diabetic Goto-Kakizaki rat. J Hypertens 26:334–344
- Vakhrusheva O, Smolka C, Gajawada P, Kostin S, Boettger T, Kubin T, Braun T, Bober E (2008) Sirt7 increases stress resistance of cardiomyocytes and prevents apoptosis and inflammatory cardiomyopathy in mice. Circ Res 102:703–710
- Vaquero A, Scher M, Lee D, Erdjument-Bromage H, Tempst P, Reinberg D (2004) Human SirT1 interacts with histone H1 and promotes formation of facultative heterochromatin. Mol Cell 16:93–105
- Vaquero A, Scher MB, Lee DH, Sutton A, Cheng HL, Alt FW, Serrano L, Sternglanz R, Reinberg D (2006) SirT2 is a histone deacetylase with preference for histone H4 Lys 16 during mitosis. Genes Dev 20:1256–1261
- Vaquero A, Sternglanz R, Reinberg D (2007) NAD+–dependent deacetylation of H4 lysine 16 by class III HDACs. Oncogene 26:5505–5520
- Vassilopoulos A, Fritz KS, Petersen DR, Gius D (2011) The human sirtuin family: evolutionary divergences and functions. Hum Genomics 5:485–496
- Vempati RK, Jayani RS, Notani D, Sengupta A, Galande S, Haldar D (2010) p300-mediated acetylation of histone H3 lysine 56 functions in DNA damage response in mammals. J Biol Chem 285:28553–28564
- Voghel G, Thorin-Trescases N, Farhat N, Nguyen A, Villeneuve L, Mamarbachi AM, Fortier A, Perrault LP, Carrier M, Thorin E (2007) Cellular senescence in endothelial cells from atherosclerotic patients is accelerated by oxidative stress associated with cardiovascular risk factors. Mech Ageing Dev 128:662–671
- Wagner GR, Hirschey MD (2014) Nonenzymatic protein acylation as a carbon stress regulated by sirtuin deacylases. Mol Cell 54:5–16
- Wang C, Chen L, Hou X, Li Z, Kabra N, Ma Y, Nemoto S, Finkel T, Gu W, Cress WD, Chen J (2006) Interactions between E2F1 and SirT1 regulate apoptotic response to DNA damage. Nat Cell Biol 8:1025–1031
- Wolffe AP (1996) Histone deacetylase: a regulator of transcription. Science (New York, NY) 272:371–372
- Wu JI, Lessard J, Crabtree GR (2009) Understanding the words of chromatin regulation. Cell 136:200–206
- Yang B, Zwaans BM, Eckersdorff M, Lombard DB (2009) The sirtuin SIRT6 deacetylates H3 K56Ac in vivo to promote genomic stability. Cell Cycle (Georgetown, Tex) 8:2662–2663

- Yuan J, Pu M, Zhang Z, Lou Z (2009) Histone H3-K56 acetylation is important for genomic stability in mammals. Cell Cycle (Georgetown, Tex) 8:1747–1753
- Zhang T, Kraus WL (2010) SIRT1-dependent regulation of chromatin and transcription: linking NAD(+) metabolism and signaling to the control of cellular functions. Biochim Biophys Acta 1804:1666–1675
- Zhang CL, McKinsey TA, Chang S, Antos CL, Hill JA, Olson EN (2002) Class II histone deacetylases act as signal-responsive repressors of cardiac hypertrophy. Cell 110:479–488
- Zhang T, Berrocal JG, Frizzell KM, Gamble MJ, DuMond ME, Krishnakumar R, Yang T, Sauve AA, Kraus WL (2009) Enzymes in the NAD+ salvage pathway regulate SIRT1 activity at target gene promoters. J Biol Chem 284:20408–20417
- Zhong L, D'Urso A, Toiber D, Sebastian C, Henry RE, Vadysirisack DD, Guimaraes A, Marinelli B, Wikstrom JD, Nir T, Clish CB, Vaitheesvaran B, Iliopoulos O, Kurland I, Dor Y, Weissleder R, Shirihai OS, Ellisen LW, Espinosa JM, Mostoslavsky R (2010) The histone deacetylase Sirt6 regulates glucose homeostasis via Hif1alpha. Cell 140:280–293



# BET Bromodomains and P-TEFb in Cardiac Transcription and Heart Failure Pathogenesis

## Priti Anand, Amir Munir, and Saptarsi M. Haldar

## Contents

12.1	Introduction	284		
12.2	2.2 P-TEFb			
	12.2.1 Identification of P-TEFb	284		
	12.2.2 P-TEFb Function and Regulation	285		
12.3	P-TEFb and Pol II Activation in Hypertrophy and HF	286		
12.4	P-TEFb Regulation by HEXIM1 in the Heart	287		
12.5	P-TEFb Regulation by CTIP2 in the Heart	288		
12.6	BET Bromodomains in the Heart	289		
Refere	References			

#### Abstract

Stress-activated cardiac signaling cascades ultimately converge on defined transcriptional pathways that drive pathologic gene expression programs. Excessive or prolonged activation of these pathways culminates in hypertrophy, fibrosis, and contractile dysfunction. As the gene-regulatory machinery functions as a distal signal integrator in this disease process, defining mechanisms by which upstream pathways couple to chromatin-dependent signal transduction in cardiomyocytes (CMs) has been an area of intense scientific and therapeutic interest. It has long been recognized that dynamic positioning of acetyl-lysine on nucleosomal histone tails, regulated by histone acetyltransferase (HAT) and histone deacetylase (HDAC) enzymes, plays a central role in cardiac plasticity and HF pathogenesis. In this chapter, we will discuss signaling events downstream of local chromatin acetylation in the heart and their role in pathologic cardiac plasticity and HF pathogenesis. We will highlight recently published studies that implicate BET family bromodomain-containing coactivator proteins as a critical link between

P. Anand • S.M. Haldar  $(\boxtimes)$ 

Gladstone Institute of Cardiovascular Disease and University of California, San Francisco School of Medicine, San Francisco, CA, USA e-mail: saptarsi.haldar@gladstone.ucsf.edu

A. Munir

Case Western Reserve University School of Medicine, Cleveland, OH, USA

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

J. Backs, T.A. McKinsey (eds.), Epigenetics in Cardiac Disease,

Cardiac and Vascular Biology 1, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-41457-7\_12
activated cardiac enhancers, P-TEFb (positive transcription elongation factor b), and RNA polymerase II (Pol II) dynamics in the stressed myocardium.

#### 12.1 Introduction

Stress-activated cardiac signaling cascades ultimately converge on defined transcriptional pathways that drive pathologic gene expression programs. Excessive or prolonged activation of these pathways culminates in hypertrophy, fibrosis, and contractile dysfunction (Hill and Olson 2008; van Berlo et al. 2013). As the generegulatory machinery functions as a distal signal integrator in this disease process, defining mechanisms by which upstream pathways couple to chromatin-dependent signal transduction in cardiomyocytes (CMs) has been an area of intense scientific and therapeutic interest. It has long been recognized that dynamic positioning of acetyl-lysine on nucleosomal histone tails, regulated by histone acetyltransferase (HAT) and histone deacetylase (HDAC) enzymes, plays a central role in cardiac plasticity and HF pathogenesis (Di Salvo and Haldar 2014; McKinsey 2012). In this chapter, we will discuss signaling events downstream of local chromatin acetylation in the heart and their role in pathologic cardiac plasticity and HF pathogenesis. We will highlight recently published studies that implicate BET family bromodomaincontaining coactivator proteins as a critical link between activated cardiac enhancers, P-TEFb (positive transcription elongation factor b), and RNA polymerase II (Pol II) dynamics in the stressed myocardium.

#### 12.2 P-TEFb

P-TEFb is a protein complex with cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK) activity that plays a central role in the regulation of transcription by Pol II. Productive transcription by Pol II is stalled at many genes as it gets trapped near the promoter by negative elongation factors, which inhibit Pol II transcriptional activity, thereby resulting in premature transcription termination. Productive transcription requires the recruitment of P-TEFb activity, which phosphorylates negative transcription factors and the CTD (carboxy-terminal domain) of Pol II. Activation by P-TEFb increases the processivity of paused Pol II, facilitating the stimulus-coupled production of fullength mRNA transcripts (Zhou and et al. 2012). Here, we will review some basic features of P-TEFb-dependent signaling and discuss the role of this critical transcriptional regulatory complex in cardiac plasticity.

#### 12.2.1 Identification of P-TEFb

In Drosophila, P-TEFb is made up of two subunits: a larger catalytic unit (CDK9) and a smaller regulatory unit (cyclin T). The human P-TEFb complex has one CDK9 that can interact with one of the smaller cyclin subunits: T1 (and splice variants T2a

and T2b) (Peng et al. 1998), and cyclin K (Fu et al. 1999). P-TEFb and its role in transcription regulation was originally identified in an *in vitro* system using ATP analogs such as 5,6-dichloro-1-β-D-ribofuranosylbenzimidazole (DRB). Treatment of mammalian cells with DRB causes inhibition of heterogeneous nuclear RNA synthesis and a substantial reduction in mRNA production (Sehgal et al. 1976). Initially, DRB was considered to participate in the inhibition of transcription initiation (Sehgal et al. 1976), but subsequent studies showed that the principal function of DRB was to inhibit the elongation phase of transcription (Chodosh et al. 1989; Marshall and Price 1992). DRB-sensitive kinase activity was postulated to be required for productive elongation (Zandomeni et al. 1986). Studies using isolated transcription machinery reported premature termination of transcription due the lack of such "positive elongation activity" and the restoration of productive transcription upon addition of this activity (Marshall and Price 1992). These studies were followed by the purification of the P-TEFb complex from fractionated nuclear extracts of Drosophila cells and its characterization as a Pol II CTD kinase by the laboratory of David Price, confirming its essential role in productive elongation following transcription initiation (Marshall et al. 1996; Marshall and Price 1995).

#### 12.2.2 P-TEFb Function and Regulation

Important substrates of P-TEFb include the CTD of Pol II and the elongation repressor proteins DSIF (DRB sensitivity-inducing factor) (Wada et al. 1998) and NELF (negative elongation factor) (Yamaguchi et al. 1999). The kinase component of P-TEFb phosphorylates serine residues in the C-terminal heptad-repeat domain  $(Y_1S_2P_3T_4S_5P_6S_7)$  of the largest subunit of Pol II (Eick and Geyer 2013), an event that facilitates release of paused Pol II (Marshall et al. 1996). P-TEFb accumulates in sites of active transcription (Ni et al. 2004) and preferentially phosphorylates Ser2 of the Pol II CTD (Shim et al. 2002). P-TEFb also participates in transcription elongation by phosphorylating the C-terminal region (CTR) of the larger subunit (Spt5) of DSIF that promotes the transition of DSIF from its role as a repressor to being an activator of elongation (H. Chen et al. 2009). In addition, P-TEFb-mediated phosphorylation of NELF (on the RD subunit) is also required for triggering pause release (Fujinaga et al. 2004). Although it was believed that transcription termination upon treatment of cells with flavopiridol (a highly potent P-TEFb inhibitor) was predominantly attributed to the loss of Ser2 phosphorylation at CTD (Ni et al. 2004), the discovery of other CDKs (and their role in CTD phosphorylation) suggests that P-TEFb may not be the only regulatory complex governing Pol II dynamics (Zhou et al. 2012).

The majority of P-TEFb exists in an inactive pool (Yang et al. 2005), bound to the 7SK small nuclear RNA (snRNA), a 332-nucleotide RNAP III-synthesized transcript. This ribonucleoprotein complex is reversibly assembled with the doublestranded RNA-binding protein HEXIM1 or HEXIM2 (hexamethylene bisacetamide-inducible protein), which represses P-TEFb by inhibiting its CDK9 kinase activity (Michels et al. 2004). This inactive complex also includes LARP7 (lupus antigen-related protein 7) that binds to 3'end of 7SK and confers protection from 3' exonucleases (He et al. 2008; Krueger et al. 2008) and MePCE (methyl phosphate capping enzyme), which transfers a methyl group to the gamma phosphate of the first nucleotide of the 5' end of 7SK (Jeronimo et al. 2007). Both LARP7 and MePCE are crucial for maintaining the stability of the complex (Zhou et al. 2012) and regulating the kinase activity of CDK9. It is important to note that P-TEFb can bind with 7SK in the absence of HEXIM1, but the binding of the latter is required for the suppression of P-TEFb activity (Yik et al. 2003).

Accumulating evidence suggests that P-TEFb can be released from this inhibitory complex in a signal-dependent manner to activate productive elongation (Biglione et al. 2007; Peterlin et al. 2012). Extraction of P-TEFb from this complex leads to a conformational change in the 7SK complex, the removal of HEXIM (Krueger et al. 2010) and replacement of the removed proteins with hnRNAs that stabilize the complex (Barrandon et al. 2007). The stress-induced release of P-TEFb from 7SK requires dephosphorylation of Thr 186 in the catalytic site of CDK9 (R. Chen et al. 2004). For cellular homeostasis, P-TEFb equilibrium is maintained by the induction of HEXIM1 expression and by the immediate reassembly of 7SK upon detection of an excess of the newly released P-TEFb activity (Liu et al. 2014). Following the completion of transcription, P-TEFb is recaptured by the reassembled 7SK (Zhou et al. 2012). Of note, in the setting of certain viral infections, such as HIV, host P-TEFb plays an important role in viral transcription. The HIV-encoded transactivator protein TAT seizes host P-TEFb by forming contacts with CyclinT1 and CDK9 (Tahirov et al. 2010) and thus recruits P-TEFb to the transactivation region (TAR) in the viral genome. This leads to the formation of full-length viral transcripts by recruiting host transcription elongation machinery (Zhu et al. 1997). In general, the extraction of P-TEFb from the inactive complex is mediated by three major mechanisms: (1) direct recruitment by transcriptional activators (e.g., c-MYC, p65 NFkB, or the HIV Tat protein) (Barboric et al. 2001; Eberhardy and Farnham 2002; Kanazawa et al. 2003; Zhu et al. 1997), (2) recruitment by the coactivator protein BRD4, which in enriched at acetylated enhancers (Jang et al. 2005; Yang et al. 2005), and (3) recruitment via the mediator complex (Takahashi et al. 2011).

#### 12.3 P-TEFb and Pol II Activation in Hypertrophy and HF

In response to excessive or sustained stress, CMs undergo pathologic transformation that is characterized by hypertrophy, inflammatory activation, and metabolic changes that ultimately culminate in contractile dysfunction. Pathologic hypertrophy of CMs is associated with the induction of a large number of genes and a general state of transcriptional anabolism. In an elegant series of experiments, the laboratory of Michael Schneider has demonstrated that PTEF-b activity is a critical driver of transcriptional anabolism in CMs during stress that contributes to heart failure pathogenesis (Sano et al. 2002). Using antibodies that can discriminate hyperphosphorylated Pol II, they showed that cardiac Pol II is dynamically hyperphosphorylated in response to pathologic stress. In cultured neonatal rat ventricular myocytes (NRVM), the hypertrophic agonist endothelin-1 (ET-1) activates CDK9 and inhibition of CDK9 activity (using adenoviral delivery of a dominant negative CDK9 construct) potently attenuates ET-1-mediated hypertrophy. Mechanistic studies demonstrated that hypertrophic signals rapidly lead to dissociation of PTEF-b from the 7SK RNA inhibitory complex. Finally, CM-specific overexpression of Cyclin-T1, the regulatory component of PTEF-b that activates CDK9, was sufficient to drive pathologic cardiac hypertrophy in adult mice *in vivo* (Sano et al. 2002). Furthermore, excessive PTEF-b activation sensitized mice to cardiac decompensation and heart failure following pressure overload, a phenotype that was associated with substantial suppression of genes encoding mitochondrial proteins and perturbed mitochondrial function (Sano et al. 2004). Intriguingly, miR-1, a musclespecific micro-RNA that functions as a negative regulator of cardiomyocyte hypertrophy can suppress the expression of several growth-promoting genes including *Cdk9* (Sayed et al. 2007), although the specific function of the miR-1-CDK9 axis is not known.

#### 12.4 P-TEFb Regulation by HEXIM1 in the Heart

HEXIM1 (hexameththylene bis-acetamide inducible 1), also known as CLP-1 (cardiac lineage protein 1), is an important regulator of P-TEFb function (Kwak and Lis 2013) (Espinoza-Derout et al. 2007). A significant fraction of cellular P-TEFb (i.e., Cyclin T1/CDK9) is maintained in an inactive pool complexed with HEXIM1 and the 7SK RNA scaffold. These protein–protein and protein–RNA interactions maintain the poised CyclinT1/CDK9 module in a catalytically inactive state. As mentioned earlier, P-TEFb can be extracted from the inactive pool to transcriptionally active genomic loci via several mechanisms, including interactions with Mediator, BRD4, and a number of sequence-specific TFs (Kwak and Lis 2013).

Consistent with the role of HEXIM1 as an endogenous negative regulator of cardiac PTEF-b activity, several studies have implicated HEXIM1 in cardiac hypertrophy. In cultured cardiomyocytes subjected to mechanical stretch or ET-1 treatment, Cyclin T1 dynamically dissociates from HEXIM1 (Espinoza-Derout et al. 2007), consistent with the known activation of P-TEFb during hypertrophic stress (Sano et al. 2002). Experiments using the JAK2 kinase inhibitor AG490 show that the dissociation of P-TEFb from HEXIM1 during mechanical stretch is, in part, dependent on JAK-STAT signaling (Espinoza-Derout et al. 2007). Mice with global deletion of Hexim1 have embryonic lethality in late fetal stages [E16.5], a phenotype associated with a dysmorphic left ventricular (LV) architecture, thickened LV walls, and heightened expression of several fetal genes known to be reactivated in stressed adult hearts (Hang et al. 2010). Mice harboring an insertional mutation that results in the disruption of the C-terminus of HEXIM1 also exhibited defects in cardiac development that were associated with decreased myocardial vascularity and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) expression (Montano et al. 2008). Studies by Siddiqui et al., using mice with systemic haploinsufficiency of HEXIM1 strongly corroborate a role for this protein as a negative regulator of cardiac P-TEFb function and cardiac

hypertrophy *in vivo* (Espinoza-Derout et al. 2009). In a model of pathologic cardiac hypertrophy caused by cardiomyocyte-specific overexpression of active Calcineurin-A, it was shown that Cyclin T1 dynamically dissociated from HEXIM1, consistent with the activation of myocardial PTEFb *in vivo*. Furthermore, crossing Cyclin T1-overexpressing mice with HEXIM1 haploinsufficient mice resulted in exaggerated cardiac hypertrophy and Pol II Ser2P abundance *in vivo* (Espinoza-Derout et al. 2009). It will be interesting to assess whether HEXIM1 deficiency also renders mice susceptible to pathologic cardiac hypertrophy in other settings (e.g., pressure overload, myocardial infarction, neurohormonal stimulation).

Effects of ectopically expressing HEXIM1 in the heart appear to differ depending on the transgenic approach that is employed. Transgenic overexpression of HEXIM1 in CMs using a constitutive  $\alpha$ -MHC promoter led to the attenuation of pulmonary hypertension-induced right ventricular hypertrophy (RVH) (Yoshikawa et al. 2012). Interestingly, inducible cardiac-specific expression of ectopic HEXIM1 in adult mice (using a tetracycline-responsive system) led to a reversible growth response resembling some features of physiological hypertrophy, with increased VEGF expression, cardiac vascularization, and ventricular performance (Montano et al. 2013). In this inducible model, myocardial expression of *c-myc* and several metabolic genes (e.g., Ppara, Acadm, CvtC) was observed without any induction of natriuretic peptide genes. In addition, cardiac HEXIM1-overexpressing mice had increased endurance exercise capacity on a treadmill (Montano et al. 2013). As these HEXIM1-overexpressing mice also had sinus bradycardia and electrocardiographic evidence of QT interval prolongation (Montano et al. 2013), it will be important to determine whether longer-term activation of this protein is arrhythmogenic or cardiotoxic. In addition, it will be interesting to see whether these HEXIM1-overexpressing mice are resistant to pathologic stress.

#### 12.5 P-TEFb Regulation by CTIP2 in the Heart

COUP-TF-interacting protein 2 (CTIP2/Bcl11b) has recently been implicated as an important negative regulator of P-TEFb-dependent transcription (Cherrier et al. 2013). CTIP2 is known to bind DNA and associate with transcriptional repressor complexes (e.g., HDAC2, SUV39H1). CTIP2 has been implicated in thymocyte development, neurogenesis, cancer pathogenesis, and silencing of HIV transcription (Arlotta et al. 2005; Ganguli-Indra et al. 2009; Ikawa et al. 2010; Li et al. 2010; Marban et al. 2007). In a recent study, CTIP2 was found to have a novel association with the inactive PTEFb complex, forming direct interactions with defined regions of the 7SK RNA and HEXIM1 (Cherrier et al. 2013). Overexpression and knockdown of CTIP2 in HEK293T cells demonstrated that this protein functions as an endogenous inhibitor of CDK9 activity, Pol II CTD (Ser 2) phosphorylation, and P-TEFb-dependent gene expression. Cherrier et al. compared the set of CTIP2-regulated genes in HEK293 cells with gene expression profiles from adult mice with cardiac hypertrophy (mediated by phenylephrine administration via subcutaneous osmotic minipump for 15 days). Bioinformatic analyses revealed significant

correlation between genes regulated by CTIP2 knockdown (293 cells), CDK9 overexpression (293 cells) and hypertrophied mouse myocardium, suggesting that CTIP2 might function as a negative regulator of P-TEFb during cardiac hypertrophy. Consistent with this correlative data, ChIP-qPCR analyses showed that CTIP2, HEXIM1, CDK9, and Cyclin-T1 were all enriched at the proximal promoter of the *Myh7* gene. Together, these studies define CTIP2 as a novel endogenous repressor of P-TEFb and suggest that CTIP2 might function as a negative regulator of cardiac hypertrophy (Cherrier et al. 2013). Given the established role for P-TEFb activation in cardiac pathology (Sano et al. 2002), further gain- and loss-of-function studies of CTIP2 in cultured cardiomyocytes and in mouse models of heart failure will be particularly informative.

#### 12.6 BET Bromodomains in the Heart

Over the past decade, studies in cultured CMs and mutant mouse strains have implicated a defined set of sequence-specific DNA-binding TFs that function as drivers of cardiac hypertrophy when excessively activated (e.g., NFAT, GATA4, NFkB, MEF2, c-Myc) (Hill and Olson 2008; van Berlo et al. 2013; Zhong et al. 2006). In response to pathological stress, coordinate activation of several such TFs lead to their increased recruitment to regulatory regions of the genome (enhancers), where they trigger aberrant myocardial gene expression (Hill and Olson 2008; van Berlo et al. 2013). Transcriptionally active enhancers are associated with local N-Eacetylation of lysine sidechains (Kac) on nucleosomal histone tails (Lee and Young 2013; Schreiber and Bernstein 2002). Dynamic positioning of Kac, which arises from the interplay of so-called epigenetic "writers" (HATs) and "erasers" (HDACs) (Dawson et al. 2012; Lee and Young 2013), has been shown to play a critical role in HF pathogenesis (Di Salvo and Haldar 2014; McKinsey 2012; Trivedi et al. 2007; Wei et al. 2008; Xie and Hill 2013; Zhang et al. 2002). However, the precise signaling events by which hyperacetylated cardiac enhancers signal downstream to Pol II at transcriptional start sites (TSS) in the heart was previously unknown.

Context-specific recognition of Kac at regions of actively transcribed euchromatin is mediated by epigenetic "reader" proteins possessing a Kac-recognition module, or bromodomain (Filippakopoulos et al. 2010). While both epigenetic "writers" (e.g., EP300) and "erasers" (e.g., HDACs) had previously been implicated in HF pathogenesis (McKinsey 2012; Trivedi et al. 2007; Wei et al. 2008; Xie and Hill 2013; Zhang et al. 2002), little was known about epigenetic readers in the heart. In 2013, two contemporaneous papers reported that BRD4, a member of a conserved family of epigenetic reader proteins termed BETs (Bromodomain and Extra-Terminal), was a positive regulator of cardiac hypertrophy and HF pathogenesis (Anand et al. 2013; Di Salvo and Haldar 2014; Spiltoir et al. 2013). There are four mammalian BET proteins (BRD2, BRD3, BRD4, and testis-specific BRDT) that contain two tandem N-terminal bromodomains. Of these, BRD4 is selectively induced with pathological stress (Spiltoir et al. 2013) and can directly interact with CDK9 (Bisgrove et al. 2007). Systemic *Brd4* or *Brd2* deletion in mice results in early zygotic implantation defects and haploinsufficiency of either allele results in severe multisystem developmental/growth abnormalities (Houzelstein et al. 2002), limiting their usefulness in the study of postnatal cardiac plasticity. Mice harboring conditionally targeted alleles for these loci are in active development.

Our ability to probe BET function in mammalian biology was rapidly accelerated by the creation of the small molecule JQ1 by the laboratory of James Bradner (Filippakopoulos et al. 2010). JQ1 is a first-in-class, potent, and specific inhibitor of BET bromodomains that functions by competitively displacing BETs from acetylated histone, thereby disrupting downstream chromatin-based signaling events (Filippakopoulos et al. 2010). JQ1 is extremely potent with highest affinity for the BRD4 bromodomain (low nanomolar EC50) (Filippakopoulos et al. 2010). JQ1 does not interact with any of the 38 non-BET mammalian bromodomain-containing proteins and is therefore highly specific (Filippakopoulos et al. 2010). It has rapid onset of action (hours), is reversible, and is well tolerated in experimental animals (Filippakopoulos et al. 2010). Using this novel chemical biologic tool, our group and others have defined critical roles for BRD4 in several developmental/ disease contexts (Delmore et al. 2011; Filippakopoulos et al. 2010; Matzuk et al. 2012), including HF (Anand et al. 2013; Di Salvo and Haldar 2014; Spiltoir et al. 2013).

Studies by our group and a group led by Timothy McKinsey contemporaneously reported that BET bromodomains function as critical transcriptional coactivators of specific, stress-induced pathologic gene expression programs in the rodent myocardium (Anand et al. 2013; Haldar and McKinsey 2014; Spiltoir et al. 2013). Nanomolar concentrations of JO1 block agonist induced hypertrophy in NRVM. Similarly, specific siRNA-mediated knockdown of BRD4 in NRVM also blocks agonist induced hypertrophy, corroborating an important cell autonomous role for BRD4 in this process. JO1 administration to adult mice potently attenuated pathologic cardiac hypertrophy and HF pathogenesis in models of pressure overload (transverse aortic constriction) and chronic phenylephrine infusion. Integrated transcriptomic and epigenomic analyses in NRVM and mouse heart tissue revealed that (a) BRD4 is enriched at active cardiac enhancers genome wide, (b) BETs coactivate specific stress-inducible transcriptional networks in the myocardium (including gene expression programs driven by hyperactivation of NFAT, GATA4, NFKB, IRF, and ETS transcription factors), (c) an important mechanism by which BETs coactivate stress-induced myocardial gene expression is via facilitating pause release of Pol II at transcriptionally active genes, via recruitment of P-TEFb activity. Collectively, this work demonstrates that BRD4 functions as a nodal signal integrator that relays activity from acetylated cardiac enhancers downstream to transcriptional start sites, where it triggers Pol II elongation and drives pathologic gene expression in the heart (Fig. 12.1). Ongoing studies are aimed at understanding more detailed molecular mechanisms by which BET activation is coupled to upstream stressors and how BETs achieve target specificity in the myocardium. Furthermore, cell- and gene-specific roles for individual BET family members in vivo will be facilitated by the development of conditionally targeted mouse strains.



**Fig. 12.1** General framework for BDR4- and P-TEFb-dependent signaling during cardiac hypertrophy (reproduced with permission from Haldar and McKinsey 2014)

A recent study from the laboratory of Scott Lowe reported the development of a mouse strain-harboring global expression of an inducible and reversible transgenic shRNA that targets Brd4 (Bolden et al. 2014). This model produces potent and sustained suppression of total BRD4 protein abundance in multiple tissues and does so in a temporally restricted manner. This study revealed that potent and sustained BRD4 suppression caused abnormalities in certain proliferating cellular compartments *in vivo*, such as the epidermis, hair follicles, and intestinal crypts. Importantly, these phenotypic abnormalities were reversible when the transgenic RNAi was turned off. These data suggest that sustained suppression of total BRD4 protein can have potential toxicity in normal tissues. Interestingly, this degree of toxicity has not been observed with small molecule BET bromodomain inhibitors, such as JQ1, which are well tolerated in experimental animals (Shi and Vakoc 2014). These observations may reflect the different consequences of sustained depletion of total BRD4 protein (as occurs with genome targeting or RNAi-mediated silencing) versus phasic, competitive and reversible displacement of BETs from acetyl-lysine (as occurs with small molecules such as JQ1) (Shi and Vakoc 2014).

The use of the small-molecule BET bromodomain inhibitor JQ1 provides proof of concept that these chromatin-dependent signaling events can be pharmacologically targeted in HF. Further delineation of the efficacy and therapeutic index of pharmacologic BET bromodomain inhibitors in HF and other cardiovascular disease are important areas of active investigation. A number of BET bromodomain inhibitor drugs have been developed (including drug derivatives of JQ1), a number of which are in early-phase human trials for cancer (Bradner 2013; Rohn 2012). Safety and efficacy data from these cancer trials will be important benchmarks for the development of near-term cardiovascular applications. We note that the BET inhibitor RVX-208, which has a pharmacologically different mechanism of action than JQ1 (Picaud et al. 2013), is currently being evaluated for its ability to raise HDL and promote atheroprotective effects (Nicholls et al. 2011). While the overall efficacy of RVX-208 in humans has yet to be fully determined, these trials suggest that the therapeutic index of BET inhibition in humans may be tractable for cardio-vascular disease and other noncancer applications.

**Funding** This work was funded by grants from the US National Institutes of Health (grants HL127240 and DK093821).

**Conflict of Interest** The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

#### References

- Anand P, Brown JD, Lin CY, Qi J, Zhang R, Artero PC, Alaiti MA, Bullard J, Alazem K, Margulies KB, Cappola TP, Lemieux M, Plutzky J, Bradner JE, Haldar SM (2013) BET bromodomains mediate transcriptional pause release in heart failure. Cell 154(3):569–582. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2013.07.013
- Arlotta P, Molyneaux BJ, Chen J, Inoue J, Kominami R, Macklis JD (2005) Neuronal subtypespecific genes that control corticospinal motor neuron development in vivo. Neuron 45(2):207– 221. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2004.12.036
- Barboric M, Nissen RM, Kanazawa S, Jabrane-Ferrat N, Peterlin BM (2001) NF-kappaB binds P-TEFb to stimulate transcriptional elongation by RNA polymerase II. Mol Cell 8(2):327–337
- Barrandon C, Bonnet F, Nguyen VT, Labas V, Bensaude O (2007) The transcription-dependent dissociation of P-TEFb-HEXIM1-7SK RNA relies upon formation of hnRNP-7SK RNA complexes. Mol Cell Biol 27(20):6996–7006. doi:10.1128/MCB.00975-07
- Biglione S, Byers SA, Price JP, Nguyen VT, Bensaude O, Price DH, Maury W (2007) Inhibition of HIV-1 replication by P-TEFb inhibitors DRB, seliciclib and flavopiridol correlates with release of free P-TEFb from the large, inactive form of the complex. Retrovirology 4:47. doi:10.1186/1742-4690-4-47
- Bisgrove DA, Mahmoudi T, Henklein P, Verdin E (2007) Conserved P-TEFb-interacting domain of BRD4 inhibits HIV transcription. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104(34):13690–13695. doi:10.1073/pnas.0705053104
- Bolden JE, Tasdemir N, Dow LE, van Es JH, Wilkinson JE, Zhao Z, Clevers H, Lowe SW (2014) Inducible in vivo silencing of Brd4 identifies potential toxicities of sustained BET protein inhibition. Cell Rep 8(6):1919–1929. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2014.08.025
- Bradner JE (2013) Interview with James Bradner. Interviewed by Hannah Coaker. Future Med Chem 5(12):1373–1376. doi:10.4155/fmc.13.124
- Chen R, Yang Z, Zhou Q (2004) Phosphorylated positive transcription elongation factor b (P-TEFb) is tagged for inhibition through association with 7SK snRNA. J Biol Chem 279(6):4153–4160. doi:10.1074/jbc.M310044200
- Chen H, Contreras X, Yamaguchi Y, Handa H, Peterlin BM, Guo S (2009) Repression of RNA polymerase II elongation in vivo is critically dependent on the C-terminus of Spt5. PLoS One 4(9):e6918. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0006918
- Cherrier T, Le Douce V, Eilebrecht S, Riclet R, Marban C, Dequiedt F, Goumon Y, Paillart JC, Mericskay M, Parlakian A, Bausero P, Abbas W, Herbein G, Kurdistani SK, Grana X, Van Driessche B, Schwartz C, Candolfi E, Benecke AG, Van Lint C, Rohr O (2013) CTIP2 is a negative regulator of P-TEFb. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 110(31):12655–12660. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1220136110
- Chodosh LA, Fire A, Samuels M, Sharp PA (1989) 5,6-Dichloro-1-beta-Dribofuranosylbenzimidazole inhibits transcription elongation by RNA polymerase II in vitro. J Biol Chem 264(4):2250–2257

- Dawson MA, Kouzarides T, Huntly BJ (2012) Targeting epigenetic readers in cancer. N Engl J Med 367(7):647–657. doi:10.1056/NEJMra1112635
- Delmore JE, Issa GC, Lemieux ME, Rahl PB, Shi J, Jacobs HM, Kastritis E, Gilpatrick T, Paranal RM, Qi J, Chesi M, Schinzel AC, McKeown MR, Heffernan TP, Vakoc CR, Bergsagel PL, Ghobrial IM, Richardson PG, Young RA, Hahn WC, Anderson KC, Kung AL, Bradner JE, Mitsiades CS (2011) BET bromodomain inhibition as a therapeutic strategy to target c-Myc. Cell 146(6):904–917. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.08.017
- Di Salvo TG, Haldar SM (2014) Epigenetic mechanisms in heart failure pathogenesis. Circ Heart Fail 7(5):850–863. doi:10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.114.001193
- Eberhardy SR, Farnham PJ (2002) Myc recruits P-TEFb to mediate the final step in the transcriptional activation of the cad promoter. J Biol Chem 277(42):40156–40162. doi:10.1074/jbc. M207441200
- Eick D, Geyer M (2013) The RNA polymerase II carboxy-terminal domain (CTD) code. Chem Rev 113(11):8456–8490. doi:10.1021/cr400071f
- Espinoza-Derout J, Wagner M, Shahmiri K, Mascareno E, Chaqour B, Siddiqui MA (2007) Pivotal role of cardiac lineage protein-1 (CLP-1) in transcriptional elongation factor P-TEFb complex formation in cardiac hypertrophy. Cardiovasc Res 75(1):129–138. doi:10.1016/j.cardiores. 2007.03.019
- Espinoza-Derout J, Wagner M, Salciccioli L, Lazar JM, Bhaduri S, Mascareno E, Chaqour B, Siddiqui MA (2009) Positive transcription elongation factor b activity in compensatory myocardial hypertrophy is regulated by cardiac lineage protein-1. Circ Res 104(12):1347–1354. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.108.191726
- Filippakopoulos P, Qi J, Picaud S, Shen Y, Smith WB, Fedorov O, Morse EM, Keates T, Hickman TT, Felletar I, Philpott M, Munro S, McKeown MR, Wang Y, Christie AL, West N, Cameron MJ, Schwartz B, Heightman TD, La Thangue N, French CA, Wiest O, Kung AL, Knapp S, Bradner JE (2010) Selective inhibition of BET bromodomains. Nature 468(7327):1067–1073. doi:10.1038/nature09504
- Fu TJ, Peng J, Lee G, Price DH, Flores O (1999) Cyclin K functions as a CDK9 regulatory subunit and participates in RNA polymerase II transcription. J Biol Chem 274(49):34527–34530
- Fujinaga K, Irwin D, Huang Y, Taube R, Kurosu T, Peterlin BM (2004) Dynamics of human immunodeficiency virus transcription: P-TEFb phosphorylates RD and dissociates negative effectors from the transactivation response element. Mol Cell Biol 24(2):787–795
- Ganguli-Indra G, Wasylyk C, Liang X, Millon R, Leid M, Wasylyk B, Abecassis J, Indra AK (2009) CTIP2 expression in human head and neck squamous cell carcinoma is linked to poorly differentiated tumor status. PLoS One 4(4):e5367. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0005367
- Haldar SM, McKinsey TA (2014) BET-ting on chromatin-based therapeutics for heart failure. J Mol Cell Cardiol 74:98–102. doi:10.1016/j.yjmcc.2014.05.002
- Hang CT, Yang J, Han P, Cheng HL, Shang C, Ashley E, Zhou B, Chang CP (2010) Chromatin regulation by Brg1 underlies heart muscle development and disease. Nature 466(7302): 62–67. doi: 10.1038/nature09130
- He N, Jahchan NS, Hong E, Li Q, Bayfield MA, Maraia RJ, Luo K, Zhou Q (2008) A La-related protein modulates 7SK snRNP integrity to suppress P-TEFb-dependent transcriptional elongation and tumorigenesis. Mol Cell 29(5):588–599. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2008.01.003
- Hill JA, Olson EN (2008) Cardiac plasticity. N Engl J Med 358(13):1370–1380. doi:10.1056/ NEJMra072139
- Houzelstein D, Bullock SL, Lynch DE, Grigorieva EF, Wilson VA, Beddington RS (2002) Growth and early postimplantation defects in mice deficient for the bromodomain-containing protein Brd4. Mol Cell Biol 22(11):3794–3802
- Ikawa T, Hirose S, Masuda K, Kakugawa K, Satoh R, Shibano-Satoh A, Kominami R, Katsura Y, Kawamoto H (2010) An essential developmental checkpoint for production of the T cell lineage. Science 329(5987):93–96. doi:10.1126/science.1188995
- Jang MK, Mochizuki K, Zhou M, Jeong HS, Brady JN, Ozato K (2005) The bromodomain protein Brd4 is a positive regulatory component of P-TEFb and stimulates RNA polymerase II-dependent transcription. Mol Cell 19(4):523–534. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2005.06.027

- Jeronimo C, Forget D, Bouchard A, Li Q, Chua G, Poitras C, Thérien C, Bergeron D, Bourassa S, Greenblatt J, Chabot B, Poirier GG, Hughes TR, Blanchette M, Price DH, Coulombe B (2007) Systematic analysis of the protein interaction network for the human transcription machinery reveals the identity of the 7SK capping enzyme. Mol Cell 27(2):262–274. doi:10.1016/j. molcel.2007.06.027
- Kanazawa S, Soucek L, Evan G, Okamoto T, Peterlin BM (2003) c-Myc recruits P-TEFb for transcription, cellular proliferation and apoptosis. Oncogene 22(36):5707–5711. doi:10.1038/sj. onc.1206800
- Krueger BJ, Jeronimo C, Roy BB, Bouchard A, Barrandon C, Byers SA, Searcey CE, Cooper JJ, Bensaude O, Cohen EA, Coulombe B, Price DH (2008) LARP7 is a stable component of the 7SK snRNP while P-TEFb, HEXIM1 and hnRNP A1 are reversibly associated. Nucleic Acids Res 36(7):2219–2229. doi:10.1093/nar/gkn061
- Krueger BJ, Varzavand K, Cooper JJ, Price DH (2010) The mechanism of release of P-TEFb and HEXIM1 from the 7SK snRNP by viral and cellular activators includes a conformational change in 7SK. PLoS One 5(8):e12335. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0012335
- Kwak H, Lis JT (2013) Control of transcriptional elongation. Annu Rev Genet 47:483–508. doi:10.1146/annurev-genet-110711-155440
- Lee TI, Young RA (2013) Transcriptional regulation and its misregulation in disease. Cell 152(6):1237–1251. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2013.02.014
- Li L, Leid M, Rothenberg EV (2010) An early T cell lineage commitment checkpoint dependent on the transcription factor Bcl11b. Science 329(5987):89–93. doi:10.1126/science.1188989
- Liu P, Xiang Y, Fujinaga K, Bartholomeeusen K, Nilson KA, Price DH, Peterlin BM (2014) Release of positive transcription elongation factor b (P-TEFb) from 7SK small nuclear ribonucleoprotein (snRNP) activates hexamethylene bisacetamide-inducible protein (HEXIM1) transcription. J Biol Chem 289(14):9918–9925. doi:10.1074/jbc.M113.539015
- Marban C, Suzanne S, Dequiedt F, de Walque S, Redel L, Van Lint C, Aunis D, Rohr O (2007) Recruitment of chromatin-modifying enzymes by CTIP2 promotes HIV-1 transcriptional silencing. EMBO J 26(2):412–423. doi:10.1038/sj.emboj.7601516
- Marshall NF, Price DH (1992) Control of formation of two distinct classes of RNA polymerase II elongation complexes. Mol Cell Biol 12(5):2078–2090
- Marshall NF, Price DH (1995) Purification of P-TEFb, a transcription factor required for the transition into productive elongation. J Biol Chem 270(21):12335–12338
- Marshall NF, Peng J, Xie Z, Price DH (1996) Control of RNA polymerase II elongation potential by a novel carboxyl-terminal domain kinase. J Biol Chem 271(43):27176–27183
- Matzuk MM, McKeown MR, Filippakopoulos P, Li Q, Ma L, Agno JE, Lemieux ME, Picaud S, Yu RN, Qi J, Knapp S, Bradner JE (2012) Small-molecule inhibition of BRDT for male contraception. Cell 150(4):673–684. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2012.06.045
- McKinsey TA (2012) Therapeutic potential for HDAC inhibitors in the heart. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 52:303–319. doi:10.1146/annurev-pharmtox-010611-134712
- Michels AA, Fraldi A, Li Q, Adamson TE, Bonnet F, Nguyen VT, Sedore SC, Price JP, Price DH, Lania L, Bensaude O (2004) Binding of the 7SK snRNA turns the HEXIM1 protein into a P-TEFb (CDK9/cyclin T) inhibitor. EMBO J 23(13):2608–2619. doi:10.1038/sj.emboj.7600275
- Montano MM, Doughman YQ, Deng H, Chaplin L, Yang J, Wang N, Zhou Q, Ward NL, Watanabe M (2008) Mutation of the HEXIM1 gene results in defects during heart and vascular development partly through downregulation of vascular endothelial growth factor. Circ Res 102(4):415–422. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.107.157859
- Montano MM, Desjardins CL, Doughman YQ, Hsieh YH, Hu Y, Bensinger HM, Wang C, Stelzer JE, Dick TE, Hoit BD, Chandler MP, Yu X, Watanabe M (2013) Inducible re-expression of HEXIM1 causes physiological cardiac hypertrophy in the adult mouse. Cardiovasc Res 99(1):74–82. doi:10.1093/cvr/cvt086
- Ni Z, Schwartz BE, Werner J, Suarez JR, Lis JT (2004) Coordination of transcription, RNA processing, and surveillance by P-TEFb kinase on heat shock genes. Mol Cell 13(1):55–65

- Nicholls SJ, Gordon A, Johansson J, Wolski K, Ballantyne CM, Kastelein JJ, Taylor A, Borgman M, Nissen SE (2011) Efficacy and safety of a novel oral inducer of apolipoprotein a-I synthesis in statin-treated patients with stable coronary artery disease a randomized controlled trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 57(9):1111–1119. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2010.11.015
- Peng J, Zhu Y, Milton JT, Price DH (1998) Identification of multiple cyclin subunits of human P-TEFb. Genes Dev 12(5):755–762
- Peterlin BM, Brogie JE, Price DH (2012) 7SK snRNA: a noncoding RNA that plays a major role in regulating eukaryotic transcription. Wiley Interdiscip Rev RNA 3(1):92–103. doi:10.1002/ wrna.106
- Picaud S, Wells C, Felletar I, Brotherton D, Martin S, Savitsky P, Diez-Dacal B, Philpott M, Bountra C, Lingard H, Fedorov O, Müller S, Brennan PE, Knapp S, Filippakopoulos P (2013). RVX-208, an inhibitor of BET transcriptional regulators with selectivity for the second bromodomain. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 110(49):19754–19759. doi:10.1073/pnas.1310658110
- Rohn J (2012) Tensha therapeutics. Nat Biotechnol 30(4):305. doi:10.1038/nbt0412-305
- Sano M, Abdellatif M, Oh H, Xie M, Bagella L, Giordano A, Michael LH, DeMayo FJ, Schneider MD (2002) Activation and function of cyclin T-Cdk9 (positive transcription elongation factorb) in cardiac muscle-cell hypertrophy. Nat Med 8(11):1310–1317. doi:10.1038/nm778
- Sano M, Wang SC, Shirai M, Scaglia F, Xie M, Sakai S, Tanaka T, Kulkarni PA, Barger PM, Youker KA, Taffet GE, Hamamori Y, Michael LH, Craigen WJ, Schneider MD (2004) Activation of cardiac Cdk9 represses PGC-1 and confers a predisposition to heart failure. EMBO J 23(17):3559–3569. doi:10.1038/sj.emboj.7600351
- Sayed D, Hong C, Chen IY, Lypowy J, Abdellatif M (2007) MicroRNAs play an essential role in the development of cardiac hypertrophy. Circ Res 100(3):416–424. doi:10.1161/01. RES.0000257913.42552.23
- Schreiber SL, Bernstein BE (2002) Signaling network model of chromatin. Cell 111(6):771-778
- Sehgal PB, Darnell JE Jr, Tamm I (1976) The inhibition by DRB (5,6-dichloro-1-beta-Dribofuranosylbenzimidazole) of hnRNA and mRNA production in HeLa cells. Cell 9(3): 473–480
- Shi J, Vakoc CR (2014) The mechanisms behind the therapeutic activity of BET bromodomain inhibition. Mol Cell 54(5):728–736. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2014.05.016
- Shim EY, Walker AK, Shi Y, Blackwell TK (2002) CDK-9/cyclin T (P-TEFb) is required in two postinitiation pathways for transcription in the C. elegans embryo. Genes Dev 16(16):2135– 2146. doi:10.1101/gad.999002
- Spiltoir JI, Stratton MS, Cavasin MA, Demos-Davies K, Reid BG, Qi J, Bradner JE, McKinsey TA (2013) BET acetyl-lysine binding proteins control pathological cardiac hypertrophy. J Mol Cell Cardiol 63:175–179. doi:10.1016/j.yjmcc.2013.07.017
- Tahirov TH, Babayeva ND, Varzavand K, Cooper JJ, Sedore SC, Price DH (2010) Crystal structure of HIV-1 Tat complexed with human P-TEFb. Nature 465(7299):747–751. doi:10.1038/ nature09131
- Takahashi H, Parmely TJ, Sato S, Tomomori-Sato C, Banks CA, Kong SE, Szutorisz H, Swanson SK, Martin-Brown S, Washburn MP, Florens L, Seidel CW, Lin C, Smith ER, Shilatifard A, Conaway RC, Conaway JW (2011) Human mediator subunit MED26 functions as a docking site for transcription elongation factors. Cell 146(1):92–104. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011. 06.005
- Trivedi CM, Luo Y, Yin Z, Zhang M, Zhu W, Wang T, Floss T, Goettlicher M, Noppinger PR, Wurst W, Ferrari VA, Abrams CS, Gruber PJ, Epstein JA (2007) Hdac2 regulates the cardiac hypertrophic response by modulating Gsk3 beta activity. Nat Med 13(3):324–331. doi:10.1038/ nm1552
- van Berlo JH, Maillet M, Molkentin JD (2013) Signaling effectors underlying pathologic growth and remodeling of the heart. J Clin Invest 123(1):37–45. doi:10.1172/JCI62839
- Wada T, Takagi T, Yamaguchi Y, Ferdous A, Imai T, Hirose S, Sugimoto S, Yano K, Hartzog GA, Winston F, Buratowski S, Handa H (1998) DSIF, a novel transcription elongation factor that

regulates RNA polymerase II processivity, is composed of human Spt4 and Spt5 homologs. Genes Dev 12(3):343–356

- Wei JQ, Shehadeh LA, Mitrani JM, Pessanha M, Slepak TI, Webster KA, Bishopric NH (2008) Quantitative control of adaptive cardiac hypertrophy by acetyltransferase p300. Circulation 118(9):934–946. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.760488
- Xie M, Hill JA (2013) HDAC-dependent ventricular remodeling. Trends Cardiovasc Med 23(6):229–235. doi:10.1016/j.tcm.2012.12.006
- Yamaguchi Y, Takagi T, Wada T, Yano K, Furuya A, Sugimoto S, Hasegawa J, Handa H (1999) NELF, a multisubunit complex containing RD, cooperates with DSIF to repress RNA polymerase II elongation. Cell 97(1):41–51
- Yang Z, Yik JH, Chen R, He N, Jang MK, Ozato K, Zhou Q (2005) Recruitment of P-TEFb for stimulation of transcriptional elongation by the bromodomain protein Brd4. Mol Cell 19(4):535–545. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2005.06.029
- Yik JH, Chen R, Nishimura R, Jennings JL, Link AJ, Zhou Q (2003) Inhibition of P-TEFb (CDK9/ Cyclin T) kinase and RNA polymerase II transcription by the coordinated actions of HEXIM1 and 7SK snRNA. Mol Cell 12(4):971–982
- Yoshikawa N, Shimizu N, Maruyama T, Sano M, Matsuhashi T, Fukuda K, Kataoka M, Satoh T, Ojima H, Sawai T, Morimoto C, Kuribara A, Hosono O, Tanaka H (2012) Cardiomyocytespecific overexpression of HEXIM1 prevents right ventricular hypertrophy in hypoxia-induced pulmonary hypertension in mice. PLoS One 7(12):e52522. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0052522
- Zandomeni R, Zandomeni MC, Shugar D, Weinmann R (1986) Casein kinase type II is involved in the inhibition by 5,6-dichloro-1-beta-D-ribofuranosylbenzimidazole of specific RNA polymerase II transcription. J Biol Chem 261(7):3414–3419
- Zhang CL, McKinsey TA, Chang S, Antos CL, Hill JA, Olson EN (2002) Class II histone deacetylases act as signal-responsive repressors of cardiac hypertrophy. Cell 110(4):479–488
- Zhong W, Mao S, Tobis S, Angelis E, Jordan MC, Roos KP, Fishbein MC, de Alborán IM, MacLellan WR. (2006) Hypertrophic growth in cardiac myocytes is mediated by Myc through a Cyclin D2-dependent pathway. EMBO J 25(16): 3869–3879. doi:10.1038/sj.emboj.7601252
- Zhou Q, Li T, Price DH (2012) RNA polymerase II elongation control. Annu Rev Biochem 81:119–143. doi:10.1146/annurev-biochem-052610-095910
- Zhu Y, Pe'ery T, Peng J, Ramanathan Y, Marshall N, Marshall T, Amendt B, Mathews MB, Price DH (1997) Transcription elongation factor P-TEFb is required for HIV-1 tat transactivation in vitro. Genes Dev 11(20):2622–2632



# Long Noncoding RNAs in Heart Disease

13

### Constantin Kühl and Norbert Frey

#### Contents

13.1	Introduction					
13.2	Pervasive Transcription and the Characterization of lncRNAs					
13.3	Evolutionary Conservation of Long Noncoding RNAs					
13.4	Long Noncoding RNAs in Cardiovascular Research: Bench					
	13.4.1	Polycomb, Trithorax, and Noncoding RNAs: Fendrr and Braveheart	302			
	13.4.2	Antisense Transcription and Chromatin Remodeling at the Myosin Locus	304			
	13.4.3	Fetal Cardiac Enhancer-Associated Long Noncoding RNAs	304			
	13.4.4	Interactions Between miRNAs and lncRNAs	304			
	13.4.5	LncRNAs, Short Open Reading Frames and Small Peptides	306			
	13.4.6	Signatures of Long Noncoding RNAs in Mouse Models of Cardiac				
		Development and Disease.	307			
13.5	Long Noncoding RNAs in Cardiovascular Research: Bedside					
	13.5.1	Heart Failure	307			
	13.5.2	Myocardial Infarction	309			
13.6	Human	Noncoding Variation and Heart Disease.	310			
13.7	Summary					
References						

#### Abstract

Advances in research technology with systematic and unbiased measurements of transcriptional activity revealed the surprising fact of pervasive transcription of mammalian genomes. However, most of these transcripts are not obviously protein coding nor do they reveal easily inferable biological relevance and thus have been termed "noncoding". This universe of noncoding RNAs with diverse and versatile families such as transfer RNAs (tRNA), ribosomal RNAs (rRNA), micro-RNAs (miRNA) small nucleolar RNAs (snoRNA) has fuelled an entire

C. Kühl • N. Frey (⊠)

Department of Internal Medicine III, Cardiology and Angiology, University Medical Center Schleswig-Holstein, Campus Kiel, 24105 Kiel, Germany

German Centre for Cardiovascular Research (DZHK), Partner Site Hamburg/Kiel/Lübeck, 24105 Kiel, Germany e-mail: Norbert.Frey@uksh.de

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

J. Backs, T.A. McKinsey (eds.), Epigenetics in Cardiac Disease,

Cardiac and Vascular Biology 1, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-41457-7\_13

new branch of research and already challenged major dogmas in molecular biology. Among the diverse classes of noncoding RNAs, long noncoding RNAs (lncRNA) have emerged as major regulators of transcription, nucleolar organization, and chromatin-modifying complexes. The goal of this chapter is to present the state of research of lncRNAs in the context of heart disease and heart failure.

#### Abbreviations

Chromatin immunoprecipitation sequencing
Enhancer-associated RNA
Long intergenic/intervening noncoding RNA
Long noncoding RNA
Noncoding RNA
Poly ADP ribose polymerase
Reads per kilobase per million mapped reads
Transverse aortic constriction
Untranslated region

#### 13.1 Introduction

Heart failure is among the most prevalent causes for morbidity and mortality in the Western world with as many as 1-2% of the adult population afflicted (McMurray et al. 2012). Five-year survival is as a low as 50%, numbers that underscore the severity of this condition (Go et al. 2014; Wong et al. 2014). Heart failure develops if the cardiac muscle is unable to comply with the oxygen demands of the organism due to either a decrease in systolic function (heart failure with reduced ejection fraction) and/or an increase in ventricular-filling pressures (heart failure with preserved ejection fraction), both leading to a decrease in cardiac output and to clinical symptoms such as dyspnea, edema, and sudden cardiac death (Hill and Olson 2008).

Heart failure is a dynamic process and the consequence of an intricate network of cardiac remodeling processes, including cardiac physiological and pathological hypertrophy, atrophy, and dilatation (Frey et al. 2004; Burchfield et al. 2013; Lyon et al. 2015; van Berlo et al. 2013). A mechanistic understanding of cardiac signaling cascades and structural cellular components, including receptors and kinases, sarcomeric "hubs," such as the z-disk, transcription factors, and miRNAs, has helped to advance current and future medical therapy, for example, medications modulating the renin–angiotensin–aldosterone axis (Frank et al. 2006; Packer et al. 2015; Olson 2014).

Elucidating the genomic sequence of humans has promised to deliver the blueprint for combatting disease in a causal fashion, directly aimed at its molecular roots. Nevertheless, the promises of genomic medicine to develop novel therapies have not been fulfilled yet, but helped to elucidate further levels of complexity in the regulation of cellular processes. Research efforts have now turned from individual genomic sequences toward sequencing thousands of individuals to unravel genomic variation (Lander et al. 2001; 1000 Genomes Project Consortium et al. 2012).

Furthermore, the efforts of research consortiums, such as ENCODE, FANTOM, or NIH Roadmap Epigenomics to catalog and analyze regulatory and functional elements of different genomes and their epigenetic states are thus only the beginning and leave the research community with vast amounts of data of a complex regulatory landscape that now need individual characterization and further refinement (ENCODE Project Consortium 2012; Forrest et al. 2014; Kundaje et al. 2015).

Epigenetics is classically defined as the field of genetic research that analyses the phenotypic changes imposed by mechanisms, which do not depend on changes of the initial genomic sequence (Waddington 1942; Berger et al. 2009).

Epigenetics has recently contributed substantially to the deciphering of many keyregulating factors of transcriptional and translational activity and to our understanding of a variety of pathologic conditions, especially in cardiovascular and cancer research (Backs and Olson 2006; Chang and Bruneau 2012; Weichenhan and Plass 2013).

Advances in research technology with systematic and unbiased measurements of transcriptional activity revealed the surprising fact of pervasive transcription of mammalian genomes (Carninci et al. 2005). However, most of these transcripts are not obviously protein coding nor do they reveal easily inferable biological relevance and thus have been termed "noncoding". This universe of noncoding RNAs with diverse and versatile families such as transfer RNAs (tRNA), ribosomal RNAs (rRNA), micro-RNAs (miRNA) small nucleolar RNAs (snoRNA) has fuelled an entire new branch of research and already challenged major dogmas in molecular biology (Cech and Steitz 2014). Among the diverse classes of noncoding RNAs, long noncoding RNAs (lncRNA) have emerged as major regulators of transcription, nucleolar organization, and chromatin-modifying complexes. The main goal of this chapter is to present the state of research of lncRNAs in the context of heart disease and heart failure.

#### 13.2 Pervasive Transcription and the Characterization of IncRNAs

The history of research in noncoding RNAs can be traced back to the 1950s with the discovery of rRNAs and tRNAs, followed by snRNAs and antisense transcription in the 1980s and 1990s. Apart from individual lncRNAs such as H19 and Xist, it was not before the technological advancements of the years after 2000, especially tiling microarrays and next-generation sequencing, together with sophisticated immuno-precipitation approaches, that a systematic understanding of the RNA landscape emerged (Willingham and Gingeras 2006).

Pioneering research was conducted using tiling microarrays of human chromosomal transcription that allowed analysis of transcription at windows of only a couple of nucleotides. Thereby it became evident that large parts of the human genome are pervasively transcribed and a high number of these new transcripts have very low or no potential at all to encode for proteins. Sequence analysis of mouse-noncoding transcription revealed a lesser degree of conservation on average compared to 5'- or 3'-UTRs. Conversely, the putative promoter regions of ncRNAs were more conserved than those of protein-coding genes. Noncoding RNAs were arbitrarily divided into short- and long-noncoding RNAs at a length of 200 nucleotides. Long-noncoding transcripts show specific expression patterns in cellular compartments with partly restricted expression to the nucleus or cytosol and high degrees of tissue-specific expression. They tend to be lower expressed, compared to protein-coding transcripts (Kapranov et al. 2002; Rinn et al. 2003; Bertone et al. 2004; Cawley et al. 2004; Kampa et al. 2004; Cheng et al. 2005; Carninci et al. 2005; Kapranov et al. 2007).

The research conducted by the ENCODE-consortium added further understanding to the class of long noncoding RNAs. The combination of RNA-sequencing maps of chromatin regulatory marks delineated that in fact 62.1 % and 74.7 % of the human genome give rise to processed transcripts (Djebali et al. 2012).

An in-depth analysis of all human coding and noncoding sequences exemplified a variety of important characteristics of long noncoding RNAs: The GENCODE analysis identified 14,880 human lncRNA transcripts, 9,518 of them from intergenic and 5,362 from intragenic transcriptional origin. Transcriptional start sites of long noncoding RNAs are comparable to protein-coding genes with respect to active histone marks (H3K4me2, H3K4me3, H3K9ac, H3K27ac), but show a higher level of marks associated with both silencing (H3K27me3) and activity (H3K36me3). LncRNAs are transcriptionally modified via 5'-capping and 3'-polyadenylation, although other modifications of lncRNAs, such as methylation at N(6)methyladenosine, have been described (Ponting et al. 2009; Zhang et al. 2014; Fu et al. 2014).

There is a high degree of correlation between expression of long noncoding RNA transcripts and neighboring protein-coding genes, both in *cis* and in *trans*, but generally more pronounced in *cis*. This observation of expression correlation holds also true for long noncoding RNAs that are intertwined with protein-coding genes and is partly attributed to transcriptional coregulation mechanisms (Derrien et al. 2012; Orom et al. 2010; Kim et al. 2010).

Classification of long noncoding RNAs correspond to genomic organization and association with DNA-regulatory elements, this is summarized in Table 13.1 and exemplified in Fig. 13.1.

Following these initial results, several groups reported catalogs of lncRNAs and refinements of systematic analyses, confirming this initially reported characteristics of lncRNAs. Complementary approaches using correlation of expression data with histone marks of activated protein and ribosome profiling further advanced our understanding, especially considering biological relevance and coding potential (Guttman et al. 2009; Mikkelsen et al. 2007; Guttman et al. 2013).

Genomic localization	Intergenic	
	Genic	Exonic
		Intronic
		Overlapping
Genomic strand	Sense	
	Antisense	
Direction of transcription	Sense	
	Antisense	
	Bidirectional	
Association with DNA regulatory elements	Promoter associated	
	Enhancer associated	

Table 13.1 Classification of long noncoding RNAs

(Modified after Derrien et al., Genome Res 2012)

#### Genomic Organization of IncRNAS:



**Fig. 13.1** Exemplifies the genomic organization of long noncoding RNAs, together with different regulatory elements e.g. promoter and enhancer regions and protein coding genes

#### 13.3 Evolutionary Conservation of Long Noncoding RNAs

Strong evolutionary conservation is generally viewed as an indicator of biological significance, as evolution can be seen as nature's experiment of function on the scale of millions of years. Thereby, understanding evolutionary conservation may aid understanding relevance. In the case of long noncoding RNAs, this has become increasingly more difficult. The combination of comparably lower transcriptional activity and interspecies sequence variation in noncoding regions led to the initial notion that transcription at noncoding loci is genomic "junk", leading to "transcriptional noise" without any biological significance (Ponjavic et al. 2007).

Two systematic analyses of lncRNA ancestry in 6 different mammals and 11 tetrapod species identified families of homologous lncRNAs at different evolutionary stages. The highest degree of conservation and sequence constraints was found in older lncRNA families. However, newer families showed evidence of purification selection, especially at the promotor level. As a class, lncRNA are considered to be able to evolve fast and to show strong tissue specificity (Necsulea et al. 2014; Washietl et al. 2014). Hezroni et al., directly compared transcriptomes from 17 different species using a novel computational pipeline to identify lncRNAs, sequence

homology, orthologous and syntenic sequences. Their results confirmed several previous findings about long noncoding RNAs, but additionally led to the discovery that conserved lncRNAs are biased towards sequence conservation at their 5' regions. Furthermore, exoneration of transposable elements plays a pivotal role in the evolutionary development of lncRNA sequences (Hezroni et al. 2015).

Diederichs summarizes the current research findings and distinguishes four different entities of long noncoding RNA conservation: sequence, structure, function, and expression from syntenic loci (Diederichs 2014).

These results led to interesting conclusions: First, lack of sequence similarity does not necessarily exclude evolutionary conservation and thus high biological relevance. Second, understanding of a long noncoding RNA can only be achieved in its genomic context and with understanding of the associated regulatory elements. Evolutionary conservation will be especially relevant to translate findings from research in cardiovascular model systems to humans, as morphology and physiology of the heart as an organ changed profoundly over the course of evolution, with obvious significance for human disease, that is, the low regenerative potential of the mammalian heart.

#### 13.4 Long Noncoding RNAs in Cardiovascular Research: Bench

Research in mouse models of heart embryonic development and models mimicking human pathology have led to important discoveries and characterized lncRNAs as potent epigenetic regulators of cardiac gene expression and chromatin modification:

#### 13.4.1 Polycomb, Trithorax, and Noncoding RNAs: Fendrr and Braveheart

Polycomb and Trithorax Group proteins are central modulators of epigenetic gene regulation, development and differentiation and are associated with cardiac development and disease (Wang 2012). Proteins of the TrxG/MLL complex catalyze H3K4 methylation and act toward the activation of transcription (Schuettengruber et al. 2011). Proteins of the PRC2 complex act as a methyltransferases and catalyze methylation of H3K27, thereby repressing gene expression (Di Croce and Helin 2013). It has been shown that components of both the PRC2 and the TrxG/MLL complexes are able to interact with long noncoding RNAs (lncRNAs) and this interaction might constitute an important regulatory mechanism (Khalil et al. 2009; Wang and Chang 2011; Brockdorff 2013). RNA-immunoprecipitation of PRC2 components combined with RNA-sequencing (RIP-Seq) in mouse embryonic stem cells led to discovery of more than 9000 different RNAs that bind to PRC2 (Zhao et al. 2010). This is mediated through specific binding mechanisms, as well as promiscuous binding of RNAs. This led to ongoing controversy regarding the

prevailing mechanism and possible experimental artifacts (Davidovich et al. 2013). However, new data confirmed both specific and promiscuous RNA binding *in vitro* (Davidovich et al. 2015). Polycomb and Trithorax proteins act antagonistically through DNA regulatory responsive elements. Interestingly, also Polycomb/ Trithorax response elements show transcriptional activity and can switch their respective function.

Recently, important roles for long noncoding RNAs in mediating regulatory effects via PRC2/TrxG in the heart have been elucidated: Long noncoding RNA "Fetal-lethal noncoding developmental regulatory RNA" (Fendrr) was identified from RNA-Seq and ChIP-Seq analysis from early somite stage mouse embryos. Fendrr is divergently transcribed upstream of the Foxf1-locus and predominantly expressed in lateral plate mesoderm. Knockdown of Fendrr leads to embryonic lethality around E13.75, accompanied by cardiac hypoplasia and omphalocoele. Fendrr is predominantly expressed in EOMES-positive cells of the early cardiac mesoderm lineage. Knockdown of Fendrr leads to increase of H3K4-promoter trimethylation of key cardiac developmental transcription factors Gata6 and Nkx2-5 and increased their expression at E8.5. At later stages, Gata6, Foxf1, together with Irx3 and Pitx2 show higher expression in mutant embryos. Fendrr mutant embryonic stem cells show reduced promoter occupancy of Ezh2 and Suz12 at several potential target genes of Fendrr. Fendrr directly binds PRC components Ezh2 and Suz12 and TrxG/MLL component Wdr5. No binding could be observed for the parts of PRC1, suggesting specificity of discrimination between different histone-modifying complexes. Furthermore, a sequence domain of Fendrr is able to bind double-stranded Foxf1 and Pitx2 promoter regions. Taken together, Fendrr links PRC2 to its target promotors, thereby increasing PRC2 occupancy and methylation of H3K27, which subsequently leads to the modulation of cardiac developmental gene expression (Grote and Herrmann 2013; Grote et al. 2013).

Expression analysis of different mouse embryonic stem cells and the adult heart led to identification of the long noncoding RNA "Braveheart" (Bvht). Although knockdown of Bvht did not impede differentiation of embryonic stem cells toward all three lineages, differentiation of embryoid bodies toward cardiac myocytes was severely impaired. Transcriptome analysis of such depleted cells revealed failed activation of key cardiac transcription factors (among them MesP1, Hand1/2, Nkx2-5, Tbx20) and transcripts for epithelial-mesenchymal transition (Snai, Twist). A significant overlap between Bvht-depletion and MesP1-regulated genes was observed. Forced expression of MesP1 in Bvht-depleted embryonic stem cells was able to rescue this phenotype, that is, permitting differentiation to the cardiac lineage. Therefore, the authors concluded Bvht to function upstream of MesP1. Mechanistically, Bvht interacts with Suz12 as part of PRC2. Furthermore, knockdown of Bvht in neonatal cardiac myocytes leads to disruption of myofibrillar ultrastructure and reduced expression of cardiac structural proteins. Taken together, the authors reveal Bvht as a novel key regulator of cardiac development (Klattenhoff et al. 2013).

#### 13.4.2 Antisense Transcription and Chromatin Remodeling at the Myosin Locus

The switch of cardiac myosin isoform expression between adult Myh6 ( $\alpha$ -myosin) and fetal Myh7 (β-myosin) is a hallmark of cardiac hypertrophy and heart failure (Miyata et al. 2000). A role for antisense transcription in regulating myosin expression was described earlier; nevertheless, an understanding of downstream mechanism has been lacking (Haddad et al. 2003). Antisense transcription and alternative splicing from exonic and intergenic regions of the Myh7-locus give rise to a cluster of cardiac specific long noncoding RNAs, named "Myhrt". The most abundant isoform, Mhrt770, was characterized as a potent inhibitor of pathologic cardiac hypertrophy. Cardiac-specific overexpression of Mhrt is able to alleviate early and late cardiac hypertrophy in mice after TAC surgery. Mechanistically, Mhrt770 binds Brg1, a member of the SWI/SNF ATP-dependent chromatin-remodeling complex to form a feedback circuit. Brg1 interacts with several HDACs and PARPs to form a complex on Myh6 and Myh7 promoters for antithetic regulation (Hang et al. 2010). Mhrt770 prevents Brg1 to bind to its target genomic region at the promoters of Myh6, Myh7, and Opn. These findings could be translated to human cardiomyopathies: Expression of MHRT is reduced in hearts from patients with cardiomyopathies (Han et al. 2014) (Fig. 13.2).

#### 13.4.3 Fetal Cardiac Enhancer-Associated Long Noncoding RNAs

Enhancers are defined as "intergenic or intragenic regulatory sequences that can activate gene expression [...]" (Orom and Shiekhattar 2013). Enhancers harbor transcriptional activity and can even give rise to transcription of lncRNAs (Kim et al. 2010). These enhancer-associated long noncoding RNAs themselves can provide an enhancer-like function in regulating transcriptional activity (Orom et al. 2010). Furthermore, they can be distinguished as a class from promoter-associated lncRNAs with distinct characteristics concerning tissue specificity and expression levels, as well as evolutionary conservation. (Marques et al. 2013) Recently, analyses of differential lncRNA expression at fetal cardiac enhancers during cardiac progenitor cell differentiation, after TAC surgery and LAD ligation were able to identify many dynamically transcribed lncRNAs. These were correlated with transcriptional activity at neighboring genes. Knockdown of two selected cardiac-enhancer-associated lncRNAs led to the suppression of gene expression of the corresponding genomic locus (Ounzain et al. 2014b).

#### 13.4.4 Interactions Between miRNAs and IncRNAs

Long noncoding RNAs have also been characterized for their interactions with microRNAs via miRNA-binding sequence domains. Thereby, they serve as competing endogenous RNAs (ceRNAs) and bind miRNAs (as "sponges"), which reduces



**Fig. 13.2** LncRNA Mhrt modulates DNA binding of Brg1–chromatin repressor complex in cardiac hypertrophy: (a) During conditions of cardiac stress, chromatin repressor complex Brg1-Parp-Hdac suppresses Myh6 and activates Myh7 transcription, promoting the myosin isoform switch. LncRNA Myhrt is an antisense-lncRNA, overlapping parts of the Myh7 locus and also transcriptionally repressed by the Brg1 complex, (b) The Brg1–Parp–Hdac complex interacts with the Myh6 promoter to repress the transcription of Myh6 and Mhrt. Mhrt binds the Brg1helicase domain and thereby impedes Brg1 to recognize its chromatin targets, (c) Pathological stress activates the Brg1–Hdac–Parp chromatin repressor complex to inhibit Mhrt transcription in the heart. Brg1 and Mhrt form a negative feedback loop. Brg1 is a mediator of cardiac hypertrophy and functions as a repressor of Myh6 and activator of Myh7. Mhrt inhibits Brg chromatin repressor complexes to recognize their targets and thereby leads to a normalization of Myh6/ Myh7-ratio, *Parp* poly (ADP ribose) polymerase, *HDAC* histone deacetylase, *Myh6* alpha-myosin heavy-chain, *Myh7* beta-myosin heavy-chain, *Mhrt* myosin heavy-chain-associated RNA transcripts

target miRNA levels and alleviates its downstream effect (Salmena et al. 2011; Tay et al. 2014). The relevance of this interaction has been established in several examples for skeletal muscle transcriptional regulation and recently also in the heart (Cesana et al. 2011; Dey et al. 2014).

Long noncoding RNA AK048451, named "cardiac hypertrophy-related factor" (CHRF), is significantly induced after the treatment of cardiac myocytes with angiotensin-II and harbors a binding site for miR-489, with high interspecies sequence conservation. Knockdown and overexpression of CHFR modulates

expression levels of miR-489, followed by impaired or exaggerated hypertrophic response via change of sequestration of miR-489 and changed expression of down-stream target Myd88 (Wang et al. 2014a).

Prohibitin subunit 2 (Phb2) is downregulated in cardiac myocytes after exposure to anoxia. Overexpression of Phb2 reduces mitochondrial fission, apoptosis, and size of myocardial infarction in mice. Vice versa, the knockdown increases mitochondrial fission and infarct size. Phb2 is specifically regulated though microRNA miR-539 via binding at the 3' UTR. Downregulation of miR-539 inhibited both mitochondrial fission and apoptosis induced by anoxia. These effects were abrogated by the knockdown of Phb2, therefore indicating a functional link of miR-539 and downstream Phb2. Using bioinformatics, lncRNA AK017121 (named "CARL") was identified, that is able to specifically bind miR-539 and, by modulating its expression, CARL exert functional effects on apoptosis and mitochondrial fission in cardiac myocytes (Wang et al. 2014b).

Autophagy is a key stress response in cardiac myocytes, aimed at preventing cell death at the expense of digesting short-term dispensable proteins and/or organelles. Atg7 encodes the E1 enzyme in the autophagosome and is involved in the regulation of autophagy and cell death. MicroRNA miR-188-3p is able to specifically bind to the 3'-UTR of Atg7 and thereby exerts an inhibitory effect on autophagic response of cardiac myocytes. LncRNA AK079427 (named "AFP") is able to specifically bind miR-188-3p and thereby interferes with this signaling cascade. AFP participates in the autophagic regulation both in cardiac myocytes and in an in vivo model of ischemia-reperfusion injury (Wang et al. 2015).

#### 13.4.5 LncRNAs, Short Open Reading Frames and Small Peptides

Attributing the coding potential of a transcript is usually achieved using a combination of several bioinformatics approaches, combining measures of evolutionary conservation of amino acid sequences known protein domains and other data (e.g., from ribosome sequencing, mass spectroscopy). This is especially difficult for short transcripts and is prone to error. Short open reading frames can be defined by their size ranging from 2 to 100 codons. Several transcripts originally attributed as noncoding were found to be coding after experimental validation, some of them being translated to micropeptides with important regulatory functions (Andrews and Rothnagel 2014): ELABELA is a 32 amino acid protein that is highly conserved between species. Experimental deletion in zebrafish leads to cardiac dysplasia of varying severity and even aplasia of the heart, due to impaired endodermal differentiation and possibly signaling as a novel apelin-receptor ligand (Chng et al. 2013).

LncRNA gene RNA 003 in 2 L (pncr003:2 L) in fruit flies was detected to harbor two evolutionary conserved small open reading frames of 28 and 29 amino acids length. Both transcripts are strongly expressed in somatic muscles and the postembryonic heart. Overexpression and knockdown modulate calcium transients and induce cardiac arrhythmia. Both peptides show homology to sarcolipin and phospholamban and were therefore named sarcolamban, as strong phylogenetic evidence points toward a shared ancestral peptide (Magny et al. 2013).

Myoregulin is a conserved micropeptide encoded by a skeletal muscle-specific transcript, also originally attributed as a lncRNA. Myoregulin is a direct interaction partner of the calcium pump SERCA and inhibits calcium transport activity into the sarcoplasmatic reticulum. Genetic knockdown improves skeletal muscle exercise performance in mice (Anderson et al. 2015).

#### 13.4.6 Signatures of Long Noncoding RNAs in Mouse Models of Cardiac Development and Disease

Several research groups reported differential ncRNA expression data from highthroughput assays from different models of cardiac development and disease, such as pressure overload due to transverse aortic constriction or coronary artery ligation to induce myocardial infarction (Tarnavski 2009). We summarized the most significant findings in Table 13.2 and Fig. 13.3.

#### 13.5 Long Noncoding RNAs in Cardiovascular Research: Bedside

Low evolutionary conservation of lncRNAs makes translation of research results from experimental models difficult. Nevertheless, some groups already reported a role for lncRNAs in human myocardial infarction, heart failure and of course, sequence variation in noncoding regions.

#### 13.5.1 Heart Failure

Mitochondrial lncRNA LIPCAR was identified in serum of patients post myocardial infarction and characterized as a biomarker for heart failure. Initially, LIPCARplasma levels decrease after myocardial infarction but show strong induction in patients who develop pathologic left ventricular (LV) remodeling in the future. Furthermore, it is also induced in patients suffering of heart failure from nonischemic etiology and expression levels strongly and independently correlate with mortality, with incremental diagnostic value compared to a model comprised of classic risk factors (Kumarswamy et al. 2014).

Analyses of human LV samples from ischemic and nonischemic cardiomyopathies before and after implantation of a mechanical assist device (LVAD) compared to control hearts using RNA-sequencing identified signatures of lncRNAs that are able to distinguish between etiologies of heart failure and discriminate patients between pre- and post-LVAD state. Furthermore, correlation analysis of lncRNA and neighboring mRNA expression revealed a significant prevalence of cis-regulation of lncRNAs and neighboring protein-coding genomic loci (Yang et al. 2014).

Authors	Species	Model	Assay	Key findings
Lee et al. (2011)	Mouse	TAC	RNA-Seq	15 and 135 differentially regulated lncRNAs between hypertrophy and control and failing and control, respectively. Strong induction of lncRNA H19. LncRNAs show a higher degree of tissue specific expression compared to protein coding genes
Li et al. (2013)	Mouse	Isoproteronol	Microarray	Identification of 32 lncRNAs with the patterns of regulation in plasma, heart tissue, and peripheral blood cells that might be used as potential biomarkers for heart failure
Liu et al. (2014)	Mouse	Ischemia reperfusion (LAD ligation)	Microarray	Identification of 151 differentially regulated lncRNAs
Matkovich et al. (2014)	Mouse	Embryonic heart E14.5, adult heart, TAC	RNA-Seq	Cardiac hypertrophy does not lead to the activation of embryonic expressed lncRNAs. Larger extend of differentially regulated lncRNAs between embryonic and adult conditions than between adult and hypertrophic/failing state
Ounzain et al. (2014a)	Mouse	LAD ligation	RNA-Seq	Identification of differentially regulated lncRNAs in a LAD- ligation mouse model, correlation with chromatin-state maps (strongest correlation of lncRNAs with chromatin marks of enhancer activity) and validation of evolutionary conserved lncRNAs in human-diseased tissues
Ounzain et al. (2014b)	Mouse	Embryonic stem cell differentiation, LAD ligation, TAC	RNA-Seq	Identification and characterization of foetal cardiac enhancer- associated lncRNAs. These are differentially regulated in the models of ischemia and pressure overload, knockdown of eRNAs regulates the transcription of associated target genomic locus
Zangrando et al. (2014)	Mouse	LAD ligation	Microarray	30 differentially regulated lncRNAs, most robustly induced are Miat1 and Miat2
Zhu et al. (2013)	Mouse	Embryonic hearts E11.5, E14.5, E18.5	Microarray	1237 differentially regulated long noncoding RNAs

 Table 13.2
 High-throughput screening experiments in cardiac disease models



LncRNAs in Cardiac Hypertrophy: Ppp3ca(+/-) C57BL6 vs. Wildtype

**Fig. 13.3** LncRNA expression levels are lower compared to protein coding transcripts and show a lower degree of differential regulation. RNA-Seq data from Calcineurin-transgenic mouse hearts and controls (unpublished data Kühl/Frey)

#### 13.5.2 Myocardial Infarction

Vausort et al. measured expression levels of five long noncoding RNAs with known relevance in the cardiovascular system in peripheral blood lymphocytes of 414 patients with acute coronary syndromes and 86 control patients. They selected antisense hypoxia-inducible factor  $1\alpha$  (aHIF), ANRIL within the 9p21-risk locus for coronary heart disease, KCNQ1-overlapping transcript 1 (KCNQ10T1) that regulates the imprinting of KCNQ1 sodium channel, myocardial infarction-associated transcript (MIAT), and metastasis-associated lung adenocarcinoma transcript 1 (MALAT), one of the most abundantly expressed lncRNAs. In ST-elevation-myocardial infarction, the expression levels in non-ST-elevation-myocardial infarction. The authors later used univariate and multivariate analysis to identify several associations between ejection fraction, age, diabetes mellitus, and hypertension and

expression values of lncRNAs. The measurement of ANRIL and KCNQ10T1 added significant discriminatory value in identifying patients at risk of developing LV dys-function using multivariate analysis (Vausort et al. 2014).

#### 13.6 Human Noncoding Variation and Heart Disease

The understanding of human genomic variation and mutations in noncoding regions and the effect on pathogenesis of human disease is incomplete. Data from the ENCODE and NIH Roadmap Epigenomics Project provide a resource to link genomic sequence, transcriptional activity, and chromatin state (Bernstein et al. 2010).

An analysis of data from the "1000 genomes project" aimed to characterize variations in noncoding regions of the human genome. Transcription factor-binding sites and noncoding RNAs were less constrained for SNPs compared to protein-coding sequences. Per contra, noncoding RNAs showed a higher degree of evolutionary constraint for insertions and deletions. A higher degree of purifying selection in a lncRNA correlated with higher levels of transcriptional expression (Mu et al. 2011).

The human genomic region 9p21.3 is among the most thoroughly studied susceptibility loci for several entities of cardiovascular disease and has been characterized in different populations (Roberts 2014; Johnson et al. 2013). Of note, this region contains the protein-coding genes CDKN2A and CDKN2B and the long noncoding RNA ANRIL ("antisense non-coding RNA in the INK4 locus"), which is strongly associated with several major SNPs of cardiac disease (Pasmant et al. 2011).

Ishii et al. conducted a case–control genetic association study and identified a new susceptibility locus for myocardial infarction located on chromosome 22q12.1 and a novel long noncoding RNA, named MIAT ("myocardial infarction-associated transcript") and characterized the impact of several SNPs that changed MIAT expression and binding to nuclear proteins (Ishii et al. 2006).

A large genomewide association trial of dilated cardiomyopathy in more than 4,100 cases and 7,600 controls reported several single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) on chromosome 6p21. Highest significance after replication was attributed to a SNP that mapped to a noncoding gene, HCG22 (Meder et al. 2014).

A recent systematic analysis of published genomewide association studies found that 93% of disease and trait-associated variants lie within noncoding sequences, which comprises noncoding DNA-regulatory regions such as enhancers, promoters, DNAse hypersensitivity sites but also lncRNAs (Maurano et al. 2012).

#### 13.7 Summary

Research into long noncoding RNAs has led to important discoveries in cardiac physiology and pathophysiology. Characterizing lncRNAs sparked the discovery of intricate links between transcription, chromatin modification, and organization that will be translated to an improved understanding of cardiac pathophysiology and disease. Hopefully, this also will lead to new targets and novel therapies. For example, targeting antisense transcripts instead of the coding transcript allows modifying transcriptional activity at a genomic locus without changing the locus itself. As expression of many lncRNA is restricted to a specific tissue, targeting via systemically delivered gene therapy potentially causes fewer systemic off-target effects.

Looking at the growing body of research, several gaps remain. First, the wealth of long noncoding RNA sequences so far lacks clear annotation and is divided into a variety of databases. A unifying nomenclature has recently been proposed for human long noncoding RNA but needs to be introduced into all fields of lncRNA research (St Laurent et al. 2015; Wright 2014). The quality and depth of chromatin maps from human and mouse heart that allowed a more detailed understanding of cardiac lncRNAs is still not available for rat and zebrafish, two relevant species for cardiovascular research. Also, for an understanding of lncRNAs in the heart, we need to replicate the findings from ENCODE that did not include cells from the heart. So far, most results were obtained in heterogeneous cardiac cell populations. Thus, delineating the transcriptome of individual populations, such as cardiac myocvtes, fibroblasts, smooth muscle, and endothelial cells, will be another important goal. Second, we will need to readjust our knowledge about mutations in noncoding regions of the genome and will have to include them for a deeper understanding of hereditary factors and mutations in cardiac disease, such as hypertrophic cardiomyopathies. Third, the individual characterization and delineation of long noncoding RNA mechanisms will need translation to the bedside. Apart from a use as biomarkers – and in that case, lncRNAs have to prove their added value compared to classic biomarkers or miRNA signatures, we will need to develop novel approaches to target and modulate cellular lncRNA expression levels.

Conflict of Interest The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

#### References

- 1000 Genomes Project Consortium, Abecasis GR, Auton A, Brooks LD, DePristo MA, Durbin RM, Handsaker RE, Kang HM, Marth GT, McVean GA (2012) An integrated map of genetic variation from 1,092 human genomes. Nature 491(7422):56–65. doi:10.1038/nature11632
- Anderson DM, Anderson KM, Chang CL, Makarewich CA, Nelson BR, McAnally JR, Kasaragod P, Shelton JM, Liou J, Bassel-Duby R, Olson EN (2015) A micropeptide encoded by a putative long noncoding RNA regulates muscle performance. Cell 160(4):595–606. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2015.01.009
- Andrews SJ, Rothnagel JA (2014) Emerging evidence for functional peptides encoded by short open reading frames. Nat Rev Genet 15(3):193–204. doi:10.1038/nrg3520
- Backs J, Olson EN (2006) Control of cardiac growth by histone acetylation/deacetylation. Circ Res 98(1):15–24. doi:10.1161/01.RES.0000197782.21444.8f
- Berger SL, Kouzarides T, Shiekhattar R, Shilatifard A (2009) An operational definition of epigenetics. Genes Dev 23(7):781–783. doi:10.1101/gad.1787609
- Bernstein BE, Stamatoyannopoulos JA, Costello JF, Ren B, Milosavljevic A, Meissner A, Kellis M, Marra MA, Beaudet AL, Ecker JR, Farnham PJ, Hirst M, Lander ES, Mikkelsen TS, Thomson JA (2010) The NIH roadmap epigenomics mapping consortium. Nat Biotechnol 28(10):1045–1048. doi:10.1038/nbt1010-1045

- Bertone P, Stolc V, Royce TE, Rozowsky JS, Urban AE, Zhu X, Rinn JL, Tongprasit W, Samanta M, Weissman S, Gerstein M, Snyder M (2004) Global identification of human transcribed sequences with genome tiling arrays. Science 306(5705):2242–2246. doi:10.1126/science.1103388
- Brockdorff N (2013) Noncoding RNA and Polycomb recruitment. RNA 19(4):429–442. doi:10.1261/rna.037598.112
- Burchfield JS, Xie M, Hill JA (2013) Pathological ventricular remodeling: mechanisms: part 1 of 2. Circulation 128(4):388–400. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.001878
- Carninci P, Kasukawa T, Katayama S, Gough J, Frith MC, Maeda N, Oyama R, Ravasi T, Lenhard B, Wells C, Kodzius R, Shimokawa K, Bajic VB, Brenner SE, Batalov S et al (2005) The transcriptional landscape of the mammalian genome. Science 309(5740):1559–1563
- Cawley S, Bekiranov S, Ng HH, Kapranov P, Sekinger EA, Kampa D, Piccolboni A, Sementchenko V, Cheng J, Williams AJ, Wheeler R, Wong B, Drenkow J, Yamanaka M, Patel S, Brubaker S, Tammana H, Helt G, Struhl K, Gingeras TR (2004) Unbiased mapping of transcription factor binding sites along human chromosomes 21 and 22 points to widespread regulation of noncoding RNAs. Cell 116(4):499–509
- Cech TR, Steitz JA (2014) The noncoding RNA revolution-trashing old rules to forge new ones. Cell 157(1):77–94. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2014.03.008
- Cesana M, Cacchiarelli D, Legnini I, Santini T, Sthandier O, Chinappi M, Tramontano A, Bozzoni I (2011) A long noncoding RNA controls muscle differentiation by functioning as a competing endogenous RNA. Cell 147(2):358–369
- Chang CP, Bruneau BG (2012) Epigenetics and cardiovascular development. Annu Rev Physiol 74:41–68. doi:10.1146/annurev-physiol-020911-153242
- Cheng J, Kapranov P, Drenkow J, Dike S, Brubaker S, Patel S, Long J, Stern D, Tammana H, Helt G, Sementchenko V, Piccolboni A, Bekiranov S, Bailey DK, Ganesh M, Ghosh S, Bell I, Gerhard DS, Gingeras TR (2005) Transcriptional maps of 10 human chromosomes at 5-nucleotide resolution. Science 308(5725):1149–1154. doi:10.1126/science.1108625
- Chng SC, Ho L, Tian J, Reversade B (2013) ELABELA: a hormone essential for heart development signals via the apelin receptor. Dev Cell 27(6):672–680. doi:10.1016/j.devcel. 2013.11.002
- Davidovich C, Zheng L, Goodrich KJ, Cech TR (2013) Promiscuous RNA binding by Polycomb repressive complex 2. Nat Struct Mol Biol 20(11):1250–1257
- Davidovich C, Wang X, Cifuentes-Rojas C, Goodrich KJ, Gooding AR, Lee JT, Cech TR (2015) Toward a consensus on the binding specificity and promiscuity of PRC2 for RNA. Mol Cell 57(3):552–558. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2014.12.017
- Derrien T, Johnson R, Bussotti G, Tanzer A, Djebali S, Tilgner H, Guernec G, Martin D, Merkel A, Knowles DG, Lagarde J, Veeravalli L, Ruan X, Ruan Y, Lassmann T et al (2012) The GENCODE v7 catalog of human long noncoding RNAs: analysis of their gene structure, evolution, and expression. Genome Res 22(9):1775–1789
- Dey BK, Pfeifer K, Dutta A (2014) The H19 long noncoding RNA gives rise to microRNAs miR-675-3p and miR-675-5p to promote skeletal muscle differentiation and regeneration. Genes Dev. doi:10.1101/gad.234419.113
- Di Croce L, Helin K (2013) Transcriptional regulation by Polycomb group proteins. Nat Struct Mol Biol 20(10):1147–1155. doi:10.1038/nsmb.2669
- Diederichs S (2014) The four dimensions of noncoding RNA conservation. Trends Genet. doi:10.1016/j.tig.2014.01.004
- Djebali S, Davis CA, Merkel A, Dobin A, Lassmann T, Mortazavi A, Tanzer A, Lagarde J, Lin W, Schlesinger F, Xue C, Marinov GK, Khatun J, Williams BA, Zaleski C et al (2012) Landscape of transcription in human cells. Nature 489(7414):101–108. doi:10.1038/nature11233
- ENCODE Project Consortium (2012) An integrated encyclopedia of DNA elements in the human genome. Nature 489(7414):57–74. doi:10.1038/nature11247
- Forrest AR, Kawaji H, Rehli M, Baillie JK, de Hoon MJ, Haberle V, Lassmann T, Kulakovskiy IV, Lizio M, Itoh M, Andersson R, Mungall CJ, Meehan TF, Schmeier S, Bertin N et al (2014) A promoter-level mammalian expression atlas. Nature 507(7493):462–470. doi:10.1038/ nature13182

- Frank D, Kuhn C, Katus HA, Frey N (2006) The sarcomeric Z-disc: a nodal point in signalling and disease. J Mol Med (Berl) 84(6):446–468
- Frey N, Katus HA, Olson EN, Hill JA (2004) Hypertrophy of the heart: a new therapeutic target? Circulation 109(13):1580–1589
- Fu Y, Dominissini D, Rechavi G, He C (2014) Gene expression regulation mediated through reversible m(6)A RNA methylation. Nat Rev Genet 15(5):293–306. doi:10.1038/nrg3724
- Go YY, Allen JC, Chia SY, Sim LL, Jaufeerally FR, Yap J, Ching CK, Sim D, Kwok B, Liew R (2014) Predictors of mortality in acute heart failure: interaction between diabetes and impaired left ventricular ejection fraction. Eur J Heart Fail 16(11):1183–1189. doi:10.1002/ejhf.119
- Grote P, Herrmann BG (2013) The long non-coding RNA Fendrr links epigenetic control mechanisms to gene regulatory networks in mammalian embryogenesis. RNA Biol 10(10):1579– 1585. doi:10.4161/rna.26165
- Grote P, Wittler L, Hendrix D, Koch F, Wahrisch S, Beisaw A, Macura K, Blass G, Kellis M, Werber M, Herrmann BG (2013) The tissue-specific lncRNA Fendrr is an essential regulator of heart and body wall development in the mouse. Dev Cell 24(2):206–214. doi:10.1016/j. devcel.2012.12.012
- Guttman M, Amit I, Garber M, French C, Lin MF, Feldser D, Huarte M, Zuk O, Carey BW, Cassady JP, Cabili MN, Jaenisch R, Mikkelsen TS, Jacks T, Hacohen N, Bernstein BE, Kellis M, Regev A, Rinn JL, Lander ES (2009) Chromatin signature reveals over a thousand highly conserved large non-coding RNAs in mammals. Nature 458(7235):223–227. doi:10.1038/ nature07672
- Guttman M, Russell P, Ingolia NT, Weissman JS, Lander ES (2013) Ribosome profiling provides evidence that large noncoding RNAs do not encode proteins. Cell 154(1):240–251. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2013.06.009
- Haddad F, Bodell PW, Qin AX, Giger JM, Baldwin KM (2003) Role of antisense RNA in coordinating cardiac myosin heavy chain gene switching. J Biol Chem 278(39):37132–37138. doi:10.1074/jbc.M305911200
- Han P, Li W, Lin CH, Yang J, Shang C, Nuernberg ST, Jin KK, Xu W, Lin CY, Lin CJ, Xiong Y, Chien HC, Zhou B, Ashley E, Bernstein D, Chen PS, Chen HS, Quertermous T, Chang CP (2014) A long noncoding RNA protects the heart from pathological hypertrophy. Nature. doi:10.1038/nature13596
- Hang CT, Yang J, Han P, Cheng HL, Shang C, Ashley E, Zhou B, Chang CP (2010) Chromatin regulation by Brg1 underlies heart muscle development and disease. Nature 466(7302):62–67. doi:10.1038/nature09130
- Hezroni H, Koppstein D, Schwartz MG, Avrutin A, Bartel DP, Ulitsky I (2015) Principles of long noncoding RNA evolution derived from direct comparison of transcriptomes in 17 species. Cell Rep 11(7):1110–1122. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2015.04.023
- Hill JA, Olson EN (2008) Cardiac plasticity. N Engl J Med 358(13):1370-1380
- Ishii N, Ozaki K, Sato H, Mizuno H, Saito S, Takahashi A, Miyamoto Y, Ikegawa S, Kamatani N, Hori M, Saito S, Nakamura Y, Tanaka T (2006) Identification of a novel non-coding RNA, MIAT, that confers risk of myocardial infarction. J Hum Genet 51(12):1087–1099
- Johnson AD, Hwang SJ, Voorman A, Morrison A, Peloso GM, Hsu YH, Thanassoulis G, Newton-Cheh C, Rogers IS, Hoffmann U, Freedman JE, Fox CS, Psaty BM, Boerwinkle E, Cupples LA, O'Donnell CJ (2013) Resequencing and clinical associations of the 9p21.3 region: a comprehensive investigation in the Framingham heart study. Circulation 127(7):799–810. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.112.111559
- Kampa D, Cheng J, Kapranov P, Yamanaka M, Brubaker S, Cawley S, Drenkow J, Piccolboni A, Bekiranov S, Helt G, Tammana H, Gingeras TR (2004) Novel RNAs identified from an indepth analysis of the transcriptome of human chromosomes 21 and 22. Genome Res 14(3):331– 342. doi:10.1101/gr.2094104
- Kapranov P, Cawley SE, Drenkow J, Bekiranov S, Strausberg RL, Fodor SP, Gingeras T (2002) Large-scale transcriptional activity in chromosomes 21 and 22. Science 296(5569):916–919
- Kapranov P, Cheng J, Dike S, Nix DA, Duttagupta R, Willingham AT, Stadler PF, Hertel J, Hackermuller J, Hofacker IL, Bell I, Cheung E, Drenkow J, Dumais E, Patel S, Helt G, Ganesh

M, Ghosh S, Piccolboni A, Sementchenko V, Tammana H, Gingeras TR (2007) RNA maps reveal new RNA classes and a possible function for pervasive transcription. Science 316(5830):1484–1488. doi:10.1126/science.1138341

- Khalil AM, Guttman M, Huarte M, Garber M, Raj A, Rivea Morales D, Thomas K, Presser A, Bernstein BE, van Oudenaarden A, Regev A, Lander ES, Rinn JL (2009) Many human large intergenic noncoding RNAs associate with chromatin-modifying complexes and affect gene expression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106(28):11667–11672. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0904715106
- Kim TK, Hemberg M, Gray JM, Costa AM, Bear DM, Wu J, Harmin DA, Laptewicz M, Barbara-Haley K, Kuersten S, Markenscoff-Papadimitriou E, Kuhl D, Bito H, Worley PF, Kreiman G, Greenberg ME (2010) Widespread transcription at neuronal activity-regulated enhancers. Nature 465(7295):182–187. doi:10.1038/nature09033
- Klattenhoff CA, Scheuermann JC, Surface LE, Bradley RK, Fields PA, Steinhauser ML, Ding H, Butty VL, Torrey L, Haas S, Abo R, Tabebordbar M, Lee RT, Burge CB, Boyer LA (2013) Braveheart, a long noncoding RNA required for cardiovascular lineage commitment. Cell 152(3):570–583
- Kumarswamy R, Bauters C, Volkmann I, Maury F, Fetisch J, Holzmann A, Lemesle G, Degroote P, Pinet F, Thum T (2014) The circulating long non-coding RNA LIPCAR predicts survival in heart failure patients. Circ Res. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.114.303915
- Kundaje A, Meuleman W, Ernst J, Bilenky M, Yen A, Heravi-Moussavi A, Kheradpour P, Zhang Z, Wang J, Ziller MJ, Amin V, Whitaker JW, Schultz MD, Ward LD, Sarkar A et al (2015) Integrative analysis of 111 reference human epigenomes. Nature 518(7539):317–330. doi:10.1038/nature14248
- Lander ES, Linton LM, Birren B, Nusbaum C, Zody MC, Baldwin J, Devon K, Dewar K, Doyle M, FitzHugh W, Funke R, Gage D, Harris K, Heaford A, Howland J et al (2001) Initial sequencing and analysis of the human genome. Nature 409(6822):860–921. doi:10.1038/35057062
- Lee JH, Gao C, Peng G, Greer C, Ren S, Wang Y, Xiao X (2011) Analysis of transcriptome complexity through RNA sequencing in normal and failing murine hearts. Circ Res 109(12): 1332–1341
- Li D, Chen G, Yang J, Fan X, Gong Y, Xu G, Cui Q, Geng B (2013) Transcriptome analysis reveals distinct patterns of long noncoding RNAs in heart and plasma of mice with heart failure. PLoS One 8(10), e77938. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0077938
- Liu Y, Li G, Lu H, Li W, Li X, Liu H, Li X, Li T, Yu B (2014) Expression profiling and ontology analysis of long noncoding RNAs in post-ischemic heart and their implied roles in ischemia/ reperfusion injury. Gene. doi:10.1016/j.gene.2014.04.016
- Lyon RC, Zanella F, Omens JH, Sheikh F (2015) Mechanotransduction in cardiac hypertrophy and failure. Circ Res 116(8):1462–1476. doi:10.1161/circresaha.116.304937
- Magny EG, Pueyo JI, Pearl FMG, Cespedes MA, Niven JE, Bishop SA, Couso JP (2013) Conserved regulation of cardiac calcium uptake by peptides encoded in small open reading frames. Science 341(6150): 1116–1120. doi: 10.1126/science.1238802
- Marques AC, Hughes J, Graham B, Kowalczyk MS, Higgs DR, Ponting CP (2013) Chromatin signatures at transcriptional start sites separate two equally populated yet distinct classes of intergenic long noncoding RNAs. Genome Biol 14(11):R131. doi:10.1186/gb-2013-14-11-r131
- Matkovich SJ, Edwards JR, Grossenheider TC, de Guzman Strong C, Dorn GW 2nd (2014) Epigenetic coordination of embryonic heart transcription by dynamically regulated long noncoding RNAs. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. doi:10.1073/pnas.1410622111
- Maurano MT, Humbert R, Rynes E, Thurman RE, Haugen E, Wang H, Reynolds AP, Sandstrom R, Qu H, Brody J, Shafer A, Neri F, Lee K, Kutyavin T, Stehling-Sun S et al (2012) Systematic localization of common disease-associated variation in regulatory DNA. Science 337(6099):1190–1195. doi:10.1126/science.1222794
- McMurray JJ, Adamopoulos S, Anker SD, Auricchio A, Bohm M, Dickstein K, Falk V, Filippatos G, Fonseca C, Gomez-Sanchez MA, Jaarsma T, Kober L, Lip GY, Maggioni AP, Parkhomenko A et al. (2012) ESC guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure 2012: The Task Force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure 2012 of

the European Society of Cardiology. Developed in collaboration with the Heart Failure Association (HFA) of the ESC. Eur J Heart Fail 14(8):803–869. doi:10.1093/eurjhf/hfs105

- Meder B, Ruhle F, Weis T, Homuth G, Keller A, Franke J, Peil B, Lorenzo Bermejo J, Frese K, Huge A, Witten A, Vogel B, Haas J, Volker U, Ernst F et al (2014) A genome-wide association study identifies 6p21 as novel risk locus for dilated cardiomyopathy. Eur Heart J 35(16):1069– 1077. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/eht251
- Mikkelsen TS, Ku M, Jaffe DB, Issac B, Lieberman E, Giannoukos G, Alvarez P, Brockman W, Kim TK, Koche RP, Lee W, Mendenhall E, O'Donovan A, Presser A, Russ C, Xie X, Meissner A, Wernig M, Jaenisch R, Nusbaum C, Lander ES, Bernstein BE (2007) Genome-wide maps of chromatin state in pluripotent and lineage-committed cells. Nature 448(7153):553–560. doi:10.1038/nature06008
- Miyata S, Minobe W, Bristow MR, Leinwand LA (2000) Myosin heavy chain isoform expression in the failing and nonfailing human heart. Circ Res 86(4):386–390. doi:10.1161/01. res.86.4.386
- Mu XJ, Lu ZJ, Kong Y, Lam HY, Gerstein MB (2011) Analysis of genomic variation in non-coding elements using population-scale sequencing data from the 1000 Genomes Project. Nucleic Acids Res 39(16):7058–7076. doi:10.1093/nar/gkr342
- Necsulea A, Soumillon M, Warnefors M, Liechti A, Daish T, Zeller U, Baker JC, Grützner F, Kaessmann H (2014) The evolution of lncRNA repertoires and expression patterns in tetrapods. Nature. doi:10.1038/nature12943
- Olson EN (2014) MicroRNAs as therapeutic targets and biomarkers of cardiovascular disease. Sci Transl Med 6(239): 239ps233. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3009008
- Orom UA, Shiekhattar R (2013) Long noncoding RNAs usher in a new era in the biology of enhancers. Cell 154(6):1190–1193. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2013.08.028
- Orom UA, Derrien T, Beringer M, Gumireddy K, Gardini A, Bussotti G, Lai F, Zytnicki M, Notredame C, Huang Q, Guigo R, Shiekhattar R (2010) Long noncoding RNAs with enhancerlike function in human cells. Cell 143(1):46–58
- Ounzain S, Micheletti R, Beckmann T, Schroen B, Alexanian M, Pezzuto I, Crippa S, Nemir M, Sarre A, Johnson R, Dauvillier J, Burdet F, Ibberson M, Guigo R, Xenarios I, Heymans S, Pedrazzini T (2014a) Genome-wide profiling of the cardiac transcriptome after myocardial infarction identifies novel heart-specific long non-coding RNAs. Eur Heart J. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehu180
- Ounzain S, Pezzuto I, Micheletti R, Burdet F, Sheta R, Nemir M, Gonzales C, Sarre A, Alexanian M, Blow MJ, May D, Johnson R, Dauvillier J, Pennacchio LA, Pedrazzini T (2014b) Functional importance of cardiac enhancer-associated noncoding RNAs in heart development and disease. J Mol Cell Cardiol 76C:55–70. doi:10.1016/j.yjmcc.2014.08.009
- Packer M, McMurray JJ, Desai AS, Gong J, Lefkowitz MP, Rizkala AR, Rouleau JL, Shi VC, Solomon SD, Swedberg K, Zile M, Andersen K, Arango JL, Arnold JM, Belohlavek J et al (2015) Angiotensin receptor neprilysin inhibition compared with enalapril on the risk of clinical progression in surviving patients with heart failure. Circulation 131(1):54–61. doi:10.1161/ circulationaha.114.013748
- Pasmant E, Sabbagh A, Vidaud M, Bieche I (2011) ANRIL, a long, noncoding RNA, is an unexpected major hotspot in GWAS. FASEB J 25(2):444–448. doi:10.1096/fj.10-172452
- Ponjavic J, Ponting CP, Lunter G (2007) Functionality or transcriptional noise? Evidence for selection within long noncoding RNAs. Genome Res 17(5):556–565. doi:10.1101/gr.6036807
- Ponting CP, Oliver PL, Reik W (2009) Evolution and functions of long noncoding RNAs. Cell 136(4):629–641. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.02.006
- Rinn JL, Euskirchen G, Bertone P, Martone R, Luscombe NM, Hartman S, Harrison PM, Nelson FK, Miller P, Gerstein M, Weissman S, Snyder M (2003) The transcriptional activity of human Chromosome 22. Genes Dev 17(4):529–540. doi:10.1101/gad.1055203
- Roberts R (2014) Genetics of coronary artery disease. Circ Res 114(12):1890–1903. doi:10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.114.302692
- Salmena L, Poliseno L, Tay Y, Kats L, Pandolfi PP (2011) A ceRNA hypothesis: the Rosetta Stone of a hidden RNA language? Cell 146(3):353–358

- Schuettengruber B, Martinez AM, Iovino N, Cavalli G (2011) Trithorax group proteins: switching genes on and keeping them active. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 12(12):799–814. doi:10.1038/ nrm3230
- St Laurent G, Wahlestedt C, Kapranov P (2015) The landscape of long noncoding RNA classification. Trends Genet 31(5):239–251. doi:10.1016/j.tig.2015.03.007
- Tarnavski O (2009) Mouse surgical models in cardiovascular research. Methods Mol Biol 573:115–137. doi:10.1007/978-1-60761-247-6\_7
- Tay Y, Rinn J, Pandolfi PP (2014) The multilayered complexity of ceRNA crosstalk and competition. Nature 505(7483):344–352. doi:10.1038/nature12986
- van Berlo JH, Maillet M, Molkentin JD (2013) Signaling effectors underlying pathologic growth and remodeling of the heart. J Clin Invest 123(1):37–45
- Vausort M, Wagner DR, Devaux Y (2014) Long noncoding RNAs in patients with acute myocardial infarction. Circ Res 115(7):668–677. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.115.303836
- Waddington CH (1942) The epigenotype. Endeavour 1942:18–20. reprinted in: Int J Epidemiol 2012;41:10–13:18–20. doi:10.1093/ije/dyr184
- Wang QT (2012) Epigenetic regulation of cardiac development and function by polycomb group and trithorax group proteins. Dev Dyn 241(6):1021–1033. doi:10.1002/dvdy.23796
- Wang KC, Chang HY (2011) Molecular mechanisms of long noncoding RNAs. Mol Cell 43(6):904–914
- Wang K, Liu F, Zhou LY, Long B, Yuan SM, Wang Y, Liu CY, Sun T, Zhang XJ, Li PF (2014a) A long noncoding RNA, CHRF regulates cardiac hypertrophy by targeting miR-489. Circ Res. doi:10.1161/circresaha.114.302476
- Wang K, Long B, Zhou LY, Liu F, Zhou QY, Liu CY, Fan YY, Li PF (2014b) CARL lncRNA inhibits anoxia-induced mitochondrial fission and apoptosis in cardiomyocytes by impairing miR-539-dependent PHB2 downregulation. Nat Commun 5:3596. doi:10.1038/ncomms4596
- Wang K, Liu CY, Zhou LY, Wang JX, Wang M, Zhao B, Zhao WK, Xu SJ, Fan LH, Zhang XJ, Feng C, Wang CQ, Zhao YF, Li PF (2015) APF lncRNA regulates autophagy and myocardial infarction by targeting miR-188-3p. Nat Commun 6:6779. doi:10.1038/ncomms7779
- Washietl S, Kellis M, Garber M (2014) Evolutionary dynamics and tissue specificity of human long noncoding RNAs in six mammals. Genome Res 24(4):616–628. doi:10.1101/ gr.165035.113
- Weichenhan D, Plass C (2013) The evolving epigenome. Hum Mol Genet 22(R1):R1–R6. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddt348
- Willingham AT, Gingeras T (2006) TUF love for "junk" DNA. Cell 125(7):1215-1220
- Wong CM, Hawkins NM, Petrie MC, Jhund PS, Gardner RS, Ariti CA, Poppe KK, Earle N, Whalley GA, Squire IB, Doughty RN, McMurray JJ, Investigators M (2014) Heart failure in younger patients: the Meta-analysis Global Group in Chronic Heart Failure (MAGGIC). Eur Heart J 35(39):2714–2721. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehu216
- Wright MW (2014) A short guide to long non-coding RNA gene nomenclature. Hum Genomics 8:7. doi:10.1186/1479-7364-8-7
- Yang KC, Yamada KA, Patel AY, Topkara VK, George I, Cheema FH, Ewald GA, Mann DL, Nerbonne JM (2014) Deep RNA sequencing reveals dynamic regulation of myocardial noncoding RNA in failing human heart and remodeling with mechanical circulatory support. Circulation. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.003863
- Zangrando J, Zhang L, Vausort M, Maskali F, Marie PY, Wagner DR, Devaux Y (2014) Identification of candidate long non-coding RNAs in response to myocardial infarction. BMC Genomics 15:460. doi:10.1186/1471-2164-15-460
- Zhang K, Shi ZM, Chang YN, Hu ZM, Qi HX, Hong W (2014) The ways of action of long noncoding RNAs in cytoplasm and nucleus. Gene. doi:10.1016/j.gene.2014.06.043
- Zhao J, Ohsumi TK, Kung JT, Ogawa Y, Grau DJ, Sarma K, Song JJ, Kingston RE, Borowsky M, Lee JT (2010) Genome-wide identification of polycomb-associated RNAs by RIP-seq. Mol Cell 40(6):939–953
- Zhu JG, Shen YH, Liu HL, Liu M, Shen YQ, Kong XQ, Song GX, Qian LM (2013) Long noncoding RNAs expression profile of the developing mouse heart. J Cell Biochem. doi:10.1002/ jcb.24733



## **Correction to: Epigenetics in Cardiac Disease**

Johannes Backs and Timothy A. McKinsey

# Correction to: J. Backs, T.A. McKinsey (eds.), *Epigenetics in Cardiac Disease*, Cardiac and Vascular Biology, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-41457-7

The original version of this volume was revised as it was originally published unnumbered. The revised version now has been numbered; numbering is done following the order of appearance in the book series Cardiac and Vascular Biology.

The updated online version of the book can be found at DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-41457-7

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2019

J. Backs, T. A. McKinsey (eds.), Epigenetics in Cardiac Disease,

Cardiac and Vascular Biology 1, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-41457-7\_14